
 
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
300 Lakeside Drive, P. O. Box 12688, Oakland, CA  94604-2688 

 
BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

July 23, 2020 
9:00 a.m. 

 
A regular meeting of the Board of Directors will be held at 9:00 a.m. on Thursday, July 23, 2020. 
 
Please note, pursuant to Governor Newsom’s Executive Order N-29-20 and the California Shelter-in-
Place mandate, which prevents all but essential travel, public participation for this meeting will be via 
teleconference only.   
 
You may watch the Board Meeting live or archived at https://www.bart.gov/about/bod/multimedia  
 
Presentation materials will be available via Legistar at https://bart.legistar.com 
 
You may also join the Board Meeting via Zoom by calling 1-877-853-5257 and entering  
Webinar ID: 974 2025 7479. 
 
If you wish to make a public comment:  

1) Submit written comments via email to board.meeting@bart.gov, using “public comment” as the 
subject line.  Your comment will be provided to the Board and will become a permanent part of the 
file.  Please submit your comments as far in advance as possible.  Emailed comments must be received 
before 9:00 a.m. in order to be included in the record. 

2) Call 1-877-853-5257, enter webinar ID 974 2025 7479 , and dial *9 to raise your hand when you wish 
to speak. 
 

Public comment is limited to three (3) minutes per person. 
 
Any action requiring more than a majority vote for passage will be so noted. 
 
Items placed under “consent calendar” are considered routine and will be received, enacted, approved, or 
adopted by one motion unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from a Director 
or from a member of the audience. 
 
BART provides service/accommodations upon request to persons with disabilities and individuals who are 
limited English proficient who wish to address BART Board matters.  A request must be made within one and 
five days in advance of Board meetings, depending on the service requested.  Please contact the Office of the 
District Secretary at 510-464-6083 for information. 
 
Rules governing the participation of the public at meetings of the Board of Directors and Standing Committees 
are available for review on the District's website (http://www.bart.gov/about/bod). 
 
Meeting notices and agendas are available for review on the District's website 
(http://www.bart.gov/about/bod/meetings.aspx); at bart.legistar.com; and via email 
(https://cloud.info.bart.gov/signup) or via regular mail upon request submitted to the District Secretary.  
Complete agenda packets (in PDF format) are available for review on the District's website and  
bart.legistar.com no later than 48 hours in advance of the meeting.  
 
Please submit your requests to the District Secretary via email to BoardofDirectors@bart.gov; in person or 
U.S. mail at 300 Lakeside Drive, 23rd Floor, Oakland, CA  94612; fax 510-464-6011; or telephone 510-464-
6083. 
 
       Jacqueline R. Edwards 

Assistant District Secretary 

https://www.bart.gov/about/bod/multimedia
https://bart.legistar.com/
mailto:board.meeting@bart.gov
http://www.bart.gov/about/bod/meetings.aspx
https://cloud.info.bart.gov/signup
mailto:BoardofDirectors@bart.gov


    
 

* Attachment available  2 of 4  

 
Regular Meeting of the 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

 The purpose of the Board Meeting is to consider and take such action as the Board may desire in 
connection with: 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

  

 A. Roll Call.   
 B. Pledge of Allegiance.   
 C. Introduction of Special Guests. 

i. Michael McGill, Chairperson of the Bond  
Oversight Committee. 

 

  

2. BOND UPDATE 
 

  

 A. Update on Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program (Measure 
RR).*  For information. 

 

  

 B. Bond Oversight Committee Annual Report.*  For information. 
 

  

 
 
 
3. 

C. Issuance and Sale of General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016) 
2020 Series C (Green Bonds).*  Board requested to authorize. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

  

 A. Approval of Minutes of the Meeting of June 25, 2020.*   
Board requested to authorize.   
 

  

 B. BART Accessibility Task Force Appointments.*   
Board requested to appoint. 
 

  

 C. Award of Contract No. 15TC-123, Richmond Yard Fence 
Rehabilitation.*  Board requested to authorize.  
 

  

 D. Agreements to provide Detailed Station Cleaning Services.*  
a. Agreement No. 6M8173 with Aim to Please Janitorial Services. 
b. Agreement No. 6M8174 with Zero Waste Solutions, Inc. 
c. Agreement No. 6M8175 with Bay Area Green Solutions. 
Board requested to authorize. 
 

  

 E. Invitation For Bid No. 9082, Isolation Disconnect Switch.*   
Board requested to authorize. 
 

  

 F. Invitation for Bid No. 9085, Hayward Maintenance Complex (Phase 2) 
Mainline Trackwork Procurement.*  Board requested to authorize. 
 

  



    
 

* Attachment available  3 of 4  

 
 G. Agreement with The Salvation Army for Homeless Outreach.* 

Board requested to authorize. 
 

  

4. PUBLIC COMMENT – 15 Minutes 
(An opportunity for members of the public to address the Board of Directors on matters 
under their jurisdiction and not on the agenda.)   
 

  

5. INDEPENDENT POLICE AUDITOR’S REPORT   
 
 
 

 
A. Quarterly Report of the Independent Police Auditor.   

For information. 
 

  

6. INSPECTOR GENERAL’S REPORT 
 
A. Semi-Annual Report of the Inspector General.*  For information.   

 

  

7. ADMINISTRATION ITEMS 
Director McPartland, Chairperson 

  

    
 A. COVID-19 Update: Impact of and Responses to COVID-19.*         

For information. 
  

 B. Parking Addendum to the Title VI Fare Equity Analysis and Public 
Participation Report for the Proposed Discontinuance of Sales of 
Magnetic-Stripe Tickets.*   Board requested to authorize. 
 

  

8. ENGINEERING AND OPERATIONS ITEMS 
Director Dufty, Chairperson 
 

  

 A. Award of Contract No. 15EK-102, TCCCP New Traction Power 
Facilities, West Bay.*  Board requested to authorize.  
 

  

 B. Award of Contract No. 15TC-107, Aerial Structure Fall 
Protection, A-Line North.*  Board requested to authorize. 
 

  

 C.        Change Orders to Contract No. 09EK-130A, Oakland Emergency 
Generator (OEG) System, with DMZ Builders.* 
a. Impacts from Differing Site Conditions  

(C.O. No. 50, 55, 65, 66, 72, 74, and 84). 
b. Design Changes (C.O. No. 49, 56, 60, 61, 64, 67, 68, 70,  

71, 73, 75, 77, 78, and 79). 
c. Unplanned Work Stoppages (C.O. No. 57, 62, and 63). 
Board requested to authorize. 
 

  



    
 

* Attachment available  4 of 4  

 

11. BOARD MATTERS 
 

  

 A. Transit Security Advisory Committee Membership Appointments.*  
Board requested to appoint. 

  

  

 B. Resolution Commending Hale Zukas for Meritorious Service.*   
Board requested to adopt.  (Director Raburn’s request.) 
 

  

 C. Board Member Reports.   
(Board member reports as required by Government Code Section 53232.3(d) are 
available through the Office of the District Secretary.  An opportunity for Board 
members to report on their District activities and observations since last Board 
Meeting.) 
 

  

 D. Roll Call for Introductions.   
(An opportunity for Board members to introduce a matter for consideration at a future 
Committee or Board Meeting or to request District staff to prepare items or reports.) 

  

 
 E. In Memoriam. 

(An opportunity for Board members to introduce individuals to be commemorated.) 
 
 
 

  

 

 D.        Change Order to Contract No. 09AU-120, BART Earthquake 
Safety Program TBT Internal Retrofit, with Shimmick/CEC Joint 
Venture, for Revisions to the Scope of Work  (C.O. No. 175).*   
Board requested to authorize. 
 

  

9. PLANNING, PUBLIC AFFAIRS, ACCESS, AND LEGISLATION ITEMS 
Director Saltzman, Chairperson 
 

 A. State Legislation for Consideration.*   
Board requested to authorize. 
 

  

 B. Update on Assembly Bill 2923, San Francisco Bay Area Rapid 
Transit District: Transit-Oriented Development.*  For information.  
 

  

 C. Update on New Transbay Rail Crossing Program.*   
For information.  

 

  

10. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

  

 A. Report of Activities, including Updates of Operational, Administrative, 
and Roll Call for Introductions Items. 
 

  



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: July 17, 2020 

FROM: General Manager 

SUBJECT: Measure RR Update 

Attached is the "Measure RR Update" presentation that will be presented at the July 23, 2020 
board meeting as an information item. 

If you have any questions, please contact Tamar Allen, Assistant General Manager, Operations at 
(510) 464-7513. 

cc: Board Appointed Officers 
Deputy General Manager 
Executive Staff 



TO: Board of Directors Date: July 17, 2020 

FROM: Michael McGill, Chairman, Bond Oversight Committee 

SUBJECT: BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief Program (Measure RR)
Annual Report 

Attached is the BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief Program (Measure RR) Annual Report 
of June 30, 2020, which I will be presenting to the Board on July 23 , 2020. 



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: Yes 

Controller/Treasurer District Secretary BARC 

Signature/Date: 

.~.~~ 

AUTHORIZE THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION 
BONDS, (ELECTION OF 2016), 2020 SERIES C (Green Bonds) 

PURPOSE: 

To request Board adoption of a resolution, which authorize the issuance and sale of not to 
exceed $700 million in General Obligation Bonds (Election of2016), 2020 Series C-1 (Green 
Bonds) and 2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) (the "Bonds"). 
Furthermore, to seek Board authorization for the Controller-Treasurer to (1) enter into a 

Bond Purchase Agreement with the Underwriters selected from the District's Underwriters 
Pool to provide the District with underwriting services in the issuance of the Bonds, (2) to 
implement the preparation, execution and delivery of the necessary documents including the 
Preliminary Official Statement, the Official Statement, Supplemental Trust Agreement, Bond 
Purchase Agreement, Continuing Disclosure Agreement and related agreements and, (3) to 
attend rating agency meetings and to execute "Green Bond" certification agreements in 
connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

DISCUSSION: 

In 2020, the District intends to issue not to exceed $700 million of voter approved General 
Obligation Bonds. Proceeds of the Bonds will be used to fund projects authorized by 
Measure RR and to pay costs of issuance of the bonds. 

The proposed resolution will authorize the Controller-Treasurer to negotiate the structure, 
financing terms and cost of issuance of the Bonds. In addition, the resolution authorizes the 
preparation, execution, and delivery of the necessary documents including the Preliminary 



AUTHORIZE THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, (ELECTION OF 2016), 2020 
SERIES C (Gree (cont.) 

Official Statement, Official Statement, Supplemental Trust Agreement, Bond Purchase 
Agreement, Continuing Disclosure Agreement and related agreements, and payment to cover 
the costs of issuance as well as the execution of green bond certification agreements in 
connection with issuance of the Bonds. 

The District advertised the RFP for underwriting services to the 12 members of the District's 
Underwriting Pool on May 28, 2020 and received 11 proposals on June 15, 2020. The 
Selection Committee performed a technical evaluation of the proposals. The Selection 
Committee ranked these proposals and recommended JP Morgan as Senior Manager, 
Goldman Sachs as Co-Senior Manager, and Barclays Capital, Wells Fargo, and Blaylock 
Van, LLC as Co-Managers for the Bonds. 

Green Bonds are issued to encourage investing in projects that support sustainability and the 
environment. More specifically, Green Bonds finance projects aimed at energy efficiency, 
pollution prevention, sustainable agriculture, fishery and forestry, the protection of aquatic 
and terrestrial ecosystems, clean transportation, sustainable water management, and the 
cultivation of environmentally friendly technologies. BART issuances are 'Green Bonds" as 
the District's projects finance a mass transit system. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The District proposes to issue General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C, 
in the total principal amount not to exceed $700 million. The cost of issuance for 
underwriting, legal counsel, financial advisors, rating agencies, trustee services, and other 
auxiliary fees is estimated not to exceed 1 % of principal amount of Bonds issued. All fees 
shall be paid out of proceeds and, therefore, no direct costs will be paid by the District. If 
no bonds are issued, no expense will be incurred. 

Interest and principal on the General Obligation Bonds will be paid through ad valorem taxes 
assessed on all property in the three BART District counties. No General Obligation Bond 
debt service will be borne by District general fund revenues. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

The District may elect not to issue the General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 
Series C, at this time which would mean no bond funds would be available to fund projects 
under Measure RR. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

To authorize the issuance of the Bonds and for the Controller-Treasurer to negotiate the 
structure, financing terms and cost of issuance for the General Obligation Bonds (Election of 
2016), 2020 Series C, and execute and deliver all documents necessary for their issuance. 



AUTHORIZE THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, (ELECTION OF 2016), 2020 
SERIES C (Gree (cont.) 

MOTION: 

The Board adopts the attached resolution, incorporated herein as if set forth in full, 
authorizing and approving the issuance and sale of not to exceed $700 million aggregate 
principal amount of General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C, and 
authorizing the preparation, execution and delivery of agreements and documents in 
connection therewith. 



RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Resolution No. -----

AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF NOT TO EXCEED 
$700 MILLION AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA 
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS (ELECTION OF 2016), 
2020 SERIES C; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A SECOND 
SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO WHICH SUCH BONDS ARE 
TO BE ISSUED, A BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO WHICH SUCH 
BONDS ARE TO BE SOLD BY NEGOTIATED SALE; APPROVING AN OFFICIAL 
STATEMENT RELATING TO SUCH BONDS; AUTHORIZING EXECUTION AND 
DELIVERY OF THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND CERTAIN DOCUMENTS IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF SUCH BONDS, INCLUDING A 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT; DELEGATING TO THE 
CONTROLLER/TREASURER OF THE DISTRICT POWER TO DETERMINE FINAL 
TERMS OF SUCH BONDS AND COMPLETE SAID DOCUMENTS AND AUTHORIZING 
CERTAIN OTHER MATTERS RELATING THERETO. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 5321 of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid 
Transit District (the "District"), adopted June 9, 2016, the District duly called an election, and an 
election was regularly held in the Counties of Alameda, Contra Costa and San Francisco on 
November 8, 2016, at which the following proposition ("Measure RR") was submitted to the 
electors of the District: 

"To keep BART safe; prevent accidents/breakdowns/delays; 
relieve overcrowding; reduce traffic congestion/pollution; and 
improve earthquake safety and access for seniors/disabled by 
replacing and upgrading 90 miles of severely worn tracks; 
tunnels damaged by water intrusion; 44-year-old train control 
systems; and other deteriorating infrastructure, shall the Bay 
Area Rapid Transit District issue $3.5 billion of bonds for the 
acquisition or improvement of real property subject to 
independent oversight and annual audits?" 

WHEREAS, at least two-thirds of the votes cast on said proposition were in favor of issuing 
said bonds; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to said favorable vote and pursuant to Part 2 of Division 10 of the 
Public Utilities Code of the State of California, commencing with Section 28500, and Article 4.5 
of Chapter 3 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code, commencing with Section 53506, 
and other applicable law, the District is authorized to issue said bonds; 

4139-3558-0453.4 



WHEREAS, the District has heretofore issued its General Obligation Bonds (Election of 
2016), 2017 Series A-1 (Green Bonds) (the "2017 A-1 Bonds") in an aggregate principal amount 
of $271,600,000 and its General Obligation Bonds (Election of2016), 2017 Series A-2 (Federally 
Taxable) (Green Bonds) (the "2017 A-2 Bonds" and, together with the 2017 A-1 Bonds, the 
"2017 A Bonds") in an aggregate principal amount of $28,400,000, pursuant to that certain Trust 
Agreement (Measure RR) (the "Master Trust Agreement"), by and between the District and U.S. 
Bank National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee" or "U.S. Bank"), dated as of June 1, 2017; 

WHEREAS, the District has heretofore issued its General Obligation Bonds (Election of 
2016), 2019 Series B-1 (Green Bonds) (the "2019 B-1 Bonds") in an aggregate principal amount 
of $313,205,000 and its General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2019 Series B-2 (Federally 
Taxable) (Green Bonds) (the "2019 B-2 Bonds" and, together with the 2019 B-1 Bonds, the 
"2019B Bonds") in an aggregate principal amount of $46,795,000, pursuant to the Master Trust 
Agreement as supplemented by the First Supplemental Trust Agreement (Measure RR), dated as 
of August 1, 2019 (the "First Supplemental Trust Agreement"), between the District and the 
Trustee; 

WHEREAS, the District deems that it is necessary and desirable to issue its "San Francisco 
Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-1 
(Green Bonds)" and its "San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds 
(Election of2016), 2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds)" (collectively, the "2020C 
Bonds") in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding $700,000,000, according to the terms and 
in the manner as set forth in the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement (Measure RR), to be dated 
as of August 1, 2020, between the District and the Trustee, for the purpose of financing the cost of 
the projects authorized in Measure RR (collectively, the "Project") and paying the costs of issuance 
of the 2020C Bonds; 

WHEREAS, there has been prepared and presented to this meeting a proposed form of 
Second Supplemental Trust Agreement (such Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, in the form 
presented to this meeting, with such changes, insertions and omissions as are made pursuant to this 
Resolution being hereinafter referred to as the "Second Supplemental Trust Agreement" and, 
together with the Master Trust Agreement and the First Supplemental Trust Agreement, the "Trust 
Agreement"); 

WHEREAS, the District deems it necessary and desirable to sell the 2020C Bonds by 
negotiated sale to J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, acting as representative (the "Representative") of 
itself and Goldman Sachs & Co., Inc. , (together with the Representative, the "Senior Managers"), 
Barclays Capital Inc. , Blaylock Van, LLC, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 
( collectively with the Senior Managers, the "Underwriters"), in order to provide flexibility in the 
timing of the sale of the 2020C Bonds and to achieve a more desirable debt structure and an overall 
lower cost of borrowing, all pursuant to a bond purchase agreement to be entered into between the 
District and the Representative, a proposed form of which has been prepared and presented to this 
meeting (such bond purchase agreement, in the form presented to this meeting, with such changes, 
insertions and omissions as are made pursuant to this Resolution, being hereinafter referred to as 
the "Bond Purchase Agreement"); 

2 
41 39-3558-0453.4 



WHEREAS, there has been prepared and submitted to this meeting a proposed form of the 
Official Statement (as defined herein) in preliminary form (the "Preliminary Official Statement") 
to be used in connection with the offering and sale of the 2020C Bonds; 

WHEREAS, in order to assist the Underwriters in complying with Securities and Exchange 
Commission Rule 15c2-12(b )( 5), there has been prepared and submitted to this meeting a proposed 
form of Continuing Disclosure Agreement (such Continuing Disclosure Agreement, in the form 
presented to this meeting, with such changes, omissions and insertions as are made pursuant to this 
Resolution, being hereinafter referred to as the "Continuing Disclosure Agreement"), which is 
proposed to be entered into by the District and the Trustee, as trustee and as dissemination agent; 

WHEREAS, the District has engaged Sperry Capital Inc., as municipal advisor to the 
District with respect to the 2020C Bonds, and Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, as bond and 
disclosure counsel to the District with respect to the 2020C Bonds and pursuant to Section 5852.1 
of the Government Code of the State of California, the District has estimated the costs of issuance 
for the 2020C Bonds and has received certain representations and good faith estimates from the 
Representative as to the debt costs and finance charges with respect to the 2020C Bonds as set 
forth in Appendix A hereto; and 

WHEREAS, the District hereby determines that use of the proceeds of the 2020C Bonds 
for the Project will assist BART in providing mass transit services which are electrically powered 
and thus reduce the amount of carbon dioxide that would otherwise be released if BART riders 
used automobiles and as such the 2020C Bonds should be certified as "Green Bonds" under the 
low carbon land transport standard established by the Climate Bonds Standard and Certification 
Scheme; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the San Francisco 
Bay Area Rapid Transit District as follows: 

Section 1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct, and the issuance by the District 
of San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 
2020 Series C-1 (Green Bonds) and San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General 
Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds), in an 
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $700,000,000, on the terms and conditions set forth 
herein and in the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, as finally executed and delivered, is 
hereby approved. 

Section 2. The Second Supplemental Trust Agreement in the form presented to this 
meeting is hereby approved. The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized and 
directed to execute and deliver the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement in substantially the form 
presented to this meeting with such changes, insertions and omissions as may be approved by such 
officer, such approval being conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery of the Second 
Supplemental Trust Agreement. The proceeds of the 2020C Bonds ( after payment of the costs of 
issuance thereof) will be applied to provide funds for the purposes hereinabove described. The 
maximum term of the 2020C Bonds shall not exceed thirty (30) years. The maximum rate of 
interest to be payable on the 2020C Bonds shall not exceed five percent (5.00%) per annum. The 
combined true interest cost for the 2020C Bonds shall not exceed four percent (4.00%). Optional 

3 
4139-3558-0453.4 



redemption of the 2020C Bonds shall be provided for at not later than ten ( 10) years from the date 
of issuance at the principal amount of2020C Bonds being redeemed; provided, however, that the 
Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized to cause all or any portion of the 2020C 
Bonds to be issued as noncallable, taxable or tax-exempt bonds. The 2020C Bonds shall be signed 
by the manual or facsimile signature of the President of the Board of Directors of the District and 
countersigned by the manual or facsimile signature of the Secretary of the District, and the manual 
or facsimile seal of the District shall be affixed to the 2020C Bonds. The 2020C Bonds shall be 
authenticated by a manual signature of a duly authorized officer of the Trustee. The dated date of 
the document, the interest payment dates, series designations, tax designation, denominations, 
forms, manner of execution, terms of redemption and other terms of the 2020C Bonds shall be as 
provided in the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement as finally executed. 

Section 3. The sale of the 2020C Bonds to the Underwriters on the terms and 
conditions contained in the Bond Purchase Agreement are hereby approved and authorized. The 
Bond Purchase Agreement is hereby approved and the Controller/Treasurer of the District is 
hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Bond Purchase Agreement in 
substantially the form presented to this meeting with such changes, insertions and omissions as 
may be approved by such officer, such approval being conclusively evidenced by the execution 
and delivery thereof. The maximum underwriting discount on the sale of the 2020C Bonds 
( exclusive of original issue discount) shall be not greater than thirty-five hundredths of one percent 
(0.35%) of the principal amount of the 2020C Bonds. The proceeds, including any accrued interest 
on the sale of the 2020C Bonds, shall be applied simultaneously with the delivery of the 2020C 
Bonds, as required by the terms of the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement as finally executed. 

Section 4. The Preliminary Official Statement in the form presented to this meeting is 
hereby approved and the distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement, in connection with the 
offering and sale of the 2020C Bonds, with such changes, omissions and insertions as shall be 
approved by the Controller/Treasurer, is hereby authorized and approved. The 
Controller/Treasurer is hereby authorized to review the Preliminary Official Statement and to 
certify on behalf of the District that the Preliminary Official Statement is "deemed final" as of its 
date, except for certain terms and pricing information permitted to be omitted therefrom pursuant 
to Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-l 2. The Controller/Treasurer of the District 
is authorized to deliver such a certification to the Underwriters. 

The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized and directed to prepare a final 
version of the Official Statement ( such final version of the Official Statement, in the form of the 
Preliminary Official Statement, with such changes, insertions and omissions as shall be approved 
by the Controller/Treasurer of the District, being hereinafter referred to as the "Official 
Statement") and to execute the Official Statement and any amendment or supplement thereto, in 
the name of and on behalf of the District, and cause the Official Statement and any such 
amendment or supplement to be delivered to the Underwriters and distributed in connection with 
the offering and sale of the 2020C Bonds. 

Section 5. The Continuing Disclosure Agreement in the form presented to this meeting 
is hereby approved. The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized and directed to 
execute and deliver a Continuing Disclosure Agreement in substantially the form presented to this 
meeting, with such changes, insertions and omissions as may be approved by such officer, such 

4 
4 139-3558-0453.4 



approval being conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery of the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement. 

Section 6. The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized to arrange and 
confirm Green Bond certifications from the Climate Bonds Initiative for the 2020C Bonds or a 
portion thereof and the Controller/Treasurer of the District is further authorized to execute and 
deliver all documents necessary in connection therewith. 

Section 7. The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized to enter into or 
to instruct the Trustee to enter into one or more investment agreements, float contracts, swaps or 
other hedging products (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Investment Agreement") 
providing for the investment of moneys in any of the funds and accounts created under the Trust 
Agreement, on such terms as the Controller/Treasurer of the District shall deem appropriate. 
Pursuant to Section 5922 of the California Government Code, the Board of Directors of the District 
hereby finds and determines that the Investment Agreement will reduce the amount and duration 
of interest rate risk with respect to amounts invested pursuant to the Investment Agreement and is 
designed to reduce the amount or duration of payment, rate, spread or similar risk or result in a 
lower cost of borrowing when used in combination with the 2020C Bonds or enhance the 
relationship between risk and return with respect to investments. 

Section 8. Pursuant to Section 29121 of the California Public Utilities Code, the 
District shall, at the time of fixing the general tax levy and in the manner provided for fixing the 
general tax levy, levy and collect annually until the 2020C Bonds are paid, or until there is a sum 
in the treasury of the District set apart for the purpose of paying all principal of and interest ( and 
redemption premiums, if any) on the 2020C Bonds as the same become due and payable, a tax 
sufficient to pay the annual interest on the 2020C Bonds and such part of the principal thereof, 
including any sinking fund installments or redemption premiums required to be paid pursuant to 
the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, as will become due before the proceeds of a tax levied 
at the next general tax levy will be made available for such purposes. 

Section 9. The District hereby pledges all revenues from the property taxes collected 
from the levy for the payment of outstanding general obligation bonds of the District heretofore 
and hereafter issued pursuant to voter-approved Measure RR of the District, including the 2020C 
Bonds and any bonds issued to refund the 2020C Bonds or any other bonds issued pursuant to 
Measure RR (for the purpose of this pledge herein collectively, the "Bonds") and amounts on 
deposit in the interest and sinking fund of the District to the payment of the principal or redemption 
price of and interest on the Bonds. This pledge shall be valid and binding from the date hereof for 
the benefit of the owners of the 2020C Bonds and successors thereto. The property taxes and 
amounts held in the interest and sinking fund of the District shall be immediately subject to this 
pledge, and the pledge shall constitute a lien and security interest which shall immediately attach 
to the property taxes and amounts held in the interest and sinking fund of the District to secure the 
payment of the Bonds and shall be effective, binding, and enforceable against the District, its 
successors, creditors and all others irrespective of whether those parties have notice of the pledge 
and without the need of any physical delivery, recordation, filing, or further act. 

Section 10. The Board of Supervisors, the Auditor-Controller, the Assessor, the 
Treasurer, and other appropriate officials of each of the County of Alameda, the County of Contra 

5 
4139-3558-0453.4 



Costa and the City and County of San Francisco (each a "BART County" and collectively, the 
"BART Counties"), are hereby requested to take and authorize such actions as may be necessary 
pursuant to laws of the State of California to provide for the levy and collection of the property tax 
on all property within their respective County subject to taxation by the District at such rate 
specified annually by the District to provide for payment of all principal of, redemption premium, 
if any, and interest on the 2020C Bonds as the same shall become due and payable, and to transfer 
such monies to or as requested by the District for deposit to the District's interest and sinking fund 
established pursuant to the Trust Agreement, and the Secretary of the District is hereby authorized 
and directed to deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, 
the Auditor-Controller, the Assessor, the Treasurer and other appropriate officials of each BART 
County. The Board hereby agrees to reimburse each BART County for any costs associated with 
the levy and collection of said tax, upon such documentation of said costs as the District shall 
reasonably request. The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized to enter into 
agreements with each BART County, provide such other documentation, and engage such 
consultants as the Controller/Treasurer of the District determines is necessary or convenient to 
assist in the levy and collection of the taxes, the transfer thereof to or at the direction of the District, 
and the management of the bond program. 

Section 11. The President of the Board of Directors of the District, the General Manager 
of the District, the Controller/Treasurer of the District, the General Counsel of the District, the 
District Secretary and any other proper officer of the District, acting singly, is, and each of them 
hereby is, authorized and directed to execute and deliver any and all documents and instruments 
and to do and cause to be done any and all acts and things necessary or proper to carry out the 
transactions contemplated by the Trust Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Preliminary 
Official Statement, the Official Statement and the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, and by this 
Resolution, including without limitation, the delivery of tax certifications, the delivery of any 
instructions or documents relating to the investment of bond proceeds and the making of any 
determinations or submission of any documents or reports which are required by any governmental 
entity in connection with the issuance or payment of the 2020C Bonds. 

Section 12. All actions heretofore taken by the officers, representatives or agents of the 
District in connection with the issuance and sale of the 2020C Bonds are hereby ratified, confirmed 
and approved. 

Section 13. This Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED on ____ ______ , 2020. 

6 
4139-3558-0453 .4 



EXHIBIT A TO RESOLUTION 

GOOD FAITH ESTIMATES 

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 

(ELECTION OF 2016), 2020 SERIES C 
(GREEN BONDS) 

The following information was obtained from J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as 
Representative of the Underwriters of the bonds defined above (the "Bonds") and Sperry Capital 
Inc., as Municipal Advisor to the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District with respect to 
the Bonds, for consideration prior to the authorization in the foregoing Resolution of the proposed 
Bonds: 

1. True Interest Cost of the Bonds. Assuming an aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds in the amount of $700,000,000 is sold pursuant to the financing and based on market interest 
rates prevailing at the time of preparation of this information plus 50 basis points, a good faith 
estimate of the true interest cost of the Bonds, which means the rate necessary to discount the 
amounts payable on the respective principal and interest payment dates to the purchase price 
received for the Bonds, is 3.508%. 

2. Finance Charge of the Bonds. Assuming such a principal amount of the proposed 
Bonds is sold and based on market interest rates prevailing at the time of preparation of this 
information plus 50 basis points, a good faith estimate of the Finance Charge of the Bonds, which 
means the sum of all fees and charges paid to third parties ( or costs associated with the issuance 
of the Bonds), is $2,183,220.97, as follows: 

a) Bond Counsel Fees $500,000.00* 
b) Disclosure Counsel Fees 200,000.00* 
c) Disbursements 5,000.00* 
d) Municipal Advisor Fees 30,000.00* 
e) Rating Agency Fees 271 ,475.00* 
f) Trustee Fees 9,100.00* 
g) Printer Fees 4,690.00* 
h) Miscellaneous Expenses 1,000.00* 
i) Green Bond Certification 7,000.00* 
j) Underwriters' Discount 1, 145,000.00* 

Subtotal $2,173,265.00* 
k) Contingency 9,955.97* 

Total: $2,183,220.97* 
• Preliminary, subject to change. 

3. Amount of Proceeds to be Received. Assuming such aggregate principal amount of 
the proposed Bonds required to effectuate the financing is sold and based on market interest rates 
prevailing at the time of preparation of this information plus 50 basis points, a good faith estimate 
of the amount of proceeds expected to be received by the issuer for sale of the Bonds less the 

A-1 
4139-3558-0453.4 



Finance Charge of the Bonds described in 2 above and any reserves or capitalized interest paid or 
funded with proceeds of the Bonds, is $700,000,000.00. 

4. Total Payment Amount. Assuming such aggregate principal amount of the 
proposed Bonds ($700,000,000.00) are sold and based on market interest rates prevailing at the 
time of preparation of this information plus 50 basis points, a good faith estimate of the total 
payment amount, which means the sum total of all payments the issuer will make to pay debt 
service on the Bonds plus the Finance Charge of the Bonds described in paragraph 2 above not 
paid with the proceeds of the Bonds, calculated to the final maturity of the Bonds, is 
$1,279,347,913 .891

. 

Attention is directed to the fact that the foregoing information constitutes good faith 
estimates only. The actual interest cost, finance charges, amount of proceeds and total payment 
amount may vary from the estimates above due to variations from these estimates in the timing of 
Bond sales, the amount of Bonds sold, the amortization of the Bonds sold and market interest rates 
at the time of each sale. The date or dates of sale and the amount of Bonds sold will be determined 
by the issuer based on need for funds and other factors. The actual interest rates at which the Bonds 
will be sold will depend on the bond market at the time of sale. The actual amortization of the 
Bonds will also depend, in part, on market interest rates at the time of each sale. Market interest 
rates are affected by economic and other factors beyond the issuer' s control. 

1 Net debt service excluding $138,115,885.33 in debt service payments the issuer will make with 
proceeds of the Bonds deposited in the interest and sinking fund of the District. 

A-2 
4139-3558-0453.4 



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
300 Lakeside Drive, P.O. Box 12688, Oakland, CA 94604-2688 

Board of Directors 
Minutes of the 1,866th Meeting 

June 25, 2020 

DRAFT 

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors was held on June 25, 2020, convening at 9:00 a.m. via 
teleconference, pursuant to Governor Gavin Newsom' s Executive Order N-29-20 and the California 
Shelter-in-Place mandate. President Simon presided; Patricia K. Williams, District Secretary. 

Directors Present: 

Absent: 

Directors Allen, Ames, Dufty, Foley Li, McPartland, Raburn, Saltzman and 
Simon. 

None. 

President Simon gave opening remarks and instructions on the virtual meeting, accessing presentation 
materials online, Public Comment, and Board Members' remarks. 

Consent Calendar action items brought before the Board were: 

1. Approval of Minutes of the Meeting of June 11, 2020. 

2. BART Police Citizen Review Board Appointments and Re-Appointments. 

3. Fiscal Year 2021 Proposition 4 Appropriations Limit. 

4. Resolution Authorizing California State of Good Repair Program Funds for Fiscal Year 2020-
2021. 

5. Extension of Agreement No. 6M4299, Website Platform Management Software, with Acquia, 
Inc. 

6. Award of Contract No. 54RR-330, Oakland Shops Vacuum System Replacement. 

7. Invitation For Bid No. 9086, Backhoes, Excavators, Telehandlers and Trailers. 

8. Invitation For Bid No. 9088, Aerial Lift Trucks, Dump Trucks and Stake Trucks. 

9. Reject All Bids for Contract No. 15EK-100, Traction Power Facility Replacements C, M, and K 
Lines. 

10. Renewal of Lease Agreement with West Grand Adeline, LLC for Warehouse Space at 2305 
Chestnut Street, ·Oakland, CA. 

-1-



DRAFT 

Director Ames commented on and/or inquired about the 50% additional purchase above the contract 
amounts and borrowing equipment to reduce costs, and requested that Items 2-G, Invitation For Bid No. 
9086, Backhoes, Excavators, Telehandlers and Trailers, and 2-H, Invitation For Bid No. 9088, Aerial 
Lift Trucks, Dump Trucks and Stake Trucks, be removed from the Consent Calendar. 

Director Saltzman made the following motions as a unit. Director Dufty seconded the motions, which 
carried by unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: 9 - Directors Allen, Ames, Dufty, Foley, Li, McPartland, 
Raburn, Saltzman, and Simon. Noes: 0. 

1. That the Minutes of the Meeting of June 11 , 2020 be approved. 

2. That the BART Board of Directors ratifies the appointment and reappointment of the following 
individuals for a term of2 years, beginning on July 1, 2020, and expiring on June 30, 2022: 

Erin Armstrong, Public-at-Large 
Kenneth Loo, District 1 
William White, District 3 
Todd Davis, District 5 
Christina Gomez, District 7 
George Perezvelez, District 9 

3. That Resolution No. 5443, In the Matter of the Establishment Of the Fiscal Year 2021 
Appropriations Limit, be adopted. 

4. That Resolution No. 5444, In the matter of authorizing the acceptance of Fiscal Year 2020-21 
California State of Good Repair Program Funds, be adopted; and that the General Manager, or 
an appointed designee, be designated to execute all required documentation for participation in 
this program. This action will enable the receipt of funds in the amount of $6,471 ,025.00 to 
perform critical improvements to escalators and elevators, electrical and mechanical systems, 
communication and computer systems, and traction power systems at various District stations 
and facilities. 

5. That the General Manager be authorized to issue a Purchase Order for the renewal of licenses to 
Acquia, Inc. for Website Platform Management Software in the amount of $558,000.03. 

6. That the General Manager be authorized to award Contract No. 54RR-330 - Oakland Shops 
Vacuum System Replacement to Blocka Construction, Inc. for an amount not to exceed 
$639,300.00 pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager, subject to the 
District's Protest Procedures. 

7. That the General Manager be authorized to reject the Bid for Contract No. 15EK-100, Traction 
Power Facility Replacements C, M, and K Lines. 

8. That the General Manager, or his designee, be authorized to execute a lease agreement with West 
Grand Adeline, LLC for warehouse space at 2305 Chestnut Street, Oakland, for a five-year term 
for a first year rent amount of $58,800.00 with an annual escalation based on the regional Urban 
Consumer Price Index. 

-2-



DRAFT 

Director Saltzman made the following motions as a unit. Director Dufty seconded the motions. 

1. That the General Manager be authorized to award Invitation For Bid (IFB) No. 9086 for 
backhoes, excavators, telehandlers, and trailers to Sonsray Machinery in San Leandro, CA for an 
amount of $1 ,118,219.98, pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager, and 
subject to compliance with the District' s Protest Procedures, and Federal Transit 
Administration' s (FTA) requirements related to protest procedures. 

2. That the General Manager be authorized to award IFB No. 9088 for Aerial Lift Truck, Dump 
Truck, and Stake Trucks to Golden Gate Truck Center in Oakland, CA for an amount of 
$739,967.73 , pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager, and subject to 
compliance with the District' s Protest Procedures, and FTA's requirements related to protest 
procedures. 

(The foregoing motions were made on the basis of analysis by the staff and certification 
by the Controller/Treasurer that funds are available for this purpose.) 

Director Ames commented on the potential increase in the contract amounts. 

Director Raburn commented on funding sources and the need for the purchases. 

The motions brought by Director Saltzman and seconded by Director Dufty carried by roll call vote. 
Ayes: 7 - Directors Dufty, Foley, Li, McPartland, Raburn, Saltzman, and Simon. Noes: 2 - Directors 
Allen and Ames. 

Director McPartland reported he had appointed Todd Davis as the representative for District 5 on the 
BART Police Citizen Review Board (BPCRB). 

President Simon called for Public Comment on the Consent Calendar. No comments were received. 

President Simon called for general Public Comment. 

Ms. Williams indicated that written comments had already been submitted to the Board and that there 
were no additional written general public comments. 

The following individuals addressed the Board via telephone: 

Joe Kunzler 
Adina Levin 
Aleta Dupree 
Felix Thompson 
Anna Krasner 
Simon Manganelli 
Peter H. 

Director Dufty acknowledged Adina Levin' s comments; commented on the low-income means-based 
fare pilot that will be implemented on July 15, 2020; and explained that four Board Members worked on 

-3-



DRAFT 

an amendment to the budget resolution and a Roll Call for Introductions (RCI) request regarding the 
BART Police Department (BPD). 

Director McPartland, Chairperson of the Administration Committee, brought the matter of COVID-19 
Update: Impact of and Responses to COVID-19 before the Board. 

Mr. Michael Jones, Deputy General Manager; Ms. Angela Borchardt, Research Projects Supervisor, 
Customer and Performance Research; Ms. Pamela Herhold, Assistant General Manager, Performance 
and Budget; Mr. Robert Powers, General Manager; Ms. Alicia Trost, Chief Communications Officer; 
Ms. Tamar Allen, Assistant General Manager, Operations; Ms. Gia Ilole, General Manager, 
Administration; and Chief of Police Ed Alvarez, presented the item. The presentation contained sections 
on BART Counties' Status for Reopening, Post COVID-19 Rider Survey, Ridership, and the Welcome 
Back Plan. 

The item was discussed, with the following highlights: 

Director Allen thanked staff for their efforts and asked for information about expected 
baseline ridership. 

Director Ames commented on and/or inquired about counties' efforts to address increases in 
COVID-19 cases, rider survey results, social distancing, Adina Levin's comment and a 50% 
means-based fare discount, and funding from the Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
(MTC) to offset lost revenue due to a 50% fare discount. 

Director Li commented on and/or inquired about conducting inter-stop surveys, collecting 
feedback from Station Agents and frontline employees, ridership, contactless payment, and the 
effect of the San Francisco transportation working group on the Welcome Back Plan and the 
existence of similar working groups in other counties; and requested that future presentations 
include Clipper®-related statistics and that staff provide an update on open contactless payment 
options and ensuring that Clipper cards are available to riders. 

Director McPartland commented on and/or inquired about ridership, thirty-minute headways, 
decontaminating trains every night, increased ridership and decreasing headways to fifteen 
minutes, upgrading decontamination efforts, and determining whether BART employees are 
more efficient when working from home than when working in the office. 

Director Raburn commented on and/or inquired about the health status of BART employees, 
rider survey results regarding potential interventions, the existence of a measure for mask 
compliance, the impact of the state mandate for masks, social distancing, increasing the 
frequency of service, and the importance of wearing a mask; and recognized Ms. Tamar Allen 
and staff for adding train cars in response to concerns about crowding. 

Director McPartland asked whether public service announcements (PSA) regarding social 
distancing are issued on platforms. 

-4-



The following individuals addressed the Board via telephone: 

Peter H. 
David Ying 
Aleta Dupree 

Discussion continued, with the following highlights: 

DRAFT 

Director Saltzman thanked staff for their work and commented on the rider survey and surveying 
riders who have stopped riding BART over the past few years. 

Director McPartland asked how e-mail addresses are acquired for surveys. 

Vice President Foley thanked staff for their work and commented on maintaining social 
distancing and addressing issues with masks and train cleanliness when ridership increases. 

President Simon expressed appreciation for staffs efforts to create a safe working environment 
and thanked staff for upholding BART's infrastructure. 

Director McPartland brought the matter of Resolution Approving the Fiscal Year 2021 Annual Budget 
before the Board. Ms. Herhold, Mr. Christopher Simi, Director of Budgets, and Mr. Powers presented 
the item. 

The following individuals addressed the Board via telephone: 

Aleta Dupree 
Peter H. 
Ed Powerlan 

Director Allen commented on and/or inquired about the change to the budget regarding BART Police 
Officers and Fare Inspectors, language in the proposed budget resolution regarding the General 
Manager's exercise of authority in disbursements, language in the proposed budget resolution regarding 
wage increases, and reducing operating expenses. 

Director Allen moved that Resolution No. 5445, In the matter of approving the Annual Budget for the 
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District and authorizing Expenditures for the Fiscal Year July 1, 
2020, to June 30, 2021, be adopted with the following amendment: 

To require that the line item titled, "Subtotal - Operating Expense" that appears on Attachment 1 be 
reduced from the $850,853,000.00 to the equivalent of the Fiscal Year 2020 (FY 20) budget amount of 
$799,800,000.00. This amounts to about a $51 million decrease in operating expenses before allocations 
to capital budget and debt service. Essentially that would put the Fiscal Year 2021 (FY 21) budget even 
with the budget for FY 20. 

Director McPartland asked staff to discuss the impact of Director Allen's proposed amendment and 
inquired about whether budget reductions could be implemented after the budget is approved, the 
Board' s oversight of budget reductions, and the amount of budget increases funded by the BART Safety, 
Reliability and Traffic Relief Program (Measure RR). 

-5-



DRAFT 

Director Allen commented on the additional expenses, revenue, and total impact on the budget attributed 
to the Silicon Valley extension. 

Director Ames seconded Director Allen' s motion and commented on reducing operating expenses, 
economic recovery, the uncertainty of BART's fiscal stability, reviewing a future budget, ridership 
confidence, and fare gates. 

Director Ames proposed the following amendment to Director Allen' s proposed amendment: To 
supplement the new fare gate funding program through leveraging a combination of Measure RR, 
county, and grant funds totaling $50 million and issuance of $50 million in new sales tax revenue bonds 
for a total program of $100 million to fund new fare gate improvements at all stations within 3 years. 

Director Allen initially seconded Director Ames' amendment, but subsequently rescinded her second. 

· Director Ames then made a substitute motion: 

That Resolution No. 5445, In the matter of approving the Annual Budget for the San Francisco Bay Area 
Rapid Transit District and authorizing Expenditures for the Fiscal Year July 1, 2020, to June 30, 2021 , 
be adopted with the following amendments: 

To require that the line item titled, "Subtotal - Operating Expense" that appears on Attachment 
1 be reduced from the $850,853,000.00 to the equivalent of the FY 20 budget amount of 
$799,800,000.00. This amounts to about a $51 million decrease in operating expenses before 
allocations to capital budget and debt service. Essentially that would put the FY 21 budget even 
with the budget for FY 20. 

To supplement the new fare gate funding program through leveraging a combination of Measure 
RR, county, and grant funds totaling $50 million and issuance of $50 million in new sales tax 
revenue bonds for a total program of $100 million to fund new fare gate improvements at all 
stations within 3 years. 

Mr. Matthew Burrows, General Counsel, read the following second substitute motion made by Director 
Dufty: That Resolution No. 5445, In the matter of approving the Annual Budget for the San Francisco 
Bay Area Rapid Transit District and authorizing Expenditures for the Fiscal Year July 1, 2020, to June 
30, 2021 , be adopted with the following addition: 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT through the 2020-2021 budget, the District commits to undertake 
a rigorous stakeholder process on new approaches that emphasize responding to homelessness, 
behavioral health and substance use without relying on armed police. This effort answers public calls to 
dramatically change how BART addresses these societal problems in our system. The Board and the 
General Manager will jointly lead this effort to develop recommendations for staffing and funding 
services that do not require sworn personnel that will be presented in October when adjustments to the 
budget are considered. 

Director Dufty thanked the District 9 public speakers for their comments regarding the change in the 
budget to add Ambassadors and a Community Outreach Specialist and commented on the Black Lives 
Matter movement, racism, BART Police Officers ' inability to provide social services, President Simon' s 
leadership, the death of Oscar Grant, racism in policing, and BART Police Officer deployment practices. 

-6-



DRAFT 

Director McPartland seconded the second substitute motion. 

The item was discussed, with the following highlights: 

Director Li aligned herself with Director Dufty ' s comments; commented that Black Lives Matter, 
commented on support for the budget, budget reductions, increasing service, support for the 
change in the budget regarding BART Police Officers and Fare Inspectors, support for Director 
Dufty ' s substitute motion, BART's police reform efforts, and the death of Oscar Grant; and 
expressed appreciation for Mr. Powers and Chief Alvarez's willingness to recognize the need 
and public demand for change. Director Li commented on racism in policing and Director 
Dufty ' s proposed addition to the budget resolution; aligned herself with a written statement by 
David Rizk, Chairperson of the BPCRB; and read a statement by Mr. Rizk aloud. 

Director McPartland commented on the Declaration of Independence, the Black Lives Matter 
movement, equality, law enforcement problems possibly attributed to training and policy, the 
demand for defunding police departments, and removal of monuments. 

Director Raburn commented on the death of Oscar Grant and reforms at BART, the development 
of the Office of the Independent Police Auditor (OIPA) and the BPCRB, the death of George 
Floyd and revolution throughout the world, acknowledging the need for change, the need for 
additional reforms, the demand for defunding police departments, the change in the budget 
regarding BART Police Officers and Fare Inspectors, and support for Director Dufty' s proposed 
addition to the budget resolution. 

Director Saltzman thanked President Simon for her work and echoed Director Dufty' s comments; 
thanked previous Boards, the BPD, the OIPA, and the BPCRB for their work; recognized Chief 
Alvarez for his work; commented on the public' s sustained interest in defunding or reforming 
the BPD, support for Director Dufty 's proposed addition to the budget resolution and the 
upcoming process; and expressed appreciation for staffs work on the budget. 

Vice President Foley thanked budget staff for their work; commented on support for the proposed 
budget and Director Dufty's substitute motion; indicated that Black Lives Matter; commented on 
opposition to defunding the BPD, reexamining and reevaluating policing at BART to allow 
personnel to work effectively, opposition to further budget reductions, and increasing ridership 
and service. 

Director McPartland commented that BART' s most important resource is personnel. 

President Simon commented on staffs efforts and budget staffs work; expressed gratitude for 
Mr. Powers ' support of Chief Alvarez; commented on Chief Alvarez' s work, innovative 
leadership within BART; requested that Mr. Powers continue to push leaders to "think big" and 
continue to learn from the past; commented on support for the proposed budget; and thanked 
Board Members for their advocacy efforts. 

Director Ames expressed appreciation for Board Members ' comments and commented on the 
need for reform, including reform in her substitute motion, budget reductions causing reform, 
and financial risk passed on to riders. 

-7-



DRAFT 

The substitute motion brought by Director Dufty and seconded by Director McPartland carried by roll 
call vote. Ayes: 7 - Directors Dufty, Foley, Li, McPartland, Raburn, Saltzman, and Simon. Noes: 2 -
Directors Allen and Ames. 

President Simon announced that the order of agenda items would be changed and called for Item 8-C, 
Roll Call for Introductions. 

Director Saltzman submitted the following RCI request: 

In response to Black Lives Matter, the tragic murder of George Floyd by Minneapolis Police, Bay Area 
social justice protests and public demand, the Board of Directors requests that the General Manager 
works with the Board of Directors on an immediate stakeholder process to develop changes to the BART 
Police model that de-emphasize the use of sworn personnel to respond to homelessness, behavioral 
health and substance use, among other issues that do not need an armed police response. Recognizing 
that much has been done to implement progressive and equitable policing practices, we also need to 
consider a different model of public safety that is more effective and prevents racially biased policing. 
The goal is to have recommendations for consideration in October when the Board considers revisions 
to this year' s budget. 

Director McPartland seconded Director Saltzman' s RCI request. 

Director Allen exited the Meeting. 

Director Dufty, Chairperson of the Engineering and Operations Committee, brought the matter of A ward 
of Contract No. 15EJ-180, 34.5 kV Cable Replacement and Fiber Optic Installation, A-Line, ACO to 
AUC, before the Board. Mr. Raymond Hsu, Manager of Engineering Programs, Strategic Engineering, 
presented the item. 

Director Raburn moved that the General Manager be authorized to award Contract No. 15EJ-180, 34.5 
KV Cable Replacement and Fiber Optic Cable Installation, A-Line, ACO to AUC to DMZ Builders, 
Concord, CA in the amount of $106,992,990.00, pursuant to notification to be issued by the General 
Manager, subject to the District ' s Protest Procedures. Director McPartland seconded the motion. 

Aleta Dupree addressed the Board via telephone. 

Director Dufty commented on the difference between DMZ Builders ' bid and the Engineer' s Estimate 
and staffs more in-depth approach to developing the Engineer' s Estimate; and thanked Ms. Tamar Allen 
and staff for their work. 

The motion brought by Director Raburn and seconded by Director McPartland carried by unanimous 
roll call vote. Ayes: 8 - Directors Ames, Dufty, Foley, Li, McPartland, Raburn, Saltzman, and Simon. 
Noes: 0. Absent: 1 - Director Allen. 

Director Dufty brought the matter of BART's Commitment to Progressive Policing before the Board. 
Chief Alvarez, Mr. Russell Bloom, Independent Police Auditor, Mr. Jones, Mr. Powers, and Ms. Trost 
presented the item. 

-8-



DRAFT 

Director Dufty asked Chief Alvarez and Mr. Bloom to introduce themselves, commended Chief Alvarez 
and Mr. Bloom, and asked Mr. Powers to address the Board. 

President Simon expressed gratitude for the presentation and her conversations with Chief Alvarez; 
commented on innovation, reflection, intolerance of racists in the BPD, reform, BPD institutional 
agreements, Chief Alvarez' s vision of opportunity for change, and the approach to community safety; 
and shared her experience as the victim of a violent crime, her work with domestic violence victims, and 
commitment to the safety of sex trafficking victims, low-wage workers, and community members. 

The following individuals addressed the Board via telephone: 

Wanda Johnson 
Gabriela Ornelas 
Keith Garcia 
Aleta Dupree 
Gena Alexander 

Director Dufty commented on Aleta Dupree' s comment regarding stakeholders. 

The item was discussed, with the following highlights: 

Director Ames commented on police reform, the Commission on Accreditation for Law 
Enforcement Agencies (CALEA) accreditation, community engagement, stakeholders, poverty, 
homelessness, and reducing fares ; and recognized Police Lieutenant Ja' Son Scott for his work. 

Director Dufty asked Chief Alvarez and Mr. Bloom to comment on banning holds above the 
shoulder. 

Director Li commented on and/or inquired about her communication with Black community 
leaders regarding reform, Gena Alexander's comments, additional resources previously 
requested by the BPCRB, engagement with the BPCRB and increasing resources for the BPCRB 
and OPIA in future budget proposals, additional resources for the OIP A, and information about 
the protocol for BART Police Officers regarding non-violent behavioral health, substance use, 
and fare evasion situations. 

Director McPartland commented on violence, division of the nation, and protests. 

Director Dufty commented on racism and change. 

Director McPartland commented on the death of Oscar Grant and the impact of The National 
Organization of Black Law Enforcement Executives (NOBLE) report, best practices for policing, 
racism and accountability, the partnership between the BPCRB and OIPA, and Todd Davis ' 
appointment to the BPRCB. 

Director Raburn commented on and/or inquired about oversight of race and policing, revision of 
the initial NOLBE report recommendations, alternative dispute resolution, data provided by 
Integrating Communications, Assessment, and Tactics (ICA T) training, collaboration, and re
establishing public outreach; thanked the public speakers for their comments; requested that de-

-9-



DRAFT 

escalation information be included m the OIPA' s monthly reports to the BPCRB; and 
commended Chief Alvarez. 

Director Saltzman asked whether a webpage containing the presentation information has been or 
will be created and whether the Board could legally meet with the BPCRB; and requested that a 
joint meeting between the Board and BPCRB be scheduled. 

Joe Kunzler addressed the Board via telephone. 

Vice President Foley commented on support for continued engagement with law enforcement 
employees and the BPCRB, expanded training for BART Police Officers, and community-based 
assistance and working with national partners to identify the best certified training. 

President Simon commented on safety, measuring success, addressing failure, and commitment 
to becoming stronger. 

Director Saltzman, Chairperson of the Planning, Public Affairs, Access, and Legislation Committee, 
brought the matter of Federal and State Legislation for Consideration before the Board. Ms. Amanda 
Cruz, Manager of Government Relations and Legislative Affairs, Government and Community 
Relations, presented the item. 

Ms. Williams provided a summary of a written comment submitted by Zach Hilton. 

Director Saltzman commented on support for all of staff's recommendations, her appreciation for staffs 
work on Assembly Bill (AB) 2850, and the status of AB 2850. 

Director Ames commented on the inadequacy of climate change investments in the INVEST in America 
Act, protecting roads, infrastructure, and communities, watersheds, inadequacy of investment in rail in 
the INVEST in America Act, FASTER Bay Area, connecting rail infrastructure, and opposition to the 
INVEST in America Act. 

Director Raburn commented on the INVEST in America Act, rail connections and the RAILS Act, the 
status of High-Speed Rail , House Resolution (H.R.) 97, and closely monitoring High-Speed Rail. 

Director Ames requested that H.R.2 be voted on separately. 

Director Raburn made the following motions as a unit: (1 ) That the Board of Directors supports H.R. 
7120/S. 3912, Assembly Constitutional Amendment (ACA) 5, AB 3153, Senate Bill (SB) 902, and 
Senate Constitutional Amendment (SCA) 1; (2) That the Board of Directors supports and authorizes staff 
to seek amendments to AB 3269; and (3) That the Board of Directors has no position on AB 2850 and 
will submit a letter to the author regarding pending and future amendments. Director Li seconded the 
motions, which carried by unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: 8 - Directors Ames, Dufty, Foley, Li, 
McPartland, Raburn, Saltzman, and Simon. Noes: 0. Absent: 1 - Director Allen. 

Director Raburn moved that the Board of Directors supports H.R.2. Director Li seconded the motion, 
which carried by roll call vote. Ayes: 7 - Directors Dufty, Foley, Li, McPartland, Raburn, Saltzman, and 
Simon. Noes: 1 - Director Ames. Absent: 1 - Director Allen. 

-10-



DRAFT 

Director Saltzman brought the matter of Resolution in Support of the Repeal of Proposition 209 and the 
Resumption of Affirmative Action in California before the Board. 

Director Saltzman moved that Resolution No. 5446, Resolution of the Board of Directors of the San 
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District supporting the repeal of Proposition 209 and the resumption 
of affirmative action in California, be adopted. President Simon seconded the motion. 

Director Dufty expressed support for the Resolution. 

The motion brought by Director Saltzman and seconded by President Simon carried by unanimous roll 
call vote. Ayes: 8 - Directors Ames, Dufty, Foley, Li, McPartland, Raburn, Saltzman, and Simon. 
Noes: 0. Absent: 1 - Director Allen. 

Director Saltzman brought the matter of BART Headquarters Office Building (2150 Webster St. , 
Oakland, CA) before the Board. Mr. Carl Holmes, Assistant General Manager, Design and Construction, 
presented the item. 

The following individuals addressed the Board via telephone: 

Manan Shah 
Julia Campbell 
Merrill Bowers 
Brendan Crockett 
Charissa Frank 
Steve Lawler 
Aaron Olson 

Director Saltzman asked Mr. Burrows to respond to public comments. 

Director Dufty commended President Simon for her work on the project; expressed appreciation for Mr. 
Holmes ' leadership on the project; asked for information about the construction manager on the project 
and whether an African American architectural firm is or will be part of the project; and commented on 
BART's business preference for LGBT businesses. 

President Simon commented on the project's initially scheduled presentation to the Board, the 
contractor' s commitment to BART's values, Board Members' community outreach regarding 
engagement with the project, Turner Construction Company' s (Turner) commitment to diversity, 
inclusion, and equity, and staff's responsibility to pr:ovide reports to the Board regarding the status of 
the project' s infrastructure and Turner' s progress on honoring its commitments, monitoring the success 
and challenges of the project, oversight by the minority Chambers of Commerce, and support for the 
project. 

President Simon moved that the General Manager be authorized to award Contract No. 6M4706 for the 
Design-Build of BART Headquarters, in the total amount not to exceed $58,467,851.37 to Turner 
Construction Company, subject to the District' s Protest Procedures. Director Raburn seconded the 
motion. 

-11-



DRAFT 

Director Ames commented that she would have liked to review the scope of work in the proposal, her 
request for staff to provide the scope of the Request for Proposal (RFP), receiving a detailed scope of 
work and information regarding milestones; and indicated that she needed to abstain from the vote due 
to lack of information. 

Director Raburn thanked staff and Turner for their work to secure a commitment to minority and women
owned businesses in Turner' s proposal; commented on his experience with a previous progressive 
design-build project; asked for an explanation of the process for the project; and addressed BCCI, noting 
that there would be future opportunities to bid on Measure RR projects. 

The motion brought by President Simon and seconded by Director Raburn carried by unanimous roll 
call vote. Ayes: 7 - Directors Dufty, Foley, Li, McPartland, Raburn, Saltzman, and Simon. Noes: 0. 
Abstentions: 1 - Director Ames. Absent: 1 - Director Allen. 

The Board Meeting recessed at 1 :59 p.m. 

The Board Meeting reconvened at 2:07 p.m. 

Directors present: Directors Ames, Dufty, Foley, Li, McPartland, Raburn. 

Absent: Directors Allen, Saltzman, and Simon. 

Vice President Foley chaired the remainder of the Meeting and called for the General Manager' s Report. 
Mr. Powers reported on Clipper utilization, migrating stations to Clipper-only payment, staff's efforts to 
communicate with the Board and public regarding converting stations to Clipper-only payment, 
providing station agents with Clipper cards for distribution to those who need assistance, the beginning 
of revenue service and ridership for the Santa Clara Valley Extension Phase I, the C25 and A65 projects, 
grant awards, and the Governor ' s Office of Emergency Services ' (Cal OES) donation of personal 
protective equipment (PPE) to BART. 

Vice President Foley called for Public Comment on the General Manager' s Report. Aleta Dupree and 
Joe Kunzler addressed the Board via telephone. 

Director Raburn commented on the discussion of Clipper-only payment at the Office of Civil Rights 
Title VI/Environmental Justice Advisory Committee meeting and ensuring that Clipper cards can be 
distributed to schools, institutions, and travelling groups at the beginning of the Clipper-only payment 
rollout; and suggested that the Government Alliance on Race and Equity (GARE), or a similar 
organization, help facilitate the upcoming meeting between the BPCRB and the Board. 

Vice President Foley called for Report of the Personnel Review Special Committee, Board Member 
Reports, and In Memoriam requests. 

Ms. Williams reported that the Personnel Review Special Committee had met in closed session on June 
18, 2020, and that there was no announcement to be made as a result of the meeting. 

-12-



DRAFT 

Director Ames commented on her desire for the West Oakland transit-oriented development (TOD) 
project to succeed and her upcoming meeting with the West Oakland TOD project developer to discuss 
building office space; and reported that she went to Berryessa Station. 

Director Li reported that she had attended the Silicon Valley Berryessa Extension (SVBX) opening 
ceremony at Berryessa Station and requested that the Meeting be adjourned in honor of The Honorable 
Harry Britt, community leader and former Supervisor of the City and County of San Francisco. 

Directors Dufty and Li gave remarks regarding The Honorable Harry Britt. 

Director McPartland reported that he had given presentations with staff regarding the interlocking at 
A65 at Hayward Station. 

Director Raburn reported that he had attended the Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Authority meeting on 
June 17, 2020. 

Vice President Foley reported that he had ridden the fust train of revenue service leaving Berryessa 
Station; commented on the Berryessa and Milpitas stations, social distancing on the first train that left 
Berryessa Station, and his observation of the new fare gate pilot at Richmond Station; suggested that 
liaisons be assigned to the Milpitas and Berryessa stations; and requested that Board Members try the 
new fare gates at Richmond Station. 

The Meeting was adjourned in honor of The Honorable Harry Britt at 2:25 p.m. 

Patricia K. Williams 
District Secretary 

-13-



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: 

Originator/Prepared by: Elena Van Loo 

Dept: Customer Access and Accessibility 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: Yes 

Controller/Treasurer District Secretary BARC 

! Status: Approved j Date Created: 6/28/2020 

New Member Appointments to the BART Accessibility Task Force (BATF) 

Purpose: 

To request the BART Board of Directors appoint two nominated candidates for 
membership, Hale Zukas and Anita Ortega, to the BART Accessibility Task Force (BATF). 

Discussion: 

The BATF has been in existence since 1975 to advise the BART Board and BART staff on 
accessibility issues at BART. The BATF by-laws provide for the committee to be comprised 
ofup to eighteen members who live or work in the BART service area. The BATF by-laws 
also state that to become a member of the committee, an interested applicant must be 
endorsed by the members of the BATF through a majority vote and then the 
recommendation for membership is submitted to the BART Board of Directors for 
consideration. 

Candidates for BATF Membership: 

Both Hale Zukas and Anita Ortega, candidates for membership to the BATF, were 
endorsed by a majority vote of the members of the BATF that were present at the June 
25, 2020 BATF committee meeting. 

These BATF membership recommendations are now being submitted to the BART 
Board for consideration. 



New Member Appointments to the BART Accessibility Task Force (BATF) (cont.) 

The prospective candidates, if approved by the BART Board, will be officially seated 
as members of the BATF on July 23, 2020 for a term of one year, or until the BART 
Board announces appointments and/or reappoints for a new term, whichever occurs 
later. If approved, the BATF will be comprised of 17 members. 

Fiscal Impact: 

Members receive a $15 monthly stipend for travel to attend regularly scheduled monthly 
committee meetings. Additionally, members are eligible to be reimbursed for the actual cost 
of travel for additional pre-approved meetings. 

Funds will be budgeted in the Customer Access Department operating budget (Dept. 
1102491, Account 681500-0ther Non-Professional Services). Funding for services in the 
fiscal year are included in the Department's existing operating budget, which is subject to 
Board approval. 

This action is not anticipated to have any fiscal impact on unprogrammed District reserves in 
the current Fiscal Year. 

Alternatives: 

Do not make the appointments. 

Recommendation: 

Appoint Hale Zukas and Anita Ortega to the BATF Accessibility Task Force (BATF). 

Motion: 

The BART Board accepts the recommendations of the BATF and appoints the nominated 
candidates, Hale Zukas and Anita Ortega, for membership to the BA TF for a term beginning 
July 23, 2020 for one year, or until the Board makes new appointments and/or 
reappointments for a new term, whichever occurs later. 



m 
EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 
Approve and Send to Board 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No 

Controller/Treasurer District Secretary by: Linda Lee \ enr.·roi:i:, 

~:r;_·a;;··~:·L-•~ iu '\~ 
Signature/Date: 

::r Jo, zvzo [ l 

To Request for Board Authorization to award Contract No.15TC-123 

PURPOSE: To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to award Contract No. 
15TC-123, Richmond Yard Fence Rehabilitation, to Perimeter Security Group LLC of 
Coeur d'Alene, ID for the bid price of $3,419,104.10. 

DISCUSSION: This Contract is part of the Systemwide Fence Rehabilitation Project for 
the removal and replacement of existing right-of-way fences and gates at critical locations 
systemwide. Fence projects were identified in the Risk Register as having high priority to 
ensure safety and reduce risk to BART operations. Fence intrusions have resulted in train 
delays, vandalism, and theft (especially copper). 

The Contract was publicly advertised on February 20-21, 2020 in three publications. Notice 
to Bidders for this Contract was emailed on February 24, 2020 to six prospective bidders. 
The Office of Civil Rights (OCR) notified approximately 1,196 firms in performance of their 
outreach. A Pre-Bid meeting was conducted on March 4, 2020 with representatives from 
approximately six firms in attendance. Prior to the Bid opening, the District issued three (3) 
Addenda for this Contract. 

Five bids were timely received on May 12, 2020. Two of the bids. were deemed non
responsive due to a variety of material defects. District staff determined that the remaining 
bids received were responsive. The bids received and the Engineer's Estimate are as follows: 



Obtain Board Authorization for the General Manager to award Contract No. 1 STC-123 

Bidder Name Location Total Bid Price Total Bid Price, 
with Bid 

Preferences*, if 
applicable 

Saboo, Inc. (Non- Brentwood, $3,003,780.00 $3,003,780.00 
Responsive) CA 
Perimeter Security Coeur $3,419,104.10 $3,419,104.10 
GroupLLC kl' Alene, ID 
Golden Bay Fence Plus Stockton, CA $3,969,766.00 $ 3,969,766.00 
Iron Works, Inc. 
Thompson Builders Novato, CA $3,999,414.00 $3,999,414.00 
(Non-Responsive) 
Wickman Development San Francisco, $ 5,097,725.00 $ 4,947,725.00* 
and Construction CA 

Engineer's Estimate $3,764,740.00 

*Includes a B.id Preference for certified Local Small Business prime contractor, for the sole 
purpose of determining the lowest evaluated price. 

Although Saboo, Inc. was the apparent low bidder, their bid was deemed non-responsive 
due to material defects in its bid, and as a result, Perimeter Security Group LLC 
("Perimeter") was determined to be the lowest responsive bidder. Perimeter's Total Bid 
Price of $3,419,104.10 is 9% below Engineer's Estimate of$3,764,740.00 and was found to 
be fair and reasonable based upon the independent cost estimate and a market survey of 
qualified contractors. 

Pursuant to the District's Non-Federal Small Business Program, the Office of Civil Rights 
set a 7% Local Small Business Prime Preference for this Contract for Small Businesses 
certified by the California Department of General Services and verified as Local (i.e., located 
in Alameda, Contra Costa or San Francisco counties) by the District. The Bidder, Perimeter, 
is not a certified Local Small Business and, therefore, is not eligible for the 7% Small 
Business Prime Preference but is still the lowest responsive Bidder. 

Pursuant to the District's Non-Discrimination Program for Subcontracting, the Availability 
Percentages for this Contract are 18.2% for Minority Business Enterprises ("MBEs") and 
9.3% for Women Business Enterprises (''WBEs"). The Office of Civil Rights has 
determined that the Bidder, Perimeter, has exceeded both the MBE and WBE Availability 
Percentages for this Contract at 73.7% for MBEs and 18.8% for WBEs. 

District staff has determined that this work is categorically exempt from the provisions of the 
California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") pursuant to Title 14, California Code of 
Regulations, Section 15302, Replacement or Reconstruction, because it consists of 



Obtain Board Authorization for the General Manager to award Contract No. 15TC-123 

replacing structures having substantially the same purpose and involving negligible expansion 
of capacity. 

CAPITAL FISCAL IMPACT: 

Funding in the amount of$3,419,104 for award of Contract No. 15TC-123 is included in the 
total Project budget for FMS #015TC023 -Fences Systemwide. 

The table below lists funding assigned to the referenced project and is included to track 
funding history against spending authority. Funds needed to meet this request will be 
expended from the following sources: 

Fund Source Amount 
Measure RR $67,470,000 
TOTAL $67,470,000 

As of07/02/2020, $67,470,000 is the total budget for this project. BART has expended 
$1,690,338, committed $3,738,058, and reserved $14,981 to date. This action will commit 
$3,419,104 leaving an available fund balance of $58,607,519 in the fund source for this 
project. 

The Office of the Controller/ Treasurer certifies that funds are currently available to meet this 
obligation. 

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District Reserves. 

ALTERNATIVE: The Board may elect to reject all bids and re-advertise the work of this 
Contract. There are no assurances that any new Bids would be lower than the current Bids. 
Failure to proceed with the Contract would delay the fall protection installation work, which 

will delay staffs access to the aerial structures for maintenance and other related work. 

RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion: 

MOTION: The General Manager is authorized to award Contract No. lSTC-123, 
Richmond Yard Fence Rehabilitation, to Perimeter Security Group LLC for the bid price of 
$3,419,104.10 pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager and subject to 
compliance with the District's Protest Procedures. 



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 
Approve and Forward to the E&O Committee 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No 

Originator/P red by: Denise McDonald ,r.e(t)Counsel 

D,p~:,;::.e,D,,,-d.J. ~<iy ~ 
Signature/Date~// D / z,6 2.,0 ,=t ~ 2./) [ ] 

Controller/Treasurer District Secretary 

[ l 

,iJ? 
?f 

"? \ 
\ 

rx-· [ l 

Award of Agreement Nos. 6M8173, 6M8174, and 6M8175, Detailed Station 
Cleaning Services 

t 

PURPOSE: 

To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to award three separate Technical 
Service Agreements to provide detailed station cleaning services as follows: Agreement No. 
6M8 l 73 to Aim to Please Janitorial Services, Agreement No. 6M8 l 74 to Zero Waste 
Solutions, Inc., and Agreement No. 6M8175 to Bay Area Green Solutions in an amount not 
to exceed $600,000 for each Agreement for a term not to exceed three (3) years. 

DISCUSSION: 

Request for Proposal (RFP) 6M8 l 73 was issued to solicit companies to provide Detailed 
Station Cleaning Services. The services are a continuation of the services that were 
provided under Agreement Nos. 6M8089A, 6M8099 and 6M8100 that concluded on March 
31, 2020, after which no services were performed. The District intends to award three (3) 
Agreements resulting from this RFP to three (3) Contractors to perform the scope of 
services described in the RFP which will be assigned on a work plan basis describing 
specific cleaning to be performed at selected BART stations. The scope of work to be 
performed under these Contracts is for high cleaning 7 feet and above. 

On April 7, 2019, an Advance Notice to Proposers was emailed to forty (40) prospective 
proposers. The RFP was advertised and downloaded onto the Procurement Portal on April 
7, 2020. A total of twenty-three (23) prospective proposers downloaded copies of the 



Award of Agreement Nos . 6M8 l 73, 6M8 l 74, and 6M8 l 75, Detailed Station Cleaning Services 

RFP. A Pre-Proposal Conference was held on April 14, 2020 with twelve (12) companies 
attending. No Addenda were issued. 

On April 28, 2020, six (6) proposals were received from the following companies: 

1. Zero Waste Solutions Inc., Concord, CA 
2. LGG Global Energy FM, LLC, Detroit, MI 
3. Impec Group, Santa Clara, CA 
4. Puma Power Wash, San Francisco, CA 
5. Aim to Please Janitorial Services, Inc., San Francisco, CA 
6. Bay Area Green Solutions, San Bruno, CA 

The six ( 6) proposals were first reviewed for responsiveness by Procurement. All six ( 6) 
proposals were determined to be responsive to the requirements of the RFP. 

The technical proposals were then reviewed and evaluated by a Selection Committee 
consisting of staff from the District's Office of Civil Rights, Maintenance and Engineering, 
and Planning, Development and Construction, and chaired by Procurement. Of the six ( 6) 
proposals that were evaluated, the following four (4) proposals were determined to have met 
the Technical Requirements of the RFP: 

1. Zero Waste Solutions Inc., Concord, CA 
2. Puma Power Wash, San Francisco, CA 
3. Aim to Please Janitorial Services, Inc., San Francisco, CA 
4. Bay Area Green Solutions, San Bruno, CA 

Price proposals from the four ( 4) proposers whose proposal met the minimum technical 
requirements of the RFP were then opened, evaluated and ranked. The proposed prices 
represent a summation of the total hours estimated by the District and multiplied by the 
Proposer's unit rate per hour. The Proposer's unit rate includes labor, materials, equipment, 
insurance and transportation. These prices were provided for purposes of comparison of 
the proposals received but were not intended to define the actual scope of work to be 
performed under the awarded Agreements. According to the terms of the RFP, each of the 
three (3) Proposers who submitted the three (3) lowest priced technically acceptable 
proposals will be selected for award of an Agreement for an amount not to exceed 
$600,000.00. 



Award of Agreement Nos. 6M8 l 73 , 6M8 l 74, and 6M8 l 75, Detailed Station Cleaning Services 

The Selection Committee determined through its evaluation of each price proposal that the 
labor rates proposed are fair and reasonable. The ranking of the four ( 4) technically 
acceptable proposals are summarized as follows: 

RANK PROPOSERS TOTAL PROPOSED AGREEMENT 
PRICE NUMBER 

1 Aim to Please Janitorial $612,000.00 6M8173 
Services, San Francisco, CA 

2 Zero Waste Solutions, $620,520.00 6M8174 
Concord, CA 

3 Bay Area Green Solutions, $752,003.92 6M8175 
San Bruno, CA 

4 Puma Power Wash, San $795,960.00 NA 
Francisco, CA 

Three (3) contracts will be executed with the three (3) lowest priced technically acceptable 
proposals; Aim to Please, Zero Waste Solutions and Bay Area Green Solutions. The work 
will be implemented through individual work plans negotiated with the Contractor to ensure 
that the price proposed for a work plan is fair and reasonable. In the event a fair and 
reasonable price is not reached with one Contractor, staff will enter negotiations with the next 
available Contractor for that scope of work. 

Pursuant to the District's Non-Federal Small Business Program, the Office of Civil Rights 
set a 5% Small Business Prime Preference for this Contract for Small Businesses certified by 
the California Department of General Services. The lowest responsive Proposer, Aim to 
Please Janitorial Services, and the third lowest responsive Proposer, Bay Area Green 
Solutions, are certified Small Businesses, thus, making them eligible for the Prime 
Preference. Since Aim to Please Janitorial Services is the lowest responsive Proposer, and 
Bay Area Green Solutions is the third lowest responsive Proposer and both are eligible for 
the 5% Small Business Prime Preference, the application of the Prime Preference will not 
alter the award to Aim to Please Janitorial Services, Zero Waste Solutions and Bay Area 
Green Solutions. 



Award of Agreement Nos . 6M8 l 73, 6M8 l 74, and 6M8 l 75, Detailed Station Cleaning Services 

Pursuant to the District's Non-Discrimination Program for Subcontracting, the Availability 
Percentages for this Agreement are 5.5% for Minority Business Enterprises (MBEs) and 
2.8% for Women Business Enterprises (WBEs). Proposers Aim to Please Janitorial 
Services, Zero Waste Solutions and Bay Area Green Solutions will not be subcontracting 
anywork and therefore, the provisions of the District's Non-Discrimination in Subcontracting 
Program do not apply. 

FISCAL IMP ACT: 

Agreement Nos. 6M8 l 73, 6M8 l 74, and 6M8 l 75 have a not-to-exceed cost limit each of 
$600,000.00 for a term not to exceed three years. Funding will be from the operating budget 
of Department 1010260, Account 681301. The FY21 total costs will not exceed $500,000. 
Funding for each subsequent fiscal year will be included in the future operating budgets of 
Department 1010260. The District's financial obligations under each Agreement will be 
subject to Work Plans (WP). Each WP will have a defined scope of services and separate 
schedule and budget. WP's will be approved only if Budget Department certifies the 
eligibility of identified funding sources. The Controller/Treasurer will also need to certify 
availability of funding prior to execution of each WP. Funding for subsequent years will be 
included in the proposed annual operating budget, which is subject to Board Approval. This 
action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal impact on unprogrammed District reserves in the 
current Fiscal Year. 

ALTERNATIVE: 

The District could reject all Proposals and solicit new Proposals, or award to fewer than the 
recommended three (3) Proposals. This could adversely impact the District's ability to 
provide needed detailed cleaning at BART Stations. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion: 

MOTION: 

The General Manager is authorized to award the following Technical Services Agreements to 
provide detailed station cleaning services as follows: Agreement 6M8 l 73 to Aim to Please 
Janitorial Services, Inc., Agreement No.6M8174 to Zero Waste Solutions, and Agreement 



Award of Agreement Nos . 6M8 l 73, 6M8 l 74, and 6M8 l 75 , Detailed Station Cleaning Services 

No. 6M8175 to Bay Area Green Solutions in an amount not to exceed $600,000 for each 
Agreement for a term not to exceed three (3) years, pursuant to notification to be issued by 
the General Manager and subject to the District's protest procedures. 



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 
Ye;-, 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No I 
Controller/Treasurer District Secretary 

01' 
V 

ti,. 
\ 

[ l 
fix,\ 

To Request Board Authorization to Award Invitation for Bid No. 9082 - 35KV 
ISOLATION DISCONNECT SWITCH (IDS) 

PURPOSE: 

To request Board Authorization to Award Invitation for Bid (IFB) No. 9082 to Trayer 
Engineering Corporation, San Leandro, CA. in the amount of $1 ,843,485.02 (includes all 
taxes) for the purchase of 35KV Isolation Disconnect Switch (IDS). 

DISCUSSION: 

[ l 

BART's Traction Power Electrical Transmission System was originally installed over 40 
years ago and because of aging and usage, needs replacement. The Traction Power 
Engineering Department has developed a new switch designed to isolate or turn off a 
substation in the event of an emergency and to perform preventative maintenance without 
interruption to revenue service. This IFB is for the purchase of 48 IDS units which will allow 
staff to safely control, monitor, and direct the flow of traction power to the trains and 
support the District's goal of continued reliable service. 

This is an eighteen (18) month estimated Quantity Contract. Pursuant to the terms of the 
District's standard estimated Quantity Contract, during the term of the Contract the District 
is required to purchase from the supplier a minimum amount of 50% of the Contract Bid 
price Upon Board approval of this contract, the General Manager will also have the 
authority to purchase up to 150% of the Contract bid price. 



To Request Board Authorization to Award Invitation for Bid o. 9082 - 35KV ISOLATION DISCONNECT SWIT (cont.) 

A notice requesting bids was posted on February 28, 2020. On the same day, this solicitation 
was also uploaded onto the BART Vendor Portal. Two (2) bids were received and opened 
on May 5, 2020: 

Bidder(s) Lot Price Grand Total 
Including 

48 Units 9.75°/o Sales Tax 

Trayer, Corp $1,679,713.00 $1,843,485.02 

San Leandro, CA 
Red Dipper, Inc. $2,551,068.00 $2,670,753.18 

San Francisco, CA 

Independent cost $2,175,840.00 
estimate by BART 

Pursuant to the District's Non-Federal Small Business Program, the Office of Civil Rights set 
a 7% Local Small Business Prime Preference for this IFB for Small Businesses certified by 
the California Department of General Services and verified as Local (located in Alameda, 
Contra Costa, or San Francisco counties) by the District. 

The apparent low Bidder, Trayer Engineering Corporation, is not a certified as Local Small 
Business (LSB), and, therefore, is not eligible for the 7% LSB Prime Preference. The second 
low Bidder, Red Dipper, is a certified LSB, making it eligible for the 7% LSB Prime 
Preference for this Contract for evaluation purposes. After review by the Office of Civil 
Rights, and application of the 7% LSB Prime Preference, the Bid submitted by Red Dipper 
will not alter the award to the apparent low Bidder, Trayer Engineering Corporation. 

The District's Non-Discrimination Program for Subcontracting is not applicable to IFBs. 
Accordingly, the Office of Civil Rights did not set Minority Business Enterprise (MBE) and 
Women Business Enterprise (WBE) Availability Percentages for this IFB. 

Staff has determined that the apparent low bidder, Trayer Engineering Corporation submitted 
a responsive and responsible bid. Staff has also determined that the bid pricing is fair and 
reasonable based on the District's Staff evaluation. 



To Request Board Authorization to Award Invitation for Bid No. 9082 - 35KV ISOLATION DISCONNECT SWIT (cont.) 

CAPITAL FISCAL IMP ACT: 

Funding of $1,843,485 for Bid No. 9082 to Trayer Engineering Corporation, San Leandro 
California for 34.SKV Isolation Disconnect Switch will come from the following projects. 

Project: 15EJRRA - A-Line 34.5 KV AC Cable Replacement $394,480 

As of May 11, 2020, $122,664,767 is available for this project from the following source: 

802A/B Measure RR GOB BART 122,664,767 

BART has expended $545,070, committed $2,676,846, and reserved $106,992,990 to-date 
for other action. This action will commit $394,480 leaving an available fund balance of 
$12,055,382 in this fund source for this project. 

Project: 15EJRRC - C-Line 34.5 KV AC Cable Replacement $780,421 

As of May 11, 2020, $100,000,000 is available for this project from the following source: 

802A/B Measure RR GOB BART 100,000,000 

BART has expended $2,523,997, committed $3,078,803, and reserved $2,088,956 to-date 
for other action. This action will commit $780,421 leaving an available fund balance of 
$91,527,823 in these fund sources for this project. 

Project: 15EJRRR - R-Line 34.5 KV AC Cable Replacement $668,584 

As of May 11, 2020, $50,000,000 is available for this project from the following source: 

Fund No. Fund Description Source Amo.mt 
802A/B Measure RR GOB BART 50,000,000 

BART has expended $338,184, committed $2,645,682, and reserved $39,445,107 to-date for 
other action. This action will commit $668,584 leaving an available fund balance of 
$6,902,444 in these fund sources for this project. 

The office of Controller/Treasurer certifies that funds are currently available to meet this 
obligation. 

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District reserves 



To Request Board Authorization to Award Invitation for Bid o. 9082 - 35KV ISOLATION DISCONNECT SWIT (cont.) 

ALTERNATIVE: 

The alternative would be to reject all bids. Staff does not believe this will result in lower 
prices or increased competition and it would delay the traction power upgrades, which could 
negatively impact revenue service due to infrastructure failure. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion. 

MOTION: 

The General Manager is authorized to award IFB No. 9082 for 35KV Isolation Disconnect 
Switch for an amount of $1,843,485.02 (includes all applicable taxes), pursuant to 
notification to be issued by the General Manager and subject to compliancewith the District's 
protest procedures. 



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 
Approved and forward to the Board 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No 

red by: Aidin Sarabi Controller/Treasurer District Secretary BARC 110 
~~ A,;(f Dept: PD&C 

,'c' 
Signature/Date : rx.· 

"' [ l 

! Status: Routed ! Date Created: 7/7/2020 

IFB 9085 HMC (Phase 2) Mainline Trackwork Procurement 

PURPOSE: 
To request Board Authorization to Award Invitation for Bid No. 9085 to Voestalpine Railway 
Systems Nortrak, Inc. , Cheyenne, WY in the amount of $2,228,857.88 (includes all taxes) 
for the purchase ofHMC (Phase 2) Mainline Trackwork Procurement. 

DISCUSSION: 
The Hayward Maintenance Complex Project (HMC) was adopted by the BART Board of 
Directors on May 26, 2011. The Project will provide for expanded and enhanced 
maintenance complex facilities necessary to support, in part, BART's future system 
demands, including new BART revenue vehicles and the Silicon Valley Extension Project. 
The HMC (Phase 2) Project includes the Northern/Southern Mainline Connectors and the 
East Vehicle Storage Yard. The Phase 2 project site is located on 6 acres of undeveloped 
land in the northeast quadrant of the HMC property, on the east side of the mainline BART 
tracks. The majority of this area will become the East Side Storage Yard with storage for a 
maximum of250 BART cars and connecting trackwork. The Northern/Southern Mainline 
Connectors are designed to construct new tracks that would connect the new vehicle storage 
yard to the mainline tracks at a point slightly north of Industrial Parkway and South of 
Whipple Road. In-house forces will be used to construct the southern and northern Mainline 
Connections. 

This Contract, IFB 9085, is for the procurement of track and related materials including 
running rail, special trackwork, bonded insulated rail joint plugs, standard concrete crossties, 
concrete special trackwork ties, trackwork spare parts, switch machines, switch machine 
spare parts and other materials to be used in the construction . 



IFB 9085 HMC (Phase 2) Mainline Trackwork Procurement (cont.) 

This is a One ( 1) year estimated quantities contract. Pursuant to the terms of the District's 
standard estimated quantities contract, during the term of the Contract the District is required 
to purchase from the supplier a minimum amount of 50 percent of the contract Bid price. 
Upon Board approval of this contract, the General Manager will also have the authority to 
purchase up to 150 percent of the contract bid price, subject to availability of funding. 

A notice requesting bids was published on May 8, 2020. On the same day, this solicitation 
was uploaded onto the BART Vendor Portal. Correspondence was sent to Four (4) 
prospective bidders inviting them to view the solicitation on the Vendor Portal. Bids were 
opened on June 2, 2020 and two bids was received. 

Bidder Lot Price Grand Total including Tax 

Voestalpine Railway Systems Nortrak, Inc. $2,030,850.00 $2,228,857.88 

*Progress Rail Services Corporation $2,547,767.00 $2,796,174.28 

*Non-responsive 

Independent cost estimate by BART staff:$ 4,500,000.00 

Staff determined that the apparent low bidder, Voestalpine Railway Systems Nortrak, Inc. , 
submitted a responsive Bid. Upon review of the Bidder's business and financial capabilities, 
Staff has also determined that the Total Bid Price of $2,228,857.88 is fair and reasonable and 
approximately 40% below the Independent Cost Estimate. The second low Bid submitted by 
Progress Rail Services Corporation was found to be non-responsive due to Bid irregularities 
found. 

This Invitation for Bid (IFB) was advertised pursuant to the District's Disadvantaged 
Business Enterprise ("DBE") Program requirements. The Office of Civil Rights reviewed the 
scope of work for this IFB and determined that there were no DBE or SBE subcontracting 
opportunities; therefore, no DBE or SBE participation goal was set for this IFB. 



IFB 9085 HMC (Phase 2) Mainline Trackwork Procurement (cont.) 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding for this $2,228,858 (including all taxes) for award of Purchase Requisition No. 
21768 is included in the total project budget for OlRQlOO, HMC Phase 2 Preliminary 
Engineering 
The table below lists funding assigned to the referenced project and is included to track 
funding history against spending authority. Funds needed to meet this request will be 
expended from the following sources: 

Proposed Funding 
802A & 802B - 2017 Measure RR GO Bond $18,883,000 

8524-FY12 Operating Allocation to Capital $15,000 

TOTAL $18,898,000 

As of June 9, 2020, $18,898,000 is the total budget for this project. BART has expended 
$8,013,451, committed $4,827,683,and reserved $0 to date. This action will commit 
$2,228,858 leaving an available fund balance of $3,828,008 in these fund sources for this 
project. 
The Office of Controllerffreasurer certifies that funds are currently available to meet this 
obligation. 
This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District reserves. 

ALTERNATIVES: 
The alternatives are to decline to award the Contract or re-advertise. Not purchasing these 
material would mean that the Project could not proceed which would make the overall 
concept of the HMC Project unavailable for use by the new BART revenue vehicles and 
non-revenue vehicles. Re-advertising the Contract would result in delays to execution of the 
work, potentially resulting in increased Project costs due to those delays and would also 
result in impacts to the testing and commissioning of the new BART revenue vehicles. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
On the basis of analysis by staff and certification by the Controller-Treasurer that the funds 
are available for this purpose, it is recommended that the Board adopt the motion. 

MOTION: 
The General Manager is authorized to award IFB No. 9085 HMC (Phase 2) Mainline 
Trackwork Procurement to Voestalpine Railway Systems Nortrak, Inc. for an amount of 
$2,228,857.88, pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager, subject to 
compliance with the District's Protest Procedures and the Federal Transit Administration's 
requirements related to Protests. 



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER APPROY AL: 

Signatu /Date : 7 /ft [ 20 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 
(NIA) 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: Yes 

FY21-FY22 Homeless Outreach Team Agreement with The Salvation Army 

PURPOSE: 
To request Board authorization to approve the Agreement with The Salvation Army (TSA) in 
the amount of $250,000 for one Homeless Outreach Team (HOT) in FY2 l, and to authorize 
the General Manager to negotiate and execute agreements annually with TSA through FY22. 

DISCUSSION: 

On May 24, 2018, the BART Board approved the Executive Decision Document (EDD) with 
the San Francisco Department of Homelessness and Supportive Housing (HSH) to bring in 
and manage one HOT team to cover the four downtown San Francisco stations. An 
additional HOT team was added in January 2019 for the Mission Street stations. 

While the downtown team continued to perform well and connect people to services and 
resources, the Mission team struggled as HSH had difficulties hiring qualified outreach 
workers. With this mind, staff evaluated the situation and made the following 
recommendations for FY21 : 

• Discontinue the second Mission HOT team led by HSH and replace with another HOT 
Team led by The Salvation Army (TSA). TSA will provide the same case management 
support as HSH, and will also provide dedicated access of up of to four beds at the 
Harbor Light Center where people with mental health and drug addiction issues can 
receive care and treatment. These beds are for homeless individuals in the BART 
system who agree to seek help, and they are a critical step in the path toward recovery. 

• Discontinue outreach at 24th St. Station due to very low homeless presence. However, 

coverage at 16th St. Station would continue to be a priority. 
• Improve schedule coordination between the HSH HOT team and TSA HOT team to 



FY21 -FY22 Homeless Outreach Team Agreement with The Salvation Army (cont.) 

ensure coverage at key stations. Coverage for both teams would allow for daily 
support and engagement from Monday to Sunday at all five stations between 

Embarcadero and 16th St. stations. 
• Potentially modify TSA HOT team hours during the weekday to start their engagement 

earlier when BART stations are opening. This could help provide support for more 
people before they enter into the BART system. 

Both teams will continue to collect HIP AA compliant monthly data on shelter access, 
substance abuse, mental health, medical and others. Staff will continue to track progress 
and report on the data to Management and the Board as requested. 

The agreement amount with TSA will cost $250,000 annually. SFMTA is paying 50% of 
total cost, so each agency is responsible for $125,000. For HSH HOT, SFMTA and HSH 
have an agreement with each other, so BART is not involved in their reimbursement. 
However, for TSA HOT, SFMTA and TSA do not have the same arrangement, so BART 
will solely enter into an agreement with TSA and then seek reimbursement from SFMTA 
afterward. BART will separately enter into a fund pass through agreement with SFMTA. 

Prior to the agreement execution, the Procurement Department will review the agreement to 
confirm compliance with the District's procurement standards and the Office of the General 
Counsel will approve the agreement as to form. 

FISCAL IMP ACT: 

The agreement amount with TSA will cost $250,000 annually. SFMTA is paying 50% of 
total cost, so each agency is responsible for $125,000. For HSH HOT, SFMTA and HSH 
have an agreement with each other, so BART is not involved in their reimbursement. 
However, for TSA HOT, SFMTA and TSA do not have the same arrangement, so BART 
will solely enter into an agreement with TSA and then seek reimbursement from SFMT A 
afterward. BART will separately enter into a fund pass through agreement with SFMTA. 

Funding for the two HOT teams was approved by the Board on June 25, 2020 and is funded 
by operating funds. By swapping one of the two HOT team for TSA HOT, no additional 
funding is requested. This is ongoing and expected to continue through FY22. Funding for 
subsequent years will be included in the proposed annual operating budget, which is subject 
to Board approval. 

This initiative will be assessed annually, and staff will make recommendations to continue the 
program for another year in the FY budget if the performance measures show it is effective 
and successful. 

Funding for FY22 will be included as part of next year' s proposed operating budget. 



FY21-FY22 Homeless Outreach Team Agreement with The Salvation Army (cont.) 

Funding will be provided by cost center 1011276 - Station Area Planning, account 681301 -
Prof & Tech Svc Agreements. Total funding for this Contract in the amount not to exceed 
$250,000 from the Quality of Life operating budget, is based on the following: 

Fiscal Impact FY21 FY22 
Agreement Amount $250,000 $250,000 
BAR.T's Share $125,000 $125,000 

SFMTA's Share $125,000 $125,000 

Total Agmt Amount for FY21 & $500,000 
FY22 

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District reserves 
in the current Fiscal Year. 

ALTERNATIVES: 
The alternative is to not authorize the contract. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion. 

MOTION: 
The Board approves the first FY2 l Agreement with The Salvation Army (TSA) in the 
amount of $250,000 for one homeless outreach team (HOT) team, and authorizes the 
General Manager to enter into direct negotiations with TSA to execute a FY22 amendment 
upon budget adoption by the Board that includes the TSA HOT team. The total for the two 
year program shall not exceed $500,000. 



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: July 16, 2020 

FROM: Inspector General 

SUBJECT: Report of Activities of the Office of the Inspector General 

Attached is the second Report of Activities of the Office of the Inspector General for the 

period January 2020 through June 2020, which will be presented to the Board on July 

23, 2020. Due to the Board's immediate need to address the coronavirus pandemic, we 

delayed issuing this report. We may need to do so again in the future as the pandemic's 

impact is ongoing and extensive. However, we will continue to keep the Board of Directors 

and public apprised of our actions in a timely manner. 

Please call me at 510.464.6132 if you have any questions. 

JkVv,tn,t &Jiavbnu 
Harriet Richardson 



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: July 17, 2020 

FROM: General Manager 

SUBJECT: Administration Agenda: COVID-19 Response Update 

At the July 23, 2020 BART Board of Director's meeting, the District's "COVID-19 Response 
Update" will be presented as an information item. 

If you have any questions about this presentation, please contact Pamela Herhold, Assistant 
General Manager, Performance & Budget, at Pherhol@bart.gov, or (510) 464-6168. 

cc: Board Appointed Officers 
Deputy General Manager 
Executive Staff 



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No 

BARC 

Sam hour-Wallace 

Dept: Office of Civil Rights 

Sig~#- D1'/ 1; I J...C ~ [ l 

Parking Addendum to the Title VI Fare Equity Analysis for the Proposed 
Discontinuance of Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets 

PURPOSE: 

To request Board approval of the Parking Addendum to the "Title VI Fare Equity Analysis 
for the Proposed Discontinuance of Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets" (Title VI Fare Equity 
Analysis), which was approved by the Board on January 23, 2020. 

DISCUSSION: 

To ensure compliance with federal Title VI regulations, BART is required to conduct an 
analysis of any proposed fare change to determine if the change could potentially place a 
disparate impact on minority riders or a disproportionate burden on low-income riders 
(protected riders). A fare change equity finding is made based on a demographic 
assessment of affected riders and public outreach that is inclusive of minority, low-income, 
and Limited English Proficient (LEP) populations. Should a disparate impact or 
disproportionate burden be found, then in accordance with BART's Disparate 
Impact/Disproportionate Burden (DI/DB) Policy and the Title VI Circular, BART is required 
to take steps to mitigate such impacts. The discontinuance of the sale of magnetic-stripe 
tickets (mag-stripe tickets) constitutes a fare media change that would require such an 
analysis. 

Discontinuance of Sales of Blue Mag-Stripe Tickets (previously approved) 

The original Title VI Fare Equity Analysis found that there may be a disproportionate burden 



Parking Addendum to the Title VI Fare Equity Analysis for the Proposed Discontinuance of Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets 

on low-income riders but not on minority riders using Blue mag-stripe tickets and included 
mitigation measures to address these impacts. However, due to a lack of demographic data 
from the 2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey (Customer Sat), staff deferred the analysis of 
the discontinuance of the Blue mag-stripe ticket for parking payments to a parking study 
planned for summer 2020. Due to COVID-19, that parking study has not been conducted. 

Discontinuance of Sales of Blue Mag-Stripe Tickets for BART Parking Payments 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, in order to provide con tactless fare and daily fee 
parking payments for BART passengers, an analysis of the discontinuance of the sale of 
Blue mag-stripe tickets for parking payments is now needed in order to further phase out the 
use of mag-stripe tickets. Due to the lack of demographic information from the 2018 
Customer Satisfaction Survey (Customer Sat), a DI/DB analysis could not be conducted to 
determine whether there are any disproportionate impacts on protected parkers using Blue 
mag-stripe tickets. However, alternative data sources were used to evaluate the likelihood of 
an impact on these protected riders; those that park in BART parking lots have a similar 
minority makeup (64.5%) as BART ridership (64.5%) and a less low-income makeup 
(10.2%) than overall BART ridership (20.1 %). 

The original Title VI Fare Equity Analysis for the discontinuance of the sale of Blue mag
stripe tickets includes public input on the proposed discontinuance of the sales of the Blue 
mag-stripe tickets on BART parkers, including mitigation measure preferences. In addition 
to the original public outreach, which included presentations to the Title VI/Environmental 
Justice and Limited English Proficiency Advisory Committees, staff brought the proposal, 
specific to parking impacts, back to the Advisory Committees at a joint meeting on June 22, 
2020. The members did not express any concerns regarding the District's plan to eliminate 
the Blue mag-stripe tickets for parking payments. 

As noted above, an equity finding cannot be determined based on the DI/DB analysis and 
public comments referenced above due to a lack of demographic data available. In the 
absence of an equity finding, this report assumes that the discontinuance of Blue mag-stripe 
tickets may disproportionately impact minority and low-income riders. When an adverse 
finding is made, BART must take steps to avoid, minimize, or mitigate impacts where 
practicable. In this case, it has been determined that existing parking payment alternatives -
cash payments, the EZ Rider program, and the official BART mobile app daily fee parking 
payment feature - are sufficient measures to mitigate any potential adverse effects arising 
from the discontinuance of the sale of Blue mag-stripe tickets for parking payments. 

FISCAL IMP ACT: 
There is no fiscal impact associated with approval of the Parking Addendum to the Title VI 
Fare Equity Analysis. 



Parking Addendum to the Title VI Fare Equity Analysis for the Proposed Discontinuance of Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets 

ALTERNATIVES: 

Do not approve the Parking Addendum to the Title VI Fare Equity Analysis. If the Parking 
Addendum is not approved or if approval is deferred, BART must continue to sell and vend 
Blue mag-stripe paper tickets. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval of the following motion. 

MOTION: 

The Board of Directors approves the Parking Addendum to the "Title VI Fare Equity 
Analysis for the Proposed Discontinuance of Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets." 



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 
Yes 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No 

Originator/Prepared by: Steven Sims General Counsel 

Dept: Maintenance and Engineering 

Controller/Treasurer District Secretary 

BAZRC ,l,,p 
,"' 

[ l [ l 

Award Contract lSEK-102, TCCCP New Traction Power Facilities, West Bay 

PURPOSE: 
To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to award Contract No. lSEK-102, 
TCCCP New Traction Power Facilities, West Bay, to the C3M, Clark, Cupertino A Joint 
Venture of San Francisco, California for the total bid amount of $54,959,114. 

DISCUSSION: 

This Contract is for the procurement and installation of two new traction power substations 
(TPSS) at Civic Center and Montgomery Street stations. The contract calls for the design 
and building of the substations, installing and testing of the equipment, and installing 
associated equipment at adjacent facilities. The project is jointly funded by Transbay 
Corridor Core Capacity Project {TCCCP) FTA funds and by Measure RR. 

Traction power facilities which supply power to run the trains are among the most crucial 
infrastructure in the BART system. The new TPSSs provide power needed for the TCCCP 
project to permit increased service through the Transbay Tube. The new substations will also 
significantly increase system redundancy and improve operational reliability on the vital San 
Francisco M-Line on which trans-bay service depends. 

The District sent out 412 Advance Notices to potential Bidders, including 22 to plan rooms 
on October 31, 2019. Additional copies were sent by OCR to Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprises. The Contract was advertised and posted to the BART Procurement Portal on 
October 31, 2019 where it was sent to 21 additional prospective bidders. A Pre-Bid Meeting 
and a Jobsite tour were conducted on November 19, 2019, with 12 potential Bidders in 
attendance. A total of 72 firms downloaded copies of the Bid Documents. 



Award Contract 15EK-102, TCCCP New Traction Power Facilities, West Bay 

One bid was received from C3M, Clark, Cupertino A Joint Venture ("C3M, Clark, 
Cupertino") on January 21, 2020. The C3M, Clark, Cupertino's submitted Bid Price and the 
Engineer's Estimate are shown below: 

Name Total Bid Amount 

C3M, Clark, Cupertino A Joint Venture, San $54,959,114.00 
Francisco, CA 
Engineer's Estimate $ 40,367,298.00 

C3M, Clark, Cupertino is the only bidder and therefore lowest bidder. After review of C3M, 
Clark, Cupertino's contractor's license, business experience, and financial capabilities, staff 
finds that C3M, Clark, Cupertino is a responsive and responsible Bidder. 

The Total Base Bid Price, as submitted by C3M, Clark, Cupertino, of $54,959,114 is 36% 
above the Engineer's Estimate. Staff conducted a detailed bid evaluation and determined that 
limited competition and the inherent high risk of the work had the greatest impacts on the bid 
price. The limited competition and high risk were due to: 

1. Traction power is a specialty that few electrical contractors are well equipped to do 
because of the high current and voltage levels, specialty equipment, and work on 
operating railways; 

2. There are active or advertised projects in two dozen localities nationwide and many 
contractors that are competent to do this work are operating at full capacity; 

3. Subcontractors are so busy that they do not need to compete vigorously for work, and 
subcontract work scopes are too small to benefit from economies of scale; and 

4. Work in San Francisco beneath Market Street has high inherent risk. 

Staff recommends that this contract be awarded for the following reasons: 

1. Given the challenges of performing construction at Montgomery and Civic Center 
stations, lower bids as a result of re-advertising this contract are unlikely. Installation of 
these TPSS facilities is the most challenging traction power work of the Measure RR 
and the TCCCP projects. The passenger stations were not originally designed to 
accommodate TPSS' s, so station spaces must be significantly altered for the new 
facilities. Furthermore, installations at both locations require large openings in Market 
Street to install large, heavy equipment which requires significant coordination with the 
City of San Francisco and SF Muni. 

2. The M Line is the most critical part of the BART system because 4 of the 5 BART 
lines run through the M Line. Strengthening the traction power system in this area offers 
a significant upgrade to its operational reliability. Also, installation of these substations 
at the Montgomery and Civic Center stations are required for the other Measure RR 



Award Contract 15EK-102, TCCCP New Traction Power Facilities, West Bay 

substation replacements on M Line. 
3. Installation of portable traction power equipment when TPSS's are off-line due to 

equipment failure or replacements is difficult and impractical because of the challenging 
configuration of underground facilities in San Francisco. 

This Contract was advertised pursuant to the District's Disadvantaged Business Enterprise 
("DBE") Program requirements. The Office of Civil Rights reviewed the scope of work for 
this Contract and determined that there were DBE subcontracting opportunities; therefore, a 
DBE participation goal of 17% was set for this Contract. The sole Bidder, C3M, Clark, 
Cupertino a Joint Venture committed to subcontracting 17 .1 % to DBEs. The Office of Civil 
Rights has determined that the Bidder, C3M, Clark, Cupertino a Joint Venture has met the 
DBE participation goal set for this Contract. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Funding in the amount of$54,959,l 14 for award of Contract No. 15EK-102 is included in 
the total project budget for FMS # 15EK600- Substation for Core Capacity. The Office of 
Controller/f reasurer certifies that funds are currently available to meet this obligation. The 
following table depicts funding assigned to the referenced project and is included in totality 
to track funding history against spending authority. 

As of July 10, 2020 $71,500,000 is available for this project from the following source: 

Fund No. Fund Description Source Amount 
802A/B Measure RR GOB BART 71,500,000 

BART has expended $5,358,669, committed $1,261,124 and reserved $243,912 to date for 
other action. This action will commit $54,959,114 leaving an available fund balance of 
$9,677,181 in this project. 

There is no fiscal impact on available unprogrammed District Reserves 

ALTERNATIVES: 
Reject the single bid and re-advertise the Contract.This is not likely to result in increased 
competition or lower prices and woulddelay critical traction power infrastructure 
replacements on the M Line, whichcould negatively impact revenue service. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
On the basis of analysis by Staff and certification by the Controller-Treasurer that funds are 
available for this purpose, it is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion: 



Award Contract 15EK-102, TCCCP New Traction Power Facilities, West Bay 

MOTION: 
The General Manager is authorized to award Contract No. l SEK-102, TCCCP New Traction 
Power Facilities, West Bay, to C3M, Clark, Cupertino A Joint Venture for the Bid amount of 
$54,959,114, pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager. 



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 
Approve and Send to Board 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No 

Controller/Treasurer District Secretary 

Dept: Maintenance and Engineering 

~~ 
Signature/Date: os/ U I ).O':J-0 

[ l 

To Request for Board Authorization to award Contract No. lSTC-107 

PURPOSE: To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to award Contract No. 
lSTC-107, Aerial Structure Fall Protection, A-Line North, to DMZ Builders of Concord, CA 
for the bid price of $20,595,082. 

DISCUSSION: This Contract is part of the Systemwide Aerial Structure Fall Protection 
Program for the installation of permanent fall protection on BART aerial structures. The fall 
protection barriers are required in order to comply with Cal/OSHA requirements which 
provide that persons within six feet from the edge of a raised platform or structure must be 
protected by a guardrail or be tied-off. The permanent fall protection barriers will allow 
workers to access the aerials structures without being tied off. 

The District emailed 169 advance notices to potential Bidders on February 3, 2020. The 
Contract was advertised in local publications and posted to the BART Procurement Portal 
on February 3, 2020 and was made available to proposers to download electronically. A 
total of 36 firms downloaded copies of the Bid Documents. A Pre-Bid Meeting was 
conducted on February 20, 2020 with a total of ten potential Bidders in attendance. Three 
Bids were received and publicly opened on Tuesday, March 17, 2020. 

BIDDER LOCATION TOTAL BID LOCAL 
SMALL 

BUSINESS 
Thompson Novato, CA $25,592,316.00 No 
Builders 



To Request for Board Authorization to award Contract No. 15TC-107 

Proven Oakland, CA $22,194,243.00 No 
Management, 
Inc. 
DMZ Builders Concord, CA $20,595,082.00 No 

Engineer's $18,144,585.00 
Estimate 

After review by District staff, the Bid submitted by DMZ Builders has been deemed to be 
responsive to the solicitation. Furthermore, a review of DMZ Builders' license, business 
experience, and financial capabilities has resulted in a determination that DMZ Builders is 
responsible. Staff has also determined that DMZ Builder's total Bid price of 
$20,595,082.00, although 13.5% higher than the Engineer's Estimate, is fair and reasonable. 

Pursuant to the District's Non-Federal Small Business Program, the Office of Civil Rights 
set a 14% Local Small Business (LSB) Subcontractor Participation Goal for this Contract. 
Bidders who meet the LSB Subcontractor Participation Goal are eligible for an LSB 
Preference of7% of the lowest responsive Bidder's Bid, up to a cap of $150,000. The 
Office of Civil Rights determined that the apparent low Bidder, DMZ Builders, committed 
to subcontracting 0.8% to LSBs and did not meet the LSB Subcontractor Participation 
Goal. DMZ is, therefore, not eligible for the Bid Preference, but it is still the apparent low 
Bidder. 

Pursuant to the District's Non-Discrimination Program for Subcontracting, the Availability 
Percentages for this Contract are 18.2% for Minority Business Enterprises ("MBEs") and 
9.3% for Women Business Enterprises ("WBEs"). The Bidder, DMZ Builders, committed to 
100% MBE and 0% WBE participation and did not meet the WBE Availability Percentage. 
DMZ Builders was requested to provide the Office of Civil Rights with supporting 
documentation to determine if it had discriminated on the basis of gender. Based on the 
review of the information submitted by the Bidder, DMZ Builders, the Office of Civil Rights 
found no evidence of discrimination. 

District staff has determined that this work is categorically exempt from the provisions of the 
California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") pursuant to Title 14, California Code of 
Regulations, Section 15301 (f), Existing Facilities, because it consists of minor alterations of 
existing facilities for safety protection involving no expansion of use. 

CAPITAL FISCAL IMPACT: 

Funding in the amount of$20,595,082 for award of Contract No. 15TC-I07 is included in 
the total Project budget for FMS #015TC007 -Aerial Fall Protection. 



To Request for Board Authorization to award Contract No. 15TC-I 07 

The table below lists funding assigned to the referenced project and is included to track 
funding history against spending authority. Funds needed to meet this request will be 
expended from the following sources: 

Fund Source Amount 
Measure RR $27,979,441 

TOTAL $27,979,441 

As of 03/30/2020, $27,979,441 is the total budget for this project. BART has expended 
$636,378, committed $4,166,345, and reserved $0 to date. This action will commit 
$20,595,082 leaving an available fund balance of $2,581 ,636 in these fund sources for this 
project. 

The Office of the Controller/ Treasurer certifies that funds are currently available to meet this 
obligation. 

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District Reserves. 

ALTERNATIVE: The Board may elect to reject all bids and re-advertise the work of this 
Contract. There are no assurances that any new Bids would be lower than the current Bids. 
Failure to proceed with the Contract would delay the fall protection installation work, which 
will delay staffs access to the aerial structures for maintenance and other related work. 

RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion: 

MOTION: The General Manager is authorized to award Contract No. 15TC-107, Aerial 
Structure Fall Protection, A-Line North, to DMZ Builders for the bid price of 
$20,595,082.00 pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager and subject to 
compliance with the District's Protest Procedures. 



m 
EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 
Yes 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No 

Controller/Treasurer District Secretary 

Fararjeh 

~~· 
Signature/Date: t/if / to.J.O 

[ l 

! Status: Routed i Date Created: 4/23/2020 

Change Order Authorization for Contract No. 09EK-130A, Oakland Emergency 
Generator (OEG) System 

Purpose: 

To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to execute Change Orders to 
Contract No. 09EK-130A for Oakland Emergency Generator (OEG) System, in an 
amount not to exceed $4,870,000. 

Discussion: 

The award of Contract No. 09EK-130A, Oakland Emergency Generator (OEG) 
System, to DMZ Builders of Concord, CA was authorized by the Board on November 
16, 2017, in the amount of $22,320,000. 

The Contract is for the new Emergency Generator System that will provide power to 
the Transbay Tube (TBT) in the event utility power is not available from power 
sources located at San Francisco Transition Structure (SFTS) and/or Oakland 
Transition Structure (OTS). The system will be capable of providing power for all life 
safety and critical loads including ventilation fans, fire pumps, drain pumps and 



Change Order Authorization for Contract No. 09EK-130A, Oakland Emergency Generator (OEG) System (cont.) 

lighting loads during an emergency when existing utility power sources are not 
available. 

To date, the District has issued Change Orders to this Contract in the total amount of 
$1,808,003.85, which is 8% of the original Contract amount. These Change Orders 
will resolve costs associated with differing site conditions, design modifications, and 
coordination with other ongoing projects. 

Project Staff has identified Change Orders in the not to exceed amount (NTE) of 
approximately $4,870,000. 

Sumrruny Amount Percentage of Base Bid 
Total Base Bid Amount $22,320,000.00 
Agreed/Executed Change Orders (29) $1,808,003.85 8% 
Potential Change Orders $4,870,000.00 22% 
Revised Contract Amount $28,998,003.85 

Descriptions of the Change Orders cost are set forth below. 

1. Change Orders needed due to impacts from Differing Site Conditions (NTE 
$2,575,000): 

• Change Order No. 50, 55, 59, 65, 72 and 74 -Anticipated Cost: $1,350,000 for 
layout and routing changes to electrical cable, conduit, supports, bus duct, 
equipment, and underground piping to resolve discrepancies and conflicts with 
existing facility conditions. 

• Change Order No. 66 -Anticipated Cost: $125,000 for additional waterproofing 
because the existing penetration did not match design details. 

• Change Order No. 84 - Anticipated Cost: $1,100,000 for increasing the 
allowance for Differing Site Conditions for the remainder of the contract. 



Change Order Authorization for Contract No. 09EK-130A, Oakland Emergency Generator (OEG) System (cont.) 

2. Change Orders needed due to Design Changes (NTE $2,185,000): 

• Change Order No. 49, 56, 60, 61, and 64 -Anticipated Cost: $1,640,000 for 
electrical, mechanical, and systems design changes to the Switchgear House. 
Design changes were necessary to resolve discrepancies between equipment and 
systems integration. 

• Change Order No. 67, 71, 73, and 75 -Anticipated Cost: $145,000 to resolve 
structural-related design discrepancies and to compensate DMZ for the additional 
work. 

• Change Order No. 68, 70, 77, 78, and 79 -Anticipated Cost: $400,000 for 
electrical design discrepancies related to grounding details, additional cabling, 
demolition, and temporary power connections. 

3. Change Orders needed due to unplanned Work Stoppages (NTE $110,000): 

• Change Order Nos. 57, 62, 63 -Anticipated Cost: $110,000 to compensate DMZ 
for work stoppages from Operations Liaison cancellations, hazardous material 
identification, and Operations Control Center directive. This direct cost was 
incurred due to the disruption of labor, equipment and subcontractor forces. 

All change orders will be approved by the Office of General Counsel prior to 
execution. 

CAPITAL Fiscal Impact: 

Funding in the amount of $4,870,000 for change orders exceeding 10% of original 
contract 09EK-130A is included in the total project budget for FMS# 09EK300 -
Emergency Generator for TBT. 

The table below lists funding assigned to the referenced project and is included to track 
funding history against spending authority. Funds needed to meet this request will be 
expended from the following source: 



Change Order Authorization for Contract No. 09EK-130A, Oakland Emergency Generator (OEG) System (cont.) 

Proposed Funding 
FIG 352T/352U/353K/3603 - Various FTA Allocations 2,879,505 
FIG 535X - FY2008-09 Prop lB-PTMISEA 1,700,000 
FIG 801F - Earthquake Safety Gen 3,500,000 
FIG 802A/B - Measure RR GOB 40,920,000 
FIG 850N/850W/8523/8525 - Capital Improvement Allocation 442,324 

TOTAL 49,441,828 

As of July 7, 2020, $49,441,828 is the total budget for this project. BART has 
expended $31,815,953, committed $6,831,748, and reserved $0 to date. This action 
will commit $4,870,000, leaving an available fund balance of $5,924,127 in these fund 
sources for this project. 

The Office of Controller/Treasurer certifies that funds are currently available to meet 
this obligation. 

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District 
reserves. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

The alternative is to decline to proceed with the Change Orders which will require the 
work to be performed in a future contract at a potentially higher cost. It will result in a 
claim for District-caused delays, with the potential for litigation. Without the 
installation of the emergency generator systems, BART will not have a back-up power 
generator system available in the event of an emergency in the TBT. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt the motion. 

MOTION: 

The General Manager is authorized to execute the various Change Orders in an 



Change Order Authorization for Contract No. 09EK- l 3 OA, Oakland Emergency Generator (0 EG) System (cont.) 

aggregate amount not to exceed $4,870,000 to Contract No. 09EK-130A, Oakland 
Emergency Generator (OEG) System Project. 



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT 

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: 

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No 

Originator/Pr ~ ed by: Zecharias Amare General Counsel Controller/Treasurer District Secretary 

t f JlUvt(. 

Dept: Capita Program ESP 1 

~t 7' [ 1 

TBT Internal Retrofit - Scope Revision 

PURPOSE: 

To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to execute Change Order No. 175, 
Revisions to the TBT Scope of Work, to Contract No. 09AU-120, BART Earthquake Safety 
Program TBT Internal Retrofit which includes additional work and a credit not less than 
$28,000,000.00. 

DISCUSSION: 

Award of Contract No. 09AU-120, BART Earthquake Safety Program TBT Internal Retrofit 
to Shimmick/CEC Joint Venture, was authorized by the Board on December 1, 2016; Notice 
to Proceed was issued on February 2, 2017. The Contract includes the retrofit of the interior 
walls of certain segments ofTBT and a new discharge pumping system. The retrofit work 
inside the TBT has been progressing for the past three years. Most of the retrofit work in the 
gallery has been erected and currently is being secured in place. In addition, most of the 
electrical system and equipment that will power the new pump system has been set in place. 
Testing of that equipment is underway. 

While the construction work has been underway, recent developments in seismic engineering 
science triggered the need to revisit the original design assumptions and analyses. 
The findings from the new analysis indicates that the current scope of work can be reduced 
substantially while still achieving the original retrofit design performance objectives. 
The findings from the new analysis indicates that fewer sections of the TBT will require the 
waterproofing retrofit. The scope for the new pumping system remains unchanged. 



Contract No. 09AU-120, BART Earthquake Safety Program TBT Internal Retrofit, Change Order No.175, Revisions to the 
TBT Scope of Work 

The District issued a Change Notice to delete the portions of the work and negotiated with 
the Contractor to determine the credit for the work that is being deleted from the Contract. 
The District and Contractor have arrived at an agreement on the value of the credit and 
schedule for the revised scope of work. The District estimated the total value of the deleted 
work to be approximately $46,000,000.00. In addition to the credit, the District and 
Contractor negotiated a settlement of several pending Contract Change Notices for revisions 
to the work and differing site conditions, Protested Change Orders, and Notices of Potential 
Claims (NOPC) that had been referred to the Disputes Review Board. The settlement of 
these items involves expenditures of approximately $18,000,000.00 As a result, the total 
credit for Change Order No. 175 is $28,000,000.00. Due to the deleted work, the Contract 
duration is reduced by more than two years. The new Contract Completion date is 
November 2022. 

Pursuant to Board Rule 5-2.3, for Construction contracts over $200,000,000 in value, Change 
Orders involving expenditures greater than $500,000 require Board approval. The Office of the 
General Counsel will approve this Change Order as to form prior to execution. The 
Procurement Department will review this Change Order for compliance with procurement 
guidelines prior to execution. 

FISCAL IMP ACT: 

Change Order No. 17 5 is a credit to the Contract. The credit will beutilized to support other fimding 
needs in the project. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

The Board can elect not to authorize the execution of this Change Order. If the Change 
Order is notexecuted, the original scope of w01k remains unchanged and the Contractor will not 
have a clear direction from the District for the remainder of the Work. Either additional fimds will need 
to be obtained to enable completion of the original retrofit scope, or alternative construction scope 
deletions will need to be developed to meet the current available funds and authorized budget. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Board approve the following motion: 



Contract No. 09AU-1 20, BART Earthquake Safety Program TBT Internal Retrofit, Change Order No.175, Revisions to the 
TBT Scope of Work 

MOTION: 

The General Manager is authorized to execute Change Order No. 175,Revisions to TBT 
Scope of Work, for additional work and a credit in anamount not less than $28,000,000 to 
Contract No. 09AU-120 BART EarthquakeSafety Program TBT Internal Retrofit with 
Shimmick/CEC Joint Venture. 



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: July 15, 2020 

FROM: General Manager 

SUBJECT: State Legislation for Consideration 

At the July 23, 2020 Board of Directors meeting, staff will present state legislation for your consideration 
and action. The legislation being presented has a nexus to BART policies or programs and aligns with the 
Board's adopted Advocacy Program for 2020. 

Staff has prepared an analysis and included text for each bill, which are attached. Following the staff 
presentation, a request will be made of the Board to consider passing the draft motion shown below. 

LEGISLATION FOR CONSIDERATION AND ACTION 

NO STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
AB 2850 (Low) - Public transit employer-employee relations: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit 
District 

SUPPORT 
Proposition 16 - Legislatively referred constitutional amendment on government preferences 

If you have any questions, please contact Rodd Lee, Assistant General Manager of External Affairs, at 
(510) 464-6235. 

Attachments 

cc: Board Appointed Officers 
Deputy General Manager 
Executive Staff 

DRAFT MOTION: 
1) The Board of Directors supports Proposition 16. 



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

TO: 

FROM: 

Board of Directors 

General Manager 

SUBJECT: AB 2923 Update 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: July 17, 2020 

Attached is the "AB 2923 Update" presentation as well as a draft of the "AB 2923 Development 
Principles" for Board review. This item is an informational update on BART staffs work on AB 
2923. At this meeting, staff are seeking the Board's feedback on the "AB 2923 Development 
Principles," which will be considered for future action by the Board. 

As a reminder, Val Menotti sent you a memo on June 18, notifying you that BART has publicly 
released several draft work products associated with AB 2923 over the last month, all of which 
can be found on the AB 2923 website: www.bart.gov/AB2923 . A Technical Guide to Zoning for 
AB 2923 Conformance provides guidance regarding local jurisdictions for conformance with AB 
2923 (Chiu/Grayson, 2018). An online map identifying properties subject to AB 2923 is also 
available on the website. BART is seeking comment on these items by August 7, 2020. 

cc: Board Appointed Officers 
Deputy General Manager 
Executive Staff 

~ert M. Powers 



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: July 17, 2020 

FROM: General Manager 

SUBJECT: New Transbay Rail Crossing Program Update 

Attached is the "New Transbay Rail Crossing Program Update" presentation that will be 
presented at the July 23, 2020 board meeting as an information item. 

If you have any questions, please contact Val Menotti, Chief Planning and Development, 
Planning & Development at (510) 287- 4794. 

cc: Board Appointed Officers 
Deputy General Manager 
Executive Staff 

~bert M. Powers 



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Memorandum 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: July 17, 2020 

FROM: Assistant District Secretary 

SUBJECT: Transit Security Advisory Committee: Public-at-Large Member 
Appointments 

The District Secretary ' s Office has facilitated the application process for vacant seats on the Transit 
Security Advisory Committee (TSAC) and coordinated the selection process. A total of four ( 4) 
Public-at-Large applications were received. All four applications will be submitted to the Board 
of Directors (Board) for approval at the July 23 , 2020 Board meeting. There are only three (3) 
Public-at-Large vacancies. 

The selection of the three Public-at-Large seats may be ratified by the Board at its July 23, 2020 
meeting, for a term to begin immediately and expire on June 30, 2022. The appointments of the 
three Public-at-Large representatives shall be for two-year terms. 

The process for selection of the three Public-at-Large appointments for July 23 , 2020, will be as 
follows: 

• All four applicants were informed that the Board would select three appointees at the July 
23, 2020 Board meeting. 

• Each applicant in attendance (remotely) will be offered an opportunity to address the 
Board. 

• The Board members consider the applicants ' qualifications and announce their first, 
second, and third choices. 

• The District Secretary will tally the votes using a ranked-choice scale while the Board 
moves on to other business on the agenda. 

• The District Secretary will announce the results of the ranked-choice voting to the Board. 

• A motion will be made to appoint three people to the Public-at-Large seat(s), and the 
Board will vote whether to approve that motion. 

• In the event of a tie, the Board may elect to re-vote, or a motion may be made to appoint 
any applicant. 

Page I of2 



Advisory Committee Requirements 
The advisory committee members and alternates are appointed by the Board. At least one of the 
committee members must have experience working with individuals with psychiatric or other 
disabilities, one must have experience as a youth advocate, and one advisory committee member 
must have law enforcement experience as a sworn peace officer. 

Public-at-Large Representatives: There shall be three (3) or four (4) Public-at-Large 
Representatives, preferably users of the BART system. 

The advisory committee reports directly to the Board. Meetings are generally held once per 
month, and service on the TSAC is voluntary. Volunteer members of this committee will: 

1. Provide recommendations regarding the type and extent of training that should be 
undertaken by individuals with responsibility for issuance and enforcement of 
prohibition orders, with particular emphasis on training designed to assist those 
individuals in identifying and interacting with persons who are homeless or who have 
psychiatric or other disabilities. 

2. Identify services and programs which persons who are homeless or who have 
psychiatric, developmental, or other disabilities may be referred by transit district 
enforcement personnel prior to or in conjunction with issuance of a prohibition order. 

3. Review appeals to prohibition orders. 

4. Compile an annual report to the State Legislature. 

5. Participate in community outreach. 

A continuous recruitment for the law enforcement seat is ongoing. 

All applications are attached hereto with accompanying charts for your reference and convenience. 
If you have any questions, please contact me 510) 464-6086. 

Attachments 

Cc: Board Appointed Officers 

Page 2 of2 



Transit Security Advisory Committee (TSAC) Membership Representation and Vacancy Chart 

Transit Security Advisory Committee Member Name Term Expiration Vacancy 
Membership Representation Date 

Mental Health Representative Sue Kuipers January 22, 2021 

Youth Advocates Representative Armando Sandoval January 22, 2021 

Law Enforcement Vacant -- 1 
* A continuous recruitment for the law enforcement seat is 
ongoing.* 
At-Large Representatives Janet Abelson January 22, 2021 

At-Large Representatives Vacant -- 1 
At-Large Representatives Vacant -- 1 
At-Large Representatives Vacant -- 1 

Total TSAC Membership Vacancies 4 

Alternates (not eligible to vote) Member Name Term Expiration Vacancy 
Alternate Vacant -- 1 
Alternate Vacant -- 1 

Total TSAC Alternate Vacancies 2 
Transit Security Advisory Committee Membership Representation will be composed of the following categories: A. Mental Health 
Representative: At least one (1) member with experience working with individuals with psychiatric, developmental, or other 
disabilities. B. Youth Advocates Representative: At least one (1) member with experience as a youth advocate within the region of 
the. BART system. C. Law Enforcement: At least one (1) member with experience as a sworn peace officer within the region of the 
BART system. D. At-Large Representatives: There shall be three (3) or four (4) at-large Representatives, preferably users of the 
BART system. 

July 23, 2020 I ATIACHMENT NO. 1 OF 2 



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Public-at-Large Appointment 

July 23, 2020 

Board Matters Item No. llA - Transit Security Advisory Committee Appointments. 

First Choice: 

Second Choice: 

Third Choice: 

INSTRUCTIONS 

• Please fill out and announce your First, Second, and Third Choice LIVE during the 
Board meeting. These selections are for the three Public-at-Large Transit Security 
Advisory Committee appointments. 

• The District Secretary will tally the votes using a ranked-choice scale while the 
Board moves on to other business on the agenda. 

• The District Secretary will announce the results of the ranked-choice voting to the 
Board. 

• A motion will be made to appoint three people to the Public-at-Large seat(s), and 
the Board will vote whether to approve that motion. 

• In the event of a tie, the Board may elect to re-vote, or a motion may be made to 
appoint any applicant. 

July 23 , 2020 I ATTACHMENT NO. 2 OF 2 



Stephine Barnes: Potential Candidate No. 1 

TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY COMMITIEE I Application for Appointment 



5) Participate in community outreach. · i 
I 

All TSAC members must be fair-minded and objective with demonstrated com ent to 
community service. Appointees to the TSAC are subject to a background check and mustnot 
have any felony convictions. Members serying on the TSAC are not required to U.S.cltizens. 

Thank you for your Interest In serving on the Transit Security Advisory C ittee (TSAC). 
It is important that you complete all parts of the application. If your application s Incomplete or 
does not clear1y show the experience and/or training required, your appllcat . n may not be 
accepted. · i 

The application process will Include three phases: 

· PHA1JE'1:,,{A· · li~~ancf ,RecoiJiirit.ndat!QtfRaview . · , ·· . :;;·:,-,:\:· 
The advisory committee members will review the applications, letters of recomme dation and any 

· supplemental documents. · 

. . . 
. ,..: :· .. ~·.:;·~ii,:;;:r~::.v ...... 

':P.HA$E . ..;,.8ART8pardofDJJB . lntma"-t ·. _ ·-.;. -.. , .. 
Selected candidates will be Invited to appear before the Board of Directors to briefty exp/, in their interest · 
in serving on the committee, followed by a Board vote. · · 

I. Personal Information 
i 

Please consider my application for the following representation(s) on the TSAC: ; 
. . . . D Mental Health/Disabilities D Youth AdvocJte 

Representation: . 0 Law Enforcement _ _?Public at Larg~ 
D Alternate l . . 

First, Last Name: 
.. 

City & Zip: 

Main Phone: 

Emal( Address: 

HomaiMalllng 
Address: 

County: 

Alternate 
Phone: 

, . Occupation: 

' i . 
I 

· (l{r;_ wuc1v I 
( ) - ,01~ 
Sktlovt 9y-4' 

II. Recommendation Contact Information (must provide two recom~e"rnlations) 
. I 

Please Plr!vide the contact information for_the itJC!ividua/:; recommending your a1*Jointment and 
attach the,r letters of recommendation to this application. ! 

FiratNa~e: · /.!U?:L //~"vl.:S LaetName: t/~h._-,t...S j . . . . . 

Malling Addteaa . 300 ~{~ J~. City & Zip: _ ()a.,_k~ 19.f t,,tJ 1( .. _ . , 
Phone: ( 510 ) tfo '{" I.,, If f 3 Email Addreas: T \..( a..M i fl~piu-t j<> V 

I 

. I ~~ 
TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 11ppl1ca!!()n for Appoint:::§ 



j 

I 
I 
I 

. First Name: QVtfrJflc.1tG. Bryt~Gt- . Lasl Name: 
' {, l 

&0~ . . 1 
. .. 4 • 

. Malllng Addreae • - I , - : City & Zip: 

Phone: EmaH Address: 

' Ill. Personal Statement of Interest 
' ! 

Briefly explain your interest in serving on the TSAC. Please feel free to attach ~n ~ddillo'!.a~.~~e. . 

f a..m /'~ w., Juli~ CJ'V1 ~Ts ;...~ (.J))('(\ milk.- 1 bt.J./.,z.J,1·e1 
2 C4.vi CD~:mbun..,4c:>fYW~B~~T"~fur~~Ol'lL.,1"t Sjar.5~ '. 
~~VA-CL B_~(2..--r~·o-n ~~-VVIL ,ns15~ ~VL:ivLt.)W q ~~. 
I~~ .P.,rs+hA..tld ~5oeu.D..r€CblWM.LC,1 psycvi~~· ~ 
oLtA- A,i.~ do.c4 :t w~ ~··~.Al.Jbttio ~ Ftr-S+ ~.u:L ~ 
w~?A.,.iO f ro~vn __ 5al(!i~So.fM:i .~ .Uu..~,~ i~t,cme.K:f.M 

• ll:-(l.<.L-f'Y'• 
· . IV. Qualifieations and Experience . i 

What qualifications/assets do you have that make you a strong cs.ndidate for! service on the 
TSAC? Please feel free to attach a resume or an additional page. i 

:c ·~~ ltt:K wv~ Ca. S~\~Dj~c{~a_ ~A:~~ 
j\l<l{)U-~~rvu-MV ~ jDUWJd1'-': wad a-.. ea,mt!/,CMtVl tJ~· ~~~ 
·&«-eefitM-~ L.!1Sf;/u:/io# ~ /Ju/;1,w__ UL, I thrJ IL /3M.. ~di< ~ 
:~ ~ ~.~ /ttJ.t.:lt()n ./t:Jr 2~ ~,.z ~ e . · -~ ~b1<_. 

~ fbf44mtJ/fi,G 11~ /5"56: f .£tt4d {)#.L &?~ . · . . ·. .. fJ/~~ 
j 4Jf-7n.L ~/Hl--f tJ'Yl.j)~ . ~6~ 

. v. Organizations/Group Membership d'lJ)"i v'..t,Ysi~ c!OWl~~~ ~ f . 

Ust any organizations or groups that you belong to or ate involved with that YDf' believe bear 
relevance to your candidacy for service on the TSAC; : 

Organization Name: A. "('(I o..,'v:J a. r>'IL-kd / (3.J•.t. iJ- /LIWJ.,,, Poal!lon: 5~ OV! uL e.d ~~+;!ft:. 
. Org011lzallon Na- AT!.L B La.c.l::. (~ Poalllon: Tl'"e.a.SLc.~ .. 

' Organization Name: E6Sc.-'(\-hQ..lWod4As Co Position: Vo~~ ' . . 
Organization Name: {Jt.Lv Su.ppof4<6 B ~n- . Position: Puur 3~~ 
Organization Name: 1)\ VtA/S·l 'J [o«) fY1 i r~ Position: ' fY1Gwt b!e4' J Vou.m~ 

ApplicantSlgnat.ure:~ /!;Cl4.¢C.fl/f---...Date: &, (a...{1@ 
I 

Return this form and relevant attachments ·to the BART Office of the District S~cretary: 
! 
i 

l 
, I 

TRANSIT SECURIT; ADVISORY COMlVilITEE ! f\bp1ic:at;on lm Appointment 



Randall Glock: Potential Candidate No. 2 

TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY COMMITIEE I Application for Appointment 



All TSAC members must be fair-minded and objective with demonstrated commitment to 
community service. Appointees to the TSAC are subject to a background check and must not 
have any felony convictions. Members serving on the TSAC are not required to be U.S. citizens. 

Thank you for your Interest in serving on the Transit Security Advisory Committee (TSAC). 
It is important that you complete all parts of the application. If your application is incomplete or does 
not clearly show the experience and/or training required, your application may not be accepted. 

The application process will include three phases: 

! PHASE 1 ..; Appll~aticm· 1i,d 8!«-ominendatlon Review 
The advisory committee members will review . the applications, letters of /'9Commendatlon and any 
supplemental documents. 

I PHASE 2 -Commitwt, Review and lnfonnal Interview 
Applicants selected to move forward must attf;Jnd the February 4, 2020 TSAC meeting to participate in a 
brief informal interview. 

I PHAS.E 3 ... BART Board of Dlrectora Appointment 
Selected candidates wlll be invited to appear before the Board of.Directors to brieny explain their interest 
in serving on the committee, followed by a Board vote. 

I. Personal lnfonnation 

Please consider my application for the following representation(s) on the TSAC: 
0 Mental Health/Disabiiiti~---:---- D Yo-uth Advocate--·-·- -- -·-r 

I Representation: D Law Enforcement ~Public at Large · I 
I O Alternate I 
I Fl~t. Last Name: r,z-~-=[~1 ~I 1. I Home/Malll~-- r- -; 

f' city&Zlp: r~---,-~:;~~: ·-·--r- ~ , ' ---/ 
~--------~------- . j r-· . ~ ~--~ 0~~--------·--··-1 
/ Main Phone: I · I Alternate Phone: I ( ) I 
/ Email Address: I ·' -. -If Occupation: / ~ f lrt:.~·--·--- ·---·--1 

a -- --·---·-··------ -------·-----·-· 
II. Recommendation Contact Information (must provide two recommendations) 

Please provide the contact information for the individuals recommending your appointment and 
attach their letters of recommendation to this application. . 

l,Fi~t Name: ·-· ~ -- --·- ·jlast Name: -- , [ .¢- -----· ~ 

~~m~gAdd-~es,·-- ·· ~ - I city. & Zip: -----[.~-cJt_=-~=--===i 
1 

Phone: ' V I Emall Address: t r ----. -------· . . . --r,----~ -·-·· . . 

r-Fl;tN-;;~--· ·-~t Name: --·-· ~ -·· -- .. ---- . · --j 

TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE I Application for Appointment . 



fM;m;-_A_d~ress ---~-·····-·-!------·-----·-·-- ~!_z_lP_=---~-· -_-_1_________ ·1 
j Phone: ________ I ~--! - ·----- I Email Address: i ____________ ] 

111. Personal Statement of Interest 

Briefly explain your interest in seNing on the TSAC. Please feel free to attach an additional page. r·-·---·----------·-- -·----- -------- -· 
i 
I 
: 
l 
i 

I. 
·-----·- ·-··-·-- - ··---· .. ---·-····-···-· ... ·- ---·--·--···· .. - .. ~-----·-···---

IV. Qualifications and Experience 

What qualifications/assets do you have that make you a strong candidate for seNice on the 
TSAC? Please feel free to attach a resume or an additional page. ~--.. --- ----·- ·------ ----------· -------

I 

l 
I 
! ' 
! 

·-··-·------------------
___ J 

V. Organizations/Group Membership 

List any organizations or groups that you ·belong to or are Involved with (hat you believe bear 
relevance to your candidacy for service on the TSAC: 

/o-;:g;nlzatlonNam~~--- / [.;.{ nc 1~,,'i ~ ), ('~~ ··--jPosltlon:-j (j, ... fr- l 
1 Organization Name: -·, -.···--.iKC~&.L!~~~--, Position: -,---=-'--''--------j 

. jOrganlzatlon Name: · i--·-·--··--· ·--, .Position: I 1

1 
ro;ganlzation Name: ! f~t·j~~-;-
1 O~g;nlzation Na;;··-, I Position: I _J 

--· -----··----·-------------··-····---···-·-------,,,.,-:.-----··- ---·-----·---------·-----
Date: 7/ J;6/';;b~ 

attachments to the BART Office of the District Secretary: 

300 Lakeside Drive, Floor, Oakland, CA 94612 or.fax to (510) 464-6011 or email to 
· mtatum art. ov. Feel free to call (510) 464-6089 with any questions. 

Application period closes on Friday, February 7, 2020 

TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY ~OMMITTEE I Application for Appointment 



II. Recommendation Contact Information: 
Andy Payne, Fremont California. 

Ill . Personal statement of interest: 
· I am interested in serving on the BART TSAC {Transit Security Advisory Committee), I am a lifelong user 
of the system .. 1 have always been interested in Transit and Transit Security aspects. Using BART as 
frequent as I do I am familiar with the system, always observing different. aspects of the BART. system, 
BART stations. And I believe volunteering on this committee can make BART :> better system for all. 

IV. Qualifications and Experience: 
Being the Chair of another BART Committee I have an understanding of BART and BART polices. Over the 
years I have developed a strong working relationship with staff on various senior/disabled rider issues. 
And have reviewed and worked in collaboration on many different BART projects. 

In 2012, I was part of a committee, which worked directly with Chief Rainy, providing feedback to BART 
Police, to develop the BART GDA (General disabilities awareness) pamphlet. Which is currently carried 
by officers. 



Tiffany Rost! Naputi Lacsado: Potential Candida.te No. 3 

TRANSIT SECURiTY ADVISORY COMMITIEE J Application for Appointment 



. · 5) Participate in community outreach. 

All TSAC members must be fair-minded and objective. with demonstrated commitment to ·. · . 
commur.iJty .service. Appointees to the TSAC are subject to a background check and mu~t not 

· . have any felony convictions. Members serving on the TSAC are not required to be U;S: citizens. 
Thank you for your interest in servll')g on the Transit Security Advisory Committee (TSAC). 
It is important that you complete all parts of the application. If your application is incomplete or 
does not clearly show the experience and/or. training required, your . application may not be 
accepted, . . . . . . . · 

The application proct,ss wlll ln~/ude three phases: 

I PHASE 1 - Application arid Recommendation Review 
The advisory committee members w/11 review . the appllcatli:ms, letters of recommendation and . any· 
supplemental documents. · · · · · 

· I PHASE 2.:.. Committee Review and Informal lntarvlew · . . ! 
Applicants selected to move forward must attend the February 4, 2020 TSAC meeting .ft;> parliclpate In a. 
brief Informs/Interview. · 

· I PHASE 3 - BART Board of Directors Appointment l 
· Selected candidates . will 6e Invited to appear before the Board of Directors to briefly explain thf}lr Interest 

In seMng on the committee, followed by a Board vote. · · · · 

.. , .. Personal Information 

r

--·-·Please consid,~r my application for the tollowln9 representation(s) on the. TSAC: __ · .. . . .. · . · . _ 1 

· D Mental Health/Disabilities D Youth Advocate · 
Representation: . D Law Enforcement igj Public at Large 

1 · · · . D Alternate 

!first, Last.Name: · 1· Tiffany Rose Naputi Lacsado - --, Home/Malling . ·-r-·-. . . . ... · -·-· .. ----- .· 
I · · · · · . . · Address: . · , . · . · 
fciiY:&Zip:: ·. ·. . ·~ . . - . - - . - . · f County: ·-- f Atameda -- .-- ·· ··· _.__ . • - . 

. · rain Ph~ne:- . - . r. . . . . . . -. -----·-. r Alter~ate Phone: I . -------·---·--------

. ! Email Address: · .. . , . . · · - - -- . ··- · --!occupation: . - - f"Associate Director.of Economic ____ , · 
I 1 

· . • · · · I "' I Development · . · . 
-----· ---.a-.~----------- . - · -·- ·-· . -·------------·--···- . --·-···-------·-------

Recommendation Contact Information (must provide two recommendations) 

Please· provide. the· coritact information for the individuals recommending your appointment arid . 
. attach th<:Jli letters of recommendation to this application. · . : · . 

T Flret Name: -- • I Chris - - -- .-·- . -· - -r Last Name: - - · jlglesias .. . - --- --- . -- ~ I 

~-=:::~ Address -~~:)::;::~,Ave~ . ~~=+ ~: .. ~ =~-= ~=~~Lmmdlo'i - . -J 
-·------··----- -----.. --- ----- -··----- . ----·- . - ---·--- ------- . 

TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE I Application for Appointment 



,. 
; 

i 
.J · 

j 
~ 

·; 

. , . 
i 
i 
! 

: 

i 

! 
,I.. 
-! 
I 

'· ·! 

r- . --- . ·-----------. ·- . ------------ .. -------·- . . - . - . ----- ------------· 
I First Name: . j Noel . . I Last Name: . . r Gallo . . . .. -----· 

r Malling Address . -, 1 Frank Ogawa"Plaz~ -----Tc1ty & Zip: . --T Oakland.94612____ . ---·- ·· .. - . 

1-Phone: ___ - - I si0-238-7005 _____ . ----r Email Address: . . r ngallo@oaklandca.gov _ ____ . -- . ----
----··-·· . -·· ·----- --------··-----------·· _____________ _________ ..:_ ____________ _ 

Ill. . Personai Statement of Interest 

. Briefly expiain your Interest in serving on the TS.AC. Please feel free to attach an additional pag~ . . 
I a~ interested in serving o~ the BART Security Advisory Committee because my family is one of the 97 families that moved 

into Casa Arabella, the new transit friendly affordable housing complex in the Fruitvale neighborhood in Oakland, California. 

We have been blessed beyond beli~f to be chosen to live there and I will be rals~g my three children. currently _ag~s 3, 5 and 8 
literaily in the shadows of the BART tracks. Community safety is of utmost importance t~ me and my family and we believe 

our experience and voice can help shape how BART looks at this complex issue and how current and future policies impacts 

~ e neighborhoo~s ~n~residents ~~t~~~ sp~~=th ~AR~---~--~-~~--------· _ ·- - _ -_______ ] 

IV. Quallflcatlons and Experience 

What qua/If/cations/assets do you have that make you a strong candidate for service on the 
· TSAC? Please feel free to attach a resume or an additional page. 

Currently I serve as the Associ~te Director of ~cono~ic Development for the Unity Council and leads the team that manages 
. . . . 

the Fruitvale Business Improvement District a small business group that represents over 350 businesses in the Fruitvale · 

neighborhood of Oakland, CA. 

. . 
•-------- --- -----··- ·----··-- --·•-------··------- ----·--··--··-- - ·•··--- -·•-w-•·-·-·---·----•·•-··-

V. Organizations/Grol'.lp Membership 

List any organizations or groups that you belong to or are involved with that.you believe ·bear 
relevance to your candidacy for service on the TSAC: · . 

[
.Organization Name: - Healthy Havenscourt Collaborative - . . -·--r Positl~n: r :=Pof EF -

California 
f"organlzatlon-Name: j--- . - ·-· .----.-- ·- · ---------r Positlon: _-r··- ··--·- . . . ---- _-

f organlz~tlon.Name: ·-r--·-- · ----~--------- · · -----, Position: 1 ·· ----- . - ~ -----· 

r Organl;tl~n-Name: -r--·-----·--_----· . -·-··-··---------· -·-.------i-·Po~ltlon: ,-···-----····-----·-·----~--1 
r Organl~ation Name: -·-r--···--·----------------·---·----T Position: l- . ----··---·-···-·--···-·-·······-··] . 
------ -·------ -------------·-------- -------· ~ ----- ··----··--·- ·-- - ·-

• Applicant Sigoatul~ · fQ') .. ~ · · . Data: Q /7:(YJ ;;..a 
I 
I 

TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE I Apj,llcatlon for Appointment : I 



CITY OF . OAKLAND 

CITY HALL • .FRANK H ·. OGAWA PLAZA• OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 9 4 612 

Noel Gallo 
Councilmember - District 5 . . 
e-mail: NGallo@oaklandnet .. com 

, February 13, 2020 

· . To Whom It May Concern: . 

'\ 

(510) 238-3266 
FAX ·(SlO) 238-6129 

TDD (510) 839-'6451 · 

. My name is Noel Gall~· and I serve as a City of Oakland Council Member representing 
. District .5 in. which the Fruitvale BART. Station_. resides. I met Tiffany years ago when·she worked 
at the Sexual Minority Alliance of Alameda County where she was on the team that lead a 
successful initiative to fund LGBTQ specific youth services, carving out millions of dollars over 
a three-year cycle for these youth through our Oakland Fund :for Children and Youth (OFCY) 
program. 

In the year~ T have known her; I have c~me 'to aclmire Tiffany's commitment to the 
. community (all sectors of the community), her ability to build relationships across race and 0th.er · 
· differences,and her patient, critical inquiry and learru.ng ·stance. She learris and decides for·herself . 
what is true and where she st~ds on the issues> In a .c:ity with deep· divisions, Tiffany capably . 

·. nav:igates the divides and builds bridges everywhere she goes. · · · 
. . . . . 

Tiffapy,is a new resident at the transit friendly Casa Arabella and would bring badly needed· 
representation to the BART Transit Safety Committee: she is representative of. the majority of 
. Oaklanders who are renters, who live in the·. city's working~class neighborhoods, and who thrive~ 
. ·and serve the commtiriity - despite the challenges they have bad to overcome. BART:desperately 
. needs mote :representatives who understand and have: experienced the numerous issues facing 
. Oakland famiiies especially in the neighborhoods that are in the shadows of the BART tracks: 

I strongly recommend Tiffany for the BART Transit Safety Committee. Please feel free to . 
. reach out if ymi' have any questions or would like to talk more. I can be reached at · 
ngallo@oaklandca.gov or (510)238-7005. 



Bay Area Rapid Tran.sit District (BART) 
P.O. Box 12688 
Oakland, CA 94604-2688 

Thursday, February 13,.2020 

:To Whom It May Concern: 
. . . . . 

· My name Is Chris Iglesias and I serve as the CEO of the Unity Council. I met Tiffany years ago when she= 
was a parent whc;> sat on the Unity Council's Head-Start Parent Policy .Committee in 2013 .. 

. Since that time, attended business school and Tiffany founded the first Pacific Islander worker owned lei · 
making·cooperative-The Lei Company and has·been a leader In small business deve.lopment with a . 
sp~clalty in cooperative business models. Tiffany then.made her way back to .the Unity Council first as a . 

· Business Engagement Consultant in our Workforce Development program where she was Integral lri 
working within s:mall businesses and in the healthcare industry to find on~the-Job training placements 
for our vocational trainees. . . 

. . . . . . . . 

Early on ·we recognized her talent and her abfllty bl!ild collaborative teams and establish and maintain 
productive relationships across a diverse set of community stakeholders in the public and private 
sectors, th~t we eventually hired her as o.ur Associate Director of Economic Developfl'.lent. A large part of 

. her management portfolio at the Unity Coun_cll is to oversee the Frultvale1 Buslness Improvement . 
. Distric;t. It is.the largest Business Improvement District In Oakland with over 350 merchants and property · 
owners·in its membership. Within the mass transit industry, Tiffany oversees our AC Transit Bus . 
Operators prc;>gram, an.AC Transit pre-employment fra.ining program for people with high barriers to 
employme~t. · · · 

Tiffany is also a new resident at Casa·Arabella and will be raising her three children Just steps away frofl'.l 
the _Fruitvale BART Station. It Is because of these 11v·ed experiences which are Important perspectives to 
have·on any safety committee - as a resident neighbor of the Fruitvale BART station and as a business 
woman that I s~rong_ly· recommend Tiffany Rose Nap1:1ti Lacsado for the BART Transit Safety Committee. 

_: Piease feel free to reach out if you nave a~y·questions or would like to talk more. I cari be reached at 
(510) 535-6918 or ceo-ea@unitycouncll.org 

Regards, 

The Unity Council 
.1900 Fru.ltvale Ave Ste 2A, Oakland, CA 94601 

510-535-69000ffice • 510-534-7771 Fax• www.unitycouncil.org . 



\ 

Manual Vasquez: Potential Candidate No. 4 

TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY COMMITIEE I Application for Appointment 



All TSAC members must be fair-minded and objective with demonstrated commitmentto 
community service. Appointees to the TSAC are subject to a background check and must not 
have any felony convictions. Members serving on the TSAC are not required to be U.S. citizens. 

Thank you for your interest in serving on the Transit Security Advisory Committee (TSAC). · 
It is important that you complete all parts of the application. ff your application is incomplete or does 
not clearly show the experience and/or training required, your applicatio~ may not be accepted. 

The application process will include three phases: 

Selected candidates will be invited to appear before the Board of Directors to briefly explain their. interest 
in serving on the committee, followed by a Board vote. 

I. Personal Information 

Please consider my application for the following representation(s) on the TSAC: 

0 Mental Health/Disabilities O Youth Advocate 
Representation: D Law Enforcement [?"Public at Large 

0 Alternate 

I Fi~L:.;.~~e, · !~41-/.ji,,,~~1;;;:~illng 
_1-'C"""ity'""". ·=·~=Z=i=·~· ..... = _· --='-'--·='.-.· ""'"""'---"---"--"-'---- . · I County: 

J 

I Main Phone:_ . 
1 

• aernate Phone: 
\ . .. I Email Address: . l9ccupation: 

JI. Recommendation Contact Information (must provide two recommendations) 

Please provide the contact information for the individuals recommending your appointment and 
attach their letters of recommendation to this application. 

I First ~~me: . .. • ! f i,fo/d .&:Ii; tt{> .. , Last Name:! ,-1,, ~__..A"'""'-/'..'-L.V._._'/-'-J.,,...~o--'-· . __ A...;_'d_,2)_·~1 
I Mai_lin~ .Address - - ' .,,, /!. I c_1_ty_&_Z_iP_= ___ 

0

[-"' _.:::;:::> · /
7A 

·1 - ,, · '::mail Address: r · ., r 

ilt fT'"~-

TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY COMMITIEE I Application for Appointment 

,.._, 

. lJti-



I Mailing Address 

I Phone: 

,., ~--..,,......JJ--. 1 
g_, I City & Zip: 

,-- - · 
Email Address: - \. -

Ill. Personal Statement of Interest 

What qualifications/assets do you have that make you a strong candidate for service on the 
TSA C? Please feel free to . attach _a resume or an additional page. 

~ 
_L/t:, 

71} 

V. Or anizations/Grou'-

List any organizations or groups that you belong to or are involved with that you believe bear 
relevance to your candidacy for service on the TSAC: 

.....----------'------, -Position: 

I Position: ;.__ ______ ..;.._ _____ _ 
I Position: 

I Position: I Organization Name: 

I Organization Name: 

I Organization Na~e: 

I Organization N~me: 
.....--------------

' Position: I Organization Name: 
' 

Date: - _3 --S-:, 2.rP 2 2'J 

Return this form and relevant attachments to the BART Office of the District Secretary: 

300 Lakeside Drive, 23rd Floor, Oakland, CA 94612 or fax to (510) 464-6011 or email to 
mtatum@bart.gov. Feel free to call (510) 464-6089 with any questions. 

Application period closes on Friday, February 7, 2020 

:J3 
.. :-, 

, 

TRANSIT SECURITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE I Application for Appointment 



Objective: 
human 

Education: 

Summaryof 

Manuel Vasquez, MSW 

To work in a part time position that requires an individual responsive to 
needs. 

Master's in Social Work, Arizona State University, Tempe Arizona, 5183 
Bachelor of Science in Social welfare, Metropolitan State College, 
Denver, Colorado 12/80 

Qualifications: Experienced in direct and administrative services. Skilled in areas of individual, 
group and family therapy, case management, treatment of domestic violence 
(victim services and perpetrators), co-occurring disorders (mental health 
disorders and substance abuse), treatment of PTSD, depression, anxiety, and 
major mental illness. Knowledgeable of program development, management of 
multidisciplinary outpatient psychiatric staff, contract negations, program 
development, fiscal program monitoring, policy and systems development, 
clinical supervision, organizational problem solving and risk management. 

Professional 
Experience: City and County of San Francisco, Community Behavioral Health Services., 

Assistant Director of the Office of Program Performance and Compliance. 
Assume lead responsibility for program management of multi-million dollar 
contract for co-occurring disorders, residential treatment of large community base 
organization. Assist with system wide policy development related to individuals 
with co-occurring disorders. Assist with management of Private Providers 
Network. Assume lead role with investigation of client grievances, organizational 
problem solving, fiscal, clinical andprogram audits, December 1, 2005 to 2009 

City and County of San Francisco. Community Behavioral Health Services_, 
. Mission Mental Health, Mission ACJ; Program Director.. 
Provide administrative oversight for Assertive Community Treatment Program. 
Manage daily operations of adult outpatient multidisciplinary psychiatric team. 
Provide leadership and program development for integrated mental health 
services (mental health, substance abuse and primary care) with a Latino and 
LGBTQ focus. Provide psychiatric services for individual caseload, 
9/6/06-11 /30/2005. 

County of Alameda Community Behavioral Health Services, Chief 
Psychiatric Social Worke,; East Oakland Community Mental Health and 
Office of Continuing~ Clinical Director of comprehensive outpatient clinic. 
Assume responsibility for daily operations of clinical services. Provide 
administrative oversight of crisis clinic and mobile crisis services, responsibility 
for reduction of inpatient long term care beds by enhancement of client 
movement from locked facilities to community base programs. Monitor residential 
care contacts and Consumer Self-help contacts, 5/87-8/96. 



Fam/Iv Services of the East Bay, Private Consultant: Provide clinical 
therapeutic seNices for individual, couples and families. Specialization in couples 
therapy, and domestic violence, 10/88-10/92. 

Servicios de la Raza. Mental Health Director: 
Program development and administration, policy development, contract 
negotiation, proposal writing, community advocacy and assumed responsibility of 
daily operations 
of ethnic specific outpatient services. Maintained responsibility for individual case 
load. Provide clinical supervision for subordinate staff, 9183-5/87. 

Phoenix South Community Mental Health Services. Phoenix, Arizona. 
Mental Health Clinician: Manage individual caseload and provide case 
management, crisis intervention and psychotherapy for individuals with chronic 
and persistent mental 
illness. Provide community crisis support and outreach to underserl/ed 
populations by serving as staff of mobile crisis team, 6/81-5183. 

Pueblo Neighborhood Health Centers, Pueblo Colorado. Community Health 
Worker: Responsible for community outreach with Latino community and farm 
workers, community advocacy, health prevention, case management, and 
resource development, 1ll6-5ll9. 

References Provided Upon Request 



SAN FRANCISCO BY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Board of Directors DATE: July 17, 2020 

FROM: General Manager 

SUBJECT: Resolution Commending Hale Zukas In Honor of the ADA 30th Anniversary 

At the request of Director Raburn, attached is a proposed resolution commending disability rights 
leader Hale Zukas in honor of the 30th Anniversary of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 

which was signed into law on July 26, 1990. 

BART is committed to complying with all federal Americans with Disabilities (ADA) regulations 
as well as the State of California's rigorous accessibility requirements. BAR T's ease-of-use to the 

disabled community owes much to 30 years of effort to comply with the ADA and 50 years of 
advocacy by BA TF founding member Hale Zukas who has worked tirelessly to promote the 
mobility needs of the broader community. 

If you have any questions, please contact Val Menotti, Chief Planning and Development Officer, 
at 510.287.4794. Thank you. 

cc: Board Appointed Officers 

Deputy General Manager 

Executive Staff 



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Resolution Commending 
HALE ZUKAS 

In Honor of the 30th Anniversary of the ADA 

Resolution No. ---

WHEREAS, BART is committed to delivering safe and accessible transit in the San Francisco 
Bay Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) was signed into law on July 26, 1990, 
marking 30 years since this landmark legislation first championed access and opportunity for 
people with disabilities throughout the nation; and 

WHEREAS, Hale J. Zukas, a founding member of the BART Accessibility Task Force (BATF), 
was instrumental in forming the independent living movement at local, state and national levels, 
and has remained active in advocating for disability rights and accessible design since the early 
1970s;and 

WHEREAS, over the last half-century, Mr. Zukas has demonstrated a fierce commitment to 

community-centered design and prompted the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District to 

adopt accessible design solutions, such as the technical features of station elevator buttons, 
elevator locations and improved signage and wayfinding; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Zukas, in partnership with District staff, was directly involved with other key 
BA TF members to integrate 1990s station expansion design, planning, and engineering 
concurrently with the ADA to meet the needs of all BART users; and 

WHEREAS, in addition to his legacy of assisting Bay Area transit riders in gaining public access 
to transit systems, Mr. Zukas has prompted California's statewide adoption of curb ramp designs 

and co-founded the Center for Independent Living in Berkeley, the first group of its kind in the 

world dedicated to advocate for the rights of disabled people; and worked with civil rights 
pioneers Ed Roberts and Judy Heumann for many years; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Zukas was appointed by President Jimmy Carter in 1983 to serve on the 

Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board in Washington D.C., and greatly 
influenced national accessibility standards while consulting for the National Science Foundation 
and the Federal Highway Administration; and 



WHEREAS, Mr. Zukas remains one of the key liaisons between BART and the disability 
community and has previously been presented with an honorary plaque within the accessible 
passageway between the Ashby BART Station and Ed Roberts Campus in 2012; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay 

Area Rapid Transit District does hereby recognizes the long-standing contributions that Mr. Hale 
Zukas has made on behalf of the citizens of the Bay Area, the District, the State and the Nation 
over the past 50 years in conjunction with commemorating the 30th Anniversary of ADA. 

Adopted on ______ , 2020 





BART Safety, Reliability, and 
Traffic Relief Program


(Measure RR) Update


BART Board
July 23, 2020







Agenda


2


• Executive Summary
• Work Progress
• Budget and Schedule Status
• Individual Program Milestones
• Small Business & Outreach
• RR Program Hiring 







Executive Summary


• Through March 2020, $504.2M of the Measure RR funds have 
been invested to complete 19% of the work.


• Successes
• Overall program performing ahead of investment 


projections
• Challenges


• COVID-19 
• Supply chain management 
• Resource availability 
• Securing funding to leverage RR funds


# Projects in 
Planning


# Projects in 
Design


# Projects in 
Bid/Award


# Projects in 
Construction


# Projects 
Completed


TOTAL # 
Projects 


7 (-3) 55 (+5)  27 (-5) 44 (+4)  14 (+3) 147 (+4)  


3


+ (Projects added in the phase)
- (Projects no longer in the phase)







Work Progress


4







RR Projects by District


5







Examples of Active RR Projects in 
January 2020 – March 2020


6


*Updated projects
Projects with Accelerated work due to COVID-19 service reduction







BART Preparedness


• COVID-19
• Reallocated workforce to take advantage 


of extended non-revenue hours and 
accelerate work


• Load Shedding (from Operating to Capital)


• Opportunities (Adapting to change):
• Rebidding to take advantage of 


downturn: 
• Substation Replacement Project
• Concord Wheel Truing Facility
• Embarcadero Elevator


• Capitalizing on possible future 
opportunities (i.e. bundling work to take 
advantage of extended non-revenue hours and larger 
work zones)


• Self-perform vs. contracting out


7







Challenges


• COVID-19
• Supply chain management 
• Health and Safety Plan inclusive of COVID-19 concerns
• Resource availability to meet current work demand
• Securing funding to leverage RR funds


8







Renew Power Progress
M-Line 34.5kV Cable Replacement


• Progress with extended non revenue 
hours


• Forecasting an estimated 35 weekend 
single-tracking reduction


• 23,000 ft of cable has been installed


9







Renew Power Progress
M-Line 34.5kV Cable Replacement


10













Renew Track Progress 
C25 Interlocking Replacement


• All 4 turnouts have been 
replaced


• Switch installation and 
testing are in progress


• Opportunities from COVID
• Reduce number of 


shutdowns
• Reduce number of buses


11







Renew Mechanical Progress
Coverboard Enhancement


12


• Progress with extended hours
• Productivity improved on 


average from 3.8 Track Miles to 
6.9 Track Miles


• Forecasted project completion 
is currently 3 months ahead of 
original schedule







19th St. Station Modernization


• Contractor’s staging & storage 
areas constructed at various 
station levels


• Demolition work at public 
restrooms – Milestone 1


• Continued demo at staircase 9N
• Continued demo & construction 


activities at upper platform level 
for new custodial room & HVAC 
system


13







Budget and Schedule Status


14







Measure RR Cashflow ($ Millions) –
Mid-Term & Long-Term Outlook


Program


Expended 
(thru 


January 
2020)


Expended 
(thru 


March 
2020)


% 
Expended 


out of Total 
Bond 


Investment


Period 
Cashflow 
(February 


2020-
March 
2020)


Forecast Expenditures


SHORT-
TERM (thru 
June 2021)


MID-TERM
(thru 2025)


LONG-TERM
(thru End of 


Bond)


Renew Track $156.9 $168.0 27% $11.1 $200 $400 $625


Renew Power 
Infrastructure $183.5 $199.3 16% $15.9 $275 $608 $1,225


Repair Tunnels & 
Structures $41.0 $44.5 8% $3.5 $64 $268 $570


Renew Mechanical $16.7 $19.3 14% $2.6 $46 $65 $135


Replace Train 
Control/Increase 
Capacity


$18.1 $21.9 5% $3.8 $39 $286 $400


Renew Stations $16.5 $18.6 9% $2.1 $35 $148 $210


Expand Safe Access 
to Stations $14.3 $15.4 11% $1.1 $46 $86 $135


Design/Engineer to 
Relieve Crowding $13.9 $17.2 9% $3.3 $41 $69 $200


Total $460.9 $504.2 14% $43.4 $746 $1,930 $3,500 15







RR Overall Program Budget Progress


16


FORECAST
Cumulative Total by 
Jun 2021: $746M


Forecast 1st & 2nd


Tranche $660M 
Cumulative 
Spend down
by Sept 2020 







Earned Value Rollup by Program -


RR Program
Total 


RR 
Budget


Physical % 
Complete


Planned 
Value


Earned 
Value


RR Accrued 
to Date CPI SPI


Renew Track $625 34% $219.88 $210.33 $208.41 1.01 0.96


Renew Power $1,225 24% $317.97 $288.09 $272.77 1.06 0.91


Repair Tunnels and 
Structures $543 10% $58.40 $52.19 $43.91 1.19 0.89


Renew Mechanical $162 16% $30.53 $25.30 $19.77 1.28 0.83


Replace Train Control/ 
Increase Capacity $400 5% $26.88 $18.95 $25.49 0.74 0.70


Renew Stations $210 8% $20.80 $16.90 $15.80 1.07 0.81


Expand Safe Access to 
Stations $135 17% $26.10 $23.40 $22.50 1.04 0.90


Design/Engineer to Relieve 
Crowding $200 10% $24.00 $20.90 $20.30 1.03 0.87


Total $3,500 19% $724.56 $656.06 $628.95 1.04 0.91


17







Individual Program Milestones


18







Renew Track
STATUS & MILESTONES


EXPENDED Thru 3/2020: $168.0


FORECAST Thru 6/2021: $200


TOTAL PROGRAM VALUE: $625


PERIOD CASHFLOW: $11.1


STATUS – Renew Track
# Projects in 


Planning
# Projects in 


Design
# Projects in 
Bid/Award


# Projects in 
Construction


# Projects 
Completed


TOTAL # 
Projects 


1 3 6 7 3 20


19


MILESTONES


Completed
(Feb 2020 – March 2020)


Q4
(April 2020 – June 2020)


Q1
(July 2020 – Sep 2020)


Q2
(Oct 2020 – Dec 2020)


• NTP for A65/A75  Interlocking 
Replacement (Near Hayward 
Station and Yard)


• Completion of Construction for 
Restraining Rail Replacement


• Initiated Project Closeout for C35 
(Near Lafayette Station)


• Construction Began for C25 
Interlocking Replacement (near 
Orinda Station)


• Contract Award for Oakland Yard 
Track Geometry Vehicle Storage 
Shed                                                                                      


• Construction Shutdowns Begin on 
C25 Interlocking (near Orinda 
Station)


• NTP for Oakland Yard Track 
Geometry Vehicle Storage 
Shed


• C25 Interlocking shutdowns 
complete (near Orinda 
Station)


• Construction Shutdowns 
Begin for A65 Interlocking 
Replacement (near Hayward 
Yard); and substantial 
completion of the A65 
interlocking project


• Construction Start for 
R65 Interlocking 
Replacement (near 
Richmond Station)


Watchlist:
• COVID-19 driven procurement delays of special trackwork due to factory slow down                                               Italic: Modified milestones from 


previous report.







Renew Power 
STATUS & MILESTONES


20


EXPENDED Thru 3/2020: $199.3


FORECAST Thru 6/2021: $275


TOTAL PROGRAM VALUE: $1,225


PERIOD CASHFLOW: $15.9


STATUS – Renew Power Infrastructure
# Projects in 


Planning
# Projects in 


Design
# Projects in 
Bid/Award


# Projects in 
Construction


# Projects 
Completed


TOTAL # 
Projects 


0 8 8 11 2 29


MILESTONES


Completed
(Feb 2020 – March 2020)


Q4
(April 2020 – June 2020)


Q1
(July 2020 – Sep 2020)


Q2
(Oct 2020 – Dec 2020)


• Contract Awarded for 
Replace CWS Bulk Supply 
Transformer (near Walnut 
Creek Station)


• Contract Awarded for 
Replace Station 
Emergency Lighting


• Completion of Design for 34.5kV Blocking 
Scheme Systemwide


• Contract Award for Transbay Tube East Bay 
Substation Installation


• Start Cable Pull for First Segment at M-line 
34.5kV replacement (between 16th St and 
24th St Stations in San Francisco)


• NTP for Replace CWS Bulk Supply Transformer 
(near Walnut Creek Station)


• NTP for Replace Station Emergency Lighting
• Award A-line 34.5kV Cable Replacement 


(Alameda County)


• Complete Commissioning of 
New 34.5kV circuits for K-
line between West Oakland 
and 19th St Oakland


• NTP for Transbay Tube East 
Bay Substation Installation


• Award R Line 34.5kV Cable 
Replacement


• Completion of Design for 
Station Fire Alarm 
Replacement Phase 3 


• Issue for Bid Station Fire 
Alarm Replacement-
Phase 3


• NTP for A-line 34.5kV 
Replacement (Alameda 
County)


• Complete Commissioning 
of new Substation at San 
Leandro Station


Watchlist:
• Bid evaluations for substation contracts, TP10 Italic: Modified milestones from 


previous report.







Tunnels & Structures
STATUS & MILESTONES


EXPENDED Thru 3/2020: $44.5


FORECAST Thru 6/2021: $64


TOTAL PROGRAM VALUE: $570


PERIOD CASHFLOW: $3.5


STATUS – Repair Tunnels & Structures


21


# Projects in 
Planning


# Projects in 
Design


# Projects in 
Bid/Award


# Projects in 
Construction


# Projects 
Completed


TOTAL # 
Projects 


1 13 1 7 4 26


MILESTONES


Completed
(Feb 2020 – March 2020)


Q4
(April 2020 – June 2020)


Q1
(July 2020 – Sep 2020)


Q2
(Oct 2020 – Dec 2020)


• Substantial Completion of Construction 
for TBT Cross Passage Doors


• Completion of Design for Market 
Street Grates Rehabilitation 


• Issued for Bid Aerial Fall Protection A 
Line North


• Construction Began for Wayside 
Regulatory Signage


• Completion of Construction for Phase 
1 Substation Walls Rehabilitation (18 
Locations Systemwide)


• Completion of Construction for 
Catwalk Hangar Rod Replacement Pilot 
Program


• Completion of Design for 
Renew Catwalks on the A 
Line


• NTP for Safety Barriers Phase 
3 – Lift-Assist Bollards


• Contract Award for Aerial Fall 
Protection A Line North


• Procurement of materials for 
Aerial Fall Protection A Line 
South construction pilot 
Project


• Issue for Bid East Bay Street 
Grates (downtown Berkeley and 
Oakland)


• Completion of Construction for 
Platform Rehabilitation at 
Hayward Station


• Issue for Bid Cross 
Passage Doors 
(Systemwide)


Watchlist:
• Potential schedule and cost impact for MW 12 slope stabilization Italic: Modified milestones from 


previous report.







Renew Mechanical 
STATUS & MILESTONES


EXPENDED Thru 3/2020: $19.3


FORECAST Thru 6/2021: $46


TOTAL PROGRAM VALUE: $135


PERIOD CASHFLOW: $2.6


STATUS – Renew Mechanical


22


# Projects in 
Planning


# Projects in 
Design


# Projects in 
Bid/Award


# Projects in 
Construction


# Projects 
Completed


TOTAL # 
Projects 


1 11 6 7 0 25


MILESTONES


Completed
(Feb 2020 – March 2020)


Q4
(April 2020 – June 2020)


Q1
(July 2020 – Sep 2020)


Q2
(Oct 2020 – Dec 2020)


• NTP for Facilities HVAC 
Equipment Replacement 
Systemwide


• NTP for Richmond Yard Fire 
Services


• NTP for Rotoclone (Wet Dust 
Collector) Replacement 
(Concord, Richmond, and 
Hayward Yards)


• Issue for Bid  Vacuum System 
Replacement (Oakland Yard)


• Begin Maintenance 
Construction and 
Procurement of the Fire 
Hose Cabinet Replacement 
Project


• Completion of Design for Fire Hose 
and Piping Replacement


• Contract Award of Vacuum System 
Replacement (Oakland Yard)


• Advertise Concord Yard Wheel Truing 
Facility


• Issue for Bid Hayward Yard 
Fire Services


• Completion of Design for 
Concord Yard Turntable 
Replacement 


Watchlist:
• Impact on schedules from consolidation of  project’s scopes 
• Low bidder turnout/less competitive bids
• Concord Yard Turntable Replacement delay


Italic: Modified milestones from 
previous report.







Replace Train Control
STATUS & MILESTONES


EXPENDED Thru 3/2020: $21.9


FORECAST Thru 6/2021: $39


TOTAL PROGRAM VALUE: $400


PERIOD CASHFLOW: $3.8


STATUS – Replace Train Control / Increase Capacity


23


# Projects in 
Planning


# Projects in 
Design


# Projects in 
Bid/Award


# Projects in 
Construction


# Projects 
Completed


TOTAL # 
Projects 


0 1 3 0 0 4


MILESTONES


Completed
(Feb 2020 – March 2020)


Q4
(April 2020 – June 2020)


Q1
(July 2020 – Sep 2020)


Q2
(Oct 2020 – Dec 2020)


• Issued 100% Bid Documents for 
review – Power Supply 
Cabinets & Switch 
Machine/Train Control Room 
Power Cable 


• Awarded CBTC Construction 
Management Agreement


• Issued CBTC  Change Order to 
initiate discussions with 
Bombardier for D-Car Retrofit  
Design


• Bids received for CBTC Design 
Support During Construction 
Agreement


• Notice to Proceed (NTP) for CBTC 
Construction Management 
Agreements


• NTP for CBTC Design Support 
During Construction Agreements


• Issue CBTC Change Notice for Cost 
Proposal to Bombardier for D-Car 
Retrofit Design


• NTP for CBTC Design Build 
Contract/Mobilize


• Advertise Power Supply Cabinets 
& Switch Machine/Train Control 


• OCIP Coverage/ Notice to 
Proceed for CBTC 


• Execute CBTC Change 
Notice  to Bombardier 
for Conceptual Design 
Review & Preliminary 
Design Review


• Evaluate Proposals for 
Power Supply Cabinets & 
Switch Machine/Train 
Control Contract and 
take to the BART Board 
for Intent to Award in 
January 2021


Watchlist:
• Design Build Contract Award contingent upon Full Funding Grant Agreement Italic: Modified milestones from 


previous report.







Renew Stations
STATUS & MILESTONES


EXPENDED Thru 3/2020: $18.6


FORECAST Thru 6/2021: $35


TOTAL PROGRAM VALUE: $210


PERIOD CASHFLOW: $2.1


STATUS – Renew Stations
# Projects in 


Planning
# Projects in 


Design
# Projects in 
Bid/Award


# Projects in 
Construction


# Projects 
Completed


TOTAL # 
Projects 


1 2 1 5 0 9


MILESTONES 


Completed
(Feb 2020 – March 2020)


Q4
(April 2020 – June 2020)


Q1
(July 2020 – Sep 2020)


Q2
(Oct 2020 – Dec 2020)


• Fabrication of escalators
• Site Mobilization for 19th St 


Station
• Awarded and Responded to 


protest for Canopy Contract 
• Begin design for 19th St Station 


Street Elevator 
• NTP for Powell St. Station 


Modernization


• Continue fabrication of 
escalators


• Construction continues at 
restrooms and other locations 
on the concourse and platform 
levels for 19th St Station 


• NTP for Canopy Contract
• Begin Site Mobilization for 


Powell St. Station 
Modernization


• Begin installation of escalators 
and factory inspection


• Begin submittals for Canopy 
Contract 


• Begin Construction for Powell 
St. Station Modernization


• Continue installation of 
escalators and factory 
inspection


• Begin Construction for 
Canopy Contract


Watchlist:
• None Italic: Modified milestones from 


previous report.
24







Station Access
STATUS & MILESTONES


EXPENDED Thru 3/2020: $15.4


FORECAST Thru 6/2021: $46


TOTAL PROGRAM VALUE: $135


PERIOD CASHFLOW: $1.1


STATUS – Expand Safe Access to Stations


25


# Projects in 
Planning


# Projects in 
Design


# Projects in 
Bid/Award


# Projects in 
Construction


# Projects 
Completed


TOTAL # 
Projects 


1 13 1 6 4 25


MILESTONES


Completed
(Feb 2020 – March 2020)


Q4
(April 2020 – June 2020)


Q1
(July 2020 – Sep 2020)


Q2
(Oct 2020 – Dec 2020)


• Began Site Mobilization for 
eBART – Antioch Parking Lot 
and multimodal access 
improvements contract


• Board Authorization to 
Advance Safe Routes to BART 
Grant Program


• Begin Construction for eBART – Antioch 
Parking Lot Contract


• Substantial Completion for Embarcadero 
and Civic Center Bike Station 
Modernization


• Submit Bicycle Stair Channels Bid 
Documents to Procurement for Review 


• Complete Financial Closeout for MacArthur 
Transit Improvement 


• Launch Safe Routes to BART Grant Program 


• Advertise for Bicycle 
Stair Channels Contract 


• Submit Accessibility 
Improvement (Phase 1) 
Bid Documents to 
Procurement for Review 


• Award Bicycle Stair 
Channels Contract 


• Advertise Accessibility 
Improvement (Phase 1)


• Execute Funding 
Agreements with 
Jurisdictions  for Safe 
Routes to BART Grant 
Program


Watchlist:
• eBART – Antioch Parking Lot delayed due to COVID-19 Italic: Modified milestones from 


previous report.







Relieve Crowding
STATUS & MILESTONES


EXPENDED Thru 3/2020: $17.2


FORECAST Thru 6/2021: $41


TOTAL PROGRAM VALUE: $200


PERIOD CASHFLOW: $3.3


STATUS – Design / Engineer to Relieve Crowding


26


# Projects in 
Planning


# Projects in 
Design


# Projects in 
Bid/Award


# Projects in 
Construction


# Projects 
Completed


TOTAL # 
Projects 


2 4 1 1 1 9


MILESTONES


Completed
(Feb 2020 – March 2020)


Q4
(April 2020 – June 2020)


Q1
(July 2020 – Sep 2020)


Q2
(Oct 2020 – Dec 2020)


• Presented project briefing 
update for New Transbay Rail 
Crossing to BART Board at 
Board Workshop


• Rejected all bids for 
Embarcadero New Platform 
Elevator 


• Began Construction Civic 
Center Station Scissor Stairs


• Submitted Hayward 
Maintenance Complex Phase 2 
(Mainline) Trackwork 
Procurement Bid Documents 
to Procurement


• Complete Design for 
Hayward Maintenance 
Complex Phase 2: 
Civil/Grading


• Brief BART and CCJPA 
Board on professional 
services contract for 
Planning/Environmental/ 
Engagement for New 
Transbay Rail Crossing


• Award and NTP for Hayward 
Maintenance Complex Phase 2: 
Trackwork Procurement 


• Award and NTP for Hayward 
Maintenance Complex Phase 2: 
(Mainline) Trackwork Procurement  


• Advertise Hayward Maintenance 
Complex Phase 2: Civil/Grading 


• Complete Redesign for Embarcadero 
New Platform Elevator


• Advance process for professional 
services contract for Planning/ 
Environmental/ Engagement for New 
Transbay Rail Crossing


• Award Hayward Maintenance 
Complex Phase 2: 
Civil/Grading


• Advertise Embarcadero New 
Platform Elevator 


• Evaluating and recommending 
award for Planning/ 
Environmental/Engagement 
for New Transbay Rail Crossing 


Watchlist:
• Approval to award based on Full Funding Grant Agreement for Hayward Maintenance Complex 2: Mainline Trackwork Procurement


Italic: Modified milestones from 
previous report.







Small Business & Outreach


27







28


Notes: All amounts are based on RR fund percent only. Amounts are updated to March 31, 2020. Includes formal contracts only; does not include 
informal purchases or work performed by BART’s own forces. SB totals include DBEs, MSBEs, SBs, and LSBs. Sources: RR commitments are based on RR 
Requisitions report, Procurement Sealed Bids Report and PeopleSoft Work Plans application. RR% for each project is based on Financial Analysts’ report, 
RR Funds / Total Project Budget. Payments based on PeopleSoft and B2GNow. 


Program Total RR 
Commitment


Total RR SB 
Commitment


SB 
Commitment 


%


# of SB 
Contracts


Total RR 
Payments on 
RR Contracts


RR Payments 
to SBs


SB 
Payment 


%


Renew Track $94,221,765 $27,323,819 29% 100 $40,067,752 $8,106,245 20%


Renew Power $163,717,161 $81,226,995 50% 157 $91,972,960 $53,272,837 58%


Repair Tunnels & 
Structures $102,446,037 $23,835,168 23% 95 $46,599,804 $7,091,656 15%


Renew Mechanical $28,760,168 $10,439,191 36% 50 $9,045,580 $2,561,798 28%


Replace Train 
Control/Increase Capacity $9,229,748 $1,518,784 16% 20 $5,538,270 $567,769 10%


Renew Stations $146,229,079 $26,434,959 18% 85 $16,371,515 $4,272,826 26%


Expand Safe Access to 
Stations $14,490,494 $3,750,301 26% 89 $5,742,034 $1,590,707 28%


Design/Engineer to Relieve 
Crowding $42,904,486 $10,745,297 25% 36 $6,928,396 $2,719,210 39%


Total $601,998,939 $185,274,514 31% 632 $222,266,311 $80,183,047 36%


RR Program Update – Small Business







29


•Recently Completed Events
–(3) BART HQ related networking sessions 


which included potential Prime contractors 
(Oakland/Webinar)


–Small Business Support Services - Accessing 
Financial Resources to Help Small 
Businesses Deal with the COVID-19 State of 
Emergency (Webinar)


–Small Business Support Services - Handling 
Costly Time Delays on Your Project 
(Webinar)


•Upcoming Events
–The Western Regional Minority Supplier 


Development Council  - Back to Business 
Builders Event (Webinar)


RR Program Update – Outreach







RR Program
Hiring


30







Recruitment


Source: BART


31


• Filled 29 positions since the last 
Committee Meeting


• 332 positions filled to date
• 76%  of hiring goal fulfilled to 


date
• Load Shedding


Bond Hiring Summary-  To 
Date # of Positions
FILLED 332
REMAINING POSITIONS 103


435


FILLED
76%


REMAINING 
POSITIONS


24%


RR Bond Hiring Summary


FILLED


REMAINING POSITIONS


Load Shedding Operating to 
Capital due to Service 
Reduction 


Next Quarter staffing load 
shedding estimated 175 for 
temporary reallocation to take 
advantage of increased blanket 
time





RR ALL


			Position Number			Job Title			CC Name			Class Type			Exec Off Name			Name			Vacancy			stage			stage2			New Budget Date			Supervisor			Budget Start Date			Funding Start Date			Recruiter			FY  			Quarter


			19007745			Principal Electrical Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Vacant			Filled			FY19 Q1						10/1/17			10/1/17			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007677			Sr Electrical Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			pre-employment			Filled			FY19 Q1			San,Myat T									Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007758			Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			screening			Pre-Employment			FY19 Q1						7/1/17			7/1/17			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007845			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			pre-employment			Pre-Employment			7/1/18			Lovett,Lori S.			1/1/18			1/1/18			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007847			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			pre-employment			Pre-Employment			7/1/18			Lovett,Lori S.			4/1/18			4/1/18			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007924			Sr Electrical Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			pre-employment			Pre-Employment			FY19 Q1						4/1/18			4/1/18			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007952			Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			screening			Pre-Employment			FY19 Q1						7/1/17			7/1/17			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19008145			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			pre-employment			Filled						Edwards,Michael S			7/1/18			7/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q1


			19008168			Jr. Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			pre-employment			Pre-Employment						Fleming,Gary A			7/1/18			7/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q1


			19008173			Sr Mgr Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Pending Post			Filled						Edwards,Michael S			7/1/18			7/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q1


			19008287			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			pre-employment			Filled						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19008317			Sr Admin Analyst 			Cust Service Administration			Support Functions			EO -Office of External Affairs			No Name			VACANT			pre-employment			Filled						Basting,Karen			8/1/18			8/1/18			Zhee			FY19			Q1


			19008276			Engineer			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19007740			Sr Electrical Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Interview			Recruiting			7/1/18						10/1/17			10/1/17			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007755			Sr Train Control Engineer			Systems Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			posted			Recruiting			N/A			Millena,Raul R.			1/1/18			1/1/18			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007756			Principal Train Control Eng			Systems Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Interview			Recruiting			FY19 Q1			Millena,Raul R.			1/1/18			1/1/18			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007843			Sr. Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			pending			Recruiting			FY19 Q2  			Lovett,Lori S.			4/1/18			4/1/18			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007948			Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			screening			Recruiting			FY19 Q1						7/1/17			7/1/17			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007956			Civil Engineer			Civil/Structural Eng & Constru			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			screening			Filled			FY19 Q1			Fok,Eric S			1/1/18			1/1/18			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19008119			Auto & Equip Mechanic			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT			Posted			Recruiting												7/1/18						FY19


			19008118			Auto & Equip Mechanic			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT			Posted			Recruiting												7/1/18						FY19


			19008117			Auto & Equip Mechanic			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT			Posted			Recruiting												7/1/18						FY19


			19007828			Auto & Equip Mechanic			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT			Posted			Recruiting												7/1/18						FY19


			19008121			Auto & Equip Mechanic			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Recruiting						Leon,Luis G			7/1/18			7/1/18			Antoinette			FY19			Q1


			19008156			Project Mgr			Systems Development			Engineering			EO - Planning, Dev't & Constr			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Filled						Holmes II,Carl			7/1/18			7/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q1


			19008174			Sr Mgr Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Pending Post			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			7/1/18			7/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q1


			19008238			Track Foreworker			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Pending post			Recruiting						Moran,Joseph P			7/1/18			7/1/18			Robert			FY19			Q1


			19008272			Engineer			Civil/Structural Eng & Constru			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Interview			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19008273			Engineer			Civil/Structural Eng & Constru			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Filled						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19008286			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			mgr review			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19008288			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			mgr review			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			1/1/19			1/1/19			Clara			FY19			Q3


			19008299			Project Mgr			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Filled						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19008301			Project Mgr			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			1/1/19			1/1/19			Clara			FY19			Q3


			19008303			Project Mgr			Capital Programs			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			4/1/19			4/1/19			Clara			FY19			Q4


			19008304			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19008306			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Filled						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19008307			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Filled						Edwards,Michael S			1/1/19			1/1/19			Clara			FY19			Q3


			19008308			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Pre-Employment						Edwards,Michael S			1/1/19			1/1/19			Clara			FY19			Q3


			19008309			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			1/1/19			1/1/19			Clara			FY19			Q3


			19008321			Sr Electrical Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Recruiting						Fleming,Gary A			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19008330			Sr Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Posted			Recruiting						Fleming,Gary A			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19008331			Sr Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			posted			Filled						Fleming,Gary A			10/1/18			10/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q2


			19008664			Track Foreworker			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT						Pending Post												1/1/20			Robert Posadas			FY20			Q3


			19008622			Train Control Foreworker			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												10/1/19			Robert Posadas			FY20			Q2


			19008614			Track Foreworker			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Robert Posadas			FY20			Q2


			19008600			Structures Foreworker			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Robert Posadas			FY20			Q2


			19008459			Auto & Equip Foreworker			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												7/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q1


			19008654			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Integration Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												1/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q3


			19008648			Project Manager			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												1/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q3


			19008623			Mgr of Auto & Equip Maint			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q2


			19008596			Project Manager			Integration Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												10/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q2


			19008569			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												10/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q2


			19008546			Project Manager			Station Area Planning			Engineering			Planning & Development						VACANT						Pending Post						Smith,Ellen M						8/1/19			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q1


			19008431			Project Manager			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008429			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008685			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q4


			19008684			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q4


			19008683			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q4


			19008682			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q4


			19008681			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q4


			19008680			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q4


			19008679			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q4


			19008678			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q4


			19008677			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q4


			19008669			Principal Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting						San,Myat T						1/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q3


			19008660			Principal Engineer			Integration Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												1/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q3


			19008652			Principal Engineer			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												1/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q3


			19008637			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Filled												1/1/20			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q3


			19008563			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pre-Employment												10/1/19			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q2


			19008494			Principal Engineer			Integration Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Filled												7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008473			Principal Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting						San,Myat T						7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008450			Principal Personnel Analyst			Compensation			Administration			EO - Office of Administration						VACANT						Filled												7/1/19			Rosalind Bolds			FY20			Q1


			19008420			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pre-Employment												7/1/19			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q1


			19008419			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pre-Employment												7/1/19			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q1


			19008417			Operations Supervisor Liaison			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pre-Employment												7/1/19			Antoinette Conteh			FY20			Q1


			19008724			Structures Welder			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT			Posted			Recruiting												1/1/20			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q4


			19008723			Structures Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												1/1/20			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q4


			19008722			Structures Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Filled												1/1/20			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q4


			19008698			Sr Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting						San,Myat T						4/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q4


			19008697			Junior Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting						San,Myat T						4/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q4


			19008696			Structures Worker			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q4


			19008695			Structures Worker			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q4


			19008694			Structures Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												4/1/20			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q4


			19008693			Structures Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												4/1/20			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q4


			19008688			Junior Engineer			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q4


			19008686			Computer Systems Engineer			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												4/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q4


			19008667			Track Welder			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												1/1/20			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q3


			19008666			Track Welder			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												1/1/20			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q3


			19008665			Track Welder			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												1/1/20			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q3


			19008659			Sr Engineer			Integration Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												1/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q3


			19008650			Engineer			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												1/1/20			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q3


			19008627			Sr Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting						San,Myat T						10/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q2


			19008626			Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Filled						San,Myat T						10/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q2


			19008625			Junior Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Filled						San,Myat T						10/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q2


			19008618			Track Welder			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pre-Employment												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008617			Ass. Superintendent Pwr & Mech.			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008616			Track Welder			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008615			Track Welder			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008613			Track Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008612			Track Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008611			Track Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008610			Track Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008609			Track Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008608			Track Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008607			Track Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Pending Post												10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008592			Sr Engineer			Integration Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												10/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q2


			19008576			Engineer			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												10/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q2


			19008575			Engineer			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												10/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q2


			19008572			Junior Engineer			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Filled												10/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q2


			19008544			Buildings Worker			Facilities/Buildings			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting						Delaney III,Thomas H						10/1/19			Alisa Hong			FY20			Q2


			19008493			Sr Engineer			Integration Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008463			Electrician			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												7/1/19			Robert Posadas			FY20			Q1


			19008462			Electrician			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												7/1/19			Robert Posadas			FY20			Q1


			19008461			Electrician			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT						Filled												7/1/19			Robert Posadas			FY20			Q1


			19008451			Contract Specialist III			Contract Management Admin			Procurement			EO - Office of Administration						VACANT						Recruiting						Kanu,Oji U						7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008449			Sr Admin Analyst NR			Workforce Development			Administration			EO - Office of Administration						VACANT						Filled												7/1/19			Rosalind Bolds			FY20			Q1


			19008434			Engineer			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008433			Engineer			Strategic Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008416			Sr Engineer			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Filled												7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008415			Engineer			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008414			Engineer			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Filled												7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008413			Sr Construction Engineer			Civil/Structural/Constru Eng			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting												7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008397			Engineer			Systems Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Recruiting						Radstrom,Jonas V						7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008396			Junior Engineer			Systems Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations						VACANT						Filled						Radstrom,Jonas V						7/1/19			Clara Tsang			FY20			Q1


			19008335			Sr Quality Administrator			Quality Assurance			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Hold			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Alisa			FY19			Q2


			19008334			Sr Quality Administrator			Quality Assurance			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Hold			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Alisa			FY19			Q2


			19008333			Sr Quality Administrator			Quality Assurance			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Hold			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Alisa			FY19			Q2


			19008332			Sr Quality Administrator			Quality Assurance			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Hold			Recruiting						Edwards,Michael S			10/1/18			10/1/18			Alisa			FY19			Q2


			19007748			Technical Publications Analyst			Documentation			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT																		1/1/20			Tara Hill			FY20			Q2


			19007763			Technical Publications Admin			Documentation			Maintenance			EO - Operations						VACANT																		1/1/19			Tara Hill			FY20			Q2










































































































































































































































































Filled Positions to Date


			Count of Position Number			Column Labels


			Row Labels			FILLED			Grand Total


			Electrical Helper			28			28


			Engineer			25			25


			Project Mgr			25			25


			Operations Supv Liaison			21			21


			Structures Equipment Operator			18			18


			Structures Worker			17			17


			Electrician			15			15


			Train Control Electronic Tech			11			11


			Auto & Equip Mechanic			10			10


			Principal Engineer			8			8


			Train Operator - PT			6			6


			Track Equipment Operator			6			6


			Grand Total			190			190





FILLED/SELECTED BOND MEASURE TO DATE








FILLED	Electrical Helper	Engineer	Project Mgr	Operations Supv Liaison	Structures Equipment Operator	Structures Worker	Electrician	Train Control Electronic Tech	Auto 	&	 Equip Mechanic	Principal Engineer	Train Operator - PT	Track Equipment Operator	28	25	25	21	18	17	15	11	10	8	6	6	














Current_Pivots


			Count of Position Number			Column Labels																		Bond Progress			# of Positions															FY19						FY20


			Row Labels			FY18			FY19			FY20			Grand Total									FILLED/Pre-emp			344												FILLED			271			FILLED			61


			FILLED			171			100			61			332									Recruiting			69												Pre-Employment			7			Pre-Employment			5


			Pending Post									22			22									Pending / Hold			22												Recruiting			26			Recruiting			43


			Pre-Employment			5			2			5			12												435												Pending post			0			Pending post			22


			Recruiting			5			21			43			69																								Grand Total			304						131


			Grand Total			181			123			131			435


																																													Total			435


			Bond Hiring Summary-  To Date			# of Positions


			FILLED			332


			REMAINING POSITIONS			103


						435








FY 19





Filled, 83%





Pre-Employment, 6%





[CATEGORY NAME], 10%





Pending Post, 1%





FILLED	Pre-Employment	Recruiting	Pending post	271	7	26	0	


FY 20





Filled, 2%





[CATEGORY NAME], 5%





[CATEGORY NAME], 55%





Pending Post, 38%





FILLED	Pre-Employment	Recruiting	Pending post	61	5	43	22	


total bond progress





# of Positions	











FILLED/Pre-emp	Recruiting	Pending / Hold	344	69	22	


bond progress











FILLED/Pre-emp	Recruiting	344	69	





FY20	





[CATEGORY NAME]
[PERCENTAGE]








FILLED	Pre-Employment	Recruiting	Pending post	61	5	43	22	


RR Bond Hiring Summary








FILLED	REMAINING POSITIONS	332	103	








Pending Post


			Position Number			Job Title			CC Name			Class Type			Exec Off Name			Name			Vacancy			stage			stage2			New Budget Date			Supervisor			Budget Start Date			Funding Start Date			Recruiter			FY  			Quarter


			19007749			CAD Drafter			Documentation			Support Functions			EO - Operations			Macias,Juan A			FILLED			Recruiting			Pending Post			N/A			Marshall,Kirk R			7/1/17			7/1/17			Alisa			FY18			FY18


			19008285			Mgr of Train Control Engineer			Systems Engineering			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Pending Post			Pending Post						Radstrom,Jonas V			8/1/18			8/1/18			Clara			FY19			Q1


			19007751			Sr CAD Drafter			Documentation			Support Functions			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Recruiting			Pending post			n/a			Restall,Stuart C			4/1/18			4/1/18			Alisa			FY18			FY18


			19008329			Sr Engineer			Civil/Structural Eng & Constru			Engineering			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Not Yet Available			Pending post						Fleming,Gary A			1/1/19			1/1/19			Clara			FY19			Q3


			19007961			Sr Financial Analyst - AFSCME			Financial Analysis & Admin			Support Functions			EO - Operations			Portillo,Sharon W			FILLED			FILLED			Pending post			N/A			Pettis,Fannie			7/1/17			7/1/17			Alisa			FY18			FY18


			19007960			Sr Financial Analyst - AFSCME			Financial Analysis & Admin			Support Functions			EO - Operations			Chan,Cindy P			FILLED			FILLED			Pending post			N/A			Pettis,Fannie			7/1/17			7/1/17			Alisa			FY18			FY18


			19007765			Tech Publications Admin			Documentation			Support Functions			EO - Operations			No Name			FILLED			Recruiting			Pending post			N/A			Marshall,Kirk R			1/1/18			1/1/18			Clara			FY18			FY18


			19007748			Technical Publications Analyst			Documentation			Support Functions			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Recruiting			Pending post			FY19 Q1			Marshall,Kirk R			7/1/17			7/1/17			Robert			FY18			FY18


			19008180			Train Control Foreworker			ROW Capital Maintenance			Maintenance			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Pending post			Pending post						Moran,Joseph P			7/1/18			7/1/18			Robert			FY19			Q1


			19007767			Sr CAD Drafter			Documentation			Support Functions			EO - Operations			No Name			VACANT			Recruiting			Pending post			n/a			Restall,Stuart C			4/1/18			4/1/18			Alisa			FY18			FY18








Projections


			Position Number			Job Title			CC Name			FY  			Current Status			Project Fill Date			Recruiter


			19007773			Asset Coordinator			PM Planning & Scheduling			FY18


			19007774			Asset Coordinator			PM Planning & Scheduling			FY18


			19007852			Engineer			Capital Programs			FY18


			19007758			Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007945			Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007946			Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007948			Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007952			Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007953			Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007757			Engineer			Systems Engineering			FY18


			19007877			Group Mgr, Capital Projects			General Manager			FY18


			19007845			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			FY18


			19007847			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			FY18


			19007745			Principal Electrical Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007756			Principal Train Control Eng			Systems Engineering			FY18


			19007843			Sr. Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			FY18


			19007884			Special Projects Manager			Business Systems Applications			FY18


			19007924			Sr Electrical Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007723			Sr Electrical Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007740			Sr Electrical Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007677			Sr Electrical Engineer			Elec & Mechanical Engineering			FY18


			19007755			Sr Train Control Engineer			Systems Engineering			FY18


			19007748			Technical Publications Analyst			Documentation			FY18


			19007865			Principal Financial Analyst			Program Management			FY18


			19008114			Auto & Equip Foreworker			Non-Revenue Vehicle & Equip			FY19


			19008113			Auto & Equip Foreworker			Non-Revenue Vehicle & Equip			FY19


			19008119			Auto & Equip Mechanic			Non-Revenue Vehicle & Equip			FY19


			19008115			Auto & Equip Mechanic			Non-Revenue Vehicle & Equip			FY19


			19008122			Auto & Equip Mechanic			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008121			Auto & Equip Mechanic			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008259			Electrical Helper			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008257			Electrical Helper			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008256			Electrical Helper			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008254			Electrical Helper			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008253			Electrical Helper			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008252			Electrical Helper			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008250			Electrical Helper			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008267			Electrician			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008266			Electrician			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008264			Electrician			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008269			Employee Dev Specialist - SEIU			M & E Technical Training			FY19


			19008276			Engineer			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008275			Engineer			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008274			Engineer			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008277			Engineer			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008273			Engineer			Civil/Structural Eng & Constru			FY19


			19008272			Engineer			Civil/Structural Eng & Constru			FY19


			19008145			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008287			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008286			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008288			Mgr of Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008285			Mgr of Train Control Engineer			Systems Engineering			FY19


			19008294			Principal Engineer			Systems Engineering			FY19


			19008174			Sr Mgr Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008173			Sr Mgr Engineering Programs			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008299			Project Mgr			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008302			Project Mgr			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008301			Project Mgr			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008300			Project Mgr			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008303			Project Mgr			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008162			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			FY19


			19008161			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			FY19


			19008306			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			FY19


			19008304			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			FY19


			19008309			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			FY19


			19008308			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			FY19


			19008307			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			FY19


			19008310			Project Mgr			Engineering Liaison			FY19


			19008156			Project Mgr			Systems Development			FY19


			19008317			Sr Admin Analyst 			Cust Service Administration			FY19


			19008319			Sr Computer Systems Engineer			Capital Programs			FY19


			19008168			Jr. Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			FY19


			19008321			Sr Electrical Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			FY19


			19008329			Sr Engineer			Civil/Structural Eng & Constru			FY19


			19008331			Sr Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			FY19


			19008330			Sr Engineer			Power & Mechanical Engineering			FY19


			19008234			Track Equipment Operator			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008238			Track Foreworker			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008176			Track Worker			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008175			Track Worker			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008179			Train Control Electronic Tech			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008178			Train Control Electronic Tech			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008338			Train Control Electronic Tech			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008337			Train Control Electronic Tech			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19


			19008180			Train Control Foreworker			ROW Capital Maintenance			FY19












Looking Ahead to FY2021


• Complete work on more than $50M of construction including:
• C25 Interlocking Replacement near Orinda Station
• San Leandro Substation Replacement
• Replace Walnut Creek Bulk Supply Transformer


• Begin work on more than $300M of construction including:
• Substation Replacements
• A65/A75 Interlocking Replacements near Hayward Yard
• Richmond Line 34.5 kV Cable Replacement


• Planning of third tranche- fine tune scopes, schedules and 
budgets


Executing up to 8 new On-call CM Services Agreements for up to 
$40M/each


Working on Reentry Plan – as workforce returns to office


32





		BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program (Measure RR) Update

		Agenda

		Executive Summary

		Work Progress��

		RR Projects by District

		Examples of Active RR Projects in �January 2020 – March 2020

		BART Preparedness

		Challenges

		Renew Power Progress�M-Line 34.5kV Cable Replacement

		Renew Power Progress�M-Line 34.5kV Cable Replacement

		Renew Track Progress �C25 Interlocking Replacement

		Renew Mechanical Progress�Coverboard Enhancement

		19th St. Station Modernization

		Budget and Schedule Status��

		Measure RR Cashflow ($ Millions) – Mid-Term & Long-Term Outlook

		RR Overall Program Budget Progress

		Earned Value Rollup by Program -

		Individual Program Milestones��

		Renew Track�STATUS & MILESTONES

		Renew Power �STATUS & MILESTONES

		Tunnels & Structures�STATUS & MILESTONES

		Renew Mechanical �STATUS & MILESTONES

		Replace Train Control�STATUS & MILESTONES

		Renew Stations�STATUS & MILESTONES

		Station Access�STATUS & MILESTONES

		Relieve Crowding�STATUS & MILESTONES

		�Small Business & Outreach��

		RR Program Update – Small Business�

		RR Program Update – Outreach�

		RR Program�Hiring�

		Recruitment

		Looking Ahead to FY2021






Measure rr Bond 
oversight CoMMittee 
AnnuAl RepoRt    
June 2020







taBle of Contents


letter from the Chairperson    1
executive summary                            2
about us: Your Bond oversight 
    Committee     4
the story of Measure rr   6
rebuilding the Backbone of Bart     7
Measure rr spending Breakdown  8
rr-only Part of the solution             9
funding rr with green Bonds        10
rr Program expenditures 
     overview                                        1 1
Putting People to Work            12
small Business outreach            13
the life span of Measure rr           14
Bart responds to the Coronavirus   15
Measure rr launches 
    Major Projects                               16
Major Projects funded by 
    Measure rr              18
renew track               18
renew Power infrastructure             20
repair tunnels and structures          22
renew Mechanical infrastructure      24 
renew stations              26
train Control Modernization             28
relieve Crowding                              30
access improvements                       32
Committee activities 
    and expenditures                          34







Dear Bay Area residents:


Thank you for your interest in Measure RR 
and what BART is doing to rebuild its critical 
infrastructure. Measure RR was approved 
by voters in Alameda, Contra Costa, and 
San Francisco counties in 2016. It authorizes 
BART to issue $3.5 billion in bonds to support 
infrastructure rebuilding projects across the 
system. The goal of Measure RR is to help bring 
BART into a state of good repair so it can be a 
reliable transportation service for the Bay Area.


Right now, there are more rebuilding projects happening across BART 
than at any point in the system’s history. This annual report is meant to 
update you on the progress of that work and to show how Measure RR 
funds are being spent. It’s the responsibility of the independent Bond 
Oversight Committee to verify that BART is spending bond revenues as 
promised. The committee includes members with extensive experience in 
engineering, finance, and project management.


As the chair of the oversight committee, I encourage you to read this 
report as well as to join us at one of our public meetings. We very much 
want to hear from riders and taxpayers. Our meetings are open to the 
public and are listed on our website at www.bart.gov/about/bod/
advisory/bond. We will publish annual reports throughout the lifetime of 
Measure RR.


Sincerely,


 
Michael R. McGill
RR Bond Oversight Committee Chairperson


Professional engineer, Institute of electrical and electronic engineers (Ieee) seat


other CoMMittee MeMBers
full biographies and photographs at www.bart.gov


Marian BreitBart, Budgeting & Financial Management Seat


MiChael daY, Accounting Seat


daren gee, Civil engineering Seat


Catherine neWMan, League of Women Voters Seat


leah e. edWards, League of Women Voters Seat


Measure rr Bond CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       1


If you need language assistance services, please call (510) 464-6752. 


Si necesita servicios de asistencia de idiomas, llame al (510) 464-6752.


如需語言協助服務，請致電 (510) 464-6752。
통역이 필요하신 분은, 510-464-6752 로 문의하십시오.
Kung kailangan mo ang tulong ng mga serbisyo ng wika, paki tawagan ang (510) 464-6752.


Nếu quý vị cần dịch vụ trợ giúp về ngôn ngữ, xin vui lòng gọi số (510) 464-6752.







It’s the responsibility of this Bond Oversight Committee to regularly evaluate projects funded 
by Measure RR and report those findings to the public. The committee has a mandate to report 
whether projects are cost-effective, meet quality standards and are being completed in a timely 
manner. The purpose of this annual report is to give BART riders, BART District residents, and 
taxpayers a clear and comprehensive overview of the status of Measure RR. This document offers a 
progress report on RR that includes a look at what was accomplished in the first three full years of 
the program, what comes next, and whether the progress made so far measures up to expectations.  


As Measure RR enters its fourth year of existence, there are now more rebuilding projects 
happening in the BART system than at any point in the District’s history. There is a total of 135 
projects currently underway across BART’s 48 stations and 122 route miles of track.   


Despite the large number of projects underway across BART, the overall Measure RR program is 
only about 10% complete. The committee believes the current rate of progress is consistent with the 
goals outlined by BART when Measure RR was presented to voters in Alameda, Contra Costa, and 
San Francisco counties in 2016.  


Through March 2020, $504 million in Measure RR funds have been invested in rebuilding projects. 
The value of the work completed has outpaced projections for this stage of the overall program. IRS 
rules require that at the time of issuance the BART District needs to have a reasonable expectation 
that 85% of the bond proceeds, including interest earnings on the proceeds, will be spent within 
three years. That means there’s a reasonable expectation that BART would spend $300 million in 
RR funds by June 2020. BART met that goal in August 2019. 


executive SummARy


2







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       3


Rebuilding efforts funded by Measure RR are having an impact on the overall rider experience.  


Some examples include:


	 •		Interlocking	replacement	and	track	replacement	projects	have	improved	ride	quality	and	
increased equipment reliability.  


	 •		Upgrades	to	station	platform	edges	have	improved	patron	safety	and	meet	new	ADA	
requirements.  


	 •		34.5kV	(kilovolt	power	transmission	lines)	cable	replacements	have	increased	power	
system reliability by bolstering system redundancy. 


	 •		An	extended	pocket	track	near	Lafayette	improves	BART’s	ability	to	provide	additional	
trains to its highest demand line.  


These and many other projects are improving the patron experience.


As BART moves forward with Measure RR, major infrastructure projects are currently under 
construction which will further improve system reliability, performance, and efficiency. These 
improvements include continued upgrades to the traction power 34.5kV transmission cables, 
traction power substation replacements, rail interlocking replacements, station upgrades, 
earthquake safety improvements, and much more. The Bond Oversight Committee believes BART 
is implementing the right projects to satisfy the bond mandate and is on track to deliver on its 
commitments to the public and its patrons.







4


ABout tHe BonD oveRSiGHt committee


Measure RR required BART to establish a Bond Oversight Committee (BOC) to verify that bond 
revenues are being spent as promised. The independent committee is comprised of seven members 
who represent a diversity of expertise, geography, and demographic characteristics.  Members 
serve two-year terms and are eligible to serve up to six years total. They are appointed by the BART 
Board of Directors. All members of the BOC were reappointed to the panel by the BART Board in 
April of 2019. The terms of the committee members expire June 30, 2021.
Members of the committee represent diff erent areas of expertise.


	 •		The	American	Society	of	Civil	Engineers,	or	its	successor	organization,	is	represented	by	
one member who has expertise in civil engineering management and oversight.


	 •		The	Institute	of	Electrical	and	Electronic	Engineers,	or	its	successor	organization,	is	
represented by one member who has expertise in electrical engineering management and 
oversight.


	 •		The	American	Institute	of	Certifi	ed	Public	Accountants,	or	its	successor	organization,	is	
represented by one member who has expertise in audit or fi nancial oversight.


	 •		The	Association	for	Budgeting	&	Financial	Management	section	of	the	American	Society	
for Public Administration, or its successor organization, is represented by one member who 
has expertise in municipal fi nance.


	 •		The	Project	Management	Institute,	or	its	successor	organization,	is	represented	by	one	
member who has expertise in construction project management.


	 •		The	League	of	Women	Voters,	Bay	Area,	or	its	successor	organization	or	chapter	is	
represented by two members.


The Bond Oversight Committee is responsible for providing diligent, independent, and public 
oversight of the expenditure of funds from bond sales. The BOC assesses how bond proceeds are 
spent to ensure all spending is authorized by the ballot measure. The committee assesses whether 
projects funded by bond proceeds are 
completed in a timely, cost-eff ective, 
and high-quality manner consistent 
with the best interests of BART riders 
and District residents. The BOC also 
publishes this annual report.


You can fi nd the full text of the 
duties and responsibilities of the 
BOC in Section 11 of the resolution 
that established the committee. It’s 
available at www.bart.gov/about/
bod/advisory/bond.


Back row, l-r: daren gee, former committee member John 
Post, Michael day, and Committee Chair Michael r. Mcgill; 
front row, l-r: Marian Brietbart, Catherine newman, and 
leah edwards.







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       5


lafayette construction Site visit
In addition to receiving regular updates from BART staff , members of the committee visited one 
of the largest Measure RR rebuilding projects of 2019. Several committee members toured the 
work site near the Lafayette Station where crews worked around the clock over several weekends 
to replace critical track components. Committee members were impressed by the teamwork on 
display as well as BART’s commitment to safety.


“I learned about the precision required in the build to ensure that the system is safe and functional 
under stress,” said Committee Member Leah edwards. “There is a lot of weight moving along the 
tracks at high speed, so the new rail must be tested for imperfections that could cause breaks or 
other problems in the future. Prior to the tour I hadn’t been aware of all the processes that are in 
place to ensure the system is safe.”


“Physically visiting the track allowed me to appreciate the many layers of necessary infrastructure 
and expertise required for BART to function,” said Committee Member Catherine newman. “It’s 
not just the train you’re riding in every day. It’s the wheels underneath, it’s the rails and ties, it’s the 
power, it’s the safety tunnels below, it’s the lighting for the safety tunnels and so on. All of which 
have to be expertly designed, installed, monitored and maintained for trains to run.”


The committee plans to make similar visits to construction sites throughout the lifetime of Measure RR.


ABout tHe BonD oveRSiGHt committee


l-R construction engineering Group 
manager laurence Farrell, committee 
member Daren Gee, Superintendent 
of power and mechanical maintenance 
David Scherer, committee member 
catherine newman, and Senior 
construction engineer Sam Sowko







In 2016 BART reached a critical juncture. The transit agency faced a growing backlog of rebuilding 
needs that had to be addressed quickly. If action wasn’t taken the risk of a major system failure 
would continue to grow. The challenge was compounded by the fact that BART didn’t have enough 
funding to do the needed rebuilding work. BART estimated that if nothing was done, in just 10 
years nearly half of the system’s assets including long stretches of track and power cables would be 
at the end of their design lives.


There was a need to educate the public about BART’s declining infrastructure. BART held more 
than 300 community meetings to explain the system’s needs as well as to hear from riders and 
taxpayers. After gathering that public input, the BART Board of Directors voted unanimously to put 
a $3.5 billion general obligation bond on the november 2016 ballot. The Board decided it should be 
up to District voters to decide whether to reinvest in BART.  


Those voters responded in november 2016. More than 70% of voters in the BART District (Alameda, 
Contra Costa, and San Francisco counties) cast ballots in favor of Measure RR.  The bond measure 
easily met the two-thirds support requirement for approval.


Measure RR funding has been devoted to the system’s most critical rebuilding needs fi rst.  That 
includes replacing track and traction power components that in many cases predate the start of 
BART service in 1972.


You can learn more about Measure RR including what’s in the bond and how it relates to safety and 
system reliability by going to bart.gov/betterbart


tHe StoRy oF meASuRe RR: 


6


“







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       7


ReBuilDinG tHe BAcKBone oF BARt


Rebuilding work funded by Measure RR touches on all aspects of the infrastructure BART relies on to 
safely transport more than 400,000 riders daily during the work week. The initial focus of these eff orts 
in the fi rst few years of the Measure RR program has been on the areas of greatest need. These include 
replacing track, electrical cabling, and other critical components that were fi rst installed 50 years ago 
and have long since outlived their design lives. RR is also supporting the renewal of aging stations, 
boosting capacity, expanding safe access to the system, and relieving crowding.


Measure RR-funded work is becoming more visible as the program reaches a state of greater maturity.  
Here are just some of the examples of rebuilding work that has happened through support from RR:


	 •		32	miles	of	worn	rail	replaced	to	enhance	overall	system	safety	and	reliability.


	 •		Reprofi	led	149	miles	of	track	to	improve	the	interaction	between	train	cars	and	the	rail	to	
provide riders with a smoother and quieter ride.


	 •		23	track	switches	replaced	at	critical	junctures	in	the	system.	Switches	are	oversized	track	
components that can measure up to 200 feet in length and are instrumental in allowing trains 
to move from line to line.


	 •		Replaced	6	miles	of	34.5kV	(kilovolt)	cable	in	Oakland	and	San	Francisco	to	ensure	trains	have	
a reliable source of power.


	 •		Critical	work	to	boost	the	safety	of	the	Transbay	Tube	by	replacing	118	cross	passage	doors	and	
2 lower gallery doors.


	 •		20	miles	of	coverboard	enhancement	on	the	Dublin/Pleasanton	Line	to	better	protect	the	third	
rail, which supplies power to trains.


Vital contracts to continue rebuilding have also been awarded since this committee’s last annual report.  
Measure RR provides at least partial funding for these transformative projects:


	 •		$798	million	contract	to	design	and	build	a	modern	Communications	Based	Train	Control	
System, which will allow BART to run more trains closer together.


	 •		19th	Street	and	Powell	Street	station	modernization	projects.


	 •		Embarcadero	and	Civic	Center	Bike	Station	modifi	cations.


This is a busy period for revitalizing BART’s core infrastructure but there’s much more work ahead. The 
upcoming pages provide a deeper look into what’s been accomplished so far and what comes next.


 


BARt is the backbone of the Bay Area’s transportation network.  
measure RR is allowing us to deliver on major rebuilding projects 


that are improving the rider experience. Reaching a state of 
good repair is a critical step toward transforming BARt 


into a world class transit system. 
BART General Manager Robert Powers


“


“







8


meASuRe RR SpenDinG BReAKDoWn


Benefi ts


$ millions
% of 
total 
Bond Safety Reliability


crowding 
+traffi  c Relief


RepAiR AnD ReplAce 
cRiticAl SAFety 
inFRAStRuctuRe


$3,165 90% ✓ ✓ ✓


   renew track  $625 18% ✓ ✓
   renew Power infrastructure $1,225 35% ✓ ✓
   repair tunnels and structures $570 16% ✓ ✓
   renew Mechanical infrastructure $135 4% ✓ ✓
   renew stations $210 6% ✓ ✓ ✓
    train Control Modernization $400 12% ✓ ✓ ✓
Relieve cRoWDinG, 
ReDuce tRAFFic 
conGeStion AnD expAnD 
oppoRtunitieS to SAFely 
AcceSS StAtionS


$335 10% ✓ ✓ ✓


   relieve Crowding $200 6% ✓ ✓
     access improvements $135 4% ✓ ✓ ✓


totAl $3,500 100%


total measure 
investment







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       9


RR – only pARt oF tHe Solution


Measure RR is a key part of BART’s overall plan to rebuild its aging system, but it fi lls only part 
of the need. Measure RR will contribute $3.5 billion in funding to help rebuild BART’s aging system 
(In BART’s adopted Capital Improvement Program, $3.3 billion is expected to be spent through fi scal 
year 2033; the remaining $200 million will be expended after fi scal year 2033.) BART’s adopted capital 
improvement program shows the District’s total capital need through Fiscal Year 2033 is $22.4 billion.  


As shown in the chart below, funding sources identifi ed to rebuild and enhance the system include 
Measure RR and other BART funding as well as federal, state, regional, and local sources. These 
combined sources total $12.4 billion, which is $10 billion short of the District’s total 15-year need of 
$22.4 billion. The 15-year capital need is updated biennially and will be updated next in Summer 2020. 


BART continues to pursue additional grant funding opportunities and work with regional and state 
partners to expand transportation funding.  


Despite progress on near-term projects, long-term funding challenges persist. Capital programs are 
scaling up at a time when the Bay Area has a strong economy, which can increase the costs of projects.  
High material costs are another issue the District is aware of and monitoring closely.


BARt Fy19–33 capital investment needs and Funding Sources (Billions)


total capital need: $22.4
total funding identifi ed: $12.4
15-year capital funding gap: $10


note: all numbers are 
noted in billions.


state
$0.7 — 3%


funding gap
$10.0 — 45%


Measure rr
$3.3 — 15%


federal
$2.4 — 11%


regional
$2.3 — 10%


Bart (other)
$2.0 — 9%


local
$1.6 — 7%







1010


FunDinG RR WitH GReen BonDS


All the bonds issued to support Measure RR are labeled as climate certifi ed. In anticipation of 
issuing the fi rst tranche of bonds for Measure RR back in June 2017, BART sought and received 
certifi cation through the Climate Bonds Initiative’s Low Carbon Transport Standard. That made 
BART the fi rst transit agency on the West Coast to earn such a certifi cation. The Climate Bonds 
Initiative promotes investments in projects that bring the world closer to a low carbon and climate 
resilient economy consistent with the 2015 Paris Agreement. As the market for these “green” bonds 
grows costs for climate-friendly projects everywhere may decrease.


The second and latest tranche of Measure RR bonds was off ered to the public in August 2019. The 
second tranche off ering was for $360 million. Coupled with the $300 million in green bonds off ered 
in the fi rst tranche, the total amount of bonds issued for RR is $660 million. Based on current 
project schedules, there is a possibility that a third tranche of RR bonds could be issued as soon as 
the end of this year.


“Climate-friendly green bonds have proven to be especially popular with investors in the Bay Area,” 
said BART’s Controller-Treasurer Rose Poblete. “Local investors have now twice turned out in great 
numbers to buy green bonds, which has allowed us to expand our investor base.” The starting 
threshold for investing in Measure RR bonds is $5,000.


During both bond sales, BART off ered certain maturities with a preference for retail investors 
who live in the three counties that comprise the BART District. The Measure RR bonds, including 
both the 2019 Series B-1 and 2019 Series B-2, received 168 retail orders, totaling $181.935 million. In 
aggregate, the Measure RR bonds received $939.555 million of orders, indicating that retail orders 
made up 19.4% of all orders placed for Measure RR. 


Green bonds are part of BART’s overall commitment to improving the environment. All conventional 
BART trains are 100% electric. On average, BART is 10 times more effi  cient than a typical car driven 
alone (on a passenger-miles per gallon basis of comparison). During the peak commute period 
BART is 20 times more effi  cient. BART also has set a goal that 100% of its energy will be generated 
from zero carbon sources by 2035.


exceeding Bond objectives
Measure RR gave BART the authority to issue up to $3.5 billion in general obligation bonds to pay 
for rebuilding projects. Through the purchase of bonds investors loan money to BART so it can 
rebuild, and BART then repays those investors with interest on the amount borrowed. The funds 
to pay back the bonds are raised through property taxes assessed in Alameda, Contra Costa, and 
San Francisco counties. Those are the three counties that comprise the BART District and voted to 
approve Measure RR. 


When Measure RR began BART estimated the average yearly tax rate over the life of the bond 
program would be $8.98 per $100,000 of assessed property value. BART further projected that 
the yearly tax rate would range from $0.80 to $17.49 per $100,000 of assessed value.  In the latest 
assessment for Fiscal Year 2019-20 the tax amount was $4.60. This is well below the average yearly 
tax rate and at the lower end of the range projected by BART. However, this tax rate will fl uctuate 
from year to year and is likely to increase deeper into the life of the bond measure as additional 
bonds are issued.







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       11


BART anticipates that each bond tranche will be paid off  within 30 years of being issued. BART has 
worked with its fi nancial advisor to develop a fi nancing plan to ensure funds are available as needed 
for projects while taking into consideration the tax rate paid by taxpayers. From start to fi nish, 
BART estimates property owners could pay off  the bonds associated with Measure RR in 48 years.


BART’s bond spending is in compliance with IRS rules. Those regulations say that at the time of 
issuance the BART District needs to have a reasonable expectation that 85% of the bond proceeds, 
including interest earnings on the proceeds, will be spent within three years. BART has progressed 
on Measure RR projects at a pace that exceeds this requirement. This refl ects the District’s success 
in delivering Measure RR-funded work in a timely manner.


RR pRoGRAm expenDituReS oveRvieW


in
($ millions)


expended
through
march 
2020


% expended 
out of 


total Bond
investment


Forcast expenditures


SHoRt-teRm
(through 


June 2021)


miD-teRm
(through 


2025)


lonG-teRm
(through 


end of Bond


renew track $168.0 19% $183 $400 $625


renew Power 
infrastructure


$199.3 11% $248 $608 $1,225


repair tunnels 
and structures


$44.5 5% $57 $268 $570


renew 
Mechanical 
infrastructure


$19.3 8% $41 $65 $135


renew stations $18.6 3% $29 $148 $210
train Control 
Modernization


$21.9 3% $32 $286 $400


relieve 
Crowding


$17.2 5% $33 $69 $200


access 
improvements


$15.4 9% $37 $86 $135


totAl $504.2 10% $660 $1,930 $3,500







12


puttinG people to WoRK


RR-funded projects are allowing BART to move forward 
with critical rebuilding work and there’s also a secondary 
benefi t. These projects are boosting the Bay Area’s 
economy by creating hundreds of high-quality construction 
and support jobs. Over the last year RR has created 129 
fulltime jobs, 358 consulting positions, and 114 contractor 
openings. These employees and contractors are working 
across the BART District. The hiring data refl ect the 
surge in the number of RR projects that are moving into 
construction.


Being a part of the growing team that’s rebuilding BART 
is a source of pride for many. “As a child in the Bay Area 
you ride, and you take certain things for granted. Then you 
get out here and you really see what it takes to keep this 
system running,” said Senior Construction engineer Sam 
Sowko. He played a leading role in organizing the Lafayette 
track rebuilding project. Sowko says major track rebuilds 
are not possible without teamwork. “The coordination, the 
cooperation from everybody to riders, to the public, the 
community, and even the folks at Caltrans. It’s bigger than 
anything I ever thought it was,” said Sowko.


Members of the rebuilding eff ort say their work will benefi t millions of riders for decades. “BART 
hasn’t done these upgrades in the last 40, 50 years and we fi nally get to improve the lives of the 
Bay Area and commuters,” said Principal electrical engineer Gordon Wong.


Wong says it’s vital to rebuild BART and the projects supported by RR are helping to ensure BART 
has the steady stream of new talent it needs to continue to make progress. “It feels really good to 
be part of the team. I know that I’m helping to rebuild the Bay Area. It’s encouraging to see a lot of 
new engineers come out too,” said Wong. 


As a child in the Bay Area you ride, and 
you take certain things for granted. then 


you get out here and you really see what it 
takes to keep this system running. 


Sam Sowko
Senior Construction engineer


“ “


Senior construction engineer Sam Sowko







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       13


SmAll BuSineSS outReAcH


Small businesses are playing a vital role in rebuilding BART. Private contractors are providing valuable 
expertise for numerous projects including work on renewing track, replacing components of the power 
infrastructure, renovating stations, and repairing tunnels. Small businesses have been awarded 31% of 
Measure RR contracts.


Red Dipper electric is one of those small companies to be awarded an RR contract. With enough 
employees to count on one hand, Red Dipper electric is truly a small business – but it’s one with a big 
mission. 


“We	fi	ght	injurious	carbon	emissions,”	says	President/CEO	Douglas	M.	Parrish,	whose	San	Francisco-
based company is working with BART to provide bright, environmentally friendly light-emitting diode 
(LED)	lighting	as	part	of	the	19th	Street/Oakland	Station	modernization	project. 


The switch from old, dim fl uorescent lights to modern LeD lights will save money on energy costs, 
reduce disposal of hazardous waste, and provide brighter, more reliable lighting to improve safety and 
security for riders.


“BART has a lot of resources to help small businesses who want to compete for work on major 
contracts, such as many of those funded by Measure RR,” Parrish said. “You still have to be persistent, 
and stick with it, but they can help cut through the red tape.” 


BART’s Offi  ce of Civil Rights administers a non-Discrimination Program for Subcontracting to ensure 
prime contractors don’t discriminate when subcontracting out work. Additionally, BART has a Small 
Business Program for non-federally funded contracts that provides bid preferences for qualifi ed small 
businesses. The Small Business Program also includes Small Businesses that are Local Small Businesses, 
Disabled Veteran Business enterprises, and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Business 
enterprises.


The Offi  ce of Civil Rights is 
continuing to take the lead on eff orts 
to encourage small businesses to 
bid on projects funded by Measure 
RR. BART held 32 small business 
outreach events in 2019 and more 
are scheduled for 2020. The District’s 
Small Business Supportive Services 
and outreach have been the critical 
reason why 631 RR contracts have 
been awarded to small businesses. 
Those contracts have a value of 
$185,274,514.


l-R: Red Dipper electric General Foreman Abraham 
ley, ceo Douglas m. parrish, and project manager 
Hunter W. Schneider
 







14


tHe liFe SpAn oF meASuRe RR


2020 2024 2028


measure
RR


Approved


engineering, 
Design, and 
construction 


Begin


Access improvements (2017-2030)
Projects that make it easier to walk, bike, 


and carpool to BART stations.


Renew Stations (2017-2037)
Modernizing station entries, escalators, and overall 


layouts to improve safety and fl ow of riders.


Relieve crowding (2017-2037)
Lay groundwork for New Transbay Rail Crossing. 
Create redundancy with new car storage yard.


Repair tunnels and Structures (2017-2037)
Enhance system safety by replacing and reinforcing 


critical infrastructure.


Renew power infrastructure (2017-2030)
Replacing 34.5 kV cables and power substations to 


ensure trains have reliable source of electricity.


Renew track (2017-2028)
Goal to replace 90 miles of track systemwide to 
improve reliability. Reprofi ling track to reduce 


wear and noise.


Renew mechanical infrastructure (2017-2037)
Improve reliability by replacing third rail, coverboards, 


and other key track components.


train control modernization (2017-2030)
Implement Communications Based Train Control to 


safely run more trains closer together.


measure RR work is organized in to these eight major project areas.


2026 2030 2032 2034 2036 20382018 202220172016 202820242020


2026 2030 2032 2034 2036 2038


Bond 
Work 
ends


2018 202220172016







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       15


BARt ReSponDS to tHe coRonAviRuS


The pandemic caused by the coronavirus has had a dramatic impact on public transit agencies across 
the country and BART has been no exception. The health offi  cers in all the Bay Area counties served by 
BART issued their fi rst stay-at-home order on March 16th. BART ridership in April dropped dramatically 
to only 6% of original projections. BART responded to the steep decline in ridership by gradually 
reducing service, which has created an opportunity to accelerate multiple RR projects.  


RR-funded projects advance
When the full impacts of the pandemic on public transit became apparent and BART service was 
reduced, the agency quickly went to the drawing board to identify capital projects that could be 
accelerated during the down time. A priority was placed on projects based on how critical they are 
to the core mission of providing reliable train service. BART staff  also took other factors into account 
including the availability of materials and concerns about the stability of supply chains.


The addition of just a few hours a night of wrench time is having a dramatic impact on infrastructure 
replacement projects. examples include:


	 	•		Before	BART	moved	the	end	of	service	to	9	pm	workers	were	replacing	100	feet	of	running	rail	
a night. With the earlier closing time they’re now getting 500 feet of rail replaced a night.


 
	 •		The	earlier	closing	time	has	allowed	for	downtown	San	Francisco	electrical	cable	replacement	


work to start at 7 pm on some weeknights. For every six weeks BART can single track at 7 pm 
BART can eliminate six months of the Sunday single tracking.  


BART is also using the time to advance work on the station modernization projects at the 19th Street 
and el Cerrito del norte stations, grinding to improve the interaction between train wheels and the rail, 
and the Transbay Tube Cathodic Protection Project to safeguard the vital link against corrosion. On 
weekends BART is expanding the number of sites where rail replacement and other rebuilding work is 
occurring since fewer riders are impacted by service delays.


Worker safety is the priority
Many transit projects were designated as essential public works per 
the region’s public health orders. 


BART has adjusted its job site protocols and all contractors that 
perform rebuilding work are required to develop social distancing 
policies for all their employees. Job briefi ngs that used to take place 
in a huddle are now happening in a way that allows workers to spread 
out. More vehicles are being used to transport workers to job sites. 
55-gallon drums of clean water and soap are deployed at work sites 
and workers have been instructed to wash their hands more often. 
Social distancing is enforced during breaks and mealtimes. Workers 
are spread out on job sites but sometimes the nature of the project 
make it very challenging to achieve social distancing. In those 
instances, all BART workers are required to wear n95 masks. The 
committee will continue to monitor how the coronavirus pandemic 
could impact the timing of the delivery of RR projects.







16


meASuRe RR lAuncHeS mAJoR pRoJectS


The number of active Measure RR projects has increased every year of the rebuilding program’s 
existence. Some of the larger projects involve replacing critical pieces of infrastructure that have 
outlived their design lives. The work is essential for ensuring BART can reach a state of good repair, 
but the committee is also mindful of the impact this work can have on the public. This section looks 
at two of the largest projects in 2019 and the steps that were taken to mitigate service and traffi  c 
impacts.


lafayette track Replacement project
In the summer and fall of 2019 BART 
rebuilt a critical section of trackway 
near the Lafayette Station in Contra 
Costa County. The BART line that runs 
through Contra Costa into San Francisco 
is the busiest in the entire system. The 
construction team worked around the 
clock during four shutdown weekends 
to accomplish its work. The primary 
goal of the project was to replace six 
track switches. These are large track 
components that can measure up to 200 feet in length and are instrumental in allowing BART trains 
to move from line to line. In addition to replacing those switches, workers installed 5,000 feet of new 
running rail, replaced 10,000 feet of train control cable, and 3,200 feet of third rail. The team also 
replaced the platform edge tiles at Lafayette Station.


Because of the narrow space available for the work, construction equipment had to be placed in 
the two far left eastbound lanes of Highway 24 in Lafayette during the weekend shutdowns. BART 
partnered with Caltrans to monitor traffi  c backups caused by these lane closures in real time. 
Whenever delays approached 30 minutes, BART voluntarily reduced the number of lanes closed from 
two to one. The four weekend closures required a bus bridge to replace train service between the 
Walnut Creek and Orinda stations. BART partnered with County Connection and AC Transit so riders 
could use free buses to get between the impacted stations. BART riders who used the bus bridge 
experienced delays of up to 40 minutes. In addition to those weekend track shutdowns, BART also 
reduced service through Lafayette to a single track on six Saturdays. Those Saturdays with single-
track service did not require any station closures but did result in rider delays of up to 20 minutes.


BART engaged in extensive outreach to alert the public about the work and service impacts. Posters 
with closure dates and service maps were installed in stations along the Contra Costa line. Several 
news releases were issued to the local press and BART held a news conference before the fi rst 
shutdown weekend. The BART Communications Department conducted multiple waves of interviews 
with members of the press throughout the project. Messages on various social media networks were 
posted throughout construction and special service advisories were on the homepage of BART.gov 
as well as on the Alerts and Advisories page. Changeable Message Signs (CMS) were utilized across 
the east Bay to advise drivers of delays. BART purchased online and radio advertising to promote 
the work and impacts. BART staff  gave presentations on the project to the Lafayette and Orinda 
city councils. BART’s Government and Community Relations Department conducted outreach to 


Before After







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       17


members of the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors as well as various city managers along 
the impacted line. Additionally, a public notice was mailed to residents who live within a half mile of 
the construction site.


Downtown San Francisco electrical cable Replacement project
In addition to track renovation work, BART is also replacing other critical infrastructure. This includes 
the 34.5kV (kilovolt) traction power cabling, which provides power for all trains. In many cases the 
cabling still in use today was installed before BART fi rst began service in 1972. BART must replace 
this outdated cable to ensure it can provide reliable power for its fl eet and accommodate the future 
addition of more trains to expand the capacity of the system. 


Cable replacement work has been happening across the system but the location of work that’s had 
the greatest impact on service is in downtown San Francisco. On 26 Sundays throughout 2019 BART 
reduced service to a single-track between the embarcadero and 24th Street Mission stations to 
accommodate cable replacement work. utilizing only one track instead of the normal two limits the 
number and frequency of trains. Though no stations have been closed due to this project, it has still 
resulted in signifi cant delays to Sunday service in the BART system’s San Francisco core.


BART has maintained a consistent presence on BART.gov with the latest information on service 
impacts from the cable replacement work. This information can be readily found on the Alerts and 
Advisories page. When the work is happening on an upcoming Sunday, a special alert is highlighted in 
a red box at the top of the BART homepage. Multiple passenger bulletins have been issued with the 
latest dates on the project. BART Communications has engaged the media and allowed a news crew 
to capture video of the work. Posts have been made on Twitter and Facebook to spread awareness 
of service impacts on every Sunday that has included cabling work. BART’s Government and 
Community Relations Department has been sending email updates to community leaders and other 
stakeholders to provide notifi cations for the project and reminders of service dates. Outreach fl yers 
have also been distributed in neighborhoods most impacted by the work.


Though specifi c dates are still being fi nalized, cable replacement work will continue in downtown 
San Francisco on 26 Sundays throughout 2020 and into 2021. The second phase of this work between 
the 24th Street Mission and Balboa Park stations is scheduled to begin in 2022.  


upcoming major projects
The oversight committee will continue to meet its mandate by closely monitoring the impacts of 
rebuilding projects that require service interruptions. The next major track rebuild will happen near 
Orinda Station in Contra Costa County. Crews will replace four switches as well as other major 
track components over fi ve scheduled shutdown weekends starting in mid-May into early July. The 
shutdown will extend between the Lafayette and Rockridge stations. Riders will be off ered free bus 
rides provided by AC Transit. unlike the work done at Lafayette, this project will not require any single 
tracking or daytime lane closures of Highway 24.


There are also expected to be fi ve weekend shutdowns starting in late July for major track 
replacement work near the South Hayward Station in Alameda County. Those shutdowns are 
expected to extend between the Bay Fair and South Hayward stations. A bus bridge provided by 
AC Transit will replace trains on those weekends. exact dates for those shutdowns are still being 
determined.







There’s nothing more essential to ensuring the safe operation of a railway than replacing aging track 
that has outlived its design life. This work has been a priority of Measure RR funded rebuilding eff orts.  
Since the implementation of the RR program, BART has replaced 32 of a planned 90 miles of track 
systemwide. BART has prioritized replacing rail that has shown the greatest amount of wear and is 
in the busiest sections of the system. Much of the remaining outdated track still in the system was 
installed before BART began service in 1972. newly installed track sections are expected to provide 
reliable service for up to 50 years.


BART has also made signifi cant progress in 
replacing larger track components. BART 
has replaced 23 switches, at critical points 
in the system including West Oakland, near 
the Concord Yard, next to the Lafayette 
Station and near the Oakland Shops which 
is a maintenance facility not far from the 
Lake Merritt Station. Switches are to a 
railroad what intersections are to motor 
vehicles. They allow for the safe transition 
of trains from one line to another. These are 
oversized components that require heavy 
equipment to move and can measure up 
to 200 feet in length. Switch replacements 
are typically accomplished during weekend 
track shutdowns.


In addition to replacing aging track and 
other critical components, BART is also 
taking steps to reduce the levels of noise 
produced by contact between the rail and 
train cars. BART has reprofi led 149 miles of 
track to improve the performance of the 
rail and to provide a smoother interaction 
with train wheels. This work is having a 
direct impact on the experience of riders by 
reducing sound intensity by as many as 20 
decibels in some sections of the system.


$168 million has been invested in RR track 
renewal projects through March 2020. The 
amount of spending and work completed 
gives the committee confi dence that 
track replacement work is moving forward 
in a timely manner consistent with RR 
objectives.


18


mAJoR pRoJectS: ReneW tRAcK







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       19


ANTIOCH
PITTSBURG  


CENTERPITTSBURG/  
BAY POINT


NORTHCONCORD/  
MARTINEZ


CONCORD


PLEASANT HILL/ CONTRACOSTACENTRE


WALNUT CREEK


LAFAYETTE  


ORINDA


ROCKRIDGE


MACARTHUR


19TH ST/OAKLAND


12THST/OAKLAND CITYCENTER


LAKE MERRITT


FRUITVALE


COLISEUM


SAN LEANDRO


BAY FAIR
CASTROVALLEY


WESTDUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


DUBLIN/
PLEASANTON


OAKLAND  
INTERNATIONAL  
AIRPORT(OAK)


HAYWARD


SOUTH HAYWARD


UNION CITY


FREMONT


WARMSPRINGS/ SOUTHFREMONT


RICHMOND


ELCERRITOPLAZA


NORTH BERKELEY


DOWNTOWN BERKELEY


ASHBY


WEST OAKLAND


EMBARCADERO


MONTGOMERY ST


POWELLST


CIVICCENTER/ UN PLAZA


16THSTMISSION


24THSTMISSION


GLEN PARK


BALBOAPARK


DALY CITY  


COLMA


SOUTHSAN  
FRANCISCO SAN  


BRUNO


MILLBRAE


SAN FRANCISCO
INTERNATIONAL
AIRPORT(SFO)


ELCERRITODELNORTE


Active Projects Completed or Under Construction
Status as of March 2020


M03 Interlocking Replacement
C55 Interlocking Replacement
C35 Interlocking Replacement
A15 Interlocking Replacement
Track Restraining Rail Replacement
C25 interlocking Replacement
A65 Interlocking Replacement
Direct Fixation Pads Replacement - SYSTEMWIDE
Rail Replacement - SYSTEMWIDE
Rail Reprofiling - SYSTEMWIDE







20


BART is renovating its power infrastructure to ensure that trains have a reliable source of 
traction power and that stations can rely on a steady stream of electricity. The work currently 
happening in the BART system will not only enhance reliability, but also boost the system’s overall 
electrical	effi		ciency	to	conform	with	BART’s	long-term	renewable	and	low/zero	carbon	resource	
sustainability goals.  


Perhaps the most high-profi le portion of the power infrastructure renewal program has been 
the replacement of 34.5 kV electrical cables. The nature and location of the work often in 
underground portions of the system has necessitated service impacts, especially on weekends. 
So far six miles of this cable have been replaced between the West Oakland and Lake Merritt 
stations and between the Glen Park and 24th Street Mission stations in San Francisco. In addition 
to those six miles, additional electrical cabling is being replaced in downtown San Francisco and 
Oakland. BART will have the fi rst segment of new cables installed and ready for commissioning in 
downtown San Francisco this year. Additionally, BART’s goal is to have two more miles of cable 
replaced and in service between West Oakland and 19th St Oakland stations this year. 


BART is also taking steps to enhance 
the resilience of its power system. 21 
new uninterruptible Power Supply 
(uPS) systems have been installed 
systemwide. These are valuable backups 
if there should be an interruption to 
BART’s normal power supply. The 
new substation DC (direct current) 
house in the Richmond Yard is in 
service, and workers have installed 
the new substation AC (alternating 
current) and DC houses at San Leandro 
Station, which will be commissioned 
this year. Additionally, construction 
is in progress to bolster the Transbay 
Tube’s emergency generator system by 
installing a new emergency generator 
and high voltage switchgear.


Through March 2020, $199.3 million 
was invested in RR power infrastructure 
renewal projects. This investment 
represents the largest expenditure out 
of all the major program categories 
supported by RR. This level of investing 
is being driven by the scope of work to 
renew BART’s power infrastructure being 
completed at a faster pace than initial 
projections.


mAJoR pRoJectS: 
ReneW poWeR inFRAStRuctuRe







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       21


mAJoR pRoJectS: 
ReneW poWeR inFRAStRuctuRe


M-Line 34.5 kV Cable Replacement
C-Line 34.5 kV Cable Replacement 
K-Line 34.5 kV Cable Replacement  
Substation Replacement/Installation
Richmond Yard Substation DC House Replacement
Transbay Tube Emergency Generator 
Tunnel Lighting Replacement
MPR Installation & Rectifier Rehabilitation - SYSTEMWIDE  
Train Control UPS Replacement - SYSTEMWIDE
3rd Rail Replacement - SYSTEMWIDE ANTIOCH


PITTSBURG  
CENTERPITTSBURG/  


BAY POINT
NORTHCONCORD/  


MARTINEZ


CONCORD


PLEASANT HILL/ CONTRACOSTACENTRE


WALNUT CREEK


LAFAYETTE  


ORINDA


ROCKRIDGE


MACARTHUR


19TH ST/OAKLAND


12THST/OAKLAND CITYCENTER


LAKE MERRITT


FRUITVALE


COLISEUM


SAN LEANDRO


BAY FAIR
CASTROVALLEY


WESTDUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


DUBLIN/
PLEASANTON


OAKLAND  
INTERNATIONAL  
AIRPORT(OAK)


HAYWARD


SOUTH HAYWARD


UNION CITY


FREMONT


WARMSPRINGS/ SOUTHFREMONT


RICHMOND


ELCERRITOPLAZA


NORTH BERKELEY


DOWNTOWN BERKELEY


ASHBY


WEST OAKLAND


EMBARCADERO  


MONTGOMERY ST


POWELLST


CIVICCENTER/ UN PLAZA


16THSTMISSION


24THSTMISSION


GLEN PARK


BALBOAPARK


DALY CITY


COLMA


SOUTHSAN  
FRANCISCO SAN  


BRUNO


MILLBRAE


SAN FRANCISCO
INTERNATIONAL
AIRPORT(SFO)


ELCERRITODELNORTE


Active Projects Completed or Under Construction
Status as of March 2020







earthquake preparedness comes with the territory for BART. The 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake 
made BART’s role in the region as a vital transportation lifeline clear. The entire system, including 
the Transbay Tube, withstood the shaking that time around, but the concern over future temblors 
that could be even larger in magnitude is a possibility that BART must prepare for. The Transbay 
Tube is structurally sound but now BART is taking steps to protect the structure against what 
experts describe as a rare 1,000-year quake.  


Signifi cant work has taken place to bolster the Transbay Tube. 118 cross passage doors and two 
lower gallery doors have been replaced in the Tube. These are the emergency egress doors 
connecting the Trackways to the Tube’s Lower Gallery. Much of this work was accomplished during 
overnight hours. To accommodate this work and other projects BART last year moved the start of 
its revenue service back one hour from 4 am to 5 am. Opening an hour later increases the amount 
of time workers have to perform these important tasks by 20%.


Seismic improvements at BART are also on the way for other portions of the system. In the last 
year BART complete a seismic operability upgrade study for the portion of the system that extends 
between	the	Lake	Merritt	and	Warm	Springs/South	Fremont	stations.	BART	also	completed	a	
Caldecott Tunnel creep repair study. That tunnel extends between the Rockridge and Orinda 
stations. 


Through March 2020, $44.5 million in Measure RR dollars have been invested in projects to repair 
tunnels and structures. This is well ahead of program category investment goals for 2020 and 
refl ects BART’s commitment to patron safety.


mAJoR pRoJectS: 
RepAiR tunnelS AnD StRuctuReS


22







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       23


ANTIOCH
PITTSBURG  


CENTERPITTSBURG/  
BAY POINT


NORTH CONCORD/  
MARTINEZ


CONCORD


PLEASANT HILL/ CONTRACOSTACENTRE


WALNUTCREEK


LAFAYETTE  
ORINDA


ROCKRIDGE


MACARTHUR


19THST/OAKLAND


12THST/OAKLAND CITYCENTER


LAKEMERRITT


FRUITVALE


COLISEUM


SANLEANDRO


BAY FAIR
CASTROVALLEY


WEST DUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


DUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


OAKLAND  
INTERNATIONAL  
AIRPORT(OAK)


HAYWARD


SOUTHHAYWARD


FREMONT


WARM SPRINGS/ SOUTHFREMONT


RICHMOND


ELCERRITOPLAZA


NORTHBERKELEY


DOWNTOWNBERKELEY


ASHBY


WESTOAKLAND


EMBARCADERO


MONTGOMERYST


POWELLST


CIVICCENTER/ UN PLAZA


16THSTMISSION


24TH STMISSION


GLEN PARK


BALBOA PARK


DALY CITY


COLMA
UNIONCITY


SOUTHSAN  
FRANCISCO SAN  


BRUNO


MILLBRAE


SAN FRANCISCO
INTERNATIONAL
AIRPORT(SFO)


ELCERRITODELNORTE


Renew Soundwalls Guideway
Replace Transbay Tube Cross Passage Doors
Transbay Tube Earthquake Retrofit
Install Aerial Fall Protection A-Line North and Central
Berkley Hills Tunnel Creep Repair
Wayside Regulatory Signage - SYSTEMWIDE
Platform Edge Structure Rehab - SYSTEMWIDE
Substation Roofs - SYSTEMWIDE
Substation Walls - SYSTEMWIDE
Replace Safety Barriers - SYSTEMWIDE
Mitigate Water Intrusion in Train Control Rooms - SYSTEMWIDE


Active Projects Completed or Under Construction
Status as of March 2020


ANTIOCH
PITTSBURG  


CENTERPITTSBURG/  
BAY POINT


NORTH CONCORD/  
MARTINEZ


CONCORD


PLEASANT HILL/ CONTRACOSTACENTRE


WALNUTCREEK


LAFAYETTE  
ORINDA


ROCKRIDGE


MACARTHUR


19THST/OAKLAND


12THST/OAKLAND CITYCENTER


LAKEMERRITT


FRUITVALE


COLISEUM


SANLEANDRO


BAY FAIR
CASTROVALLEY


WEST DUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


DUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


OAKLAND  
INTERNATIONAL  
AIRPORT(OAK)


HAYWARD


SOUTHHAYWARD


FREMONT


WARM SPRINGS/ SOUTHFREMONT


RICHMOND


ELCERRITOPLAZA


NORTHBERKELEY


DOWNTOWNBERKELEY


ASHBY


WESTOAKLAND


EMBARCADERO


MONTGOMERYST


POWELLST


CIVICCENTER/ UN PLAZA


16THSTMISSION


24TH STMISSION


GLEN PARK


BALBOA PARK


DALY CITY


COLMA
UNIONCITY


SOUTHSAN  
FRANCISCO SAN  


BRUNO


MILLBRAE


SAN FRANCISCO
INTERNATIONAL
AIRPORT(SFO)


ELCERRITODELNORTE


Renew Soundwalls Guideway
Replace Transbay Tube Cross Passage Doors
Transbay Tube Earthquake Retrofit
Install Aerial Fall Protection A-Line North and Central
Berkley Hills Tunnel Creep Repair
Wayside Regulatory Signage - SYSTEMWIDE
Platform Edge Structure Rehab - SYSTEMWIDE
Substation Roofs - SYSTEMWIDE
Substation Walls - SYSTEMWIDE
Replace Safety Barriers - SYSTEMWIDE
Mitigate Water Intrusion in Train Control Rooms - SYSTEMWIDE


Active Projects Completed or Under Construction
Status as of March 2020







24


The critical support structures necessary for maintaining a safe railway are also getting a makeover 
because of Measure RR. A big part of that eff ort is the on-going Coverboard enhancement Project.  
Coverboards are the curved boards that are placed over the electrifi ed third rail for safety and to 
protect train cars. To improve service reliability, coverboard failures are being mitigated by installing 
additional supports and replacing damaged coverboards. 20 miles of third rail coverboards have 
been	enhanced	on	the	Dublin/Pleasanton	Line,	between	the	Dublin/Pleasanton	and	Bay	Fair	
stations.


upgrades are also happening at the yards where BART trains are repaired and stored. 20 train 
access ladders have been replaced or installed in multiple yards. These ladders are an important 
safety upgrade as they make it easier for technicians to access diffi  cult to reach portions of the 
train cars.


BART has also advertised a contract to build a wheel truing facility at the Concord Yard. This will 
help technicians to ensure the wheels on BART train cars have the correct shape, alignment, and 
positioning to best interact with the reprofi led rail.


BART’s progress in this program category is consistent with its objective of investing in service 
reliability, effi  ciency and safety by replacing essential components such as gas lines in train yards, 
fi re hose cabinets, and piping systems. Through March 2020, $19.3 million in Measure RR money has 
been invested in projects to rebuild BART’s mechanical infrastructure.


mAJoR pRoJectS: 
ReneW mecHAnicAl inFRAStRuctuRe







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       25


ANTIOCH
PITTSBURG  


CENTERPITTSBURG/  
BAYPOINT


NORTHCONCORD/  
MARTINEZ


WALNUTCREEK


LAFAYETTE  


ORINDA


ROCKRIDGE


MACARTHUR


19THST/OAKLAND


12THST/OAKLAND CITYCENTER


LAKEMERRITT


FRUITVALE


COLISEUM


SANLEANDRO


BAYFAIR


WESTDUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


DUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


OAKLAND  
INTERNATIONAL  
AIRPORT(OAK)


CASTRO
HAYWARD VALLEY


SOUTHHAYWARD


FREMONT


WARM SPRINGS / SOUTH FREMONT


RICHMOND


ELCERRITOPLAZA


NORTHBERKELEY


DOWNTOWNBERKELEY


ASHBY


WESTOAKLAND


EMBARCADERO


MONTGOMERYST


POWELLST


CIVICCENTER / UN PLAZA


16TH STMISSION


24TH STMISSION


GLEN PARK


BALBOA PARK


DALY CITY


COLMA
UNIONCITY


SOUTHSAN  
FRANCISCO SAN  


BRUNO


MILLBRAE


SAN FRANCISCO
INTERNATIONAL
AIRPORT(SFO)


ELCERRITODELNORTE


Coverboard Enhancement
Install Concord Yard Wheel Truing Facility
Underground Utilities in Yards
Replace Fire Services in Yards
Rotoclones Replacement
Wayside Regulatory Signage - SYSTEMWIDE
Train Access Ladders - SYSTEMWIDE


CONCORD  


PLEASANTHILL/
CONTRACOSTACENTRE


Active Projects Completed or Under Construction
Status as of March 2020







BART is working to modernize its station entries, escalators, and overall layouts to improve safety and 
fl ow of riders. The BART Board in January approved a contract to construct 22 canopies over entrances 
at BART stations along Market Street in downtown San Francisco. each canopy includes a real-time 
digital display that shows train arrival times, a retractable gate, LeD lighting, and security cameras.


Two canopies were completed in november 2018 and have proven to be successful in securing the 
entrances when BART is not open for service, reducing the need for excessive maintenance, and 
increasing safety for frontline employees who open and close the stations every day. Construction on 
the next canopies will begin this year. The entire project will take seven years to complete because 
no more than one entrance per station will be under construction at any one time in order to reduce 
impacts to patrons.  


The canopy contract is worth $64 million and is funded by Measure RR, San Francisco Prop A, and state 
Prop 1A. The canopy project is happening in conjunction with the Market Street escalators Renovation 
Project, which the BART Board approved in March of 2019. That contract will install and replace 41 
escalators in downtown San Francisco and is worth $96.5M.


The work in San Francisco is happening as BART 
moves forward with station modernization projects 
at el Cerrito del norte, union City, Powell Street, 
and 19th Street in downtown Oakland. The 19th 
Street Station Modernization Project is the latest 
to get underway with construction beginning this 
year. The work will bring a series of upgrades to 
the station including the renovation and reopening 
of public restrooms, the replacement of existing 
light fi xtures with energy-effi  cient LeD lighting, the 
installation of new glass railing and fare barriers, 
and a new elevator at the north end to improve 
vertical circulation from the concourse level to the 
platform levels. The plan also calls for the concourse 
to be reconfi gured from three paid areas into one 
continuous paid area to improve patron fl ow. 


Money for the 19th Street improvements is coming 
not only from Measure RR but also state Prop 1B, 
Caltrans funds, Alameda County Transportation 
Commission Measure BB, and a Federal Department 
of Transportation TIGeR Grant, as part of the 
broader GO uptown project with the City of 
Oakland. Overall construction is expected to take 
approximately 30 months to complete. $18.6 million 
in Measure RR dollars were spent through March 
2020 on station renewal projects. 


mAJoR pRoJectS: ReneW StAtionS


26







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       27


ANTIOCH
PITTSBURG  


CENTERPITTSBURG/
BAYPOINT


NORTHCONCORD/  
MARTINEZ


CONCORD


PLEASANT HILL / CONTRA COSTACENTRE


WALNUTCREEK


LAFAYETTE  


ORINDA


ROCKRIDGE


MACARTHUR


19TH ST/OAKLAND


12TH ST/OAKLAND CITY CENTER


LAKE MERRITT


FRUITVALE


COLISEUM


SANLEANDRO


BAYFAIR
CASTROVALLEY


WESTDUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


DUBLIN/
PLEASANTON


OAKLAND  
INTERNATIONAL  
AIRPORT(OAK)


HAYWARD


SOUTHHAYWARD


UNIONCITY


FREMONT


WARM SPRINGS / SOUTH FREMONT


RICHMOND


EL CERRITO DEL NORTE


ELCERRITOPLAZA


NORTHBERKELEY


DOWNTOWNBERKELEY


ASHBY


WESTOAKLAND


EMBARCADERO


MONTGOMERYST


POWELL ST


CIVIC CENTER / UN PLAZA


16THST MISSION


24THST MISSION


GLEN PARK


BALBOA PARK


DALY CITY


COLMA


SOUTHSAN  
FRANCISCO SAN  


BRUNO


MILLBRAE


SAN FRANCISCO
INTERNATIONAL
AIRPORT(SFO)


El Cerrito del Norte Station Modification  
Union City Station Modification
San Francisco Escalator Replacement
19th St. Station Modernization
San Francisco Canopies
Powell Street Station Modernization


Active Projects Completed or Under Construction
Status as of March 2020







28


Implementing a new Communications Based Train Control (CBTC) system is critical if BART is to 
meet what is expected to be a surge in demand for transbay travel over the coming decade. BART’s 
current fi xed-block train control system is very safe but limits the frequency and number of trains 
BART can run. The current system relies on widely spaced signal blocks to denote train occupancy on 
the track. This contributes to longer distances between trains and increased travel times. A new CBTC 
system will detect a train’s location using “moving” block technology that allows for more effi  cient 
train	movement.	This	translates	to	a	shorter	distance	between	trains	(while	maintaining	safe	breaking/
stop distances) and means BART can safely operate more trains, improve reliability in service, and 
decrease travel times. CBTC could boost BART’s Transbay capacity by as much as 35%.


In January of 2020 the BART Board of Directors awarded a $798 million contract to Hitachi Rail 
STS uSA, Inc. to design and build a modern Communications Based Train Control (CBTC) system.  
The contract is expected to be the largest BART award for any project this decade. The long-term 
objective is to fully implement a new train control system over the next 11 years. 


The Communications Based Train Control System is a key component of BART’s Transbay Corridor 
Core Capacity Project (TCCCP) that also includes additional revenue vehicle purchase, new storage 
yard at HMC and fi ve new Traction Power Sub-Stations (TPSS). 


Funding for the new train control system is coming from a variety of local, state, and federal sources 
including $400 million from Measure RR.  After several months of project review and discussions with 
the Federal Transit Administration the TCCCP was approved to advance into the engineering phase 
of the Capital Investment Grant (CIG) program. This is an important step in BART’s eff orts to secure 
a $1.17 billion federal grant for the TCCCP, which is one of the highest rated CIG eligible projects in the 
country. BART is working closely with FTA to secure a full funding grant agreement by mid-year.  


So far $21.9 million in RR funding has been invested in train control modernization through March 
2020.
 


mAJoR pRoJectS: 
tRAin contRol moDeRniZAtion







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       29Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       29







30


mAJoR pRoJectS: Relieve cRoWDinG


BART is working to improve system resilience and redundancy by moving forward with the 
Hayward Maintenance Complex project. The project would consist of acquiring and improving four 
properties on the west side of the existing Hayward Yard for a larger primary repair shop and a 
new storage yard for 250 train cars to support the Fleet of the Future. BART is now advertising 
the trackwork procurement contract for the project. The Hayward Maintenance Complex plan has 
an estimated price tag of $791 million. It’s jointly supported by BART and the Santa Clara Valley 
Transportation Authority, since many of the cars serviced there will operate on the upcoming 
extension of BART service to San Jose. BART is also seeking funding from the Federal Transit 
Administration as part of the Core Capacity Program.


Since 1990 the northern California Mega-Region has grown by 3.3 million people and has added 
1.5 million jobs. This growth is anticipated to continue into the foreseeable future, which creates two 
core challenges: the current transportation system is running up against capacity constraints and 
emerging travel patterns are not currently served by the existing system. These challenges are the 
main reasons why BART is partnering with other transit agencies to study the possibility of building 
a new transbay rail crossing.


A second transbay rail crossing has the potential 
to transform northern California’s rail network. It 
could leverage the region’s existing and planned 
transportation assets and enable transfer-free 
train rides between many northern California 
locations such as Sacramento and San Francisco. 
A second crossing would increase resiliency 
and redundancy for the BART system while also 
allowing the possibility that it could be shared by 
BART and its standard-gauge rail partners such 
as Capitol Corridor.


The BART Board approved a consulting contract 
for strategic advising and program management 
for a second crossing project in June of last 
year. The next steps are to complete a feasibility 
study, as well as a community engagement and 
environmental analysis. That work is likely to be 
completed in late 2020 or early 2021. There is 
no planned date for construction to begin but 
it’s likely years off . Among the challenges going 
forward are to line up funding. 


$17.2 million in Measure RR funds have been 
spent on programs to relieve crowding, increase 
redundancy, and reduce congestion through 
March 2020.  







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       31


ANTIOCH
PITTSBURG  


CENTERPITTSBURG/  
BAYPOINT


NORTH CONCORD/  
MARTINEZ


CONCORD


PLEASANT HILL / CONTRA COSTACENTRE


WALNUTCREEK


LAFAYETTE  


ORINDA


ROCKRIDGE


MACARTHUR


19THST/OAKLAND


12TH ST/OAKLAND CITYCENTER


LAKEMERRITT


FRUITVALE


COLISEUM


SAN LEANDRO


BAYFAIR
CASTROVALLEY


WESTDUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


DUBLIN/
PLEASANTON


OAKLAND  
INTERNATIONAL  
AIRPORT(OAK)


HAYWARD


SOUTH HAYWARD


UNIONCITY


FREMONT


WARM SPRINGS / SOUTH FREMONT


RICHMOND


ELCERRITOPLAZA


NORTH BERKELEY


DOWNTOWN BERKELEY


ASHBY


WEST OAKLAND


EMBARCADERO


MONTGOMERY ST


POWELLST


16THSTMISSION


24THSTMISSION


GLEN PARK


BALBOAPARK


DALY CITY


COLMA


SOUTHSAN  
FRANCISCO SAN  


BRUNO


MILLBRAE


SAN FRANCISCO
INTERNATIONAL
AIRPORT(SFO)


ELCERRITO DELNORTE


CIVIC CENTER / UN PLAZA


Civic Center Scissor Stairs (Construction)  
Embarcadero Elevator (Design)
Hayward Maintenance Complex Phase 2 (Design) 
2nd Transbay Tube Crossing (Planning / Study)
Dublin Pleasanton/Millbrae Tail Tracks (Design)


Active Projects Under Construction, Design or Planning
Status as of March 2020







32


mAJoR pRoJectS: AcceSS impRovementS


Access improvements funded by Measure RR not only expand opportunities to safely access BART 
stations, making it easier for all riders to use the system, but also improve the environment. BART is 
working to leverage Measure RR dollars with local and regional funding to expand available resources 
and deliver more capital projects. With that concept in mind, the District plans to launch Safe Routes 
to BART this year. The Safe Routes to BART program will help local governments fund projects that 
will improve safe walking and biking networks that will bring riders to BART stations. Safe Routes to 
BART hopes to identify projects that can off er a minimum funding match of 30%, have evidence of 
governing body support, and have a minimum of 35% design completion.


BART is moving forward with 
improvements to some of its bike 
stations. BART currently has eight 
bike stations across the system.  
BART recently awarded a contract 
to bring modifi cations to its bike 
stations at embarcadero and Civic 
Center stations in downtown San 
Francisco. These facilities attract 
more bicyclists to BART by off ering 
secure, controlled-access parking 
all times the stations are open. In 
addition to the bike stations, BART 
has over 1,700 BikeLink lockers at 
37 stations and high security smart 
racks (Bikeep) at fi ve stations.


The BART Board in november 
approved the construction of 
more than 850 additional parking 
spaces at the Antioch Station. 
These additional spots will be on 
top of the 1,000 spaces already at 
Antioch. The $9.9 million contract 
approved by the BART Board calls 
for additional multimodal access 
upgrades including better pedestrian 
and bicycle infrastructure, directional 
signage improvements and widening 
the bus lane to alleviate congestion.


$15.4 million in Measure RR funds 
were spent through March 2020 on 
projects to improve system access.  







Measure rr Bond oversight CoMMittee annual report  |  2020       33


ANTIOCH
PITTSBURG  


CENTERPITTSBURG/
BAY POINT


NORTHCONCORD/  
MARTINEZ


CONCORD


PLEASANT HILL/ CONTRACOSTACENTRE


WALNUT CREEK


LAFAYETTE  


ORINDA


ROCKRIDGE


MACARTHUR


19THST/OAKLAND


12THST/OAKLAND CITYCENTER


LAKEMERRITT


FRUITVALE


COLISEUM


SAN LEANDRO


BAY FAIR


CASTRO VALLEY


WESTDUBLIN/  
PLEASANTON


DUBLIN/
PLEASANTON


OAKLAND  
INTERNATIONAL  
AIRPORT(OAK)


HAYWARD


SOUTHHAYWARD


UNIONCITY


FREMONT


WARM SPRINGS/ SOUTHFREMONT


RICHMOND


ELCERRITODELNORTE


ELCERRITOPLAZA


NORTHBERKELEY


DOWNTOWNBERKELEY


ASHBY


WESTOAKLAND


EMBARCADERO


MONTGOMERYST


POWELLST


CIVICCENTER/ UN PLAZA


16TH STMISSION


24TH STMISSION


GLEN PARK


BALBOA PARK


DALYCITY  


COLMA


SOUTHSAN  
FRANCISCO SAN  


BRUNO


MILLBRAE


SAN FRANCISCO
INTERNATIONAL
AIRPORT(SFO)


Station Entrance Gates
ADA Lighting Improvements  
Fare Evasion Barriers & Control
Warm Springs Pedestrian Bridge West
El Cerrito del Norte Gateway / Ohlone Greenway & Intermodal Improvements
MacArthur Transit Improvements & Plaza Renovation
Embarcadero Civic Center Bike Station Modernization
eBART Additional Parking Lot


Active Projects Completed or Under Construction
Status as of March 2020







committee Activities and expenditures
As part of this report, the Bond oversight committee also presents a summary of its 
activities and expenditures. 


• June 21, 2019 – Regular Meeting
BART General Manager Grace Crunican briefs the committee on BART receiving a $1.2 billion 
federal grant to bolster core capacity. Committee reviews the draft of the 2019 RR annual 
report and offers suggested edits. Vice Chair Post requests that the report give proper credit 
to staff for their work on RR projects while Committee Member Day requests the report 
provide more context on whether bond spending is meeting legal requirements. Committee 
then receives updates on progress for RR projects. Treasurer Rose Poblete updates 
committee on next bond issuance. Committee discusses future site visit to learn more about 
track replacement. 


• July 16, 2019 – Special Meeting 
Committee members unanimously adopt the annual RR Report.


• September 20, 2019 – Regular Meeting
new BART General Manager Bob Powers attends and introduces himself to committee 
members. Committee views the video replay of Chairman McGill’s presentation of the RR 
Report to the BART Board of Directors. Vice Chair Post suggests committee members create 
an outline for the next annual report. Staff provides an update on the track rebuilding project 
in Lafayette. Vice Chair Post requests update on Train Control at next meeting and says if the 
committee had a watch list, he would put that project on it.


• September 28, 2019 – Site Visit 
Committee Members Gee, edwards, newman, and Post met BART staff at the Lafayette 
Station to tour the track replacement project.


• December 20, 2019 – Regular Meeting 
Committee agrees to maintain schedule of meeting every three months on the third Friday 
of the month. Committee offers ideas for upcoming RR Annual Report, reviews draft outline, 
and forms subcommittee to review draft report before it’s presented to the full committee.  
BART staff provides committee with progress overview of RR projects to date. Committee 
Member Day requests more context be given to numbers. Chair McGill says timelines should 
not only show where projects are but where they should be.


• March 20, 2020 – Regular Meeting 
Postponed to May due to the coronavirus pandemic and related public health orders.


committee expenditures: As of this report, the committee has spent $636 in  
Fiscal Year 2020.


You are invited to participate in future Measure RR Bond Oversight Committee meetings.  
Those meetings are scheduled to happen on the third Fridays of March, June, September, and 
December. The meetings are open to the public and will be listed on the BART website at 
www.bart.gov/about/bod/meetings/2019. The committee will also be publishing an annual 
report each year to inform the public of BART’s progress and activities. You can sign up for 
email notices of BART news, which will include major milestones in Measure RR work at  
www.bart.gov/alerts.


the public can view 
meeting minutes at 
www.bart.gov/bondoversight.








OH&S DRAFT 07/14/20 


PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED [AUGUST __], 2020 


NEW ISSUE – BOOK ENTRY ONLY RATINGS:   Moody’s: ___ 
                                Standard & Poor’s: ___ 


                 See “Ratings” herein. 


In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel to the District, based upon an analysis of existing laws, 
regulations, rulings and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain representations and compliance with 
certain covenants, interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986.  In the further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds is not a specific preference item for 
purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax.  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that interest on the 2020 Bonds is exempt from State of 
California personal income taxes.  Bond Counsel further observes that interest on the 2020C-2 Bonds is not excluded from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Code.  Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other tax consequences related to 
the ownership or disposition of, or the amount, accrual or receipt of interest on, the 2020 Bonds.  See “TAX MATTERS” 


 


 


$[2020 PAR]* 
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 


GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
 


 
$[2020C-1 PAR]* 


(ELECTION OF 2016),  
2020 SERIES C-1  
(GREEN BONDS) 


$[2020C-2 PAR]* 
(ELECTION OF 2016),  


2020 SERIES C-2 (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 
(GREEN BONDS) 


  
 
Dated:  Date of Delivery  Due: As shown on inside cover 


The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-1 (Green Bonds) (the 
“2020C-1 Bonds”) and 2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) (the “2020C-2 Bonds” and, together with the 2020C-1 Bonds, the 
“2020 Bonds”) are being issued to finance specific acquisition, construction and improvement projects for District facilities approved by the 
voters and to pay the costs of issuance of the 2020 Bonds.  The 2020 Bonds are deliverable in fully registered form and, when issued, will be 
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”).  Individual purchases of 
the 2020 Bonds will be made in principal amounts of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof and will be in book-entry form only.  Purchasers of 
the 2020 Bonds will not receive bonds representing their beneficial ownership in the 2020 Bonds but will receive a credit balance on the books of 
their respective DTC Direct Participants or DTC Indirect Participants.  The 2020 Bonds will not be transferable or exchangeable except for 
transfer to another nominee of DTC or as otherwise described herein. 


Principal on the 2020 Bonds is payable in the amounts and on the dates set forth on the inside cover. Interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds is 
payable on February 1 and August 1 of each year, commencing [February 1, 2021], and interest on the 2020C-2 Bonds is paid on the maturity 
date thereof.  The principal of the 2020 Bonds is payable by U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, to Cede & Co., the registered owner of 
the 2020 Bonds, and such interest and principal payments are to be disbursed to the beneficial owners of the 2020 Bonds through their respective 
DTC Direct Participants or DTC Indirect Participants. 


The 2020 Bonds are general obligations of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District”), payable from and 
secured by ad valorem taxes to be levied upon all property subject to taxation by the District, without limitation as to rate or amount (except for 
certain personal property which is taxable at limited rates) levied in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San 
Francisco, as more fully described herein.  No other revenues of the District other than certain proceeds of the 2020 Bonds are pledged to the 
payment of the 2020 Bonds. 


The 2020C-1 Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory redemption prior to maturity as described herein. 
This cover page contains certain information for reference only.  It is not a summary of this issue.  Investors must read the 


entire Official Statement to obtain information essential to the making of an informed investment decision. 


The 2020 Bonds are offered when, as and if issued by the District and received by the Underwriters, subject to the approving opinion 
of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, San Francisco, California, Bond Counsel to the District.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the 
Underwriters by their counsel, Curls Bartling P.C., and for the District by its General Counsel, Matthew Burrows, Esq., and by Orrick, Herrington 
& Sutcliffe LLP, as Disclosure Counsel to the District.  The 2020 Bonds in book-entry-only form are expected to be delivered through the 
facilities of DTC on or about [August 31], 2020. 


J.P. Morgan  Goldman Sachs & 
Co. LLC 


 


Barclays Wells Fargo 
Securities 


Blaylock Van, LLC 


 
Dated: _______________, 2020 


 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 


Th
is


 P
re


lim
in


ar
y 


O
ff


ic
ia


l S
ta


te
m


en
t a


nd
 th


e 
in


fo
rm


at
io


n 
co


nt
ai


ne
d 


he
re


in
 a


re
 s


ub
je


ct
 to


 c
om


pl
et


io
n 


an
d 


am
en


dm
en


t. 
 U


nd
er


 n
o 


ci
rc


um
st


an
ce


s 
sh


al
l t


hi
s 


Pr
el


im
in


ar
y 


O
ff


ic
ia


l S
ta


te
m


en
t c


on
st


itu
te


 a
n 


of
fe


r t
o 


se
ll 


or
 th


e 
so


lic
ita


tio
n 


of
 a


n 
of


fe
r t


o 
bu


y,
 n


or
 sh


al
l t


he
re


 b
e 


an
y 


sa
le


 o
f t


he
 B


on
ds


 in
 a


ny
 ju


ris
di


ct
io


n 
in


 w
hi


ch
 su


ch
 o


ffe
r, 


so
lic


ita
tio


n,
 o


r s
al


e 
w


ou
ld


 b
e 


un
la


w
fu


l p
rio


r t
o 


re
gi


st
ra


tio
n 


or
 q


ua
lif


ic
at


io
n 


un
de


r t
he


 se
cu


rit
ie


s l
aw


s o
f s


uc
h 


ju
ris


di
ct


io
n.


 
 







MATURITY SCHEDULES 
 
 


$[2020C-1 PAR]* 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 


(ELECTION OF 2016), 2020 SERIES C-1 BONDS (GREEN BONDS) 
 


$__________* SERIAL BONDS   
Maturity 


Date*  
(August 1) 


Principal 
 Amount* 


Interest  
Rate 


 
Yield 


CUSIP 
(Base: 


797661)‡ 
     


 
$__________* _____% Term Bond due _________, 20__*; Yield ____%; CUSIP‡ 797661___ 


 
$__________* _____% Term Bond due _________, 20__*; Yield ____%; CUSIP‡ 797661___ 


 
$__________* _____% Term Bond due _________, 20__*; Yield ____%; CUSIP‡ 797661___ 


 


 
$[2020C-2 PAR]* 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 


(ELECTION OF 2016), 2020 SERIES C-2 BONDS (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) (GREEN BONDS) 
 


Maturity 
Date* 


([October 1]) 
Principal 
 Amount* 


Interest  
Rate 


 
Yield 


CUSIP 
(Base: 


797661)‡ 


2020      
     


 
 
 


 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
‡ CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association.  CUSIP Global Services (CGS) is managed on behalf of the American Bankers 
Association by S&P Global Market Intelligence. Copyright © 2020 CUSIP Global Services. All rights reserved. CUSIP® data herein is provided by 
CUSIP Global Services. This data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CGS database. CUSIP numbers 
are provided for convenience only and neither the District nor the Underwriters takes any responsibility for the accuracy thereof. The CUSIP numbers are 
subject to being changed after the issuance of the 2020 Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions, including, but not limited to, a refunding, in whole 
or in part of the 2020 Bonds. 







 


 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
 


300 Lakeside Drive, 23rd Floor 
Oakland, California 94612 


 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 


 
Lateefah Simon 


President 
 


Mark Foley 
Vice President 


Debora Allen 
Director 


Elizabeth Ames 
Director 


Bevan Dufty 
Director 


Janice Li 
Director 


John McPartland 
Director 


Robert Raburn 
Director 


Rebecca Saltzman 
Director 


 
OFFICERS 


Robert Powers – General Manager 
Rosemarie V. Poblete – Controller/Treasurer 


Patricia K. Williams – District Secretary 
Russell G. Bloom – Independent Police Auditor 


Harriet Richardson – Inspector General 
 


GENERAL COUNSEL 
Matthew Burrows, Esq. 


 
TRUSTEE 


U.S. Bank National Association 
San Francisco, California 


 
BOND AND DISCLOSURE COUNSEL 


Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP 
San Francisco, California 


 
MUNICIPAL ADVISOR 


Sperry Capital Inc. 
Sausalito, California 


 
 







TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 


Page 


 


 -i-  
 


INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................................................... 1 
PLAN OF FINANCE ................................................................................................................................... 3 
ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS ................................................................................... 4 
DESIGNATION AS GREEN BONDS / CLIMATE BOND CERTIFIED ................................................. 5 
THE 2020 BONDS ...................................................................................................................................... 7 


Purpose and Application of Proceeds ............................................................................................. 7 
Authority for Issuance..................................................................................................................... 7 
Description of the 2020 Bonds ....................................................................................................... 7 
Book-Entry-Only System................................................................................................................ 7 
Payments, Transfers and Exchanges Upon Abandonment of Book-Entry-Only System ............... 8 
Redemption Provisions ................................................................................................................... 8 
Defeasance .................................................................................................................................... 11 


DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULES ............................................................................................................... 12 
SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE 2020 BONDS .................................................. 13 


General .......................................................................................................................................... 13 
Property Taxation System ............................................................................................................. 13 
Assessed Valuation of Property Within the District ..................................................................... 14 
Tax Rates, Collections and Delinquencies .................................................................................... 18 
Teeter Plans ................................................................................................................................... 22 
Largest Taxpayers in the District .................................................................................................. 23 
Taxation of State-Assessed Utility Property ................................................................................. 24 
Direct and Overlapping Debt Report ............................................................................................ 24 


CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS ...................................................................................................... 26 
Limitations on Tax Revenues ....................................................................................................... 26 
Expenditures and Appropriations ................................................................................................. 27 
Prohibitions on Diverting Local Revenues for State Purposes ..................................................... 28 
Future Initiatives ........................................................................................................................... 28 


INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS ...................................................................................................... 28 
Economy of the Three BART Counties and the State .................................................................. 28 
Risk of Earthquake ........................................................................................................................ 29 
Climate Change ............................................................................................................................. 29 
Infectious Disease Outbreak ......................................................................................................... 29 
Other Force Majeure Events ......................................................................................................... 30 
Limitation on Remedies ................................................................................................................ 30 
No Acceleration Provision ............................................................................................................ 32 
Loss of Tax Exemption ................................................................................................................. 32 
Reassessments and Appeals of Assessed Values .......................................................................... 32 
Cyber Security Risk ...................................................................................................................... 33 
Threats and Acts of Terrorism ...................................................................................................... 33 
Potential Labor Disruptions .......................................................................................................... 33 


CITIZENS’ OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE ................................................................................................ 33 
LEGAL MATTERS ................................................................................................................................... 34 
TAX MATTERS ........................................................................................................................................ 34 


The 2020C-1 Bonds ...................................................................................................................... 34 
The 2020C-2 Bonds ...................................................................................................................... 36 


ABSENCE OF MATERIAL LITIGATION .............................................................................................. 39 
RATINGS .................................................................................................................................................. 39 







TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 


Page 


 


 -ii-  
 


MUNICIPAL ADVISOR ........................................................................................................................... 40 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE ................................................................................................................. 40 
UNDERWRITING .................................................................................................................................... 40 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ................................................................................................................... 41 
MISCELLANEOUS .................................................................................................................................. 41 
APPENDIX A - SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL 


AND OPERATING INFORMATION ....................................................................................... A-1 
APPENDIX B - SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT REPORT ON 


AUDITS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
AND 2018 ................................................................................................................................... B-1 


APPENDIX C - SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT STATEMENT 
OF INVESTMENT POLICY ..................................................................................................... C-1 


APPENDIX D - THE ECONOMY OF THE THREE BART COUNTIES ............................................. D-1 
APPENDIX E - CLEARING SYSTEMS ................................................................................................ E-1 
APPENDIX F - PROPOSED FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT ................... F-1 
APPENDIX G - PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL ......................................... G-1 
APPENDIX H - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT ........... H-1 
 







 


 


This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any offer or solicitation 
or sale of the 2020 Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.  No 
dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District”) or the 
underwriters identified on the cover page of this Official Statement (the “Underwriters”) to give any information or to make any representation 
other than that contained herein and, if given or made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been 
authorized.  Neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor the sale of any of the 2020 Bonds implies that the information herein is correct as 
of any time subsequent to the date hereof.  The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither 
the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create the implication that there has been no 
change in the matters described herein since the date hereof. 


This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the 2020 Bonds.  Statements contained in this 
Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so described herein, are intended solely as 
such and are not to be construed as representations of facts.  All summaries of statutes and documents are made subject to the provisions of such 
statutes and documents, respectively, and do not purport to be complete statements of any or all of such provisions. 


The information set forth herein has been obtained from sources that are believed to be reliable, but it is not guaranteed as to accuracy 
or completeness and is not to be construed as a representation by the Underwriters.  The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for 
inclusion in this Official Statement:  The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part 
of, their responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the 
Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.  No representation, warranty or guarantee is made by the 
Municipal Advisor as to the accuracy or completeness of any information in this Official Statement, including, without limitation, the information 
contained in the appendices hereto, and nothing contained in this Official Statement is or shall be relied upon as a promise or representation by 
the Municipal Advisor. 


This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of securities referred to herein and may not be reproduced or be used, 
as a whole or in part, for any other purpose. 


The 2020 Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon an exemption contained 
therein, and have not been registered or qualified under the securities laws of any state. 


The District maintains a website. References to website addresses presented herein are for informational purposes only and may be in 
the form of a hyperlink solely for the reader’s convenience.  Unless specifically indicated otherwise, such websites and the information or links 
contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not part of, this Official Statement and should not be relied upon in making investment 
decisions with respect to the 2020 Bonds.   


IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE 2020 BONDS, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT 
TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE 2020 BONDS AT LEVELS ABOVE THOSE THAT 
MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.  SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT 
ANY TIME.  THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OFFER AND SELL THE 2020 BONDS TO CERTAIN SECURITIES DEALERS AND DEALER 
BANKS AND BANKS ACTING AS AGENT AT PRICES LOWER THAN THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES STATED ON THE COVER 
PAGE HEREOF, AND SAID PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES MAY BE CHANGED FROM TIME TO TIME BY THE UNDERWRITERS. 


FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 


This Official Statement, including the cover and inside cover page and all appendices hereto, contains forecasts, projections and 
estimates that are based on current expectations or assumptions.  When included in this Official Statement, the words “expects,” “forecasts,” 
“projects,” “budgets,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “assumes” and analogous expressions are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements which speak only as of the date of this Official Statement.  Any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and 
uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from those that have been projected.  Such risks and uncertainties include, 
among others, changes in economic conditions, federal, state and local statutory and regulatory initiatives, litigation, seismic events, and various 
other events, conditions and circumstances, many of which are beyond the control of the District.  The inclusion in this Official Statement of such 
forecasts, projections and estimates should not be regarded as a representation by the District that such forecasts, projections and estimates will 
occur.  Such forecasts, projections, budgets, and estimates are not intended as representations of fact or guarantees of results.  The District 
disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect 
any changes in the District’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement 
is based. 


THE ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH FORWARD LOOKING 
STATEMENTS INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE 
ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS DESCRIBED TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE 
RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.  THE 
DISTRICT DOES NOT PLAN TO ISSUE ANY UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO THOSE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS IF OR 
WHEN ANY OF ITS EXPECTATIONS, OR EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR CIRCUMSTANCES ON WHICH SUCH STATEMENTS ARE 
BASED OCCUR, OTHER THAN AS DESCRIBED UNDER “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” HEREIN. 


 







 


 


INFORMATION CONCERNING OFFERING RESTRICTIONS IN CERTAIN JURISDICTIONS OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES 


REFERENCES IN THIS SECTION TO THE “ISSUER” MEAN THE SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT 
DISTRICT. AND REFERENCES TO “BONDS” OR “SECURITIES” MEAN THE SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT 
DISTRICT GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS (ELECTION OF 2016), 2020 SERIES C-1 (GREEN BONDS) AND THE SAN FRANCISCO 
BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS (ELECTION OF 2016), 2020 SERIES C-2 (FEDERALLY 
TAXABLE) (GREEN BONDS) OFFERED HEREBY. NEITHER THE ISSUER NOR THE UNDERWRITERS ASSUME ANY 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONTENTS OF THIS SECTION. 


MINIMUM UNIT SALES 


THE BONDS WILL TRADE AND SETTLE ON A UNIT BASIS (ONE UNIT EQUALING ONE BOND OF $5,000 PRINCIPAL 
AMOUNT).  FOR ANY SALES MADE OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES, THE MINIMUM PURCHASE AND TRADING AMOUNT IS 30 
UNITS (BEING 30 BONDS IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $150,000). 


NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA (“EEA”) OR THE UNITED KINGDOM 


THE BONDS ARE NOT INTENDED TO BE OFFERED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE MADE AVAILABLE TO AND SHOULD NOT 
BE OFFERED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE MADE AVAILABLE TO ANY RETAIL INVESTOR IN THE EEA OR THE UNITED KINGDOM. 
FOR THESE PURPOSES, A “RETAIL INVESTOR” MEANS A PERSON WHO IS ONE (OR MORE) OF: (I) A RETAIL CLIENT AS 
DEFINED IN POINT (11) OF ARTICLE 4(1) OF DIRECTIVE 2014/65/EU (AS AMENDED, “MIFID II”); (II) A CUSTOMER WITHIN THE 
MEANING OF DIRECTIVE (EU) 2016/97 (THE “INSURANCE DISTRIBUTION DIRECTIVE”), WHERE THAT CUSTOMER WOULD 
NOT QUALIFY AS A PROFESSIONAL CLIENT AS DEFINED IN POINT (10) OF ARTICLE 4(1) OF MIFID II; OR (III) NOT A 
QUALIFIED INVESTOR AS DEFINED IN REGULATION (EU) 2017/1129 (THE “PROSPECTUS REGULATION”). CONSEQUENTLY, 
NO KEY INFORMATION DOCUMENT REQUIRED BY REGULATION (EU) NO. 1286/2014 (AS AMENDED, THE “PRIIPS 
REGULATION”) FOR OFFERING OR SELLING THE BONDS OR OTHERWISE MAKING THEM AVAILABLE TO RETAIL 
INVESTORS IN THE EEA OR IN THE UNITED KINGDOM HAS BEEN PREPARED AND THEREFORE OFFERING OR SELLING THE 
BONDS OR OTHERWISE MAKING THEM AVAILABLE TO ANY RETAIL INVESTOR IN THE EEA OR IN THE UNITED KINGDOM 
MAY BE UNLAWFUL UNDER THE PRIIPS REGULATION.  


THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS NOT A PROSPECTUS FOR PURPOSES OF THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION.  THIS 
OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND ANY OTHER OFFERING MATERIAL RELATING TO THE BONDS DESCRIBED HEREIN HAS BEEN 
PREPARED ON THE BASIS THAT ALL OFFERS OF THE BONDS TO ANY PERSON THAT IS LOCATED WITHIN A MEMBER STATE 
OF THE EEA OR THE UNITED KINGDOM WILL BE MADE PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION UNDER ARTICLE 1(4) OF THE 
PROSPECTUS REGULATION FROM THE REQUIREMENT TO PRODUCE A PROSPECTUS FOR OFFERS OF THE BONDS. 
ACCORDINGLY, ANY PERSON MAKING OR INTENDING TO MAKE ANY OFFER IN THE EEA OR THE UNITED KINGDOM OF 
THE BONDS SHOULD ONLY DO SO IN CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH NO OBLIGATION ARISES FOR THE ISSUER OR ANY OF 
THE UNDERWRITERS TO PROVIDE A PROSPECTUS FOR SUCH OFFER. NEITHER THE ISSUER NOR THE UNDERWRITERS HAVE 
AUTHORIZED, NOR DO THEY AUTHORIZE, THE MAKING OF ANY OFFER OF BONDS THROUGH ANY FINANCIAL 
INTERMEDIARY, OTHER THAN OFFERS MADE BY THE UNDERWRITERS, WHICH CONSTITUTE THE FINAL PLACEMENT OF 
THE BONDS CONTEMPLATED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  


THE OFFER OF ANY BONDS WHICH IS THE SUBJECT OF THE OFFERING CONTEMPLATED BY THIS OFFICIAL 
STATEMENT IS NOT BEING MADE AND WILL NOT BE MADE TO THE PUBLIC IN THE EEA OR THE UNITED KINGDOM, OTHER 
THAN: (A) TO ANY LEGAL ENTITY WHICH IS A “QUALIFIED INVESTOR” AS SUCH TERM IS DEFINED IN THE PROSPECTUS 
REGULATION; (B) TO FEWER THAN 150 NATURAL OR LEGAL PERSONS (OTHER THAN “QUALIFIED INVESTORS” AS SUCH 
TERM IS DEFINED IN THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION), SUBJECT TO OBTAINING THE PRIOR CONSENT OF THE RELEVANT 
UNDERWRITER OR THE ISSUER FOR ANY SUCH OFFER; OR (C) IN ANY OTHER CIRCUMSTANCES FALLING WITHIN ARTICLE 
1(4) OF THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION; PROVIDED THAT NO SUCH OFFER OF THE BONDS SHALL REQUIRE THE ISSUER OR 
ANY UNDERWRITER TO PUBLISH A PROSPECTUS PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 3 OF THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION OR A 
SUPPLEMENT TO A PROSPECTUS PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 23 OF THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION.  


FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS PROVISION, THE EXPRESSION AN “OFFER OF SECURITIES TO THE PUBLIC” IN 
RELATION TO THE BONDS IN ANY MEMBER STATE OF THE EEA OR THE UNITED KINGDOM MEANS THE COMMUNICATION 
IN ANY FORM AND BY ANY MEANS OF SUFFICIENT INFORMATION ON THE TERMS OF THE OFFER AND THE BONDS TO BE 
OFFERED SO AS TO ENABLE AN INVESTOR TO DECIDE TO PURCHASE THE BONDS OR SUBSCRIBE FOR THE BONDS.  


EACH SUBSCRIBER FOR OR PURCHASER OF THE BONDS IN THE OFFERING LOCATED WITHIN A MEMBER STATE 
OF THE EEA OR THE UNITED KINGDOM WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED, ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED THAT 
IT IS A “QUALIFIED INVESTOR” AS DEFINED IN THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION. THE ISSUER AND EACH UNDERWRITER 
AND OTHERS WILL RELY ON THE TRUTH AND ACCURACY OF THE FOREGOING REPRESENTATION, ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
AND AGREEMENT. 


NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN THE UNITED KINGDOM 


THE ISSUE AND DISTRIBUTION OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS RESTRICTED BY LAW.  THIS OFFICIAL 
STATEMENT IS NOT BEING DISTRIBUTED BY, NOR HAS IT BEEN APPROVED FOR THE PURPOSES OF SECTION 21 OF THE 







 


 


FINANCIAL SERVICES AND MARKETS ACT 2000 (THE “FSMA”) AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO THE PUBLIC IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 85 OF THE FSMA.  THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS FOR DISTRIBUTION 
ONLY TO, AND IS DIRECTED SOLELY AT, PERSONS WHO (I) ARE OUTSIDE THE UNITED KINGDOM, (II) ARE INVESTMENT 
PROFESSIONALS, AS SUCH TERM IS DEFINED IN ARTICLE 19(5) OF THE FSMA (FINANCIAL PROMOTION) ORDER 2005, AS 
AMENDED (THE “FINANCIAL PROMOTION ORDER”), (III) ARE PERSONS FALLING WITHIN ARTICLE 49(2)(A) TO (D) OF THE 
FINANCIAL PROMOTION ORDER, OR (IV) ARE PERSONS TO WHOM AN INVITATION OR INDUCEMENT TO ENGAGE IN 
INVESTMENT ACTIVITY (WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 21 OF THE FSMA) IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OR SALE 
OF ANY SECURITIES MAY OTHERWISE BE LAWFULLY COMMUNICATED OR CAUSED TO BE COMMUNICATED (ALL SUCH 
PERSONS TOGETHER BEING REFERRED TO AS “RELEVANT PERSONS”).  THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS DIRECTED ONLY AT 
RELEVANT PERSONS AND MUST NOT BE ACTED ON OR RELIED ON BY PERSONS WHO ARE NOT RELEVANT PERSONS.  ANY 
INVESTMENT OR INVESTMENT ACTIVITY TO WHICH THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT RELATES IS AVAILABLE ONLY TO 
RELEVANT PERSONS AND WILL BE ENGAGED IN ONLY WITH RELEVANT PERSONS.  ANY PERSON WHO IS NOT A 
RELEVANT PERSON SHOULD NOT ACT OR RELY ON THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT OR ANY OF ITS CONTENTS. 


NO PART OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT SHOULD BE PUBLISHED, REPRODUCED, DISTRIBUTED OR OTHERWISE 
MADE AVAILABLE IN WHOLE OR IN PART TO ANY OTHER PERSON WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE 
ISSUER.  THE BONDS ARE NOT BEING OFFERED OR SOLD TO ANY PERSON IN THE UK EXCEPT IN CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH 
WILL NOT RESULT IN AN OFFER OF SECURITIES TO THE PUBLIC IN THE UK WITHIN THE MEANING OF PART VI OF THE 
FSMA. 


POTENTIAL INVESTORS IN THE UK ARE ADVISED THAT ALL, OR MOST, OF THE PROTECTIONS AFFORDED BY THE 
UK REGULATORY SYSTEM WILL NOT APPLY TO AN INVESTMENT IN THE BONDS AND THAT COMPENSATION WILL NOT BE 
AVAILABLE UNDER THE UK FINANCIAL SERVICES COMPENSATION SCHEME. 


NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN SWITZERLAND 


THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS NOT INTENDED TO CONSTITUTE AN OFFER OR SOLICITATION TO PURCHASE OR 
INVEST IN THE BONDS.  THE BONDS MAY NOT BE PUBLICLY OFFERED, SOLD OR ADVERTISED DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, 
IN, INTO OR FROM SWITZERLAND WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE SWISS FINANCIAL SERVICES ACT ("FINSA") AND NO 
APPLICATION HAS OR WILL BE MADE TO ADMIT THE BONDS TO TRADING ON ANY TRADING VENUE (EXCHANGE OR 
REGULATED TRADING FACILITY) IN SWITZERLAND. NEITHER THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT NOR ANY OTHER OFFERING OR 
MARKETING MATERIAL RELATING TO THE BONDS CONSTITUTES A PROSPECTUS OR A KEY INFORMATION DOCUMENT 
PURSUANT TO THE FINSA OR A LISTING PROSPECTUS WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE LISTING RULES OF THE SIX SWISS 
EXCHANGE LTD. OR ANY REGULATED TRADING FACILITY IN SWITZERLAND, AND NEITHER THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
NOR ANY OTHER OFFERING OR MARKETING MATERIAL RELATING TO THE BONDS MAY BE PUBLICLY DISTRIBUTED OR 
OTHERWISE MADE PUBLICLY AVAILABLE IN SWITZERLAND. 


ACCORDINGLY, THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS COMMUNICATED IN OR FROM SWITZERLAND TO A LIMITED 
NUMBER OF SELECTED INVESTORS ONLY.  NEITHER THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT NOR ANY OTHER OFFERING OR 
MARKETING MATERIAL RELATING TO THE OFFERING, NOR THE ISSUER, NOR THE BONDS HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE FILED 
WITH OR APPROVED BY ANY SWISS REGULATORY AUTHORITY.  THE BONDS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO SUPERVISION BY ANY 
SWISS REGULATORY AUTHORITY, AN INVESTOR IN THE BONDS WILL NOT BENEFIT FROM PROTECTION OR SUPERVISION 
BY SUCH AUTHORITY. 


THE BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE COLLECTIVE INVESTMENTS WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE SWISS FEDERAL 
ACT ON COLLECTIVE INVESTMENT SCHEMES ("CISA"). ACCORDINGLY, HOLDERS OF THE BONDS DO NOT BENEFIT FROM 
PROTECTION UNDER THE CISA OR FROM THE SUPERVISION OF THE SWISS FINANCIAL MARKET SUPERVISORY 
AUTHORITY. INVESTORS ARE EXPOSED TO THE DEFAULT RISK OF THE ISSUER. 


NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN HONG KONG 


THE CONTENTS OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT HAVE NOT BEEN REVIEWED BY ANY REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
IN HONG KONG. YOU ARE ADVISED TO EXERCISE CAUTION IN RELATION TO THE OFFER OF THE BONDS. YOU ARE 
ADVISED TO EXERCISE CAUTION IN RELATION TO THE OFFERING CONTEMPLATED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  IF YOU 
ARE IN ANY DOUBT ABOUT ANY OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT, YOU SHOULD OBTAIN INDEPENDENT 
PROFESSIONAL ADVICE.  


THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT HAS NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED AS A PROSPECTUS (AS DEFINED IN 
THE COMPANIES (WINDING UP AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ORDINANCE (CHAPTER 32 OF THE LAWS OF HONG 
KONG)) IN HONG KONG (THE “C(WUMP)O”) NOR HAS IT BEEN APPROVED BY THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION 
OF HONG KONG PURSUANT TO THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE (CHAPTER 571 OF THE LAWS OF HONG KONG) 
(THE “SFO”). ACCORDINGLY, THE BONDS MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD IN HONG KONG BY MEANS OF THIS OFFICIAL 
STATEMENT OR ANY OTHER DOCUMENT, AND THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT MUST NOT BE ISSUED, CIRCULATED OR 
DISTRIBUTED IN HONG KONG, OTHER THAN (A) TO ‘PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS’ AS DEFINED IN THE SFO AND ANY RULES 
AND REGULATIONS MADE UNDER THE SFO; OR (B) IN OTHER CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH DO NOT RESULT IN THIS OFFICIAL 
STATEMENT OR ANY OTHER DOCUMENT BEING A “PROSPECTUS” AS DEFINED IN THE C(WUMP)O OR WHICH DO NOT 
CONSTITUTE AN OFFER OR INVITATION TO THE PUBLIC WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE C(WUMP)O. IN ADDITION, NO 







 


 


PERSON MAY ISSUE OR DISTRIBUTE OR HAVE IN ITS POSSESSION FOR THE PURPOSES OF ISSUE, WHETHER IN HONG KONG 
OR ELSEWHERE, ANY ADVERTISEMENT, INVITATION OR DOCUMENT RELATING TO THE BONDS, WHICH IS DIRECTED AT, 
OR THE CONTENTS OF WHICH ARE LIKELY TO BE ACCESSED OR READ BY, THE PUBLIC OF HONG KONG (EXCEPT IF 
PERMITTED TO DO SO UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF HONG KONG) OTHER THAN WITH RESPECT TO THE BONDS WHICH 
ARE OR ARE INTENDED TO BE DISPOSED OF ONLY (A) TO PERSONS OUTSIDE HONG KONG, AND (B) TO ‘PROFESSIONAL 
INVESTORS’ AS DEFINED IN THE SFO AND ANY RULES OR REGULATIONS MADE UNDER THE SFO. 


NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN JAPAN 


THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 
EXCHANGE ACT OF JAPAN (ACT NO. 25 OF 1948, AS AMENDED, THE “FIEA”). NEITHER THE BONDS NOR ANY INTEREST 
THEREIN MAY BE OFFERED OR SOLD, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, IN JAPAN OR TO, OR FOR THE BENEFIT OF, ANY 
RESIDENT OF JAPAN (AS DEFINED UNDER ITEM 5, PARAGRAPH 1, ARTICLE 6 OF THE FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND FOREIGN 
TRADE ACT (ACT NO. 228 OF 1949, AS AMENDED)), OR TO OTHERS FOR RE-OFFERING OR RESALE, DIRECTLY OR 
INDIRECTLY, IN JAPAN OR TO, OR FOR THE BENEFIT OF, ANY RESIDENT OF JAPAN, EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION 
FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF, AND OTHERWISE IN COMPLIANCE WITH, THE FIEA AND ANY OTHER 
APPLICABLE LAWS, REGULATIONS AND MINISTERIAL GUIDELINES OF JAPAN. 


THE PRIMARY OFFERING OF THE BONDS AND THE SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER FOR ACQUISITION THEREOF 
HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER PARAGRAPH 1, ARTICLE 4 OF THE FIEA. AS IT IS A PRIMARY 
OFFERING, IN JAPAN, THE BONDS MAY ONLY BE OFFERED, SOLD, RESOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, DIRECTLY OR 
INDIRECTLY TO, OR FOR THE BENEFIT OF CERTAIN QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS AS DEFINED IN THE FIEA 
(“QIIS”) IN RELIANCE ON THE QIIS-ONLY PRIVATE PLACEMENT EXEMPTION AS SET FORTH IN ITEM 2(I), PARAGRAPH 3, 
ARTICLE 2 OF THE FIEA. A QII WHO PURCHASED OR OTHERWISE OBTAINED THE BONDS CANNOT RESELL OR OTHERWISE 
TRANSFER THE BONDS IN JAPAN TO ANY PERSON EXCEPT ANOTHER QII. 


NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN TAIWAN 


 THE OFFER OF THE BONDS HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED OR FILED WITH, OR APPROVED BY, 
THE FINANCIAL SUPERVISORY COMMISSION OF TAIWAN AND/OR OTHER REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF TAIWAN 
PURSUANT TO RELEVANT SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS OF TAIWAN, AND THE BONDS, INCLUDING ANY COPY OF 
THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT OR ANY OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATING TO THE BONDS, MAY NOT BE OFFERED, ISSUED, 
SOLD, DELIVERED OR DISTRIBUTED IN TAIWAN THROUGH A PUBLIC OFFERING OR IN CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH 
CONSTITUTE AN OFFER WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF TAIWAN THAT REQUIRES THE 
REGISTRATION OR FILING WITH OR APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL SUPERVISORY COMMISSION OF TAIWAN. THE BONDS 
MAY BE MADE AVAILABLE OUTSIDE TAIWAN FOR PURCHASE BY INVESTORS RESIDING IN TAIWAN (EITHER DIRECTLY OR 
THROUGH PROPERLY LICENSED TAIWAN INTERMEDIARIES), BUT MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD IN TAIWAN EXCEPT TO 
QUALIFIED INVESTORS VIA A TAIWAN LICENSED INTERMEDIARY. ANY SUBSCRIPTIONS OF BONDS SHALL ONLY BECOME 
EFFECTIVE UPON ACCEPTANCE BY THE ISSUER OR THE RELEVANT DEALER OUTSIDE TAIWAN AND SHALL BE DEEMED A 
CONTRACT ENTERED INTO IN THE JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION OF THE ISSUER OR RELEVANT DEALER, AS THE 
CASE MAY BE, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN THE SUBSCRIPTION DOCUMENTS RELATING TO THE BONDS SIGNED BY 
THE INVESTORS. 


CERTIFICATION AS CLIMATE BONDS 


The Climate Bonds Initiative has provided the following paragraphs for inclusion in this Official Statement: [The certification of the 
2020 Bonds as Climate Bonds by the Climate Bonds Initiative is based solely on the Climate Bond Standard and does not, and is not intended to, 
make any representation or give any assurance with respect to any other matter relating to the 2020 Bonds or any Nominated Project, including 
but not limited to the Official Statement, the transaction documents, the District or the management of the District. 


The certification of the 2020 Bonds as Climate Bonds by the Climate Bonds Initiative was addressed solely to the board of directors of 
the District and is not a recommendation to any person to purchase, hold or sell the 2020 Bonds and such certification does not address the market 
price or suitability of the 2020 Bonds for a particular investor.  The certification also does not address the merits of the decision by the District or 
any third party to participate in any Nominated Project and does not express and should not be deemed to be an expression of an opinion as to the 
District or any aspect of any Nominated Project (including but not limited to the financial viability of any Nominated Project) other than with 
respect to conformance with the Climate Bond Standard. 


In issuing or monitoring, as applicable, the certification, the Climate Bonds Initiative has assumed and relied upon and will assume 
and rely upon the accuracy and completeness in all material respects of the information supplied or otherwise made available to the Climate 
Bonds Initiative.  The Climate Bonds Initiative does not assume or accept any responsibility to any person for independently verifying (and it has 
not verified) such information or to undertake (and it has not undertaken) any independent evaluation of any Nominated Project or the District.  In 
addition, the Climate Bonds Initiative does not assume any obligation to conduct (and it has not conducted) any physical inspection of any 
Nominated Project.  The certification may only be used with the 2020 Bonds and may not be used for any other purpose without the Climate 
Bonds Initiative’s prior written consent. 


The certification does not and is not in any way intended to address the likelihood of timely payment of interest when due on the 2020 
Bonds and/or the payment of principal at maturity or any other date. 







 


 


The certification may be withdrawn at any time in the Climate Bonds Initiative’s sole and absolute discretion and there can be no 
assurance that such certification will not be withdrawn.] 


 


 







 


1 


$[2020C-1 PAR]* 
(ELECTION OF 2016),  


2020 SERIES C-1  
(GREEN BONDS) 


$[2020C-2 PAR]* 
(ELECTION OF 2016),  


2020 SERIES C-2 (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 
(GREEN BONDS) 


 


INTRODUCTION 


The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page and appendices hereto, is to set 
forth certain information in connection with the issuance by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
(the “District” or “BART”) of $[2020 PAR]* aggregate principal amount of San Francisco Bay Area Rapid 
Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-1 (Green Bonds) (the “2020C-1 
Bonds”) and San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 
Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) (the “2020C-2 Bonds” and, together with the 2020C-1 Bonds, the 
“2020 Bonds”). 


The District was created in 1957 pursuant to the laws of the State of California (the “State”) to provide 
rapid transit service in the San Francisco Bay Area.  The District is composed of all of the area in the Counties 
of Alameda and Contra Costa and the City and County of San Francisco (herein referred to as the “Three BART 
Counties”).  In addition, the District owns property within the County of San Mateo and has easements to 
operate within the County of Santa Clara on which BART is operating facilities, and the District acquired the 
right to use additional right of way and station locations in connection with the extension of its rapid transit 
system (the “BART System”) to the San Francisco International Airport (“SFO”) located in the County of San 
Mateo.  The first phase of the extension of the BART System into the County of Santa Clara was completed in 
Fiscal Year 2019-20, as service to the Milpitas and Berryessa/North San José stations began on June 13, 2020.  
The District’s transit system extends over 130 miles and is the major transit provider of transbay traffic between 
the East Bay and downtown San Francisco, averaging historically over 227,000 transbay passengers each 
weekday and over [120] million passengers annually. The District is governed by an elected board of directors 
consisting of nine members.  For additional information concerning the District, see Appendix A – “SAN 
FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING 
INFORMATION.”   


The BART System ridership has been seriously impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic that has triggered 
shelter-in-place orders throughout the BART System and resulted in ridership declines by as much as [97%] 
from customary ridership levels.  For information relating to the COVID-19 outbreak, see “INVESTMENT 
CONSIDERATIONS – Infectious Disease Outbreak” and Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA 
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION – THE BART SYSTEM – 
Ridership” and “ – Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20 and Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21.”  For 
information relating to recent economic conditions within the Three BART Counties and the State, see 
Appendix D – “THE ECONOMY OF THE THREE BART COUNTIES.” 


The 2020 Bonds are not payable from BART operating funds but represent general obligations of the 
District and will be payable solely from ad valorem taxes to be levied without limitation as to rate or amount 
upon all property subject to taxation within the Three BART Counties (except certain personal property which is 
taxable at limited rates).  The estimated aggregate assessed value of property in the District for the fiscal year 
ending June 30, 2020 (“Fiscal Year 2019-20”) is $804.7 billion. 


 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 


OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 


$[2020 PAR]* 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 


 







 


2 


U.S. Bank National Association will serve as trustee (the “Trustee”) for the 2020 Bonds pursuant to a 
Trust Agreement (Measure RR), dated as of June 1, 2017 between the District and the Trustee, as supplemented, 
including by a Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2020 between the District and the 
Trustee (as supplemented, the “Trust Agreement”).  All capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein 
relating to the 2020 Bonds shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Trust Agreement. 


This Introduction is not a summary of this Official Statement.  It is only a brief description of and guide 
to the entire contents of this Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices hereto, and the 
documents summarized or described herein, a full review of which should be made by potential investors. All 
descriptions and summaries of various documents hereinafter set forth do not purport to be comprehensive or 
definitive, and reference is made to each document for complete details of all terms and conditions.  All 
statements herein are qualified in their entirety by reference to each document.  A copy of the Trust Agreement 
is available upon request to the Controller/Treasurer of the District.  The offering of the 2020 Bonds is made 
only by means of this entire Official Statement and is subject in all respects to the information contained herein. 







 


3 


PLAN OF FINANCE 


The 2020 Bonds are part of a $3.5 billion authorization approved at an election held on November 8, 
2016, by over two-thirds of the qualified voters of the District voting on a ballot measure (“Measure RR”) titled 
“BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief” which asked,  


“To keep BART safe; prevent accidents/breakdowns/delays; relieve overcrowding; 
reduce traffic congestion/pollution; and improve earthquake safety and access for 
seniors/disabled by replacing and upgrading 90 miles of severely worn tracks; tunnels damaged 
by water intrusion; 44-year-old train control systems; and other deteriorating infrastructure, 
shall the Bay Area Rapid Transit District issue $3.5 billion of bonds for acquisition or 
improvement of real property subject to independent oversight and annual audits?”  


Measure RR was placed on the ballot to fund a portion of the System Renewal Program, introduced by 
BART in 2016 to address critical infrastructure needs (the “System Renewal Program”). See Appendix A – 
“SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING 
INFORMATION – BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – System Renewal Program and 
System Reinvestment Program.”  On June 1, 2017, the District issued the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit 
District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2017 Series A-1 (Green Bonds) (the “2017A-1 Bonds”) in 
an aggregate principal amount of $271,600,000, of which $257,340,000 remain outstanding. On June 1, 2017, 
the District also issued the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election 
of 2016), 2017 Series A-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) (the “2017A-2 Bonds”) in an aggregate principal 
amount of $28,400,000, none of which remain outstanding.  On August 14, 2019, the District issued the San 
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2019 Series B-1 
(Green Bonds) (the “2019B-1 Bonds”) in an aggregate principal amount of $313,205,000, of which 
$307,765,000 remain outstanding.  On August 14, 2019, the District also issued the San Francisco Bay Area 
Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2019 Series B-2 (Federally Taxable) 
(Green Bonds) (the “2019B-2 Bonds”) in an aggregate principal amount of $46,795,000, none of which remain 
outstanding.  Upon issuance of the 2020 Bonds, the District will have $[2,140,000,000]* in remaining voter-
approved authorization for future issuances under Measure RR. 


The 2020 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Measure RR authorization to finance projects 
approved by Measure RR.  In light of reduced ridership on the BART System due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the District is accelerating its Measure RR projects, and is issuing the 2020 Bonds to provide additional funding 
for such projects.  See Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION – THE BART SYSTEM – Ridership.” 


Premium on the District’s general obligation bonds is required to be applied to debt service on the 2020 
Bonds so the District is issuing the 2020C-2 Bonds in order to more efficiently utilize such premium. 


 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 







 


4 


ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS* 


The proceeds of the sale of the 2020 Bonds are expected to be applied as follows: 


  
Sources of Funds  
Principal Amount  
[Net] Original Issue Premium  
  
 Total Sources   
  
Uses of Funds  
Project Fund  
Costs of Issuance†  
Interest and Sinking Fund‡  
  
 Total Uses   


_____________________________ 
† Includes Underwriters’ discount, rating agency fees, trustee fees, trustee counsel fees, climate bond certification fees, printing costs, 
Bond and Disclosure Counsel and Municipal Advisor fees and expenses, and other miscellaneous expenses. For details regarding the 
Underwriters’ discount, see “UNDERWRITING.” 
‡  To be applied to pay debt service on the 2020C-2 Bonds at maturity on [October 1], 2020*, and a portion of interest due on the 2020C-1 
Bonds through [February 1, 2021].  
 


 
(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank) 


 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 







 


5 


DESIGNATION AS GREEN BONDS / CLIMATE BOND CERTIFIED 


The information set forth under this caption “Climate Bond Certified” concerning (1) the Climate 
Bonds Initiative (the “Climate Bonds Initiative”) and the process for obtaining Climate Bond Certification (the 
“Climate Bond Certification”), and (2) First Environment, Inc. (“First Environment”) in its role as a verifier 
with respect to the Climate Bond Certification, all as more fully described below, has been extracted from 
materials provided by the Climate Bonds Initiative and First Environment, respectively, for such purposes, and 
none of such information is guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness or is to be construed as a representation 
by the District or the Underwriters. Additional information relating to the Climate Bonds Initiative, the Climate 
Bond Standard, the Certification Process (defined herein) and the process for obtaining Climate Bond 
Certification can be found at www.climatebonds.net. The link in the preceding sentence is included for reference 
only and the information contained therein is not incorporated by reference in this Official Statement.  


Designation as Green Bonds. BART is committed to advancing regional sustainability by providing 
safe, affordable, equitable, and environmentally-friendly transit to move people to jobs, recreation, and services.  
BART maintains a Sustainability Policy and a Sustainability Action Plan.  These plans, among other 
sustainability-related information, are available at www.bart.gov/sustainability.  BART is issuing the 2020 
Bonds as Green Bonds based on the environmentally sustainable elements of the projects being undertaken.  
BART’s Green Bonds designation is designed to track the “Green Bond Principles” promulgated by the 
International Capital Market Association (“ICMA”), updated most recently in June 2018.  By reference to the 
ICMA’s “Green and Social Bonds: A High-Level Mapping to the Sustainable Development Goals” (June 2018), 
BART’s Green Bonds aim to further several of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals.  
Specifically, the projects discussed herein primarily aim to address goals 8 (Decent Work and Economic 
Growth), 9 (Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure) and 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities). 


The terms “Climate Bond Certified” and “green bonds” are neither defined in, nor related to the 
Resolution, and their use herein is for identification purposes only and is not intended to provide or imply that a 
holder of the 2020 Bonds is entitled to any additional security other than as provided in the Resolution and the 
Trust Agreement. The District has no continuing legal obligation to maintain the Climate Bond Certification of 
the 2020 Bonds. 


The Climate Bonds Initiative and Climate Bond Certification.  Green Bonds, also known as Climate 
Bonds, were popularized in 2008 as a method for raising capital for climate-friendly projects across the globe. In 
2019, $257.5 billion in Climate Bonds were issued worldwide, according to the Climate Bonds Initiative, an 
international nongovernmental, nonprofit organization dedicated to stimulating investment in projects and assets 
supporting environmental sustainability. The District has requested, and the Climate Bonds Standard Board has 
approved, the labeling of the 2020 Bonds as “Climate Bond Certified” based on the Climate Bonds Standard 
Verification Statement provided by First Environment. First Environment’s factual findings assessed that 
eligible projects included in Measure RR conform to the Climate Bonds – Low Carbon Land Transport 
Standard. 


The District applied to the Climate Bonds Initiative under the Climate Bonds Standard & Certification 
Scheme (the “Certification Process”) to obtain (i) a programmatic certification that the District’s projects under 
Measure RR are consistent with the Low Carbon Land Transport Standard; and (ii) a designation of the 2020 
Bonds as “Climate Bond Certified.” The Certification Process is a voluntary verification initiative which allows 
the District to demonstrate to the investor market, the users of the District’s transportation system, and other 
stakeholders that the 2020 Bonds meet international standards for climate integrity, management of proceeds 
and transparency. The Certification Process provides a scientific framework for determining which projects and 
assets are consistent with a low carbon and climate resilient economy and, therefore, eligible for inclusion in a 
Certified Climate Bond. The Certification Process relating to the 2020 Bonds includes pre-issuance and post-
issuance requirements. 



http://www.bart.gov/sustainability





 


6 


The pre-issuance requirements are designed to ensure that the District has established appropriate 
internal processes and controls prior to issuance of the 2020 Bonds, and that these internal processes and 
controls are sufficient to enable conformance with the Certification Process after the 2020 Bonds have been 
issued and bond proceeds are expended. 


Use of Proceeds. The 2020 Bonds are being issued to finance or refinance projects under Measure RR 
that assist the District in providing mass transit services using an electrified railway that provides a low-carbon 
alternative to automobile travel. See “PLAN OF FINANCE” and Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY 
AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION – BART 
FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – System Renewal Program and System Reinvestment Program”.  
BART’s broader sustainability statistics include the following estimates:  


(i)  1,781,719,303 passenger miles traveled in 2018;   


(ii)  412,030 average weekday exits in 2018;  


(iii)  14.92 miles average trip length in 2018; 


(iv)  135,472 gallons of gasoline saved from all riders for one typical weekday; 


(v)  2,652,161 pounds of carbon dioxide emissions avoided from automobiles otherwise used by 
riders for one typical weekday; 


(vi)  324,893 megawatt-hours of traction power in 2018; 


(vii)  The vast majority of BART trains are 100% electric, with the exception of BART’s new 
Antioch Extension (“eBART”) commissioned in May 2018, which relies on renewable diesel as 
a propulsion fuel; 


(viii) In 2018 approximately 98% of such electric power comes from low- and zero-carbon sources, 
including photovoltaic solar and hydroelectric facilities; and 


(ix)  According to a 2010 U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Transit Administration report 
titled “Public Transportation’s Role in Responding to Climate Change,” BART was the 
country’s cleanest major transit system in its class emitting fewer pounds of carbon dioxide per 
passenger mile than any other transit system. 


Project Evaluation and Selection.  As described in “PLAN OF FINANCE”, BART developed its 
Capital Programs in response to systemwide operational and resiliency needs.  Measure RR was approved by 
over two-thirds of the qualified voters of the District.  Measure RR was placed on the ballot to fund a portion of 
the System Renewal Program, introduced by BART in 2016 to address critical infrastructure needs. 


Management of Proceeds. Proceeds of the 2020 Bonds will be deposited into the Project Fund and 
may be invested in any investments permitted by the District’s investment policy or in Investment Securities as 
such term is defined in the Trust Agreement.  See “THE 2020 BONDS – Purpose and Application of Proceeds”. 


Green Bond Reporting. As required by the Certification Process, the District will provide an annual 
post-issuance verification of compliance to the Climate Bonds Initiative, as well as an annual statement with 
respect to the Measure RR programs certifying, to the best of its knowledge, the District’s conformance with the 
certification requirements of the Climate Bonds Standard. The District will also provide an annual report to 







 


7 


bondholders of the 2020 Bonds regarding the projects financed by proceeds of the 2020 Bonds, and may 
voluntarily file such report on EMMA (as defined herein). 


THE 2020 BONDS 


Purpose and Application of Proceeds 


The 2020 Bonds are being issued to finance improvements to BART facilities authorized under Measure 
RR and the System Renewal Program (the “Project”).  See Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA 
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION – BART FINANCINGS 
AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – System Renewal Program and System Reinvestment Program.”  Proceeds will 
be applied to (i) finance the Project, (ii) pay a portion of debt service on the 2020 Bonds through [February 1, 
2021], including the debt service in full on the 2020C-2 Bonds, and (iii) pay costs of issuance of the 2020 
Bonds.  See “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.”  Proceeds of the 2020 Bonds deposited into 
the Project Fund may be invested in any investments permitted by the District’s investment policy or in 
Investment Securities as such term is defined in the Trust Agreement.  See Appendix H – “SUMMARY OF 
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT” herein. Other funds held by the Trustee will be 
invested by the Trustee at the direction of the District in Investment Securities as such term is defined in the 
Trust Agreement.  


Authority for Issuance 


The 2020 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the provisions of Part 2 of Division 10 of the Public 
Utilities Code of the State of California, commencing with Section 28500, Article 4.5 of Chapter 3 of Division 2 
of Title 5 of the California Government Code (the “Government Code”), commencing with Section 53506 and 
other applicable law, and according to the terms and in the manner set forth in the Trust Agreement, as 
authorized by Resolution No. [____] adopted by the Board of Directors of the District on [July 23, 2020] (the 
“Resolution”). 


Description of the 2020 Bonds 


The 2020 Bonds will be dated their date of delivery and will mature at the times and in the principal 
amounts as set forth on the inside cover page of the Official Statement.  Interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds shall be 
payable on February 1 and August 1 of each year, commencing [February 1, 2021].  Interest on the 2020C-2 
Bonds will be paid on the maturity date of such bonds.  Interest on the 2020 Bonds will be computed on the 
basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. 


Book-Entry-Only System 


The 2020 Bonds will be delivered in fully registered form only and, when issued, will be registered in 
the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”).  DTC 
will act as securities depository for the 2020 Bonds.  Beneficial ownership interests in the 2020 Bonds may be 
purchased by or through a DTC Direct Participant (as such term is defined in Appendix E – “CLEARING 
SYSTEMS”) in book-entry-only form in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  See 
Appendix E – “CLEARING SYSTEMS.” 


DTC will act as securities depository for the 2020 Bonds.  See Appendix E – “CLEARING SYSTEMS 
– Book Entry-Only System.”  Payments of interest on, principal of and premium, if any, on the 2020 Bonds will 
be made by the Trustee to DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., as registered owner of the 2020 Bonds.  Each such 
payment to DTC or its nominee will be valid and effective to fully discharge all liability of the District or the 







 


8 


Trustee with respect to the principal or redemption price of or interest on the 2020 Bonds to the extent of the 
sum or sums so paid.  


The District and the Trustee cannot and do not give any assurances that (1) DTC will distribute 
payments of principal of, premium if any, and interest on the 2020 Bonds, or redemption or other notices, to 
participants (“Participants”) of the Clearing Systems (as such term is defined in Appendix E – “CLEARING 
SYSTEMS”); (2) Participants or others will distribute debt service payments paid to DTC or its nominee (as the 
registered owner of the 2020 Bonds), or redemption or other notices, to the Beneficial Owners (as such term is 
defined in Appendix E – “CLEARING SYSTEMS”), or that they will do so on a timely basis; or (3) DTC or the 
other Clearing Systems will serve and act in the manner described in this Official Statement.  So long as the 
2020 Bonds are held in the book-entry-only system of DTC, the registered owner of the 2020 Bonds will be 
DTC, and not the beneficial owner. 


Payments, Transfers and Exchanges Upon Abandonment of Book-Entry-Only System 


The book-entry system for registration of the ownership of the 2020 Bonds in book-entry-only form 
may be discontinued at any time if:  (1) DTC resigns as securities depository for the 2020 Bonds; or (2) the 
District determines that a continuation of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or through a 
successor securities depository) is not in the best interests of the District.  In each of such events (unless the 
District appoints a successor securities depository), the 2020 Bonds shall be delivered in such denominations 
and registered in the names of such persons as are requested in a certificate of the District, but without any 
liability on the part of the District or the Trustee for the accuracy of such designation.  Whenever DTC requests 
the District and the Trustee to do so, the District and the Trustee shall cooperate with DTC in taking appropriate 
action after reasonable notice to arrange for another securities depository to maintain custody of or to print 
bonds evidencing the 2020 Bonds.  Thereafter, all 2020 Bonds are transferable or exchangeable as described in 
the Trust Agreement. 


In the event that the book-entry-only system is no longer used with respect to the 2020 Bonds, payment 
of interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds will be made on each interest payment date to the person whose name appears 
on the bond registration books of the Trustee as the registered owner of the 2020C-1 Bonds as of the close of 
business on the fifteenth day of the month prior to such interest payment date, whether or not such day is a 
Business Day (the “Record Date”).  Payment of the interest on any 2020C-1 Bond will be made by check or 
draft mailed by first class mail to the registered owner of such 2020C-1 Bond at such owner’s address as it 
appears on the bond registration books of the Trustee or at such address as such owner may have filed with the 
Trustee for that purpose; or, upon the written request of the registered owner of 2020C-1 Bonds aggregating not 
less than $1,000,000 in principal amount, given no later than the Record Date preceding the applicable interest 
payment date, by wire transfer in immediately available funds to an account maintained in the United States at 
such wire address as such owner shall specify in its written notice.  Principal of, and premium, if any, on the 
2020 Bonds, and interest on the 2020C-2 Bonds, will be payable upon presentation thereof at the principal 
corporate trust office of the Trustee or at such other location as the Trustee may designate.  The 2020 Bonds will 
be in the form of fully registered 2020 Bonds and will be issued in denominations of $5,000 or any integral 
multiple thereof. 


Redemption Provisions* 


Optional Redemption.  The 2020C-2 Bonds shall not be subject to redemption prior to their stated 
maturity date.  The 2020C-1 Bonds maturing on or before August 1, 20__ are not subject to redemption prior to 
their respective stated maturity dates.  The 2020C-1 Bonds maturing on and after August 1, 20__ are subject to 
redemption prior to their respective stated maturity dates, at the option of the District, from any source of 


 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 







 


9 


available funds, as a whole or in part, on any date on or after August 1, 20__ at the principal amount of the 
2020C-1 Bonds called for redemption, together with interest accrued thereon to the date of redemption, without 
premium.  If less than all of the 2020C-1 Bonds are called for redemption, the 2020C-1 Bonds shall be 
redeemed in such maturities as is directed by the District, and if less than all of the 2020C-1 Bonds of any given 
maturity are called for redemption, the portions of 2020C-1 Bonds of a given maturity to be redeemed shall be 
determined by lot. 


Mandatory Redemption.  The 2020C-1 Term Bond maturing on August 1, 20__, is also subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption on August 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal amounts as 
set forth in the following schedule, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof to be redeemed 
(without premium), together with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption. 


Mandatory 
Sinking Fund 
Payment Date 


(August 1) 
 


Mandatory 
Sinking Fund 


Payment Amount 
 


†  
_______________ 
†  Final Maturity 
 


The 2020C-1 Term Bond maturing on August 1, 20__, is also subject to mandatory sinking fund 
redemption on August 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal amounts as set forth in the following 
schedule, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof to be redeemed (without premium), 
together with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption. 


Mandatory 
Sinking Fund 
Payment Date 


(August 1) 
 


Mandatory 
Sinking Fund 


Payment Amount 
 


†  
_______________ 
†  Final Maturity 
 


The 2020C-1 Term Bond maturing on August 1, 20__, is also subject to mandatory sinking fund 
redemption on August 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal amounts as set forth in the following 
schedule, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof to be redeemed (without premium), 
together with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption. 


Mandatory 
Sinking Fund 
Payment Date 


(August 1) 
 


Mandatory 
Sinking Fund 


Payment Amount 
 


†  
_______________ 
†  Final Maturity 
 







 


10 


The principal amount of each mandatory sinking fund payment of any maturity shall be reduced as 
specified by the District, in $5,000 increments, by the amount of any 2020C-1 Bonds of that maturity optionally 
redeemed prior to the mandatory sinking fund payment date. 


Selection of Redemption.  If less than all of the 2020C-1 Bonds are called for redemption, such 2020C-
1 Bonds shall be redeemed in such maturities as is directed by the District.  Whenever less than all of the 
2020C-1 Bonds of any one maturity are designated for redemption, the Trustee shall select the 2020C-1 Bonds 
to be redeemed by lot in any manner deemed fair by the Trustee.  For purposes of such selection, each 2020C-1 
Bond shall be deemed to consist of individual 2020C-1 Bonds of $5,000 denominations each, which may be 
separately redeemed. 


Notice and Effect of Redemption.  Notice of any redemption of any 2020C-1 Bonds shall be given by 
the Trustee upon written request of the District by first class mail to the registered owners of any 2020C-1 
Bonds designated for redemption at least twenty (20) but not more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption 
date.  Each notice of redemption shall contain all of the following information: (i) the date of such notice; (ii) 
the name of the 2020C-1 Bonds and the date of issue of the 2020C-1 Bonds; (iii) the redemption date; (iv) the 
redemption price; (v) the dates of maturity of the 2020C-1 Bonds to be redeemed; (vi) (if less than all of the 
2020C-1 Bonds of any maturity are to be redeemed) the distinctive numbers of the 2020C-1 Bonds of each 
maturity to be redeemed; (vii) (in the case of 2020C-1 Bonds redeemed in part only) the respective portions of 
the principal amount of the 2020C-1 Bonds of each maturity to be redeemed; (viii) the CUSIP number, if any, of 
each maturity of 2020C-1 Bonds to be redeemed; (ix) a statement that such 2020C-1 Bonds must be surrendered 
by the Owners at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee, or at such other place or places designated 
by the Trustee; and (x) notice that further interest on such 2020C-1 Bonds will not accrue from and after the 
designated redemption date.  A certificate of the Trustee or the District that notice of redemption has been given 
to Owners and to the appropriate securities depositories and as may be further required in the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement shall be conclusive as against all parties.  The actual receipt by the Owner of any Bond or 
by any securities depository or any other party of notice of redemption shall not be a condition precedent to 
redemption, and failure to receive such notice, or any defect in the notice given, shall not affect the validity of 
the proceedings for the redemption of such 2020C-1 Bonds or the cessation of interest on the date fixed for 
redemption.  When notice of redemption has been given substantially as provided for in the Trust Agreement, 
and when the redemption price of the 2020C-1 Bonds called for redemption is set aside as provided in the Trust 
Agreement, the 2020C-1 Bonds designated for redemption shall become due and payable on the specified 
redemption date and interest shall cease to accrue thereon as of the redemption date, and upon presentation and 
surrender of such 2020C-1 Bonds at the place specified in the notice of redemption, such 2020C-1 Bonds shall 
be redeemed and paid at the redemption price thereof out of the money provided therefor.  The Owners of such 
2020C-1 Bonds so called for redemption after such redemption date shall look for the payment of such 2020C-1 
Bonds and the redemption premium thereon, if any, only to the interest and sinking fund of the District (the 
“Interest and Sinking Fund”) or the escrow fund established for such purpose.  All 2020C-1 Bonds redeemed 
shall be cancelled forthwith by the Trustee and shall not be reissued. 


Conditional Notice.  Any notice of optional redemption delivered with respect to the 2020C-1 Bonds 
may be conditioned on any fact or circumstance stated therein, and if such condition stated in the notice of 
redemption will not have been satisfied on or prior to the redemption date, said notice will be of no force and 
effect, the redemption will be cancelled, and the District will not be required to redeem the 2020C-1 Bonds that 
were the subject of the notice.  The Trustee will within a reasonable time thereafter give notice of such 
cancellation and the reason therefor in the same manner in which notice of redemption was originally given.  
The actual receipt by the Owner of any 2020C-1 Bond of notice of such cancellation will not be a condition 
precedent to cancellation, and failure to receive such notice or any defect in such notice will not affect the 
validity of the cancellation. 







 


11 


Right to Rescind Notice of Redemption.  The District may rescind any optional redemption and notice 
thereof for any reason on any date on or prior to the date fixed for optional redemption by causing written notice 
of the rescission to be given to the registered owners of the 2020C-1 Bonds so called for redemption.  In 
addition, any optional redemption and notice thereof shall be rescinded if for any reason on the date fixed for 
redemption moneys are not available in the Interest and Sinking Fund established pursuant to the Trust 
Agreement or otherwise held in trust for such purpose in an amount sufficient to pay in full on said date the 
principal of, interest, and any premium due on the 2020C-1 Bonds called for redemption.  Any notice of 
rescission shall be given in the same manner in which notice of redemption was originally given.  The actual 
receipt by the registered owner of any 2020C-1 Bond of notice of such rescission shall not be a condition 
precedent to rescission, and failure to receive such notice or any defect in such notice shall not affect the validity 
of the rescission. 


Defeasance 


If at any time the District shall pay or cause to be paid or there shall otherwise be paid to the registered 
owners of all outstanding 2020 Bonds all of the principal, interest and premium, if any, represented by 2020 
Bonds at the times and in the manner provided in the Trust Agreement and in the 2020 Bonds, or as provided 
pursuant to the provisions of the Trust Agreement described in the following paragraph, or as otherwise 
provided by law consistent with the Trust Agreement, then such registered owners shall cease to be entitled to 
the obligation of the District to levy taxes for payment of the 2020 Bonds as described in the Trust Agreement, 
and such obligation and all agreements and covenants of the District to such registered owners under the Trust 
Agreement and under the 2020 Bonds shall thereupon be satisfied and discharged and shall terminate, except 
only that the District shall remain liable for payment of all principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the 
2020 Bonds, but only out of monies or securities on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund or otherwise held 
in trust for such payment. 


Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the District may pay and discharge any or all of the 2020 Bonds by 
depositing in trust with the Trustee (or an escrow agent) at or before maturity, lawful money of the United States 
of America or non-callable Investment Securities described in clauses (i), (ii) or (vi) of the definition thereof, in 
an amount which, together with the interest to accrue thereon and available monies then on deposit in the 
Interest and Sinking Fund, will be fully sufficient to pay and discharge the indebtedness on such 2020 Bonds 
(including all principal, interest and redemption premiums) at or before their respective maturity dates.  See 
Appendix H – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT” herein. 


 


(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank) 







 


12 


 


DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULES 


The following table sets forth annual debt service on the 2020 Bonds together with the annual debt 
service of the prior series of bonds issued pursuant to Measure RR and the aggregate debt service of all general 
obligation bonds of the District: 


  2020 Bonds(1)  
  


Year 
Ending 


August 1 


Outstanding 
Measure RR 


Bonds 
Debt Service 


 


Total 
2020 Bonds 


Debt Service 


Aggregate 
Measure RR 
Bonds Debt 


Service 


  


Principal Interest 


Aggregate 
Measure AA(3) 


Bonds Debt 
Service 


 
Aggregate GO 


Bonds Debt 
Service 


2021 $34,230,700.00   (2)  $55,933,443.66  
2022 34,228,200.00     54,655,593.66  
2023 34,228,050.00     54,655,343.66  
2024 34,226,950.00     54,656,843.66  
2025 34,229,200.00     54,655,293.66  
2026 34,231,950.00     54,657,643.66  
2027 34,228,700.00     54,655,593.66  
2028 34,233,200.00     54,656,093.66  
2029 34,233,450.00     54,654,343.66  
2030 34,232,950.00     54,656,101.86  
2031 34,229,950.00     54,658,065.76  
2032 34,232,700.00     54,653,762.76  
2033 34,230,750.00     54,652,833.86  
2034 34,232,750.00     54,655,660.26  
2035 34,230,700.00     54,656,544.76  
2036 34,229,300.00     54,653,452.50  
2037 34,231,100.00     54,656,946.50  
2038 34,231,650.00     54,656,950.00  
2039 34,234,300.00     -  
2040 34,227,000.00     -  
2041 34,230,750.00     -  
2042 34,229,400.00     -  
2043 34,226,800.00     -  
2044 34,230,200.00     -  
2045 34,232,500.00     -  
2046 34,231,200.00     -  
2047 34,230,150.00     -  
2048 17,457,150.00     -  


2049 17,458,500.00     -  
Total(1)    $959,140,200.00     $985,080,511.20  


 


_________________________________ 
(1)  Totals may reflect rounding. 
(2)  Includes debt service to be paid from a portion of proceeds of the 2020 Bonds through [February 1, 2021]. 
(3)  Measure AA refers to the bond measure approved by the voters in the Three BART Counties at the November 2, 2004 election, 
pursuant to which the District issued $980 million of general obligation bonds between 2004 and 2019. 
 







 


13 


SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE 2020 BONDS 


General 


In order to provide sufficient funds for repayment of principal and interest when due on the 2020 
Bonds, the District is empowered and is obligated to annually levy ad valorem taxes upon all property 
subject to taxation by the District, without limitation as to rate or amount (except as to certain personal 
property which is taxable at limited rates).  Such taxes are in addition to all other taxes levied upon 
property within the District.  Such taxes, when collected and received by the respective BART county 
collecting such taxes on behalf of the District, will be deposited in the Interest and Sinking Fund for the 
bonds authorized by Measure RR, including the 2020 Bonds. 


The District, in the Trust Agreement, pledges all revenues from the property taxes collected from 
the levy for the payment of the 2020 Bonds, and amounts on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund to 
the payment of the principal or redemption price of and interest on the such Bonds.  The Trust Agreement 
provides that the pledge will be valid and binding from the date of the Trust Agreement for the benefit of 
the owners of the Bonds and successors thereto.  The property taxes and amounts held in the Interest and 
Sinking Fund will be immediately subject to this pledge, and the pledge will constitute a lien and security 
interest which will immediately attach to the property taxes and amounts held in the Interest and Sinking 
Fund to secure the payment of the Bonds and will be effective, binding, and enforceable against the 
District, its successors, creditors and all others irrespective of whether those parties have notice of the 
pledge and without the need of any physical delivery, recordation, filing, or further act.  “Bonds” for 
purpose of the pledge contained in the Trust Agreement means all bonds of the District heretofore or 
hereafter issued pursuant to the voter approved Measure RR of the District. 


California Government Code Section 53515 (enacted by California Senate Bill 222 (2015), 
effective January 1, 2016), provides that general obligation bonds are secured by a statutory lien on the ad 
valorem taxes levied and collected to pay principal and interest thereon.  For more information, see 
“INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS – Limitation on Remedies” herein. 


Property Taxation System 


Local property taxation is the responsibility of the District and various officers of each of the 
Three BART Counties.  In each county, the county assessor computes the value of locally assessed 
taxable property.  Based on the assessed value of property and the scheduled debt service on outstanding 
Bonds in each year, the District computes the rate of tax necessary to pay such debt service and transmits 
that information to each county auditor-controller.  Each county auditor-controller prepares the tax rolls, 
and presents those rolls (including rates of tax for all taxing jurisdictions in the county) to the county 
board of supervisors for approval.  Each county treasurer-tax collector prepares and mails bills to 
taxpayers and collects the taxes.  The treasurer-tax collectors of Alameda County, Contra Costa County 
and the City and County of San Francisco transmit the tax revenues collected to pay the District’s 
outstanding general obligation bonds directly to the Trustee.  The State Board of Equalization also 
assesses certain special classes of property, as described later in this section. 


Property tax revenues result from the application of the appropriate tax rate to the total assessed 
value of taxable property in the District.  The District levies taxes through the combination of its own 
actions and the actions of county officers as described above for payment of voter-approved bonds.  The 
District receives an additional allocation of property taxes for general operating purposes which constitute 
a part of each county’s general 1% levy.  These taxes are deposited in the District’s general fund and are 
used by the District for operations.  







 


14 


Assessed Valuation of Property Within the District 


As required by the law of the State, the District utilizes the services of each of the Three BART 
Counties for the assessment and collection of ad valorem taxes on property, as discussed above.  Such 
District taxes are collected at the same time and on the same tax rolls as are county, school district, and 
other special district taxes.  The Three BART Counties have each adopted, subject to certain limitations, 
an Alternative Method of Distribution of Tax Levies and Collections and of Tax Sale Proceeds (each, a 
“Teeter Plan”), as provided for in Section 4701 et seq. of the California Revenue and Taxation Code, as 
described under “—Tax Rates, Collections and Delinquencies” and “—Teeter Plans” below. 


Under Proposition 13, an amendment adopted in 1978 which added Article XIIIA to the 
California Constitution (“Article XIIIA”), the county assessor’s valuation of real property is established 
as shown on the Fiscal Year 1975-76 tax bill, or, thereafter, as the appraised value of real property when 
purchased, newly constructed, or a change in ownership has occurred.  Assessed value of property not 
otherwise adjusted may be increased annually to reflect inflation at a rate not to exceed 2% per year, or 
reduced to reflect a reduction in the consumer price index or comparable data for the area under taxing 
jurisdiction or in the event of declining property value caused by substantial damage, destruction, market 
forces or other factors.  As a result of these rules, real property that has been owned by the same taxpayer 
for many years can have an assessed value that is much lower than that of similar properties more recently 
sold, and that may be lower than its own market value.  Likewise, changes in ownership of property and 
reassessment of such property to market value commonly will lead to increases in aggregate assessed 
value even when the rate of inflation or consumer price index would not permit the full 2% increase on 
any property that has not changed ownership.  


Proposition 13 has had the effect of stabilizing assessed valuation such that it does not fluctuate 
as significantly as the market value of property, but instead gradually changes as longer owned residential 
properties are transferred and reassessed upon such transfer. Residences newly constructed or acquired 
prior to a downturn in the housing market may substantially decrease in assessed value. Other factors 
which may affect the value of property and cause it to decline are substantial damage, destruction, or 
inflation.  See “CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS” and “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS” 
below. 


State law provides exemptions from ad valorem property taxation for certain classes of property 
such as churches, colleges, non-profit hospitals, and charitable institutions.  State law also exempts from 
taxation $7,000 of the full cash value of an owner-occupied dwelling provided that the owner files for 
such exemption. 


The greater the assessed value of taxable property in the District, the lower the tax rate necessary 
to generate taxes sufficient to pay scheduled debt service on the District’s Bonds. 


The following table shows a recent history of the assessed valuation of property in the District 
(“Fiscal Year” refers to fiscal years of July 1 through the following June 30 of the years indicated). 


 


(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank) 


 







 


15 


San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
Assessed Valuation  


(Fiscal Years Ending June 30)  
 
 Fiscal Year Local Secured Utility Unsecured Total % Change 
 


City and County of San Francisco Portion 
 
 2008-09  $130,824,730,768   $79,163,963  $9,061,373,546   $139,965,268,277   8.79%   
 2009-10  139,453,860,923  50,879,439   10,405,985,652   149,910,726,014   7.11  
 2010-11  146,680,168,492   43,565,042   9,446,789,960   156,170,523,494   4.18  
 2011-12  147,612,367,616   41,527,475   9,249,419,572   156,903,314,663   0.47  
 2012-13  153,348,031,902   46,515,990   9,764,668,943   163,159,216,835   3.99  
 2013-14  160,650,767,471   35,943,747   9,867,122,786   170,553,834,004   4.53  
 2014-15  169,001,854,462   32,843,747   10,734,859,006   179,769,557,215   5.40  
 2015-16  180,311,079,707   250,473,678   11,784,296,408   192,345,849,793   7.00  
 2016-17  195,319,718,011   242,464,205   13,750,364,838   209,312,547,054   8.82 
 2017-18 217,167,706,689 456,895,690 14,017,474,513   231,642,076,892  10.67  
 2018-19 241,800,535,728 453,925,863 14,410,415,905 256,664,877,496  10.80 
 2019-20 261,018,657,481 437,144,893 17,009,940,509 278,465,742,883 8.49 


 
Alameda County Portion 


 
 2008-09  $190,471,878,466   $94,381,821   $10,984,359,699   $201,550,619,986   4.81% 
 2009-10  184,783,512,536   98,948,510   11,426,546,149   196,309,007,195   -2.60 
 2010-11  181,685,580,407   97,581,171   11,448,265,391   193,231,426,969   -1.57 
 2011-12  181,858,450,818   71,523,308   11,273,954,399   193,203,928,525   -0.01 
 2012-13  185,782,114,251   261,640,769   11,629,397,550   197,673,152,570   2.31  
 2013-14  195,515,528,517   969,629,855   11,531,178,412   208,016,336,784   5.23  
 2014-15  208,003,389,831   770,033,506   11,695,232,865   220,468,656,202   5.99  
 2015-16  224,219,586,188   758,810,176   12,564,441,697   237,542,838,061   7.74  
 2016-17  240,518,829,251   726,989,170   12,841,386,839   254,087,205,260   6.96 
 2017-18 257,329,548,075 597,814,349 13,101,928,319 271,029,290,743   6.67 
 2018-19 275,571,099,438 560,652,352 13,666,895,652 289,798,647,442  6.93 
 2019-20 294,758,415,232  543,751,013  15,049,638,027  310,351,804,272 7.09 


 
Contra Costa County Portion 


  
 2008-09  $151,955,031,630   $576,695,232   $4,997,996,781   $157,529,723,643   0.23% 
 2009-10  140,354,485,948   557,056,345   5,288,096,603   146,199,638,896   -7.19 
 2010-11  135,669,128,300   560,296,728   5,037,631,621   141,267,056,649   -3.37 
 2011-12  134,765,284,339   539,960,865   5,240,695,911   140,545,941,115   -0.51 
 2012-13  135,755,672,418   590,750,775   5,454,953,657   141,801,376,850   0.89  
 2013-14  140,680,879,833   986,316,033   5,404,238,387   147,071,434,253   3.72  
 2014-15  153,890,877,314   1,093,614,055   5,485,371,422   160,469,862,791   9.11  
 2015-16  166,143,700,424   989,438,611   5,238,343,881   172,371,482,916   7.42  
 2016-17  176,545,464,148   969,779,069   5,145,073,152   182,660,316,369   5.97 
 2017-18 186,998,751,975 732,963,837 5,198,546,983 192,930,262,795   5.62 
 2018-19 198,900,921,175 660,996,279 5,490,387,706 205,052,305,160  6.28 
 2019-20 209,515,810,794  622,389,632  5,712,374,229  215,850,574,655 5.27 


 
Total 


  
 2008-09  $473,251,640,864   $750,241,016   $25,043,730,026   $499,045,611,906   4.37% 
 2009-10  464,591,859,407   706,884,294   27,120,628,404   492,419,372,105  -1.33 
 2010-11  464,034,877,199   701,442,941   25,932,686,972   490,669,007,112  -0.36 
 2011-12  464,236,102,773   653,011,648   25,764,069,882   490,653,184,303   0.00 
 2012-13  474,885,818,571   898,907,534   26,849,020,150   502,633,746,255   2.44  
 2013-14  496,847,175,821   1,991,889,635   26,802,539,585   525,641,605,041   4.58  
 2014-15  530,896,121,607   1,896,491,308   27,915,463,293   560,708,076,208   6.67  
 2015-16  570,674,366,319   1,998,722,465   29,587,081,986   602,260,170,770   7.41  
 2016-17  612,384,011,410   1,939,232,444   31,736,824,829   646,060,068,683   7.27 
 2017-18 661,496,006,739 1,787,673,876 32,317,949,815 695,601,630,430  7.67 
 2018-19 716,272,556,341 1,675,574,494   33,567,699,263 751,515,830,098  8.04 
 2019-20 765,292,883,507  1,603,285,538  37,771,952,765  804,668,121,810 7.07 
_______ 
Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc. 


 







 


16 


Based upon information provided by the office of the Auditor-Controller for Contra Costa 
County, and by the Office of the Auditor-Controller for Alameda County and by the Office of the 
Controller of the City and County of San Francisco, the assessed value of taxable property within the 
District was approximately $804.7 billion in Fiscal Year 2019-20.  Assessed value increased in Fiscal 
Year 2019-20 from Fiscal Year 2018-19 by approximately $53.2 billion, or 7.07%. Assessed values could 
decline or rise due to factors beyond the District’s control, including taxpayer appeal, general economic 
conditions, or earthquakes or other natural or manmade disasters.  The assessed value has grown by 
approximately 63.4% over the last ten years, with a ten-year compound annual growth rate of 
approximately [____]%.  See “CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS” and “INVESTMENT 
CONSIDERATIONS,” below, and Appendix D – “THE ECONOMY OF THE THREE BART 
COUNTIES.” 


Based upon preliminary information provided by the office of the Auditor-Controller for 
Alameda County for Fiscal Year 2020-21, the assessed value of taxable property within the District in 
Alameda County is approximately $331.5 billion, comprised of $314.6 billion on the local secured roll, 
$525.6 million on the utility roll and $16.3 billion on the unsecured roll.  Based upon preliminary 
information provided by the office of the Auditor-Controller for Contra Costa County for Fiscal Year 
2020-21, the assessed value of taxable property within the District in Contra Costa County is 
approximately $[____] billion, comprised of $[____] billion on the local secured roll, $[____] million on 
the utility roll and $[____] billion on the unsecured roll.  Based upon preliminary information provided by 
the office of the Auditor-Controller of the City and County of San Francisco for Fiscal Year 2020-21, the 
assessed value of taxable property within the District in the City and County of San Francisco is 
approximately $320.3 billion, comprised of $298.7 billion on the local secured roll and $21.5 billion on 
the unsecured roll. Based upon these preliminary amounts, the assessed value in the District is 
approximately $[____] billion in Fiscal Year 2020-21, an increase of approximately [____]% from Fiscal 
Year 2019-20. 


 


(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank) 







 


17 


The following table gives the distribution of taxable property in the District by location. 


San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
2019-20 Assessed Valuation by Jurisdiction 


 Assessed Valuation % of Assessed Valuation % of Jurisdiction 
Jurisdiction: in District District of Jurisdiction in District 
City of Alameda    $  14,580,243,935 1.81%  $14,580,243,935  100.000% 
City of Albany    2,967,174,381 0.37  $2,967,174,381  100.000% 
City of Antioch    11,391,910,533 1.42  $11,391,910,533  100.000% 
City of Berkeley    20,787,912,797 2.58  $20,787,912,797  100.000% 
City of Brentwood    10,640,961,904 1.32  $10,640,961,904  100.000% 
City of Clayton    2,363,949,198 0.29  $2,363,949,198  100.000% 
City of Concord    17,976,939,150 2.23  $17,976,939,150  100.000% 
Town of Danville 13,815,885,863 1.72  $13,815,885,863  100.000% 
City of Dublin    17,904,061,995 2.23  $17,904,061,995  100.000% 
City of El Cerrito    4,599,745,016 0.57  $4,599,745,016  100.000% 
City of Emeryville    5,985,557,932 0.74  $5,985,557,932  100.000% 
City of Fremont    54,562,404,571 6.78  $54,562,404,571  100.000% 
City of Hayward    23,805,439,230 2.96  $23,805,439,230  100.000% 
City of Hercules    3,905,899,543 0.49  $3,905,899,543  100.000% 
City of Lafayette    8,898,619,910 1.11  $8,898,619,910  100.000% 
City of Livermore    20,247,554,285 2.52  $20,247,554,285  100.000% 
City of Martinez    6,340,920,246 0.79  $6,340,920,246  100.000% 
Town of Moraga 4,493,281,160 0.56  $4,493,281,160  100.000% 
City of Newark    10,380,082,354 1.29  $10,380,082,354  100.000% 
City of Oakland    63,514,406,227 7.89  $63,514,406,227  100.000% 
City of Oakley    4,746,995,045 0.59  $4,746,995,045  100.000% 
City of Orinda    7,393,956,615 0.92  $7,393,956,615  100.000% 
City of Piedmont    4,744,091,256 0.59  $4,744,091,256  100.000% 
City of Pinole    2,660,030,211 0.33  $2,660,030,211  100.000% 
City of Pittsburg    7,779,193,197 0.97  $7,779,193,197  100.000% 
City of Pleasant Hill    6,616,832,643 0.82  $6,616,832,643  100.000% 
City of Pleasanton    25,241,143,501 3.14  $25,241,143,501  100.000% 
City of Richmond    15,788,577,893 1.96  $15,788,577,893  100.000% 
City of San Francisco    278,465,742,883 34.61  $278,465,742,883  100.000% 
City of San Leandro    14,205,469,618 1.77  $14,205,469,618  100.000% 
City of San Pablo    2,005,263,508 0.25  $2,005,263,508  100.000% 
City of San Ramon    22,556,688,916 2.80  $22,556,688,916  100.000% 
City of Union City    10,888,024,312 1.35  $10,888,024,312  100.000% 
City of Walnut Creek    19,802,020,412 2.46  $19,802,020,412  100.000% 
Unincorporated Alameda County 20,538,237,878 2.55  $20,538,237,878  100.000% 
Unincorporated Contra Costa County   42,072,903,692     5.23  $42,072,903,692  100.000% 
Total District $804,668,121,810 100.00%   
     
     
Summary by County:     
Alameda County $310,351,804,272 38.57% $310,351,804,272 100.000% 
Contra Costa County 215,850,574,655 26.82 $215,850,574,655 100.000% 
San Francisco City and County 278,465,742,883   34.61 $278,465,742,883 100.000% 
 $804,668,121,810 100.00%     
__________ 
Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc. 


 







 


18 


The following table shows the local secured assessed valuation and number of parcels by land use 
category for property in the District for Fiscal Year 2019-20. 


San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
Assessed Valuation and Parcels by Land Use 


 2019-20 % of No. of % of 
Non-Residential: Assessed Valuation(1) Total Parcels Total 
  Agricultural/Rural $    3,874,025,119  0.51% 6,001 0.58% 
  Commercial/Office 123,752,988,874 16.14 28,311 2.73 
  Vacant Commercial 2,467,274,092 0.32 2,227 0.21 
  Industrial 48,352,932,167 6.31 11,462 1.11 
  Vacant Industrial 2,225,012,885 0.29 2,231 0.22 
  Power Plants/Utility Roll 1,603,285,538 0.21 107 0.01 
  Recreational 2,575,881,063 0.34 2,219 0.21 
  Government/Social/Institutional 2,458,178,209 0.32 23,557 2.27 
  Miscellaneous         996,321,637   0.13   2,287 0.22 
    Subtotal Non-Residential $188,305,899,584  24.55% 78,402 7.57% 
 
Residential: 
  Single Family Residence $389,718,824,117  50.82% 691,815 66.78% 
  Condominium/Townhouse 85,384,036,483 11.13 150,124 14.49 
  Mobile Home 176,492,278 0.02 4,201 0.41 
  2-4 Residential Units 36,789,000,195 4.80 55,627 5.37 
  5+ Residential Units/Apartments 57,480,286,081 7.50 22,777 2.20 
  Timeshare Units 136,621,626 0.02 5,398 0.52 
  Vacant Residential     5,840,181,204   0.76   23,409   2.26 
    Subtotal Residential $575,525,441,984  75.05% 953,351 92.02% 
 
Unclassified Vacant Parcels $3,064,827,477  0.40% 4,274 0.41% 
 
Total $766,896,169,045  100.00% 1,036,027 100.00% 
_______________________________ 
(1)  Total Secured Assessed Valuation, excluding tax-exempt property. 
Source:  California Municipal Statistics, Inc. 
 
Tax Rates, Collections and Delinquencies 


Ad valorem taxes are levied for each Fiscal Year on taxable real and personal property on the tax 
rolls as of the preceding January 1.  Real property which changes ownership or is newly constructed is 
revalued at the time the change occurs or the construction is completed and the current year’s tax rate is 
applied to the reassessed value for the remainder of the tax year.  The annual tax rate is limited to the 1% 
general county levy of the full cash value, plus the amount necessary to pay all obligations legally payable 
from ad valorem taxes in the current year, including the 2020 Bonds.  The rate of tax necessary to pay 
fixed debt service on the 2020 Bonds in a given year will depend on the assessed value of taxable 
property in that year.  Economic and other factors beyond the District’s control, such as a general market 
decline in land values, reclassification of property to a class exempt from taxation, whether by ownership 
or use (such as exemptions for property owned by State and local agencies and property used for qualified 
educational, hospital, charitable or religious purposes), or the complete or partial destruction of taxable 
property caused by natural or manmade disaster, such as earthquake, fire, flood, toxic dumping, etc., 
could cause a reduction in the assessed value of taxable property within the District and necessitate a 
corresponding increase in the annual tax rate to be levied to pay the principal of and interest on the 2020 
Bonds. 


For assessment and collection purposes, property is classified either as “secured” or “unsecured” 
and is listed accordingly on the assessment roll.  The “secured roll” is that part of the assessment roll 







 


19 


containing State-assessed property and real property secured by a lien which is sufficient, in the opinion 
of the applicable County Assessor if relating to property in Alameda County or Contra Costa County, or 
in the opinion of the Assessor-Recorder if relating to property in the City and County of San Francisco, to 
secure payment of the taxes.  All other taxable property is assessed on the “unsecured roll” which 
generally comprises all property not attached to land, such as personal property or business equipment not 
otherwise exempt from taxation.  State law requires that the assessment roll be finalized by August 20 of 
each year. Secured property assessed by the State Board of Equalization is commonly identified for 
taxation purposes as “utility” property. 


Property taxes on the secured roll are due in two installments, on November 1 and February 1 of 
each Fiscal Year, and become delinquent on December 10 and April 10, respectively.  A penalty of ten 
percent (10%) attaches immediately to all delinquent payments.  Properties on the secured roll with 
respect to which taxes are delinquent become tax defaulted on or about June 30 of the Fiscal Year.  Such 
property may thereafter be redeemed by payment of a penalty of 1.5% per month to the time of 
redemption, plus costs and a redemption fee.  If taxes are unpaid for a period of five (5) years or more, the 
property is deeded to the State and then may be sold at public auction by the applicable County Treasurer-
Tax Collector if relating to property in Alameda County or Contra Costa County and by the Assessor-
Recorder if relating to property in the City and County of San Francisco. 


Property taxes on the unsecured roll are due as of the January 1 lien date and become delinquent 
on August 31.  A ten percent (10%) penalty attaches to delinquent unsecured taxes.  If unsecured taxes are 
unpaid at 5 p.m. on October 31, an additional penalty of 1.5% attaches on the first day of each month until 
paid.  Each of the Three BART Counties has four ways of collecting delinquent unsecured personal 
property taxes:  (1) a civil action against the taxpayer; (2) filing a judgment, such judgment to be filed in 
the office of the County Clerk-Recorder if relating to property in Alameda County or Contra Costa 
County, and to be filed in the office of the Assessor-Recorder if relating to property in the City and 
County of San Francisco, specifying certain facts in order to obtain a lien on certain property of the 
taxpayer; (3) recording a certificate of delinquency in the office of the County Clerk-Recorder if relating 
to property in Alameda County or Contra Costa County, and to be filed in the office of the Assessor-
Recorder in the City and County of San Francisco if relating to property in the City and County of San 
Francisco in order to obtain a lien on certain property of the taxpayer; and (4) seizure and sale of personal 
property, improvements or possessory interests belonging or assessed to the taxpayer. 


Property owners have a right to appeal the county assessor’s valuation of their real property.  See 
“INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS – Reassessments and Appeals of Assessed Values.” 


Generally, once an installment of property tax becomes delinquent, penalties are assessed 
commencing on the applicable delinquency date until the delinquent installment(s) and all assessed 
penalties are paid.  In the event of foreclosure and sale of property by a mortgage lender, all past due 
property taxes, penalties, and interest are required to be paid before such property is transferred to a 
purchaser or new owner. However, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Governor signed 
Executive Order N-61-20 which suspends the collection of interest, penalties, and costs on certain 
property specified in Executive Order N-61-20, as further described below. 


Property tax delinquencies may be impacted by economic and other factors beyond the District’s 
control, including the ability or willingness of property owners to pay property taxes during an economic 
recession or depression.  An economic recession or depression could be caused by many factors outside 
the control of the District, including high interest rates, reduced consumer confidence, reduced real wages 
or reduced economic activity as a result of the COVID-19 or other pandemic or natural or manmade 
disaster, such as earthquake, drought, flood, fire, or toxic dumping.  It is not possible for the District to 
make any representation regarding the extent to which an economic recession or depression, stemming 
from the effects of COVID-19 or otherwise, could impact the ability or willingness of property owners 
within the Three BART Counties to pay property taxes in the future.  For more information on the impact 







 


20 


of the COVID-19 pandemic, see “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS – Infectious Disease Outbreak” 
and Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND 
OPERATING INFORMATION – THE BART SYSTEM – Ridership” and “ – Adopted Budget for Fiscal 
Year 2019-20 and Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21.” 


In connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, the California Association of County Treasurers 
and Tax Collectors issued a statement indicating that, with respect to the April 10 deadline for the second 
installment of property taxes, counties (including each of the Three BART Counties) anticipate waiving 
penalties, costs or other charges resulting from tax delinquency due to reasonable cause and 
circumstances related to the pandemic, for fiscal year 2019-20. The District cannot predict the extent of 
delinquencies and delayed tax collections, or the resulting impact on the District’s financial condition or 
operations. However, the each of the Three BART Counties has adopted a Teeter Plan, and two of the 
Three BART Counties, Contra Costa County and the City and County of San Francisco, distributes to the 
District the amount levied instead of the amount actually collected.  Alameda County does not apply the 
Teeter Plan to the payment of District general obligation bonds.  Taxes to pay the 2020 Bonds collected in 
the City and County of San Francisco and the County of Contra Costa are included in their respective 
Teeter Plans.  See “– Teeter Plans.”  To address the potential delinquency risk, the District includes an 
estimated increase in the tax rate, historically in the 3-5 percent range, depending on current economic 
conditions, and determines the tax rate solely on the secured assessed value of property. 


Executive Order N-61-20 suspends provisions of the California Revenue and Taxation Code 
requiring collection of interest, penalties, and costs through May 6, 2021, for late payments of property 
taxes by homeowners and small businesses that are not subject to impounds and were not delinquent prior 
to March 4, 2020, upon the taxpayer demonstrating to the satisfaction of the tax collector that the taxpayer 
has suffered economic hardship, or was otherwise unable to tender payment of taxes in a timely fashion, 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic, or any local, state, or federal government response to COVID-19. The 
order did not materially reduce the payments received by the District in fiscal year 2019-20.  However, 
District is unable to predict the effect such order will have on the actual collections of property taxes in 
fiscal year 2020-21. 


 







 


21 


The following table shows recent history of real property tax collections and delinquencies in the 
District. 


San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
Secured Tax Charges and Delinquencies 


 
Fiscal Secured Amount Delinquent % Delinquent 
Year Tax Charge(1) as of June 30 as of June 30     


 
City and County of San Francisco 


2008-09 $1,593,133,350 $36,662,160 2.30% 
2009-10 1,691,156,025 38,793,839 2.29 
2010-11 1,768,368,141 29,102,564 1.65 
2011-12 1,810,103,262 25,476,315 1.41 
2012-13 1,878,868,414 20,668,235 1.10 
2013-14 2,018,013,991 19,020,178 0.94 
2014-15 1,996,955,408 15,959,828 0.80 
2015-16 2,146,646,004 14,089,301 0.66 
2016-17 2,310,696,197 12,020,054 0.52 
2017-18 2,556,736,908 14,820,215 0.58 
2018-19 2,824,518,111 17,721,353 0.63 


 
   


Alameda County 
2008-09 $2,678,200,557 $120,458,280 4.50% 
2009-10 2,672,803,086 87,299,945 3.27 
2010-11 2,622,091,573 66,671,453 2.54 
2011-12 2,677,341,749 57,514,916 2.15 
2012-13 2,728,535,736 42,358,154 1.55 
2013-14 2,881,348,672 36,423,504 1.26 
2014-15 3,061,123,272 34,486,942 1.13 
2015-16 3,246,190,994 41,818,285 1.29 
2016-17 3,464,296,368 40,054,443 1.16 
2017-18 3,769,332,149 35,390,342 0.94 
2018-19 4,064,040,849 38,260,609 0.94 


Contra Costa County 
2008-09 $2,023,534,994 $81,981,494 4.05% 
2009-10 1,942,410,318 53,621,790 2.76 
2010-11 1,871,495,451 34,561,134 1.85 
2011-12 1,914,539,235 54,091,753 2.83 
2012-13 1,910,681,659 20,720,820 1.08 
2013-14 2,018,861,039 19,163,615 0.95 
2014-15 2,198,680,361 18,988,337 0.86 
2015-16 2,323,318,942 18,134,715 0.78 
2016-17 2,443,499,532 18,332,203 0.75 
2017-18 2,589,121,926 17,384,044 0.67 
2018-19 2,755,201,406 19,550,849 0.71 


 
Total Three BART Counties 


2008-09 $6,294,868,901 $239,101,934 3.80% 
2009-10 6,306,369,429 179,715,574 2.85 
2010-11 6,261,955,165 130,335,151 2.08 
2011-12 6,401,984,246 137,082,984 2.14 
2012-13 6,518,085,809 83,747,209 1.28 
2013-14 6,918,223,702 74,607,294 1.08 
2014-15 7,256,759,041 69,435,107 0.96 
2015-16 7,716,155,940 74,042,301 0.96 
2016-17 8,218,492,097 70,406,700 0.86 
2017-18 8,915,190,983 67,594,601 0.76 
2018-19 9,643,760,366 75,532,811 0.78 


 
____________________________ 
(1)  All taxes collected by the county. 
Source:  California Municipal Statistics, Inc. 
 







 


22 


Teeter Plans 


The City and County of San Francisco, the County of Alameda and the County of Contra Costa 
each adopted a Teeter Plan, as provided for in Section 4701 et. seq. of the California Revenue and 
Taxation Code.  Under each Teeter Plan, each participating local agency levying property taxes is 
credited the amount of uncollected taxes in the same manner as if the amount credited had been collected.  
In return, the City and County of San Francisco, the County of Alameda and the County of Contra Costa 
receive and retain delinquent payments, penalties and interest as collected, that otherwise would have 
been due to the local agency.  Taxes to pay the 2020 Bonds collected in the City and County of San 
Francisco and the County of Contra Costa are included in their respective Teeter Plans.  The County of 
Alameda does not apply its Teeter Plan to collections of taxes for general obligation bonds, including the 
2020 Bonds. 


Each Teeter Plan is to remain in effect unless the Board of Supervisors of the applicable County 
orders its discontinuance or unless, prior to the commencement of a County’s fiscal year (which 
commences on July 1), the Board of Supervisors of such County receives a petition for its discontinuance 
joined in by resolutions duly adopted by the governing boards of at least two-thirds of the participating 
revenue districts in such County.  The applicable Board of Supervisors may, after holding a public 
hearing on the matter, discontinue the Teeter Plan with respect to any tax levying agency in such County 
if the rate of secured tax delinquency in that agency in any year exceeds three percent (3%) of the total of 
all taxes and assessments levied on the secured rolls in that agency. 


 


(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank) 


 







 


23 


Largest Taxpayers in the District 


 The following table shows the largest secured taxpayers in the District.  No secured taxpayer 
accounts for more than one percent of total assessed value, and the top twenty taxpayers in the District 
account for approximately 2.98% of total property taxes. 


San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
Largest Local Secured Taxpayers 


Fiscal Year 2019-20 
 


     2019-20 % of 
  Property Owner Primary Land Use County Assessed Valuation Total(1) 
 1. Chevron USA Inc. Industrial – Refinery Contra Costa $  3,434,311,283 0.45% 
 2. Tesla Motors Inc. Industrial Alameda 2,541,277,369 0.33 
 3. Transbay Tower LLC Office Building San Francisco 1,691,744,881 0.22 
 4. Equilon Enterprises LLC Industrial – Refinery Contra Costa 1,534,394,082 0.20 
 5. HWA 555 Owners LLC Office Building San Francisco 1,297,718,368 0.17 
 6. GSW Arena LLC Sports Arena San Francisco 1,093,259,361 0.14 
 7. Marathon Petroleum Corporation Industrial – Refinery Contra Costa 1,019,740,012 0.13 
 8. Elm Property Venture LLC  Office Building San Francisco 1,005,060,856 0.13 
 9. SHR Group LLC Hotel San Francisco 996,257,942 0.13 
 10. Kilroy Realty LP/Kilroy Realty 303 LLC Office Building San Francisco 857,176,646 0.11 
 11. Phillips 66 Company Industrial – Refinery Contra Costa 851,519,509 0.11 
 12. PPF Paramount One Market Plaza Office Building San Francisco 850,993,350 0.11 
 13. Parkmerced Owner LLC Apartments San Francisco 827,959,980 0.11 
 14. Essex Portfolio LP Apartments Alameda/Contra Costa/San Francisco 803,011,373 0.10 
 15. KR Mission Bay LLC Office Building San Francisco 789,225,180 0.10 
 16. SFDC 50 Fremont LLC Office Building San Francisco 733,272,594 0.10 
 17. Ponte Gadea California LLC Commercial – Retail San Francisco 679,132,477 0.09 
 18. Emporium Mall LLC Shopping Center San Francisco 631,068,118 0.08 
 19. Park Tower Owner LLC Office Building San Francisco 601,638,811 0.08 
 20. One Front Street Eat LLC Office Building San Francisco      542,048,400 0.07 
     $22,780,810,592 2.98%  
______________________ 
(1)  2019-20 Total Secured Assessed Valuation:  $765,292,883,507 
Source:  California Municipal Statistics, Inc. 
 
 







 


24 


Taxation of State-Assessed Utility Property 


Under the Constitution, the State Board of Equalization assesses property of State-regulated 
transportation and communications utilities, including railways, telephone and telegraph companies, and 
companies transmitting or selling gas or electricity.  The State Board of Equalization also is required to 
assess pipelines, flumes, canals and aqueducts lying within two or more counties.  The value of property 
assessed by the State Board of Equalization is allocated by a formula to local jurisdictions in the county 
and taxed by the local county tax officials in the same manner as for locally assessed property.  Taxes on 
privately owned railway cars, however, are levied and collected directly by the State Board of 
Equalization.  Property used in the generation of electricity by a company that does not also transmit or 
sell that electricity is taxed locally instead of by the State Board of Equalization.  Thus, the reorganization 
of regulated utilities and the transfer of electricity-generating property to non-utility companies, as often 
occurred under electric power deregulation in California, affects how those assets are assessed, and which 
local agencies benefit from the property taxes derived.   


The District is unable to predict future transfers of State-assessed property in the Three BART 
Counties, the impact of such transfers on its utility property tax revenues, or whether future legislation or 
litigation may affect ownership of utility assets, the State’s methods of assessing utility property, or the 
method by which tax revenues of utility property is allocated to local taxing agencies, including the 
District. 


Direct and Overlapping Debt Report 


Contained within the District’s boundaries are numerous overlapping local agencies.  Set forth on 
the following page is a direct and overlapping debt report (the “Debt Report”) prepared by California 
Municipal Statistics, Inc. and dated July 1, 2020.  The Debt Report speaks only as of its date and is 
included for general information purposes only.  The District has not reviewed the Debt Report for 
completeness or accuracy and makes no representations in connection therewith. 


The Debt Report generally includes long-term obligations sold in the public credit markets by 
public agencies whose boundaries overlap the boundaries of the District in whole or in part.  Such long-
term obligations are not payable from revenues of the District nor are they necessarily obligations secured 
by land within the District.  The Debt Report does not include any information concerning any obligations 
authorized but not yet issued by any public agencies whose boundaries overlap the boundaries of the 
District in whole or in part. 


The Debt Report does not include any information concerning sales tax revenue bonds issued by 
the District or obligations of the District, other than general obligation bonds, issued for the benefit of the 
District.  For information concerning such sales tax revenue bonds and other obligations of the District, 
see Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND 
OPERATING INFORMATION – BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS.” 


The first column in the table set forth on the following page names each public agency which has 
outstanding debt as of the date of the Debt Report and whose territory overlaps the District in whole or in 
part.  The second column shows the percentage of each overlapping agency’s assessed value located 
within the boundaries of the District.  This percentage, multiplied by the total outstanding debt of each 
overlapping agency (which is not shown in the table) produces the amount shown in the third column 
which is the apportionment of each overlapping agency’s outstanding debt to taxable property in the 
District. 







 


25 


San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
Schedule of Direct and Overlapping Bonded Debt 


 
2019-20 Assessed Valuation:  $804,668,121,810 
 
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT: % Applicable Debt 7/1/20  
Bay Area Rapid Transit District 100.      % $  1,282,740,000(1) 
Alameda County 100. 218,000,000  
City and County of San Francisco 100. 2,152,476,741  
Community College Districts 0.456-100. 2,224,354,557  
Oakland Unified School District 100. 1,023,225,000  
San Francisco Unified School District 100. 833,320,000  
West Contra Costa Unified School District 100. 1,244,226,187  
Other Unified School Districts 2.029-100. 5,054,157,843  
Union High School Districts 100. 259,649,470  
Elementary School Districts 100. 276,832,193  
City of Oakland 100. 472,170,000  
Other Cities 100. 268,089,293  
East Bay Regional Park District 100. 155,835,000  
Healthcare Districts 100. 379,982,000  
Recreation and Park Districts 100. 131,980,000  
Community Facilities Districts 100. 1,028,128,085  
1915 Act Bonds and Parcel Tax Obligations 100.      300,946,163 
  TOTAL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT  $17,306,112,532   
 
OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND DEBT:  % Applicable Debt 7/1/20 
Alameda County General Fund Obligations 100.      % $   830,130,000  
Contra Costa County General Fund and Pension Obligation Bonds 100. 318,174,653  
City and County of San Francisco General Fund Obligations 100. 1,493,700,574  
Community College District General Fund and Pension Obligation Bonds 100. 140,396,395  
Unified School District General Fund Obligations 100. 216,557,755  
Other School District Certificates of Participation 100. 3,034,392  
City of Fremont Certificates of Participation 100. 92,180,008  
City of Oakland General Fund and Pension Obligation Bonds 100. 323,825,581  
City of Richmond General Fund and Pension Obligation Bonds 100. 177,695,217  
Other City General Fund Obligations 100. 475,892,532  
Fire Protection Districts General Fund and Pension Obligation Bonds 100. 64,660,796  
Special District General Fund Obligations 100.      13,098,000  
  TOTAL GROSS OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND DEBT  $4,149,345,903   
    Less:  Supported obligations     125,870,587  
  TOTAL NET OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND DEBT  $4,023,475,316   
    
OVERLAPPING TAX INCREMENT DEBT (Successor Agencies):  $2,108,538,620   
    
  GROSS COMBINED TOTAL DEBT  $23,563,997,055(2) 
  NET COMBINED TOTAL DEBT  $23,438,126,468   
 
(1) Excludes issue to be sold. 
(2) Excludes tax and revenue anticipation notes, enterprise revenue, mortgage revenue and non-bonded capital lease obligations. 
 
Ratios to 2019-20 Assessed Valuation: 
  Direct Debt  ($1,282,740,000) ......................................................... 0.16% 
  Total Direct and Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt ................. 2.15% 
  Gross Combined Total Debt ............................................................. 2.93% 
  Net Combined Total Debt ................................................................. 2.91% 
 
Ratio to Redevelopment Incremental Valuation  ($99,627,337,395): 
  Total Overlapping Tax Increment Debt ............................................ 2.12% 
 
______________________ 
Source:  California Municipal Statistics, Inc. 
 







 


26 


CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS 


Limitations on Tax Revenues 


California Constitutional provisions allow for amendments by voter approval of qualified 
initiative petitions as well as legislative proposals.  Over the years, such amendments have limited state 
and local taxing and spending powers, such as Proposition 98 that required approximately 48% of State 
general fund revenues to be expended on education.  The following highlights certain provisions affecting 
the District. 


Article XIIIA of the California Constitution.  Article XIIIA of the State Constitution, adopted and 
known as Proposition 13, was approved by the voters in June 1978.  Section 1(a) of Article XIIIA limits 
the maximum ad valorem tax on real property to one percent of “full cash value,” and provides that such 
tax shall be collected by the counties and apportioned according to State law.  Section 1(b) of Article 
XIIIA provides that the one-percent (1%) limitation does not apply to ad valorem taxes levied to pay 
interest and redemption charges on (i) indebtedness approved by the voters prior to July 1, 1978, or (ii) 
bonded indebtedness for the acquisition or improvement of real property approved on or after July 1, 
1978, by two-thirds of the votes cast on the proposition, or (iii) bonded indebtedness incurred by a school 
district or community college district for the construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation or replacement of 
school facilities or the acquisition or lease of real property for school facilities, approved by 55% of the 
voters of the district, but only if certain accountability measures are included in the proposition.  The ad 
valorem tax for payment of the District’s general obligation bonds including the 2020 Bonds under the 
2016 Measure RR election falls within the exception for bonds approved by two-thirds vote. 


Section 2 of Article XIIIA of the California Constitution defines “full cash value” to mean the 
county assessor’s valuation of real property as shown on the Fiscal Year 1975-76 tax bill, or, thereafter, 
the appraised value of real property when purchased, newly constructed, or a change in ownership has 
occurred.  Proposition 8 (“Proposition 8”), approved by California voters in November of 1978, 
subsequently amended Article XIIIA to permit reduction of the full cash value base in the event of 
declining property values caused by damage, destruction or other factors, and provides for the enrollment 
of the lesser of the base year value or the market value of real property, taking into account reductions in 
value due to damage, destruction, depreciation, obsolescence, removal of property, or other factors 
causing a similar decline.  In these instances, the market value is required to be reviewed annually until 
the market value exceeds the base year value, and assessments may be appealed by taxpayers seeking a 
reduction as a result of economic and other factors.  See “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS – 
Reassessments and Appeals of Assessed Values.”  The California Revenue and Taxation Code permits 
county assessors who have reduced the assessed valuation of a property as a result of natural disasters, 
economic downturns or other factors, to subsequently “recapture” such value (up to the pre-decline value 
of the property) at an annual rate higher than two percent (2%), depending on the assessor’s measure of 
the restoration of value of the damaged property.  The California courts have upheld the constitutionality 
of this procedure.  Legislation enacted by the State Legislature to implement Article XIIIA provides that, 
notwithstanding any other law, local agencies may not levy any ad valorem property tax except the one 
percent (1%) base tax levied by each county and taxes to pay debt service on indebtedness approved by 
the voters as described above.   


Since its adoption, Article XIIIA has been amended a number of times.  These amendments have 
created exceptions to the requirement that property be reassessed when purchased, newly constructed or a 
change in ownership has occurred.  These exceptions include certain transfers of real property between 
family members, certain purchases of replacement dwellings for persons over age 55 and by property 
owners whose original property has been destroyed in a declared disaster, and certain improvements to 
accommodate disabled persons and for seismic upgrades to property.  







 


27 


Both the California Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court have upheld the validity 
of Article XIIIA. 


Article XIIIC and Article XIIID of the California Constitution.  On November 5, 1996, California 
voters approved an initiative known as the Right to Vote on Taxes Act (“Proposition 218”).  Proposition 
218 added Articles XIIIC and XIIID to the California Constitution.  Article XIIIC requires majority voter 
approval for the imposition, extension or increase of general taxes and two-thirds voter approval for the 
imposition, extension or increase of special taxes by a local government, which is defined to include local 
or regional governmental agencies such as the District.  Article XIIIC also removes limitations on the 
initiative power with regard to reducing or repealing previously authorized local taxes.  Proposition 26, 
approved by the voters of California on November 2, 2010, also amended Article XIIIC to define “tax” to 
include in the two-thirds voter approval requirement local levies, charges or exactions previously 
considered fees with certain specified exemptions.   


Article XIIID addresses assessments and property-related fees and charges.  Article XIIID 
explicitly provides that nothing in Article XIIIC or XIIID shall be construed to affect existing laws 
relating to the imposition of fees or charges as a condition of property development; however it is not 
clear whether the initiative power is therefore unavailable to repeal or reduce developer and mitigation 
fees imposed by the District.   


The interpretation and application of Proposition 218 and Proposition 26 will ultimately be 
determined by the courts with respect to a number of the matters discussed above, and it is not possible at 
this time to predict with certainty the outcome of such determinations. 


Expenditures and Appropriations 


Article XIIIB of the California Constitution.  State and local government agencies in California 
are each subject to annual “appropriations limits” imposed by Article XIIIB of the Constitution of the 
State of California (“Article XIIIB”).  Article XIIIB prohibits government agencies and the State from 
spending “appropriations subject to limitation” in excess of the appropriations limit imposed.  
“Appropriations subject to limitation” are authorizations to spend “proceeds of taxes,” which include all 
tax revenues and investment earnings thereon, certain state subventions and certain other funds, including 
proceeds received by an entity of local government from regulatory licenses, user charges or other user 
fees to the extent that such proceeds exceed “the cost reasonably borne by that entity in providing the 
regulation, product, or service.”  “Appropriations subject to limitation” under Article XIIIB do not 
include appropriations required to comply with mandates of courts or of the Federal government, 
appropriations for qualified outlay projects (as defined by the Legislature), or appropriations for debt 
service on indebtedness existing prior to the passage of Article XIIIB or thereafter authorized by the 
voters.   


As amended at the June 5, 1990 election by Proposition 111, Article XIIIB provides that, in 
general terms, the District’s appropriations limit is based on the limit for the prior year adjusted annually 
to reflect changes in cost of living, population and, when appropriate, transfer of financial responsibility 
of providing services from one governmental unit to another.  Proposition 111 liberalized the 
aforementioned adjustment factors as compared to the original provisions of Article XIIIB.  If revenues 
from “proceeds of taxes” during any two consecutive Fiscal Years exceed the combined appropriations 
limits for those two years, the excess must be returned by a revision of tax rate or fee schedules within the 
two subsequent Fiscal Years. 


Section 7900 et seq. of the Government Code of the State of California defines certain terms used 
in Article XIIIB and sets forth the methods for determining the appropriations limits for local 
jurisdictions. The District’s appropriations limit for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2021 is $669,868,280 
and the “appropriations subject to the limitation” are $552,265,521, or $117,602,759 under the limit. It is 







 


28 


not anticipated that the District will ever reach its appropriations limit.  However, if it were ever to reach 
such limit, amounts appropriated to pay debt service on the Bonds are considered appropriations for 
capital outlay projects and therefore not subject to the limit. 


Prohibitions on Diverting Local Revenues for State Purposes   


Proposition 22, an initiative constitutional amendment adopted at the November 2010 election, 
prohibits the State, even during a period of severe fiscal hardship, from delaying the distribution of tax 
revenues for transportation, redevelopment, or local government projects and services.  It prevents the 
State from redirecting redevelopment agency property tax increment to any other local government, 
including school districts, or from temporarily shifting property taxes from cities, counties and special 
districts to schools.  This was intended to, among other things, stabilize local government revenue sources 
by restricting the State’s control over local property taxes.  One effect of this amendment is to deprive the 
State of fuel tax revenues to pay debt service on most State bonds for transportation projects, reducing the 
amount of State general fund resources available for other purposes, including education.  Because 
Proposition 22 reduces the State’s authority to use or shift certain revenue sources, fees and taxes for 
State general fund purposes, the State may have to take other actions to balance its budget in some years 
which could adversely affect State funding for transportation projects.  One of the actions taken by the 
State Legislature was to dissolve redevelopment agencies, which was accomplished through the 
enactment of Assembly Bill No. 26 (First Extraordinary Session) in 2011 and Assembly Bill No. 1484 in 
2012.  The dissolution of redevelopment agencies by the State has had a modest positive impact on the 
District’s finances related to the District’s receipt of a portion of the 1% countywide general tax levy, 
which is used for general operating purposes. 


Future Initiatives 


Article XIIIA, Article XIIIB, Article XIIIC, Article XIIID, as well as Propositions 22, 26, 98, 111 
and 218 were each adopted as measures that qualified for the ballot pursuant to the State’s initiative 
process.  From time to time other initiative measures could be adopted, further affecting District revenues 
or the District’s ability to expend revenues. 


One such proposed voter initiative, titled the “California Schools and Local Communities 
Funding Act” (the “Split-Roll Initiative”) has qualified for the November 3, 2020 general election ballot.  
If passed by the voters, the Split-Roll Initiative would amend Article XIIIA to allow the State to tax 
certain commercial and industrial property based on its fair market value, and dedicate the proceeds of 
increased property tax revenue to local services and school funding.  The California Legislative Analyst’s 
Office estimates that the Split-Roll Initiative, if passed, could result in a net increase in annual property 
tax revenues of $6.5 billion to $10.5 billion, depending on the strength of the real estate market.  After 
paying administrative costs and backfilling state income tax losses relating to the Split-Roll Initiative, it is 
projected that approximately 40 percent of the increased property tax revenues would be allocated to 
schools.  If passed, implementation of the measure, which would require reassessment of commercial 
properties, may result in difficulties in the tax assessment, appeals and collection process. 


INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS 


Economy of the Three BART Counties and the State 


Until the recent outbreak of COVID-19, and the adverse economic impact of shelter-in-place 
orders instituted in the Three BART Counties in response to the outbreak, the economy of the Three 
BART Counties had enjoyed a period of robust development and expansion as evidenced by increases in 
sales tax revenues in recent years, employment rates, housing costs, assessed valuations, and total 
personal income.  The District’s financial condition is dependent upon the level of economic activity in 
the Three BART Counties and in the State generally. 







 


29 


For information relating to the COVID-19 outbreak, see “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS –
 Infectious Disease Outbreak” and Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT 
DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION – THE BART SYSTEM – Ridership” 
and “ – Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20 and Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21.”  For 
information relating to recent economic conditions within the Three BART Counties and the State, see 
Appendix D – “THE ECONOMY OF THE THREE BART COUNTIES.” 


Risk of Earthquake 


The District is located in a seismically active region. Active earthquake faults underlie both the 
District and the surrounding Bay Area, most notably the Hayward Fault and the San Andreas Fault (both 
located within the District). On August 24, 2014, an earthquake occurred in Napa, California. The 
tremor’s epicenter was located approximately 3.7 miles northwest of American Canyon near the West 
Napa Fault and registered 6.0 on the Richter scale of earthquake intensity. The Napa earthquake caused 
fires, damaged buildings and roads, and injured approximately 200 people.  The Napa earthquake was the 
largest earthquake in the Bay Area since the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake on the San Andreas Fault, 
which was centered about 60 miles south of San Francisco, and it caused fires and collapse of and 
structural damage to buildings, highways and bridges in the Bay Area.  Neither earthquake caused 
damage to BART facilities. 


In March 2015, the Working Group on California Earthquake Probabilities (a collaborative effort 
of the U.S. Geological Survey (the “U.S.G.S.”), the California Geological Society, and the Southern 
California Earthquake Center) reported that there is a 72% chance that one or more quakes of magnitude 
6.7 or larger will occur in the Bay Area before the year 2045.  In addition, the U.S.G.S. released a report 
in April 2017 entitled the HayWired Earthquake Scenario, which estimates property damage and direct 
business disruption losses of $82 billion (in 2016 dollars) from a magnitude 7.0 earthquake on the 
Hayward Fault.  Such earthquakes may be very destructive. Property within the District could sustain 
extensive damage in a major earthquake, District facilities could be damaged, and a major earthquake 
could adversely affect the area’s economic activity, in addition to adversely affecting the assessed value 
of property in the District. 


Climate Change 


Hazards relating to climate change include sea level rise, flooding, heat wave, wildfire and severe 
storm and wind, all of which may have adverse effects on economic activity. Any such events, if 
unmitigated, may also have major impacts to BART stations, trackway, traction power, train control and 
maintenance yard/shops, as well as wayside facilities. The impacts may directly impact patron safety, 
cause service disruptions and require prolonged recovery.  


BART is responding to climate change impacts by developing adaptation strategies and hardening 
its infrastructure against such hazards. Current efforts include water intrusion mitigation, earthquake 
safety, erosion control, storm drainage treatment, power redundancy, and fire suppression. BART is also 
working with regional partners in the Bay Area to plan for regional adaptation needs.  No assurance can 
be given that such measures will be sufficient to protect against all impacts of climate change. 


Infectious Disease Outbreak 


The District’s financial results have been harmed and are expected to continue to be harmed by 
the recent outbreak of COVID-19, which has been designated a global pandemic by the World Health 
Organization and is impacting local and global economies, as governments, businesses, and citizens react 
to, plan for, and try to prevent or slow further transmission of the virus. Financial markets, including the 
stock market in the United States and globally, have seen significant recent volatility and decline that 
have been attributed to COVID-19 concerns. The United States Centers for Disease Control and 







 


30 


Prevention and the California Department of Public Health have been providing regular updates and 
guidelines to the public and to State and local governments. On March 4, 2020, as part of the State’s 
response to address the outbreak, the Governor declared a state of emergency. On March 13, President 
Donald Trump declared a national emergency, freeing up funding for federal assistance to state and local 
governments. On March 16, each of the Three BART Counties issued shelter in place orders. 


On March 27, 2020, the U.S. House of Representatives approved and President Trump signed 
into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”).  The CARES Act 
provides $25 billion in supplemental Federal Transit Authority grants to transit agencies across the 
country, approximately $1.3 billion of which is allocated to the San Francisco Bay Area.  On April 22, the 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission, as the designated recipient of such funds, approved sub-
allocations of approximately $780 million to various transit agencies in the San Francisco Bay Area, 
including approximately $250 million for the District, subject to specific future allocations by the 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission. 


The District cannot predict the extent or duration of the outbreak, or what impact the outbreak 
and any resulting economic slowdown might have on the District’s financial condition or operations, 
including potential impacts on the assessed values of property within the District. See “SECURITY AND 
SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE 2020 BONDS – Tax Rates, Collections and Delinquencies.” 


For a discussion regarding other impacts the District may face in connection with the COVID-19 
pandemic, see and Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION – THE BART SYSTEM – Ridership” and “ – 
Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20 and Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21.” 


Other Force Majeure Events 


Operation of the BART System is also at risk from other events of force majeure, such as 
damaging storms, winds and floods, fires and explosions, spills of hazardous substances, strikes and 
lockouts, sabotage, wars, blockades and riots.  The District cannot predict the potential impact of such 
events on the financial condition of the District. 


Limitation on Remedies 


The opinion of Bond Counsel notes that the rights and obligations under the 2020 Bonds and their 
enforceability are subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, reorganization, arrangement, fraudulent 
conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of 
equitable principles, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to the limitations on 
legal remedies against public transit districts like the District.  BART cannot be forced into bankruptcy by 
an involuntary bankruptcy petition being filed against BART but, because it is a municipal governmental 
entity, BART may be eligible to file a bankruptcy petition under Chapter 9 (“Chapter 9”) of the United 
States Bankruptcy Code under certain circumstances. Chapter 9 specifies that it does not limit or impair 
the power of the applicable state to control its municipalities in the exercise of the political or 
governmental powers of such municipality, including expenditures for such exercise. California law 
provides that the ad valorem taxes levied for BART’s general obligation bonds must be used for no other 
purpose than the payment of principal of and interest on the 2020 Bonds.  BART believes that this law 
would be respected in any bankruptcy proceeding so that the tax revenues could not be used by BART for 
any purpose other than to make payments on the 2020 Bonds, but there are very few court decisions as to 
the precise meaning of this provision of Chapter 9, and no assurance can be given that a bankruptcy court 
would not conclude otherwise. 


If BART is in bankruptcy, the parties (including the Trustee and the holders of the 2020 Bonds) 
may be prohibited from taking any action to collect any amount payable by BART or to enforce any 







 


31 


obligation of BART, unless the permission of the bankruptcy court is obtained. These restrictions may 
also prevent the Trustee from making payments to the holders of the 2020 Bonds from funds in the 
Trustee’s possession. In addition, the obligation of BART and the Three BART Counties to raise taxes if 
necessary to pay the 2020 Bonds may no longer be enforceable if BART is in bankruptcy. 


Possible adverse effects of a bankruptcy of BART include delays or reductions in payments on 
the 2020 Bonds or other losses to the holders of the 2020 Bonds. Regardless of any specific adverse 
determinations in a bankruptcy proceeding, the fact of a bankruptcy of BART could have an adverse 
effect on the liquidity and value of the 2020 Bonds. 


Statutory Lien.  All general obligation bonds issued by local agencies in California, including the 
2020 Bonds, are secured by a statutory lien on all revenues received pursuant to the levy and collection of 
the tax.  State law provides that the lien automatically arises, without the need for any action or 
authorization by the local agency or its governing board, and is valid and binding from the time the bonds 
are executed and delivered.  Although a statutory lien would not be automatically terminated by the filing 
of a Chapter 9 bankruptcy petition by the District, the automatic stay provisions of the Bankruptcy Code 
would apply, preventing holders of the 2020 Bonds from enforcing their rights to payment from such 
taxes, so payments that become due and owing on the 2020 Bonds during the pendency of the Chapter 9 
proceeding could be delayed. 


Special Revenues.  If the ad valorem tax revenues that are pledged to the payment of the 2020 
Bonds are determined to be “special revenues” within the meaning of the Bankruptcy Code, then the 
application in a manner consistent with the Bankruptcy Code of the pledged ad valorem revenues that are 
collected after the date of the bankruptcy filing should not be subject to the automatic stay.  “Special 
revenues” are defined to include, among others, taxes specifically levied to finance one or more projects 
or systems of the debtor, but excluding receipts from general property, sales, or income taxes levied to 
finance the general purposes of the debtor.  The District has specifically pledged the ad valorem taxes for 
payment of the 2020 Bonds.  Additionally, the ad valorem taxes levied for payment of the 2020 Bonds 
are permitted under the State Constitution only if the applicable bond proposition is approved by two-
thirds of voters and such bonds must be issued for the acquisition or improvement of real property.  
Because State law prohibits the use of the tax proceeds for any purpose other than payment of the bonds 
and the bond proceeds can only be used to fund the acquisition or improvement of real property and other 
capital expenditures included in the proposition, such tax revenues appear to fit the definition of special 
revenues.  However, there is no binding judicial precedent dealing with the treatment in bankruptcy 
proceedings of ad valorem tax revenues collected for the payments of general obligation bonds in 
California, so no assurance can be given that a bankruptcy court would not hold otherwise.  


The Bankruptcy Code provides that there is no stay of application of pledged special revenues to 
payment of indebtedness secured by such revenues. The United States Court of Appeals for the First 
Circuit, in a case arising out of the insolvency proceedings of Puerto Rico, recently held that this 
provision permitted voluntary payments of debt service by the issuer of bonds backed by special 
revenues, but did not permit the bondholders to compel the issuer to make payments of debt service from 
special revenues. If this decision is followed by other courts, the holders of the 2020 Bonds may be 
prohibited from taking any action to require BART or any of the Three BART Counties to make 
payments on the 2020 Bonds without the bankruptcy court’s permission. This could result in substantial 
delays in payments on the Series 2020 Bonds. 


In addition, even if the ad valorem tax revenues are determined to be “special revenues,” the 
Bankruptcy Code provides that special revenues can be applied to necessary operating expenses of the 
project or system, before they are applied to other obligations.  This rule applies regardless of the 
provisions of the transaction documents.  Thus, a bankruptcy court could determine that the District is 
entitled to use the ad valorem tax revenues to pay necessary operating expenses of the District, before the 
remaining revenues are paid to the owners of the 2020 Bonds. 







 


32 


If BART goes into bankruptcy and BART or any of the Three BART Counties has possession of 
tax revenues (whether collected before or after commencement of the bankruptcy), and if BART or any of 
the Three BART Counties, as applicable, does not voluntarily pay such tax revenues to the holders of the 
2020 Bonds, it is not entirely clear what procedures the holders of the 2020 Bonds would have to follow 
to attempt to obtain possession of such tax revenues, how much time it would take for such procedures to 
be completed, or whether such procedures would ultimately be successful. A similar risk would exist if 
any of the Three BART Counties goes into bankruptcy and has possession of tax revenues (whether 
collected before or after commencement of the bankruptcy). 


No Acceleration Provision 


The Trust Agreement does not contain a provision allowing for the acceleration of the 2020 
Bonds in the event of a default in the payment of principal and interest on the 2020 Bonds when due.  In 
the event of a default by the District, each holder of a 2020 Bond will have the rights to exercise the 
remedies, subject to the limitations thereon, set forth in the Trust Agreement. 


Loss of Tax Exemption 


As discussed under “TAX MATTERS,” interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds could become includable 
in federal gross income, possibly from the date of issuance of the 2020C-1 Bonds, as a result of acts or 
omissions of the District subsequent to the issuance of the 2020C-1 Bonds.  Should interest become 
includable in federal gross income, the 2020C-1 Bonds are not subject to redemption by reason thereof 
and will remain outstanding until maturity or earlier redemption. 


Green Bonds Sustainability 


The purpose of labeling the 2020 Bonds as “Green Bonds” is to allow owners of the 2020 Bonds 
to invest in bonds that have financed environmentally beneficial projects. The District does not make any 
representation as to the suitability of the 2020 Bonds to fulfill such environmental and sustainability 
criteria. The 2020 Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors seeking exposure to green or 
sustainable assets. There is currently no market consensus on what precise attributes are required for a 
particular project to be defined as “green” or “sustainable,” and therefore no assurance can be provided to 
investors that the projects refinanced by proceeds of the 2020 Bonds will continue to meet investor 
expectations regarding sustainability performance. Adverse environmental or social impacts may occur 
during the operation of such projects and where any negative impacts are insufficiently mitigated, such 
projects may become controversial, and/or may be criticized by activist groups and other stakeholders. 


Reassessments and Appeals of Assessed Values 


State law affords an appeal procedure to taxpayers who disagree with the assessed value of their 
taxable property.  Taxpayers may informally request a reduction in assessment directly from the 
applicable County Assessor (the “Assessor”), who may grant or refuse the request, and may appeal an 
assessment directly to the State Board of Equalization, which rules on appealed assessments whether or 
not settled by the Assessor.  The Assessor is also authorized to reduce the assessed value of any taxable 
property upon a determination that the market value has declined below the then-current assessment, 
whether or not appealed by the taxpayer. 


The District can make no predictions as to the changes in assessed values that might result from 
pending or future appeals by taxpayers or blanket reassessments enacted by the assessor.  Any reduction 
in aggregate District assessed valuation due to appeals, as with any reduction in assessed valuation due to 
other causes, will cause the tax rate levied to repay the 2020 Bonds to increase accordingly, so that the 
fixed debt service on the 2020 Bonds (and other outstanding bonds) may be paid.  Any refund of paid 
taxes triggered by a successful assessment appeal will be debited by the county treasurer against all taxing 







 


33 


agencies who received tax revenues, including the District.  See “CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS – 
Limitations on Tax Revenues – Article XIIIA of the California Constitution.”  


Cyber Security Risk 


The District, like many other public and private entities, relies on computer and other digital 
networks and systems to conduct its operations.  As a recipient and provider of personal, private or other 
electronic sensitive information, the District is potentially subject to multiple cyber threats including, but 
not limited to, hacking, viruses, malware and other attacks on computer and other sensitive digital 
networks and systems.  Entities or individuals may attempt to gain unauthorized access to the District’s 
systems for the purposes of misappropriating assets or information or causing operational disruption or 
damage.  The District has never had a major cyber breach that resulted in a financial loss. 


No assurance can be given that the District’s efforts to manage cyber threats and attacks will, in 
all cases, be successful or that any such attack will not materially impact the operations or finances of the 
District.  The District is also reliant on other entities and service providers, such as the Trustee in its role 
as trustee, and U.S. Bank National Association in its role as dissemination agent in connection with the 
District’s compliance with its disclosure undertakings.  No assurance can be given that the District may 
not be affected by cyber threats and attacks against other entities or service providers in a manner which 
may affect the owners of the 2020 Bonds, including for example, systems related to the timeliness of 
payments to owners of the 2020 Bonds or compliance with disclosure filings pursuant to the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement.  See Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT 
DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION – DISTRICT FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION – Risk Management and Insurance.” 


Threats and Acts of Terrorism 


BART police and other law enforcement authorities have undertaken security measures in an 
effort to reduce the probability that portions of the BART System could be attacked by terrorists.  
However, such measures are not guaranteed to prevent an attack on the BART System.  The District 
cannot predict the likelihood of a terrorist attack on any portion of the BART System.  Components of the 
BART System are not insured against terrorist attack.  See Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY 
AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION – BART 
FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – Security Enhancement Program.” 


Potential Labor Disruptions 


BART employees are represented by employee bargaining units that under State law are 
permitted to strike during negotiations for a contract.  During strikes, the District does not operate service, 
which results in lost operating revenues.  In 2013, the District suffered strikes during contract 
negotiations.  See Appendix A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION – DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION – 
Labor Relations and Employee Retirement Benefits.”  The District cannot predict the potential impact of 
future labor disruptions on the financial condition of the District. 


CITIZENS’ OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 


Measure RR, approved by voters on November 8, 2016, requires that an independent Citizens’ 
Oversight Committee (the “Measure RR Oversight Committee”) be created by the District to review and 
report to the public expenditures of the bond proceeds.  The current members and alternates of the 
Measure RR Oversight Committee were selected by the Board of Directors of the District on April 11, 
2019 and are appointed to serve until June 30, 2021.  Measure RR requires that members of the Measure 
RR Oversight Committee have expertise in certain specific subjects and reside within the District.  Since 







 


34 


its formation, the Measure RR Oversight Committee has held multiple meetings and the chair of the 
Measure RR Oversight Committee has presented reports to the District’s Board, in which the Measure RR 
Oversight Committee stated its consensus opinion that bond proceeds are being spent properly and in 
accordance with Measure RR.  On July 23, the chair of the Measure RR Oversight Committee presented 
its annual report for Fiscal Year 2019-20 to the Board of Directors, which indicated that the District’s 
Measure RR program is approximately 10% complete, consistent with the goals of Measure RR.  The 
2020 Bonds will be subject to review by the Measure RR Oversight Committee. 


The Measure RR Oversight Committee is responsible for confirming that work is completed and 
bond funds are expended in accordance with Measure RR. 


LEGAL MATTERS 


The validity of the 2020 Bonds and certain other legal matters are subject to the approving 
opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel to the District.  A complete copy of the 
proposed form of the opinion to be delivered by Bond Counsel is attached hereto as Appendix G.  
Compensation of Bond Counsel and counsel to the Underwriters is contingent upon the issuance of the 
2020 Bonds.  Approval of certain other legal matters will be passed upon for the District by its General 
Counsel and by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, as Disclosure Counsel to the District, and for the 
Underwriters by Curls Bartling P.C.  Neither Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP nor Curls Bartling P.C. 
take any responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of this Official Statement. 


TAX MATTERS 


The 2020C-1 Bonds 


In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel to the District (“Bond 
Counsel”), based upon an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court decisions, and 
assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain representations and compliance with certain 
covenants, interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes 
under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) and is exempt from State of 
California personal income taxes.  Bond Counsel is of the further opinion that interest on the 2020C-1 
Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax.  A complete 
copy of the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel is set forth in Appendix G hereto. 


To the extent the issue price of any maturity of the 2020C-1 Bonds is less than the amount to be 
paid at maturity of such 2020C-1 Bonds (excluding amounts stated to be interest and payable at least 
annually over the term of such 2020C-1 Bonds), the difference constitutes “original issue discount,” the 
accrual of which, to the extent properly allocable to each Beneficial Owner thereof, is treated as interest 
on the 2020C-1 Bonds which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and State of 
California personal income taxes.  For this purpose, the issue price of a particular maturity of the 2020C-1 
Bonds is the first price at which a substantial amount of such maturity of the 2020C-1 Bonds is sold to the 
public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of 
underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers).  The original issue discount with respect to any maturity 
of the 2020C-1 Bonds accrues daily over the term to maturity of such 2020C-1 Bonds on the basis of a 
constant interest rate compounded semiannually (with straight-line interpolations between compounding 
dates).  The accruing original issue discount is added to the adjusted basis of such 2020C-1 Bonds to 
determine taxable gain or loss upon disposition (including sale, redemption, or payment on maturity) of 
such 2020C-1 Bonds.  Beneficial Owners of the 2020C-1 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors 
with respect to the tax consequences of ownership of 2020C-1 Bonds with original issue discount, 
including the treatment of Beneficial Owners who do not purchase such 2020C-1 Bonds in the original 
offering to the public at the first price at which a substantial amount of such 2020C-1 Bonds is sold to the 
public. 







 


35 


The 2020C-1 Bonds purchased, whether at original issuance or otherwise, for an amount higher 
than their principal amount payable at maturity (or, in some cases, at their earlier call date) (“Premium 
Bonds”) will be treated as having amortizable bond premium.  No deduction is allowable for the 
amortizable bond premium in the case of bonds, like the Premium Bonds, the interest on which is 
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  However, the amount of tax-exempt 
interest received, and a Beneficial Owner’s basis in a Premium Bond, will be reduced by the amount of 
amortizable bond premium properly allocable to such Beneficial Owner.  Beneficial Owners of Premium 
Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the proper treatment of amortizable bond 
premium in their particular circumstances. 


The Code imposes various restrictions, conditions and requirements relating to the exclusion from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on obligations such as the 2020C-1 Bonds.  The 
District has made certain representations and covenanted to comply with certain restrictions, conditions 
and requirements designed to ensure that interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds will not be included in federal 
gross income.  Inaccuracy of these representations or failure to comply with these covenants may result in 
interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, possibly 
from the date of original issuance of the 2020C-1 Bonds.  The opinion of Bond Counsel assumes the 
accuracy of these representations and compliance with these covenants.  Bond Counsel has not 
undertaken to determine (or to inform any person) whether any actions taken (or not taken), or events 
occurring (or not occurring), or any other matters coming to Bond Counsel’s attention after the date of 
issuance of the 2020C-1 Bonds may adversely affect the value of, or the tax status of interest on, the 
2020C-1 Bonds.  Accordingly, the opinion of Bond Counsel is not intended to, and may not, be relied 
upon in connection with any such actions, events or matters. 


Although Bond Counsel is of the opinion that interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds is excluded from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes and is exempt from State of California personal income 
taxes, the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of amounts treated as interest on, the 
2020C-1  Bonds may otherwise affect a Beneficial Owner’s federal, state or local tax liability.  The nature 
and extent of these other tax consequences depends upon the particular tax status of the Beneficial Owner 
or the Beneficial Owner’s other items of income or deduction.  Bond Counsel expresses no opinion 
regarding any such other tax consequences. 


Current and future legislative proposals, if enacted into law, clarification of the Code or court 
decisions may cause interest on the 2020C-1 Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, in whole or in 
part, to federal income taxation or to be subject to or exempted from state income taxation, or otherwise 
prevent Beneficial Owners from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest. The 
introduction or enactment of any such legislative proposals or clarification of the Code or court decisions 
may also affect, perhaps significantly, the market price for, or marketability of, the 2020C-1 Bonds.  
Prospective purchasers of the 2020C-1 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the 
potential impact of any pending or proposed federal or state tax legislation, regulations or litigation, as to 
which Bond Counsel is expected to express no opinion.  


The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on current legal authority, covers certain matters not 
directly addressed by such authorities, and represents Bond Counsel’s judgment as to the proper treatment 
of the 2020C-1 Bonds for federal income tax purposes.  It is not binding on the Internal Revenue Service 
(“IRS”) or the courts.  Furthermore, Bond Counsel cannot give and has not given any opinion or 
assurance about the future activities of the District, or about the effect of future changes in the Code, the 
applicable regulations, the interpretation thereof or the enforcement thereof by the IRS.  The District has 
covenanted, however, to comply with the requirements of the Code. 


Bond Counsel’s engagement with respect to the 2020C-1 Bonds ends with the issuance of the 
2020C-1 Bonds, and, unless separately engaged, Bond Counsel is not obligated to defend the District or 
the Beneficial Owners regarding the tax-exempt status of the 2020C-1 Bonds in the event of an audit 







 


36 


examination by the IRS.  Under current procedures, parties other than the District and their appointed 
counsel, including the Beneficial Owners, would have little, if any, right to participate in the audit 
examination process.  Moreover, because achieving judicial review in connection with an audit 
examination of tax-exempt bonds is difficult, obtaining an independent review of IRS positions with 
which the District legitimately disagrees, may not be practicable.  Any action of the IRS, including but 
not limited to selection of the 2020C-1 Bonds for audit, or the course or result of such audit, or an audit of 
bonds presenting similar tax issues may affect the market price for, or the marketability of, the 2020C-1 
Bonds, and may cause the District or the Beneficial Owners to incur significant expense. 


The 2020C-2 Bonds  


In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and 
court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain representations and 
compliance with certain covenants, interest on the 2020C-2 Bonds is exempt from State of California 
personal income taxes.  Bond Counsel observes that interest on the 2020C-2 Bonds is not excluded from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Code.  Bond Counsel expresses no 
opinion regarding any other tax consequences relating to the ownership or disposition of, or the amount, 
accrual, or receipt of interest on, the 2020C-2 Bonds.  The proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel is 
contained in Appendix G hereto. 


The following discussion summarizes certain U.S. federal tax considerations generally applicable 
to holders of the 2020C-2 Bonds that acquire their 2020C-2 Bonds in the initial offering.  The discussion 
below is based upon laws, regulations, rulings, and decisions in effect and available on the date hereof, all 
of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect.  Prospective investors should note that no 
rulings have been or are expected to be sought from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) with 
respect to any of the U.S. federal tax consequences discussed below, and no assurance can be given that 
the IRS will not take contrary positions.  Further, the following discussion does not deal with U.S. tax 
consequences applicable to any given investor, nor does it address the U.S. tax considerations applicable 
to all categories of investors, some of which may be subject to special taxing rules (regardless of whether 
or not such investors constitute U.S. Holders), such as certain U.S. expatriates, banks, REITs, RICs, 
insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, dealers or traders in securities or currencies, partnerships, 
S corporations, estates and trusts, investors that hold their 2020C-2 Bonds as part of a hedge, straddle or 
an integrated or conversion transaction, or investors whose “functional currency” is not the U.S. dollar. 
Furthermore, it does not address (i) alternative minimum tax consequences, (ii) the net investment income 
tax imposed under Section 1411 of the Code, or (iii) the indirect effects on persons who hold equity 
interests in a holder.  This summary also does not consider the taxation of the 2020C-2 Bonds under state, 
local or non-U.S. tax laws.  In addition, this summary generally is limited to U.S. tax considerations 
applicable to investors that acquire their 2020C-2 Bonds pursuant to this offering for the issue price that is 
applicable to such 2020C-2 Bonds (i.e., the price at which a substantial amount of the 2020C-2 Bonds are 
sold to the public) and who will hold their 2020C-2 Bonds as “capital assets” within the meaning of 
Section 1221 of the Code. 


As used herein, “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of a 2020C-2 Bond that for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes is an individual citizen or resident of the United States, a corporation or other entity 
taxable as a corporation created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any state thereof 
(including the District of Columbia), an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income 
taxation regardless of its source or a trust where a court within the United States is able to exercise 
primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more United States persons (as defined 
in the Code) have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust (or a trust that has made a 
valid election under U.S. Treasury Regulations to be treated as a domestic trust). As used herein, “Non-
U.S. Holder” generally means a beneficial owner of a 2020C-2 Bond (other than a partnership) that is not 
a U.S. Holder. If a partnership holds 2020C-2 Bonds, the tax treatment of such partnership or a partner in 
such partnership generally will depend upon the status of the partner and upon the activities of the 







 


37 


partnership.  Partnerships holding 2020C-2 Bonds, and partners in such partnerships, should consult their 
own tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of an investment in the 2020C-2 Bonds (including their 
status as U.S. Holders or Non-U.S. Holders). 


Notwithstanding the rules described below, it should be noted that certain taxpayers that are 
required to prepare certified financial statements or file financial statements with certain regulatory or 
governmental agencies may be required to recognize income, gain and loss with respect to the 2020C-2 
Bonds at the time that such income, gain or loss is recognized on such financial statements instead of 
under the rules described below (in the case of original issue discount, such requirements are only 
effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2018). 


Prospective investors should consult their own tax advisors in determining the U.S. federal, state, 
local or non-U.S. tax consequences to them from the purchase, ownership and disposition of the 2020C-2 
Bonds in light of their particular circumstances. 


U.S. Holders 


Interest.  Interest on the 2020C-2 Bonds generally will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary 
interest income at the time such amounts are accrued or received, in accordance with the U.S. Holder’s 
method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 


To the extent that the issue price of any maturity of the 2020C-2 Bonds is less than the amount to 
be paid at maturity of such 2020C-2 Bonds (excluding amounts stated to be interest and payable at least 
annually over the term of such 2020C-2 Bonds) by more than a de minimis amount, the difference may 
constitute original issue discount (“OID”).  U.S. Holders of 2020C-2 Bonds will be required to include 
OID in income for U.S. federal income tax purposes as it accrues, in accordance with a constant yield 
method based on a compounding of interest (which may be before the receipt of cash payments 
attributable to such income).  Under this method, U.S. Holders generally will be required to include in 
income increasingly greater amounts of OID in successive accrual periods. 


2020C-2 Bonds purchased for an amount in excess of the principal amount payable at maturity 
(or, in some cases, at their earlier call date) will be treated as issued at a premium.  A U.S. Holder of a 
2020C-2 Bond issued at a premium may make an election, applicable to all debt securities purchased at a 
premium by such U.S. Holder, to amortize such premium, using a constant yield method over the term of 
such 2020C-2 Bond. 


Sale or Other Taxable Disposition of the 2020C-2 Bonds.  Unless a nonrecognition provision of 
the Code applies, the sale, exchange, redemption, retirement (including pursuant to an offer by the 
District) or other disposition of a 2020C-2 Bond will be a taxable event for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes.  In such event, in general, a U.S. Holder of a 2020C-2 Bond will recognize gain or loss equal to 
the difference between (i) the amount of cash plus the fair market value of property received (except to 
the extent attributable to accrued but unpaid interest on the 2020C-2 Bond, which will be taxed in the 
manner described above) and (ii) the U.S. Holder’s adjusted U.S. federal income tax basis in the 2020C-2 
Bond (generally, the purchase price paid by the U.S. Holder for the 2020C-2 Bond, decreased by any 
amortized premium, and increased by the amount of any OID previously included in income by such U.S. 
Holder with respect to such 2020C-2 Bond). Any such gain or loss generally will be capital gain or loss.  
In the case of a non-corporate U.S. Holder of the 2020C-2 Bonds, the maximum marginal U.S. federal 
income tax rate applicable to any such gain will be lower than the maximum marginal U.S. federal 
income tax rate applicable to ordinary income if such U.S. holder’s holding period for the 2020C-2 Bonds 
exceeds one year.  The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.  


Defeasance of the 2020C-2 Bonds.  If the District defeases any 2020C-2 Bond, the 2020C-2 Bond 
may be deemed to be retired for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a result of the defeasance.  In that 







 


38 


event, in general, a holder will recognize taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between (i) the 
amount realized from the deemed sale, exchange or retirement (less any accrued qualified stated interest 
which will be taxable as such) and (ii) the holder’s adjusted tax basis in the 2020C-2 Bond. 


Information Reporting and Backup Withholding.  Payments on the 2020C-2 Bonds generally will 
be subject to U.S. information reporting and possibly to “backup withholding.”  Under Section 3406 of 
the Code and applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations issued thereunder, a non-corporate U.S. Holder of the 
2020C-2 Bonds may be subject to backup withholding at the current rate of 24% with respect to 
“reportable payments,” which include interest paid on the 2020C-2 Bonds and the gross proceeds of a 
sale, exchange, redemption, retirement or other disposition of the 2020C-2 Bonds.  The payor will be 
required to deduct and withhold the prescribed amounts if (i) the payee fails to furnish a U.S. taxpayer 
identification number (“TIN”) to the payor in the manner required, (ii) the IRS notifies the payor that the 
TIN furnished by the payee is incorrect, (iii) there has been a “notified payee underreporting” described in 
Section 3406(c) of the Code or (iv) the payee fails to certify under penalty of perjury that the payee is not 
subject to withholding under Section 3406(a)(1)(C) of the Code.  Amounts withheld under the backup 
withholding rules may be refunded or credited against the U.S. Holder’s federal income tax liability, if 
any, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.  Certain U.S. holders 
(including among others, corporations and certain tax-exempt organizations) are not subject to backup 
withholding.  A holder’s failure to comply with the backup withholding rules may result in the imposition 
of penalties by the IRS. 


Non-U.S. Holders 


Interest.  Subject to the discussions below under the headings “Information Reporting and Backup 
Withholding” and “Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act,” payments of principal of, and interest on, any 
2020C-2 Bond to a Non-U.S. Holder, other than (1) a controlled foreign corporation, a such term is 
defined in the Code, which is related to the District through stock ownership and (2) a bank which 
acquires such 2020C-2 Bond in consideration of an extension of credit made pursuant to a loan agreement 
entered into in the ordinary course of business, will not be subject to any U.S. federal withholding tax 
provided that the beneficial owner of the 2020C-2 Bond provides a certification completed in compliance 
with applicable statutory and regulatory requirements, which requirements are discussed below under the 
heading “Information Reporting and Backup Withholding,” or an exemption is otherwise established.  


Disposition of the 2020C-2 Bonds. Subject to the discussions below under the headings 
“Information Reporting and Backup Withholding” and “FATCA,” any gain realized by a Non-U.S. 
Holder upon the sale, exchange, redemption, retirement (including pursuant to an offer by the District or a 
deemed retirement due to defeasance of the 2020C-2 Bond) or other disposition of a 2020C-2 Bond 
generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax, unless (i) such gain is effectively connected with 
the conduct by such Non-U.S. Holder of a trade or business within the United States; or (ii) in the case of 
any gain realized by an individual Non-U.S. Holder, such holder is present in the United States for 183 
days or more in the taxable year of such sale, exchange, redemption, retirement (including pursuant to an 
offer by the District) or other disposition and certain other conditions are met. 


U.S. Federal Estate Tax. A 2020C-2 Bond that is held by an individual who at the time of death is 
not a citizen or resident of the United States will not be subject to U.S. federal estate tax as a result of 
such individual’s death, provided that, at the time of such individual’s death, payments of interest with 
respect to such 2020C-2 Bond would not have been effectively connected with the conduct by such 
individual of a trade or business within the United States. 


Information Reporting and Backup Withholding. Subject to the discussion below under the 
heading “FATCA,” under current U.S. Treasury Regulations, payments of principal and interest on any 
2020C-2 Bonds to a holder that is not a United States person will not be subject to any backup 
withholding tax requirements if the beneficial owner of the 2020C-2 Bond or a financial institution 







 


39 


holding the 2020C-2 Bond on behalf of the beneficial owner in the ordinary course of its trade or business 
provides an appropriate certification to the payor and the payor does not have actual knowledge that the 
certification is false.  If a beneficial owner provides the certification, the certification must give the name 
and address of such owner, state that such owner is not a United States person, or, in the case of an 
individual, that such owner is neither a citizen nor a resident of the United States, and the owner must 
sign the certificate under penalties of perjury.  The current backup withholding tax rate is 24%. 


Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”)—U.S. Holders and Non-U.S. Holders 


Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code impose a 30% withholding tax on certain types of 
payments made to foreign financial institutions, unless the foreign financial institution enters into an 
agreement with the U.S. Treasury to, among other things, undertake to identify accounts held by certain 
U.S. persons or U.S.-owned entities, annually report certain information about such accounts, and 
withhold 30% on payments to account holders whose actions prevent it from complying with these and 
other reporting requirements, or unless the foreign financial institution is otherwise exempt from those 
requirements.  In addition, FATCA imposes a 30% withholding tax on the same types of payments to a 
non-financial foreign entity unless the entity certifies that it does not have any substantial U.S. owners or 
the entity furnishes identifying information regarding each substantial U.S. owner.  Under current 
guidance, failure to comply with the additional certification, information reporting and other specified 
requirements imposed under FATCA could result in the 30% withholding tax being imposed on payments 
of interest on the Bonds.  In general, withholding under FATCA currently applies to payments of U.S. 
source interest (including OID) and, under current guidance, will apply to certain “passthru” payments no 
earlier than the date that is two years after publication of final U.S. Treasury Regulations defining the 
term “foreign passthru payments.”   Prospective investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding 
FATCA and its effect on them. 


The foregoing summary is included herein for general information only and does not discuss all 
aspects of U.S. federal taxation that may be relevant to a particular holder of 2020C-2 Bonds in light of 
the holder’s particular circumstances and income tax situation.  Prospective investors are urged to consult 
their own tax advisors as to any tax consequences to them from the purchase, ownership and disposition 
of 2020C-2 Bonds, including the application and effect of state, local, non-U.S., and other tax laws. 


ABSENCE OF MATERIAL LITIGATION 


At the time of delivery of and payment for the 2020 Bonds, the District will certify that, except as 
disclosed herein, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, before or 
by any court, regulatory agency, public board or body, pending with respect to which the District has been 
served with process or, to the knowledge of the District, threatened against the District in any way 
affecting the existence of the District or the titles of its officers to their respective offices or seeking to 
restrain or to enjoin the issuance, sale or delivery of the 2020 Bonds, the application of the proceeds 
thereof in accordance with the Trust Agreement, or the levy, collection or application of the ad valorem 
taxes, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the 2020 Bonds or the Trust 
Agreement or in any way contesting the completeness or accuracy of this Official Statement with respect 
to the 2020 Bonds. 


RATINGS 


S&P Global Ratings, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC business (“S&P”) and 
Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”) have assigned ratings of “[AAA]” and “[Aaa]”, respectively, to 
the 2020 Bonds.  Such ratings reflect only the views of such organizations and any desired explanation of 
the significance of such ratings should be obtained from such rating agencies furnishing the same at the 
following addresses:  S&P Global Ratings, 55 Water Street, New York, New York 10041 and Moody’s 
Ratings, Moody’s Investors Service, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007.  Generally, a 







 


40 


rating agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, 
studies and assumptions of its own. There is no assurance that any credit ratings given to the 2020 Bonds 
will be maintained for any period of time or that the ratings may not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by 
such rating agencies, if, in their judgment, circumstances so warrant.  The District undertakes no 
responsibility to oppose any such revision or withdrawal.  Any such downward revision or withdrawal of 
such rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of the 2020 Bonds. 


MUNICIPAL ADVISOR 


Sperry Capital Inc., Sausalito, California, serves as Municipal Advisor to the District with respect 
to the sale of the 2020 Bonds.  The Municipal Advisor has not conducted a detailed investigation of the 
affairs of the District to determine the completeness or accuracy of this Official Statement, has not 
independently verified any of the data contained herein and has no responsibility for the accuracy or 
completeness thereof. 


The compensation of the Municipal Advisor is contingent upon the issuance of the 2020 Bonds. 


CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 


To enable the Underwriters to comply with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the 
Securities Exchange Commission (the “Rule”), the District will enter into a Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement with U.S. Bank National Association, as dissemination agent, for the benefit of the Beneficial 
Owners (as such term is defined in such Continuing Disclosure Agreement) from time to time of the 2020 
Bonds.  A copy of the proposed form of Continuing Disclosure Agreement is set forth in Appendix F 
hereto.  [During the five-year period preceding the date of this Official Statement, the District has 
determined that certain annual reports, while including District-wide assessed value information, did not 
include specific assessed value information by county as may have been required by a continuing 
disclosure agreement.  The District filed notices on the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board 
Electronic Municipal Market Access System (“EMMA”) with respect to the affected bonds and provided 
the additional information.]  The District has engaged BLX Group to assist with its continuing disclosure 
obligations and U.S. Bank National Association to serve as Dissemination Agent.  


UNDERWRITING 


The 2020 Bonds are being purchased by J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“JPMS”), as representative 
of itself and the Underwriters identified on the cover page of this Official Statement (the “Underwriters”).  
The bond purchase agreement provides that the Underwriters will purchase all of the 2020 Bonds, if any 
are purchased, at a purchase price equal to $__________ (representing the principal amount of the 2020 
Bonds, plus an original issue premium of $__________ and less an underwriters’ discount of 
$__________).   


The Underwriters are initially offering the 2020 Bonds to the public at the public offering yields 
indicated on the inside cover page hereof but the Underwriters may offer and sell the 2020 Bonds to 
certain dealers, institutional investors and others (including sales for deposit into investment trusts, certain 
of which may be sponsored or managed by one or more of the Underwriters) at yields higher than the 
public offering yields stated on the cover page and the public offering yields may be changed from time to 
time by the Underwriters.  


[JPMS, one of the Underwriters of the 2020 Bonds, has entered into negotiated dealer agreements 
(each, a “Dealer Agreement”) with each of Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (“CS&Co.”) and LPL Financial 
LLC (“LPL”) for the retail distribution of certain securities offerings at the original issue prices.  Pursuant 
to each Dealer Agreement, each of CS&Co. and LPL may purchase 2020 Bonds from JPMS at the 







 


41 


original issue price less a negotiated portion of the selling concession applicable to any 2020 Bonds that 
such firm sells.] 


Wells Fargo Securities is the trade name for certain securities-related capital markets and 
investment banking services of Wells Fargo & Company and its subsidiaries, including Wells Fargo 
Bank, National Association, which conducts its municipal securities sales, trading and underwriting 
operations through the Wells Fargo Bank, NA Municipal Finance Group, a separately identifiable 
department of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission as a municipal securities dealer pursuant to Section 15B(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. 


Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting through its Municipal Finance Group 
("WFBNA"), one of the underwriters of the 2020 Bonds, has entered into an agreement (the "WFA 
Distribution Agreement") with its affiliate, Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC (which uses the trade 
name “Wells Fargo Advisors”) ("WFA"), for the distribution of certain municipal securities offerings, 
including the 2020 Bonds. Pursuant to the WFA Distribution Agreement, WFBNA will share a portion of 
its underwriting or remarketing agent compensation, as applicable, with respect to the 2020 Bonds with 
WFA. WFBNA has also entered into an agreement (the “WFSLLC Distribution Agreement”) with its 
affiliate Wells Fargo Securities, LLC (“WFSLLC”), for the distribution of municipal securities offerings, 
including the 2020 Bonds. Pursuant to the WFSLLC Distribution Agreement, WFBNA pays a portion of 
WFSLLC’s expenses based on its municipal securities transactions. WFBNA, WFSLLC, and WFA are 
each wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wells Fargo & Company. 


[Placeholder for discussion of additional dealer agreements.] 


FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


The financial statements of the District included in Appendix B to this Official Statement have 
been examined by Macias, Gini & O’Connell LLP (the “Auditor”), whose report thereon appears in such 
Appendix.  The Auditor was not requested to consent to the inclusion of its report in Appendix B, nor has 
the Auditor undertaken to update its report or to take any action intended or likely to elicit information 
concerning the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements made in this Official Statement, and 
no opinion is expressed by the Auditor with respect to any event subsequent to the date of its report. 


MISCELLANEOUS 


This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the District and 
the purchasers, holders or beneficial owners of any of the 2020 Bonds.  All of the preceding summaries of 
the 2020 Bonds, the Trust Agreement, applicable legislation and other agreements and documents are 
made subject to the provisions of the 2020 Bonds and such documents, respectively, and do not purport to 
be complete statements of any or all of such provisions.  Reference is hereby made to such documents on 
file with the District for further information in connection therewith. 


Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates, 
whether or not expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no 
representation is made that any of the estimates will be realized. 







 


42 


The execution and delivery of this Official Statement by the Controller/Treasurer of the District 
has been duly authorized by the District.  Concurrently with the delivery of the 2020 Bonds, the District 
will furnish to the Underwriters a certificate of the District to the effect that this Official Statement, as of 
the date of this Official Statement and as of the date of delivery of the 2020 Bonds, does not contain any 
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements 
herein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 


 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT 
DISTRICT 


By:     
Controller/Treasurer 


 







 
 


A-1 
 4154-1027-1269.3 
 


APPENDIX A 
 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT  
FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION 


 







 


B-1 


APPENDIX B 
 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
REPORT ON AUDITS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018 


 
 
 







 


C-1 


APPENDIX C 
 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICY 







 


D-1 


APPENDIX D 
 


THE ECONOMY OF THE THREE BART COUNTIES 


 The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic is expected to have a material adverse effect on the various 
statistics presented in this Appendix D, the extent of which is currently unknown and unpredictable.  The 
historical data presented in this Appendix D should not be interpreted as a reflection of current or future 
economic conditions in the Three BART Counties or in the San Francisco Bay Area. 


General 


The San Francisco Bay Area (the “Bay Area”) encompasses the nine counties which border San 
Francisco Bay. The Three BART Counties (the City and County of San Francisco, Alameda County and 
Contra Costa County) comprise a 1,512-square-mile central core of the nearly 7,000 square miles of land 
in the Bay Area. The City and County of San Francisco occupies approximately 49 square miles, while 
Alameda County and Contra Costa County are approximately 733 and 734 square miles in size, 
respectively. The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District” or “BART”) service area 
also includes northern San Mateo County, adjacent to the southern border of San Francisco, and northern 
Santa Clara County, adjacent to the southern borders of San Mateo County and Alameda County. The 
surrounding six non-member counties, Marin, Sonoma, Napa and Solano to the north and San Mateo and 
Santa Clara to the south, provide reciprocal economic support, potential users and expansion area for the 
District’s centrally located system. All capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined in this Appendix 
D shall have the meanings set forth in the front portion of this Official Statement. 


The City and County of San Francisco occupies the tip of a peninsula situated between the Pacific 
Ocean and San Francisco Bay (the “Bay”) and is separated from Marin County and other northerly 
counties by the Golden Gate, which forms the entrance to the Bay and is spanned by the Golden Gate 
Bridge. Alameda and Contra Costa Counties, bordering the east side of the Bay across from San 
Francisco, stretch eastward up to 40 miles beyond the series of hills between the Bay and the Central 
Valley (the Sacramento and San Joaquin Valleys) of California. Contra Costa County is bordered on the 
northwest by San Pablo Bay and the north by the Carquinez Strait and the extensive delta area of the 
Sacramento and San Joaquin Rivers, which empty into the Bay. Alameda County adjoins Santa Clara 
County at the southern end of the Bay. Linking the Bay Area are eight major toll bridges. 


Sales taxes levied in the Three BART Counties are a principal source of District revenues. Sales 
tax revenues depend on economic activity and trends as well as the demographic characteristics of the 
Three BART Counties. Historical trends are summarized below and forecasts are presented for the 
population and employment of the Three BART Counties; however, such historical trends and forecasts 
do not reflect the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. 


Historical Population and Employment Trends 


Table 1 shows historical population for cities within the Three BART Counties for the selected 
years between 2000 and 2020. Population in the Three BART Counties increased approximately 17.4% 
between 2000 and 2020 and approximately 1.5% between 2019 and 2020. 







 


D-2 


Table 1 
HISTORICAL POPULATION 


Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and City and County of San Francisco 
2000, 2010 and 2017 through 2020 


 2000(1) 2010(1) 2017(2) 2018(2) 2019(2) 2020(2) 
% Change 
2019-2020 


Alameda County        
 Alameda 72,259 73,812 78,945 78,980 81,618 81,312 (0.4)% 
 Albany 16,444 18,539 18,861 19,216 18,961 18,937 (0.1) 
 Berkeley 102,743 112,580 121,328 122,369 122,358 122,580 0.2 
 Dublin 30,023 46,036 59,500 61,874 64,132 65,716 2.5 
 Emeryville 6,882 10,080 11,883 11,871 12,041 12,298 2.1 
 Fremont 203,413 214,089 230,525 231,252 233,404 234,220 0.3 
 Hayward 140,030 144,186 158,290 158,693 160,197 160,311 0.1 
 Livermore 73,464 80,968 89,517 90,359 91,436 91,861 0.5 
 Newark 42,471 42,573 45,479 47,178 48,164 48,966 1.7 
 Oakland 399,566 390,724 430,482 431,373 430,753 433,697 0.7 
 Piedmont 10,952 10,667 11,368 11,368 11,468 11,453 (0.1) 
 Pleasanton 63,654 70,285 77,097 79,483 79,392 79,464 0.1 
 San Leandro 79,452 84,950 89,630 89,552 88,296 87,930 (0.4) 
 Union City 66,869 69,516 74,100 74,058 73,661 73,637 0.0 
 Other Areas 135,717 141,266 149,151 149,258 148,902 148,452 (0.3) 
 1,443,939 1,510,271 1,646,156 1,656,884 1,664,783 1,670,834 0.4% 
Contra Costa County        
 Antioch 90,532 102,372 112,674 113,266 112,423 112,520 0.1% 
 Brentwood 23,302 51,481 60,583 62,140 64,365 65,118 1.2 
 Clayton 10,762 10,897 11,558 11,631 11,347 11,337 (0.1) 
 Concord 121,872 122,067 129,288 129,493 130,435 130,143 (0.2) 
 Danville 41,715 42,039 44,823 45,103 43,923 43,876 (0.1) 
 El Cerrito 23,171 23,549 24,971 25,192 24,852 24,953 0.4 
 Hercules 19,488 24,060 25,833 25,964 25,488 25,530 0.2 
 Lafayette 23,908 23,893 25,835 26,077 25,644 25,604 (0.2) 
 Martinez 35,866 35,824 38,233 38,406 37,424 37,106 (0.8) 
 Moraga 16,290 16,016 16,783 16,886 16,939 16,946 0.0 
 Oakley 25,619 35,432 40,355 40,949 41,979 42,461 1.1 
 Orinda 17,599 17,643 19,158 19,331 18,911 19,009 0.5 
 Pinole 19,039 18,390 19,371 19,458 19,563 19,505 (0.3) 
 Pittsburg 56,769 63,264 70,334 72,006 73,565 74,321 1.0 
 Pleasant Hill 32,837 33,152 34,850 34,969 34,286 34,267 (0.1) 
 Richmond 99,216 103,701 109,863 110,128 110,793 111,217 0.4 
 San Pablo 30,256 29,139 31,577 31,737 31,481 31,413 (0.2) 
 San Ramon 44,722 72,148 81,947 83,179 82,100 83,118 1.2 
 Walnut Creek 64,296 64,173 69,243 69,498 70,958 70,860 (0.1) 
 Other Areas 151,557 159,785 172,467 172,466 174,145 174,257 0.1 
 948,816 1,049,025 1,139,746 1,147,879 1,150,621 1,153,561 0.3% 


City and County of San 
Francisco 


 
776,733 


 
805,235 873,352 880,980 891,021 897,806 


 
0.8% 


        Three BART Counties 3,169,488 3,364,531 3,659,254 3,685,743 3,706,425 3,722,201 1.5% 
_______________ 
(1)  As of April 1 of that year. 
(2)  As of January 1 of that year. 
Source:  For 2000-2010: State of California, Department of Finance, E-4 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2001-2010, with 2000 
& 2010 Census Counts. Sacramento, California, November 2012; For 2017: State of California, Department of Finance, E-4 Population Estimates for 
Cities, Counties, and the State, 2011-2019, with 2010 Census Benchmark. Sacramento, California, June 2020; For 2018-2020: State of California, 
Department of Finance, E-1 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties and the State with Annual Percent Change — January 1, 2018, January 1, 2019, 
and January 1, 2020. Sacramento, California, June 2019. 







 


D-3 


Table 2-A shows historical nonagricultural employment for the Three BART Counties by industry sector in 
calendar year 2019 and Table 2-B shows total nonagricultural employment for those counties by industry sector in 
calendar years 2009 and 2019. 


Table 2-A 
NONAGRICULTURAL EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY SECTOR 


Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and City and County of San Francisco 
Calendar Year 2019 


(Not Seasonally Adjusted) 
 


Alameda County Contra Costa County 
City and County  
of San Francisco 


 Number Percent(2) Number Percent(2) Number Percent(2) 
       
Total Nonagricultural Employment(1) 818,000 − 377,100 − 776,900 − 
Major Classifications       
   Manufacturing .......................................  83,400 10.2% 16,100 4.3% 13,800 1.8% 
   Transportation, Warehousing and Public 


Utilities .................................................  32,700 4.0 11,900 3.2 25,200 3.2 
Wholesale Trade ...................................  36,700 4.5 9,100 2.4 14,500 1.9 


   Retail Trade ...........................................  73,700 9.0 43,500 11.5 46,800 6.0 
   Finance and Insurance ...........................  17,500 2.1 19,900 5.3 46,700 6.0 


Real Estate, Rental and Leasing ............  10,600 1.3 7,300 1.9 16,500 2.1 
   Information ............................................  20,800 2.5 7,100 1.9 53,300 6.9 
   Professional & Business Services ..........  136,300 16.7 56,400 15.0 210,500 27.1 
   Educational & Health Services ..............  127,300 15.6 71,200 18.9 94,900 12.2 
   Leisure & Hospitality ............................  75,900 9.3 43,500 11.5 103,700 13.3 
   Other Services .......................................  27,400 3.3 13,400 3.6 28,200 3.6 
   Government ...........................................  126,200 15.4 51,800 13.7 99,500 12.8 


_______________ 
(1)  Totals may reflect rounding. 
(2)  Represents percentage of total nonagricultural employment; reflects rounding. 
Source:  California Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division with December 2019 Benchmark. 


Table 2-B 
NONAGRICULTURAL EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY SECTOR 


Total Three BART Counties 
Calendar Years 2009 and 2019 


(Not Seasonally Adjusted) 
 


 2009 2019 
 Number Percent(2) Number Percent(2) 
     
Total Nonagricultural Employment(1) 1,535,000 - 1,972,000 - 
Major Classifications     
   Manufacturing ..............................................   90,900 5.9% 113,300 5.7% 
   Transportation, Warehousing and Public 


Utilities ........................................................   43,600 2.8 
 


69,800 3.5 
   Wholesale Trade ...........................................   54,600 3.6 60,300 3.1 
   Retail Trade ..................................................   144,400 9.4 164,000 8.3 
   Finance and Insurance ..................................   71,400 4.7 84,100 4.3 


Real Estate, Rental, and Leasing ..................   26,900 1.8 34,400 1.7 
   Information ................................................. …  45,000 2.9 81,200 4.1 
   Professional & Business Services ..........  272,500 17.8 403,200 20.4 
   Educational & Health Services ..............  235,400 15.3 293,400 14.9 
   Leisure & Hospitality ............................  161,300 10.5 223,100 11.3 
   Other Services ..............................................   56,500 3.7 69,000 3.5 
   Government ..................................................   261,900 17.1 277,500 14.1 


_______________ 
(1)  Totals may reflect rounding. 
(2)  Represents percentage of total nonagricultural employment; reflects rounding. 
Source:  California Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division with December 2019 Benchmark.   







 


D-4 


Total nonagricultural employment in the Three BART Counties increased approximately 28.5% between 
2009 and 2019. 


As shown in Table 2-A and Table 2-B, the economy of the Three BART Counties is well diversified, with 
emphasis on professional and business services, educational and health services, and government. 


Alameda County.  Alameda County accounts for approximately 44.9% of the population and approximately 
41.5% of the nonagricultural employment of the Three BART Counties.  Alameda County’s population increased 
approximately 15.7% between 2000 and 2020. Alameda County has a diverse economic base.  A large number of 
new jobs have been, and are expected to be, created by firms classified in the services industry, many of which will 
be highly skilled professional, technical, and managerial positions.  The two largest employment sectors are 
professional and business services and educational and health services, which account for approximately 32.2% of 
total nonagricultural employment.  The transportation, warehousing and public utilities sector, accompanied by both 
retail trade and wholesale trade categories, averaged 143,100 jobs in 2019, comprising approximately 17.5% of total 
nonagricultural employment. 


Contra Costa County.  Contra Costa County, predominantly a low-density residential area, accounts for 
approximately 31.0% of the population and approximately 19.1% of total nonagricultural employment of the Three 
BART Counties in 2019.  Contra Costa County’s population increased approximately 21.6% between 2000 and 
2020. 


Contra Costa County has one of the fastest-growing work forces among Bay Area counties, with growth in 
its employment base being driven primarily by the need to provide services to an increasing local population.  
Contra Costa County has also experienced an influx of white-collar jobs due to the relocation of companies from 
more expensive locations in the Bay Area.  The professional and business services, educational and health services, 
retail trade and government employment sectors account for approximately 59.1% of the nonagricultural 
employment base. 


City and County of San Francisco.  The City and County of San Francisco (the “City”) is a major 
employment center of the Three BART Counties, accounting for approximately 39.4% of the nonagricultural 
employment and approximately 24.1% of the population of the Three BART Counties.  The population of San 
Francisco is relatively dense and has increased slowly in recent years, with an overall increase of approximately 
0.8% between 2019 and 2020. 


The City has the benefit of a highly skilled, professional labor force.  Key industries include tourism, real 
estate, banking and finance, technology, retailing, apparel design, manufacturing, multimedia and bioscience.  The 
two largest employment sectors are professional and business services and leisure and hospitality, which account for 
approximately 40.4% of total nonagricultural employment.  The transportation, warehousing and public utilities 
sector, accompanied by both retail trade and wholesale trade categories, accounted for approximately 86,500 jobs in 
2019, comprising approximately 11.1% of total nonagricultural employment. The professional and business services 
sector accounted for approximately 210,500 jobs for 2019, comprising approximately 27.1% of total nonagricultural 
employment. 







 


D-5 


Table 3 shows the average annual unemployment rates for the Three BART Counties and the State of 
California and the United States for the calendar years 2012 through 2019, and the preliminary unemployment rates 
for the Three BART Counties and the State of California and the United States for May 2020. 


Table 3 
AVERAGE ANNUAL UNEMPLOYMENT RATES 


Alameda County, Contra Costa County, City and County of San Francisco,  
State of California and the United States 


Calendar Years 2012 Through 2020 


Calendar 
Year 


Alameda  
County 


Contra Costa 
County 


City and County 
of San Francisco  


State of 
California 


 
United States 


2012 9.0% 9.0% 7.2% 10.4% 8.1% 
2013 7.4 7.4 5.7 8.9 7.4 
2014 5.9 6.1 4.4 7.5 6.2 
2015 4.7 5.0 3.6 6.2 5.3 
2016 4.2 4.4 3.3 5.4 4.9 
2017 3.9 4.1 3.0 5.2 4.7 
2018 3.0 3.2 2.4 4.2 3.9 
2019 2.9 3.1 2.2 4.0 3.7 
2020(1) 13.5 13.6 12.6 15.9 13.3 


_______________ 
(1)  Preliminary data for May 2020; not seasonally adjusted. 
Sources:  California Employment Development Department and U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 







 


D-6 


Table 4 identifies the major employers of the San Francisco Bay Area. 


 
Table 4 


MAJOR PRIVATE SECTOR EMPLOYERS 
San Francisco Bay Area 


As of 2020 


 
Employer 


Number of Bay Area 
Employees 


Kaiser Permanente 58,269 
Sutter Health 24,347 
Facebook Inc. 14,000 
Wells Fargo & Co. 13,483 
Safeway Northern California Division 13,397 
United Airlines 12,340 
Tesla, Inc. 10,000 
PG&E Corp. 9,600 
Genentech 9,500 
Salesforce 8,000 
Oracle Corp. 7,535 
UPS 6,700 
Amazon 6,600 
John Muir Health 6,518 
Allied Universal 6,282 
Starbucks Coffee Co. 5,692 
Uber Technologies, Inc. 5,500 
Chevron Corp. 5,131 
Bank of America 4,677 
Workday  4,311 
Gap Inc. 4,000 
Gilead Sciences Inc. 4,000 
The Bay Club 4,000 
Visa 3,696 
Common Spirit Health 3,373 
  


_______________ 
Source: San Francisco Business Times, 2020 Book of Lists. 


 







 


D-7 


Population and Employment Forecasts 


Table 5 presents population and employment projections for the Three BART Counties prepared by the 
Association of Bay Area Governments (“ABAG”).  ABAG projects the population of the Three BART Counties to 
increase to approximately 4,258,200 people by 2035, as compared with the actual population of 3,722,201 in 
January 2020, with most of the growth occurring in Contra Costa and Alameda counties. Employment in the Three 
BART Counties is projected by ABAG to increase to 2,402,160 in 2035, as compared with the actual 1,635,600 
employment level as of May 2020 (the most recent data available). Most of the growth in employment is projected 
by ABAG to occur in the professional and managerial services and health and educational services sectors in each of 
the Three BART Counties. ABAG also projects the largest growth in employment will occur in San Francisco 
County. 


Table 5 
PROJECTED POPULATION AND EMPLOYMENT 


Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and City and County of San Francisco 
Population 


County 
2020(1) 


(Actual) 
2035 


(Projected) 


% Change 
2020-2035 
(Projected) 


    
Alameda ......................................  1,670,834 1,966,300 17.7% 
Contra Costa ...............................  1,153,561 1,322,900 14.7 
San Francisco ..............................  897,806 969,000 7.9 
    
Three BART Counties ................  3,722,201 4,258,200 14.4% 


 
Employment 


County 


 
 


January 2020(2) May 2020(3) 
2035 


(Projected) 


% Change 
May 2020-2035 


(Projected) 
     
Alameda .....................................   815,500 693,700 1,039,680 49.9% 
Contra Costa ..............................   541,600 460,400 555,650 20.7 
San Francisco .............................   573,000 481,500 806,830 67.6 
     
Three BART Counties ...............   1,930,100 1,635,600 2,402,160 46.9% 


_______________ 
(1) As of January 1, 2020. 
(2) Preliminary data for January 2020; not seasonally adjusted. 
(3) Preliminary data for May 2020; not seasonally adjusted. 
Sources: State of California Department of Finance; State of California Employment Development Department; Association of Bay 
Area Governments, Jobs-Housing Connections Strategy. 
 
  


Personal Income 


The United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (the “BEA”) produces 
economic accounts statistics that enable government and business decision-makers, researchers, and the public to 
follow and understand the performance of the national economy. 


The BEA defines “personal income” as income received by persons from all sources, including income 
received from participation in production as well as from government and business transfer payments. Personal 
income represents the sum of compensation of employees (received), supplements to wages and salaries, 
proprietors’ income with inventory valuation adjustment and capital consumption adjustment (CCAdj), rental 
income of persons with CCAdj, personal income receipts on assets, and personal current transfer receipts, less 
contributions for government social insurance. Per capita personal income is calculated as the personal income 
divided by the resident population based upon the Census Bureau’s annual midyear population estimates. 







 


D-8 


Table 6 below presents the latest available total income and per capita personal income for the Three 
BART Counties, the State and the nation for the calendar years 2013 through 2018 (the most recent annual data 
available). The Three BART Counties have traditionally had per capita income levels significantly higher than those 
of the State and the nation. 


Table 6 
PERSONAL INCOME 


Alameda County, Contra Costa County, City and County of San Francisco, 
State of California and United States 
Calendar Years 2013 through 2018 


Year and Area 
Personal Income 


(millions of dollars)(1) 


Per Capita 
Personal Income 


(dollars) 
2013   
Alameda County $85,174 $53,798 
Contra Costa County 66,729 60,885 
San Francisco County 72,858 86,619 
State of California 1,849,505 48,125 
United States 14,064,468 44,438 


2014   
Alameda County 90,631 56,261 
Contra Costa County 70,850 63,752 
San Francisco County 77,233 90,600 
State of California 1,939,528 49,985 
United States 14,683,147 46,049 


2015   
Alameda County 104,465 63,809 
Contra Costa County 77,915 69,195 
San Francisco County 93,448 107,868 
State of California 2,173,300 55,679 
United States 15,711,634 48,940 


2016   
Alameda County 111,355 67,356 
Contra Costa County 82,204 72,195 
San Francisco County 99,810  113,925 
State of California 2,259,414 57,497 
United States 16,115,630 49,831 


2017   
Alameda County 118,555 71,282 
Contra Costa County 87,810 76,527 
San Francisco County 106,007 119,868 
State of California 2,364,129 59,796 
United States 16,820,250 51,640 


2018   
Alameda County 127,746 76,644 
Contra Costa County 94,900 82,506 
San Francisco County 115,444 130,696 
State of California 2,514,129 63,557 
United States 17,813,035 54,446 


______________ 
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis. 
(1) Numbers reflect rounding. 
 


  







 


D-9 


 Table 7 shows the total dollar volume of sales and other taxable transactions (which correlate with sales tax 
receipts) in the Three BART Counties for fiscal years 2011 through 2019 (the most recent data available). 


Table 7 
HISTORICAL TAXABLE TRANSACTIONS 


Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and City and County of San Francisco 
Fiscal Years 2011 Through 2019 


($ in thousands) 
 


Fiscal 
Year 


Alameda  
County 


Contra Costa 
County 


San Francisco 
County 


Total Three BART 
Counties 


Percentage 
Change 


2011 $23,430,799 $12,799,857 $14,890,527 $51,121,183 8.9% 
2012 25,181,571 13,997,249 15,953,605 55,132,425 7.8 
2013 26,624,571 14,471,988 17,094,163 58,190,722 5.5 
2014 28,377,714 15,030,047 18,469,729 61,877,490 6.3 
2015 29,770,157 15,670,053 18,871,834 64,312,044 3.9 
2016 30,958,479 15,924,591 19,397,302 66,280,372 3.1 
2017 32,476,173 16,558,840 19,432,757 68,467,770 3.3 
2018 35,073,302 17,607,890 20,342,720 73,023,912 6.7 
2019 35,040,749 18,048,985 20,892,749 79,982,483 9.5 


_______________ 
Sources:  California State Board of Equalization, 2011-2016 Annual Reports; California Department of Tax and Fee Administration, 
2017, 2018, and 2019 Annual Reports. 
 


Table 8 shows taxable transactions by type of business for the Three BART Counties for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2019 (the most recent annual data available). 


Table 8 
TAXABLE TRANSACTIONS BY TYPE OF BUSINESS 


Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco 
For Fiscal Year 2019 


($ in thousands) 


  


Type of Business  Alameda 
County 


Contra 
Costa 


County 


City and 
County of 


San 
Francisco 


Retail and Food Services     
Motor Vehicle and Parts Dealers  4,625,707 2,442,727 601,908 
Home Furnishings and Appliance Stores  1,364,328 692,217 1,027,825 
Building Material and Garden 
Equipment and Supplies Dealers 


 1,886,071 1,226,747 702,290 


Food and Beverage Stores  1,278,245 924,164 860,691 
Gasoline Stations                                        2,067,534 1,611,320 548,674 
Clothing and Clothing Accessories 
Stores 


 1,872,888 1,026,668 2,024,642 


General Merchandise Stores 2,129,692 1,704,518 754,835 
Food Services and Drinking Places 3,692,378 1,956,623 5,037,656 
Other Retail Group  2,966,040 1,716,958 2,662,901 


Total Retail and Food Services(1)   21,882,885 13,301,946 14,221,424 
All Other Outlets(1)   13,157,863 4,747,039 6,671,324 
Total All Outlets(1)   35,040,749 18,048,985 20,892,749 


_______________ 
(1)  Totals may reflect rounding. 
Source:  California Department of Tax and Fee Administration. 
 







 


D-10 


Table 9 shows a comparison of taxable transactions among several large northern and southern California 
counties (including the Three BART Counties) and state-wide over the fiscal years 2014 through 2019 (the most 
recent annual data available). 


Table 9 
COMPARISON OF TAXABLE TRANSACTIONS TRENDS  


FOR MAJOR CALIFORNIA COUNTIES 
Fiscal Years 2014 Through 2019 


($ in thousands) 


 2014 
 


2015 2016 
 


2017 
 


2018 
 


2019 
% Change 
(2014-2019) 


Three BART 
Northern   Counties 


       


Alameda $28,377,714 $29,770,157 $30,958,479 $32,702,083 $35,073,302 $35,040,749 23.5% 
Contra Costa 15,030,047 15,670,053 15,924,591 16,757,632 17,607,890 18,048,985 20.1 
San Francisco 18,469,729 18,871,834 19,397,302 19,473,871 20,342,720 20,892,749 13.1 


Total Three BART Counties $61,877,490 $64,312,044 $66,280,372 $68,933,586 73,023,912 73,982,483 19.6 
        
Other Northern Counties        


Sacramento $21,061,901 $22,043,196 $23,184,499 $24,610,616 $25,443,669 $26,717,621 26.9% 
San Mateo 15,298,434 15,487,010 15,658,573 16,736,448 17,547,096 18,168,258 18.8 
Santa Clara 39,628,655 41,231,759 41,831,668 43,149,031 45,353,073 


 
46,887,483 18.3 


        
Southern Counties        


Los Angeles $147,446,927 $151,033,781 $154,208,333 $160,280,129 $166,023,795 $171,776,327 16.5% 
Orange 60,097,128 61,358,087 62,511,421 65,148,057 67,468,615 69,499,158 15.6 
Riverside 32,035,687 32,910,910 34,231,143 36,407,460 38,919,497 40,557,845 26.6 
San Bernardino 33,055,967 35,338,556 36,981,693 38,399,372 40,554,023 41,770,309 26.4 
San Diego 52,711,639 54,185,588 55,407,866 57,551,359 59,041,041 61,106,480 15.9 
Ventura 13,366,628 13,784,346 13,745,950 14,000,695 14,323,431 14,779,590 10.6 
        


Statewide $615,821,874 $633,941,952 $649,079,371 $677,823,492 $706,835,200 $730,779,405 18.7% 
    
Sources:  California State Board of Equalization, 2011-2016 Annual Reports; California Department of Tax and Fee Administration, 
2017, 2018, and 2019 Annual Reports. 


 
 
 







  


E-1 


APPENDIX E 
 


CLEARING SYSTEMS 


Introduction.  The information in this Appendix E concerning The Depository Trust Company 
(“DTC”), Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream 
Banking, société anonyme, Luxembourg (“Clearstream Banking”) (DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream 
Banking together, the “Clearing Systems”), and DTC’s book-entry-only system has been provided by 
DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream Banking for use in disclosure documents such as this Official Statement.  
Capitalized terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in 
the front portion of the Official Statement or in APPENDIX H under the heading “SUMMARY OF 
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT – Definitions.” 


DTC will act as the initial securities depository for the 2020 Bonds.  Euroclear and Clearstream 
Banking are participants of DTC and facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions by 
electronic book-entry transfer between their respective account holders. 


The information set forth below is subject to any change in or reinterpretation of the rules, 
regulations and procedures of the Clearing Systems currently in effect and the San Francisco Bay Area 
Rapid Transit District (the “District”) expressly disclaims any responsibility to update this Official 
Statement to reflect any such changes. The information herein concerning the Clearing Systems has been 
obtained from sources that the District believes to be reliable, but neither the District nor the Underwriters 
takes any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the information set forth herein. Investors 
wishing to use the facilities of any of the Clearing Systems are advised to confirm the continued 
applicability of the rules, regulations and procedures of the relevant Clearing System. The District will 
have no responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account 
of, beneficial ownership interests in the 2020 Bonds held through the facilities of any Clearing System or 
for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests. 


The District and the Underwriters cannot and do not give any assurance that (1) DTC will 
distribute payments of principal of, premium if any, and interest on (“Debt Service”) on the 2020 Bonds, 
or redemption or other notices, to participants of the Clearing Systems (“Participants”); (2) Participants or 
others will distribute debt service payments paid to DTC or its nominee (as the registered owner of the 
2020 Bonds), or redemption or other notices, to the Beneficial Owners, or that they will do so on a timely 
basis; or (3) DTC or the other Clearing Systems will serve and act in the manner described in this Official 
Statement.  The current “Rules” applicable to DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, and the current “Procedures” of DTC to be followed in dealing with DTC Participants 
(hereinafter defined) are on file with DTC. 


None of the District, the Underwriters nor the Trustee will have any responsibility or obligations 
to DTC, the Direct Participants, the Indirect Participants of DTC or the Beneficial Owners with respect to: 
(1) the accuracy of any records maintained by DTC or any Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of 
DTC; (2) the payment by DTC or any Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of DTC of any amount 
due to any Beneficial Owner in respect of the Debt Service on the 2020 Bonds; (3) the delivery by DTC 
or any Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of DTC of any notice to any Beneficial Owner that is 
required or permitted to be given to owners under the terms of the Trust Agreement; or (4) any consent 
given or other action taken by DTC as registered owner of the 2020 Bonds. 


Book Entry-Only System.  The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, 
will act as securities depository for the 2020 Bonds.  The 2020 Bonds will be issued as fully registered 
securities registered in the name of Cede & Co.  (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may 







  


E-2 


be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully registered bond certificate will be issued 
for each maturity of the 2020 Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be 
deposited with DTC. 


DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized 
under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York 
Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of 
the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions 
of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. DTC holds and provides asset 
servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt 
issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct 
Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants 
of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-
entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical 
movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers 
and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a 
wholly owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the 
holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing 
Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated 
subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. 
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or 
maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect 
Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants 
are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at 
www.dtcc.com. 


Purchases of 2020 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the 2020 Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual 
purchaser of each Bond (each a “Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their 
purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of 
the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant 
through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the 
2020 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants 
acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their 
ownership interests in 2020 Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the 2020 
Bonds is discontinued. 


To facilitate subsequent transfers, all 2020 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of 2020 Bonds with DTC and their 
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial 
ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the 2020 Bonds; DTC’s records 
reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such 2020 Bonds are credited, which 
may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible 
for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 


Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of 2020 Bonds may wish to take 







  


E-3 


certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the 2020 
Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the bond documents.  For 
example, Beneficial Owners of 2020 Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the 2020 
Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, 
Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies 
of notices be provided directly to them. 


Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the 2020 Bonds within an issue are 
being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct 
Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 


Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
2020 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under 
its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the District or to the Trustee as soon as possible 
after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those 
Direct Participants to whose accounts 2020 Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing 
attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 


Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the 2020 Bonds will be made to 
Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s 
practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail 
information from the District or the Trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings 
shown on DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing 
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in 
bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of 
DTC, the Trustee, or the District, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect 
from time to time.  Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. 
(or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility 
of the District or the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the 
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the 
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 


DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the 2020 Bonds at any 
time by giving reasonable notice to the District or the Trustee.  Under such circumstances, in the event 
that a successor depository is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 


The District may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through 
DTC (or a successor securities depository).  In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered 
to DTC. 


Discontinuation of Book-Entry-Only System; Payment to Beneficial Owners 


In the event that the book-entry system described above is no longer used with respect to the 2020 
Bonds, the provisions of the Trust Agreement relating to place of payment, transfer and exchange of the 
2020 Bonds, regulations with respect to exchanges and transfers, bond register, 2020 Bonds mutilated, 
destroyed or stolen, and evidence of signatures of Bond Owners and ownership of 2020 Bonds will 
govern the payment, registration, transfer, exchange and replacement of the 2020 Bonds.  Interested 
persons should contact the District for further information regarding such provisions of the Trust 
Agreement. 


 







  


E-4 


Euroclear and Clearstream Banking.   


Euroclear and Clearstream Banking have advised the District as follows: 


Euroclear and Clearstream Banking each hold securities for their customers and facilitate the 
clearance and settlement of securities transactions by electronic book-entry transfer between their 
respective account holders. Euroclear and Clearstream Banking provide various services including 
safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities 
lending and borrowing. Euroclear and Clearstream Banking also deal with domestic securities markets in 
several countries through established depositary and custodial relationships. Euroclear and Clearstream 
Banking have established an electronic bridge between their two systems across which their respective 
participants may settle trades with each other. 


Euroclear and Clearstream Banking customers are worldwide financial institutions, including 
underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations. Indirect 
access to Euroclear and Clearstream Banking is available to other institutions that clear through or 
maintain a custodial relationship with an account holder of either system, either directly or indirectly. 


Clearing and Settlement Procedures.  Any 2020 Bonds sold in offshore transactions will be 
initially issued to investors through the book-entry facilities of DTC, for the account of its participants, 
including but not limited to Euroclear and Clearstream Banking.  If the investors are participants in 
Clearstream Banking and Euroclear in Europe, or indirectly through organizations that are participants in 
the Clearing Systems, Clearstream Banking and Euroclear will hold omnibus positions on behalf of their 
participants through customers’ securities accounts in Clearstream Banking’s and Euroclear’s names on 
the books of their respective depositories.  In all cases, the record holder of the 2020 Bonds will be DTC’s 
nominee and not Euroclear or Clearstream Banking.  The depositories, in turn, will hold positions in 
customers’ securities accounts in the depositories’ names on the books of DTC.  Because of time zone 
differences, the securities account of a Clearstream Banking or Euroclear participant as a result of a 
transaction with a participant, other than a depository holding on behalf of Clearstream Banking or 
Euroclear, will be credited during the securities settlement processing day, which must be a business day 
for Clearstream Banking or Euroclear, as the case may be, immediately following the DTC settlement 
date.  These credits or any transactions in the securities settled during the processing will be reported to 
the relevant Euroclear participant or Clearstream Banking participant on that business day.  Cash received 
in Clearstream Banking or Euroclear as a result of sales of securities by or through a Clearstream Banking 
participant or Euroclear participant to a DTC Participant, other than the depository for Clearstream 
Banking or Euroclear, will be received with value on the DTC settlement date but will be available in the 
relevant Clearstream Banking or Euroclear cash account only as of the business day following settlement 
in DTC. 


Transfers between participants will occur in accordance with DTC rules.  Transfers between 
Clearstream Banking participants or Euroclear participants will occur in accordance with their respective 
rules and operating procedures.  Cross-market transfers between persons holding directly or indirectly 
through DTC, on the one hand, and directly or indirectly through Clearstream Banking participants or 
Euroclear participants, on the other, will be effected in DTC in accordance with DTC rules on behalf of 
the relevant European international clearing system by the relevant depositories; however, cross-market 
transactions will require delivery of instructions to the relevant European international clearing system by 
the counterparty in the system in accordance with its rules and procedures and within its established 
deadlines in European time. The relevant European international clearing system will, if the transaction 
meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to its depository to take action to effect final 
settlement on its behalf by delivering or receiving securities in DTC, and making or receiving payment in 







  


E-5 


accordance with normal procedures for same day funds settlement applicable to DTC.  Clearstream 
Banking participants or Euroclear participants may not deliver instructions directly to the depositories. 


The District will not impose any fees in respect of holding the 2020 Bonds; however, holders of 
book-entry interests in the 2020 Bonds may incur fees normally payable in respect of the maintenance and 
operation of accounts in the Clearing Systems. 


Initial Settlement.  Interests in the 2020 Bonds will be in uncertified book-entry form. Purchasers 
electing to hold book-entry interests in the 2020 Bonds through Euroclear and Clearstream Banking 
accounts will follow the settlement procedures applicable thereto and applicable to DTC.  Book-entry 
interests in the 2020 Bonds will be credited by DTC to Euroclear and Clearstream Banking participants’ 
securities clearance accounts on the business day following the date of delivery of the 2020 Bonds against 
payment (value as on the date of delivery of the 2020 Bonds).  DTC participants acting on behalf of 
purchasers electing to hold book-entry interests in the 2020 Bonds through DTC will follow the delivery 
practices applicable to securities eligible for DTC’s Same Day Funds Settlement system.  DTC 
participants’ securities accounts will be credited with book-entry interests in the 2020 Bonds following 
confirmation of receipt of payment to the District on the date of delivery of the 2020 Bonds. 


Secondary Market Trading.  Secondary market trades in the 2020 Bonds will be settled by 
transfer of title to book-entry interests in the Clearing Systems. Title to such book-entry interests will pass 
by registration of the transfer within the records of Euroclear, Clearstream Banking or DTC, as the case 
may be, in accordance with their respective procedures. Book-entry interests in the 2020 Bonds may be 
transferred within Euroclear and within Clearstream Banking and between Euroclear and Clearstream 
Banking in accordance with procedures established for these purposes by Euroclear and Clearstream 
Banking. Book-entry interests in the 2020 Bonds may be transferred within DTC in accordance with 
procedures established for this purpose by DTC. Transfer of book-entry interests in the 2020 Bonds 
between Euroclear or Clearstream Banking and DTC shall be effected in accordance with procedures 
established for this purpose by Euroclear, Clearstream Banking and DTC. 


Special Timing Considerations 


Investors should be aware that investors will only be able to make and receive deliveries, 
payments and other communications involving the Bonds through Euroclear or Clearstream Banking on 
days when those systems are open for business. In addition, because of time-zone differences, there may 
be complications with completing transactions involving Clearstream Banking and/or Euroclear on the 
same business day as in the United States. U.S. investors who wish to transfer their interests in the Bonds, 
or to receive or make a payment or delivery of Bonds, on a particular day, may find that the transactions 
will not be performed until the next business day in Luxembourg if Clearstream Banking is used, or 
Brussels if Euroclear is used. 


Clearing Information 


The District and the Underwriters expect that the Bonds will be accepted for clearance through 
the facilities of Euroclear and Clearstream Banking. The international securities identification number, 
common code and/or CUSIP number for the Bonds are set out on the cover page of this Official 
Statement. 


Limitations 


For so long as the 2020 Bonds are registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., the 
District and the Trustee will recognize only DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., as the registered owner of 







  


E-6 


the 2020 Bonds for all purposes, including payments, notices and voting. So long as Cede & Co. is the 
registered owner of the 2020 Bonds, references in this Official Statement to registered owners of the 2020 
Bonds shall mean Cede & Co. and shall not mean the Beneficial Owners of the 2020 Bonds. 


Because DTC is treated as the owner of the 2020 Bonds for substantially all purposes, Beneficial 
Owners may have a restricted ability to influence in a timely fashion remedial action or the giving or 
withholding of requested consents or other directions.  In addition, because the identity of Beneficial 
Owners is unknown to the District or DTC, it may be difficult to transmit information of potential interest 
to Beneficial Owners in an effective and timely manner. Beneficial Owners should make appropriate 
arrangements with their broker or dealer regarding distribution of information regarding the 2020 Bonds 
that may be transmitted by or through DTC. 


The District will have no responsibility or obligation with respect to: 


 • the accuracy of the records of DTC, its nominee or any Direct Participant or Indirect 
 Participant with respect to any Beneficial Ownership interest in any 2020 Bonds; 


 • the delivery to any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant or any other person, other 
 than a registered owner as shown in the bond register kept by the Trustee, of any notice 
 with respect to any 2020 Bonds including, without limitation, any notice of redemption 
 with respect to any 2020 Bonds; 


• the payment to any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant or any other person, other  
  than a registered owner as shown in the bond register kept by the Trustee, of any amount  
  with respect to the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, any 2020 Bonds; or 


• any consent given by DTC or its nominee as registered owner. 


Prior to any discontinuation of the book entry only system hereinabove described, the District and 
the Trustee may treat Cede & Co. (or such other nominee of DTC) as, and deem Cede & Co. (or such 
other nominee) to be, the absolute registered owner of the 2020 Bonds for all purposes whatsoever, 
including, without limitation: 


• the payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the 2020 Bonds; 


• giving notices of redemption and other matters with respect to the 2020 Bonds; 


• registering transfers with respect to the 2020 Bonds; and 


• the selection of 2020 Bonds for redemption. 


General 


None of Euroclear, Clearstream Banking or DTC is under any obligation to perform or continue 
to perform the procedures referred to above, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. 


Neither the District, the Underwriters nor any of their agents will have any responsibility for the 
performance by Euroclear, Clearstream Banking or DTC or their respective direct or indirect participants 
or account holders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their 
operations or the arrangements referred to above. 







  


F-1 


APPENDIX F 
 


PROPOSED FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 


This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (this “Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and delivered 
by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “Issuer”) and U.S. Bank National Association, 
as dissemination agent (the “Dissemination Agent”), in connection with the issuance of $__________ 
aggregate principal amount of San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds 
(Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-1 (Green Bonds) and 2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green 
Bonds) (together, the “2020 Bonds”).  The 2020 Bonds are being issued pursuant to Resolution No. 
[____], adopted by the Board of Directors of the Issuer on [July 23], 2020, and according to the terms and 
in the manner set forth in the Trust Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2017, as supplemented by the First 
Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2019, and as further supplemented by the Second 
Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2020 (as supplemented, the “Trust Agreement”), 
each between the Issuer and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (the “Trustee”).  The Issuer and 
the Dissemination Agent covenant and agree as follows: 


SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.  This Disclosure Agreement is being 
executed and delivered by the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent for the benefit of the Holders and the 
Beneficial Owners (as hereinafter defined) of the 2020 Bonds and in order to assist the Participating 
Underwriters (as hereinafter defined) in complying with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-
12(b)(5). 


SECTION 2. Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in the Trust Agreement, which 
apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement and not otherwise defined in this Section, 
the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 


“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as 
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. 


“Beneficial Owner” shall mean any person which has or shares the power, directly or indirectly, 
to make investment decisions concerning ownership of any 2020 Bonds (including persons holding 2020 
Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries). 


“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the Controller/Treasurer of the Issuer or his designee, or 
such other officer or employee of the Issuer as the Controller/Treasurer of the Issuer shall designate in 
writing to the Trustee and the Dissemination Agent from time to time. 


“Dissemination Agent” shall mean U.S. Bank National Association, acting in its capacity as 
Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the 
Issuer and which has filed with the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation. 


“Financial Obligation” shall mean, for purposes of the Listed Events set out in Section 5(a)(10) 
and 5(b)(8), a (i) debt obligation; (ii) derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as 
security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or (iii) guarantee of (i) or (ii). 
The term “Financial Obligation” shall not include municipal securities (as defined in the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as to which a final official statement (as defined in the Rule) has 
been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule. 


“Holder” shall mean the person in whose name any 2020 Bond shall be registered. 







  


F-2 


“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) or (b) of this Disclosure 
Agreement. 


“MSRB” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board or any other entity designated 
or authorized by the SEC to receive reports pursuant to the Rule.  Until otherwise designated by the 
MSRB or the SEC, filings with the MSRB are to be made through the Electronic Municipal Market 
Access (EMMA) website of the MSRB, currently located at http://emma.msrb.org. 


“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the 2020 Bonds 
required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the 2020 Bonds. 


“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time. 


“SEC” shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor agency thereto. 


“State” shall mean the State of California. 


SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Reports. 


(a) The Issuer shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than eight (8) 
months after the end of the Issuer’s fiscal year (presently June 30), commencing with the Annual Report 
for the fiscal year of the Issuer ending June 30, 2020, provide to the MSRB an Annual Report which is 
consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.  Each Annual Report must be 
submitted in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying information as is prescribed by the 
MSRB, and may include by reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure 
Agreement; provided that the audited financial statements of the Issuer may be submitted separately from 
the balance of the Annual Report and later than the date required above for the filing of the Annual 
Report if they are not available by that date.  Neither the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent shall have 
any duties or responsibilities with respect to the contents of the Annual Report.  If the Issuer’s fiscal year 
changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(e). 


(b) Not later than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the date specified in subsection (a) for 
providing the Annual Report to the MSRB, the Issuer shall provide the Annual Report to the 
Dissemination Agent.  If by such date, the Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the Annual 
Report, the Dissemination Agent shall contact the Issuer to determine if the Issuer is in compliance with 
the first sentence of this subsection (b). 


(c) If the Dissemination Agent is unable to verify that an Annual Report has been provided 
to the MSRB by the date required in subsection (a), the Dissemination Agent shall send a notice, in 
electronic format, to the MSRB, such notice to be in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A. 


(d) If the Annual Report is delivered to the Dissemination Agent for filing, the Dissemination 
Agent shall file a report with the Issuer certifying that the Annual Report has been provided pursuant to 
this Disclosure Agreement and stating the date it was provided. 


SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports.  The Annual Report shall contain or include by 
reference the following: 


(a) The audited financial statements of the Issuer for the prior fiscal year, prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as promulgated to apply to governmental 







  


F-3 


entities from time to time by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.  If the Issuer’s audited 
financial statements are not available by the time the Annual Report is required to be filed pursuant to 
Section 3(a), the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial statements in a format similar to the 
financial statements contained in the Official Statement, dated __________, 2020, relating to the 2020 
Bonds (the “Official Statement”), and the audited financial statements shall be filed in the same manner 
as the Annual Report when such audited financial statements become available. 


(b) An update (as of the most recently ended fiscal year of the Issuer) for the table set forth in 
the Official Statement under the caption “Debt Service Schedules” and an update for the tables entitled 
“San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Assessed Valuation” and “San Francisco Bay Area Rapid 
Transit District Secured Tax Charges and Delinquencies,” each set forth in the Official Statement under 
the caption “Security and Source of Payment for the 2020 Bonds.” 


Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents, 
including official statements of debt issues of the Issuer or related public entities, which have been filed 
with the MSRB or the SEC.  If the document included by reference is a final official statement, it must be 
available from the MSRB.  The Issuer shall clearly identify each such other document so included by 
reference. 


SECTION 5. Reporting of Significant Events. 


(a) Pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5, the Issuer shall give, or cause to be 
given, notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the 2020 Bonds not later 
than ten business days after the occurrence of the event: 


1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 


2. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 


3. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 


4. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 


5. Adverse tax opinions or issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or 
final determination of taxability or of a Notice of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 
5701 TEB); 


6. Tender offers; 


7. Defeasances; 


8. Rating changes; 


9. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person; 


10. Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other 
similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the District, any of 
which reflect financial difficulties. 


Note: for the purposes of the event identified in subparagraph (9), the event is considered to occur when 
any of the following occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for an obligated 







  


F-4 


person in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal 
law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the 
assets or business of the obligated person, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing 
governmental body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a 
court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement 
or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially 
all of the assets or business of the obligated person. 


(b) The Issuer shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the 
following events with respect to the 2020 Bonds, if material, not later than ten business days after the 
occurrence of the event: 


1. Unless described in paragraph 5(a)(5), other material notices or determinations 
by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to the tax status of the 2020 Bonds 
or other material events affecting the tax status of the 2020 Bonds; 


2. Modifications to rights of bond holders; 


3. Optional, unscheduled or contingent bond calls; 


4. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 2020 Bonds; 


5. Non-payment related defaults; 


6. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an 
obligated person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated 
person, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive 
agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive 
agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms; 


7. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a 
trustee; or 


8. Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the District, or agreement to covenants, 
events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial 
Obligation of the District, any of which affect security holders. 


(c) The Issuer shall give, or cause to be given, in a timely manner, notice of a failure to 
provide the annual financial information on or before the date specified in Section 3, as provided 
in Section 3(b). 


(d) Whenever the Issuer obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event described in 
Section 5(b), the Issuer shall determine if such event would be material under applicable federal 
securities laws. 


(e) If the Issuer learns of the occurrence of a Listed Event described in Section 5(a), or 
determines that knowledge of a Listed Event described in Section 5(b) would be material under 
applicable federal securities laws, the Issuer shall within ten business days of the occurrence file a 
notice of such occurrence with the MSRB in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying 
information as is prescribed by the MSRB.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of the Listed 
Event described in subsection (b)(3) need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the 







  


F-5 


notice (if any) of the underlying event is given to Holders of affected 2020 Bonds pursuant to the 
Resolution. 


(f) The District intends to comply with the Listed Events described in Section 5(a)(10) and 
Section 5(b)(8), and the definition of “Financial Obligation” in Section 1, with reference to the 
Rule, any other applicable federal securities laws and the guidance provided by the Commission 
in its Release No. 34-83885 dated August 20, 2018 (the “2018 Release”), and any further 
amendments or written guidance provided by the Commission or its staff with respect to the 
amendments to the Rule effected by the 2018 Release. 


SECTION 6. Format for Filings with MSRB.  Any report or filing with the MSRB pursuant to 
this Disclosure Agreement must be submitted in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying 
information as is prescribed by the MSRB. 


SECTION 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The obligations of the Issuer and the 
Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior 
redemption or payment in full of all of the 2020 Bonds.  If such termination occurs prior to the final 
maturity of the 2020 Bonds, the Issuer shall give notice of such termination in the same manner as for a 
Listed Event under Section 5(e). 


SECTION 8. Dissemination Agent.  The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a 
Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, and may 
discharge such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.  The 
Dissemination Agent may resign by providing thirty (30) days written notice to the Issuer.  The 
Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible in any manner for the form or content of any notice or 
report prepared by the Issuer pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement.   


SECTION 9. Amendment; Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure 
Agreement, the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent may amend this Disclosure Agreement (and the 
Dissemination Agent shall agree to any amendment so requested by the Issuer, provided the 
Dissemination Agent shall not be obligated to enter into any such amendment that modifies or increases 
its duties or obligations hereunder), and any provision of this Disclosure Agreement may be waived, 
provided that the following conditions are satisfied: 


(a) If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4, 5(a) or 5(b), it 
may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal 
requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature or status of an obligated person with respect 
to the 2020 Bonds, or the type of business conducted; 


(b) This Disclosure Agreement, as amended or taking into account such waiver, would, in the 
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the 
time of the original issuance of the 2020 Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or 
interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and 


(c) The amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by the Owners of the 2020 Bonds in the 
same manner as provided in the Trust Agreement for amendments to the Trust Agreement with the 
consent of Owners, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially 
impair the interests of the Owners or Beneficial Owners of the 2020 Bonds. 


In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer 
shall describe such amendment in the next Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, a narrative 







  


F-6 


explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or, in the case of a 
change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of financial information or operating data being 
presented by the Issuer.  In addition, if the amendment relates to the accounting principles to be followed 
in preparing financial statements, (i) notice of such change shall be given in the same manner as for a 
Listed Event under Section 5(e), and (ii) the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made 
should present a comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the 
financial statements as prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the 
basis of the former accounting principles. 


SECTION 10. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed 
to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth 
in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other information in 
any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is required by this 
Disclosure Agreement.  If the Issuer chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of 
occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure 
Agreement, the Issuer shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such 
information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event. 


SECTION 11. Default.  In the event of a failure of the Issuer or the Dissemination Agent to 
comply with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Trustee, at the written request of any 
Participating Underwriter or the Owners of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding 2020 
Bonds, shall, but only to the extent funds in an amount satisfactory to the Trustee have been provided to it 
or it has been otherwise indemnified to its satisfaction from any cost, liability, expense or additional 
charges and fees of the Trustee whatsoever, including, without limitation, fees and expenses of its 
attorneys, or any Owner or Beneficial Owner of the 2020 Bonds, may take such actions as may be 
necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the 
Issuer or the Dissemination Agent, as the case may be, to comply with its obligations under this 
Disclosure Agreement.  A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of 
Default under the Trust Agreement, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of 
any failure of the Issuer or the Dissemination Agent to comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an 
action to compel performance. 


SECTION 12. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Trustee and Dissemination Agent.  Article 
VII of the Trust Agreement is hereby made applicable to this Disclosure Agreement as if this Disclosure 
Agreement were (solely for this purpose) contained in the Trust Agreement and the Trustee and the 
Dissemination Agent shall be entitled to the protections, limitations from liability and indemnities 
afforded the Trustee thereunder.  The Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically 
set forth in this Disclosure Agreement, and the Issuer agrees to indemnify and save the Dissemination 
Agent and the Trustee and their officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, 
expense and liabilities which they may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of their 
powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) of defending 
against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities due to the Trustee’s or the Dissemination Agent’s 
negligence or willful misconduct.  The Dissemination Agent shall be paid compensation by the Issuer for 
its services provided hereunder in accordance with its schedule of fees as amended from time to time and 
all expenses, legal fees and advances made or incurred by the Dissemination Agent in the performance of 
its duties hereunder.  The obligations of the Issuer under this Section shall survive resignation or removal 
of the Trustee or the Dissemination Agent and payment of the 2020 Bonds.  The Dissemination Agent has 
no power to enforce performance on the part of the Issuer under this Disclosure Agreement. 


The Dissemination Agent agrees to accept and act upon instructions or directions pursuant to this 
Disclosure Agreement sent by unsecured e-mail, facsimile transmission or other similar unsecured 







  


F-7 


electronic methods, provided, however, that, the Dissemination Agent shall have received an incumbency 
certificate listing persons designated to give such instructions or directions and containing specimen 
signatures of such designated persons, which such incumbency certificate shall be amended and replaced 
whenever a person is to be added or deleted from the listing.  If the Issuer elects to give the Dissemination 
Agent e-mail or facsimile instructions (or instructions by a similar electronic method) and the 
Dissemination Agent acts upon such instructions, the Dissemination Agent’s understanding of such 
instructions shall be deemed controlling.  The Dissemination Agent shall not be liable for any losses, 
costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Dissemination Agent’s reliance upon and 
compliance with such instructions notwithstanding such instructions conflict or are inconsistent with a 
subsequent written instruction.  The Issuer agrees: (i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of such 
electronic methods to submit instructions and directions to the Dissemination Agent, including without 
limitation the risk of the Dissemination Agent acting on unauthorized instructions, and the risk of 
interception and misuse by third parties; (ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and risks associated 
with the various methods of transmitting instructions to the Dissemination Agent and that there may be 
more secure methods of transmitting instructions than the method(s) selected by the Issuer; and (iii)  that 
the security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of instructions provide 
to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and circumstances. 


SECTION 13. Notices.  Any notices or communications to or among any of the parties to this 
Disclosure Agreement may be given as follows: 


(i) If to the Issuer: 
 San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District  
 300 Lakeside Drive 
 Oakland, California  94612-3534 
 Attention:  Controller/Treasurer 
 Telephone: (510) 464-6070 
 Fax:  (510) 464-6011 


(ii) If to the Dissemination Agent: 
 U.S. Bank National Association 


One California Street, Suite 1000 
San Francisco, California  94111 
Attention: Global Corporate Trust 
Telephone: (415) 677-3596 
Fax:  (415) 677-3769 


 
Any person may, by written notice to the other persons listed above, designate a different address 


or telephone number(s) to which subsequent notices or communications should be sent.  Notices may also 
be given by electronic means. 


SECTION 14. Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the 
Issuer, the Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriters and Holders and Beneficial 
Owners from time to time of the 2020 Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 


SECTION 15. Governing Law.  This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed under the laws of 
the State of California. 


 







  


F-8 


SECTION 16. Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 


 Date: __________, 2020. 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID 
   TRANSIT DISTRICT 


 
 
 
 By   
  Controller/Treasurer 
 
 
 
 


U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
     as Dissemination Agent 
 
 
 
 By  
  Authorized Officer 







  


F-9 


Exhibit A 
 


NOTICE TO MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING BOARD OF 
FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 


 
Name of Issuer: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
Name of Bond Issue: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General 


Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-1 
(Green Bonds) 
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General 
Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-2 
(Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) 
 
 


Date of Issuance of Bonds: __________, 2020 
 
 


NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the 
“Issuer”) has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by 
Section 3(a) of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated ______________, 2020, between the Issuer 
and U.S. Bank National Association, as dissemination agent.  [The Issuer anticipates that the Annual 
Report will be filed by _______.]   


Dated:____________________ 
       U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
 as Dissemination Agent on behalf of the San 
 Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
 
cc:  Issuer 
 


 







  
 
 


G-1 
 
 


APPENDIX G 
 


PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 


[To Come] 







  
 
 


H-1 
 
 


APPENDIX H 
 


SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT 
 
 







OH&S DRAFT 07/16/20 


APPENDIX A 
 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION 


 







 


 


(This page intentionally left blank) 







TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page A- 


 i 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT ................................................. 1 


General Description of the District .................................................................................... 1 
Powers of the District......................................................................................................... 1 
Administration ................................................................................................................... 2 
Litigation ............................................................................................................................ 5 


THE BART SYSTEM ................................................................................................................... 5 


General Description ........................................................................................................... 5 
Revenue Hours ................................................................................................................... 8 
Ridership ............................................................................................................................ 8 
Passenger Fares .................................................................................................................. 9 
Parking Programs ............................................................................................................. 11 
Power Supply ................................................................................................................... 11 


BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS ............................................................... 13 


Sources of Funds .............................................................................................................. 13 
General Obligation Bonds................................................................................................ 13 
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds ................................................................................................ 14 
Rail Vehicle Replacement Program ................................................................................. 15 
Earthquake Safety Program ............................................................................................. 17 
System Renewal Program and System Reinvestment Program ....................................... 18 
System Expansion Program ............................................................................................. 19 
Security Enhancement Program ....................................................................................... 21 
Service and Capacity Enhancement Program .................................................................. 21 
BART Headquarters Acquisition and Improvement ........................................................ 23 
Funding Developments .................................................................................................... 23 


DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION ................................................................................ 28 


Financial Statements ........................................................................................................ 28 
Historical Financial Results ............................................................................................. 28 
Management’s Discussion of Historical Financial Results ............................................. 30 
Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20 and Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 
2020-21 ............................................................................................................................ 31 
Risk Management and Insurance ..................................................................................... 34 
Investment Policy............................................................................................................. 34 
Labor Relations and Employee Retirement Benefits ....................................................... 35 
Money Purchase Pension Plan ......................................................................................... 41 
Other Postretirement Benefits .......................................................................................... 41 







 


 


(This page intentionally left blank) 







 


 A-1 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 


General Description of the District 


The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District” or “BART”) was created 
in 1957 by Chapter 1056 of the Statutes of 1957 of the State of California, constituting Sections 
28500 to 29757, inclusive, of the California Public Utilities Code, as amended (the “BART 
Legislation”) to provide rapid transit to the San Francisco Bay Area.  The District is presently 
composed of all the area in the Counties of Alameda and Contra Costa and the City and County of 
San Francisco (the “Three BART Counties”).  In addition, the District owns property within the 
County of San Mateo and has easements to operate within the County of Santa Clara on which 
BART is operating facilities, and the District acquired the right to use additional right of way and 
station locations in connection with the extension of its rapid transit system (the “BART System”) 
to the San Francisco International Airport (“SFO”) located in the County of San Mateo.  The first 
phase of the extension of the BART System into the County of Santa Clara was completed in Fiscal 
Year 2019-20, as service to the Milpitas and Berryessa/North San José stations began on June 13, 
2020.  See “BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – System Expansion Program” 
herein.  Under certain conditions, other counties may be annexed to and become a part of the 
District. 


References to “Fiscal Year” or “FY” refer to the fiscal year ending on June 30 of the 
designated year and beginning on the preceding July 1. 


Powers of the District 


The BART Legislation grants the District the following powers, among others: 


Financing and Taxation.  The District may issue general obligation bonds up to the 
amount authorized by a two-thirds vote of the electorate voting on the ballot measure proposing 
such general obligation bonds.  Upon issuance of general obligation bonds authorized by the 
electorate, the District is obligated to levy and collect an ad valorem tax on property in the Three 
BART Counties at a rate sufficient to pay the annual debt service on such outstanding general 
obligation bonds when due and payable.  Such tax may be offset to the extent that other moneys 
are legally made available for such purpose. 


In addition to general obligation bonds, the District may issue:  (1) sales tax revenue bonds; 
(2) revenue bonds payable solely from revenues of any facility or enterprise to be acquired or 
constructed by the District; (3) equipment trust certificates payable from revenues derived from 
the operation of the BART System; (4) special assessment bonds; (5) grant anticipation notes, 
bond anticipation notes and tax and revenue anticipation notes; and (6) such other obligations as 
are authorized by the laws of the State of California (the “State of California” or the “State”). 


Eminent Domain.  The District has the right, with certain limitations, of eminent domain 
for the condemnation of private property for public use. 







 


 A-2 


Administration 


Governance of the District is vested in a Board of Directors (the “Board of Directors” or 
the “Board”) composed of nine members, each representing an election district within the District.  
The boundaries of the election districts have been set on the basis of, as nearly as practicable, equal 
population and, among other things, community of interest of the population within the election 
district.  The election districts are adjusted to reflect population changes after every national 
census.  The boundaries of the District’s election districts do not conform to the boundaries of the 
Three BART Counties.  The nine electoral districts may include areas from one or more of the 
Three BART Counties. 


Directors are elected to staggered four-year terms every two years, alternating between 
four and five available positions.  Each term commences on the first Friday of December in the 
year of a November general election and ends on the first Friday of December four years later.  


The District Directors are: 


   Term Expiration 
Director District City of Residence (December) 


Lateefah Simon, President 7 Oakland 2020 
Mark Foley, Vice President 2 Antioch 2022 
Debora Allen 1 Clayton 2020 
Elizabeth Ames 6 Union City 2022 
Bevan Dufty 9 San Francisco 2020 
Janice Li 8 San Francisco 2022 
John McPartland 5 Castro Valley 2020 
Robert Raburn 4 Oakland 2022 
Rebecca Saltzman 3 Oakland 2020 


 
The executive management staff of the District consists of statutory officers appointed by 


the Board and operating managers appointed by the General Manager. 


The statutory officers are: 


Robert Powers, General Manager 


Robert Powers was appointed General Manager of BART on July 25, 2019. Prior to his 
appointment, Mr. Powers served as Deputy General Manager of BART starting in January of 2017 
and was appointed Interim General Manager effective July 8, 2019.  In this role, Mr. Powers 
provided support to the General Manager in the management of major District departments 
including Operations; System Safety; Planning, Development and Construction; Administration 
and Budget; Office of the CIO; Civil Rights; External Affairs and Human Resources.  Mr. Powers 
also provided management support to the Board of Directors, Board-appointed officers and 
BART’s executive staff. 


Before his appointment to Deputy General Manager, Mr. Powers served as Assistant 
General Manager in Planning, Development and Construction at BART and was responsible for 







 


 A-3 


the design, construction and management of several major rail transit extension projects along with 
BART’s Real Estate and Property Development; Strategic and Station Planning efforts; BART’s 
Energy and Sustainability Program, and the Office of the District Architect.  Prior to joining 
BART, Mr. Powers served as the Director, Major Projects and Deputy Director at the Seattle 
Department of Transportation (“SDOT”), where he oversaw SDOT’s Major Projects, Traffic 
Management, Policy and Planning, and Capital Projects and Roadway Structures divisions.  He 
also previously served as the Division Chief of Transportation in the Engineering and Construction 
Division (“TEC”) for the City of Baltimore Department of Transportation. 


Mr. Powers is a licensed Professional Engineer.  He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Civil Engineering and Master of Science degree in Structural Engineering, both from the 
University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. 


Rosemarie V. Poblete, Controller/Treasurer 


Ms. Poblete joined the District in May 1996 as a Treasury Analyst in the Finance 
Department.  She was promoted to the Manager of Debit Credit Fare Programs in February 2008 
and in December 2011 to Assistant Treasurer of the District.  Effective June 29, 2015, Ms. Poblete 
was appointed by the Board of Directors to be the Interim Controller/Treasurer and was appointed 
as Controller/Treasurer in March 2016.  Prior to joining the District, Ms. Poblete worked in 
banking as an operations manager and a private banker.  Ms. Poblete holds a Bachelor’s degree in 
Business Administration from the University of the Philippines. 


Matthew Burrows, General Counsel 


Mr. Burrows joined the District in February 1997 as an attorney in the Office of the General 
Counsel.  In 2007, he was promoted to Associate General Counsel and in January 2008, appointed 
General Counsel.  Mr. Burrows received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Sociology from the 
University of California at Santa Barbara and his J.D. from the University of California, Hastings 
College of the Law. 


Patricia K. Williams, District Secretary 


Ms. Williams joined the District in 1996 as a Clerk III in the District Secretary’s Office.  
She served as the Executive Staff Assistant to the District Secretary from 1998 to 2001, and as 
Assistant District Secretary from 2001 to September 2018, when she was appointed District 
Secretary.  Prior to joining the District, Ms. Williams worked as a long-distance operator and 
temporary office manager for AT&T.  Ms. Williams holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in 
Management from St. Mary’s College in Moraga, and she is a Certified Shorthand Reporter. 


Russell Bloom, Independent Police Auditor 


Mr. Bloom is the Independent Police Auditor at the BART Office of the Independent Police 
Auditor (“OIPA”).  Mr. Bloom came to OIPA as an Investigator in 2014 after working as an in-
house investigator at an Oakland civil litigation law firm specializing in plaintiff-side asbestos 
exposure cases.  Mr. Bloom has also served on the City of Berkeley California Police Review 
Commission, including terms as Vice-Chair and Chair.  He received an undergraduate degree from 
the University of California at Berkeley, and a J.D. from the New College of California School of 







 


 A-4 


Law.  His law school experience includes a judicial externship with U.S. District Court Judge 
Thelton Henderson.  Mr. Bloom has experience in the areas of civil litigation, criminal law, family 
law, immigration law, and law enforcement accountability.   


Harriet Richardson, Inspector General 


Ms. Richardson joined the District in August 2019 as the first Inspector General for the 
District.  She has 29 years of experience as a performance auditor at the federal, state, and local 
levels of government, including serving as City Auditor for the City of Palo Alto, Audit Manager 
for the City of Berkeley, Deputy State Auditor for the Washington State Auditor’s Office, and 
Audit Director for the City and County of San Francisco. Ms. Richardson is a Certified Public 
Accountant, Certified Internal Auditor, Certified Government Audit Professional, and Certified in 
Risk Management Assurance. She graduated with presidential honors from City University in 
Seattle with a bachelor’s degree in accounting and a master’s degree in business administration 
with an emphasis in financial management. Ms. Richardson served for five years on the board of 
the Association of Local Government Auditors (“ALGA”), including a term as president, is past 
chair of ALGA’s Professional Issues Committee, and served seven years on the Association of 
Government Accountants’ (“AGA”) Financial Management Standards Board.  She has served on 
several ALGA peer review teams, written articles for ALGA’s Local Government Auditing 
Quarterly, and provided presentations at many conferences for organizations such as ALGA, 
AGA, The Institute of Internal Auditors, the International Law Enforcement Auditors’ 
Association, the Intergovernmental Audit Forums, and the League of California Cities.  Ms. 
Richardson has received several of ALGA’s Knighton Awards, which recognize the best local 
government audits during the award years, ALGA’s lifetime membership award, the AGA’s 
Excellence in Government Leadership Award in 2017, and the David M. Walker Excellence in 
Government Performance and Accountability Award in 2018.  She is currently a local government 
representative on the United States Government Accountability Office’s Government Auditing 
Standards Advisory Council. 


 
Principal executive management staff appointed by the General Manager include: 


Tamar Allen, Assistant General Manager, Operations 


Ms. Allen joined the District in 1982.  Ms. Allen served as Chief Mechanical Officer 
responsible for the rolling stock fleet from August 2005 to December 2015.  In December 2015, 
Ms. Allen assumed responsibility for the BART infrastructure and operating systems as Chief 
Maintenance & Engineering Officer.  In August 2018, Ms. Allen was appointed as the Assistant 
General Manager, Operations.  Ms. Allen holds a Master of Public Administration degree from 
California State University, East Bay and a bachelor’s degree from the University of California, 
Berkeley. 


Pamela Herhold, Assistant General Manager, Performance and Budget 


Ms. Herhold joined the District in 1996. In September 2018, Ms. Herhold assumed 
responsibility for the District’s Performance and Budget Executive Office, leading areas including 
Budgets, fare policy, long-term financial planning, Grants and Internal Audit. Previously, Ms. 
Herhold led the District’s Financial Planning function and was a leader in institutionalizing the 







 


 A-5 


District’s inflation-based fare increase program, now in place since 2006. Ms. Herhold holds a 
Master of Urban and Regional Planning from the University of Florida, is an alumna of the 
American Public Transit Association’s Leadership APTA program and is a member of the 
Government Finance Officers Association and Women’s Transportation Seminar. 


Litigation 


The District is involved in various lawsuits, claims and disputes.  Many of those lawsuits 
arise as a result of personal injuries and property damage which are anticipated in connection with 
operations such as the District’s.  The District is currently named in seven active lawsuits filed by 
current and former employees alleging employment related claims including claims of racial and 
disability discrimination, a number of civil rights lawsuits arising from its ongoing police 
activities, litigation arising from license agreements and permits, litigation related to access, and 
construction-related claims. 


The District recently received a defense verdict in litigation brought by a company retained 
to act as a master station retail vendor which the District had terminated.  The company sought 
$30 million in damages, and has filed an appeal seeking to reverse the verdict. 


THE BART SYSTEM 


General Description 


The BART System is an electrically-powered rail rapid transit system serving the residents 
of the San Francisco Bay Area.  The BART System is currently comprised of approximately 131 
miles of dual mainline track (including some areas of more than two tracks) and 50 stations, 42 of 
which are located in the Three BART Counties, six of which are located in San Mateo County on 
the San Francisco Peninsula, and two of which are located in Santa Clara County.  In addition, the 
BART System includes the diesel-powered Antioch Extension (as defined herein) and the Oakland 
Airport Connector (the “OAC”).  Automatic fare collection equipment is located in each station to 
vend and process passenger tickets and Clipper Cards (as defined herein).  BART System vehicles 
are electric multiple unit cars, with an electric motor powering each axle of every car.  BART’s 
legacy fleet includes “A,” “B” and “C” cars (the “Current Cars”), which are being supplemented 
and will eventually be replaced by “D” and “E” cars (the “Fleet of the Future”).  Cars of BART’s 
Fleet of the Future are designated “D” (cab-equipped) and “E” (mid-train) cars.  Trains vary from 
four to ten cars in length and contain one control cab-equipped vehicle at each end, with mid-train 
vehicles making up the remainder of each train.  As of [June 18], 2020, the District’s revenue fleet 
consisted of 861 rail cars, comprised of 59 “A” cars, 378 “B” cars, 221 “C” cars, 80 “D” cars and 
123 “E” cars.  BART is powered by an electric third rail at 1,000 volts DC.  The rail right-of-way 
is fully protected and has no grade crossings.  Computers located along the right-of-way 
automatically control train movements.  BART train supervision is provided by the BART train 
control computer located at the BART Operations Control Center (the “Control Center”).  Should 
the need arise, train operators aboard each train may override the automatic system. 


BART service lines run through the urban and suburban areas of the Three BART Counties, 
San Mateo County and Santa Clara County.  Lines run along the west side of the San Francisco 
Bay on the San Francisco Peninsula from the Millbrae station and the SFO station, under the San 







 


 A-6 


Francisco Bay in the San Francisco-Oakland rapid transit tube (via the “Transbay Tube”) and 
traverse the hills and valleys of the east side of the San Francisco Bay.  For more detailed 
information regarding BART System routes, see the BART System map in the inside back cover 
of this Official Statement.  Approximately one-third of the BART System is underground or 
underwater, one-third is aerial, and one-third is at grade. 


BART stations are spaced approximately one-half mile apart in downtown San Francisco 
and Oakland, and approximately two to four miles apart in suburban areas.  A number of BART 
stations located in downtown San Francisco enable intermodal transfers to the San Francisco 
Metropolitan Transportation Authority light rail, cable cars and buses.  The Millbrae station 
provides convenient transfers to the Caltrain commuter rail service, which provides commuter 
service along the San Francisco Peninsula and south to Gilroy in Santa Clara County. The 
Richmond and Coliseum stations in the East Bay provide intermodal transfers to the Capitol 
Corridor intercity rail service between Sacramento and San Jose.  The Milpitas station in Santa 
Clara County provides convenient transfers to the Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority 
(“VTA”) light rail and bus systems, which provide commuter service throughout the great San 
Jose area.  The SFO station is located within SFO.  The Coliseum station in Oakland provides 
access via the OAC to Oakland International Airport (“OAK”). 


BART began operations in the early 1970s with Transbay service beginning in 1974.  A 
number of East Bay extensions to North Concord/Martinez and Pittsburg/Bay Point to the 
northeast and Castro Valley and Dublin/Pleasanton to the southeast were added in the mid-1990s.  
The SFO Extension (as defined herein), consisting of service to five stations in San Mateo County, 
opened in 2003 with BART assuming operational control of the SFO Extension from the San 
Mateo County Transit District (“SamTrans”) in 2007. 


BART commenced service of the OAC in November 2014.  The OAC is an automated 
driverless, cable-propelled people mover manufactured by Doppelmayr Cable Car, Inc. (“DCC”) 
that travels between the Coliseum BART station and OAK in about eight minutes on a primarily 
elevated guideway structure along the median of Hegenberger Road.  Flatiron/Parsons JV 
constructed the approximately $485 million project.  In Fiscal Year 2020, approximately 1,761 
passengers per weekday used this service.  The OAC project is operated pursuant to a 20-year 
operations and maintenance contract with DCC.  Pursuant to the contract, the District pays DCC a 
monthly fee, which is calculated pursuant to a formula that includes a base fee, plus additional 
fixed fees for service adjustments, deductions for excessive downtime, incentives for increased 
service availability, and an adjustment for inflation.  In Fiscal Year 2019, the District paid DCC 
approximately $6.4 million. 


On March 25, 2017, BART service was extended south 5.4 miles from the Fremont station 
to a new station in the Warm Springs district of Fremont in southern Alameda County (the “Warm 
Springs Extension”).  The Warm Springs Extension alignment is mostly at-grade; however, it runs 
beneath Fremont Central Park in one-mile-long cut and cover subway.  The funding plan for the 
$890 million extension included substantial contributions from a variety of local and State sources 
and surplus revenues from the SFO Extension but had no federal funding. 


On May 26, 2018, BART service was extended to Antioch in east Contra Costa County 
(the “Antioch Extension”).  The Antioch Extension, designed to improve transit service in the 







 


 A-7 


congested California State Highway Route 4 (“State Route 4”) corridor, consists of a 10-mile rail 
extension located in the median of State Route 4 eastward from the Pittsburg/Bay Point BART 
station to the City of Antioch utilizing Diesel Multiple Unit (“DMU”) technology (the “eBART 
Project”).  The eBART Project cost approximately $510.7 million and operates eight DMUs out 
of the eBART Maintenance Facility (“EMF”) in Antioch.  The EMF consists of a maintenance 
shop, fueling station, train washing facility, warehouse, control center, and administrative offices.  
As of January 2020, weekday ridership of approximately [8,000] trips exceeded ridership 
projections by [__]% and public reception of the new service has been positive, but parking 
availability has been limited.  To address this concern, in December 2018, the Board of Directors 
authorized expenditures of $16 million to construct an 850-space parking lot east of the existing 
eBART parking lots and to enhance bike, bus, and passenger access to Antioch station. 


On June 13, 2020, BART service was extended to Milpitas and San Jose in north Santa 
Clara County (the “Silicon Valley Berryessa Extension Project” or the “SVBX”).  The SVBX is a 
ten-mile extension south from the Warm Springs/South Fremont station and includes the Milpitas 
and Berryessa/North San José stations.  The SVBX was constructed at a cost of $2.42 billion 
dollars, and was granted an FTA Full Funding Grant Agreement in March 2012.  The SVBX is the 
first phase of the Silicon Valley Extension (defined herein).  See “BART FINANCINGS AND 
CAPITAL PROGRAMS – System Expansion Program – Silicon Valley Extension” herein. 


BART repairs and maintains its revenue rolling stock at four primary shop facilities in 
Concord, Daly City, Hayward and Richmond, as well as at a secondary facility in Hayward.  The 
primary shop facilities in Concord, Daly City, Hayward and Richmond perform preventive and 
regular train maintenance based on operating hours, as well as unscheduled failure repairs.  
Responsibility for maintaining the District’s revenue vehicle fleet is distributed among the primary 
maintenance facilities, with each location generally responsible for supporting designated service 
routes.  The Hayward Maintenance Complex (“HMC”) also houses shops for secondary and 
component repairs, including electrical, pneumatic, HVAC, and hydraulic repairs, as well as brake 
system components, door operators, couplers, power supply and vehicle subsystem solid state 
electronic logics.  The HMC is being expanded to accommodate additional demand caused by the 
extension of the BART System into Santa Clara County.  See “BART FINANCINGS AND 
CAPITAL PROGRAMS – System Expansion Program – Silicon Valley Extension” herein. 


BART contracts with the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (“SFMTA”) and 
the Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District (“AC Transit”) to provide feeder bus service that 
connects the San Francisco Municipal Railway (“Muni”) and AC Transit bus lines to BART 
stations.  The District’s most recent contract with SFMTA, which expired on June 30, 2020 (the 
“SFMTA Contract”), required BART to pay SFMTA a fee calculated based on the year-to-year 
percentage change in actual individual trips transferring from Muni to BART based on Clipper 
Card (as defined herein) data, and the year-to-year percentage change in inflation based on the San 
Francisco Bay Area Consumer Price Index.  The SFMTA Contract also provided that BART’s 
payment could not increase or decrease by more than five percent annually.  The District’s most 
recent contract with AC Transit, which also expired on June 30, 2020 (the “AC Transit Contract”), 
contained terms intentionally similar to those in the SFMTA Contract.  Unlike the SFMTA 
Contract, however, the AC Transit Contract provided that the Metropolitan Transit Commission 
(“MTC”) would draw amounts owed to AC Transit from BART’s share of State Transit Assistance 







 


 A-8 


(“STA”) funds.  BART expects to negotiate new agreements with SFMTA and AC Transit during 
Fiscal Year 2021. 


Revenue Hours  


BART operates revenue train service from 5:00 a.m. to midnight Monday through Friday, 
from 6:00 a.m. to midnight on Saturdays, and from 8:00 a.m. to midnight on Sundays.  The last 
trains depart each end of the line around midnight, so passengers can get anywhere in the BART 
System if they arrive at any station by midnight.  Depending upon demand, holiday rail service is 
provided on a full or modified weekday schedule, a Saturday schedule or a Sunday schedule.  
Beginning on April 8, 2020, BART temporarily reduced its revenue service due to reduced 
ridership resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.  As of [June 22, 2020], BART trains are running 
every thirty minutes on Monday through Friday from 5:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m., and every twenty to 
twenty-four minutes on Saturdays and Sundays from 8:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m.  BART currently plans 
to extend its daily revenue service to 11:00 p.m. in September 2020, and return to its regular 
operating schedule in February 2021. 


Ridership  


Average weekday passenger trips for the Fiscal Years 2014-15 to 2019-20 are set forth 
below. 


Trip Locations: 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
East Bay  89,108 87,892 84,946 82,251 79,751 57,420 
West Bay  112,492 112,889 106,814 102,844 103,210 72,039 
Transbay  221,519 232,613 231,636 229,071 227,816 158,812 
Average Total Weekday 
Trips 423,119 433,394 


 
423,395 414,166 


 
410,778 


 
288,271 


Percentage Annual 
Change  6.0% 2.4% 


 
(2.3)% (2.2)% 


 
(0.8)% 


 
(29.8%) 


 
Following extraordinary ridership growth after the 2008-2011 recession, ridership growth 


began to stabilize to a more sustainable level, averaging over 423,000 weekday trips in Fiscal Year 
2014-15 and growing 2.4% to just over 433,000 weekday trips in Fiscal Year 2015-16.  In Fiscal 
Year 2016-17, ridership trended down, averaging 423,395 weekday trips for the year.  That trend 
continued through Fiscal Year 2017-18 and Fiscal Year 2018-19 as ridership declined to just over 
414,000 and just over 410,000 average weekday trips, respectively.  During Fiscal Year 2019-20, 
ridership declined to just over 288,000 average weekday trips, with Transbay trips down 30.3%, 
East Bay trips down 28.0%, and trips within BART’s West Bay area down 30.2%.  Historically, 
factors such as changes in employment, traffic congestion and the price of gas have impacted 
BART ridership, and in recent years Uber, Lyft, and other app-based services (also known as 
Transportation Network Companies (“TNCs”)) appear to have contributed to the decline in 
ridership, though exactly to what extent is currently unknown.   


The ongoing outbreak of COVID-19, which began in Fiscal Year 2019-20, contributed to 
a sharp decline in ridership.  On March 2, 2020, daily ridership was 5% below the expected 
baseline, and fell drastically after each of the Three BART Counties instituted shelter-in-place 







 


 A-9 


orders in response to the outbreak (collectively, the “Shelter-In-Place Orders”).  On March 17, 
2020, the day that each of the Shelter-In-Place Orders became effective, daily ridership was 87% 
below the expected baseline, and fell further to 94% below the expected baseline by the end of 
April 2020.  As of [July 10], 2020, daily ridership remains 89% below the expected baseline.  
Among those riders who have stopped riding BART during the COVID-19 outbreak, 34% 
indicated that they would ride BART again once their employer allows them to return to the 
workplace, 19% indicated that they would ride BART again once the Shelter-In-Place Orders have 
been loosened, and 15% indicated that they would ride BART again about a month after the 
Shelter-In-Place Orders have been loosened.  In total, about 70% of riders who have stopped riding 
BART during the COVID-19 outbreak indicated that they are very or somewhat likely to ride 
BART again in the next 12 months.  In response to the reduced ridership on the BART System 
during the COVID-19 pandemic, BART is accelerating its capital program, and is issuing the 2020 
Bonds for the purpose of financing the costs of accelerating such projects. 


The Coliseum station in Oakland provides access to the Oakland-Alameda County 
Coliseum, currently home field to the Oakland Athletics, a professional baseball team.  The Golden 
State Warriors, a professional basketball team, relocated to a new venue in San Francisco 
beginning with the 2019-20 basketball season, the Oakland Raiders, a professional football team, 
relocated to a new venue in Las Vegas beginning with the 2020-21 football season, and the 
Oakland Athletics are considering relocating to a different site in Oakland.  Although the Oakland-
Alameda County Coliseum will continue to serve as a concert venue, the relocation of the Golden 
State Warriors and Oakland Raiders, and the proposed relocation of the Oakland Athletics are all 
expected to contribute to reduced ridership at the Coliseum station and throughout the BART 
System. 


Passenger Fares 


In Fiscal Year 2018-19, BART collected $482.6 million in passenger fare revenues, 
accounting for 47.7% of its total operating and non-operating revenues.  BART fares are calculated 
based on distances between the departure and arrival stations, with surcharges applied to certain 
trips adjusted for a speed differential.  Surcharges apply to transbay trips; trips originating from or 
destined to stations located in San Mateo County; a capital surcharge applies to BART trips within 
the Three BART Counties; and a premium applies to trips to and from the SFO station and the 
OAK station via the OAC.  Since January 1, 2020, the minimum one-way fare is $2.10 for riders 
using the regional Clipper Card and $2.60 for riders using the magnetic stripe paper tickets.  The 
current maximum one-way fare for Clipper Card users is $17.00, charged for the trip between the 
SFO and OAK stations, and $17.50 for paper ticket users.  To eliminate the sale of paper tickets, 
BART is engaged in a pilot program during the Summer of 2019 in which the only fare product 
available for purchase at certain stations is the Clipper Card.  Beginning June 8, 2020, BART 
began to accelerate its efforts for system-wide implementation of Clipper Card-only sales. 


Fare increases during the District’s history are summarized below: 







 


 A-10 


Average District Fare Increases 


Date Average Increase 


November 1975 21.0% 
July 1980 34.9 
September 1982 18.4 
January 1986 30.0 
April 1995 15.0 
April 1996 13.0 
April 1997 11.4 
January 2003 5.0 
January 2004 10.0 
January 2006 3.7 
January 2008 5.4 
July 2009 6.1* 
July 2012 1.4 
January 2014 5.2 
January 2016 3.4 
January 2018 2.7 
January 2020 5.4 


   
*  All fares increased by an average 6.1% with the exception of the 16.7% increase to the minimum fare and the 167% increase to the premium 
fare charged for trips to or from SFO station. 
 


The District currently offers a variety of fare discount programs ranging in value from 
6.25% to 62.5% of the regularly-applicable fare.  Persons eligible for such discount programs 
include youth between the ages of 5 and 18 (children under the age of 5 ride free), undergraduate 
and graduate students attending San Francisco State University, and seniors or persons with 
disabilities.  BART is also currently testing a discount of up to 25% for groups traveling to and 
from airports that purchase tickets through its BART to Airport mobile application.  Specific terms 
and eligibility requirements apply to each discount program. 


BART will be participating in a pilot 12-18-month fare discount program sponsored by 
MTC that will provide a 20% discount to low-income people at or below 200% of the federal 
poverty level.  MTC is expected to pay for up to 50% of BART’s annual revenue loss from the 
program. 


The rates and charges of BART are by law free from the jurisdiction and control of any 
regulatory agency, including the California Public Utilities Commission.  Passenger fares are 
established by a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors and are required to be reasonable.  Any 
Board of Supervisors of a county or city and county, or the city council of a municipality having 
territory located within the District, may file a request for a hearing before the Board of Directors 
regarding the reasonableness of any fares.  The hearing must be held between 15 and 60 days from 
the date of the request and a decision by the Board of Directors must be rendered in writing within 
30 days after the hearing.  Thereafter, the decision may be reviewed by the courts through a writ 
of mandate.  In compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, public meetings and 
public hearings are held before any change in fares or any substantial reduction in service is made.  







 


 A-11 


Such change can only be made after proper consideration has been given to the views and 
comments expressed by the public, including those who are minority, low-income, or have limited 
English proficiency, in public meetings and at public hearings and after consideration has been 
given to the effects on energy conservation and the economic, environmental and social impact of 
such change. 


Parking Programs 


The District provides a variety of options for passengers who drive to BART stations.  As 
of July 2020, parking is provided at 38 of the District’s 50 stations and the total number of parking 
spaces provided system-wide is approximately 47,200.  Parking revenue for Fiscal Year 2018-19 
was $37.6 million, or approximately 6.7% of the District’s operating revenues for Fiscal Year 
2018-19.  The adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20 includes parking revenues of $36.5 million, 
representing 6.7% of the District’s budgeted operating revenues for Fiscal Year 2019-20, and the 
adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21 includes parking revenues of $10.5 million, representing 
5.8% of the District’s budgeted operating revenues for Fiscal Year 2020-21. 


Parking is provided in surface lots and in parking garages.  The District commenced 
charging for parking to enhance revenues in 2002 and now charges for parking at all stations that 
have parking facilities.  The District offers a paid monthly and single day reserved parking program 
system-wide and a paid airport/long term parking program at most of its stations.  The monthly 
reserved parking program allows passengers to purchase guaranteed parking near the entrance to 
a station.  Monthly parking fees vary from station to station within a range of $84 to $105 at most 
stations, based upon the daily fee for each station.  The number of spaces set aside for monthly 
reserved parking under current authorization cannot exceed 25% of the total spaces in a lot.  All 
total reserved spaces may not exceed 40% of the station’s total spaces.  The airport/long term 
parking program allows passengers traveling to either SFO or OAK to purchase permits to park 
their vehicles at some BART stations for periods of time greater than 24 hours.  Single-day and 
long-term permits can be purchased via the BART website for $6-7/day at most stations. 


The amount for the daily parking fee is demand-based, up to a $3 daily fee limit, except at 
the West Oakland BART station, which does not have a limit.   Every 6 months, the utilization of 
the parking facility is evaluated.  If the facility exceeds 95% capacity, then the daily fee may 
increase by $0.50 per weekday.  Parking fees have reached the $3 daily fee limit at 36 of the 38 
stations with parking. 


Power Supply 


The operation of the BART System requires a substantial amount of electricity to serve its 
traction power system as well as the operation of its stations, shops, yards and other facilities.  The 
District’s current annual electric load is approximately 410,000 megawatt-hours, with peak electric 
demand of approximately 85 megawatts (“MW”).  In Fiscal Year 2018-19, the District spent 
$[___] million to purchase power, or approximately [__.__]% of the District’s operating expenses 
for Fiscal Year 2018-19.  The adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20 includes $45.6 million to 
purchase power, representing 5.7% of the District’s budgeted operating expenses for Fiscal Year 
2019-20, and the adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21 includes $48.1 million to purchase 
power, representing 5.7% of the District’s budgeted operating expenses for Fiscal Year 2020-21. 







 


 A-12 


The District historically purchased all of its electricity services, including both supply and 
delivery, from Pacific Gas & Electric Company (“PG&E”).  In 1995, the California Legislature 
enacted statutory provisions authorizing the District to purchase wholesale electrical power supply 
from federal power marketing agencies, while continuing to take delivery services from PG&E 
under dedicated service agreements.  The District’s authority to purchase electricity from other 
suppliers was expanded in 2004 to permit the District to obtain electrical power supply from local 
publicly owned electric utilities and again in 2015 to allow purchase from developers of renewable 
energy projects.  Pursuant to this legislative authorization, the District’s energy supply needs are 
currently met through a portfolio of medium-term and long-term supply contracts, including 
contracts with hydroelectric and solar facilities.  Approximately 80% of the District’s energy 
supply needs are met from greenhouse gas-free imports from the Pacific Northwest, approximately 
7% is met from hydroelectric power sources from the Western Area Power Administration’s 
federal preference power, and approximately 5% is met through power contracts with registered 
renewable resources including the Lake Nacimiento hydroelectric project, the Gridley solar 
project, and five on-site solar installations at BART facilities. 


In April 2017, the Board of Directors adopted the District’s first Wholesale Electricity 
Portfolio Policy, mandating that procurement activities: (1) “Support low and stable BART 
operating costs” and (2) “Maximize the use of low-carbon, zero-carbon and renewable electricity 
supply.” Specifically, this policy implemented performance measures for the energy portfolio’s 
carbon and renewables content and for cost stability, including a 100% renewable mandate by 
2045 and long-term cost advantages over equivalent bundled electric service available through 
PG&E.  In line with this policy, in 2017 the District executed two long-term renewable power 
purchase agreements (“PPAs”) – a wholesale solar PPA and a wholesale wind PPA – to secure the 
majority of its electricity supply needs in 2021 and beyond at cost-effective, fixed prices.  Both 
projects are currently expected to be online in 2021 and will meet approximately 75% of BART’s 
needs over the subsequent 20-year period. 


For energy delivery services, the District continues to utilize PG&E transmission and 
distribution facilities to deliver energy purchased by the District from its various suppliers.  These 
current arrangements for energy supply and delivery are in effect through 2026.  They provide 
significant savings to the District relative to the cost of standard bundled retail electric service 
from PG&E but distribution costs are expected to increase due to higher rates and higher total 
energy use by the District due to system extensions and increased service frequency.  During 
wildfire season, PG&E may turn off electricity service in designated areas to lessen the threat of 
fires started by power lines.  Notably, the District’s existing delivery agreements do not currently 
offer any special  protections to avoid the possibility of proactive de-energization by PG&E in the 
interest of public safety; however, the District has identified risk mitigations and established an 
operational response plan to respond to such power service disruptions without material impact to 
transit service, including by pulling power from other power sources such as its portable 
generators. 


The District is also a 6.6% participant/owner in the Northern California Power Agency’s 
Lodi Energy Center, which began commercial operation in 2012, and is an obligor of a portion of 
the bonds issued for construction of the facility.  The Lodi facility operates according to the needs 
of the California Independent System Operator (“CAISO”), the entity responsible for grid 
operations and facilitation of wholesale electric markets in California.  While the District does not 







 


 A-13 


typically rely on physical deliveries from the Lodi facility to directly serve its energy needs, the 
District pays operations, maintenance, and fuel costs for its share of the facility, and receives a 
proportionate share of the revenues from the energy and ancillary services sales into the CAISO 
power market. 


BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS 


Sources of Funds 


The District has received and expects to continue to receive grants from the federal 
government, from the State, from regional bridge tolls and from local governments for capital 
renovation and expansion of the BART System.  In addition to grants and bridge toll revenues, 
capital renovation and expansion of the BART System is funded with BART revenues, including 
allocations from the operating budget and the proceeds of BART financings, as further described 
below. 


General Obligation Bonds   


Pursuant to voter approval in the Three BART Counties in 1962, the District issued a total 
of $792 million aggregate principal amount of general obligation bonds in twelve series during the 
years 1963 through 1969.  General obligation bonds are payable from ad valorem taxes required 
to be levied on all properties subject to taxation by the District, without limitation as to rate or 
amount (except for certain personal property which is taxable at limited rates) levied in Alameda 
and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco, and are used to finance the 
acquisition and improvement of real property.  General obligation bond proceeds were used to pay 
a portion of the cost of planning, acquisition and construction of the original 71-mile BART 
System, excluding the Transbay Tube and its approaches.  All such original general obligation 
bonds have been paid. 


Pursuant to voter approval in the Three BART Counties of Measure AA (“Measure AA”) 
at the November 2, 2004 election, the District was authorized to issue general obligation bonds, in 
one or more series, in an amount not to exceed $980 million, in order to make earthquake safety 
improvements to the BART System.  The District issued its first general obligation bonds under 
Measure AA in May 2005, and issued its last general obligation bonds under Measure AA in 
August 2019 (the “2019 Bonds”).  After the issuance of the 2019 Bonds, there is no remaining 
bond authorization under Measure AA. 


At the November 8, 2016 election, voters in the Counties of Alameda and Contra Costa 
and the City and County of San Francisco approved a new general obligation bond measure 
(“Measure RR”), titled “BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief” in the amount of $3.5 billion.  
See “—System Renewal Program and System Reinvestment Program” below.  In June 2017, the 
District issued the General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2017 Series A-1 (Green Bonds) 
(the “2017 A-1 Bonds”) in an aggregate principal amount of $271,600,000 and 2017 Series A-2 
(Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) in an aggregate principal amount of $28,400,000 (the “2017 
A-2 Bonds” and, together with the 2017 A-1 Bonds, the “2017 A Bonds”).  The 2017 A Bonds 
were issued to finance critical infrastructure needs identified in the System Renewal Program.  In 
August 2019, the District issued its General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2019 Series B-







 


 A-14 


1 (Green Bonds) (the “2019 B-1 Bonds”) in an aggregate principal amount of $313,205,000, and 
its General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2019 Series B-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green 
Bonds) (the “2019 B-2 Bonds”) in an aggregate principal amount of $46,795,000.  The 2019 B-1 
Bonds and 2019 B-2 Bonds were also issued to finance critical infrastructure needs identified in 
the System Renewal Program.  After the issuance of the 2020 Bonds, the remaining principal 
amount of general obligation bonds that the District is authorized to issue under Measure RR will 
be $[2,140,000,000]. 


As of [August 2], 2020, the following issues of the general obligation bonds issued under 
Measure AA, including refunding bonds, and Measure RR, will be outstanding: 


Issue 
Original Principal 


Amount Amount Outstanding Final Maturity 


2013 C Bonds (Measure AA) $240,000,000 $91,855,000 2033 
2015 D Bonds (Measure AA) 276,805,000 272,390,000 2035 
2017 E Bonds (Measure AA) 84,735,000 68,935,000 2037 
2017 A-1 Bonds (Measure RR) 271,600,000 257,340,000 2047 
2019 B-1 Bonds (Measure RR) 313,205,000 307,765,000 2049 
2019 F-1 Bonds (Measure AA) 205,100,000 205,100,000 2038 
2019 G Bonds (Measure AA) 43,500,000 43,500,000 2037 
Total  $1,246,885,000  
    
 Pursuant to Section 29150 of the California Public Utilities Code, the District may borrow 
money, incur a bonded indebtedness in respect thereto, and levy taxes for the payment of principal 
and interest thereon, in an amount up to 3.75% of the assessed valuation of taxable property within 
the District.  In Fiscal Year 2019-20, the assessed value of taxable property within the District was 
approximately $804.7 billion, creating a limit on bonded indebtedness of approximately $30.2 
billion.  As of the end of Fiscal Year 2019-20, the District had $1,282,740,000 of outstanding 
bonded indebtedness, which is $28.9 billion below the statutory limit. 
 
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds  


Commencing in 1970, the District has issued from time to time bonds payable from and 
collateralized by a pledge of sales tax revenues (the “Sales Tax Revenue Bonds”), comprised of 
seventy-five percent (75%) of the amounts derived from a one-half of one percent (0.5%) 
transactions and use tax imposed by the District within the Three BART Counties pursuant to 
Section 29140 of the California Public Utilities Code.  The Sales Tax Revenue Bonds are special 
obligations of the District issued in order to finance or refinance the costs of constructing, 
improving and equipping the BART System.  The following issues of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds 
will be outstanding in the amounts indicated in the table below as of [August 2], 2020: 







 


 A-15 


Issue 


Original 
Principal 
Amount 


Amount 
Outstanding Final Maturity 


Series 2012A Bonds $130,475,000 $8,040,000 2036 
Series 2012B Bonds (Taxable) 111,085,000 5,620,000 2022 
Series 2015A Refunding Bonds 186,640,000 124,650,000 2034 
Series 2016A Refunding Bonds 83,800,000 77,365,000   2036 
Series 2017A Refunding Bonds 118,260,000 118,260,000 2034 
Series 2017B Refunding Bonds 
(Taxable) 


67,245,000 49,050,000 2023 


Series 2019A Bonds 223,020,000 223,020,000 2044 
Series 2019B Refunding Bonds 
(Taxable) 


80,290,000 80,290,000 2036 


Total  $686,295,000  
 
Rail Vehicle Replacement Program 


On May 10, 2012, the Board of Directors authorized the award of a contract to Bombardier 
Transit Corporation (“Bombardier”) for the procurement of cars to replace and expand BART’s 
revenue fleet.  The base contract provides for the design, engineering, manufacturing, testing, 
management and support of 260 heavy rail transit vehicles, with several options to procure 
additional vehicles thereafter, including two options for 150 vehicles, one option for 115 vehicles, 
and one option for 100 vehicles.  On May 30, 2012, the District awarded the base contract for 260 
vehicles, and on June 25, 2012 the District exercised Option 1 to procure an additional 150 
vehicles.  The District exercised options for an additional 365 vehicles on December 27, 2013 for 
a total purchase of 775 vehicles, comprised of 310 “D” (control cab-equipped) and 465 “E” (non-
control) cars. 


Bombardier delivered 10 pilot vehicles in 2016, which were subjected to testing, 
qualification, simulated revenue service and pre-production design review.  Bombardier began 
delivery of production vehicles in early 2018 and as of [July 10], 2020 has delivered 226 cars.  To 
maintain compliance with the contractual delivery schedule, Bombardier is increasing their 
production and supply chain capacities to enable their delivery at a rate as high as 16 cars per 
month.  On June 2019, Bombardier opened a rail car assembly facility in Pittsburg, California, 
which is currently being used to perform upgrades to the District’s new rail cars and will enable 
accelerated delivery of the new cars. 


The total project cost for the 775 vehicles will be approximately $2.584 billion and will be 
paid from funding sources including funds from MTC, the VTA, and from BART itself. 


MTC and the District have agreed in principle that MTC by allocation of federal and State 
funds will fund 75%, and BART will fund the remaining 25% of the purchases under the 
replacement vehicle contract.  Sixty vehicles are attributed to service requirements for the 
expansion into Santa Clara County and are funded per the terms of a cost sharing agreement 
entered into by VTA and BART. 







 


 A-16 


BART anticipates funding its portion of the contract from the accumulated funds in the 
Rail Car Sinking Fund and from operating funds.  For Fiscal Years 2019-20 and 2020-21, BART 
had planned allocating $41.8 million for this project, but due to COVID-19 reductions in operating 
funds reprogrammed $40 million of that allocation to cover operating expenses in Fiscal Year 
2020-21 and released funds from the BART Car Exchange Fund described below for the project.  
Future operating expenses will be budgeted for the project but not in the Fiscal Year 2020-21. 


A portion of the funds MTC expects to use to fund its share of the cars depends on FTA 
and Federal Highway Administration (“FHWA”) funds that are subject to authorization and 
appropriation by Congress, and on other critical regional transit capital needs.  Should the FTA 
and FHWA funds become unavailable, the District cannot predict what funds, if any, MTC will 
provide in their place.  BART and MTC anticipate executing a cash flow borrowing agreement 
during the term of the vehicle delivery contract in order to meet payment obligations prior to the 
anticipated receipt of grants and other funding.  MTC has received a Letter of No Prejudice from 
FTA with respect to such financing which is expected to be executed by the Spring of 2021. 


To set aside funding for vehicle replacement, the District and MTC entered into the BART 
Car Replacement Funding Exchange Agreement in 2006 (the “Exchange Agreement”).  Under the 
Exchange Agreement, MTC agrees to program federal funds to eligible BART projects that are 
ready to be delivered within the year of MTC’s programming action.  In exchange for MTC 
programming funds for such BART projects, the District deposits an equal amount of local 
unrestricted funds into the “BART Car Exchange Fund”, a restricted account established to fund 
the Rail Vehicle Replacement Program (as defined herein).  MTC is the exclusive administrator 
of this restricted account and any withdrawal of funds from the account requires prior approval 
from the MTC Commission and the BART Board.  In accordance with the Exchange Agreement, 
MTC allocated FTA Section 5307 and 5337 grants of $74,168,150 in Fiscal Year 2014-15, 
$50,176,122 in Fiscal Year 2015-16, and $52,547,712 in Fiscal Year 2016-17.  Accordingly, the 
District remitted to MTC the equivalent amount of its own funds, which were deposited by MTC 
to the BART Car Exchange Fund.  The federal grant is shown as nonoperating revenue—operating 
financial assistance and the District’s remittance to MTC is shown as nonoperating expense in the 
District’s financial statements.  The BART Car Exchange Fund for the Rail Vehicle Replacement 
Program, which is held by MTC and is excluded from the District’s financial statements, showed 
a total cash and investment balance, at market value unaudited, of $401.5 million as of June 30, 
2020.  In order to meet [Fiscal Year 2019-20 and] Fiscal Year 2020-21 cash flows for the Rail 
Vehicle Replacement Program, BART and MTC authorized the withdrawal of $220.1 million from 
the BART Car Exchange Fund. 


In addition to the 775 new vehicles on order, the District plans to acquire an additional 425 
new cars to enable a peak capacity of 30 scheduled ten-car trains per hour via the Transbay Tube, 
for the network as expanded to Santa Clara by the second phase of the Silicon Valley Extension 
(defined herein).  These additional cars will be all “E” (non-cab) cars, which will bring the revenue 
fleet to 310 “D” and 890 “E” cars, a total of 1,200 cars.  The District has identified more than $815 
million, including $500 million of Regional Measure 3 bridge toll funds, $107.1 million of State 
Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program (“TIRCP”) funds, $179 million from the BART Car 
Exchange Fund, and $31.8 million of BART operating allocations to capital to fund the 
procurement of these additional vehicles.  BART is exploring funding options, including FTA 
grants, State grants and local funding to fully fund the additional cars.  These additional cars are 







 


 A-17 


included in MTC’s updated Regional Transportation Plan and the Bay Area Plan (defined herein), 
Core Capacity Program, and Regional Measure 3 projects.  BART plans to phase in the first 775 
new cars and phase out the existing cars, which are operationally incompatible with the new cars. 


Earthquake Safety Program 


The original components of the BART System, constructed in the 1960s, were designed to 
withstand much greater seismic stress than required by construction standards of the time.  The 
1989 Loma Prieta Earthquake provided a significant test of that design.  Within hours after the 
earthquake, BART was back in service while many roads, bridges, freeways, and other structures 
in the San Francisco Bay Area suffered major damage.  With the San Francisco-Oakland Bay 
Bridge out of service, BART served as a vital link between San Francisco and the East Bay 
following the Loma Prieta Earthquake.  However, the epicenter of the Loma Prieta Earthquake 
was located approximately 60 miles from most of the BART System.  BART faces potential 
earthquake risk from several major fault lines in the immediate vicinity of BART rail lines. 


In Fiscal Year 2000-01, BART embarked on a comprehensive study (the “Seismic 
Vulnerability Study”) to assess the vulnerability of, and evaluate the risk to, the District’s physical 
plant and systems from a major earthquake in the San Francisco Bay Area.  The Seismic 
Vulnerability Study, developed by BART after more than a year of engineering analysis and 
presented to the Board of Directors on June 6, 2002, identified retrofit strategies to strengthen the 
BART System. 


Subsequently, on June 10, 2004, the Board of Directors adopted a General Obligation Bond 
Program Report, which defined a $1.307 billion earthquake safety program (which includes 
projected construction inflation costs through estimated completion) (the “Earthquake Safety 
Program”), based on the Seismic Vulnerability Study.  The Earthquake Safety Program is based 
on maintaining operability of the core components of the BART System and retrofitting the rest 
of the BART System to a life safety level.  The goals of the Earthquake Safety Program are (i) to 
protect aerial trackway structures, underground trackway structures, including the Transbay Tube, 
at-grade trackway structures, stations, and administrative, maintenance, and operations facilities 
and (ii) to provide additional retrofits to facilitate a rapid return to service in the core of the BART 
System, spanning from the west portal of the Berkeley Hills Tunnel to the Daly City Yard. 


In order to fund a portion of the Earthquake Safety Program, the Board of Directors adopted 
a resolution on June 10, 2004, placing Measure AA on the November 2, 2004 ballot seeking 
authorization to issue general obligation bonds, in one or more series, in an amount not to exceed 
$980 million.  Measure AA received approval by at least a two-thirds vote in the Three BART 
Counties, receiving approval from 68.8% of the voters voting on Measure AA. 


Another major funding source programmed by MTC for the Earthquake Safety Program is 
a statutory designation contained in the Regional Measure 2 (“RM2”) program, which was 
approved by Bay Area voters in March 2004.  Funded by an increase of toll revenues from the 
State-owned Bay Area toll bridges, RM2 provides $143 million to the Earthquake Safety Program, 
specifically to assist in the retrofit of the Transbay Tube.  Other funding sources for the Earthquake 
Safety Program include $134 million of State Local Seismic Safety Retrofit Program funds and 
$109 million in Measure RR general obligation bond funds.  The District has completed several 







 


 A-18 


retrofits of the Transbay Tube to date, including upgrading seismic joints, soil improvement, 
retrofitting the Oakland Ventilation Structure and installing structural steel liner plates in one area 
of the Transbay Tube.  At present, the last construction contract of the Earthquake Safety Program, 
the seismic retrofit of the Transbay Tube, is underway.  This project entails the installation of 
internal liner plates, to minimize water intrusion following a major seismic event and an upgrade 
of the existing pumping system with an emergency power supply. 


The program’s scope was increased as a result of cost savings realized from favorable 
construction bids on project components between 2009 and 2012.  The current budgeted value of 
the Earthquake Safety Program is $1.375 billion. 


System Renewal Program and System Reinvestment Program 


In 2016, BART introduced its System Renewal Program (the “System Renewal Program”) 
in order to address critical infrastructure needs.  Specific programs identified include the repair 
and replacement of critical safety infrastructure; the renewal of track, power infrastructure, 
mechanical infrastructure, and stations; the repair of tunnels and structures; the replacement of 
train control and other major system infrastructure to increase peak period capacity; the expansion 
of opportunities to safely access stations; the relief of crowding and reduction of traffic congestion;  
and the design and engineering of future projects to relieve crowding, increase system redundancy 
and reduce traffic congestion. 


A major project under the System Renewal Program is the replacement of the train control 
system.  In 2014, the Board approved the replacement of the existing track circuit (fixed block) 
train control system with modern Communications Based Train Control (“CBTC”) technology.  
On April 26, 2018, the California State Transportation Agency (“CalSTA”) awarded BART a 
$318.6 million TIRCP grant for the replacement of its train control system with a CBTC system 
and for the procurement of 272 capacity-increasing rail vehicles.  Subsequently, on April 21, 2020, 
CalSTA awarded BART a $107.1 million TIRCP grant for an additional 34 capacity-increasing 
rail vehicles.  When in place, the new CBTC system, an approximately $1.7 billion project, will 
enable a peak capacity of 30 scheduled ten-car trains per hour via the Transbay Tube.  The new 
system will be design-built, with design, installation, testing and deployment occurring in phases 
between Fiscal Year 2020-21 and Fiscal Year 2033-34. 


The System Renewal Program includes the renewal of BART’s traction power system, 
which consists of over 60 substations which include power transformers, switching stations, gap 
breaker stations, and protection and control devices, as well as over 200 miles of 34.5 kV cabling. 
The electrical systems include tunnel and station lighting, uninterruptible power supplies, 
generators and switchgear, and fire alarm systems. 


Also included is the track rehabilitation program, under which BART plans to replace 
interlockings and turnouts, direct fixation assemblies and switches, upgrade yards, and eliminate 
track joints to improve safety and ridership experience. 


 The mechanical portion of the System Renewal Program consists of renovations to some 
of the District’s most essential services (i.e. essential systems, structures, and equipment) that 
support District facilities such as train control rooms, train maintenance complexes, yards, and 







 


 A-19 


stations.  It includes HVAC systems, fire protection and suppression, pump systems, yard 
equipment, underground utilities, and storm water management. 


 The structural portion of the System Renewal Program consists of renovation and 
rehabilitation of the BART System’s backbone infrastructure including fall protection on aerial 
structures, water intrusion in tunnels, station joints, trackways, escalator and elevator rooms, train 
control rooms, drainage systems, and street grate rehabilitation.  This program also addresses 
erosions at slopes and abutments and replaces cross passage doors in the tunnels. 


 Measure RR funding covers a portion of the most critical needs of the System Renewal 
Program, and the District will continue to identify other funding sources to maintain a state of 
good repair. 


In addition to the System Renewal Program discussed above, BART has adopted a System 
Reinvestment Program.  To the extent the acquisition or improvement of real property is required, 
funds from Measure RR may be utilized for the projects in this program.  The Automatic Fare 
Collection Modernization Program is included providing for the complete renovation and 
replacement of automatic fare collection equipment throughout the BART System, including ticket 
vendors, addfare machines, and faregates.  The fare collection equipment is compatible with 
MTC’s Clipper Card Program, designed to enable a transit rider to utilize one ticket (the “Clipper 
Card”) to access multiple transit systems within the San Francisco Bay Area.  Clipper Card® has 
been operating on BART gates since August 2009. 


System Expansion Program 


Planned extensions of the BART System include: 


Silicon Valley Extension.  VTA’s Silicon Valley Extension (formerly referred to as the 
Silicon Valley Rapid Transit, or SVRT, Project) is a sixteen-mile extension of the BART System 
from BART’s Warm Springs/South Fremont station in Fremont to the cities of Milpitas, San Jose 
and Santa Clara in the County of Santa Clara (the “Silicon Valley Extension”).  The Silicon Valley 
Extension is being implemented in two phases.  The first phase, the SVBX, consists of the ten-
mile extension south from the Warm Springs/South Fremont station to the Milpitas and 
Berryessa/North San José stations.  The SVBX was completed in Fiscal Year 2019-20, and revenue 
service to the Milpitas and Berryessa/North San José stations began on June 13, 2020.  The second 
phase consists of a six-mile extension from the Berryessa/North San José station, and will include 
a five-mile subway through downtown San Jose, four new BART stations and a yard and shop 
complex at the Santa Clara terminus. 


The extension of BART into Santa Clara County is being financed and implemented by 
VTA in accordance with the VTA - BART Comprehensive Agreement executed on November 19, 
2001 (the “Comprehensive Agreement”).  The Comprehensive Agreement outlines responsibilities 
between the two agencies concerning the planning, design, construction, management, financing, 
operation and maintenance of the extension.  BART and VTA, in connection with the opening of 
the SVBX, executed a VTA/BART Operations and Maintenance Agreement, dated as of May 22, 
2020 specifying the roles and responsibilities of the parties in the ongoing operations, maintenance, 
costs and revenues of the extension.  The agreement requires VTA to be responsible for funding 







 


 A-20 


subsidies for the ongoing operating, maintenance and capital costs attributable to the extension, 
including a share of BART’s core system capital costs, and to provide dedicated funding for such 
costs.  VTA, BART and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, executed the 2008 Measure 
B Sales Tax Trust Agreement, dated as of May 22, 2020 in order to provide to BART a pledge of 
sales tax revenues from VTA as the dedicated funding source for such subsidy obligations. 


The total capital cost for the Silicon Valley Extension is estimated at $[7.18] billion in 
Year-Of-Expenditure (“YOE”) dollars.  The SVBX, with a capital cost of $[2.42] billion in YOE 
dollars, was granted an FTA Full Funding Grant Agreement in March 2012.  The second phase of 
the Silicon Valley Extension will have an estimated capital cost of $[4.76] billion in YOE dollars.  
Planning and environmental studies for the second phase have been completed and the FTA issued 
the Record of Decision in June 2018.  FTA granted entry into the Federal New Starts Program in 
March 2016; however, the federal budget proposal for Fiscal Year 2019-20 raised concerns about 
the viability of the Federal New Starts Program and in November 2018 VTA submitted an 
Expression of Interest letter to the FTA to enter the federal Expedited Project Delivery (“EPD”) 
Pilot Program (which is funded through the “Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2019”) in lieu of 
the New Starts Program.  In June 2019, the FTA selected VTA as its first EPD participant, and in 
August 2019 the FTA allocated $125 million to the second phase of the Silicon Valley Extension.  
VTA will submit to the FTA a formal application requesting federal funds in 2020, and a Full 
Funding Grant Agreement is expected to follow. 


Irvington Station.  In 2003, the Board approved a revised Warm Springs Extension, which 
included the Irvington station as an “Optional Station.”  In the revised Warm Springs Extension, 
funding for the optional Irvington station would be the responsibility of the City of Fremont.  The 
City of Fremont successfully secured $120 million for the Irvington station when Measure BB, a 
sales tax measure, was approved by Alameda County voters in November 2014, and the 2014 
Transportation Expenditure Plan was approved by the Alameda County Transportation 
Commission (“ACTC”).  However, this funding was not secured in time for the Irvington station 
to be included when the Warm Springs Extension was otherwise completed and opened for 
revenue service in March 2017.  Pursuant to the terms of a 2017 Letter of Intent with BART, the 
City of Fremont undertook a $2.7 million effort to develop a station area plan, update the station 
site plan to reflect BART’s current access policies and priorities, and refresh the station’s 
environmental clearance under the California Environmental Quality Act.  This effort was 
successfully completed in the Summer of 2018 when the Fremont City Council adopted the station 
area plan and the BART Board of Directors adopted both the modified project and supplemental 
environmental impact report addendum.  In October 2018, ACTC voted to grant BART $16.45 
million for the station’s design, which began in May 2019.  In March 2019, the MTC approved a 
re-allocation of $2 million in Warm Springs RM 2 funds to complete the funding of the Irvington 
station’s design phase.  Further funding for right-of-way acquisition and construction is anticipated 
from ACTC in Fiscal Year 2020-21.  Subject to funding availability and following the completion 
of design, right-of-way acquisition, construction, testing, certification and the on-boarding phases 
of the project, the Irvington station is expected to be open for passenger service in Fiscal Year 
2026-27. 


Hayward Maintenance Complex.  The HMC project consists of the acquisition and 
improvement of four properties on the west side of the existing HMC to provide a new component 
repair shop, a revenue vehicle overhaul shop, a new central parts warehouse, and a new 







 


 A-21 


maintenance and engineering non-revenue vehicle shop.  The project also includes the construction 
of additional storage tracks for a maximum of 250 vehicles on undeveloped BART property on 
the east side of the HMC, referred to as HMC Phase 2- East Storage Yard.  The project is 
proceeding in two phases, Phase 1 (consisting of both Phase 1 and Phase 1A) and Phase 2, and 
will cost approximately $1.1 billion. 


Phase 1 includes the acquisition of properties, and the design and construction of the 
component repair shop, completed in February 2020, and the central parts warehouse, projected to 
be completed in Fall 2020.  Phase 1 was funded by federal and state grants, as well as by BART 
operating funds.  BART is actively seeking funding from various state and regional sources for 
Phase 1A, which will consist of a revenue vehicle overhaul and heavy repair shop and a new 
maintenance and engineering non-revenue vehicle shop.  Phase 2, which is a part of the larger 
Transbay Corridor Core Capacity Project, is expected to receive an FTA Full Funding Grant 
Agreement in the Summer of 2020, and is currently proceeding with funds from Measure RR and 
BART capital allocations.  For a description of the Transbay Corridor Core Capacity Project, see 
“BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – Service and Capacity Enhancement 
Program.” 


BART to Livermore Extension.  BART previously considered a 4.8-mile extension of the 
BART System to Livermore (the “BART to Livermore Extension Project”), but in May 2018 the 
Board of Directors voted not to adopt the proposed project.  BART is no longer advancing the 
BART to Livermore Extension Project, and is instead supporting the Tri-Valley San Joaquin 
Valley Regional Rail Authority as it develops its Valley Link Project, a proposed new rail system 
from BART’s Dublin/Pleasanton station to Livermore and the San Joaquin Valley. 


Security Enhancement Program 


It is the District’s mission to provide safe, secure, clean, reliable, and customer-friendly 
regional public transit service that increases mobility and accessibility for the Bay Area.  Security 
programs are a key component in fulfilling this mission, and as such, the District has identified 
significant capital investment needs for infrastructure security hardening, employee training and 
customer outreach (the “Security Enhancement Program”).  The District’s Security Enhancement 
Program integrates security planning and preparedness into all of BART’s operations and services.  
Effective implementation and administration of the Security Enhancement Program improves the 
overall security of its transit operations as well as the services the District provides to its customers.  
At present, the District anticipates that the majority of funding required for capital security 
improvements will need to be obtained from external grant sources. 


Service and Capacity Enhancement Program 


Major elements of this program include station enhancements and upgrades, capacity 
projects, station access improvements and transit-oriented development projects. 


Station enhancement and upgrade projects include capacity expansion and other 
improvements within the paid and unpaid areas of stations, such as entrance improvements, 
faregate upgrades, elevator improvements, and crossing connections.  Such projects may be either 
system-wide projects or individual station projects, which are developed through a comprehensive 







 


 A-22 


planning process.  Once projects are identified, grant funding is sought from a variety of sources 
to allow for project implementation.  When grant funding is secured and identified for a particular 
project, such project is implemented. 


In recent years, BART has increasingly experienced severe crowding on the system, both 
onboard trains and in stations.  To address crowding onboard trains, BART is proceeding with the 
Transbay Corridor Core Capacity Project, which will implement a package of improvements (train 
control modernization, additional railcars, new traction power substations, and additional rail 
vehicle storage capacity) that will allow BART to increase frequencies on the system.  See “BART 
FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – Rail Vehicle Replacement Program” and “BART 
FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – System Expansion Program – Hayward 
Maintenance Complex” herein; see also discussion of CBTC system within “BART 
FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – System Renewal Program and System 
Reinvestment Program.  On June 20, 2019, the FTA approved this project to enter the Core 
Capacity Engineering Phase of the FTA’s Capital Investment Grant (“CIG”) Program.  In Fiscal 
Year 2019-20, BART sought a Full Funding Grant Agreement from FTA, which is currently 
pending final approval.  Other minor capacity enhancement projects such as tail track 
improvements and crossovers are implemented as grant funding is secured through a variety of 
sources. 


BART’s Station Access Policy, adopted in June 2016, guides the District’s station access 
investments, resource management, and practices through 2025.  Efforts are directed at increasing 
and improving access options, supporting active modes, and reducing the share of riders that access 
stations in a drive-and-park mode.  Implementation of System Access Improvements projects is 
dependent upon securing funding.  Grant funds are expected to be leveraged with other BART 
funds, including Measure RR funds for station access projects. 


Transit-Oriented Development.  The Board has adopted four new policy documents 
guiding the Transit-Oriented Development (“TOD”) program.  First, on January 28, 2016, the 
Board adopted an Affordable Housing Policy, requiring that a minimum of 20% of the units 
developed on BART property at a station be affordable, with a preference for low income, very 
low income, and transit dependent populations.  Second, on June 9, 2016, the Board adopted a new 
TOD policy (which was subsequently amended on April 23, 2020), which updated the original 
2005 policy to emphasize BART’s leadership in the implementation of the Bay Area Plan (as 
defined below), a focus on greenhouse gas reduction and expansion of transportation choices 
through TOD, encouragement of reverse commute and off-peak ridership, and inclusion of the 
affordable housing policy.  Third, on December 1, 2016, the Board adopted TOD performance 
targets, stating that the District aims to produce 20,000 housing units and 4.5 million square feet 
of office space on BART property by 2040, 35% of which will be affordable (totaling 7,000 
affordable units).  The TOD performance targets also establish that BART aims to influence 
development within a half-mile of BART.  Fourth, on November 17, 2011, the Board adopted a 
Project Stabilization Agreement Policy requiring developers of BART-owned property to 
negotiate a construction labor agreement with the local building trades. 


In September 2018, Governor Jerry Brown signed Assembly Bill 2923, which requires 
local jurisdictions to zone certain developable BART-owned property for intensive transit-oriented 







 


 A-23 


development.  BART is working with its partner jurisdictions on the implementation of this state 
legislation. 


BART and its private development partners have completed 16 residential and commercial 
projects at the Castro Valley, Richmond, Ashby, Pleasant Hill/Contra Costa Centre, Fruitvale, 
West Dublin/Pleasanton, MacArthur, South Hayward, San Leandro and Coliseum stations.  
Further developments are under construction at the MacArthur, Millbrae, and Walnut Creek 
stations, and additional developments at the Fruitvale, Richmond, West Dublin/Pleasanton, 
Pleasant Hill/Contra Costa Centre, and West Oakland stations have been approved.  Other projects 
in various stages of development are slated for the Lake Merritt, North Concord, Balboa Park, and 
El Cerrito Plaza stations.  Additional TOD activity has occurred at the Hayward and 
Dublin/Pleasanton stations through property exchanges with the local land use jurisdictions.  The 
District continues to work closely with a variety of local jurisdictions, community groups and 
private development partners to advance such projects and to support their efforts to develop public 
and private funding plans for these projects.  Participation in the planning and development process 
does not commit the District to funding any project. 


BART Headquarters Acquisition and Improvement 


The District currently leases approximately 369,000 square feet of space in an office 
building in Oakland that serves as its headquarters and is utilized by over 1,000 BART employees 
and contractors.  The lease of the current headquarters expires July 18, 2021 and any extension of 
such lease would involve more than a 60% increase in rent, such cost increase reflecting adjustment 
to current market rates.  On September 12, 2019, following an investigation by BART and its 
consultants regarding options for rent or purchase of facilities to serve as the BART headquarters, 
the Board of Directors approved the acquisition of a newly renovated building near its current 
location.  The building, located at 2150 Webster Street in Oakland, has 10 floors, approximately 
245,000 square feet, and was constructed in 1975 using concrete cast in place construction.  The 
acquisition price of the building was approximately $142 million and BART has budgeted $85 
million for tenant improvements, with occupancy planned prior to July 1, 2021.  To finance the 
cost of the acquisition and improvement of the property, the District issued its San Francisco Bay 
Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2019 Series A, in the aggregate principal 
amount of $223,020,000 (the “2019A Sales Tax Bonds”) on October 31, 2019.  The 2019A Sales 
Tax Bonds are special obligations of the District payable from and collateralized by a pledge of 
sales tax revenues.  See “BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – Sales Tax 
Revenue Bonds” herein. 


Funding Developments 


Pension Reform and Grant Funding.  The Urban Mass Transportation Act of 1964 
requires that employee protections, commonly referred to as “protective arrangements” or “Section 
13(c) arrangements,” must be certified by the United State Department of Labor (“DOL”) and be 
in place (between transit agency management and transit employee unions) before federal transit 
funds can be released to a mass transit provider. 







 


 A-24 


The California Public Employees' Pension Reform Act (“PEPRA”), which took effect in 
January 2013, changed the way CalPERS retirement and health benefits are applied, and placed 
compensation limits on certain members. 


In October 2013, the California Legislature passed temporary legislation exempting 
represented transit workers from PEPRA.  The temporary legislation was necessary because the 
DOL had refused to certify Federal Transit Administration funding grants based on its 
determination that PEPRA infringed upon transit workers’ collective bargaining rights.  DOL 
certification is required for FTA to approve and pay grants.  Absent that certification, transit 
agencies in California could not receive federal funds.  Once the temporary legislation was enacted, 
making represented transit employees exempt from PEPRA, the DOL permitted the release of 
federal funds to transit agencies including the District. 


The State (and the Sacramento Regional Transit Agency) brought litigation in the 
U.S. District Court, Eastern District of California, which challenged the DOL’s determination that 
PEPRA interfered with collective bargaining rights.  On December 30, 2014, the U.S. District 
Court issued a ruling that the DOL’s refusal to certify the federal grants was arbitrary and 
capricious.  The District Court remanded the issue back to the DOL with instructions that it act in 
accordance with the District Court’s order.   


The legislation which exempted transit employees from PEPRA by its terms was to expire 
in 2015 or upon a determination by the District Court that the DOL erred in refusing to certify the 
federal funds.  As a result, the temporary exemption expired on December 30, 2014, and all transit 
employees became subject to PEPRA. 


Thereafter, the DOL took the position that the District Court’s ruling did nothing more than 
require it to reconsider whether PEPRA infringes upon collective bargaining rights.  However, the 
DOL did agree to conditionally certify the federal grants subject to certain terms and conditions.  
Those conditions require the District to potentially return the grant funds or alternatively to 
reimburse employees for pension contributions.  Federal transit funds were being provided subject 
to these conditions.  The parties returned to District Court to, again, address the DOL’s position.  
On January 24, 2018, the Court, again, ruled that the DOL’s determination that PEPRA interfered 
with collective bargaining rights was in error.   


The decision is now final; however, the issue is still not resolved.  In 2019, the 
Amalgamated Transit Union (“ATU”) objected to the DOL’s certification of federal funding grants 
based upon PEPRA.  Fortunately, these objections were rejected by DOL’s Director of the Office 
of Labor-Management Standards in June 2019, with reference to the Court’s ruling.  The DOL has 
communicated it will continue to certify California’s transit grants unless it receives a court 
injunction barring them from doing so, and DOL subsequently acted on this commitment by 
rejecting additional objections from ATU.  DOL has also expressed interest in federal legislation 
that would limit the department’s role in the grant certification process. 


BART will continue to monitor objections to the certification of federal transit grants as 
well as the status of litigation filed in response to prior certifications. 







 


 A-25 


For more information regarding pension contributions under the District’s collective 
bargaining agreements, see “DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION – Labor Relations and 
Employee Retirement Benefits.” 


State and Regional Transit Funding.  BART receives funding through appropriations of 
STA, which are derived from actual receipts of the sales tax on diesel fuel, and vehicle license 
fees.  Statewide collections can fluctuate based on diesel prices and consumption.  In addition, 
appropriations to transit operators can vary based on calculations of qualifying revenues for the 
local operator and the region.  STA funding has not been consistent and can be subject to actions 
in the governor’s state budget, although in recent years vehicle license fees have provided stability.  
BART’s STA funds are allocated by MTC. 


For Fiscal Year 2020-21, MTC estimates that STA revenue will [decline].  BART will 
receive approximately $[___] million of revenue-based STA funds and $[___] million of State of 
Good Repair revenue-based STA funds.  From these amounts, MTC will direct $[___] million to 
feeder bus operators providing service to BART stations, leaving a net of $[___] million for BART.  
[The District will claim $[______] of Fiscal Year 2019-20 Population-Based County Block Grant 
Program funds from Alameda and Contra Costa counties.  In addition, $[______] of feeder bus 
funds were returned to BART.]  For Fiscal Year 2020-21, BART has budgeted for net STA funding 
of $28.5 million, comprising approximately 15.6% of BART’s total budgeted operating revenues. 


The District also applied and received an allocation from the Low Carbon Transit 
Operations Program (“LCTOP”) which is funded from the State’s Cap-and-Trade program annual 
proceeds and was created to provide operating and capital assistance for transit agencies to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and improve mobility, with a priority on serving disadvantaged 
communities.  In July 2019, the District received $8.4 million of LCTOP, which was be programmed 
for BART to Antioch operations in Fiscal Year 2019-20.  The District expects to receive an $8.5 
million LCTOP allocation in July 2020 for BART to Antioch operations in Fiscal Year 2020-21.  
For additional information regarding LCTOP, see Note 9 to the audited financial statements of the 
District included as Appendix B to this Official Statement. 


With respect to transit funding within the San Francisco Bay Area, on July 26, 2017 the 
Association of Bay Area Governments and the MTC adopted Plan Bay Area (the “Bay Area 
Plan”), an integrated transportation and land-use strategy through 2040 that meets the requirements 
of California’s landmark Senate Bill 375 of 2008, which calls on each of the State’s 18 
metropolitan areas to develop a Sustainable Communities Strategy to accommodate future 
population growth and reduce greenhouse gas emissions from cars and light trucks.  Working in 
collaboration with local jurisdictions and transit operators, the Bay Area Plan provides a roadmap 
for accommodating expected growth and connects it all to a transportation investment strategy that 
strives to move the Bay Area toward key regional goals for the environment, economy, and social 
equity.  BART facilities play a critical role in meeting major goals and objectives of the Bay Area 
Plan. 


The Bay Area Plan specifies how approximately $303 billion in anticipated federal, state 
and local funds will be spent through 2040.  Nearly 90% (or $268 billion) will be used to operate, 
maintain, and modernize the transportation network that already exists.  Maintenance, operation, 
and modernization of the Bay Area’s existing public transit services and roadways will receive 







 


 A-26 


about 57% ($173 billion).   Of this total, BART is expected to receive from all sources (including 
farebox, taxes and grants) approximately $44 billion in operating and capital funds. 


BART continues to receive approximately $50 million per year in capital renovation funds 
from the FTA Sections 5307, 5309 and 5337 Formula Funding programs, which are programmed 
regionally by MTC.  Under its current policy, MTC funds only the District’s highest scoring transit 
capital reinvestment needs in the Bay Area Plan.  Under the Bay Area Plan, the District has a 24-
year capital asset renovation and rehabilitation need of $13.1 billion.  MTC and participating 
counties fund these from a combination of federal formula funds (“STP/CMAQ”) and State 
Transportation Improvement Program (“STIP”) funds.  For the District, this means approximately 
65% of the District’s 28-year capital asset renovation and rehabilitation needs are projected to be 
funded in Fiscal Years 2017-40.  The remaining 35% of the District’s reinvestment needs in this 
period, approximately $5 billion, remain unfunded. 


San Mateo County Transit District Settlement.  On April 27, 2007, with the assistance of 
MTC, BART and SamTrans reached a resolution (the “Settlement”) regarding the financing of 
operations to the five San Mateo County stations south of Daly City that make up the extension of 
the BART System into SFO and to the Millbrae station (the “SFO Extension”).  The resulting key 
terms of the Settlement give BART full responsibility over SFO Extension operations, with 
monetary contributions from SamTrans and MTC to offset the cost of operating outside the 
District.  MTC and SamTrans provided a combined $56 million of up-front funding over several 
years, applied to fund operating deficits on the SFO Extension, and directed $145 million to the 
Rail Vehicle Replacement Program per MTC Resolution 4123 dated December 13, 2013 (the “Rail 
Vehicle Replacement Program”).  BART also receives two forms of ongoing subsidy, consisting 
of:  two percent (2%) of San Mateo County’s Measure A half-cent sales tax, which is currently 
equal to approximately $1.5 million per year and was allocated to BART for 25 years beginning 
in Fiscal Year 2008-09; and SamTrans’ annual Proposition 42 Traffic Congestion Relief Program 
increment, approximately $100,000 in Fiscal Year 2007-08 and a fixed amount of approximately 
$800,000 beginning in Fiscal Year 2008-09, until the aforementioned $145 million has been 
generated.  Proposition 42 dedicates revenues from the State’s share of the sales tax on gasoline to 
transportation projects and is subject to reduction or elimination by State budget action that reduces 
the sales tax. 


 Senate Bill 595 and Regional Measure 3.  In 2017, Senate Bill 595 (“SB 595”) was 
enacted and authorized a proposed toll increase of up to $3.00 on the seven State-owned bridges 
within the MTC’s jurisdiction (the “Bridges”) subject to approval by a majority of voters in the 
Bay Area of the increase and a related expenditure plan (the “Expenditure Plan”).  A regional 
ballot measure, entitled Regional Measure 3 (“RM3”), was placed on the ballot in all nine counties 
in the Bay Area and, on June 5, 2018, a majority of Bay Area voters approved RM3, including a 
toll increase of $3.00 phased in over time, with a $1.00 toll increase on January 1, 2019, a $1.00 
toll increase on January 1, 2022, and a $1.00 toll increase on January 1, 2025, for vehicles traveling 
on the Bridges (collectively, the “SB 595 Toll Increases”).  The approved Expenditure Plan 
includes funding for projects to improve and enhance the Bridges and corridors from proceeds of 
the SB 595 Toll Increases.  Within the Expenditure Plan, BART was allocated $500 million to 
expand the District’s fleet of rail cars and improve reliability, and also earmarked additional funds 
for the Silicon Valley Extension.  SB 595 also required the District to establish a new independent 
office of the BART Inspector General (the “Inspector General”).  The Inspector General is charged 







 


 A-27 


with ensuring that the District makes effective use of bridge toll and other revenue and operates 
efficiently, effectively, and in compliance with applicable federal and state laws.  SB 595 allocates 
$1 million annually to the Inspector General’s office from bridge toll revenues to finance 
operations of the office.  
 
 Two suits have been filed challenging RM3.  In the first suit, several plaintiffs, including 
the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association, filed suit against the Bay Area Toll Authority 
(“BATA”) and the State Legislature in San Francisco Superior Court (the “Superior Court”) 
seeking to invalidate SB 595 and RM3.  On October 10, 2018, the Superior Court granted BATA’s 
motion for judgment on the pleadings with leave for plaintiffs to amend. On October 22, 2018, the 
plaintiffs filed a First Amended Complaint seeking declaratory relief and invalidation of SB 595 
and RM3 (the “FAC”).  Plaintiffs in the FAC asserted that: (i) SB 595 is a change in State statute 
resulting in a higher tax which would require approval of two-thirds of all members of the State 
Legislature, and it did not meet such vote threshold, and (ii) RM3 is a special tax which would 
require two-thirds voter approval.  On April 3, 2019, the Superior Court granted BATA’s and the 
State Legislature’s motions for judgment on the pleadings against the FAC without leave to amend 
and, on April 17, 2019, entered judgment for defendants BATA and State Legislature.  On May 
20, 2019, the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association filed a notice of appeal to the California Court 
of Appeal, First Appellate District (the “Court of Appeal”). 
 
 In the second suit, filed by Randall Whitney, representing himself, against MTC and other 
unnamed defendants, the plaintiff asserted, among other things, that: (i) SB 595 is unconstitutional, 
and (ii) that RM3 is a special tax which would require two-thirds voter approval (the “MTC 
Litigation” and, together with the FAC, the “Challenges to SB 595 and RM3”).  Mr. Whitney’s 
petition sought, among other things, a writ of mandate “ordering MTC to nullify the RM3 tax.”  
MTC filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings for all of plaintiff’s claims with the exception 
of one relating to a California Public Records Act request and, on June 11, 2019, the Superior 
Court granted MTC’s motion for judgment on the pleadings without leave to amend.  The claim 
relating to the California Public Records Act request was subsequently dismissed by motion of the 
plaintiff on July 11, 2019, and judgment was thereafter entered by the Superior Court.  The 
plaintiff, and his newly retained attorney from the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Foundation, filed an 
appeal of the Superior Court’s ruling on the motion for judgment on the pleadings with the Court 
of Appeal. 
 
 A motion to consolidate the appeals in the Challenges to SB 595 and RM3 was granted by 
the Court of Appeal on October 9, 2019, and oral argument in the appeals was heard on May 26, 
2020.  On June 29, 2020, the Court of Appeal affirmed in full the Superior Court’s judgments in 
the Challenges to SB 595 and RM3.  On July 8, 2020, appellants filed a petition for rehearing in 
the Court of Appeal and, on July 13, 2020, the Court of Appeal denied such motion.  Appellants 
currently have the right to file a petition in the Supreme Court of California seeking review of the 
Court of Appeal’s decision. 
 
 Pursuant to a BATA resolution, the SB 595 Toll Increases are currently being held in an 
SB 595 escrow account until such suits have reached a final, non-appealable resolution and further 
action consistent with such final, non-appealable resolution is taken by BATA.  No funding from 
this source of funds will be available to support the new Inspector General office during the 
pendency of these suits.  







 


 A-28 


DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION 


Financial Statements 


A copy of the most recent audited financial statements of the District prepared by Macias 
Gini & O’Connell LLP (“MGO”), Walnut Creek, California, is included as Appendix B to this 
Official Statement.  See Appendix B—“SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT 
DISTRICT REPORT ON AUDITS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS 
ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018.” The financial statements of the District included in 
Appendix B to this Official Statement have been examined by MGO, whose report thereon appears 
in such Appendix.  MGO was not requested to consent to the inclusion of its report in Appendix 
B, nor has MGO undertaken to update its report or to take any action intended or likely to elicit 
information concerning the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements made in this 
Official Statement, and no opinion is expressed by MGO with respect to any event subsequent to 
the date of its report. 


Historical Financial Results 


The table on the following page summarizes BART’s historical financial operating results 
for its General Operating Fund for the Fiscal Years ending June 30, 2014 through June 30, 2019.  
This summary is derived from BART audited financial statements for the Fiscal Years indicated 
therein (excluding certain non-cash items and after certain other adjustments) and are qualified in 
their entirety by reference to such statements, including the notes thereto.  Amounts reported in 
audited financial statements as “Other Income (expenses)” under “Nonoperating revenues 
(expenses)” are excluded from the presentation below because they pertain only to extraordinary 
transactions or those transactions associated with Other District Funds, i.e. debt issue and debt 
service costs.  The income and expenses reported in the audited financial statements were based 
on consolidated information which included transactions pertaining to Other District Funds—
Capital Funds and Debt Service Funds.  Generally, income and expenses associated with the Other 
District Funds include investment income, interest expense and debt issue costs.  However, in the 
table below summarizing historical financial operating results, only transactions related to the 
District’s General Operating Fund are shown. 


(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank) 


 







 


 A-29 


HISTORICAL FINANCIAL RESULTS OF GENERAL OPERATING FUND 
($ in Thousands) 


  (Fiscal Years Ending June 30) 
 


 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 


Annual Passengers (thousands) 117,074 125,979 128,524 124,171 120,554 118,104 
       
Operating Revenues       


Passenger Revenues - Net $416,573 $463,634 $489,583 $485,674 $481,783  $482,644  
Investment Income(1) 8 167 1,120 2,329 4,742  3,700  
Other 46,587 50,908 56,217 61,426 64,831  72,040  


       
Total Operating Revenues $463,168 $514,709 $546,920 $549,429 $551,356  $558,384  


       
Financial Assistance:       


Sales Tax Revenues $221,149 $233,148 $241,546 $247,185 $257,882  $280,385  
Property Tax Revenues(2) 32,054 34,324 38,086 41,622 45,701  48,086  
Other 96,297 107,307 72,795 77,069 54,736  65,694  


       
Total Financial Assistance $349,500 $374,779 $352,427 $365,876 $358,319  $394,165 


       
Total Operating Revenues and       
Financial Assistance $812,668 $889,488 $899,347 $915,305 $909,675  $952,549  
       
Operating Expenses:       


Labor $411,426 $421,707 $451,769 $514,692 $573,996  $586,871  
Electrical Power 37,231 36,004 37,680 37,883 38,976  39,230  
Express Feeder Bus(3) 1,346 3,399 3,465 3,772 3,126  4,054  
Purchased Transportation-OAC – 3,542 5,928 6,014 6,242  6,448  
Other Non-Labor(9) 121,297 132,464 139,452 153,827 150,694  154,226  
       
Total Operating Expenses Net(4) $571,300 $597,116 $638,294 $716,188 $773,034  $790,829  


       
Net Revenues $241,368 $292,372 $261,053 $199,117 $136,641  $161,720  
       
Sales Tax Bond Debt Service(5) $58,240 $55,958 $48,611 $50,448 $45,614 $46,640  
           
BART Car Funding Exchange (6) $72,000 $74,168 $50,176 $52,548 -  -  
         
Excess Revenues/(Deficit) $111,128 $162,246 $162,266 $96,121 $91,027  $115,080 
         
Operating Ratio(7) 81% 84% 83% 80% 76% 74% 
Farebox Ratio(8) 73% 76% 74% 70% 67% 64% 


   
(1) Investment income amount in audited financial statements is higher due to inclusion of investment income from District Funds other 


than the District’s General Operating Fund.   
(2) Excludes property tax revenue collected for the debt service of the general obligation bonds. 
(3) Relates to District’s share of expenses paid to local operators associated with providing passenger access to BART not covered by STA 


funds. 
(4) Amount reported is higher in audited financial statements because such amounts in the financial statements include depreciation expense. 
(5) “Bond Debt Service” reported above represents actual amount remitted to cover debt service paid from the General Operating Fund, 


which excludes general obligation bonds.  Amount in audited financial statements under “Interest Expense” represents interest expenses 
for all District debts, net of capitalized interest expense.  For a complete discussion of BART’s long term debt, see Note 6 to the audited 
financial statements of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District included as Appendix B to this Official Statement. 


(6) BART Car Funding Exchange represents a transfer to MTC in exchange for the same amount in federal preventive maintenance grant 
provided by MTC to the District.  The federal grant received is shown as part of Financial Assistance – Other. 


(7) Operating Ratio is defined as the total operating revenues divided by the total operating expenses, net of expenses associated with the 
implementation of GASB 68 and GASB 75, which affected pension expense and other post-employment benefit expenses. 


(8) Farebox Ratio is defined as total passenger revenues divided by total operating expenses, net of expenses associated with the 
implementation of GASB 68 and GASB 75, which affected pension expense and other post-employment benefit expenses. 


(9) Other Non-Labor expenses include professional and technical fees, rent, repairs and maintenance, Clipper Card and interchange fees, 
cost of providing paratransit services, feeder agreement with SFMTA, costs for other utilities, and other miscellaneous expenses. 


 
 







 


 A-30 


Management’s Discussion of Historical Financial Results 


 Between Fiscal Year 2013-14 and 2018-19 annual BART ridership grew from 117.1 
million trips to 118.1 million trips, peaking in Fiscal Year 2015-16 at a historical high of 128.5 
million trips.  In this six-year period BART opened three extension projects:  the OAC in 
November 2014, the Warm Springs Extension in March 2017, and the Antioch Extension in 
May 2018.  Cumulatively, these projects have added thousands of net new riders to the BART 
System.  In recent years these ridership gains were increasingly offset by concerns about 
congestion at peak commute times, safety and cleanliness on the system as well as increases in 
shared mobility options, particularly the increased utilization of TNCs.  OAK first permitted 
operation of TNCs in November 2015, which accompanied a noticeable shift in ridership for 
BART at that same time.  The same decline in ridership due to TNCs is occurring at the SFO 
station. 


Passenger revenue grew from $417 million in Fiscal Year 2013-14 to a peak of 
$490 million in Fiscal Year 2015-16 due to fare increases and ridership growth.  Passenger revenue 
began to decrease in Fiscal Year 2016-17 and was $483 million in Fiscal Year 2018-19, 1.4% 
lower compared to the peak revenue in Fiscal Year 2015-16 due to declines in ridership.  The 
decline in passenger revenue was less than the decline in ridership in part due to fare increases 
during that time period and because most of the ridership loss was in short trips that generate less 
revenue per trip.  Total operating revenues and financial assistance increased from $813 million in 
Fiscal Year 2013-14 to $953 million in Fiscal Year 2018-19.  This increase is due to fare revenue 
growth, sales tax and property tax growth, and increases in other operating revenue, including 
parking revenue, commercial communications and advertising revenue.  In addition, amounts 
directed to the Rail Car Fund Exchange with MTC increased over this time; however, there were 
no impacts to net revenues since corresponding expenses were also recognized in grant assistance. 


Sales tax revenues were $221 million in Fiscal Year 2013-14 and increased to $258 million 
in Fiscal Year 2017-18, with growth rates ranging from 6.0% in Fiscal Year 2013-14 to 4.3% in 
Fiscal Year 2017-18.  The sales tax revenues in Fiscal Year 2018-19 of $280 million showed an 
8.7% increase, but some of those revenues may be derived from the prior year and the District is 
budgeting a lower amount for Fiscal Year 2019-20.  Due to the Shelter-In-Place Orders currently 
in effect, the District is budgeting a further reduced amount of sales tax revenues for Fiscal Year 
2020-21. 


Other operating assistance received by BART includes STA, ranging from $10.1 million 
to $38.0 million received annually during Fiscal Year 2013-14 through Fiscal Year 2017-18, 
although amounts have fluctuated.  STA revenues for Fiscal Year 2018-19 were $32.6 million.  
Additional financial assistance comes from BART’s portion of the one percent (1%) general 
property tax levy, which ranged from $32.1 million in Fiscal Year 2013-14 to $48.0 million in 
Fiscal Year 2018-19, with annual growth rates between 4% and 11% after recovery from the 
recession and continued increases in Bay Area real estate prices. 


 Operating expenses, excluding depreciation, increased by approximately $220 million 
between Fiscal Year 2013-14 and Fiscal Year 2018-19.  Expense increases during these six years 
included additional service and investments in the BART System, the opening of the OAC 
(November 2014), the opening of the Warm Springs Extension (March 2017), the opening of the 







 


 A-31 


Antioch Extension (May 2018), as well as additional staff and funds to address areas such as 
system maintenance, quality of life, fare evasion, safety and security, and station cleanliness.  
Labor costs increased pursuant to labor contracts and benefit costs increased as well.  Under new 
labor agreements effective Fiscal Years 2013-14 through Fiscal Year 2016-17 and renewed 
through Fiscal Year 2020-21, labor costs are anticipated to increase modestly.  See “DISTRICT 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION – Labor Relations and Employee Retirement Benefits” herein. 


Electric power costs increased slightly over the past six years, growing by a modest 5% 
mainly due to incremental costs to source electric supply from carbon-free sources, higher energy 
use due to expansion of system service to Warm Springs/South Fremont and Antioch, and 
increased rates for electricity delivery.  While power costs have slightly increased, actual costs 
have come in lower than forecast due to lower cost of greenhouse gas compliance under the State’s 
Cap-and-Trade program and lower than expected energy prices.  See “THE BART SYSTEM – 
Power Supply” herein. 


In each Fiscal Year’s budget process, management establishes an operating ratio goal 
(percentage of operating revenue to operating expenses).  The District has achieved operating 
ratios of above 70% in recent years, well above national averages for urban transit systems.  
Excluding the effect of GASB 68 and GASB 75 adjustments which impacted pension and other 
post-employment benefit expenses, the District’s operating ratio for Fiscal Year 2018-2019 was 
74%, slightly exceeding the budgeted goal of 73%. 


The District proceeded with major capital projects in Fiscal Year 2018-19, including the 
Rail Vehicle Replacement Program, the System Reinvestment Program, the Earthquake Safety 
Program and the System Renewal Program.  See “BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL 
PROGRAMS” herein. 


Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20 and Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21 


On June 13, 2019, the Board of Directors adopted a $947.2 million balanced operating 
budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20.  The budget reflected assumptions of a decline in fare revenues 
based upon recent trends. 


Operating expenses in Fiscal Year 2019-20 were budgeted to increase 4.2% from the 
adopted Fiscal Year 2018-19 budget, mainly due to increases in net labor costs and associated 
benefits.  Operating sources in Fiscal Year 2018-19 were budgeted to increase 25.0% from the 
adopted Fiscal Year 2018-19 budget, mainly due to increases in sales tax proceeds and other 
financial assistance.  In particular, the District budgeted to receive funding for the first time from 
the Low Carbon Transit Operations Program, established by the California Legislature in 2014. 


The Fiscal Year 2019-20 budget was severely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.  
BART achieved a balanced budget in Fiscal Year 2019-20 by utilizing federal funding under the 
Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”).  After each of the Three 
BART Counties instituted the Shelter-In-Place Orders in March 2020, ridership on the BART 
System declined by as much as [97]%.  As an essential service, BART continued to operate but 
implemented reduced revenue service to reflect the reduced need for service, and used the reduced 
service hours to accelerate its capital projects.  See “THE BART SYSTEM – Ridership” herein. 







 


 A-32 


Approximately seventy percent (70%) of BART’s $1.42 billion capital budget for Fiscal 
Year 2019-20 was directed to the System Reinvestment Program, which is a collection of projects 
generally categorized as controls and communications, facilities, mainline, rolling stock and work 
equipment.  Major components of the System Reinvestment Program are the projects mentioned 
above, with $262 million directed to the Rail Vehicle Replacement Program and $167 million 
directed to the Earthquake Safety Program in Fiscal Year 2019-20.  Other major expenditures 
reflected the increased emphasis on system reinvestment, including mainline rail and power 
distribution projects ($409 million), station modernization, access, and renovation projects ($212 
million). 


On June 25, 2020, the Board of Directors adopted its Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 
2020-21 (the “2020-21 Budget”).  The 2020-21 Budget reflects the extraordinary new challenges 
that BART faces due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as continued challenges posed by 
declining fare revenue, increased operating expenses, and aging infrastructure.  Given the 
uncertainty surrounding the future course of the COVID-19 pandemic, the District developed two 
different ridership scenarios while creating the 2020-21 Budget, each based on the California 
Resiliency Roadmap.  The first scenario assumes that the Bay Area will reach Stage 4 of the 
California Resiliency Roadmap (the end of the statewide stay-at-home order) by September 2020, 
and calculates that BART ridership will average 50% of pre-COVID-19 levels in Fiscal Year 2020-
21.  The second scenario assumes that the Bay Area will not reach Stage 4 until June 2021, and 
calculates that BART ridership will average only 15% of pre-COVID-19 levels in Fiscal Year 
2020-21.  The 2020-21 Budget assumes that average ridership will be at the midpoint between 
these two scenarios, averaging 30% of pre-COVID-19 levels in Fiscal Year 2020-21. 


Operating expenses in Fiscal Year 2020-21 are budgeted to increase 6.4% from the adopted 
Fiscal Year 2019-20 budget, mainly due to increased costs associated with the SVBX and the 
challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic.  The 2020-21 Budget provides funding for the 
SVBX, and an additional $43.8 million for new labor and non-labor costs the District may incur 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic, including increasing service, and disinfecting and cleaning cars, 
stations, and BART facilities.   


Despite the projected $363 million decline in passenger and non-fare revenues, operating 
sources in Fiscal Year 2020-21 are only budgeted to decrease 3.42% from the adopted Fiscal Year 
2019-20 budget.  To fill the budget gap created by the sharp reduction in operating revenues, the 
District included in the 2020-21 Budget $311 million in emergency assistance (including federal 
funding provided through the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act), and 
an additional $57.1 million in other financial assistance compared to the adopted Fiscal Year 2019-
20 budget (including $42.5 million in financial assistance relating to the SFO Extension, $30.3 
million in financial assistance provided by the VTA, and $1.6 million in financial assistance 
provided by MTC).  







 


 A-33 


The table below shows the revenue and expense projections in the 2020-21 Budget 
compared to the revenues and expenses in the adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20: 


District Operating Budget 
(millions) 


Fiscal Year 
2019-20 


Adopted* 


Fiscal Year 
2020-21 


Adopted* 


Fiscal Year 
2019-20 vs. 
Fiscal Year 


2020-21* 


Revenue    
Passenger Revenue (Rail and ADA) $ 480.3 $ 148.4 $ (331.9) 
Non-Fare Revenue 65.2 34.1 (31.1) 
Total Financial Assistance 401.8 421.4 19.6 
    Sales Tax Proceeds 277.0 239.0 (38.0) 
    Property Tax Proceeds 50.6 50.6 0.0 
    Low Carbon Transit Operations Program 8.3 8.5 0.2 
    Low Carbon Fuel Standard Program  14.1 14.4 0.3 
    Other 51.7 108.8 57.1 
Total Emergency Assistance  311.0 311.0 
    CARES Funding (Round 1 – FY20 Remainder) - 87.0 87.0 
    CARES Act Funding (Round 2 – Targeted) - 164.0 164.0 
    FEMA Reimbursed COVID-19 Expenses - 20.0 20.0 
    Deferment of FY20 Railcar Allocation - 40.0 40.0 


Total Sources 947.3 914.9 (32.4) 
Expense    
Net Labor and Benefits 591.6 600.9 9.3 
Power 45.6 48.1 2.5 
COVID-19 Labor Set-Aside - 23.5 23.5 
COVID-19 Non-Labor Set-Aside - 20.3 20.3 
Other Non-Labor 131.0 130.6 (0.4) 
ADA Paratransit 16.9 16.1 (0.8) 
Purchased Transportation 14.6 11.4 (3.2) 


Total Expense 799.8 850.9 51.1 
Sales Tax Debt Service and Allocations 147.5 64.0 (83.5) 


TOTAL USES 947.3 914.9 (32.4) 
 
 BART’s $1.51 billion capital budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21 reflects a 6% increase from 
the capital budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20, as BART plans to take advantage of reduced ridership 
during the COVID-19 pandemic to accelerate critical projects.  Approximately 76% of the capital 
budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21 is directed to the System Reinvestment Program, including $412 
million directed towards rail vehicle replacement, $260 million directed at track and structures 
rehabilitation and traction power reinvestment, $205 million directed at new headquarters 
development and the HMC, $194 million directed at train control modernization, and $71 million 
directed at station modernization.  Additional expenditures include approximately $67 million for 
the Earthquake Safety Program, $177 million for service and capacity enhancements, $65 million 
for safety and security, $46 million for system expansion projects, and $8 million for reimbursable 
expenses.  In addition to allocations from the operating budget, capital expenditures are funded 
from bond proceeds, state and federal grants and other local sales tax and toll bridge revenues. 
 


 
* Columns may not add due to rounding. 







 


 A-34 


Risk Management and Insurance 


The District is partially self-insured for workers’ compensation, public liability and 
property damage claims.  The District’s property is insured against flood damage but is not insured 
against earthquake damage, which is not currently commercially affordable.  The District’s 
property is insured for $50 million per occurrence for equipment in the Control Center and $50 
million per occurrence for all other insured property.  Terrorism insurance coverage is provided in 
the amount of $50 million dollars for all property.  The self-insured retention for all insurance 
programs is $5 million per occurrence.  The District’s self-insurance programs are administered 
by independent claims adjustment firms.  Claim expenses and liabilities are reported when it is 
probable that a loss has occurred, and the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated.  
Liabilities are discounted at a 3% rate and are based, in part, upon the independent adjustment 
firms’ estimate of reserves necessary for the settlement of outstanding claims and related 
administrative costs and included estimates of claims that have been incurred but not yet reported.  
Such reserves are reviewed by professional actuaries and are subject to periodic adjustments as 
conditions warrant. 


Pursuant to a recent evaluation of District liabilities for workers’ compensation, 
outstanding losses as of December 31, 2018 are projected to total $52,483,921 (undiscounted).  
The required reserves discounted 3% are $44,091,217.  Ultimate District workers’ compensation 
losses are limited to $4,000,000 self-insured retention per occurrence for the forecast periods and 
are estimated at $18,287,000 for Fiscal Year 2019-20 and $18,944,400 for Fiscal Year 2020-21.  
Outstanding losses for automobile and general liability are projected to be $5,375,953 
(undiscounted).  The required reserves discounted 3% are $4,878,275. 


The District has also recently obtained cyber security insurance with an aggregate limit of 
$3 million subject to a $500,000 self-insurance retention. 


See also Note 7 to the audited financial statements of the District included as Appendix B 
to this Official Statement. 


Investment Policy 


The investment of funds of BART is made in accordance with BART’s investment policy, 
developed by BART’s Controller/Treasurer and approved by the Board of Directors on May 16, 
2017 (the “Investment Policy”), and Section 53600 et seq. of the California Government Code.  
The Investment Policy is subject to revision by the Controller/Treasurer, subject to approval by 
the Board of Directors, at any time and is reviewed periodically to ensure compliance with the 
stated objectives of safety, liquidity, yield and current laws and financial trends.  


All funds of BART and investment activities are governed by the Investment Policy, which 
sets forth the following primary objectives, in order of priority: 


1. Preservation of capital - The investment portfolio should be structured to minimize 
the probability of a loss of principal value through adequate diversification of 
investments across a variety of security offerings, maturities, and financial 
institutions. 







 


 A-35 


2. Liquidity – Funds shall be invested only until date of anticipated need or for a lesser 
period.  The investment portfolio shall remain sufficiently liquid to meet all 
operating requirements that may be reasonably anticipated.  Furthermore, since all 
possible cash demands cannot be anticipated, the portfolio should consist largely of 
securities with active secondary or resale markets.   


3. Yield – generation of the best available return on investment without compromise 
of the first two objectives. 


See Appendix C—“SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICY.” 


Set forth in the below table are the carrying values and types of investment securities in 
BART’s General Fund as of [May 31], 2020. 


INVESTMENT DISTRIBUTION 
as of [May 31], 2020 


Certificates of Deposit $882,112        
Cash on Hand and in Bank 188,760,659 
Investments – Foreign Obligations 64,649,470 
Investments – Treasury Bonds & Notes 195,156,275 


Total $449,448,516 
____________ 
Source:  District. 
 


As of [May 31], 2020, the average duration of the District’s investments (average days to 
maturity) was 73 days. 


All amounts deposited in the Interest and Sinking Fund and the Project Fund established 
in connection with the outstanding general obligation bonds are invested at the direction of the 
District in Investment Securities as such term is defined in the applicable Trust Agreement entered 
into by the District in connection with the general obligation bonds.  Investment Securities include 
guaranteed investment contracts. 


All amounts held by the trustee for the Sales Tax Revenue Bonds in the funds and accounts 
established under the indenture pursuant to which such obligations were issued are invested at the 
direction of the District, subject to certain limitations contained in the applicable indenture. 


Labor Relations and Employee Retirement Benefits 


The information concerning the California Public Employees’ Retirement System 
(“CalPERS”) set forth below is excerpted from publicly available sources which the District 
believes to be accurate, but the District cannot and does not guarantee such information as to 
accuracy and completeness.  CalPERS should be contacted directly at CalPERS, Lincoln Plaza 
North, 400 Q Street, Sacramento, California 95814, Telephone: (888) 225-7377 for other 
information, including information relating to its financial position and investments. 







 


 A-36 


Employee and Labor Relations.  As of July 1, 2020, the District has 4,246 employees, of 
which 4,148 are full-time and 98 are part-time. 


Most District employees are represented by recognized employee organizations.  Station 
agents, train operators, foreworkers, and certain clerical employees are represented by the ATU, 
Local 1555.  Maintenance workers, foreworkers, professional employees, and the majority of 
clerical employees, are represented by the Service Employees International Union (“SEIU”), Local 
1021.  Supervisors and professionals are represented by the American Federation of State, County 
and Municipal Employees (“AFSCME”), Local 3993.  In addition, BART police officers and non-
managerial civilian staff of the BART Police Department are represented by the BART Police 
Officers Association (“BPOA”), and police managers below the rank of Deputy Chief are 
represented by the BART Police Managers Association (“BPMA”).  In 2016, the District and ATU, 
SEIU and AFSCME entered into agreements to extend their respective collective bargaining 
agreements (“CBAs”) to June 30, 2021.  Other than modest annual wage increases, the contract 
terms in effect before each respective extension remained unchanged. 


The District has taken steps to control rising pension and healthcare costs.  In 2019, the 
District and ATU, SEIU and AFSCME modified their existing agreements to require employees 
to pay their full pension contribution (plus an additional one percent share) and receive a 
corresponding wage offset.  As of July 1, 2020, all employees represented by ATU, SEIU and 
AFSCME, as well as non-represented employees, will contribute 8% to their pensions.  In addition, 
employee contributions to medical premiums have increased by 3% per year, along with 
continuation of the additional employee premium contribution of $37 per month.  Employees will 
continue to be eligible each year to receive a lump sum payment of $500 for each 1% that ridership 
increases above the District’s Short Range Transit plan ridership forecast, up to a maximum of 
$1,000; however, such ridership increase payment will not be made if the pension costs increase 
by more than 16%, medical costs increase by more than 10%, or if there is an extraordinary 
unplanned expense exceeding 2.5% of the District’s operating budget.  In Fiscal Year 2019-20, 
ridership levels were such that no lump sum payment was owed. 


In 2018, the District and the BPOA and BPMA entered into new four-year CBAs that 
included the same modest general wage increases (2.5% to 2.75%) as the non-sworn unions, as 
well as increases in employee contributions toward their pensions.  In addition, the BPOA 
agreement provided a one-time market wage adjustment to compensate for BART police officers’ 
salaries having fallen significantly behind the relevant labor market.  BART’s CBAs with the 
BPOA and the BPMA will expire on June 30, 2022. 


BART has generally enjoyed stable relations with its labor force, and expects to enjoy 
stability in its labor relations through at least June 30, 2021.  BART experienced two strikes in 
2013 for a total of eight days.  Prior to 2013, BART had only experienced strikes in its early history 
in 1976 and 1979, and once again in 1997; BART had successfully negotiated a number of labor 
agreements with the unions in 2001, 2005 and 2009 without the employees resorting to strikes. 


Plan Description.  All eligible employees may participate in the appropriate Public 
Employees’ Retirement Fund (the “Fund”) administered by CalPERS under the Miscellaneous 
Plan or the Safety Plan of the District.  The Safety Plan covers all sworn police officers of the 
District; all other District employees are covered by the Miscellaneous Plan.  The Fund is a 







 


 A-37 


multiple-employer public sector employee defined-benefit retirement plan that acts as a common 
investment and administrative agent for approximately [2,892] local public agencies and school 
districts within the State of California, including the District.  The Fund provides retirement, 
disability and death benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age and compensation.  
New employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 whose benefits are limited by PEPRA under the 
Miscellaneous Plan, vest after five years of service and may receive retirement benefits starting at 
age 52.  Under PEPRA, employees hired prior to January 1, 2013, also referred to as “classic” 
employees, and employees under the Safety Plan, vest after five years of service and may receive 
retirement benefits starting at age 50.  These benefit provisions and all other requirements are 
established by State statute and District contractual agreements.  Legislation was enacted in the 
State which exempted most District employees from the provisions of pension reform, at least as 
an interim measure pending the resolution of a dispute with DOL.  The temporary exemption 
expired on December 30, 2014 and all transit employees became subject to PEPRA.  See “BART 
FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS – Funding Developments – Pension Reform and 
Grant Funding” herein. 


Annual Actuarial Valuation Reports.  In calculating the annual actuarially required 
contribution rates, the CalPERS actuary calculates, on the basis of certain assumptions, the 
actuarial present value of benefits that CalPERS expects to fund under the CalPERS Plans, which 
includes two components, the normal cost and the unfunded actuarial accrued liability (the 
“UAAL”).  The normal cost represents the actuarial present value of benefits that CalPERS expects 
to fund under the CalPERS Plans that are attributed to the current year, and the UAAL represents 
the actuarial present value of benefits that CalPERS will fund that are attributed to past years.  The 
UAAL represents an estimate of the actuarial shortfall between assets on deposit at CalPERS and 
the present value of the benefits that CalPERS will pay under the CalPERS Plans to retirees and 
active employees upon their retirement.  The UAAL is based on several assumptions, including 
the rate of investment return, average life expectancy, average age of retirement, inflation, salary 
increases and occurrences of disabilities.  In addition, calculation of the UAAL involves certain 
actuarial adjustments.  As a result, prospective investors are encouraged to consider the UAAL as 
an estimate of the unfunded actuarial present value of the benefits that CalPERS will fund under 
the CalPERS Plans to retirees and active employees upon their retirement, and not as a fixed or 
hard expression of the liability the District owes to CalPERS under the CalPERS Plans. 


CalPERS uses the rate stabilization methodologies in its actuarial valuations which have 
been shown to be very effective in mitigating rate volatility.  See Note 10 to the audited financial 
statements of the District included as Appendix B to this Official Statement for a summary of 
principal assumptions and methods used by CalPERS to determine the District’s annual required 
contributions to the Miscellaneous Plan and Safety Plan. 


CalPERS prepares an Annual Actuarial Valuation Report (“CalPERS Actuarial Report”) 
for its members.  The District receives an annual report for its Miscellaneous Plan and a separate 
annual report for its Safety Plan.  The latest CalPERS Actuarial Reports were received by the 
District in July 2019, which were based on financial data available from the District and from 
various CalPERS databases as of June 30, 2018.  These reports established the District’s required 
minimum employer contribution rates for Fiscal Year 2020-21, which are 9.381% of covered 
payroll for the Employer Normal Cost and $48,571,632 for the Employer Payment of Unfunded 
Liability for the Miscellaneous Plan and 28.301% of covered payroll for the Employer Normal 







 


 A-38 


Cost and $10,608,953 for the Employer Payment of Unfunded Liability for the Safety Plan, before 
any cost sharing.  Starting in Fiscal Year 2017-18, CalPERS changed the employer rate from a 
percentage of payroll to a percentage of payroll for the normal cost and a flat dollar amount for 
payment of the unfunded liability.  The reports also included for District’s Miscellaneous and 
Safety Plans the latest Schedule of Funding Progress, which shows a five-year history of the 
actuarial value of assets, actuarial accrued liability, their relationship, and the relationship of 
unfunded actuarial accrued liability to payroll, as discussed herein below.  The employer 
contribution rates for new PEPRA employees will continue to be the same rates as classic 
employees. 


The following chart lists the District’s employer required contribution rates for Fiscal 
Years 2020-21, 2019-20, 2018-19, and 2017-18. 


Contribution Rates 


Valuation Date Fiscal Year 
Employer Rate for 


Miscellaneous 
Employer Rate for 


Safety 
6/30/18 2020-2021 9.381% + 


$48,571,632 
28.301% + 


$10,608,953 


6/30/17 2019-2020 8.803% + 
$42,667,155 


26.689% + 
$9,507,012 


6/30/16 2018-2019 8.243% + 
$34,569,728 


25.432% + 
$8,137,254 


6/30/15 2017-2018 7.931% + 
$26,868,170 


24.708% + 
$6,914,785 


 


Funding Policy.  CalPERS’ funding policy for the Miscellaneous Plan and the Safety Plan 
(hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “CalPERS Plans”) requires periodic contributions by the 
District based on CalPERS actuarially determined amounts sufficient to accumulate the necessary 
assets to pay benefits when due as specified by contractual agreements between the District and 
its unions.  The individual entry age normal method is used to determine the normal cost.  There 
are two components to this cost:  the employer cost and the employee cost.  District payment for 
the employer portion of the contributions for the Miscellaneous and Safety Plan is to cover normal 
cost and to amortize the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. 


The District, in compliance with its CBAs, also reimburses “classic” employees as defined 
by CalPERS for all or a portion of the employee share of the pension contributions, which are 9% 
for public safety personnel and 7% for miscellaneous covered employees.   The most recent CBAs 
require the District to reimburse represented “classic” miscellaneous employees of ATU, SEIU, 
and AFSCME, for their contributions, effective on July 1, 2013 in the amount of 6.50%, effective 
on January 1, 2014 in the amount of 6%, effective January 1, 2015 in the amount of 5%, effective 
January 1, 2016 in the amount of 4% and effective January 1, 2017 in the amount of 3%.  On 
September 12, 2019, the Board approved a contract amendment, which decreased the District’s 
pension contributions. Effective July 1, 2019, the District contributed 1%.  Effective January 1, 







 


 A-39 


2020, the District will no longer make contributions towards the employee’s share of pension 
contributions.  Effective July 1, 2020, both Classic and PEPRA employees will contribute 1% 
towards the employer’s pension contribution.  Contributions for nonrepresented miscellaneous 
employees will be made at the same level but effective six months later in conjunction with their 
wage increases.  Since July 1, 2019, wage and pension contribution increases occur at the same 
time as represented employees.  With the latest CBAs for represented BPOA and BPMA 
employees, they will continue to be reimbursed for their contributions.  However, for BPOA-
miscellaneous and BPMA represented employees, they will contribute to the employer’s share 
effective July 1, 2013 in the amount of 0.5%, effective January 1, 2014 in the amount of 1%, 
effective January 1, 2015 in the amount of 2%, effective January 1, 2016 in the amount of 3% and 
effective January 1, 2017 in the amount of 4%.  For BPOA-Safety Classic employees, they will 
contribute to the employer’s share effective July 1, 2013 in the amount of 0.5%, effective 
January 1, 2014 in the amount of 1%, effective January 1, 2015 in the amount of 2%, effective 
January 1, 2016 in the amount of 3%, effective January 1, 2017 in the amount of 4%, effective 
December 17, 2018 in the amount of 7%, effective the first full pay period after July 1, 2019 in the 
amount of 8%, effective the first full pay period after July 1, 2020 in the amount of 9% and 
effective the first full pay period after July 1, 2021 in the amount of 10%.  For BPOA-Safety 
PEPRA employees, they will contribute to the employer’s share effective July 1, 2013 in the 
amount of 0.5%, effective January 1, 2014 in the amount of 1%, effective January 1, 2015 in the 
amount of 2%, effective January 1, 2016 in the amount of 3%, effective January 1, 2017 in the 
amount of 4%, effective December 17, 2018 in the amount of 3%, effective the first full pay period 
after July 1, 2019 in the amount of 2%, effective the first full pay period after July 1, 2020 in the 
amount of 1% and effective the first full pay period after July 1, 2021 in the amount of 0%.  
Contributions for non-represented safety employees will be made at the same level as BPMA but 
effective 6 months later in conjunction with their wage increases. 


Under PEPRA, effective January 1, 2013, “new” employees as defined by CalPERS and 
PEPRA who are not represented must contribute one-half of the total normal cost.  The 
contribution rate is 13% for safety personnel and 6.25% for miscellaneous employees.  Effective 
July 1, 2019, the contribution rate is 13.75% for safety personnel and 7% for miscellaneous 
employees.  Effective July 1, 2019, wage and pension contribution increases will occur at the same 
time as represented employees.  Effective July 1, 2020, the contribution rate for safety personnel 
will be 14.75% and the rate for miscellaneous employees will remain the same.  State law 
temporarily exempted represented transit employees from these contributions; however, 
commencing on December 30, 2014, new represented employees began contributing at the PEPRA 
rate. 


Schedule of Funding Progress.  The funding status applicable to the District’s CalPERS 
Plans at June 30, 2018 (the most current information available for the plans) is summarized as 
follows: 







 


 A-40 


Funded Status of the Miscellaneous Plan 
(in thousands of dollars)(1) 


 


Valuation 
Date 


Entry Age 
Normal 
Accrued 
Liability 


Actuarial 
Value of 
Assets 


Unfunded 
Liability 
(Excess 
Assets) 


Funded 
Status 


(Actuarial 
Value) 


Annual 
Covered 
Payroll 


UAAL as a 
Percentage 
of Payroll 


       


6/30/16 $2,180,799 $1,614,430 $566,369 74.0% $277,522 204.0% 


6/30/17 $2,305,983 $1,751,505 $554,478 76.0% $299,427 185.2% 


6/30/18 $2,501,597 $1,855,353 $646,244 74.2% $322,955 200.1% 
_______________ 
(1)  Dollars reflect rounding. 
Sources:  CalPERS Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2018. 
 


Funded Status of the Safety Plan 
(in thousands of dollars)(1) 


 


Valuation 
Date 


Entry Age 
Normal 
Accrued 
Liability 


Actuarial 
Value of 
Assets 


Unfunded 
Liability 
(Excess 
Assets) 


Funded 
Status 


(Actuarial 
Value) 


Annual 
Covered 
Payroll 


UAAL as a 
Percentage 
of Payroll 


       


6/30/16 $306,910 $180,392 $126,518 58.8% $19,825 638.2% 


6/30/17 $326,419 $198,777 $127,643 60.9% $20,252 630.3% 


6/30/18 $356,999 $213,949 $143,051 59.9% $20,412 700.8% 
_______________ 
(1)  Dollars reflect rounding. 
Sources:  CalPERS Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2018. 


CalPERS is continuing to implement strategies to improve the long-term health of the 
pension fund and approved in 2016 a decrease in the discount rate assumed for future investment 
returns from 7.5% to 7%.  This change will significantly increase the District’s future contributions 
and together with other measures implemented are projected to require contributions by the District 
within ten years of more than double of the current contribution amounts.  Such forecasts are 
subject to many variables and cannot be predicted with certainty. 


Irrevocable Supplemental Pension Trust.  On March 28, 2019, the Board adopted a 
Pension Funding Policy and authorized the Controller-Treasurer to establish a District-controlled 
IRS Section 115 Irrevocable Supplemental Pension Trust or join a group Trust with multiple 
employers.  The District is currently in the process of exploring these two different options to 
establish the Section 115 Irrevocable Supplemental Pension Trust.  Once the Trust is established, 
the assets in the Trust are to be held for the sole and exclusive purpose of making pension 
payments.  Payments can include paying down pension liability or making regular pension 
payments when required payments exceed the budgeted projections.  Assets placed into the Trust 







 


 A-41 


cannot be used for any other purpose and are not available to satisfy general creditors of the 
District.  The District intends to contribute $10 million each fiscal year to the Trust over the 
next ten years beginning with Fiscal Year 2018-19.  Total contribution over the ten-year 
period would be $100 million. 


 
Money Purchase Pension Plan 


Most District employees participate in the Money Purchase Pension Plan (“MPPP”), which 
is a supplemental retirement defined contribution plan under Internal Revenue Code Section 
401(a).  The District’s total expense and funded contribution for this plan for the Fiscal Years 
2018-19 and 2017-18 were $11,964,000 and $10,962,000, respectively.  The MPPP assets at June 
30, 2019 and 2018 (excluded from the accompanying financial statements) per the plan 
administrator’s unaudited reports were $342,381,000 and $336,394,000, respectively.  As of June 
30, 2019, there were approximately 334 (219 in 2018) participants receiving payments under this 
plan.  For additional information regarding MPPP, see Note 11 to the audited financial statements 
of the District included as Appendix B to this Official Statement. 


Other Postretirement Benefits 


Postretirement Health Care Costs.  In addition to the retirement benefits described above 
and as specified in the District’s contractual agreements, the District provides postretirement health 
care benefits assistance to employees.  Most employees who retire directly from the District (or 
their surviving spouses) are eligible if the employee retires from the District at or after age 50 with 
a minimum of 5 years of CalPERS service (which may be with another public entity) and elects to 
take an annuity from CalPERS within 120 days of leaving the District.  ATU, SEIU, AFSCME, 
and non-represented employees first hired on or after January 1, 2014, BPOA employees first hired 
on or after July 1, 2014, and BPMA employees first hired on or after January 1, 2015 will be 
required to have 15 years of District service in order to receive the full contribution.   


Retiree Health Benefit Trust.  In 2004, the Government Accounting Standards Board 
(“GASB”) issued Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (“GASB 45”).  GASB 45 required the District to 
change its accounting for other postemployment benefits (“OPEB”) from pay-as-you-go to an 
accrual basis.  Pursuant to Section 53620 of the California Government Code, a local agency may 
create a trust to fund postretirement health benefits.  The assets of such a trust will qualify as an 
offset against liability under GASB 45.  On May 18, 2004, the District created the Retiree Health 
Benefit Trust for the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “Health Benefit Trust”) 
in order to provide a vehicle for prefunding portions of retiree health benefits.  Pursuant to the 
terms of the Health Benefit Trust, the assets of the Health Benefit Trust are to be held for the sole 
and exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants and beneficiaries and to defray the 
reasonable expenses of administering the Health Benefit Trust and designated plans.  Assets placed 
into the Health Benefit Trust cannot be used for any other purposes and are not available to satisfy 
general creditors of the District.  The Health Benefit Trust is administered by a trustee appointed 
by the Board of Directors.  The current trustee is the Controller/Treasurer of the District. 


Pursuant to a Bartel Associates, LLC report dated May 14, 2020, entitled “Retiree 
Healthcare Plan, June 30, 2019 Actuarial Valuation” and report dated July 6, 2020 entitled “Retiree 







 


 A-42 


Life Insurance, June 30, 2019 Actuarial Valuation” (the “Bartel Report”), 2,430 retirees and 
surviving spouses are provided retiree medical benefits.  The District made payments on an 
actuarial basis totaling $39,511,000 (including subsidy valued at $4,306,000) in Fiscal Year 2019 
and $35,569,000 (including subsidy valued at $4,196,000) in Fiscal Year 2018 and life insurance 
premiums amounting to $821,000 (including subsidy valued at $679,000) in Fiscal Year 2019 and 
$679,000 (including subsidy valued at $547,000) in Fiscal Year 2018. 


At June 30, 2019, net assets (unaudited) held in the Health Benefit Trust included money 
market mutual funds, U.S. Treasury obligations, corporate obligations, foreign obligations, 
domestic common stocks, equity mutual funds, and foreign stocks with a fair market value of 
approximately $340,470,000. 


Funding projections are based on the Bartel Report, the most recent actuarial analysis 
prepared for the District.  These funding projections are based on certain assumptions and are 
inherently subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, including increases in the cost and 
duration of health care benefits, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
that have been projected.  Pursuant to its labor agreements, effective January 1, 2010, the District’s 
contribution toward medical coverage was limited to the highest Bay Area HMO rate under 
CalPERS (Blue Shield or Kaiser) minus the applicable retiree contribution.  The actuarial accrued 
liability (“AAL”) as of June 30, 2019 is estimated at approximately $603.7 million.  The report 
also contained projected per capita claims cost updates based on Calendar Years 2018 and 2019 
CalPERS premiums. 


 


 


(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank) 







 


 A-43 


The following is the summary of results of the valuation.  The Bartel Report employed 
different actuarial assumptions than prior actuarial valuations, including mortality improvement, 
inflation based on the plan’s long-time horizon, age-based claims based on Society of Actuaries 
publications, and participation and coverage based in part on plan experience.  Such assumptions 
contributed to an increased actuarial liability between the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation date 
and the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation date. 


Funded Status of the Retiree Healthcare Plan 
(in thousands of dollars) 


 


Actuarial 
Valuation 


Date 


Actuarial 
Value of 
Assets 


(a) 


Entry Age 
Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability 


(b) 


Unfunded 
Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability 


(b-a) 


Funded 
Ratio 
(a/b) 


Projected 
Covered 
Payroll* 


(c) 


UAAL as 
Percentage 
of Covered 


Payroll 
((b-a)/c) 


6/30/2017 $270,151 $573,941 $303,790 47.1% $326,941 92.9% 


6/30/2018 $305,850 $587,896 $282,046 52.0% $362,428 77.8% 


6/30/2019 $340,470 $603,787 $263,317 56.4% $385,327 68.3% 
_______________ 
* The projected covered payroll is calculated out two years from the date of the actuarial valuation date. 
Source:  Bartel Report dated May 14, 2020.  
 


Life Insurance and Survivor Benefits.  Additional benefits include providing BART 
employees with certain life insurance benefits after retirement.  For survivor benefits, if an 
employee elects such benefits upon employment, the employee makes a monthly contribution and, 
upon the employee’s death, the employee’s survivors receive certain medical, dental and vision 
benefits.  The Board has approved setting up a trust to hold such employee contributions but 
currently such benefits are provided on a pay-as-you-go basis by the District.  See Note 12 to the 
audited financial statements of the District included as Appendix B to this Official Statement. 


 







  OH&S DRAFT: 07/14/2020 


 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


                          ________________________________________________________________  


SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENT 
(MEASURE RR) 


 between the  


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 


and 


U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Trustee 


Dated as of August 1, 2020 


Relating to the 


 
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 


GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
(ELECTION OF 2016) 


2020 SERIES C-1 (GREEN BONDS) 
 


and 
 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 


(ELECTION OF 2016) 
2020 SERIES C-2 (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) (GREEN BONDS) 


 
 
 


(Supplemental to the Master Trust Agreement dated as of June 1, 2017) 


_____________________________________________________________________________  







TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 


Page 


 


 i  
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


ARTICLE XVII 
DEFINITIONS 


SECTION 17.01 Definitions................................................................................................ 2 


SECTION 17.02 Rules of Construction .............................................................................. 3 


ARTICLE XVIII 
AUTHORIZATION AND TERMS OF THE 2020C BONDS 


SECTION 18.01 Authorization and Terms of the 2020C Bonds ........................................ 3 


SECTION 18.02 Form and Registration of 2020C Bonds .................................................. 5 


ARTICLE XIX 
ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS AND APPLICATION THEREOF 


SECTION 19.01 Application of Proceeds of Sale of the Bonds ......................................... 5 


SECTION 19.02 Establishment and Application of the 2020C Costs of Issuance 
Fund ......................................................................................................... 6 


SECTION 19.03 Establishment and Application of 2020C Account .................................. 6 


ARTICLE XX 
REDEMPTION OF 2020C BONDS 


SECTION 20.01 Optional Redemption ............................................................................... 7 


SECTION 20.02 Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. .................................................... 7 


ARTICLE XXI 
MISCELLANEOUS 


SECTION 21.01 Terms of 2020C Bonds Subject to Trust Agreement ............................... 8 


SECTION 21.02 Severability .............................................................................................. 9 


SECTION 21.03 Parties Interested Herein .......................................................................... 9 


SECTION 21.04 Headings Not Binding.............................................................................. 9 


SECTION 21.05 Notices to Rating Agencies ...................................................................... 9 


SECTION 21.06 Trust Agreement to Remain in Effect ...................................................... 9 


SECTION 21.07 Effective Date of Second Supplemental Trust Agreement ...................... 9 


SECTION 21.08 Execution in Counterparts...................................................................... 10 


EXHIBIT A FORM OF BOND 
 







 
 


 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENT 
(MEASURE RR) 


This SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENT (Measure RR), dated 
as of August 1, 2020 (the “Second Supplemental Trust Agreement”), between U.S. BANK 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association duly organized and existing under 
the laws of the United States of America, as trustee (the “Trustee”), and the SAN FRANCISCO 
BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT, a public transit district duly organized and existing 
under and pursuant to the laws of the State of California (the “District” or “BART”), 


W I T N E S S E T H: 


WHEREAS, this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement is supplemental to the 
Master Trust Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2017 (as supplemented and amended from time to 
time pursuant to its terms, including as supplemented and amended by this Second Supplemental 
Trust Agreement, the “Trust Agreement”), between the District and the Trustee; 


WHEREAS, the Trust Agreement provides that the District may issue Bonds 
(defined below) from time to time as authorized by a Supplemental Trust Agreement; 


WHEREAS, the District is empowered under the provisions of the San Francisco 
Bay Area Rapid Transit District Act, being Part 2, commencing with Section 28500, of Division 10 
of the Public Utilities Code of the State of California and Article 4.5 of Chapter 3 of Division 2 of 
Title 5 of the Government Code of the State of California, commencing with Section 53506, and 
other applicable law (the “Act”), to issue the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016) (the “Bonds”) in one or more Series in order to 
provide funds to finance or refinance the cost of a portion of the system renewal program identified 
in Measure RR (the “Project”) and to pay the costs of issuance for the Bonds; 


WHEREAS, the District has determined, by its Resolution No. ____, adopted on 
July [23], 2020 (“Resolution No. ____”), authorizing the issuance of the San Francisco Bay Area 
Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-1 (Green 
Bonds) and 2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) (collectively, the “2020C 
Bonds”), in accordance with the Act and Measure RR in an aggregate principal amount not to 
exceed $700,000,000 in order to provide funds to finance the cost of a portion of the Project and 
to pay the costs of issuance for the 2020C Bonds; and 


WHEREAS, all acts, conditions and things required by law to exist, to have 
happened and to have been performed precedent to and in connection with the execution and 
entering into of this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement do exist, have happened and have been 
performed in regular and due time, form and manner as required by law, and the parties hereto are 
now duly authorized to execute and enter into this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement; 


NOW, THEREFORE, THIS SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST 
AGREEMENT WITNESSETH, that in order to secure the payment of the principal of, premium 
(if any) and the interest on all Bonds at any time issued, authenticated and delivered hereunder and 
to provide the terms and conditions under which all property, rights and interests hereby assigned 
and pledged are to be dealt with and disposed of, and to secure performance and observance of the 







 
 


 2 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


terms, conditions, stipulations, covenants, agreements, trusts, uses and purposes hereinafter 
expressed, and in consideration of the premises and of the material covenants herein contained and 
of the purchase and acceptance of the Bonds by the Owners (as hereinafter defined) thereof, and 
for other valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the District does 
hereby agree and covenant with the Trustee for the benefit of the respective Owners, from time to 
time, of the Bonds, or any part thereof, as follows: 


 
 


DEFINITIONS 


 Definitions. 


(a) Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, or as otherwise 
provided in subsection (b) of this Section, all terms that are defined in the Trust Agreement shall 
have the same meanings, respectively, in this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement. 


(b) Additional Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, the 
following terms shall, for all purposes of this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, have the 
following meanings: 


“Authorized Denominations” means, with respect to the 2020C Bonds, $5,000 
and any integral multiple thereof. 


“Interest Payment Date” means, with respect to the 2020C-1 Bonds, February 1 
and August 1 of each year until the redemption or maturity of such 2020C-1 Bonds, commencing 
with February 1, 2021.  Interest on the 2020C-2 Bonds is paid on the maturity date thereof, 
[October 1, 2020]. 


“Issue Date” means, with respect to the 2020C Bonds, the date on which the 2020C 
Bonds are first delivered to the purchasers thereof. 


“Record Date” means, with respect to 2020C-1 Bonds, the fifteenth day of the 
month prior to an Interest Payment Date, whether or not such day is a Business Day. 


“Second Supplemental Trust Agreement” means this Second Supplemental Trust 
Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2020. 


 “2020C Bonds” means, collectively, the 2020C-1 Bonds and the 2020C-2 Bonds. 


“2020C-1 Bonds” means the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-1 (Green Bonds), in the aggregate 
principal amount of $__________. 


“2020C-2 Bonds” means the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds), 
in the aggregate principal amount of $__________. 







 
 


 3 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


 Rules of Construction.  Words of the masculine gender 
shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders.  
Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, words importing the singular number shall include the 
plural number and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include corporations and 
associations, including public bodies, as well as natural persons.  Defined terms shall include any 
variant of the terms set forth in this Article XVII. 


The terms “hereby,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein,” “hereunder,” and any similar 
terms, as used in this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, refer to the Trust Agreement. 


 
 


AUTHORIZATION AND TERMS OF THE 2020C BONDS 


 Authorization and Terms of the 2020C Bonds.   


(a) 2020C-1 Bonds.  The 2020C-1 Bonds shall be issued for the purpose of 
providing funds to pay costs of the Project and to pay Costs of Issuance for the 2020C Bonds.  The 
2020C-1 Bonds shall be issued by the District under and subject to the terms of Resolution 
No. ____, the Trust Agreement, and all applicable laws, and shall be designated as the “San 
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 
Series C-1 (Green Bonds),” and shall be in the aggregate principal amount of $__________. 


The 2020C-1 Bonds shall be dated their date of delivery.  The 2020C-1 Bonds shall 
bear interest at the respective rates shown in the table set forth below in this Section 18.01(a), 
payable on February 1, 2021, and thereafter on February 1 and August 1 of each year until the 
payment thereof at maturity or upon prior redemption.  Each 2020C-1 Bond authenticated and 
registered on any date prior to the close of business on the first Record Date shall bear interest 
payable to the Owner thereof from the date of said 2020C-1 Bond.  Each 2020C-1 Bond 
authenticated during the period between any Record Date and the close of business on its 
corresponding Interest Payment Date shall bear interest payable to the Owner thereof from such 
Interest Payment Date.  Any other 2020C-1 Bond shall bear interest payable to the Owner thereof 
from the Interest Payment Date immediately preceding the date of its authentication.  If, at the 
time of authentication of any 2020C-1 Bond, interest is in default on outstanding 2020C-1 Bonds, 
such 2020C-1 Bond shall bear interest from the Interest Payment Date to which interest has 
previously been paid or made available for payment on the outstanding 2020C-1 Bonds.  Interest 
on the 2020C-1 Bonds shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-
day months. 


The 2020C-1 Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form, without coupons, in 
denominations of $5,000 principal amount or any integral multiple thereof, provided that no 
2020C-1 Bond shall mature on more than one maturity date. 


The 2020C-1 Bonds shall mature on August 1 in each of the years in the principal 
amounts, and shall bear interest at the annual rates of interest, as shown below: 







 
 


 4 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


 Maturity  
(August 1) 


Principal 
Amount 


Interest  
Rate 


      
2021   
2022   
2023   
2024   
2025   
2026   
2027   
2028   
2029   
2030   
2031   
2032   
2033   
2034   
2035   
2036   
2037   
2038   
2039   
2040   
2045*   
2045*   
2050*   


   
* Term Bonds   


 
(b) 2020C-2 Bonds.  The 2020C-2 Bonds shall be issued for the purpose of 


providing funds to pay costs of the Project and to pay Costs of Issuance for the 2020C Bonds.  The 
2020C-2 Bonds shall be issued by the District under and subject to the terms of Resolution 
No. ____, the Trust Agreement, and all applicable laws, and shall be designated as the “San 
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 
Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds),” and shall be in the aggregate principal amount of 
$__________. 


The 2020C-2 Bonds shall be dated their date of delivery.  The 2020C-2 Bonds shall 
bear interest at the rate shown in the table set forth below in this Section 18.01(b), payable at 
maturity on [October 1, 2020].  Interest on the 2020C-2 Bonds shall be calculated on the basis of 
a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. 


The 2020C-2 Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form, without coupons, in 
denominations of $5,000 principal amount or any integral multiple thereof. 


The 2020C-2 Bonds shall mature on [October 1] in the year in the principal amount, 
and shall bear interest at the annual rate of interest, as shown below: 







 
 


 5 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


 Maturity  
([October 1]) 


Principal 
Amount 


Interest  
Rate 


      
2020   


 
(c) The principal and any premium of the 2020C Bonds (and interest on the 


2020C-2 Bonds)  shall be payable, on the maturity date thereof or the date such Bond is called for 
redemption, in lawful money of the United States of America to the Owner thereof, upon the 
surrender thereof at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, or at such other location 
as the Trustee shall designate. 


(d) Payment of the interest on any Bond shall be made by check or draft mailed 
by first class mail to such Owner at such Owner’s address as it appears on such registration books 
or at such address as the Owner may have filed with the Trustee for that purpose; or upon written 
request of the Owner of Bonds aggregating not less than $1,000,000 in principal amount, given no 
later than the Record Date preceding the applicable Interest Payment Date, by wire transfer in 
immediately available funds to an account maintained in the United States at such wire address as 
such Owner shall specify in its written notice.  So long as Cede & Co. or its registered assigns 
shall be the registered owner of any of the 2020C Bonds, payment shall be made thereto by wire 
transfer as provided in Section 2.08(e) of the Trust Agreement.  When and as paid in full, and 
following surrender thereof to the Trustee, all Bonds shall be cancelled by the Trustee, and 
thereafter they shall be destroyed. 


 Form and Registration of 2020C Bonds.  (a)  The 2020C 
Bonds, the Trustee’s certificate of authentication and registration, and the form of assignment to 
appear thereon shall be in substantially the forms, respectively, attached hereto as Exhibit A, with 
necessary or appropriate variations, omissions and insertions as permitted or required by this 
Second Supplemental Trust Agreement.  The 2020C-1 Bonds and 2020C-2 Bonds shall be 
numbered, respectively, from R-C-1-1 and R-C-2-1 upwards. 


(b) The 2020C Bonds when issued shall be registered in the name of “Cede & 
Co.,” as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, and shall be initially 
issued as one bond for each of the maturities and interest rate of the 2020C Bonds, in the principal 
amounts set forth in the tables in Section 18.01.  The Depository Trust Company is hereby 
appointed depository for the 2020C Bonds and registered ownership of the 2020C Bonds may not 
thereafter be transferred except as provided in Sections 2.08 and 2.09 of the Trust Agreement. 


(c) The Trustee is hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver each Series of 
Bonds, including the 2020C Bonds, to or upon the Request of the District. 


 
 


ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS 
AND APPLICATION THEREOF 


 Application of Proceeds of Sale of the Bonds.  Upon the 
delivery of the 2020C Bonds to the initial purchaser thereof and the receipt from said initial 







 
 


 6 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


purchaser of the net purchase price of the 2020C Bonds ($__________, consisting of the principal 
amount thereof, plus [net] original issue premium of $__________, less an underwriters’ discount 
of $__________, the Trustee shall deposit said amount as follows: 


(i) $__________ to the 2020C-1 Project Account, which the Trustee 
shall establish, maintain and hold in trust within the Project Fund established pursuant to 
Section 3.03 of the Trust Agreement; 


(ii) $__________ to the 2020C-2 Project Account, which the Trustee 
shall establish, maintain and hold in trust within the Project Fund established pursuant to 
Section 3.03 of the Trust Agreement; 


(iii) $__________ to the 2020C Costs of Issuance Fund established 
pursuant to Section 19.02 hereof; and 


(iv) $__________ to the 2020C Account in the Interest and Sinking 
Fund established pursuant to Section 19.03 hereof. 


 Establishment and Application of the 2020C Costs of 
Issuance Fund.  The Trustee shall establish and maintain and hold in trust a separate fund 
designated as the “San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds 
(Election of 2016), 2020 Series C Costs of Issuance Fund” (the “2020C Costs of Issuance Fund”).  
All money on deposit in the 2020C Costs of Issuance Fund shall be applied solely for the payment 
of authorized Costs of Issuance relating to the 2020C Bonds.  Before any payment from the 2020C 
Costs of Issuance Fund shall be made by the Trustee, the District shall file or cause to be filed with 
the Trustee a Requisition of the District, such Requisition of the District to be in substantially such 
form as is set forth in Exhibit C to the Trust Agreement. 


Any amounts remaining in the 2020C Costs of Issuance Fund ninety (90) days after 
the date of issuance of the 2020C Bonds shall be transferred to the 2020C Account in the Interest 
and Sinking Fund and the 2020C Costs of Issuance Fund shall be closed. 


 Establishment and Application of 2020C Account.  The 
Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a separate account within the Interest and Sinking 
Fund for the 2020C Bonds, designated as the “2020C Account” (the “2020C Account”).  The 
Trustee shall deposit in the 2020C Account [the amount of $__________ currently held in the 
Interest and Sinking Fund in addition to] the deposit of proceeds of the 2020 Bonds specified above 
in Section 19.01(iv). 


All the moneys in the 2020C Account shall be applied by the Trustee to the payment 
at maturity of all of the principal of and interest due on the 2020C-2 Bonds on [October 1, 2020].  
After such payment on [October 1, 2020], the 2020C Account shall be applied by the Trustee to 
the payment of a portion of the interest coming due on the 2020C-1 Bonds on [________ 1, 20__].  
After such payment on [________ 1, 20__], the 2020C Account shall be closed. 







 
 


 7 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


 
 


REDEMPTION OF 2020C BONDS 


 Optional Redemption.  (a)  The 2020C-1 Bonds maturing 
on or before August 1, 20__, are not subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturity 
dates.  The 2020C-1 Bonds maturing on and after August 1, 20__, are subject to redemption prior 
to their respective stated maturity dates, at the option of the District, from any source of available 
funds, as a whole or in part, on any date on or after August 1, 20__ at the principal amount of the 
2020C-1 Bonds called for redemption, together with interest accrued thereon to the date of 
redemption, without premium.  If less than all of the 2020C-1 Bonds are called for redemption, 
the 2020C-1 Bonds shall be redeemed in such maturities as is directed by the District, and if less 
than all of the 2020C-1 Bonds of any given maturity are called for redemption, the portions of 
2020C-1 Bonds of a given maturity to be redeemed shall be determined by lot. 


(b) The 2020C-2 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to their maturity 
date. 


 Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. 


(a) The 2020C-1 Term Bonds maturing on August 1, 20__, are also subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption on August 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal 
amounts as set forth in the following schedule, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount 
thereof to be redeemed (without premium), together with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed 
for redemption: 


Mandatory Sinking Fund 
Payment Date 


(August 1) 
Mandatory Sinking Fund 


Payment Amount 


  
  
  
  


*  
  


  _____________________ 
  *Final maturity 


(b) The 2020C-1 Term Bonds maturing on August 1, 20__, are also subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption on August 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal 
amounts as set forth in the following schedule, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount 
thereof to be redeemed (without premium), together with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed 
for redemption: 







 
 


 8 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


Mandatory Sinking Fund 
Payment Date 


(August 1) 
Mandatory Sinking Fund 


Payment Amount 


  
  
  
  


*  
  


  _____________________ 
  *Final maturity 


(c) The 2020C-1 Term Bonds maturing on August 1, 20__, are also subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption on August 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal 
amounts as set forth in the following schedule, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount 
thereof to be redeemed (without premium), together with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed 
for redemption: 


Mandatory Sinking Fund 
Payment Date 


(August 1) 
Mandatory Sinking Fund 


Payment Amount 


  
  
  
  


*  
  


  _____________________ 
  *Final maturity 


(d) The principal amount of each mandatory sinking fund payment of any 
maturity shall be reduced as specified by the District, in $5,000 increments, by the amount of any 
2020C-1 Bonds of that maturity optionally redeemed prior to the mandatory sinking fund payment 
date. 


(e) Notice of redemption shall be given as provided in Section 4.01 of the Trust 
Agreement. 


 
 


MISCELLANEOUS 


 Terms of 2020C Bonds Subject to Trust Agreement.  
Except as in this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement expressly provided, every term and 
condition contained in the Trust Agreement shall apply to the Second Supplemental Trust 
Agreement and to the 2020C Bonds with the same force and effect as if the same were herein set 







 
 


 9 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


forth at length, with such omissions, variations and modifications thereof as may be appropriate to 
make the same conform to the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement. 


The Second Supplemental Trust Agreement and all the terms and provisions herein 
contained shall form part of the Trust Agreement as fully and with the same effect as if all such 
terms and provisions had been set forth in the Trust Agreement.  The Trust Agreement is hereby 
ratified and confirmed and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with the terms and 
provisions thereof, as supplemented and amended hereby. 


 Severability.  If any covenant, agreement or provision, or 
any portion thereof, contained in this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, or the application 
thereof to any person or circumstance, is held to be unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the 
remainder of this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, and the application of any such 
covenant, agreement or provision, or portion thereof, to other persons or circumstances, shall be 
deemed severable and shall not be affected thereby, and this Second Supplemental Trust 
Agreement shall remain valid. 


 Parties Interested Herein.  Nothing in this Second 
Supplemental Trust Agreement expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer 
upon, or to give to, any person or entity, other than the District, the Trustee, and the Owners, any 
right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement or any 
covenant, condition or stipulation hereof; and all the covenants, stipulations, promises and 
agreements in this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement contained by and on behalf of the 
District shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the District, the Trustee, and the Owners. 


 Headings Not Binding.  The headings in this Second 
Supplemental Trust Agreement are for convenience only and in no way define, limit or describe 
the scope or intent of any provisions or sections of this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement. 


 Notices to Rating Agencies.  The Trustee shall provide 
notice to the Rating Agencies of the following events with respect to the 2020C Bonds: 


(1) Change in Trustee; 


(2) Amendments to the Trust Agreement; and 


(3) Redemption or defeasance of the 2020C Bonds. 


 Trust Agreement to Remain in Effect.  Save and except as 
amended and supplemented by this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, the Trust Agreement 
shall remain in full force and effect. 


 Effective Date of Second Supplemental Trust 
Agreement.  This Second Supplemental Trust Agreement shall take effect upon its execution and 
delivery. 







 
 


 10 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


 Execution in Counterparts.  This Second Supplemental 
Trust Agreement may be signed in several counterparts, each of which will constitute an original, 
but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 


 







 
 


 S-1 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second 
Supplemental Trust Agreement to be duly executed by their officers duly authorized as of the date 
first written above. 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID 
  TRANSIT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
By_______________________________________ 
  Controller/Treasurer 


 
 


U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as 
Trustee 
 
 
 
By_______________________________________ 
  Authorized Officer 







 
 


 A-1 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


EXHIBIT A 
 


FORM OF BOND 
 
No.  
R-C-___ 


 Amount 
$_________ 


 
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 


GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
(ELECTION OF 2016), 2020 SERIES [C-1 (GREEN BONDS)] [C-2 (FEDERALLY 


TAXABLE) (GREEN BONDS)] 
 


Interest Rate Maturity Date Dated Date CUSIP NO. 


____% [August 1] [October 
1], 20__ [_________] 1, 20__ 797661___ 


Registered Owner: CEDE & CO. 


Principal Sum: __________________________________ DOLLARS 


The SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT, a public 
transit district duly organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the State of California 
(the “District”), acknowledges itself obligated to and promises to pay to the registered owner 
identified above or registered assigns on the maturity date set forth above or upon redemption prior 
thereto, the principal sum specified above in lawful money of the United States of America, and 
to pay interest thereon in like lawful money at the interest rate per annum stated above, computed 
on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, [2020C-1 Bond - payable [________ 1, 
20__], and thereafter on February 1 and August 1 in each year (each an “Interest Payment Date”), 
until payment of said principal sum.  If this bond is authenticated and registered on any date prior 
to the close of business on [________ 15, 20__], it shall bear interest from the date hereof.  If 
authenticated during the period between any Record Date (defined as the fifteenth day of the month 
prior to an Interest Payment Date) and the close of business on its corresponding Interest Payment 
Date, it shall bear interest from such Interest Payment Date.  Otherwise, this bond shall bear 
interest from the Interest Payment Date immediately preceding the date of its authentication.] 
[2020C-2 Bond – payable upon the maturity date set forth above.] 


The principal hereof [2020C-2 Bond – and interest hereon] is payable to the 
registered owner hereof upon the surrender hereof at the corporate trust office (as that term is 
defined in the Trust Agreement hereinafter described) of U.S. Bank National Association (herein 
called the “Trustee”), the trustee/registrar and transfer agent of the District.  [2020C-1 Bond – The 
interest hereon is payable to the person whose name appears on the bond registration books of the 
Trustee as the registered owner hereof as of the close of business on the Record Date preceding 
each Interest Payment Date, whether or not such day is a business day, such interest to be paid by 







 
 


 A-2 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


check mailed to such registered owner at the owner’s address as it appears on such registration 
books, or at such other address filed with the Trustee for that purpose.  Upon written request, given 
no later than the Record Date immediately preceding an Interest Payment Date, of the Owner of 
Bonds (hereinafter defined) aggregating at least $1,000,000 in principal amount, interest will be 
paid by wire transfer to an account maintained in the United States as specified by the owner in 
such request.]  So long as Cede & Co. or its registered assigns shall be the registered owner of this 
bond, payment shall be made by wire transfer as provided in the Trust Agreement. 


This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of bonds of like tenor (except for such 
variations, if any, as may be required to designate varying series, numbers, denominations, interest 
rates, maturities and redemption provisions), amounting in the aggregate to $[___________], 
designated as “San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election 
of 2016), 2020 Series [C-1 (Green Bonds)] [C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds)]” (the 
“Bonds”).  The Bonds are part of a $3,500,000,000 authorization of bonds approved by a vote of 
at least two-thirds of the voters voting on a ballot measure, Measure RR, at an election duly and 
legally called, held and conducted in the District on November 8, 2016.  The Bonds are issued and 
sold pursuant to Resolution No. ____ of the District, adopted on [July 23, 2020], and a Trust 
Agreement (Measure RR), dated as of June 1, 2017, as supplemented by a Second Supplemental 
Trust Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2020 (as so supplemented, and as further supplemented 
and amended in accordance with its terms, the “Trust Agreement”), between the District and the 
Trustee, and in strict conformity with the provisions thereof and of the Constitution and laws of 
the State of California, specifically the provisions of Part 2 of Division 10 of the Public Utilities 
Code of the State of California and Article 4.5 of Chapter 3 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the 
Government Code of the State of California.   


[2020C-1 Bond – The Bonds are subject to redemption on the date, at the 
redemption prices and pursuant to the terms set forth in the Trust Agreement.  Notice of redemption 
of any Bonds or any portions thereof shall be given as set forth in the Trust Agreement.  If this 
bond is called for redemption and payment is duly provided therefor, interest shall cease to accrue 
hereon from and after the date fixed for redemption.] [2020C-2 Bond – The Bonds are not subject 
to redemption prior to maturity] 


The Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds without coupons in the 
denomination of $5,000 principal amount or any integral multiple thereof, provided that no Bond 
shall have principal maturing on more than one principal maturity date.  Subject to the limitations 
and conditions and upon payment of the charges, if any, as provided in the Trust Agreement, Bonds 
may be exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of Bonds of the same Series, maturity and 
interest rate of other authorized denominations. 


This Bond is transferable by the registered owner hereof, in person or by attorney 
duly authorized in writing, at said office of the Trustee, but only in the manner, subject to the 
limitations and upon payment of the charges provided in the Trust Agreement, and upon surrender 
and cancellation of this Bond.  Upon such transfer, a new Bond or Bonds of authorized 
denomination or denominations for the same Series, maturity, interest rate, and same aggregate 
principal amount will be issued to the transferee in exchange herefor. 







 
 


 A-3 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


The District and the Trustee may treat the registered owner hereof as the absolute 
owner hereof for all purposes, and the District and the Trustee shall not be affected by any notice 
to the contrary. 


The District hereby certifies and declares that the total amount of indebtedness of 
the District, including the amount of this Bond, is within the limit provided by law, that all acts, 
conditions and things required by law to be done or performed precedent to and in the issuance of 
this Bond have been done and performed in strict conformity with the laws authorizing the issuance 
of this Bond, that this Bond is in the form prescribed by order of the Governing Board of the 
District duly made and entered on its minutes and shall be payable out of the Interest and Sinking 
Fund of the District, and the money for the payment of the principal of this Bond, premium, if any, 
and the payment of interest hereon, shall be raised by taxation upon the taxable property of the 
District. 


This Bond shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Trust Agreement, or become 
valid or obligatory for any purpose, until the certificate of authentication and registration hereon 
endorsed shall have been signed by the Trustee. 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF the SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT 
DISTRICT has caused this Bond to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the facsimile 
signature of the President of its Board of Directors and countersigned by the facsimile signature 
of its Secretary, and a facsimile of the seal of the District to be impressed or imprinted hereon, and 
this Bond to be dated the Dated Date set forth above. 


 SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID 
TRANSIT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
By:       


President 
San Francisco Bay Area 
Rapid Transit District 


(Seal)  
  
Attested: 
 
 
 
       


Secretary 
San Francisco Bay Area 
Rapid Transit District 


 


 


  







 
 


 A-4 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION AND REGISTRATION 


This is one of the Bonds described in the within-mentioned Trust Agreement 
authenticated and registered on __________, 2020. 


U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as 
Trustee/Registrar and Transfer Agent 
 
 
By__________________________________ 
  Authorized Signatory 


 


 


DTC LEGEND 


Unless this Bond is presented by an authorized representative of The Depository 
Trust Company to the issuer or its agent for registration of transfer, exchange or payment, and any 
Bond issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or such other name as requested by an 
authorized representative of The Depository Trust Company and any payment is made to Cede & 
Co., ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE 
BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL since the registered Owner hereof, Cede & Co., has 
an interest herein. 


  







 
 


 A-5 
 4162-7226-7557.2 
 


ASSIGNMENT 


For value received the undersigned do(es) hereby sell, assign and transfer unto 
______________________________ the within-mentioned Registered Bond and hereby 
irrevocably constitute(s) and appoint(s) ______________________________ attorney, to transfer 
the same on the books of the Trustee/Registrar and Transfer Agent with full power of substitution 
in the premises. 


 
________________________ 
I.D. Number 


 
_________________________________________ 
NOTE:  The signature(s) on this Assignment must 
correspond with the name(s) as written on the face of 
the within Registered Bond in every particular, 
without alteration or enlargement or any change 
whatsoever. 


 
Dated: __________________  
 
 


 


 
Signature Guarantee:_______________________________ 


Notice:  Signature must be guaranteed 
by an eligible guarantor institution. 


 


 







CB Draft 7/8/2020 


BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 


$____________ 
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 


GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
 


 


August ___, 2020 


 
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District  
300 Lakeside Drive, 23rd Floor 
Oakland, California 94512-3534 
Attention: Controller/Treasurer 


Ladies and Gentlemen: 


The undersigned J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, on its own behalf and as representative (the 
“Representative”) of the other underwriters named on the attached Schedule I (together, the 
“Underwriters”), offers to enter into this Bond Purchase Agreement (this “Purchase Agreement”) 
with the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “Issuer”) which, upon the Issuer’s 
written acceptance of this offer, will be binding upon the Issuer and upon the Underwriters. The 
Representative has been duly authorized to execute this Purchase Agreement and to act hereunder 
on behalf of the other Underwriters. Any action taken under this Purchase Agreement by the 
Representative will be binding upon all the Underwriters. Upon acceptance of this offer by the 
Issuer in accordance with the terms hereof, this Purchase Agreement will be binding upon the 
Issuer and upon the Underwriters. 


 This offer is made subject to the Issuer’s written acceptance hereof on or before 11:59 
p.m., California time, on the date hereof, and, if not so accepted, will be subject to withdrawal by 
the Underwriters upon notice delivered to the Issuer at any time prior to the acceptance hereof by 
the Issuer.  Capitalized terms used herein and not defined shall have the respective meanings 
assigned to them in the Official Statement (as defined in Section 4).   


1. Purchase and Sale.  Upon the terms and conditions and in reliance upon the 
representations, warranties and agreements set forth herein, the Underwriters hereby agree to 
purchase from the Issuer, and the Issuer hereby agrees to sell and deliver to or for the account of 
the Underwriters, all, but not less than all, of the Issuer’s General Obligation Bonds (Election of 
2016), 2020 Series C-1 (Green Bonds) in the aggregate principal amount of $ ____________ (the 
“2020C-1 Bonds”) and the 2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) in the aggregate 


$____________ 
(Election of 2016), 


2020 Series C-1 (Green Bonds) 


$____________ 
(Election of 2016), 


2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) 
 (Green Bonds) 







2 
 


principal amount of $_________ (the “2020C-2 Bonds” and together with the 2020C-1 Bonds, the 
“2020 Bonds”). 


  The Issuer agrees and acknowledges that: (i) with respect to the engagement of the 
Underwriters by the Issuer, for the purchase, sale and offering of the 2020 Bonds, and the 
discussions, conferences, negotiations and undertakings in connection therewith, the Underwriters 
(a) are in an arm’s-length commercial transaction with the Issuer and have been acting as a 
principal and not as an agent or fiduciary of the Issuer and (b) have not assumed an advisory or 
fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Issuer; (ii) the Issuer has consulted its own legal, financial 
and other advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate; and (iii) this Purchase Agreement 
expresses the entire contractual relationship between the parties hereto with respect to the purchase 
of the 2020 Bonds. 


2. The 2020 Bonds.   


The 2020 Bonds shall be issued in accordance with the Trust Agreement (Measure RR), 
dated as of June 1, 2017, as supplemented to the date hereof (the “Original RR Trust Agreement”), 
as further supplemented by a Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2020 
(the “Measure RR Second Supplemental Trust Agreement”  and together with the Original RR 
Trust Agreement, the “Measure RR Trust Agreement”) each by and between the Issuer and U.S. 
Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”). The 2020 Bonds are being issued pursuant 
to the provisions of Part 2 of Division 10 of the Public Utilities Code of the State of California, 
commencing with Section 28500 and Article 4.5 of Chapter 3 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the 
Government Code of the State of California, commencing with Section 53506  and other applicable 
law (the “Act”) and according to the terms and in the manner set forth in the Measure RR Trust 
Agreement, as authorized by Resolution No. ________ adopted by the Board of Directors of the 
Issuer on July [23], 2020 (the “Resolution”).  The 2020 Bonds constitute a portion of the total 
authorized amount of $3.5 billion of general obligation bonds of the Issuer duly authorized by at 
least two-thirds of the qualified voters of the Issuer voting on a ballot measure (“Measure RR”) at 
an election held on November 8, 2016. The 2020 Bonds constitute the third issue of general 
obligation bonds being issued pursuant to the Measure RR authorization. 


The purchase price for the 2020 Bonds shall be $_____________, representing the 
aggregate principal amount of the 2020 Bonds (i.e., $____________), less an Underwriters’ 
discount of $___________, plus [net] original issue premium of $_____________. The 2020 
Bonds shall be issued and secured as described in the Measure RR Trust Agreement and the 
Official Statement.  The principal amount of the 2020 Bonds to be issued, which will be dated the 
date of issuance thereof, and the maturities and interest rates per annum are set forth in Appendix 
A hereto. The 2020 Bonds shall be subject to redemption as provided in the Measure RR Trust 
Agreement and as set forth in the Official Statement. 


The proceeds of the 2020 Bonds will be used and applied by the Issuer in accordance with 
the provisions of the Measure RR Trust Agreement to (i) finance projects approved by Measure 
RR and (ii) pay costs of issuance of the 2020 Bonds; and  premium on the 2020 Bonds will be used 
to pay debt service on the 2020C-2 Bonds at maturity on [October 1], 2020 and a portion of interest 
due on the 2020C-1 Bonds thru [February 1, 2021]. 







3 
 


The 2020 Bonds are general obligations of the Issuer, payable from and secured solely by 
ad valorem taxes upon all property subject to taxation by the Issuer, without limitation as to rate 
or amount (except as to certain personal property, which is taxable at limited rates) levied in 
Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco. 


In connection with the issuance of the 2020 Bonds, the Issuer will enter into a Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement, dated the date of delivery of the 2020 Bonds (the “Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement”) with U.S. Bank National Association, as dissemination agent. 


3. Public Offering.  The Underwriters agree to make a bona fide public offering of 
all of the 2020 Bonds at prices not to exceed the public offering prices set forth on the inside cover 
of the Official Statement and Appendix A hereto and may subsequently change such offering 
prices without any requirement of prior notice.  The Underwriters may offer and sell the 2020 
Bonds to certain dealers (including dealers depositing the 2020 Bonds into investment trusts) and 
others at prices lower than the public offering prices stated on the inside cover of the Official 
Statement and Appendix A hereto. 


4. Delivery of Official Statement.  The Issuer has heretofore delivered to the 
Underwriters a Preliminary Official Statement, dated ________, 2020, relating to the 2020 Bonds 
(which together with the cover page and all appendices thereto and as amended or further 
supplemented, the “Preliminary Official Statement”), which has been prepared by the Issuer for 
use by the Underwriters in connection with the public offering and sale of the 2020 Bonds.  The 
Issuer hereby represents and warrants that the Preliminary Official Statement was deemed final by 
the Issuer as of its date, except for the omission of such information which is dependent upon the 
final pricing of the 2020 Bonds for completion, including redemption provisions and procedures, 
all as permitted to be excluded (the “Excluded Information”) by section (b)(1) of Rule 15c2-12 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Rule 15c2-12”) and hereby ratifies and approves the 
use and distribution by the Underwriters prior to the date hereof of the Preliminary Official 
Statement in connection with the public offering of the 2020 Bonds.   


The Issuer shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Underwriters, within seven (7) 
business days from the date hereof, copies of the Official Statement relating to the 2020 Bonds, 
dated the date of this Purchase Agreement, executed on behalf of and approved for distribution by 
the Issuer in the form of the Preliminary Official Statement, as amended or supplemented, to 
conform to the terms of this Purchase Agreement and to reflect the reoffering terms of the 2020 
Bonds and with such other changes as shall have been consented to by the Issuer and the 
Underwriters (the “Official Statement”).  The Issuer shall deliver the Official Statement in such 
quantities as the Representative may reasonably request in order to comply with paragraph (b)(4) 
of Rule 15c2-12 and the rules of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”).  The 
Issuer represents that the governing body of the Issuer has reviewed and approved the information 
in the Official Statement and hereby authorizes and approves the distribution and use by the 
Underwriters of the Official Statement (including any supplements or amendments thereto) and 
the Issuer Documents (as defined in Section 5(a)), and the information contained in each of the 
foregoing, in connection with the public offering and sale of the 2020 Bonds. 


The Representative hereby agrees to deliver a copy of the Official Statement to the MSRB 
through the Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) website of the MSRB. 







4 
 


5. Representations, Warranties and Agreements of the Issuer. The Issuer hereby 
represents, warrants and agrees as follows: 


a) The Issuer is a public body corporate and politic, organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of California, including Sections 28500 to 29757, inclusive, of 
the Public Utilities Code of the State of California, with full right, power and authority to 
execute, deliver and perform its obligations under the 2020 Bonds, the Measure RR Trust 
Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the tax certificate of the Issuer 
referenced in Section 9(d)(13) hereof, to be dated the Closing Date (as defined in Section 
9 below) (the “Tax Certificate”), and this Purchase Agreement (such documents being 
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Issuer Documents”) and to carry out and 
consummate the transactions on its part contemplated by the Issuer Documents and the 
Official Statement; 


b) By all necessary official action of the Issuer prior to or concurrently with 
the acceptance hereof, the Issuer has duly authorized all necessary action to be taken by it 
for: (i) the adoption of the Resolution and the issuance and sale of the 2020 Bonds; (ii) the 
approval and the execution and delivery of, and the performance by the Issuer of its 
obligations in the Issuer Documents; (iii) the approval, distribution and use of the 
Preliminary Official Statement and the approval, execution, distribution and use of the 
Official Statement for use by the Underwriters in connection with the public offering of 
the 2020 Bonds; and (iv) the consummation by the Issuer of all other transactions 
contemplated by the Official Statement and the Issuer Documents; 


c) All authorizations, approvals, licenses, permits, consents and orders of any 
governmental authority, legislative body, board, agency or commission having jurisdiction 
of the matter which are required for the due authorization of, which would constitute a 
condition precedent to, or the absence of which would adversely affect the approval or 
adoption, as applicable, of the Resolution, the Issuer Documents, the issuance of the 2020 
Bonds or the due performance by the Issuer of its obligations under the Issuer Documents 
have been duly obtained; 


d) This Purchase Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered 
by and will constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Issuer, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, 
and other similar laws and principles of equity relating to or affecting the enforcement of 
creditors’ rights; 


e) The other Issuer Documents, when duly executed and delivered, will 
constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Issuer, enforceable in, accordance with 
their respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and 
other similar laws and principles of equity relating to or affecting the enforcement of 
creditors’ rights;  


f) The 2020 Bonds, when issued, delivered and paid for, in accordance with 
the Resolution and this Purchase Agreement, will have been duly authorized, executed, 
issued and delivered by the Issuer and will constitute the valid and binding obligations of 







5 
 


the Issuer, enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with their terms, subject to 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and other similar laws and principles 
of equity relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights; upon the issuance, 
authentication and delivery of the 2020 Bonds as aforesaid, the Measure RR Trust 
Agreement will provide, for the benefit of the holders, from time to time, of the 2020 
Bonds, the legally valid and binding pledge of and lien it purports to create as set forth in 
the Resolution; 


g) The issuance and delivery of the 2020 Bonds and execution and delivery of 
the other Issuer Documents, and the adoption of the Resolution, and compliance with the 
provisions on the Issuer's part contained herein and therein, will not conflict with or 
constitute a breach of or default under any constitutional provision, law, administrative 
regulation, judgment, decree, loan agreement, lease, indenture, bond, note, resolution, 
agreement or other instrument to which the Issuer is a party or to which the Issuer is or to 
which any of its property or assets are otherwise subject, nor will any such execution, 
delivery, adoption or compliance result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge or 
other security interest or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the properties 
or assets of the Issuer to be pledged to secure the 2020 Bonds or under the terms of any 
such law, regulation, judgment, decree, loan agreement, lease, indenture, bond, note 
resolution, agreement or other instrument, except as provided by the Issuer Documents or 
the Resolution; 


h) The Issuer is not in breach of or default under any applicable constitutional 
provision, law or administrative regulation of the State of California or the United States 
relating to the issuance of the 2020 Bonds or any applicable judgment or decree or any loan 
agreement, lease, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other instrument to which 
the Issuer is a party or to which the Issuer or any of its property or assets is otherwise 
subject that would have a material and adverse impact upon the Issuer, and no event which 
would have a material and adverse effect upon the financial condition of the Issuer has 
occurred and is continuing which constitutes or, with the passage of time or the giving of 
notice or both, would constitute a default or an event of default by the Issuer under any 
such instrument; 


i) The 2020 Bonds and the Resolution conform to the descriptions thereof 
contained in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement; and the 
proceeds of the sale of the 2020 Bonds will be applied generally as described in the 
Preliminary Official Statement and in the Official Statement; 


j) The Preliminary Official Statement, as of its date and as of the date hereof, 
except for the Excluded Information, did not and does not contain any untrue statement of 
a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to 
make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, 
not misleading; 


k) Except to the extent disclosed in the Preliminary Official Statement and the 
Official Statement, there is no litigation, action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, 
at law or in equity, before or by any court, government agency, public board or body, 







6 
 


pending or, to the best knowledge of the Issuer, threatened against the Issuer: (i) affecting 
the existence of the Issuer or the titles of its officers to their respective offices; (ii) affecting 
or seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the sale, issuance or delivery of the 2020 Bonds; 
(iii) in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Issuer 
Documents; (iv) contesting the exclusion from gross income of interest on the 2020C-1 
Bonds (the “Tax-Exempt Bonds) for federal income tax purposes; (v) contesting in any 
way the completeness or accuracy of the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official 
Statement or any supplement or amendment thereto; or (vi) contesting the powers of the 
Issuer or any authority for the issuance of the 2020 Bonds, the adoption of the Resolution 
or the execution and delivery of the Issuer Documents, nor, to the best knowledge of the 
Issuer, is there any basis therefor, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would 
materially adversely affect the validity or enforceability of the Issuer Documents; 


l) The Issuer will furnish such information, execute such instruments and take 
such other action in cooperation with the Underwriters as the Representative may 
reasonably request in order to: (i) (A) qualify the 2020 Bonds for offer and sale under the 
blue sky or other securities laws and regulations of such states and other jurisdictions of 
the United States as the Underwriters may designate and (B) determine the eligibility of 
the 2020 Bonds for investment under the laws of such states and jurisdictions; and (ii) to 
continue such qualification in effect so long as required for distribution of the 2020 Bonds 
(provided, however, that the Issuer will not be required to qualify as a foreign corporation 
or to file any general or special consents to service of process under the laws of any 
jurisdiction) and will advise the Underwriters immediately of receipt by the Issuer of any 
written notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification of the 2020 Bonds 
for sale in any jurisdiction or the initiation or threat of any proceeding for that purpose; 


m) At the time of the Issuer’s acceptance hereof and (unless the Official 
Statement is amended or supplemented pursuant to Section 5(n) below) at all times 
subsequent thereto during the period up to and including the Closing Date, the Official 
Statement does not and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to 
state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements 
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; 


  
n) If between the date hereof and the date which is 25 days after the End of the 


Underwriting Period (as defined in Section 7 herein) for the 2020 Bonds, an event occurs 
which would cause the information contained in the Official Statement (excluding 
therefrom information relating to The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) and the book-
entry system and the information under the caption “UNDERWRITING”), as then 
supplemented or amended, to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to 
state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make such information 
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which it was presented, not misleading, the 
Issuer will notify the Underwriters, and, if in the opinion of the Underwriters, the Issuer or 
their respective counsel, such event requires the preparation and publication of a 
supplement or amendment to the Official Statement, the Issuer will forthwith prepare and 
furnish to the Underwriters (at the expense of the Issuer) a reasonable number of copies of 
such amendment of or supplement to the Official Statement (in form and substance 
satisfactory to counsel for the Underwriters) which will amend or supplement the Official 







7 
 


Statement so that it will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. For the purposes of this 
subsection, between the date hereof and the date which is 25 days after the End of the 
Underwriting Period for the 2020 Bonds, the Issuer will furnish such information with 
respect to itself as the Underwriters may from time to time reasonably request; 


o) If the information contained in the Official Statement is amended or 
supplemented pursuant to Section 5(n) above, at the time of each supplement or 
amendment thereto and (unless subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to 
such subparagraph) at all times subsequent thereto up to and including the date which is 25 
days after the End of the Underwriting Period (as defined in Section 7 herein) for the 2020 
Bonds, the Official Statement as so supplemented or amended will not contain any untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or 
necessary to make such information therein, in the light of the circumstances under which 
it is made, not misleading; 


p) Except as described in the Official Statement, the Issuer has not failed 
during the previous five (5) years to comply in any material respect with any previous 
undertakings in a written continuing disclosure certificate or agreement under Rule 15c2-
12; 


q) The financial statements of, and other financial information regarding the 
Issuer in the Preliminary Official Statement and in the Official Statement fairly present the 
financial position and results of the Issuer as of the dates and for the periods therein set 
forth.  The financial statements of the Issuer have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied, and, except as noted in the 
Preliminary Official Statement and in the Official Statement, the other historical financial 
information set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement and in the Official Statement 
has been presented on a basis consistent with that of the Issuer’s audited financial 
statements included in the Preliminary Official Statement and in the Official Statement;  


 
r) The Issuer has no current intention to, and will not, prior to the Closing 


Date, offer or issue bonds, notes or other obligations for borrowed money or incur any 
material liabilities, direct or contingent, except in the ordinary course of business, without 
prior notice to the Representative;  


s) The Issuer is not presently, and as a result of the sale of the 2020 Bonds will 
not be, in violation of any debt limitation, appropriation limitation or any similar restrictive 
provision of the California Constitution or statutes; 


t) The Issuer has the legal authority to apply and will apply, or cause to be 
applied, the proceeds from the sale of the 2020 Bonds as provided in, and subject to all of 
the terms and provisions of the Resolution, including for payment or reimbursement of 
Issuer expenses incurred in connection the negotiation, marketing, issuance and delivery 
of the 2020 Bonds to the extent required by Section 10 (Expenses) herein, and will not take 
or omit to take any action which action or omission will adversely affect the exclusion from 







8 
 


gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest evidenced by the Tax-Exempt 
Bonds; and 


u) Any certificate, signed by any official of the Issuer authorized to do so in 
connection with the transactions described in this Purchase Agreement shall be deemed a 
representation and warranty by the Issuer to the Underwriters as to the statements made 
therein. 


 
6. Issue Price. Notwithstanding any provision of this Purchase Agreement to the 


contrary, the Underwriters and Issuer agree to the following provisions related to the issue price 
of the Tax-Exempt Bonds: 


 
(a) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply: 


(1) “Public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party 
to an underwriter. 


(2) “Underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 
contract with the Issuer, as accepted and agreed to by its Controller/Treasurer, 
(or with the lead underwriter for the Tax-Exempt Bonds to form an underwriting 
syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Tax-Exempt Bonds to the Public 
and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly 
with a person described in clause (A) to participate in the initial sale of the Tax-
Exempt Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to 
a third-party distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Tax-
Exempt Bonds to the Public). 


(3) “Related Party” means a purchaser of any of the Tax-Exempt Bonds 
who, along with the underwriter, are both subject, directly or indirectly, to: (i) 
more than 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their 
stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one 
corporation of another); (ii) more than 50% common ownership of their capital 
interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct 
ownership by one partnership of another); or (iii) more than 50% common 
ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital 
interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a 
corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of 
the applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other). 


(4) “Sale Date” means the date of execution of this Purchase Agreement by all 
parties. 


(b) The Representative, on behalf of the Underwriters, agrees to assist the Issuer 
in establishing the issue price of the Tax-Exempt Bonds and shall execute and deliver to 
the Issuer at Closing an “issue price” or similar certificate, together with the supporting 
pricing wires or equivalent communications, substantially in the form attached hereto as 
Appendix B, with such modifications as may be appropriate or necessary, in the 







9 
 


reasonable judgment of the Representative, the Issuer and Bond Counsel, to accurately 
reflect, as applicable, the sales price or prices or the initial offering price or prices to the 
Public of the Tax-Exempt Bonds. 


(c) [Except as otherwise set forth in Appendix B attached hereto,] the Issuer 
will treat the first price at which 10% of each maturity of the Tax-Exempt Bonds (the 
“10% test”) is sold to the Public as the issue price of that maturity. At or promptly after 
the execution of this Purchase Agreement, the Representative shall report to the Issuer 
the price or prices at which the Underwriters have sold to the Public each maturity of 
the Tax-Exempt Bonds. [If at that time the 10% test has not been satisfied as to any 
maturity of the Tax-Exempt Bonds, the Representative agrees to promptly report to the 
Issuer the prices at which Tax-Exempt Bonds of that maturity have been sold by the 
Underwriters to the Public.  That reporting obligation shall continue, whether or not the 
Closing Date has occurred, until either (i) all Tax-Exempt Bonds of that maturity have 
been sold or (ii) the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Tax-Exempt Bonds of that 
maturity, provided that, the Underwriters’ reporting obligation after the Closing Date 
may be at reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of the Representative, 
the Issuer or Bond Counsel.] For purposes of this Section 6, if Tax-Exempt Bonds 
mature on the same date but have different interest rates, each separate CUSIP number 
within that maturity will be treated as a separate maturity of the Tax-Exempt Bonds.  


(d) [The Representative confirms that the Underwriters have offered the Tax-
Exempt Bonds to the Public on or before the date of this Purchase Agreement at the 
offering price or prices (the “initial offering price”), or at the corresponding yield or 
yields set forth in Appendix B attached hereto. Appendix B sets forth the maturities of 
the Tax-Exempt Bonds for which the 10% test has been satisfied as of the date of this 
Purchase Agreement (the “General Rules Maturities”) and the prices at which the 
Underwriters have sold such General Rules Maturities. Appendix B also sets forth, as 
of the date of this Purchase Agreement, the maturities, if any, of the Tax-Exempt Bonds 
for which the 10% test has not been satisfied and for which the Issuer and the 
Representative, on behalf of the Underwriters, agree that the restrictions set forth in the 
next sentence shall apply, which will allow the Issuer to treat the initial offering price to 
the Public of each such maturity as of the sale date as the issue price of that maturity 
(the “hold-the-offering-price rule”). So long as the hold-the-offering-price rule remains 
applicable to any maturity of the Tax-Exempt Bonds, the Underwriters will neither offer 
nor sell unsold Tax-Exempt Bonds of that maturity to any person at a price that is higher 
than the initial offering price to the Public during the period starting on the sale date and 
ending on the earlier of the following: 


(1) the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date; or 


(2) the date on which the Underwriters have sold at least 10% of that 
maturity of the Tax-Exempt Bonds to the Public at a price that is no higher than 
the initial offering price to the Public. 


The Representative shall advise the Issuer promptly after the close of the fifth 
(5th) business day after the Sale Date whether the Underwriters have sold 10% of that 







10 
 


maturity of the Tax-Exempt Bonds to the Public at a price that is no higher than the initial 
offering price to the Public.] 


(e) The Representative confirms that: 


(1) any agreement among Underwriters, any selling group agreement and 
each third-party distribution agreement (to which the Representative is a party) 
relating to the initial sale of the Tax-Exempt Bonds to the Public, together with 
the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each 
Underwriter, each dealer who is a member of the selling group, and each 
broker-dealer that is a party to such third-party distribution agreement, as 
applicable, to: 


 (A)(i) report the prices at which it sells to the Public the unsold Tax-Exempt 
Bonds of each maturity allotted to it until it is notified by the Representative 
that either the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Tax-Exempt Bonds of that 
maturity or all Tax-Exempt Bonds of that maturity have been sold to the 
Public, provided that, the reporting obligation after the Closing Date may be 
at reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of the Underwriter 
or the dealer, and (ii) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if 
applicable, in each case if and for so long as directed by the Representative 
and as set forth in the related pricing wires;  


(B) promptly notify the Representative of any sales of Tax-Exempt Bonds 
that, to its knowledge, are made to a purchaser who is a related party to an 
underwriter participating in the initial sale of the Tax-Exempt Bonds to the 
Public; and 


(C) acknowledge that, unless otherwise advised by the Underwriter, dealer or 
broker-dealer, the Representative shall assume that each order submitted by 
the Underwriter, dealer or broker-dealer is a sale to the Public. 


(2) any agreement among Underwriters relating to the initial sale of the Tax-
Exempt Bonds to the Public, together with the related pricing wires, contains 
or will contain language obligating each Underwriter that is a party to a third-
party distribution agreement to be employed in connection with the initial sale 
of the Tax-Exempt Bonds to the Public to require each broker-dealer that is a 
party to such third-party distribution agreement to (A) report the prices at 
which it sells to the Public the unsold Tax-Exempt Bonds of each maturity 
allotted to it until it is notified by the Representative or the Underwriter that 
either the 10% test has been satisfied as to the 2020 Bonds of that maturity or 
all Tax-Exempt Bonds of that maturity have been sold to the Public and (B) 
comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, in each case if and 
for so long as directed by the Representative or the Underwriter and as set forth 
in the related pricing wires.  


(f) The Issuer acknowledges that, in making the representations set forth in this 







11 
 


Section 6, the Representative will rely on: (i) the agreement of each Underwriter to 
comply with the requirements for establishing the issue price of the Tax-Exempt Bonds, 
including, but not limited to, its agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price 
rule, [if applicable to the Tax-Exempt Bonds,] as set forth in an agreement among 
underwriters and the related pricing wires; (ii) in the event a selling group has been 
created in connection with the initial sale of the Tax-Exempt Bonds to the Public, the 
agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group to comply with the hold-
the-offering-price rule, [if applicable,] as set forth in a selling group agreement and the 
related pricing wires; and (iii) in the event that an Underwriter is a party to a third-party 
distribution agreement that was employed in connection with the initial sale of the Tax-
Exempt Bonds to the Public, the agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such 
agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, [if applicable,] as set forth in 
the third-party distribution agreement and the related pricing wires. The Issuer further 
acknowledges that each Underwriter shall be solely liable for its failure to comply with 
its agreement regarding the hold-the-offering-price rule and that no Underwriter shall be 
liable for the failure of any other Underwriter, or of any dealer who is a member of a 
selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a third-party distribution 
agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement to comply with the  establishing 
issue price of the Tax-Exempt Bonds, including, but not limited to, its agreement to 
comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, to the Tax-Exempt Bonds. 


(g) The Underwriters acknowledge that sales of any Tax-Exempt Bonds to any 
person that is a Related Party to an Underwriter participating in the initial sale of the 
Tax-Exempt Bonds to the Public shall not constitute sales to the Public for purposes of 
this Section 6. 


7. End of Underwriting Period.  The term “End of the Underwriting Period” referred 
to in this Purchase Agreement shall mean the earlier of (i) the Closing Date, unless the Issuer has 
been notified in writing by the Representative, on or prior to the Closing Date, of an earlier date 
which is to be the End of the Underwriting Period or (ii) the date on which the End of the 
Underwriting Period for the 2020 Bonds has occurred under Rule 15c2-12, provided however, that 
the Issuer may treat the End of the Underwriting Period for the 2020 Bonds as the date specified 
in a written notice from the Representative, if any, pursuant to (i). 


8. Closing.  At 8:00 a.m., California time, on _________, 2020 or at such earlier or 
later time or date as shall be mutually agreed upon by the Issuer and the Representative (such time 
and date being herein referred to as the “Closing Date”), the Issuer will, subject to the terms and 
conditions hereof, sell and deliver the 2020 Bonds to or for the account of the Representative in 
definitive form, duly executed, together with the other documents hereinafter mentioned, and, 
subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Underwriters will accept such delivery and pay the 
purchase price of the 2020 Bonds as set forth in Section 1 hereof.  Sale, delivery and payment as 
aforesaid shall be made at the offices of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP in San Francisco, 
California (“Bond Counsel”), or such other place as shall have been mutually agreed upon by the 
Issuer and the Representative, except that the 2020 Bonds shall be delivered through the FAST 
facilities of DTC, or at such other place as shall have been mutually agreed upon by the Issuer and 
the Representative, in fully registered, book-entry eligible form (which may be typewritten) and 
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC. 







12 
 


9. Closing Conditions to the Obligations of the Underwriters.  The Underwriters 
have entered into this Purchase Agreement in reliance upon the representations and warranties of 
the Issuer contained herein, and the representations and warranties of the Issuer to be contained in 
the documents and instruments to be delivered on the Closing Date. Accordingly, the 
Underwriters’ obligations under this Purchase Agreement to purchase, to accept delivery of and to 
pay for the 2020 Bonds shall be subject, at the option of the Underwriters, to the accuracy in all 
respects of the representations and warranties of the Issuer contained herein as of the date hereof 
and as of the Closing Date, to the accuracy in all respects of the statements of the officers and other 
officials of the Issuer made in any certificate or other document furnished pursuant to the 
provisions hereof, to the performance by the Issuer of its obligations to be performed hereunder 
and under the Issuer Documents at or prior to the Closing Date, and also shall be subject to the 
following additional conditions:  


(a) The Underwriters shall receive, prior to the Closing Date and at least in sufficient 
time to accompany any orders or confirmations that request payment from any customer, copies 
of the Official Statement, in such reasonable quantity as the Underwriters shall have requested; 


(b) On the Closing Date, the Issuer Documents shall have been duly authorized, 
executed and delivered by the respective parties thereto and shall be in full force and effect, and 
the Official Statement shall have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Issuer, all in 
substantially the forms heretofore submitted to the Underwriters, with only such changes as shall 
have been agreed to in writing by the Underwriters; and there shall be in full force and effect the 
Resolution which is in the form and manner as, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, shall be necessary 
or appropriate to authorize the transactions contemplated hereby; 


(c) The Underwriters shall have the right to terminate or, subject to agreement by the 
Issuer, delay without liability, by notification to Issuer, the Underwriters’ obligations hereunder to 
purchase, to accept delivery of and to pay for the 2020 Bonds if after execution hereof and prior 
to the Closing Date, in the sole judgment of the Representative, any of the following events shall 
occur:  


(1) the market price of marketability of the 2020 Bonds, or the ability of the 
Underwriters to enforce contracts for the sale of the 2020 Bonds shall be materially 
adversely affected by any of the following events: 


(i)(A) Legislation enacted by or introduced in the Congress of the United States or 
recommended to the Congress for passage by the President of the United States, or 
the Treasury Department of the United States or the Internal Revenue Service or 
favorably reported for passage to either House of the Congress by any committee 
of such House to which such legislation has been referred for consideration, a 
decision by a court of the United States or of the State or the United States Tax 
Court shall be rendered, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, temporary or 
proposed), press release, statement or other form of notice by or on behalf of the 
Treasury Department of the United States, the Internal Revenue Service or other 
governmental agency shall be made or proposed, the effect of any or all of which 
would be to alter, directly or indirectly, federal income taxation upon interest 
received on obligations of the general character of the 2020C-1 Bonds, or the 







13 
 


interest evidenced by the 2020 Bonds as described in the Official Statement, or 
other action or events shall have transpired which may have the purpose or effect, 
directly or indirectly, of changing the federal income tax consequences of any of 
the transactions contemplated herein or (B) legislation introduced or enacted, or a 
decision rendered as to matters of State law, or  any order, ruling or regulation 
issued or proposed by or on behalf of the State by an official, agency or department 
thereof, with the purpose or effect of, directly or indirectly, imposing California 
personal income taxation upon such interest as would be received by the owners of 
the 2020 Bonds; 


(ii) There shall have occurred: (A) any new outbreak of hostilities (including, 
without limitation, an act of terrorism); (B) the escalation of hostilities existing 
prior to the date hereof; (C) any other extraordinary event, material national or 
international calamity or crisis or resurgence thereof, or any material adverse 
change in the financial, political or economic conditions affecting the United States, 
the State of California or the Issuer; (D) a downgrade of the sovereign debt rating 
of the United States by any major credit rating agency or payment default on United 
States Treasury obligations; or (E) a default with respect to the debt obligations of, 
or the institution of proceedings under any federal bankruptcy laws by or against 
any state of the United States or any city, county, or other political subdivision 
located in the United States having a population of over 1,000,000;  


(iii) A general suspension of trading in securities on the New York Stock Exchange 
or any other major securities exchange, the establishment of minimum or maximum 
prices on any such national securities exchange, the establishment of material 
restrictions (not in force as of the date hereof) upon trading securities generally by 
any governmental authority or any national securities exchange, or any material 
increase of restrictions now in force (including, with respect to the extension of 
credit by, or the charge to the net capital requirements of, the Underwriters); 


(iv) Legislation introduced in or enacted (or resolution passed) by the Congress or 
an order, decree, or injunction issued by any court of competent jurisdiction, or an 
order, ruling, regulation (final, temporary, or proposed), press release or other form 
of notice issued or made by or on behalf of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, or any other governmental agency having jurisdiction of the subject 
matter, to the effect that obligations of the general character of the 2020 Bonds, or 
any comparable securities of the Issuer, are not exempt from registration under or 
other requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), 
or that the Measure RR Trust Agreement is not exempt from qualification under or 
other requirements of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the “Trust 
Indenture Act”);   


(v) There shall have occurred any downgrading or published negative credit watch 
or similar published information, from a rating agency that at the date hereof has 
published a rating on any of the Issuer’s debt obligations (or has been asked to 
furnish a rating on the 2020 Bonds), which action reflects a change or possible 







14 
 


change, in the ratings accorded any such obligations of the Issuer (including any 
rating to be accorded the 2020 Bonds); 


(2) Any event occurring, circumstance existing or information becoming 
known which, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriters, makes untrue or incorrect 
in any material respect any statement or information contained in the Official Statement, 
or has the effect of causing the Official Statement to contain any untrue statement of a 
material fact or omits to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in 
order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading, and in either such event (i) the Issuer refuses to permit the 
Official Statement to be supplemented to supply such statement or information in a manner 
satisfactory to the Underwriters or (ii) the effect of the Official Statement as so 
supplemented is, in the judgment of the Underwriters, to materially adversely affect the 
market price or marketability of the 2020 Bonds or the ability of the Underwriters to 
enforce contracts for the sale at the contemplated offering prices (or yields) of the 2020 
Bonds; 


(3) A general banking moratorium shall have been declared by federal, State of 
New York or State of California authorities having jurisdiction and shall be in force;  


(4) There shall have occurred since the date of this Purchase Agreement any 
materially adverse change in the operations, affairs or financial condition of the Issuer, 
except for changes which the Official Statement discloses are expected to occur;  


(5) A material disruption in securities settlement, payment or clearance services 
shall have occurred; and 


(6) A decision by a court of the United States shall be rendered, or a stop order, 
release, regulation or no-action letter by or on behalf of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or any other governmental agency having jurisdiction of the subject matter 
shall have been issued or made, to the effect that the issuance, offering or sale of the 2020 
Bonds, including the underlying obligations as contemplated by this Purchase Agreement 
or by the Official Statement, or any document relating to the issuance, offering or sale of 
the 2020 Bonds, is or would be in violation of any provision of the federal securities laws 
as of the Closing Date, including the Securities Act, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended, and the Trust Indenture Act. 


(d) On or prior to the Closing Date, the Underwriters shall have received a copy of each 
of the following documents: 


(1) Two copies of each of the Issuer Documents (except the 2020 Bonds), each 
duly executed and delivered by the respective parties thereto; 


(2) The approving opinion, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Issuer, 
of Bond Counsel in substantially the form attached to the Preliminary Official Statement 
as Appendix G, and letters of such counsel in the customary form, dated the Closing Date 
and addressed to the Underwriters and the Trustee, respectively, to the effect that such 







15 
 


opinion may be relied upon by the Underwriters and the Trustee to the same extent as if 
such opinion were addressed to them; 


(3) The supplemental opinion, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the 
Underwriters, of Bond Counsel, substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix C; 


(4) The opinion of counsel to the Trustee, dated the Closing Date and addressed 
to the Underwriters and the Issuer, in a form acceptable to Underwriters’ Counsel (defined 
herein) and Bond Counsel; 


(5) The opinion of counsel to the Issuer, dated the Closing Date and addressed 
to the Underwriters, substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix D; 


(6) The opinion, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriters, of 
Curls Bartling P.C., Oakland, California, counsel for the Underwriters (“Underwriters’ 
Counsel”) to the effect that: (i) the 2020 Bonds are exempt from registration under the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Measure RR Trust Agreement is exempt from 
qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended; (ii) while Underwriters’ 
Counsel has not undertaken to verify the accuracy, completeness or fairness of, or 
independently verified the information contained in the Official Statement, Underwriters’ 
Counsel has participated in conferences prior to the date of the Official Statement, during 
which conferences the contents of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official 
Statement and related matters were discussed and that, based upon the information made 
available to Underwriters’ Counsel in the course of its participation in such conferences, 
and review of the documents referred to above and the letters, certificates and opinions of 
counsel described in this Purchase Agreement, no information has come to the attention 
of Underwriters’ Counsel which caused Underwriters’ Counsel to believe that the 
Preliminary Official Statement as of its date and as of the date hereof (excluding any 
information permitted to be omitted pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 and excluding therefrom 
the financial statements or other financial or statistical data or forecasts and the 
information concerning DTC and the book-entry only system, as to all of which no opinion 
is expressed), and the Official Statement as of its date and as of the Closing Date 
(excluding therefrom the financial statements or other financial or statistical data or 
forecasts and the information concerning DTC and the book-entry only system, as to all 
of which no opinion is expressed), contained or contains an untrue statement of material 
fact or omitted or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, 
in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and 
(iii) assuming the due authorization and adoption of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement 
by the Issuer and the enforceability thereof, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement 
satisfies clause (b)(5)(i) of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities Exchange Act, which requires 
an undertaking for the benefit of the holders, including beneficial owners, of the 2020 
Bonds to provide annual updates of certain financial information and certain event notices 
to the MSRB at the times and in the manner required by such Rule 15c2-12; 


(7) A certificate or certificates, dated the Closing Date signed by a duly 
authorized official of the Issuer, in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriters, 
to the effect that: (i) the representations and warranties of the Issuer contained in this 







16 
 


Purchase Agreement are true and correct on and as of the Closing Date with the same 
effect as if made on the Closing Date; (ii) except as disclosed in the Preliminary Official 
Statement and the Official Statement, no litigation is pending or, to the best of such 
official's knowledge, threatened against the Issuer (a) to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the 
sale or delivery of the 2020 Bonds; (b) in any way contesting or affecting the validity of 
the Issuer Documents to which the Issuer is a party; or (c) in any way contesting the 
existence or powers of the Issuer; and (iii) no event affecting the Issuer has occurred since 
the date of the Official Statement which either makes untrue or incorrect in any material 
respect as of the Closing Date any statement or information contained in the Official 
Statement relating to the Issuer (excluding therefrom information relating to DTC and the 
book-entry system, the information under the caption “UNDERWRITING,”) or is not 
reflected in the Official Statement but should be reflected therein in order to make the 
statements and information therein relating to the Issuer not misleading; 


(8) A certificate of U.S. Bank National Association as the Trustee, and 
dissemination agent, dated the Closing Date, signed by a duly authorized official of the 
Trustee, satisfactory in form and substance to the Underwriters, to the effect that: (i) it is 
duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the United States of 
America, having the full power and qualified to enter into and perform its duties under the 
Measure RR Trust Agreement  and the Continuing Disclosure Agreement; (ii) the 
execution and delivery of the Measure RR Trust Agreement and  the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement and compliance therewith, will not conflict with or constitute a 
breach by it of or default under any law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, loan 
agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other instrument to which it is 
a party or is otherwise subject; and (iii) it has not been served with any action, suit, 
proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, before or by any court, 
governmental agency, public board or body, nor is any such action, to the best of such 
official’s knowledge after reasonable investigation, threatened against it, affecting its 
existence, the titles of its officers to their respective offices, or contesting or affecting the 
validity or enforceability of the Measure RR Trust Agreement or the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement, or contesting its power or authority to enter into, adopt or perform 
its obligations under the foregoing, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding 
would materially adversely affect the validity or enforceability of the Measure RR Trust 
Agreement or the Continuing Disclosure Agreement; 


(9) A certified copy of the general resolution of by-laws of the Trustee 
authorizing the execution and delivery of the Measure RR Trust Agreement; 


(10) The Preliminary Official Statement, a certificate pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 
related to the Preliminary Official Statement signed on behalf of the Issuer by authorized 
representatives thereof, and the Official Statement, executed on behalf of the Issuer by 
authorized representatives thereof; 


(11) A certified copy of the Resolution authorizing the execution and delivery of 
the Issuer Documents, the Official Statement and the issuance of the 2020 Bonds; 


(12) A copy of the Blanket Letter of Representation to DTC relating to the Issuer; 







17 
 


(13) Tax Certificate of the Issuer in form and substance acceptable to Bond 
Counsel and the Underwriters, setting forth, among other things, the use of proceeds of 
the Tax-Exempt Bonds, and sufficient facts, estimates and circumstances (including 
covenants of and by the Issuer) in existence on the Closing Date, to support the conclusion 
that (i) it is not expected that the proceeds of the Tax-Exempt Bonds will be used in a 
manner that would cause the Tax-Exempt Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” within the 
meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the 
regulations, temporary regulations and proposed regulations promulgated with respect 
thereto, and (ii) to the best knowledge of the Issuer, there are no other facts, estimates, or 
circumstances that would materially affect such expectations;  


(14) The Blue Sky Memorandum with respect to the 2020 Bonds prepared by 
Underwriters’ Counsel; 


 
(15) Evidence satisfactory to the Representative that the 2020 Bonds have been 


rated “____” and “_____” by S&P Global Ratings, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services 
LLC business, and Moody’s Investors Service, respectively, and that all such ratings are 
in full force and effect as of the Closing Date; and 


(16) Such additional legal opinions, certificates, proceedings and other 
documents as the Underwriters, Underwriters’ Counsel or Bond Counsel may reasonably 
request to evidence the truth and accuracy, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing 
Date, of the representations of the Issuer herein and of the statements and information 
contained in the Official Statement, and the due performance or satisfaction by the Trustee 
and the Issuer at or prior to the Closing Date of all agreements then to be performed and 
all conditions then to be satisfied by any of them in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby and by the other Issuer Documents. 


 All steps to be taken and all instruments and other documents to be executed, and all other 
legal matters in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Purchase Agreement shall 
be reasonably satisfactory in legal form and effect to the Representative. 


All of the opinions, letters, certificates, instruments and other documents mentioned above 
or elsewhere in this Purchase Agreement shall be deemed to be in compliance with the provisions 
hereof if, but only if, they are in form and substance satisfactory to the Representative. 


If the Issuer shall be unable to satisfy the conditions to the obligations of the Underwriters 
to purchase, to accept delivery of and to pay for the 2020 Bonds contained in this Purchase 
Agreement, or if the obligations of the Underwriters to purchase, to accept delivery of and to pay 
for the 2020 Bonds shall be terminated for any reason permitted by this Purchase Agreement, this 
Purchase Agreement shall terminate and neither the Underwriters nor the Issuer shall be under any 
further obligation hereunder. Thereafter, no party hereto shall have any further rights against any 
other party hereunder, except that each party shall pay their respective expenses as set forth in 
Section 10 (Expenses).  


10. Expenses.   







18 
 


(a) The Underwriters shall be under no obligation to pay, and the Issuer shall pay all 
expenses incident to the performance of the Issuer’s obligations hereunder, including, but not 
limited to: (i) the cost of preparation and printing of the 2020 Bonds, the Preliminary Official 
Statement, the Official Statement and any amendment or supplement thereto; (ii) the fees and 
disbursements of Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel; (iii) the fees and disbursements of any 
municipal advisor to the Issuer, including Sperry Capital Inc.; (iv) the fees and disbursements of 
the Trustee, and any engineers, accountants, or other experts, consultants or advisers retained by 
the Issuer, if any; (v) all fees and expenses in connection with obtaining ratings on the 2020 Bonds, 
including all necessary travel, dining, and related expenses incurred on behalf of Issuer personnel; 
and [(vi) the costs related to the in-station advertising].  The Issuer shall also pay for any expenses 
upon issuance of the 2020 Bonds (included in the expense component of the Underwriters’ 
discount) incurred by the Underwriters which are incidental to the negotiation, marketing, issuance 
and delivery of the 2020 Bonds, including, but not limited to,  internet roadshow (if any), and 
meals, transportation, and lodging, if any, incurred by or on behalf of the Issuer and its 
representatives or employees, and any other miscellaneous closing costs.  In the event that the 
Underwriters incur or advance the cost of any expense for which the Issuer is responsible 
hereunder, the Issuer shall reimburse the Underwriters at or prior to the Closing Date; if on the 
Closing Date, reimbursement may be included in the expense component of the Underwriters’ 
discount. 


(b) The Issuer acknowledges that it has had an opportunity, in consultation with such 
advisors as it may deem appropriate, if any, to evaluate and consider the fees and expenses being 
incurred as part of the issuance of the 2020 Bonds. 


(c) Except as provided for above, the Underwriters shall pay (from the expense 
component of the Underwriters’ discount): (i) the cost of preparation and printing of this Purchase 
Agreement and the Blue Sky Memorandum; (ii) certain advertising expenses in connection with 
the public offering of the 2020 Bonds; (iii) fees and expenses of Underwriters’ Counsel; (iv) 
regulatory fees (e.g. California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission); and (v) all other 
expenses incurred by them in connection with the public offering of the 2020 Bonds. 
Notwithstanding that the fees of the California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission are 
solely the legal obligation of the Underwriters, the Issuer agrees to reimburse the Underwriters for 
such fees.  


 (d) If the Underwriters or the Issuer shall bring an action to enforce any part of the 
Purchase Agreement against the other, each party shall bear its attorneys’ fees and costs incurred 
in connection with such action. 
 


11. Notices.  Any notice or other communication to be given to the parties to this 
Purchase Agreement may be given by delivering the same in writing to the respective party 
at the following address: 


 
Underwriters: J.P. Morgan Securities LLC 
  560 Mission Street, Floor 03 


San Francisco, California 94105 
Attention: John Houlberg, Executive Director  


 







19 
 


Issuer: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
300 Lakeside Drive, 23rd Floor 
Oakland, California 94512-3534 
Attention: Controller/Treasurer  
 


12. Parties in Interest.  This Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the 
Issuer and the Underwriters (including the successors or assigns of the Underwriters) and no other 
person shall acquire or have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof.  All of the Issuer’s 
representations, warranties and agreements contained in this Purchase Agreement shall remain 
operative and in full force and effect, regardless of: (i) any investigations made by or on behalf of 
the Underwriters; (ii) delivery of and payment for the 2020 Bonds pursuant to this Purchase 
Agreement; and (iii) any termination of this Purchase Agreement. 


13. Business Day.  For purposes of this Purchase Agreement, “business day” means 
any day on which the New York Stock Exchange is open for trading. 


 
14. Effectiveness.  This Purchase Agreement shall become effective upon the 


execution of the acceptance herein by a duly authorized officer of the Issuer and shall be valid and 
enforceable at the time of such acceptance. 


15. Governing Law.  This Purchase Agreement shall be construed in accordance with 
the laws of the State of California. 


16. Severability.  If any provision of this Purchase Agreement shall be held to be 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, then such provision shall be deemed severable 
from the remaining provisions contained in this Purchase Agreement and such invalidity, illegality 
or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Purchase Agreement.  
 


17. Headings.  The headings of the sections of this Purchase Agreement are inserted 
for convenience only and shall not be deemed to be a part hereof. 


18. Counterparts.  This Purchase Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, 
each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same 
document. 


19. Entire Agreement. This Purchase Agreement, including the exhibits and 
appendices attached hereto, constitute the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect 
to the matters covered hereby, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between 
the parties regarding the transaction contemplated by this Purchase Agreement and the process 
leading thereto. This Purchase Agreement shall only be amended, supplemented or modified in a 
writing signed by both of the parties hereto. 


 
 
 


[Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank.] 







20 
 


If you agree with the foregoing, please sign the enclosed counterpart of this Purchase 
Agreement and return it to the Underwriters.  This Purchase Agreement shall become a binding 
agreement between you and the Underwriters when at least the counterpart of this Purchase 
Agreement shall have been signed by or on behalf of each of the parties hereto. 


 


 


Very truly yours, 


J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC,  
as Representative of the Underwriters 


By: _________________________________________ 
Name:  John Houlberg, Executive Director 
Address:  J.P. Morgan Securities LLC 
  560 Mission Street, Floor 03 


San Francisco, CA 94105 
 
 


ACCEPTANCE: 


ACCEPTED at ________ a.m./p.m. California time, this __ day of _______ 2020. 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID 
TRANSIT DISTRICT  


 
 
By:  _________________________________ 
Name:  Rosemarie Poblete, Controller/Treasurer 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


[Signature page of Bond Purchase Agreement]







 


Schedule 1 
 


Schedule 1 
 


LIST OF UNDERWRITERS 


J.P. Morgan Securities LLC  
Goldman Sachs & Co. 


 
 


Barclays Capital Inc. Blaylock Van, LLC 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 


 







 
Appendix A-1 


 


Appendix A 


 
MATURITY SCHEDULES 


 
$_____________ 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 


 (ELECTION OF 2016) 
2020 SERIES C-1 BONDS (GREEN BONDS) 


 
$_______________ SERIAL BONDS   


 


Maturity 
Date  


Principal 
 Amount 


Interest  
Rate 


 
Yield CUSIP  


 $__________     _______% _________%  
     
     
     


 
 


$_____________ _________% Term Bonds due _______, 20___; Yield ______%; CUSIP_____  







 


 
Appendix A-2 


 


 
$_____________ 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT 
 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 


 (ELECTION OF 2016) 
2020 SERIES C-2 BONDS (FEDERALLY TAXABLE)  


(GREEN BONDS) 
 


Maturity 
Date  


Principal 
 Amount 


Interest  
Rate 


 
Yield CUSIP  


 $________ _______% _____________%  
     
     


 







 


Appendix A-3 
  
 


Redemption Provisions 


 Optional Redemption. The 2020C-2 Bonds shall not be subject to redemption 
prior to their stated maturity date.  The 2020C-1 Bonds maturing on or before August 1, 20__ are 
not subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturity dates.  The 2020C-1 Bonds 
maturing on and after August 1, 20__ are subject to redemption prior to their respective stated 
maturity dates, at the option of the District, from any source of available funds, as a whole or in 
part, on any date on or after August 1, 20__ at the principal amount of the 2020C-1 Bonds called 
for redemption, together with interest accrued thereon to the date of redemption, without premium.  
If less than all of the 2020C-1 Bonds are called for redemption, the 2020C-1 Bonds shall be 
redeemed in such maturities as is directed by the District, and if less than all of the 2020C-1 Bonds 
of any given maturity are called for redemption, the portions of 2020C-1 Bonds of a given maturity 
to be redeemed shall be determined by lot. 


 


 
Mandatory Redemption.  The 2020C-1 Term Bond maturing on August 1, 20__, is also 


subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on August 1 in each of the years and in the 
respective principal amounts as set forth in the following schedule, at a redemption price equal to 
the principal amount thereof to be redeemed (without premium), together with interest accrued 
thereon to the date fixed for redemption. 


Mandatory 
Sinking Fund 
Payment Date 


(August 1) 
 


Mandatory 
Sinking Fund 


Payment Amount 
 


20__ $  _________ 
  


  
  


  
_______________ 
†  Final Maturity 


 


The principal amount of each mandatory sinking fund payment of any maturity shall be 
reduced as specified by the District, in $5,000 increments, by the amount of any 2020C-1 Bonds 
of that maturity optionally redeemed prior to the mandatory sinking fund payment date. 







 


Appendix B-1 
  


 
Appendix B 


 
FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 


ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 
 


The undersigned, on behalf of J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (the “Representative”), on 
behalf of itself and on behalf of the other underwriters named in the list attached as Schedule 1 to 
the Bond Purchase Agreement, dated ___________, 2020 relating to the above-captioned 
obligations (together, the “Underwriting Group”), hereby certifies as set forth below with respect 
to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned obligations (the “Bonds”). 


 
1. Sale of the Bonds/General Rule Maturities.  As of the date of this Certificate, for 


each Maturity of the Bonds/General Rule Maturities, the first single price at which 10% of such 
Maturity was sold to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule A attached hereto. 


 
[2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities. 


 
  (a) The Underwriters offered the Hold-the-Offering Price Maturities to the 
Public for purchase at the respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the “Initial 
Offering Prices”) on or before the Sale Date. A copy of the pricing wire or equivalent 
communication for the Bonds is attached to this Certificate as Schedule B. In making the 
representations set forth in this Section 2(a) with respect to the activities of the other underwriters, 
the Representative has relied on each of the other underwriters’ representation to the 
Representative confirming such underwriter has complied with its obligations set forth in (i) the 
agreement among underwriters, any selling group agreement and any retail distribution agreement, 
as applicable, and (ii) the related pricing wires. 


 
(b) As set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, the members of the 


Underwriting Group have agreed in writing that, (i) for each Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-
Price Maturities, they would neither offer nor sell any of the Bonds of such Maturity to any person 
at a price that is higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Maturity during the Holding Period 
for such Maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”), and (ii) any selling group agreement shall 
contain the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group, and any retail 
distribution agreement shall contain the agreement of each broker-dealer who is a party to the retail 
distribution agreement, to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule. Neither the Representative 
nor a broker-dealer who is a party to a retail distribution agreement with the Representative has 


$_____________ 
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT  


 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
(ELECTION OF 2016),  


2020 SERIES C-1 (GREEN BONDS) 
 







 


Appendix B-1 
  


offered or sold any Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering Price Maturities at a price that is higher than 
the respective Initial Offering Price for that Maturity of the Bonds during the Holding Period.  Each 
of the other members of the Underwriting Group, each broker-dealer who is a party to a retail 
distribution agreement with one of the members of the Underwriting Group and each selling group 
member has agreed in writing to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule.  [Certain members 
of the Underwriting Group, on behalf of themselves and any broker-dealer who is a party to a retail 
distribution agreement with such member of the Underwriting Group, and certain selling group 
members have represented, in Schedule C or Schedule D, as applicable, to this certificate that it 
has complied with such agreement.]   
 


2. Defined Terms. 
 


(a) General Rule Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds where issue 
price was established under Treasury Regulations § 1.148-1(f)(2)(i), as shown in Schedule A 
hereto as the “General Rule Maturities.” 


 
[(b) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds 


where issue price was established under Treasury Regulations § 1.148-1(f)(2)(ii), as shown in 
Schedule A hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.” 


 
(c) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, 


the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business 
day after the Sale Date, or (ii) the date on which the Underwriters have sold at least 10% of such 
Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering 
Price for such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity.] 
 


(d) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms.  Bonds with 
different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates or 
CUSIP identification numbers, are treated as separate maturities. 


 
(e) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 


association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a Related Party to an 
Underwriter.   


 
(f) Related Party means any entity if an Underwriter and the entity are subject, 


directly or indirectly, to (i) more than 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total 
value of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation 
of another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if 
both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (iii) 
more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the 
capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation 
and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests 
by one entity of the other). 


 
 (g) Sale Date means the date of execution of a binding contract in writing for 


the sale of a Maturity of the Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Bonds is [Sale Date], 2020. 







 


Appendix B-2 
 


 
(h) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract 


with the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit (the “Issuer”), as accepted and agreed by its 
Controller/Treasurer, (or with the lead underwriter(s) for the Bonds to form an underwriting 
syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees 
pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this 
paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a 
selling group or a party to a third-party distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of 
the Bonds to the Public). 


 
The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  Nothing 


in this certificate represents the Representative’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically 
Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury 
Regulations thereunder.  The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied 
upon by the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and 
with respect to compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Orrick 
Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, as bond counsel to the Issuer, in connection with rendering its opinion 
that the interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, 
the preparation of Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice it 
may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the Bonds.   


       
Dated: [Closing Date], 2020 
 


J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC, 
       as Representative of the Underwriters  


 
By: __________________________ 


       Name: _______________________ 
Title: _______________________ 







 


Schedule A-1 
  
 


SCHEDULE A 
TO ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 


GENERAL RULE MATURITIES [AND 
HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES] 


 


General Rule Maturities 


[Insert] 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


[Hold-The-Offering-Price Maturities] 


[Insert] 


 







 


Schedule B-1 
  
 


SCHEDULE B 
TO ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 


PRICING WIRE OR EQUIVALENT COMMUNICATION 


 


[See Attached]


 







 


Schedule C-1 
  


SCHEDULE C  
TO ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 


 
FORM OF UNDERWRITER CERTIFICATE 


 
 


$_____________ 
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT  


 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
(ELECTION OF 2016)  


2020 SERIES C-1 (GREEN BONDS) 
 


The undersigned, on behalf of [UW FULL NAME] (“[UW DEFINED NAME]”), hereby 
certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned obligations 
(the “Bonds”). 
 


1. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities. 
 


(a) [UW DEFINED NAME] and any broker-dealer who is participating in the 
initial sale of the Bonds as a party to a retail distribution agreement with [UW DEFINED NAME] 
(if any) each offered the Hold-the-Offering Price Maturities to the Public for purchase at the 
respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the “Initial Offering Prices”) to the Issue 
Price Certificate of [List Representative] relating to the Bonds, to which this certificate is attached 
as [part of ] Schedule C on or before the Sale Date.  


 
(b) Neither [UW DEFINED NAME] nor any broker-dealer who is participating 


in the initial sale of the Bonds as a party to a retail distribution agreement with [UW DEFINED 
NAME] (if any) has offered or sold any Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering Price Maturities 
allocated to [UW DEFINED NAME] identified in Schedule A-1 attached hereto at a price that is 
higher than the respective Initial Offering Price for that Maturity of the Bonds during the Holding 
Period.  [UW DEFINED NAME] has not entered into a retail distribution agreement or other 
written contract directly or indirectly to participate in the initial sale of any of the Bonds to the 
Public [other than] [NAME OF ANY FIRM WITH WHICH [UW DEFINED NAME] HAS A 
RETAIL DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT]. 
 


2. Defined Terms. 
 


(a) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds 
where issue price was established under Treasury Regulations § 1.148-1(f)(2)(ii), as shown in 
Schedule A hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.” 


 
(b) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, 


the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business 
day after the Sale Date, or (ii) the date on which the Underwriters have sold at least 10% of such 
Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering 
Price for such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity. 







 


Schedule C-2 
  


(c) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms. Bonds with 
different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates or 
CUSIP identification numbers, are treated as separate maturities. 


 
(d) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 


association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a Related Party to an 
Underwriter.   


 
(e) Related Party means any entity if an Underwriter and the entity are subject, 


directly or indirectly, to (i) more than 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total 
value of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation 
of another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if 
both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (iii) 
more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the 
capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation 
and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests 
by one entity of the other). 


 
(f) Sale Date means the date of execution of a binding contract in writing for 


the sale of a Maturity of the Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Bonds is [Sale Date], 2020. 
 
(g) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract 


with San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “Issuer”), as agreed and accepted by its 
Controller/Treasurer, (or with the lead underwriter(s) for the Bonds to form an underwriting 
syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees 
pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this 
paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a 
selling group or a party to a third-party distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of 
the Bonds to the Public). 


 
The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by 


the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate to which this 
Certificate is attached and with respect to compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting 
the Bonds, and by Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, as bond counsel to the Issuer, in connection 
with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes, the preparation of Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal 
income tax advice it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the Bonds.  [UW 
DEFINED NAME] is certifying only as to facts in existence on the date hereof.  Nothing herein 
represents [UW DEFINED NAME]’s interpretation of any laws; in particular the Treasury 
Regulations under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or the application of any laws to these facts.   


 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


Schedule C-3 
  


      [UW FULL NAME], as  
      Underwriter  


      By: _________________________ 
      Title: ________________________ 


Dated: [Closing Date], 2020







 


Schedule C-1 
  


 


SCHEDULE A-1 


 


Hold-The-Offering-Price Maturities 


[Insert any HTOPM for which this U/W has an allocation] 







 


Schedule D-1 
  


SCHEDULE D  
TO ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 


 
FORM OF SELLING GROUP MEMBER CERTIFICATE 


 
 


$_____________ 
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT  


 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
(ELECTION OF 2016)  


2020 SERIES C-1 (GREEN BONDS) 
 


 
The undersigned, on behalf of [SGM FULL NAME] (“[SGM DEFINED NAME]”), hereby 


certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned obligations 
(the “Bonds”). 
 


1. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities. 
 


(a) [SGM DEFINED NAME] offered the Hold-the-Offering Price Maturities 
to the Public for purchase at the respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the “Initial 
Offering Prices”) to the Issue Price Certificate of [List Representative] relating to the Bonds, to 
which this certificate is attached as [part of] Schedule D on or before the Sale Date.  


 
(b) [SGM DEFINED NAME] has not offered or sold any Maturity of the Hold-


the-Offering Price Maturities allocated to [SGM DEFINED NAME] identified in Schedule A-1 
attached hereto at a price that is higher than the respective Initial Offering Price for that Maturity 
of the Bonds during the Holding Period.   
 


2. Defined Terms. 
 


(a) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds 
where issue price was established under Treasury Regulations § 1.148-1(f)(2)(ii), as shown in 
Schedule A hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.” 


 
(b) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, 


the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business 
day after the Sale Date, or (ii) the date on which the Underwriters have sold at least 10% of such 
Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering 
Price for such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity. 


 
(c) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms. Bonds with 


different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates or 
CUSIP identification numbers, are treated as separate maturities. 


 







 


Schedule D-2 
  


(d) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 
association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a Related Party to an 
Underwriter.   


 
(e) Related Party means any entity if an Underwriter and the entity are subject, 


directly or indirectly, to (i) more than 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total 
value of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation 
of another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if 
both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (iii) 
more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the 
capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation 
and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests 
by one entity of the other). 


 
(f) Sale Date means the date of execution a binding contract in writing for the 


sale of a Maturity of the Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Bonds is [Sale Date], 2020. 
 
(g) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract 


with the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “Issuer”), as accepted and agreed by 
its Controller/Treasurer, (or with the lead underwriter(s) for the Bonds to form an underwriting 
syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees 
pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this 
paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a 
selling group or a party to a third-party distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of 
the Bonds to the Public). 


 
The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by 


the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate to which this 
Certificate is attached and with respect to compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting 
the Bonds, and by Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, as bond counsel to the Issuer, in connection 
with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes, the preparation of Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal 
income tax advice it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the Bonds.  [SGM 
DEFINED NAME] is certifying only as to facts in existence on the date hereof.  Nothing herein 
represents [SGM DEFINED NAME]’s interpretation of any laws; in particular the Treasury 
Regulations under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or the application of any laws to these facts.   


 
      [SGM FULL NAME], as  
      Selling Group Member  


      By: _________________________ 
      Title: ________________________ 


Dated: [Closing Date], 2020 







 


Schedule D-3 
  


SCHEDULE A-1 


 


Hold-The-Offering-Price Maturities 


[Insert any HTOPM for which this selling group member has an allocation] 


 







 


 
Appendix C-1 


 


 


Appendix C 
 


Form of Supplemental Opinion  
 
 
 
 


[Date] 
 


J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, 
  and the Underwriters listed in Schedule I 
San Francisco, California 
 
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District  


General Obligation Bonds  
(Election of 2016) 


 2020 Series C-1 (Green Bonds) 
 


San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District  
General Obligation Bonds 


(Election of 2016) 
2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) 


 (Green Bonds) 
 


(Supplemental Opinion) 
 


Ladies and Gentlemen: 


This letter is addressed to you as underwriters (the “Underwriters”) identified in Schedule 
I attached hereto, pursuant to Section 9(d)(3) of the Bond Purchase Agreement, dated _________, 
2020 (the “Purchase Agreement”), between you and the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit 
District (the “District”), providing for the purchase of $___________ aggregate principal amount 
of San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 
2020 Series C-1 (Green Bonds) (the “2020C-1 Bonds”) and $__________ aggregate principal 
amount of San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 
2016),2020 Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) (the “2020C-2 Bonds” and, together 
with the 2020C-1 Bonds, the “2020 Bonds”).  The 2020 Bonds represent part of an issue, in the 
aggregate principal amount of $3.5 billion, authorized at an election held in the District on 
November 8, 2016 and issued under and pursuant to the provisions of Part 2 of Division 10 of the 
Public Utilities Code of the State of California, commencing with Section 28500, and Articles 4.5 
of Chapter 3 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code of the State of California and other 
applicable law (the “Act”). The 2020 Bonds are issued under and pursuant to a resolution of the 
Board of Directors of the District adopted on July ___, 2020 (the “2020 Resolution”), and in 
accordance with the terms of a Trust Agreement (Measure RR), dated as of June 1, 2017, as 
supplemented by a First Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2019 and as 
supplemented by a Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2020 
(collectively, the “Measure RR Trust Agreement”), each by and between the Issuer and U.S. Bank 
National Association (the “Trustee”). 







 


 
Appendix C-2 


 


We have delivered our final legal opinion (the “Bond Opinion”) as bond counsel to the 
District concerning the validity of the 2020 Bonds and certain other matters, dated the date hereof 
and addressed to the District.  You may rely on such opinion as though the same were addressed 
to you. 


In connection with our role as bond counsel to the District, we have reviewed the Purchase 
Agreement, the Measure RR Trust Agreement, the Tax Certificate, dated the date hereof (the “Tax 
Certificate”), the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, opinions of counsel to the District and the 
Trustee, certificates of the District, the Trustee and others and such other documents, opinions and 
matters to the extent we deemed necessary to provide the opinions or conclusions set forth herein. 


The opinions and conclusions expressed herein are based on an analysis of existing laws, 
regulations, rulings and court decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by such 
authorities.  Such opinions or conclusions may be affected by actions taken or omitted or events 
occurring after the date hereof.  We have not undertaken to determine, or to inform any person, 
whether any such actions are taken, or omitted, or events do occur or any other matters come to 
our attention after the date hereof.  We have assumed the genuineness of all documents and 
signatures presented to us (whether as originals or as copies) and the due and legal execution and 
delivery thereof by, and validity against, any parties other than the District.  We have assumed, 
without undertaking to verify, the accuracy of the factual matters represented, warranted or 
certified in the documents and of the legal conclusions contained in the opinions referred to in the 
third paragraph hereof.  We have further assumed compliance with all covenants and agreements 
contained in such documents.  In addition, we call attention to the fact that the rights and 
obligations under the 2020 Bonds, the Resolution, the Measure RR Trust Agreement, the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement, Tax Certificate, and the Purchase Agreement and their 
enforceability may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, 
arrangement, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ 
rights, to the application of equitable principles, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate 
cases and to the limitations on legal remedies against public transit districts in the State of 
California.  We express no opinion with respect to any indemnification, contribution, liquidated 
damages, penalty (including any remedy deemed to constitute a penalty), right of set-off, 
arbitration, judicial reference, choice of law, choice of forum, choice of venue, non-exclusivity of 
remedies, waiver or severability provisions contained in the foregoing documents.   


Based on and subject to the foregoing, and in reliance thereon, as of the date hereof, we are 
of the following opinions or conclusions: 


1. The 2020 Bonds are not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended, and the Measure RR Trust Agreement is exempt from qualification 
pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. 


2. The Purchase Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by, and is a valid 
and binding agreement of, the District. 


3. The statements contained in the Official Statement dated__________, 2020 (the 
“Official Statement”) relating to the 2020 Bonds, under the captions “THE 2020 BONDS,” 
“SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE 2020 BONDS,” “TAX MATTERS,” 







 


 
Appendix C-3 


 


APPENDIX G – “PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL,” and APPENDIX 
H – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT,” as of its date 
and as of the date hereof, excluding any material that may be treated as included under such 
captions by cross-reference or reference to other documents or sources, insofar as such statements 
expressly summarize certain provisions of the 2020 Bonds, the Measure RR Trust Agreement and 
the form and content of our Bond Opinion are accurate in all material respects. 


4. We are not passing upon and do not assume any responsibility for the accuracy 
(except as explicitly stated in paragraph 3 above), completeness or fairness of any of the statements 
contained in the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement, and make no 
representation that we have independently verified the accuracy, completeness or fairness of any 
such statements.  We do not assume any responsibility for any electronic version of the Preliminary 
Official Statement or the Official Statement, and assume that any such version is identical in all 
respects to the printed version.  In our capacity as bond counsel to the District in connection with 
issuance of the 2020 Bonds, we participated in conferences with your representatives, your 
counsel, Sperry Capital Inc., as financial advisor to the District, representatives of the District and 
others, during which the contents of the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement 
and related matters were discussed.  Based on our participation in the above-mentioned 
conferences (which did not extend beyond the date of the Official Statement), and in reliance 
thereon, on oral and written statements and representations of the District and others and on the 
records, documents, certificates, opinions and matters herein mentioned, subject to the limitations 
on our role as bond counsel to the District, we advise you as a matter of fact and not opinion that 
(a) as of [date of execution of bond purchase agreement], no facts had come to the attention of the 
attorneys in our firm rendering legal services with respect to the Preliminary Official Statement 
which caused us to believe as of that date that the Preliminary Official Statement contained any 
untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and 
(b) as of the date of the Official Statement and as of the date hereof, no facts had come to the 
attention of the attorneys in our firm rendering legal service which caused us to believe as of the 
date of the Official Statement and as of the date hereof that the Official statement contained or 
contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted or omits to state any material fact 
necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading; provided that, we expressly exclude from the scope of this paragraph and 
express no view or opinion about (i) any difference in information contained in the Preliminary 
Official Statement compared to what is contained in the Official Statement, whether or not related 
to pricing or sale of the 2020 Bonds, and whether any such difference is material and should have 
been included in the Preliminary Official Statement, and (ii) with respect to both the Preliminary 
Official Statement and the Official Statement, any CUSIP numbers, financial, accounting, 
statistical or economic, engineering or demographic data or forecasts, numbers, charts, tables, 
graphs, estimates, projections, assumptions or expressions of opinion, any management discussion 
and analysis, any statements about compliance with prior continuing disclosure undertakings, or 
any information about book-entry, DTC, ratings, rating agencies, Underwriters, Underwriting and 
the information contained in Appendices B, C, D and E, included or referred to therein or omitted 
therefrom.  No responsibility is undertaken or view expressed with respect to any other disclosure 
document, materials or activity, or as to any information from another document or source referred 
to by or incorporated by reference in the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement. 







 


 
Appendix C-4 


 


This letter is furnished by us as bond counsel to the District.  No attorney-client relationship 
has existed or exists between our firm and you in connection with the 2020 Bonds or by virtue of 
this letter.  We disclaim any obligation to update this letter.  This letter is delivered to you as 
Underwriters of the 2020 Bonds, is solely for your benefit as such Underwriters in connection with 
the original issuance of the 2020 Bonds on the date hereof, and is not to be used, circulated, quoted 
or otherwise referred to or relied upon for any other purpose or by any other person.  This letter is 
not intended to, and may not, be relied upon by owners of Bonds or by any other party to whom it 
is not specifically addressed. 


Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
ORRICK, HERRINGTON & SUTCLIFFE LLP 
 
 







 


 
Appendix C-5 


 


Schedule I 
 


LIST OF UNDERWRITERS 


J.P. Morgan Securities LLC  
Goldman Sachs & Co. 


 
 


Barclays Capital Inc. Blaylock Van, LLC 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 







 


 Appendix D-1 
 


Appendix D 
 


Form of District Counsel Opinion 


[Closing Date] 


 
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, 
  as Representative of the Underwriters 
San Francisco, California 


Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe, LLP 
San Francisco, California 


 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID 
TRANSIT DISTRICT  


GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
(ELECTION OF 2016), 


2020 SERIES C-1 
(GREEN BONDS) 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID 
TRANSIT DISTRICT  


GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
(ELECTION OF 2016), 


2020 SERIES C-2 (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 
(GREEN BONDS) 


 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 


This opinion is furnished in connection with the issuance by the San Francisco Bay Area 
Rapid Transit District (the “District”) of $_________ aggregate principal amount of San Francisco 
Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-1 
(Green Bonds) (the “2020C-1 Bonds”) and $_________ aggregate principal amount of San 
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 
Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) (the “2020C-2 Bonds” and, together with the 
2020C-1 Bonds, the “Bonds”).  The Bonds represent part of an issue, in the aggregate principal 
amount of $3.5 billion, authorized at an election held in the District on November 8, 2016.  The 
Bonds are issued under and pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors of the District 
adopted on July __, 2020 (the “Resolution”), and in accordance with the terms of a Trust 
Agreement (Measure RR), dated as of June 1, 2017, as supplemented to the date hereof, including 
as supplemented by a Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2020 
(collectively, the “Measure RR Trust Agreement”), each by and between the District and U.S. 
Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined 
herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Measure RR Trust Agreement or, if 
not defined in the Measure RR Trust Agreement, in the hereinafter defined Bond Purchase 
Agreement. 


In my capacity as general counsel to the District, I have examined the Resolution, the 
Bonds, the Measure RR Trust Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated the date 
hereof (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”), between the District and U.S. Bank National 
Association, as dissemination agent, the Bond Purchase Agreement, dated _________, 2020 (the 







 


 Appendix D-2 
 


“Bond Purchase Agreement”), between the District and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, acting on 
behalf of itself and as representative of the underwriters (the “Underwriters”) identified in 
Schedule I attached hereto, as Underwriters of the Bonds, and the Tax Certificate, dated the date 
hereof (the “Tax Certificate”), delivered by the District, the Act, certifications of the District and 
others as to certain factual matters, and such other documents, opinions and matters as I deemed 
necessary to render the opinions set forth herein. 


In reviewing the documents and matters referred to above, I have assumed the genuineness 
of all signatures (other than signatures of officials of the District) thereto, and I have not undertaken 
to verify independently, and have assumed, the accuracy of the factual matters represented, 
warranted or certified therein.  In addition, I call attention to the fact that the rights and obligations 
under the Bonds, the Measure RR Trust Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the 
Tax Certificate and the Bond Purchase Agreement (hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
“District Documents”) and the enforceability thereof may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, arrangement, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or 
affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of equitable principles, to the exercise of judicial 
discretion in appropriate cases and to the limitations on legal remedies against public transit 
districts in the State of California. 


Based on and subject to the foregoing, and in reliance thereon, as of the date hereof, I am 
of the following opinions: 


1. The District is a public transit district duly organized and validly existing 
under the laws of the State of California, and has all requisite power and authority thereunder:  (a) 
to adopt the Resolution and to enter into and perform its covenants and agreements under the 
Bonds and the District Documents; (b) to approve and authorize the use and distribution of the 
Preliminary Official Statement, dated ______, 2020 (the “Preliminary Official Statement”) and the 
Official Statement, dated _____, 2020 (the “Official Statement”); (c) to issue the Bonds; and (d) 
to cause the ad valorem taxes to be levied and collected to pay the Bonds in the manner provided 
by law. 


2. The Resolution was duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of Directors of 
the District which was called and held pursuant to law and with all required notice and in 
accordance with all applicable open meetings laws and at which a quorum was present and acting 
at the time of the adoption of such Resolution. The Resolution has not been modified, amended or 
rescinded since the date of its adoption, and the Resolution is in full force and effect on the date 
hereof. 


3. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the 
District and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the District enforceable in 
accordance with their terms. 


4. The District Documents have been duly authorized, executed and delivered 
by the District, and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties 
thereto, constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the District enforceable in accordance 
with their respective terms. 







 


 Appendix D-3 
 


5. No authorization, approval, consent or other order of the State of California 
or any other governmental authority or agency within the State of California having jurisdiction 
over the District is required for the valid authorization, execution, delivery and the performance 
by the District of the District Documents to which the District is a party, or the Official Statement 
or for the adoption of the Resolution which has not been obtained. 


6. The statements contained under the captions “THE 2020 BONDS – 
Authority for Issuance,” “SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE 2020 BONDS,” 
“ABSENCE OF MATERIAL LITIGATION,” and in APPENDIX A – “SAN FRANCISCO BAY 
AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION” in the 
Preliminary Official Statement, as of its date and as of the date of the Bond Purchase Agreement 
(excluding any information permitted to be omitted pursuant to Rule 15c2-12), and in the Official 
Statement as of its date and as of the Closing Date, are true and correct and do not contain any 
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or 
necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading; provided that no opinion is expressed with respect to any financial, 
demographic or statistical information or data contained therein. 


7. To the best of my knowledge after diligent inquiry, there is no litigation, 
proceeding, action, suit or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, regulatory 
agency, governmental authority or body, pending or threatened against the District (i) challenging 
the creation, organization or existence of the District or the titles of its officers to their respective 
offices, or (ii) seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance or payment of the Bonds, or (iii) in any 
way contesting or affecting the validity of the Bonds or the District Documents or contesting the 
authority of the District to enter into or perform its obligations under any of the District 
Documents, or (iv) under which a determination adverse to the District would have a material 
adverse impact upon the transactions contemplated by the District Documents, the financial 
condition of the District or the ability of the District to maintain and operate the System, or (v) 
which affects the right or ability of the District to levy and collect or cause to be levied and 
collected the ad valorem taxes securing the Bonds, or (vi) contesting the completeness, accuracy 
or use of the Official Statement or asserting that the Official Statement contains an untrue 
statement of a material fact or omitted to state any material fact required to be stated therein or 
necessary to make the statement therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading. 


8. Based upon the information provided to me in the course of my participation 
in the preparation of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement and without 
having undertaken to determine independently the accuracy or completeness of the statements 
contained in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, I have no reason to 
believe that the Preliminary Official Statement (except for the information permitted to be omitted 
pursuant to Rule 15c2-12) as of the date of the Preliminary Official Statement and as of the date 
of the Bond Purchase Agreement or the Official Statement as of its date and as of the date hereof 
contained or contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted or omits to state any 
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light 
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 







 


 Appendix D-4 
 


9. The District has consented to the use of the Preliminary Official Statement 
in connection with the sale of the Bonds and has approved the Official Statement and authorized 
its distribution. 


10. The adoption of the Resolution and the execution and delivery by the 
District of the Bonds and the District Documents, and compliance with the provisions thereof, do 
not in any material respect conflict with or constitute on the part of the District a breach or default 
under any agreement or other instrument to which the District is a party (and of which such counsel 
is aware after reasonable investigation), or by which it is bound (and of which such counsel is 
aware after reasonable investigation), or, any existing law, regulation, court order or consent 
decree to which the District is subject (and of which such counsel is aware after reasonable 
investigation) (except that no opinion is expressed by such counsel with respect to federal 
securities laws or any federal, state or local tax law). 


I express no opinion as to any matter other than as expressly set forth above.  Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, I specifically express no opinion as to the status of the 
Bonds or the interest thereon or the District Documents under any federal securities laws or any 
state securities or “Blue Sky” law or any federal, state or local tax law.  Further, I express no 
opinion with respect to any indemnification, contribution, liquidated damages, penalty (including 
any remedy deemed to constitute a penalty), choice of law, choice of forum, choice of venue, 
waiver or severability provisions contained in the District Documents and I express no opinion on 
the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of California and the United States of America. 


This opinion is delivered to each of the addressees listed above and is solely for their benefit 
and is not to be used, circulated, quoted, or otherwise referred to or relied upon by any other person 
or for any other purpose; provided, however, that this opinion may be included in the transcript of 
closing documents prepared in connection with this financing. 


Very truly yours, 


Matthew Burrows, Esq. 
General Counsel 







 


 Appendix D-6 
 


Schedule I 
 


LIST OF UNDERWRITERS 


J.P. Morgan Securities LLC  
Goldman Sachs & Co. 


 
 


Barclays Capital Inc. Blaylock Van, LLC 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 


 







OHS DRAFT: 07/15/20 


 4156-2373-9941.1 
 


CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 


This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (this “Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and 
delivered by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “Issuer”) and U.S. Bank 
National Association, as dissemination agent (the “Dissemination Agent”), in connection with the 
issuance of $__________ aggregate principal amount of San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit 
District General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 Series C-1 (Green Bonds) and 2020 
Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) (together, the “2020 Bonds”).  The 2020 Bonds are 
being issued pursuant to Resolution No. [____], adopted by the Board of Directors of the Issuer 
on [July 23], 2020, and according to the terms and in the manner set forth in the Trust Agreement, 
dated as of June 1, 2017, as supplemented by the First Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated as of 
August 1, 2019, and as further supplemented by the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated 
as of August 1, 2020 (as supplemented, the “Trust Agreement”), each between the Issuer and U.S. 
Bank National Association, as Trustee (the “Trustee”).  The Issuer and the Dissemination Agent 
covenant and agree as follows: 


SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.  This Disclosure Agreement is being 
executed and delivered by the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent for the benefit of the Holders 
and the Beneficial Owners (as hereinafter defined) of the 2020 Bonds and in order to assist the 
Participating Underwriters (as hereinafter defined) in complying with Securities and Exchange 
Commission Rule 15c2-12(b)(5). 


SECTION 2. Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in the Trust Agreement, 
which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement and not otherwise defined 
in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 


“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as 
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. 


“Beneficial Owner” shall mean any person which has or shares the power, directly or 
indirectly, to make investment decisions concerning ownership of any 2020 Bonds (including 
persons holding 2020 Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries). 


“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the Controller/Treasurer of the Issuer or his 
designee, or such other officer or employee of the Issuer as the Controller/Treasurer of the Issuer 
shall designate in writing to the Trustee and the Dissemination Agent from time to time. 


“Dissemination Agent” shall mean U.S. Bank National Association, acting in its capacity 
as Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing 
by the Issuer and which has filed with the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation. 


“Financial Obligation” shall mean, for purposes of the Listed Events set out in Section 
5(a)(10) and 5(b)(8), a (i) debt obligation; (ii) derivative instrument entered into in connection 
with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or 
(iii) guarantee of (i) or (ii). The term “Financial Obligation” shall not include municipal securities 
(as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as to which a final official 
statement (as defined in the Rule) has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule. 







 4156-2373-9941.1 
 


“Holder” shall mean the person in whose name any 2020 Bond shall be registered. 


“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) or (b) of this Disclosure 
Agreement. 


“MSRB” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board or any other entity 
designated or authorized by the SEC to receive reports pursuant to the Rule.  Until otherwise 
designated by the MSRB or the SEC, filings with the MSRB are to be made through the Electronic 
Municipal Market Access (EMMA) website of the MSRB, currently located at 
http://emma.msrb.org. 


“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the 2020 Bonds 
required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the 2020 Bonds. 


“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time 
to time. 


“SEC” shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor agency 
thereto. 


“State” shall mean the State of California. 


SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Reports. 


(a) The Issuer shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than eight (8) 
months after the end of the Issuer’s fiscal year (presently June 30), commencing with the Annual 
Report for the fiscal year of the Issuer ending June 30, 2020, provide to the MSRB an Annual 
Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.  Each 
Annual Report must be submitted in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying 
information as is prescribed by the MSRB, and may include by reference other information as 
provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement; provided that the audited financial statements 
of the Issuer may be submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report and later than the 
date required above for the filing of the Annual Report if they are not available by that date.  
Neither the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent shall have any duties or responsibilities with 
respect to the contents of the Annual Report.  If the Issuer’s fiscal year changes, it shall give notice 
of such change in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(e). 


(b) Not later than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the date specified in subsection 
(a) for providing the Annual Report to the MSRB, the Issuer shall provide the Annual Report to 
the Dissemination Agent.  If by such date, the Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the 
Annual Report, the Dissemination Agent shall contact the Issuer to determine if the Issuer is in 
compliance with the first sentence of this subsection (b). 


(c) If the Dissemination Agent is unable to verify that an Annual Report has been 
provided to the MSRB by the date required in subsection (a), the Dissemination Agent shall send 
a notice, in electronic format, to the MSRB, such notice to be in substantially the form attached as 
Exhibit A. 







 4156-2373-9941.1 
 


(d) If the Annual Report is delivered to the Dissemination Agent for filing, the 
Dissemination Agent shall file a report with the Issuer certifying that the Annual Report has been 
provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement and stating the date it was provided. 


SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports.  The Annual Report shall contain or include by 
reference the following: 


(a) The audited financial statements of the Issuer for the prior fiscal year, prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as promulgated to apply to 
governmental entities from time to time by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.  If the 
Issuer’s audited financial statements are not available by the time the Annual Report is required to 
be filed pursuant to Section 3(a), the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial statements 
in a format similar to the financial statements contained in the Official Statement, dated 
__________, 2020, relating to the 2020 Bonds (the “Official Statement”), and the audited financial 
statements shall be filed in the same manner as the Annual Report when such audited financial 
statements become available. 


(b) An update (as of the most recently ended fiscal year of the Issuer) for the table set 
forth in the Official Statement under the caption “Debt Service Schedules” and an update for the 
tables entitled “San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Assessed Valuation” and “San 
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Secured Tax Charges and Delinquencies,” each set forth 
in the Official Statement under the caption “Security and Source of Payment for the 2020 Bonds.” 


Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other 
documents, including official statements of debt issues of the Issuer or related public entities, 
which have been filed with the MSRB or the SEC.  If the document included by reference is a final 
official statement, it must be available from the MSRB.  The Issuer shall clearly identify each such 
other document so included by reference. 


SECTION 5. Reporting of Significant Events. 


(a) Pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5, the Issuer shall give, or cause 
to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the 2020 Bonds 
not later than ten business days after the occurrence of the event: 


1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 


2. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial 
difficulties; 


3. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 


4. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 


5. Adverse tax opinions or issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 
proposed or final determination of taxability or of a Notice of Proposed 
Issue (IRS Form 5701 TEB); 







 4156-2373-9941.1 
 


6. Tender offers; 


7. Defeasances; 


8. Rating changes; 


9. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated 
person; 


10. Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or 
other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the 
District, any of which reflect financial difficulties. 


Note: for the purposes of the event identified in subparagraph (9), the event is considered to occur 
when any of the following occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for 
an obligated person in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding 
under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over 
substantially all of the assets or business of the obligated person, or if such jurisdiction has been 
assumed by leaving the existing governmental body and officials or officers in possession but 
subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order 
confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental 
authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the 
obligated person. 


(b) The Issuer shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the 
following events with respect to the 2020 Bonds, if material, not later than ten business days after 
the occurrence of the event: 


1. Unless described in paragraph 5(a)(5), other material notices or 
determinations by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to the tax status 
of the 2020 Bonds or other material events affecting the tax status of the 
2020 Bonds; 


2. Modifications to rights of bond holders; 


3. Optional, unscheduled or contingent bond calls; 


4. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 2020 
Bonds; 


5. Non-payment related defaults; 


6. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an 
obligated person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the 
obligated person, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry 
into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination 
of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant 
to its terms; 







 4156-2373-9941.1 
 


7. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of 
a trustee; or 


8. Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the District, or agreement to 
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms 
of a Financial Obligation of the District, any of which affect security 
holders. 


(c) The Issuer shall give, or cause to be given, in a timely manner, notice of a failure 
to provide the annual financial information on or before the date specified in Section 3, as 
provided in Section 3(b). 


(d) Whenever the Issuer obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event 
described in Section 5(b), the Issuer shall determine if such event would be material under 
applicable federal securities laws. 


(e) If the Issuer learns of the occurrence of a Listed Event described in Section 5(a), or 
determines that knowledge of a Listed Event described in Section 5(b) would be material 
under applicable federal securities laws, the Issuer shall within ten business days of the 
occurrence file a notice of such occurrence with the MSRB in electronic format, 
accompanied by such identifying information as is prescribed by the MSRB.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of the Listed Event described in subsection (b)(3) 
need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying 
event is given to Holders of affected 2020 Bonds pursuant to the Resolution. 


(f) The District intends to comply with the Listed Events described in Section 5(a)(10) 
and Section 5(b)(8), and the definition of “Financial Obligation” in Section 1, with 
reference to the Rule, any other applicable federal securities laws and the guidance 
provided by the Commission in its Release No. 34-83885 dated August 20, 2018 (the “2018 
Release”), and any further amendments or written guidance provided by the Commission 
or its staff with respect to the amendments to the Rule effected by the 2018 Release. 


SECTION 6. Format for Filings with MSRB.  Any report or filing with the MSRB 
pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement must be submitted in electronic format, accompanied by 
such identifying information as is prescribed by the MSRB. 


SECTION 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The obligations of the Issuer and the 
Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, 
prior redemption or payment in full of all of the 2020 Bonds.  If such termination occurs prior to 
the final maturity of the 2020 Bonds, the Issuer shall give notice of such termination in the same 
manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(e). 


SECTION 8. Dissemination Agent.  The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage 
a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, 
and may discharge such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor 
Dissemination Agent.  The Dissemination Agent may resign by providing thirty (30) days written 
notice to the Issuer.  The Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible in any manner for the form 
or content of any notice or report prepared by the Issuer pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement.   







 4156-2373-9941.1 
 


SECTION 9. Amendment; Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent may amend this Disclosure 
Agreement (and the Dissemination Agent shall agree to any amendment so requested by the Issuer, 
provided the Dissemination Agent shall not be obligated to enter into any such amendment that 
modifies or increases its duties or obligations hereunder), and any provision of this Disclosure 
Agreement may be waived, provided that the following conditions are satisfied: 


(a) If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4, 5(a) or 
5(b), it may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change 
in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature or status of an obligated 
person with respect to the 2020 Bonds, or the type of business conducted; 


(b) This Disclosure Agreement, as amended or taking into account such waiver, would, 
in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the 
Rule at the time of the original issuance of the 2020 Bonds, after taking into account any 
amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and 


(c) The amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by the Owners of the 2020 Bonds 
in the same manner as provided in the Trust Agreement for amendments to the Trust Agreement 
with the consent of Owners, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, 
materially impair the interests of the Owners or Beneficial Owners of the 2020 Bonds. 


In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the 
Issuer shall describe such amendment in the next Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, 
a narrative explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or, 
in the case of a change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of financial information or 
operating data being presented by the Issuer.  In addition, if the amendment relates to the 
accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, (i) notice of such change 
shall be given in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(e), and (ii) the Annual 
Report for the year in which the change is made should present a comparison (in narrative form 
and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the financial statements as prepared on the basis 
of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting 
principles. 


SECTION 10. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be 
deemed to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means of 
dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or 
including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in 
addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Agreement.  If the Issuer chooses to include 
any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that 
which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer shall have no obligation 
under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any future Annual 
Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event. 


SECTION 11. Default.  In the event of a failure of the Issuer or the Dissemination Agent 
to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Trustee, at the written request of 
any Participating Underwriter or the Owners of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of 







 4156-2373-9941.1 
 


Outstanding 2020 Bonds, shall, but only to the extent funds in an amount satisfactory to the Trustee 
have been provided to it or it has been otherwise indemnified to its satisfaction from any cost, 
liability, expense or additional charges and fees of the Trustee whatsoever, including, without 
limitation, fees and expenses of its attorneys, or any Owner or Beneficial Owner of the 2020 
Bonds, may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or 
specific performance by court order, to cause the Issuer or the Dissemination Agent, as the case 
may be, to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement.  A default under this 
Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Trust Agreement, and 
the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any failure of the Issuer or the 
Dissemination Agent to comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel 
performance. 


SECTION 12. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Trustee and Dissemination Agent.  
Article VII of the Trust Agreement is hereby made applicable to this Disclosure Agreement as if 
this Disclosure Agreement were (solely for this purpose) contained in the Trust Agreement and 
the Trustee and the Dissemination Agent shall be entitled to the protections, limitations from 
liability and indemnities afforded the Trustee thereunder.  The Dissemination Agent shall have 
only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Agreement, and the Issuer agrees to 
indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent and the Trustee and their officers, directors, 
employees and agents, harmless against any loss, expense and liabilities which they may incur 
arising out of or in the exercise or performance of their powers and duties hereunder, including the 
costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but 
excluding liabilities due to the Trustee’s or the Dissemination Agent’s negligence or willful 
misconduct.  The Dissemination Agent shall be paid compensation by the Issuer for its services 
provided hereunder in accordance with its schedule of fees as amended from time to time and all 
expenses, legal fees and advances made or incurred by the Dissemination Agent in the performance 
of its duties hereunder.  The obligations of the Issuer under this Section shall survive resignation 
or removal of the Trustee or the Dissemination Agent and payment of the 2020 Bonds.  The 
Dissemination Agent has no power to enforce performance on the part of the Issuer under this 
Disclosure Agreement. 


The Dissemination Agent agrees to accept and act upon instructions or directions pursuant 
to this Disclosure Agreement sent by unsecured e-mail, facsimile transmission or other similar 
unsecured electronic methods, provided, however, that, the Dissemination Agent shall have 
received an incumbency certificate listing persons designated to give such instructions or 
directions and containing specimen signatures of such designated persons, which such incumbency 
certificate shall be amended and replaced whenever a person is to be added or deleted from the 
listing.  If the Issuer elects to give the Dissemination Agent e-mail or facsimile instructions (or 
instructions by a similar electronic method) and the Dissemination Agent acts upon such 
instructions, the Dissemination Agent’s understanding of such instructions shall be deemed 
controlling.  The Dissemination Agent shall not be liable for any losses, costs or expenses arising 
directly or indirectly from the Dissemination Agent’s reliance upon and compliance with such 
instructions notwithstanding such instructions conflict or are inconsistent with a subsequent 
written instruction.  The Issuer agrees: (i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of such 
electronic methods to submit instructions and directions to the Dissemination Agent, including 
without limitation the risk of the Dissemination Agent acting on unauthorized instructions, and the 
risk of interception and misuse by third parties; (ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and 







 4156-2373-9941.1 
 


risks associated with the various methods of transmitting instructions to the Dissemination Agent 
and that there may be more secure methods of transmitting instructions than the method(s) selected 
by the Issuer; and (iii)  that the security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with its 
transmission of instructions provide to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light 
of its particular needs and circumstances. 


SECTION 13. Notices.  Any notices or communications to or among any of the parties to 
this Disclosure Agreement may be given as follows: 


(i) If to the Issuer: 
 San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District  
 300 Lakeside Drive 
 Oakland, California  94612-3534 
 Attention:  Controller/Treasurer 
 Telephone: (510) 464-6070 
 Fax:  (510) 464-6011 


(ii) If to the Dissemination Agent: 
 U.S. Bank National Association 


One California Street, Suite 1000 
San Francisco, California  94111 
Attention: Global Corporate Trust 
Telephone: (415) 677-3596 
Fax:  (415) 677-3769 


 
Any person may, by written notice to the other persons listed above, designate a different 


address or telephone number(s) to which subsequent notices or communications should be sent.  
Notices may also be given by electronic means. 


SECTION 14. Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit 
of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriters and Holders 
and Beneficial Owners from time to time of the 2020 Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other 
person or entity. 


SECTION 15. Governing Law.  This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed under the 
laws of the State of California. 


 







 4156-2373-9941.1 
 


SECTION 16. Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 


 Date: __________, 2020. 


SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID 
   TRANSIT DISTRICT 


 
 
 
 By   
  Controller/Treasurer 
 
 
 
 


U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
     as Dissemination Agent 
 
 
 
 By  
  Authorized Officer 







 4156-2373-9941.1 
 


Exhibit A 
 


NOTICE TO MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING BOARD OF 
FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 


 
Name of Issuer: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
Name of Bond Issue: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 


General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 
Series C-1 (Green Bonds) 
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016), 2020 
Series C-2 (Federally Taxable) (Green Bonds) 
 
 


Date of Issuance of Bonds: __________, 2020 
 
 


NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the 
“Issuer”) has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the above-named Bonds as required 
by Section 3(a) of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated ______________, 2020, between 
the Issuer and U.S. Bank National Association, as dissemination agent.  [The Issuer anticipates 
that the Annual Report will be filed by _______.]   


Dated:____________________ 
       U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
 as Dissemination Agent on behalf of the San 
 Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
 
cc:  Issuer 
 


 
 





		(1)  Preliminary Official Statement

		INTRODUCTION

		PLAN OF FINANCE

		ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS5F*

		DESIGNATION AS GREEN BONDS / CLIMATE BOND CERTIFIED

		THE 2020 BONDS

		Purpose and Application of Proceeds

		Authority for Issuance

		Description of the 2020 Bonds

		Book-Entry-Only System

		Payments, Transfers and Exchanges Upon Abandonment of Book-Entry-Only System

		Redemption Provisions6F*

		Defeasance



		DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULES

		SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE 2020 BONDS

		General

		Property Taxation System

		Assessed Valuation of Property Within the District



		San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District

		Assessed Valuation  (Fiscal Years Ending June 30)

		San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District

		2019-20 Assessed Valuation by Jurisdiction

		The following table shows the local secured assessed valuation and number of parcels by land use category for property in the District for Fiscal Year 2019-20.

		San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District

		Assessed Valuation and Parcels by Land Use

		Tax Rates, Collections and Delinquencies

		Teeter Plans

		Largest Taxpayers in the District

		Taxation of State-Assessed Utility Property

		Direct and Overlapping Debt Report



		CONSTITUTIONAL LIMITATIONS

		Limitations on Tax Revenues

		Expenditures and Appropriations

		Prohibitions on Diverting Local Revenues for State Purposes

		Future Initiatives



		INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS

		Economy of the Three BART Counties and the State

		Risk of Earthquake

		Climate Change

		Infectious Disease Outbreak

		Other Force Majeure Events

		Limitation on Remedies

		No Acceleration Provision

		Loss of Tax Exemption

		Green Bonds Sustainability

		Reassessments and Appeals of Assessed Values

		Cyber Security Risk

		Threats and Acts of Terrorism

		Potential Labor Disruptions



		Citizens’ Oversight Committee

		LEGAL MATTERS

		TAX MATTERS

		The 2020C-1 Bonds

		The 2020C-2 Bonds



		ABSENCE OF MATERIAL LITIGATION

		RATINGS

		MUNICIPAL ADVISOR

		CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

		UNDERWRITING

		FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

		MISCELLANEOUS

		A

		B

		C

		D

		E

		F

		G

		H





		(1.A)  Appendix A

		SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

		General Description of the District

		Powers of the District

		Administration

		Litigation



		THE BART SYSTEM

		General Description

		Revenue Hours

		Ridership

		Passenger Fares

		Parking Programs

		Power Supply



		BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS

		Sources of Funds

		General Obligation Bonds

		Sales Tax Revenue Bonds

		Rail Vehicle Replacement Program

		Earthquake Safety Program

		System Renewal Program and System Reinvestment Program

		System Expansion Program

		Security Enhancement Program

		Service and Capacity Enhancement Program

		BART Headquarters Acquisition and Improvement

		Funding Developments



		DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION

		Financial Statements

		Historical Financial Results

		Management’s Discussion of Historical Financial Results

		Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2019-20 and Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-21

		Risk Management and Insurance

		Investment Policy

		Labor Relations and Employee Retirement Benefits

		Money Purchase Pension Plan

		Other Postretirement Benefits





		(2)  Second Supplemental Trust Agreement

		SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENT (MEASURE RR)

		between the

		SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

		and

		U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

		Dated as of August 1, 2020

		Relating to the

		SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS (ELECTION OF 2016) 2020 SERIES C-1 (GREEN BONDS)  and  SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS (ELECTION OF 2016) 2020 SERIES C-2 (FEDERALLY TAXABLE...

		SECOND supplemental TRUST AGREEMENT (MEASURE RR)

		W I T N E S S E T H:

		ARTICLE XVII   DEFINITIONS

		SECTION 17.01 Definitions.

		(a) Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, or as otherwise provided in subsection (b) of this Section, all terms that are defined in the Trust Agreement shall have the same meanings, respectively, in this Second Supplemental Trust Agreem...

		(b) Additional Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall, for all purposes of this Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, have the following meanings:



		SECTION 17.02 Rules of Construction



		ARTICLE XVIII   AUTHORIZATION AND TERMS OF THE 2020C BONDS

		SECTION 18.01 Authorization and Terms of the 2020C Bonds

		(a) 2020C-1 Bonds.  The 2020C-1 Bonds shall be issued for the purpose of providing funds to pay costs of the Project and to pay Costs of Issuance for the 2020C Bonds.  The 2020C-1 Bonds shall be issued by the District under and subject to the terms of...

		(b) 2020C-2 Bonds.  The 2020C-2 Bonds shall be issued for the purpose of providing funds to pay costs of the Project and to pay Costs of Issuance for the 2020C Bonds.  The 2020C-2 Bonds shall be issued by the District under and subject to the terms of...

		(c) The principal and any premium of the 2020C Bonds (and interest on the 2020C-2 Bonds)  shall be payable, on the maturity date thereof or the date such Bond is called for redemption, in lawful money of the United States of America to the Owner there...

		(d) Payment of the interest on any Bond shall be made by check or draft mailed by first class mail to such Owner at such Owner’s address as it appears on such registration books or at such address as the Owner may have filed with the Trustee for that ...



		SECTION 18.02 Form and Registration of 2020C Bonds

		(b) The 2020C Bonds when issued shall be registered in the name of “Cede & Co.,” as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, and shall be initially issued as one bond for each of the maturities and interest rate of the 2020C Bonds,...

		(c) The Trustee is hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver each Series of Bonds, including the 2020C Bonds, to or upon the Request of the District.





		ARTICLE XIX   ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS AND APPLICATION THEREOF

		SECTION 19.01 Application of Proceeds of Sale of the Bonds

		(i) $__________ to the 2020C-1 Project Account, which the Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust within the Project Fund established pursuant to Section 3.03 of the Trust Agreement;

		(ii) $__________ to the 2020C-2 Project Account, which the Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust within the Project Fund established pursuant to Section 3.03 of the Trust Agreement;

		(iii) $__________ to the 2020C Costs of Issuance Fund established pursuant to Section 19.02 hereof; and

		(iv) $__________ to the 2020C Account in the Interest and Sinking Fund established pursuant to Section 19.03 hereof.



		SECTION 19.02 Establishment and Application of the 2020C Costs of Issuance Fund

		SECTION 19.03 Establishment and Application of 2020C Account



		ARTICLE XX   REDEMPTION OF 2020C BONDS

		SECTION 20.01 Optional Redemption

		(b) The 2020C-2 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to their maturity date.



		SECTION 20.02 Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.

		(a) The 2020C-1 Term Bonds maturing on August 1, 20__, are also subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on August 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal amounts as set forth in the following schedule, at a redemption price equal t...

		(b) The 2020C-1 Term Bonds maturing on August 1, 20__, are also subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on August 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal amounts as set forth in the following schedule, at a redemption price equal t...

		(c) The 2020C-1 Term Bonds maturing on August 1, 20__, are also subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on August 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal amounts as set forth in the following schedule, at a redemption price equal t...

		(d) The principal amount of each mandatory sinking fund payment of any maturity shall be reduced as specified by the District, in $5,000 increments, by the amount of any 2020C-1 Bonds of that maturity optionally redeemed prior to the mandatory sinking...

		(e) Notice of redemption shall be given as provided in Section 4.01 of the Trust Agreement.





		ARTICLE XXI   MISCELLANEOUS

		SECTION 21.01 Terms of 2020C Bonds Subject to Trust Agreement

		SECTION 21.02 Severability

		SECTION 21.03 Parties Interested Herein

		SECTION 21.04 Headings Not Binding

		SECTION 21.05 Notices to Rating Agencies

		(1) Change in Trustee;

		(2) Amendments to the Trust Agreement; and

		(3) Redemption or defeasance of the 2020C Bonds.



		SECTION 21.06 Trust Agreement to Remain in Effect

		SECTION 21.07 Effective Date of Second Supplemental Trust Agreement

		SECTION 21.08 Execution in Counterparts



		EXHIBIT A  FORM OF BOND

		CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION AND REGISTRATION

		DTC LEGEND

		ASSIGNMENT



		(3)  Bond Purchase Agreement

		1. Purchase and Sale.  Upon the terms and conditions and in reliance upon the representations, warranties and agreements set forth herein, the Underwriters hereby agree to purchase from the Issuer, and the Issuer hereby agrees to sell and deliver to o...

		The Issuer agrees and acknowledges that: (i) with respect to the engagement of the Underwriters by the Issuer, for the purchase, sale and offering of the 2020 Bonds, and the discussions, conferences, negotiations and undertakings in connection there...

		2. The 2020 Bonds.

		The 2020 Bonds shall be issued in accordance with the Trust Agreement (Measure RR), dated as of June 1, 2017, as supplemented to the date hereof (the “Original RR Trust Agreement”), as further supplemented by a Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, dat...

		The purchase price for the 2020 Bonds shall be $_____________, representing the aggregate principal amount of the 2020 Bonds (i.e., $____________), less an Underwriters’ discount of $___________, plus [net] original issue premium of $_____________. Th...

		The proceeds of the 2020 Bonds will be used and applied by the Issuer in accordance with the provisions of the Measure RR Trust Agreement to (i) finance projects approved by Measure RR and (ii) pay costs of issuance of the 2020 Bonds; and  premium on ...

		The 2020 Bonds are general obligations of the Issuer, payable from and secured solely by ad valorem taxes upon all property subject to taxation by the Issuer, without limitation as to rate or amount (except as to certain personal property, which is ta...

		In connection with the issuance of the 2020 Bonds, the Issuer will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated the date of delivery of the 2020 Bonds (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”) with U.S. Bank National Association, as dissemination...

		3. Public Offering.  The Underwriters agree to make a bona fide public offering of all of the 2020 Bonds at prices not to exceed the public offering prices set forth on the inside cover of the Official Statement and Appendix A hereto and may subsequen...

		4. Delivery of Official Statement.  The Issuer has heretofore delivered to the Underwriters a Preliminary Official Statement, dated ________, 2020, relating to the 2020 Bonds (which together with the cover page and all appendices thereto and as amende...

		The Issuer shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Underwriters, within seven (7) business days from the date hereof, copies of the Official Statement relating to the 2020 Bonds, dated the date of this Purchase Agreement, executed on behalf of a...

		The Representative hereby agrees to deliver a copy of the Official Statement to the MSRB through the Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) website of the MSRB.

		5. Representations, Warranties and Agreements of the Issuer. The Issuer hereby represents, warrants and agrees as follows:

		a) The Issuer is a public body corporate and politic, organized and existing under the laws of the State of California, including Sections 28500 to 29757, inclusive, of the Public Utilities Code of the State of California, with full right, power and a...

		b) By all necessary official action of the Issuer prior to or concurrently with the acceptance hereof, the Issuer has duly authorized all necessary action to be taken by it for: (i) the adoption of the Resolution and the issuance and sale of the 2020 ...

		c) All authorizations, approvals, licenses, permits, consents and orders of any governmental authority, legislative body, board, agency or commission having jurisdiction of the matter which are required for the due authorization of, which would consti...

		d) This Purchase Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by and will constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Issuer, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, morato...

		e) The other Issuer Documents, when duly executed and delivered, will constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Issuer, enforceable in, accordance with their respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium,...

		f) The 2020 Bonds, when issued, delivered and paid for, in accordance with the Resolution and this Purchase Agreement, will have been duly authorized, executed, issued and delivered by the Issuer and will constitute the valid and binding obligations o...

		g) The issuance and delivery of the 2020 Bonds and execution and delivery of the other Issuer Documents, and the adoption of the Resolution, and compliance with the provisions on the Issuer's part contained herein and therein, will not conflict with o...

		h) The Issuer is not in breach of or default under any applicable constitutional provision, law or administrative regulation of the State of California or the United States relating to the issuance of the 2020 Bonds or any applicable judgment or decre...

		i) The 2020 Bonds and the Resolution conform to the descriptions thereof contained in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement; and the proceeds of the sale of the 2020 Bonds will be applied generally as described in the Prelimina...

		j) The Preliminary Official Statement, as of its date and as of the date hereof, except for the Excluded Information, did not and does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein o...

		k) Except to the extent disclosed in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, there is no litigation, action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, before or by any court, government agency, public boar...

		l) The Issuer will furnish such information, execute such instruments and take such other action in cooperation with the Underwriters as the Representative may reasonably request in order to: (i) (A) qualify the 2020 Bonds for offer and sale under the...

		n) If between the date hereof and the date which is 25 days after the End of the Underwriting Period (as defined in Section 7 herein) for the 2020 Bonds, an event occurs which would cause the information contained in the Official Statement (excluding ...

		o) If the information contained in the Official Statement is amended or supplemented pursuant to Section 5(n) above, at the time of each supplement or amendment thereto and (unless subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to such subparagra...

		p) Except as described in the Official Statement, the Issuer has not failed during the previous five (5) years to comply in any material respect with any previous undertakings in a written continuing disclosure certificate or agreement under Rule 15c2...

		r) The Issuer has no current intention to, and will not, prior to the Closing Date, offer or issue bonds, notes or other obligations for borrowed money or incur any material liabilities, direct or contingent, except in the ordinary course of business,...

		s) The Issuer is not presently, and as a result of the sale of the 2020 Bonds will not be, in violation of any debt limitation, appropriation limitation or any similar restrictive provision of the California Constitution or statutes;

		t) The Issuer has the legal authority to apply and will apply, or cause to be applied, the proceeds from the sale of the 2020 Bonds as provided in, and subject to all of the terms and provisions of the Resolution, including for payment or reimbursemen...



		7. End of Underwriting Period.  The term “End of the Underwriting Period” referred to in this Purchase Agreement shall mean the earlier of (i) the Closing Date, unless the Issuer has been notified in writing by the Representative, on or prior to the C...

		8. Closing.  At 8:00 a.m., California time, on _________, 2020 or at such earlier or later time or date as shall be mutually agreed upon by the Issuer and the Representative (such time and date being herein referred to as the “Closing Date”), the Issu...

		9. Closing Conditions to the Obligations of the Underwriters.  The Underwriters have entered into this Purchase Agreement in reliance upon the representations and warranties of the Issuer contained herein, and the representations and warranties of the...

		(a) The Underwriters shall receive, prior to the Closing Date and at least in sufficient time to accompany any orders or confirmations that request payment from any customer, copies of the Official Statement, in such reasonable quantity as the Underwr...

		(b) On the Closing Date, the Issuer Documents shall have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the respective parties thereto and shall be in full force and effect, and the Official Statement shall have been duly authorized, executed and del...

		(c) The Underwriters shall have the right to terminate or, subject to agreement by the Issuer, delay without liability, by notification to Issuer, the Underwriters’ obligations hereunder to purchase, to accept delivery of and to pay for the 2020 Bonds...

		(1) the market price of marketability of the 2020 Bonds, or the ability of the Underwriters to enforce contracts for the sale of the 2020 Bonds shall be materially adversely affected by any of the following events:

		(i)(A) Legislation enacted by or introduced in the Congress of the United States or recommended to the Congress for passage by the President of the United States, or the Treasury Department of the United States or the Internal Revenue Service or favor...

		(ii) There shall have occurred: (A) any new outbreak of hostilities (including, without limitation, an act of terrorism); (B) the escalation of hostilities existing prior to the date hereof; (C) any other extraordinary event, material national or inte...

		(iii) A general suspension of trading in securities on the New York Stock Exchange or any other major securities exchange, the establishment of minimum or maximum prices on any such national securities exchange, the establishment of material restricti...

		(iv) Legislation introduced in or enacted (or resolution passed) by the Congress or an order, decree, or injunction issued by any court of competent jurisdiction, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, temporary, or proposed), press release or other ...

		(v) There shall have occurred any downgrading or published negative credit watch or similar published information, from a rating agency that at the date hereof has published a rating on any of the Issuer’s debt obligations (or has been asked to furnis...

		(2) Any event occurring, circumstance existing or information becoming known which, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriters, makes untrue or incorrect in any material respect any statement or information contained in the Official Statement, or ...

		(3) A general banking moratorium shall have been declared by federal, State of New York or State of California authorities having jurisdiction and shall be in force;

		(4) There shall have occurred since the date of this Purchase Agreement any materially adverse change in the operations, affairs or financial condition of the Issuer, except for changes which the Official Statement discloses are expected to occur;

		(5) A material disruption in securities settlement, payment or clearance services shall have occurred; and

		(6) A decision by a court of the United States shall be rendered, or a stop order, release, regulation or no-action letter by or on behalf of the Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental agency having jurisdiction of the subject ma...

		(d) On or prior to the Closing Date, the Underwriters shall have received a copy of each of the following documents:

		(1) Two copies of each of the Issuer Documents (except the 2020 Bonds), each duly executed and delivered by the respective parties thereto;

		(2) The approving opinion, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Issuer, of Bond Counsel in substantially the form attached to the Preliminary Official Statement as Appendix G, and letters of such counsel in the customary form, dated the Closing...

		(3) The supplemental opinion, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriters, of Bond Counsel, substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix C;

		(4) The opinion of counsel to the Trustee, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriters and the Issuer, in a form acceptable to Underwriters’ Counsel (defined herein) and Bond Counsel;

		(5) The opinion of counsel to the Issuer, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriters, substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix D;

		(6) The opinion, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriters, of Curls Bartling P.C., Oakland, California, counsel for the Underwriters (“Underwriters’ Counsel”) to the effect that: (i) the 2020 Bonds are exempt from registration under th...



		(7) A certificate or certificates, dated the Closing Date signed by a duly authorized official of the Issuer, in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriters, to the effect that: (i) the representations and warranties of the Issuer contained in...

		(8) A certificate of U.S. Bank National Association as the Trustee, and dissemination agent, dated the Closing Date, signed by a duly authorized official of the Trustee, satisfactory in form and substance to the Underwriters, to the effect that: (i) i...

		(9) A certified copy of the general resolution of by-laws of the Trustee authorizing the execution and delivery of the Measure RR Trust Agreement;

		(10) The Preliminary Official Statement, a certificate pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 related to the Preliminary Official Statement signed on behalf of the Issuer by authorized representatives thereof, and the Official Statement, executed on behalf of the I...

		(11) A certified copy of the Resolution authorizing the execution and delivery of the Issuer Documents, the Official Statement and the issuance of the 2020 Bonds;

		(12) A copy of the Blanket Letter of Representation to DTC relating to the Issuer;

		(13) Tax Certificate of the Issuer in form and substance acceptable to Bond Counsel and the Underwriters, setting forth, among other things, the use of proceeds of the Tax-Exempt Bonds, and sufficient facts, estimates and circumstances (including cove...

		(15) Evidence satisfactory to the Representative that the 2020 Bonds have been rated “____” and “_____” by S&P Global Ratings, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC business, and Moody’s Investors Service, respectively, and that all such ratings ...

		(16) Such additional legal opinions, certificates, proceedings and other documents as the Underwriters, Underwriters’ Counsel or Bond Counsel may reasonably request to evidence the truth and accuracy, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, ...

		All steps to be taken and all instruments and other documents to be executed, and all other legal matters in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Purchase Agreement shall be reasonably satisfactory in legal form and effect to the Rep...



		10. Expenses.

		(a) The Underwriters shall be under no obligation to pay, and the Issuer shall pay all expenses incident to the performance of the Issuer’s obligations hereunder, including, but not limited to: (i) the cost of preparation and printing of the 2020 Bond...

		(b) The Issuer acknowledges that it has had an opportunity, in consultation with such advisors as it may deem appropriate, if any, to evaluate and consider the fees and expenses being incurred as part of the issuance of the 2020 Bonds.

		(c) Except as provided for above, the Underwriters shall pay (from the expense component of the Underwriters’ discount): (i) the cost of preparation and printing of this Purchase Agreement and the Blue Sky Memorandum; (ii) certain advertising expenses...

		12. Parties in Interest.  This Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the Issuer and the Underwriters (including the successors or assigns of the Underwriters) and no other person shall acquire or have any right hereunder or by virtue he...

		14. Effectiveness.  This Purchase Agreement shall become effective upon the execution of the acceptance herein by a duly authorized officer of the Issuer and shall be valid and enforceable at the time of such acceptance.

		15. Governing Law.  This Purchase Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California.

		17. Headings.  The headings of the sections of this Purchase Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to be a part hereof.

		18. Counterparts.  This Purchase Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document.

		19. Entire Agreement. This Purchase Agreement, including the exhibits and appendices attached hereto, constitute the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the matters covered hereby, and supersedes all prior agreements and unders...

		Redemption Provisions



		This letter is addressed to you as underwriters (the “Underwriters”) identified in Schedule I attached hereto, pursuant to Section 9(d)(3) of the Bond Purchase Agreement, dated _________, 2020 (the “Purchase Agreement”), between you and the San Franci...

		[Closing Date]



		(4) Continuing Disclosure Agreement






OIG Activities 
Report:


January -June 2020


Integrity  Accountability  Transparency Honesty


Office of  the Inspector General







Investigation Activity:
Year to Date


Follow Up:
 M-Line Tunnel Lighting Project – Report issued in October 


2019; continuing to follow up


Fraud, Waste, and Abuse Complaints:
 One case completed and published
 Two cases completed, pending reporting
 One case in progress
 Two cases was forwarded to departments
 Eight cases were evaluated for acceptance
 Four cases held as audit leads
 Two cases declined – not fraud, waste, or abuse


2
Office of  the Inspector General







Audit Activity


Districtwide risk assessment


 Identify highest risks to prioritize areas to audit


 Use OIG resources efficiently and effectively


 Selected consultant, TAP International - $71,410


 Put on hold in March due to departments’ workload 
associated with pandemic, restarting in July


3
Office of  the Inspector General







Governance Activity


Ad-Hoc Audit Committee
 Working to establish permanent committee 
 Assists Board of Directors in meeting its fiduciary and 


oversight responsibilities


Charters
 Audit Committee
 BART Office of the Inspector General


4
Office of  the Inspector General







Foundation Activity


Hired Assistant Inspector General
 Serves second to Inspector General
 Manages and oversees activities and operations


Selected investigation case-management software and hotline provider
 ETHIX360 - $5,044 annually,  $1,500 one-time set-up fee


Created written policies and procedures and templates
 Auditing to Government Auditing Standards
 Conducting investigations to the Standards and Principles for the Offices 


of Inspector General
 Full range of complementary policies and procedures and 40 templates 


to demonstrate compliance with policies and standards


5
Office of  the Inspector General







Next Steps


Achieve expected OIG independence
 Continue to work on gaining direct access to employees 


and documentation when needed


Report to the California Legislature
Update on investigations, challenges, and all other activities 


since August 2019


Complete risk assessment and develop performance audit plan


Continue to investigate reports of fraud, waste, and abuse


6
Office of  the Inspector General







Contact


Harriet Richardson, Inspector General


300 Lakeside Drive, 18th Floor, Oakland, CA 94612


T: 510-464-6132


E: inspectorgeneral@bart.gov


www.bart.gov/about/inspector-general


7
Office of  the Inspector General


The Office of the Inspector General holds in high regard its duty to protect the public’s interests.
Integrity  Accountability  Transparency  Honesty



mailto:inspectorgeneral@bart.gov

http://www.bart.gov/about/inspector-general



		OIG Activities Report:�January -June 2020

		Investigation Activity:�Year to Date

		          Audit Activity

		          Governance Activity

		          Foundation Activity

		          Next Steps

		          Contact






Activities Report July 16, 2020 


 1 


ACTIVITIES REPORT 
JANUARY 2020 – JUNE 2020 


Office of the Inspector General 
 


 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 


 


Message from the Inspector General 


I am pleased to provide an update on the work my office has been 
doing for the last six months. We continue to build our foundation so 
that we may meet the expectations of California voters and legislators 
who desired independent oversight of taxpayer and ridership money 
funding BART operations and capital projects. While developing our 
office, we have also been working diligently to address complaints of 
suspected fraud, waste, and abuse and track management’s progress 
on the recommendations from our October 2019 investigation of the 
M-Line Tunnel Lighting Upgrade project.  


Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the Board of Director’s need to 
focus on the District’s response, I determined it best to postpone 
issuing my office’s quarterly report in April. I expect to be able to issue 
quarterly reports on schedule moving forward. However, I recognize 
that the pandemic is ongoing and, therefore, I may again need to 
adjust my report timing. In the meantime, my office will continue 
forward in conducting audits and investigations to provide for 
transparency and accountability in BART’s use of public funds in 
providing a safe, clean, reliable, and fiscally sound transit system. 


 


Fraud, Waste, and Abuse 
Investigations 


The OIG investigates indications of 
fraud, waste, or abuse regarding 
BART’s programs, operations, and 
suppliers. Employees, contractors, 
and citizens are encouraged to 
report their observations. 


Every individual regardless of 
religion, race, immigration or 
documentation status, or national 
origin is safe to seek and obtain 
assistance from the OIG. 


……………………….......………………… 


Audits 


The OIG conducts performance 
audits that contribute to public 
accountability and transparency 
by providing independent and 
objective analysis of the efficiency 
and effectiveness of BART 
programs, operations, and 
activities. 


 



https://www.bart.gov/sites/default/files/docs/19-01%20Summary_103119.pdf





Activities Report July 16, 2020 


 2 


Accomplishments 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 The last six months have been busy. Despite the disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, we 
have been successful in achieving performance goals and establishing protocols to ensure that we can 
complete audits and investigations. There is still much more to do and certainly some big challenges 
to overcome. Nonetheless, we have accomplished the following since January 2020: 


• Followed up on BART management’s actions to address recommendations from our M-Line Tunnel 
Lighting Upgrade Project investigation. This is part of our mandate to report to the California State 
Legislature on whether management has taken corrective action. 


• Hired an Assistant Inspector General with responsibility for managing and overseeing activities and 
operations within the OIG and to serve second to the Inspector General. 


• Worked with the BART Board of Directors to help establish a temporary Ad-Hoc Audit Committee 
to assist the Board in meeting its fiduciary and oversight responsibilities. The committee will assist 
in developing the permanent Audit Committee. 


• Assisted in drafting a charter for the permanent Audit Committee. This was done in partnership 
with the Office of Performance and Budget and the Office of the Controller-Treasurer. 


• Drafted the Charter for the Office of the Inspector General to formally document the authority, 
expectations, and responsibilities of the office. 


• Completed a Request for Quotations and selected a consultant to conduct a Districtwide risk 
assessment to identify areas to audit that will provide the most opportunity for improvement. 
Based on meeting all contract specifications, we awarded the contract to TAP International, the 
low bidder, for $71,410. 


• Attended a combined 81 hours of training covering a range of topics, including FEMA disaster cost 
recovery and internal investigations, the latter earning the Assistant Inspector General the 
designation Certified Internal Investigation Administrator. 


• Developed written policies and procedures for conducting performance audits in compliance with 
the Government Auditing Standards and developed a framework for conducting investigations in 
compliance with the Standards and Principles for Offices of Inspector General. 


• Developed a full range of written policies and procedures to complement our audit and 
investigation procedures, including procedures for Legal Considerations, Confidentiality, and 
Workpaper Management; Continuing Professional Education; and Social Media Use. 


• Created 40 templates to simplify document creation; save time; allow for consistency and clarity; 
and ensure our work demonstrates compliance with our policies and the standards we follow. 


• Selected ETHIX360, a cloud-based investigation case management and hotline system, with a 
$1,500 one-time set-up fee and $5,490 first-year service cost. We are working on implementation. 


• Received 20 complaints of potential fraud, waste, or abuse: 
o One case completed 
o Two cases complete and pending reporting 
o One case currently in progress 
o Two cases forwarded to other departments as personnel issues 
o Two cases declined – one not fraud, waste, or abuse, and one not related to BART operations 
o Four cases identified as potential audits, not investigations 
o Eight cases evaluated for acceptance as investigations 







Activities Report July 16, 2020 


 3 


Major Activities 
 


  


 
 


BART’s contract practices 
limit competitive 


procurement, eliminate 
potentially qualified 


businesses, and allow for 
fraud and corruption. 


Investigation Report: 
10/2019 


 
 


Our districtwide risk 
assessment will help us 


identify areas to audit that 
provide the greatest 


opportunity for improvement 
and that ensure we use our 
resources where they are 


needed most. 


  


Ensuring Appropriate Action on Recommendations 
Our investigation of the M-Line Tunnel lighting upgrade project found that 
BART approved light fixtures that did not meet contract specifications. BART 
subsequently terminated the contract with ABM Electrical & Lighting 
Solutions, although our recommendation was for BART to rescind its 
approval of the noncompliant light fixtures. During our follow-up, we 
learned that two months after terminating ABM’s contract, BART told ABM 
to purchase the fixtures, spending $814,000 on lights that currently have no 
designated need. The District feels that the fixtures are compliant and is 
engaged with my office in an effort to provide documentation of 
conformance. Additionally, BART is currently negotiating with ABM 
regarding ABM’s claim for $3.1M in contract settlement fees. We also 
expressed concern about BART management’s rationale for approving light 
fixtures that did not meet specifications is that BART typically issues 
specifications at the “highest standard” and may waive certain specifications 
as they review a product submittal. This practice limits the competitive 
procurement process and may allow for fraud to occur. It could unfairly 
eliminate potential suppliers, including and small businesses. We are 
continuing to discuss resolution of these issues with BART management and 
will discuss the full details of our follow-up investigation in a future report. 


 


Districtwide Risk Assessment 
Risk assessments are the foundation of an audit plan. They allow 
auditors to understand areas vulnerable to fraud, waste, and abuse, and 
identify inefficient and ineffective use of resources and other 
weaknesses that could result in a failure to meet objectives. They are 
instrumental in prioritizing risks so that audit resources are used when 
and where they are needed most. We have selected a consultant to 
complete a districtwide assessment to evaluate risk in each of BART’s 
major activities. This is a major undertaking; therefore, we put the 
project on hold in March due to the overwhelming impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on BART but are restarting the project in July. We 
recognize that the virus itself has revealed significant vulnerabilities to 
BART operations. We will consider the risks of a pandemic in our 
assessment, as well as other high-impact risks that could quickly disrupt 
BART’s ridership and revenues and increase expenditures. How we 
ultimately prioritize our audit plan will depend on many factors, 
including our limited resources and the nature of the risks that present 
the highest probability of occurrence with the most detrimental impact 
on BART’s ability to achieve its objectives. 



https://www.bart.gov/sites/default/files/docs/19-01%20Summary_103119.pdf

https://www.bart.gov/sites/default/files/docs/19-01%20Summary_103119.pdf





Activities Report July 16, 2020 


 4 


 


Major Activities 
 


  


The Ad Hoc Audit Committee 
and charters provide the 


structure necessary to allow 
our office to fulfill our 


responsibilities and meet 
legislative and public 


expectations to which we are 
fully committed. 


 
 


Written policies and 
procedures create roadmaps 


to achieving goals and 
objectives by outlining the 


path to success. 


  


Governance: Ad Hoc Audit Committee and Charters 
The Office of the Inspector General is a new function within BART and 
operates differently than the rest of the District’s offices. An OIG’s 
roles and responsibilities require that we remain independent from 
management and maintain full control over our work. This has 
required some learning as to what an OIG is and how it fits within 
BART’s operations. The BART OIG is modeled after the Inspector 
General Act of 1978, consistent with all OIGs, and reflects the 
expectations of the California legislators and voters who established 
the OIG. However, the Inspector General Act of 1978 applies to only 
federal IGs. Therefore, we have been working with the BART Board of 
Directors to create a governance structure that clarifies the authority, 
expectations, and responsibilities of the OIG within BART and that 
supports our efforts. This has led to the creation of the Ad Hoc Audit 
Committee and charters for both a permanent Audit Committee and 
the OIG. Combined, these allow us to fulfill our responsibilities and 
inform the Board of Directors of our findings and the necessary 
corrective actions to address those findings. In all, this goes a long way 
toward giving the public what they asked for when they voted for us. 


Policies and Procedures to Guide our Work 
Creating our written policies and procedures was one of our first and 
primary goals. The value of such guidance cannot be overstated. Our 
policies and procedures create the roadmap that allows us to achieve 
our objectives in alignment with the audit and investigation standards 
we follow. They lay out the path to completing the tasks and activities 
that ensure compliance with standards and doing so in a consistent 
and transparent manner. We created clear and comprehensive 
procedures for conducting audits to Government Auditing Standards 
and developed a framework for conducting investigations to the 
Standards and Principles for Offices of Inspector General. We also 
created procedures that complement those requirements. This 
includes, but is not limited to, Legal Considerations, Confidentiality, 
and Workpaper Management; Continuing Professional Education; and 
Social Media Use procedures. Further, we created 40 templates that 
simplify document creation; save time; allow for consistency and 
clarity; and ensure our work demonstrates compliance with our 
policies and the standards we follow. And we are not done yet! 



https://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?path=/prelim@title5/title5a/node20&edition=prelim

https://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?path=/prelim@title5/title5a/node20&edition=prelim





Activities Report July 16, 2020 


 5 


Next Steps 
 


   


Management has 
limited our access to 
personnel to obtain 


information. 


 


 


 


We will be reporting to the 
California Legislature by the end 


of July. 


 
 


 
 


  


The OIG is critical to 
fighting fraud and 


corruption. We help 
correct vulnerabilities 


that provide the 
opportunities.  


Challenges to Accessing Information 
It has been a challenge for both the District and my office to set reasonable 
parameters to obtain access to District staff and systems. Although we recently 
gained access to several of BART’s systems that contain information we need to 
conduct audits and investigations, there has been healthy discussion on how to 
obtain information from employees without impeding their ability to manage 
their workload. BART management has asked that requests to go through them 
so that they can manage the workflow. While BART has clearly stated that they 
have no intentions on interfering with investigations,  this interference conflicts 
with the role and responsibility of an Office of the Inspector General, as well as 
with the professional standards we follow. We hold in high regard our duty to 
provide independent oversight. We will continue to work with BART 
management to achieve that independence so that we may function in a way 
that reflects the expectations of the legislation that created our office. 


 


Reporting to the California State Legislature 
We are committed to meeting the expectations of the legislation 
that made our office possible. We will soon be presenting our first 
annual report to the State Legislature in which will communicate 
our investigation findings, the status of our recommendations, 
management’s actions to address our concerns, and our evaluation 
of those actions. We will also discuss working with the Board of 
Directors to establish an audit committee that meets best practices 
of leaders in our field and that will allow us to provide the 
independent oversight the legislation desires. 


COVID-19 Pandemic Increases Pressure for Fraud 
It is commonly known that fraud occurs when three conditions exist: 
pressure, opportunity, and rationalization. COVID-19, with its crippling effect 
on the economy, increases the pressure to commit fraud. Our role in the OIG 
is to identify vulnerabilities that provide opportunities so that we can stop 
theft and corruption. Experts agree that with trillions of dollars of federal 
funding coming into the economy to aid in responding to and recovering from 
the pandemic, oversight is critical. As such, our role in safeguarding BART 
revenue, including the $377 million in CARES Act funding dedicated to BART, 
is vital. We can use our audits to identify areas vulnerable to fraud and can 
independently investigate reports of fraud and corruption. 







Activities Report July 16, 2020 


 6 


 
  


 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Image Credits: Inspection (pg. 1); risk (pg. 3); governance (pg. 4); roadmap (pg. 4); and 
California capitol (pg. 5) by unknown authors and licensed by and obtained from Creative 
Commons. Unbalanced (pg. 3), access denied (pg. 5), fraud triangle (pg. 5) labeled for use 
by and obtained from Google Images. BART train from BART Marketing. All images used to 
enhance public information only. 


 


Office of the  
Inspector General 


 
Harriet Richardson 


Inspector General 


 
510-464-6132 


 
hrichar@bart.gov 


…………………………………………….. 


Providing Independent 
Oversight of the District’s 


Use of Revenue 


…………………………………………….. 


Stop Fraud, Waste, and Abuse 
Report What You See to the OIG 


Complaint Form 
bart.gov/about/inspector-general 


Send it and supporting 
documentation to: 


InspectorGeneral@bart.gov  


Call Us 
510-464-6132 


Come Talk to Us 
300 Lakeside Drive, 18th Floor, 


Oakland, CA 94612 



https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/

http://www.google.com/

mailto:cbiemer@bart.gov






COVID-19 Response Update
July 23, 2020







Agenda


1


2


3


4


COVID-19 Update 


Ridership Update


Budget Update


2


3


5


Front Line Safety Efforts


Employee & Labor Partner 
Engagement







COVID-19 Update







3


COVID-19 has spread rapidly and widely across the 
United States 







4


New COVID-19 cases in BART District counties began 
to surge in the second half of June
COVID-19 Cases per 100,000 people


Source: Opportunity Insights COVID Tracker tracktherecovery.org







5


PA
U


SE
D


BART Remains Focused on the Stages of Its Counties
As of July 14, 2020, a surge in Coronavirus cases has led California to impose new restrictions*


Stage 1
Strict stay at home 


orders


Stage 2
Gradual reopening of low risk 


businesses


Stage 3
Transitioning to higher risk 


activities, like physical fitness and 
small gatherings


Stage 4
End to SiP orders


As a result, most BART Counties have paused at Stage 2*


* Please note this update is based on information from the Office of the Governor of California as of July 14, 2020 and is 
subject to change daily. In addition, this information is subject to updates at the county and state level.


SAN MATEO ALAMEDA CONTRA COSTASANTA CLARA


On State Watchlist? ✔ Stage 3 Stage 2 ✔ ✔


What is currently 
open?


California has ordered watchlist counties to delay or reverse the opening of many 
indoor businesses.


SAN FRANCISCO







Updates:
Ridership


15 Step Welcome Back Plan







7


BART Ridership Remains Low


Week of







8


Significant progress made in 15 Step Welcome Back 
Plan


• Masks available by request at station agent booths in all stations
• Train crowding data charts updated weekly on bart.gov 
• Online store to purchase personal hand straps
• Contactless parking payment systemwide
• All stations have decals, posters and banners posted outlining new safety protocols and 


identifying locations of hand sanitizer in each station
• Disinfecting foggers spray every car in service every 24 hours (up from every 72 hours)
• Increased train frequency on our busiest line
• New seat configuration for one car complete and in service
• Assessing HEPA and MERV 14 filters for cars and testing UV


in HVAC duct work
• Held virtual townhalls with more than 120 companies 


that have office space near BART stations
• Translated the Welcome Back Plan into Chinese, Spanish, 


Korean, Tagalog, Vietnamese







9


Transition to Contactless Payments


• Fares: All BART stations to vend only Clipper fare media by the 
end of 2020


• Parking: BART Official app now provides parking payment option 
at all stations


• Clipper reduces the number of customer touch-points on BART
• Clipper allows for contactless payments
• Customers can load funds online in advance or get autoload
• Clipper cards are less prone to jamming faregates
• Clipper cards can be read through glass; station agents can maintain 


social distance while effectively assisting BART riders







10


Clipper-only Planned Rollout Status by Station
Start Finish Station Start Finish


5/25/2018 K30 MacArthur Mon 9/14/20 Fri  9/18/20
5/25/2018 K10 12TH Street Oakland Mon 9/21/20 Fri  9/25/20
8/5/2019 M10 West Oakland Mon 9/21/20 Fri  9/25/20
8/19/2019 S20 Warm Springs/ South Fremont Mon 9/28/20 Fri  10/2/20
9/3/2019 A90 Fremont Mon 10/5/20 Fri  10/9/20
9/24/2019 A80 Union Ci ty Mon 10/12/20 Fri  10/16/20


Mon 5/25/20 Fri  5/29/20 A70 South Hayward Mon 10/19/20 Fri  10/23/20
Mon 6/1/20 Fri  6/5/20 A60 Hayward Mon 10/19/20 Fri  10/23/20
Mon 6/8/20 Fri  6/12/20 A50 Bay Fa i r Mon 10/26/20 Fri  10/30/20
Mon 6/15/20 Fri  6/19/20 A40 San Leandro Mon 10/26/20 Fri  10/30/20
Mon 6/15/20 Fri  6/19/20 A20 Frui tva le Mon 10/26/20 Fri  10/30/20
Mon 6/22/20 Fri  7/3/20 A10 Lake Merri tt Mon 11/2/20 Fri  11/6/20
Mon 7/6/20 Fri  7/10/20 R60 Richmond Mon 11/9/20 Fri  11/13/20
Mon 7/13/20 Fri  7/17/20 R50 El  Cerri to del  Norte Mon 11/16/20 Fri  11/20/20
Mon 7/20/20 Fri  7/24/20 R40 El  Cerri to Plaza Mon 11/23/20 Fri  11/27/20
Mon 7/27/20 Fri  7/31/20 R30 North Berkeley Mon 11/30/20 Fri  12/4/20
Mon 8/3/20 Fri  8/7/20 R10 Ashby Mon 11/30/20 Fri  12/4/20
Mon 8/10/20 Fri  8/14/20 M90 Daly Ci ty Mon 12/7/20 Fri  12/11/20
Mon 8/10/20 Fri  8/14/20 W10 Colma Mon 12/14/20 Fri  12/18/20
Mon 8/17/20 Fri  8/21/20 W20 South San Francisco Mon 12/14/20 Fri  12/18/20
Mon 8/24/20 Fri  8/28/20 W30 San Bruno Mon 12/14/20 Fri  12/18/20
Mon 8/24/20 Fri  8/28/20 W40 Mi lbrae Mon 12/21/20 Fri  12/25/20
Mon 8/31/20 Fri  9/4/20 L10-Castro Val ley Mon 12/28/20 Thu 12/31/20
Mon 9/7/20 Fri  9/11/20 L20-West Dubl in Mon 12/28/20 Thu 12/31/20
Mon 9/7/20 Fri  9/11/20


C20 Orinda
C10 Rockridge


C70 North Concord
C60 Concord
C50 Pleasant Hi l l
C40 Walnut Creek
C30 Lafayette


M50 - 16th Street
M60 - 24th Street
M70 - Glen Park
M80 - Ba lboa Park
C80 Pi ttsburg/ Bay Point


L30 - Dubl in/Pleasanton
H10  Oakland Airport
A30 - Col i seum
M20 - Montgomery St
M40 - Civic Center


M16 Embarcadero
M30 Powel l  St
R20 Downtown Berkeley
Y10 - SFIA
S40-S50 SVBX


Station
E20 Pi ttsburg Center
E30 Antioch
K20 19th Street Oakland





Table 1


			Clipper‐Only Rollout Status
AS OF JULY 8, 2020


						Completed


			Station									Start			Finish			Station			Start			Finish


			E20 Pittsburg Center												5/25/2018			K30 MacArthur			Mon 9/14/20			Fri 9/18/20


			E30 Antioch												5/25/2018			K10 12TH Street Oakland			Mon 9/21/20			Fri 9/25/20


			K20 19th Street Oakland												8/5/2019			M10 West Oakland			Mon 9/21/20			Fri 9/25/20


			M16 Embarcadero												8/19/2019			S20 Warm Springs/ South Fremont			Mon 9/28/20			Fri 10/2/20


			M30 Powell St												9/3/2019			A90 Fremont			Mon 10/5/20			Fri 10/9/20


			R20 Downtown Berkeley												9/24/2019			A80 Union City			Mon 10/12/20			Fri 10/16/20


			Y10 ‐ SFIA									Mon 5/25/20			Fri 5/29/20			A70 South Hayward			Mon 10/19/20			Fri 10/23/20


			S40‐S50 SVBX									Mon 6/1/20			Fri 6/5/20			A60 Hayward			Mon 10/19/20			Fri 10/23/20


			L30 ‐ Dublin/Pleasanton									Mon 6/8/20			Fri 6/12/20			A50 Bay Fair			Mon 10/26/20			Fri 10/30/20


			H10  Oakland Airport									Mon 6/15/20			Fri 6/19/20			A40 San Leandro			Mon 10/26/20			Fri 10/30/20


			A30 ‐ Coliseum									Mon 6/15/20			Fri 6/19/20			A20 Fruitvale			Mon 10/26/20			Fri 10/30/20


			M20 ‐ Montgomery St									Mon 6/22/20			Fri 7/3/20			A10 Lake Merritt			Mon 11/2/20			Fri 11/6/20


			M40 ‐ Civic Center									Mon 7/6/20			Fri 7/10/20			R60 Richmond			Mon 11/9/20			Fri 11/13/20


			M50 ‐ 16th Street									Mon 7/13/20			Fri 7/17/20			R50 El Cerrito del Norte			Mon 11/16/20			Fri 11/20/20


			M60 ‐ 24th Street									Mon 7/20/20			Fri 7/24/20			R40 El Cerrito Plaza			Mon 11/23/20			Fri 11/27/20


			M70 ‐ Glen Park									Mon 7/27/20			Fri 7/31/20			R30 North Berkeley			Mon 11/30/20			Fri 12/4/20


			M80 ‐ Balboa Park									Mon 8/3/20			Fri 8/7/20			R10 Ashby			Mon 11/30/20			Fri 12/4/20


			C80 Pittsburg/ Bay Point									Mon 8/10/20			Fri 8/14/20			M90 Daly City			Mon 12/7/20			Fri 12/11/20


			C70 North Concord									Mon 8/10/20			Fri 8/14/20			W10 Colma			Mon 12/14/20			Fri 12/18/20


			C60 Concord									Mon 8/17/20			Fri 8/21/20			W20 South San Francisco			Mon 12/14/20			Fri 12/18/20


			C50 Pleasant Hill									Mon 8/24/20			Fri 8/28/20			W30 San Bruno			Mon 12/14/20			Fri 12/18/20


			C40 Walnut Creek									Mon 8/24/20			Fri 8/28/20			W40 Milbrae			Mon 12/21/20			Fri 12/25/20


			C30 Lafayette									Mon 8/31/20			Fri 9/4/20			L10‐Castro Valley			Mon 12/28/20			Thu 12/31/20


			C20 Orinda									Mon 9/7/20			Fri 9/11/20			L20‐West Dublin			Mon 12/28/20			Thu 12/31/20


			C10 Rockridge									Mon 9/7/20			Fri 9/11/20












Budget Update







12


Planned Dates Topic


Summer 2020


October Board Meeting


Ridership, revenue, expense monitoring


Q1 Budget Update, Revision Checkpoint
Assess changes to:
Pace of ridership/fare revenue recovery
Pace of economic recovery
Public health mandates/added expense
CARES Act 2nd tranche allocation


January Board Meeting Q2 Budget Update, Revision Checkpoint


April Board Meeting Q3 Budget Update, Revision Checkpoint


Budget Timeline







13


Key Indicators Staff Are Monitoring
Indicator Certainty Directionality


(as of 7/16/20)
COVID Containment:
New COVID cases surging in BART service area; growing 
pandemic severely constrains potential for ridership and 
economic recovery.


Monitoring


CARES Allocation:
Received $377M (91%) of $416M requested in final 
allocation


Final*


Additional Emergency Assistance:
Unknown, should have more information by mid-August


Unknown, 
monitoring -


Fare Revenue:
Tracking at 11% of pre-COVID baseline, below budget


Known, 
monitoring


Sales Tax:
Preliminary FY20 Q4 numbers above expectations Preliminary


*Assumes Full MTC Commission adopts Programming and Allocation Committee Recommendation







14


CARES Act Distribution ($M, expected*)


BART, $377, 30%


SFMTA, $374, 29%


VTA, $142, 11%


AC Transit, $114, 9%


Caltrain, $65, 5%


GGBHTD, $52, 4%


SamTrans, $46, 4%


Smaller Operators, 
$106, 8%


BART is grateful for $377M in 
federal emergency federal 
funding from the CARES Act 
(expected)


This allocation is 9% ($39M) 
less than initially requested, 
which will require 
adjustments to our FY21 
budget.


*MTC Board voted on 
Programming and Allocation 
Committee Recommendation 
on 7/22/20







15


Possible Additional Emergency Funding
Federal
• COVID-19 Relief Package


• HEROES Act passed the House in mid-May, including $3 trillion for COVID-19 relief
• Includes $15.75 billion in public transportation assistance to supplement $25 billion in 


CARES Act funding
• $11.75 billion for large urbanized areas including Bay Area
• $4 billion administered by FTA through Emergency Relief Program


• Requires “to the maximum extent possible” both HEROES Act and CARES Act funds be 
directed to payroll and maintaining transit service


• Senate plans to take up additional COVID-19 response bill the week of 7/20
• House Infrastructure Bill


• Democrats’ $1.5 trillion infrastructure proposal (Moving Forward Act) passed the House in 
early July


• Includes the INVEST in America Act - $494 billion five-year surface transportation 
reauthorization with $105 billion for FTA transit


• Faces uphill battle in the Senate
• Short-term extension of current FAST Act authorization likely, which expires at the end of 


September 2020


State
• Governor Newsom continues efforts to secure $1 trillion in flexible federal aid to state/local 


governments
• California Transit Association highlighting $3.1+ billion funding need of CA transit agencies


BART leadership strongly advocating for add’l emergency assistance







16


FY21


37.5%


6.5%


11.6%


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


M
ar Ap


r
M


ay Ju
n Ju
l


Au
g


Se
p


O
ct


N
ov De


c
Ja


n
Fe


b
M


ar Ap
r


M
ay Ju
n Ju
l


Au
g


Se
p


O
ct


N
ov De


c
Ja


n
Fe


b
M


ar Ap
r


M
ay Ju
n


Faster Ramp Slower Ramp Actuals


Faster ridership ramp
Achieve 50% pre-COVID annual
ridership in FY21


Slower ridership ramp
Achieve 15% pre-COVID annual 
ridership in FY21


Actual Ridership in early July is closer to our “slow 
ramp” scenario and below budget


Pre-COVID ridership baseline
Ridership, % of pre-COVID


(as of 7/16/2020)







17


Economic Activity crashed in mid March and remains 
below pre COVID levels


Percentage Change in Consumer Spending


Source: Opportunity Insights COVID Tracker tracktherecovery.org







18


Summary + Looking Ahead


Ridership and economic recovery depend on suppressing COVID-19 pandemic
• Confirmed COVID-19 cases continued to increase in the Bay Area and United States
• BART ridership remains low, and riders remain concerned about the risk of contracting or 


spreading the virus on transit
• BART ridership is unlikely to recover substantially as long as these conditions persist


Looking Ahead
• Continuing to advocate for additional emergency assistance


• Expecting news mid/late August or later
• Monitoring public health guidance and medical developments


• Return to shelter in place would push ridership back down
• First vaccine news could come in August


What Staff Are Doing Now
• Focus on providing service that meets demand under current social distancing guidelines
• Keeping employees and passengers safe with enhanced cleaning, face covering rules
• Suppressing all non-essential spending







Front Line Safety Efforts 







20


Masks On Order


Current Inventory on 
Hand (EA)


Current Total Pending 
Ordered (EA)


N95 Mask 74,780 31,000


KN95 Mask 134,970 0


Poly Surgical Mask 317,250 0


Cloth Mask 105,550 12,225


Gift from Shanghai 
Metro


CalOES


FTA


10,000


60,000


55,000







21


Critical Personnel  Avai labi l i ty - Operat ions
4/13/2020 5/4/2020 6/1/2020 7/13/2020


Critical Position – Operations Availability Availability Availability Availability
Train Operator 89% 89% 88% 82%
Station Agent 87% 84% 80% 83%
Operations Foreworker 92% 93% 79% 90%
Train Controller 87% 77% 86% 93%
Power Support Controller 80% 100% 69% 83%
Elevator Escalator Maintenance 79% 88% 70% 75%
System Service Workers 87% 88% 87% 88%
Traction Power Maintenance 86% 79% 90% 88%
Train Control Maintenance 86% 90% 84% 92%
Track & Structures Maintenance 95% 94% 93% 96%
Automatic Fare Collection Maintenance 87% 87% 92% 89%
Transit Vehicle Mechanic 66% 88% 72% 79%
Transit Vehicle Electronic Technician 74% 84% 83% 84%
Utility Worker/ Car Cleaner 50% 80% 70% 71%
RS&S Foreworker 43% 84% 86% 75%
Electronic Repair Shop Technician 49% 100% 62% 78%
eBART Vehcile Mechanics 75% 83% 83% 77%
eBART Track & Civil 50% 50% 82% 76%
eBART DMU Engineers 84% 89% 81% 82%
eBART Custodians 74% 79% 80% 67%







22


Technology Evaluations


 Filter Testing
• MERV 14 filter is most promising option


• Results in 64% pressure drop for air supply


• Filters five car pilot test expected in early August


 UV Disinfecting
• Testing confirmed UV in HVAC duct work as best UV option


• UV Lights have been ordered for pilot project – expected in early August
• Possible field-testing scheduled to begin in August


 Demonstration of Disinfection Robot for rail cars
• Rescheduled to September to accommodate new generation currently under testing


• Hospital grade sterilization using vaporized Hydrogen Peroxide







23


Crit ical Personnel Avai labi l i ty - Pol ice


4/13/2020 5/4/2020 6/1/2020 7/13/2020
Critical Positions - Police Availability Availability Availability Availability


Lieutenants 92% 100% 85% 85%


Sergeants 83% 93% 80% 90%


Civilian Supervisors 80% 100% 80% 100%


Police Officers 90% 91% 88% 86%


Community Service Officers 69% 80% 86% 85%


Fare Inspectors 56% 63% 71% 77%


Dispatchers 90% 95% 84% 84%


Police Admin Specialist 100% 100% 100% 100%







24


BART Pol ice Department Citat ions Update


Date Range Proof of Payment Criminal


June 1 – June 7 12 54


June 8 – June 14 4 59


June 15 – June 21 12 40


June 22 – June 28 1 50


June 29 – July 5 8 35


July 6 – July 12 2 27







Employee & Labor Partner Engagement 







26


New Coronavirus Cases, Testing, and Return to work


• New COVID-19 cases: 8 cases since June board meeting
• Transparency around cleaning & test results


• Alerts sent to Union Presidents
• Opt-in alerts available for employees
• Deep cleaning/sanitizing of worksites if positive cases confirmed or suspected


• New testing partner – CityHealth
• 15 minute antigen testing – 97.9% accuracy to PCR testing
• Enterprise partner, no waiting at clinic
• Capability for onsite testing if needed









		COVID-19 Response Update

		Agenda

		COVID-19 Update

		COVID-19 has spread rapidly and widely across the United States 	

		New COVID-19 cases in BART District counties began to surge in the second half of June

		BART Remains Focused on the Stages of Its Counties

		Updates:�Ridership�15 Step Welcome Back Plan 

		BART Ridership Remains Low

		Significant progress made in 15 Step Welcome Back Plan

		Slide Number 10

		Clipper-only Planned Rollout Status by Station

		Budget Update

		Budget Timeline

		Key Indicators Staff Are Monitoring

		CARES Act Distribution ($M, expected*)

		Possible Additional Emergency Funding

		Actual Ridership in early July is closer to our “slow ramp” scenario and below budget

		Economic Activity crashed in mid March and remains below pre COVID levels

		Summary + Looking Ahead

		Front Line Safety Efforts 

		Slide Number 21

		Critical Personnel Availability - Operations

		Technology Evaluations

		Critical Personnel Availability - Police

		BART Police Department Citations Update

		Employee & Labor Partner Engagement 

		New Coronavirus Cases, Testing, and Return to work

		Slide Number 28






 
Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis: Proposed Discontinuance of the Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets       1|P a g e  


    
 
 


Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis 
for the Proposed Discontinuance of Sales of 
Magnetic-Stripe Tickets 


1.1 Executive Summary 


This Addendum to the Title VI Fare Equity Analysis for the Proposed Discontinuance of Sales 
of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets analyzes potential adverse impacts for daily fee parking payments 
on Title VI minority and low-income populations.  This Addendum was necessary as a result 
of the District's development of contactless payments throughout the BART system due to 
COVID-19, as well as District efforts to remove and retrofit ticket vending machines.  There 
was a lack of demographic data for BART parkers who use mag-stripe paper tickets to pay 
for parking in the 2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey, so this Addendum assumes adverse 
impacts on protected populations.  Available 2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey data on 
BART parkers generally shows that parkers are equally minority (64.5%) as the overall 
BART ridership (64.5%) and less low-income (10.2%) than overall BART ridership (20.1%).  
Based on public input received from the Clipper-Only Survey, administered in October 2019, 
as well as Title VI/Environmental Justice and Limited English Proficiency Advisory 
Committee meetings, this Addendum proposes that these impacts may be mitigated by three 
ongoing parking payment options: cash payments, the EZ Rider program, and the new official 
BART mobile application daily fee parking payment feature (available systemwide in June 
2020). 


1.2 Introduction 


This document is an Addendum to the Title VI Fare Equity Analysis for the Proposed 
Discontinuance of Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets (original report), adopted by the Board of 
Directors on January 23, 2020.  It analyzes potential disparate impacts of the discontinuance 
of sales of Blue magnetic-stripe tickets (mag-stripe/paper tickets) for parking payments on 
BART’s Title VI protected populations (minority and low-income riders). 


This analysis could not be completed as part of the original report due to a lack of 
demographic data from the 2018 BART Customer Satisfaction Survey on BART parkers who 
use a Blue mag-stripe-ticket.  The original report deferred to a parking study, which would 
include an analysis of the Blue mag-stripe ticket parkers, planned for summer 2020.  
However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated Shelter-In-Place orders, the 
parking study has not been conducted.  







 
Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis: Proposed Discontinuance of the Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets       2|P a g e  


    
 
 


Additionally, BART sought to reduce contact between riders and BART equipment as a result 
of the pandemic and is seeking contactless or lower-contact payment options throughout the 
system.  The discontinuance of the sales of paper tickets and the subsequent reduction in the 
use of paper tickets throughout the system contributes to this effort.  The EZ Rider program 
and the official BART mobile app allow parkers to add money to their accounts electronically. 
The District seeks to retrofit all mag-stripe ticket vending machines to support Clipper only 
functionality over the coming months and to upgrade the machines to support EMV 
credit/debit cards later this year.   


For these reasons, this Addendum is considered a high priority.  A Title VI fare equity analysis 
consists of the minority disparate impact/low-income disproportionate burden (DI/DB) 
analysis using demographic data, as well as input from the public.  Section 1.3 will discuss 
the DI/DB analysis.  Section 1.4 describes the Title VI survey (2019 Clipper-Only Survey) and 
the public outreach conducted for the original report.  The survey included questions about 
paying for parking with a Blue mag-stripe ticket and potential mitigation options. 


1.2.1 Parking Payment Options 


BART parkers currently have several options for parking payment, including a cash option 
for those who are unbanked or don’t have a smart phone.  Some of these are intended 
primarily for regular commuters and require displaying a paper permit or hangtag (obtained 
in advance) inside the vehicle.  These include:     


• EZ Rider program with a credit/debit or pre-tax parking card (requires hangtag).   
• Advanced permit reservations for single day, airport long-term, or monthly parking 


with a credit card (personal check and commuter check also accepted on monthly 
permits only).  Requires a hangtag or paper printout.   


Those who wish to pay for parking without first obtaining a paper permit or hangtag can 
currently pay at the station using one of the following methods:      


• Insert cash into an addfare machine; 
• Use the BART Official App, linked to their Clipper Card, to pay for parking with a credit 


or debit card, Venmo, or Paypal1; or, 
• Use cash2 or credit card to purchase a Blue mag-stripe ticket to pay their transit 


fare and parking fee.  It is important to note that riders are charged a $0.50 
surcharge on their transit fare when they use Blue mag-stripe tickets, so BART 


 
1 At the time of the original public input period, the Daily Parking feature of the BART app had not yet been released. The 
feature was rolled out to five stations in January 2020 and to all stations in June 2020. 
2 The Blue mag-stripe ticket for parking is provided as a convenience to riders who do not have cash on hand but a 
credit/debit card to pay for parking; a parker who has cash should use the addfare machines to avoid the $0.50 surcharge.  







 
Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis: Proposed Discontinuance of the Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets       3|P a g e  


    
 
 


parkers who use this payment option incur this surcharge in addition to their parking 
fee and BART fare. 


The 2018 BART Customer Satisfaction Survey included questions about parking habits and 
fees, but it did not ask riders how they currently pay for parking.  As a result, while the survey 
provided demographic information on BART parkers broadly, there is no demographic 
information for BART parkers by payment type.   In approximately the same one-month 
period as the 2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey (September 11, 2018-October 14, 2018), 
9.3% of all parking validations were made by people using their mag-stripe ticket.  Since that 
time, the District has implemented a series of measures intended to shift riders away from 
using mag-stripe tickets to pay their fares and to provide alternative, streamlined electronic 
parking programs for parking payment.  In January, February, and the first half of March 
2020, prior to the COVID-19 Shelter-in-Place orders, 5.5% of total daily parking fee 
validations (including EZ Rider) were made with mag-stripe tickets, a decrease from the 
9.3% in 2018.  This number has not changed since the order went into effect on March 17, 
2020 and represents the smallest percentage of all daily fee parking payment types. 


1.3 Minority Disparate Impact and Low-Income Disproportionate Burden Analysis 


As outlined in the original report, for fare type changes, BART assesses whether protected 
riders3 are disproportionately more likely to use the affected fare type or media, and if such 
affects are adverse.  In accordance with the DI/DB policy, impacts will be considered 
disproportionate when the difference between the affected fare type’s protected ridership 
share and the overall system’s protected ridership share is greater than 10%. 


If BART finds that minority riders experience disparate impacts from the proposed change, 
BART should take steps to avoid, minimize, or mitigate these disparate impacts.  If a finding 
is made that the proposed fare change would place a disproportionate burden on low-
income riders compared to non low-income riders, BART will take steps to avoid, minimize, 
or mitigate impacts where practicable.  BART shall also describe alternatives available to 
low-income populations affected by the fare change. 


1.3.1 Minority Disparate Impact/Low-Income Disproportionate Burden Analysis (2018 BART 
Customer Satisfaction Survey Data) 


914 BART Customer Satisfaction Survey respondents indicated that they pay their BART fare 
with a magnetic-stripe ticket.  1,332 respondents indicated that they park in BART parking.  


 
3 BART’s protected riders are minority or low-income, where minority is defined as Asian, Hispanic (any race), 
Black/African American, American Indian/Alaskan Native, and Other (including multi-racial) and low-income is defined as 
200% of the federal poverty level. Based on the 2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey, 64.5% of BART’s riders are minority 
and 20.1% are low-income. 







 
Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis: Proposed Discontinuance of the Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets       4|P a g e  


    
 
 


As previously mentioned, however, the survey did not explicitly ask how respondents pay 
for their parking at BART.  Accordingly, due to a lack of data, a DI/DB analysis could not be 
conducted to determine whether there are any disproportionate impacts on protected 
populations using mag-stripe tickets to pay for parking.  We have collected additional data 
to try to better understand the demographics of BART parkers, similar to our approach in 
the original report. 


1.3.2 Alternative Data Analysis: Overall BART Rider Demographics 


As discussed in the original report, of the 914 Customer Satisfaction Survey respondents who 
paid their fare with a mag-stripe ticket, 68.5% were minority compared to 64.5% of overall 
ridership and 33.8% were low-income compared to 20.1% of BART’s ridership.  


As shown in Table 1-1, mag-stripe ticket riders were therefore slightly more minority than 
the average BART rider.  They were also disproportionately low-income at 13.7%, which 
exceeds the District’s established disproportionate impact threshold of 10%.   As a result, 
low-income riders were disproportionately more likely to use mag-stripe tickets (at the time 
of the 2018 BART Customer Satisfaction Survey).  This finding is outlined in the original 
report and mitigations were already proposed and approved by the BART Board. 


Table 1-1* 


  Minority Sample Size Low-Income Sample Size 
All Riders 64.5% 5,114 20.1% 4,650 
All Mag-Stripe Riders 68.5% 914 33.8% 797 


Difference from All Riders 4.0%   13.7%  
*Data from 2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey 


1.3.3 Alternative Data Analysis: Overall BART Parker Demographics 


As shown in Table 1-2, of the 1,332 respondents who indicated that they park in BART 
parking, 64.5% were minority and 10.2% were low-income.  As a result, the data shows 
that low-income riders are less likely to park in BART parking. 


Table 1-2* 


  Minority Sample Size Low-Income Sample Size 
All Riders 64.5% 5,114 20.1% 4,650 
All BART Parkers 64.5%  10.2%  


Difference from All Riders 0.0%   -9.9%  
*Data from 2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey 
 







 
Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis: Proposed Discontinuance of the Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets       5|P a g e  


    
 
 


1.3.4 Alternative Data Analysis: Parking Validation Data 


In addition, parking validation data during the 2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey period 
shows that mag-stripe tickets were used to pay for daily fee parking at a lower rate (9.3%) 
than they were used to pay for BART fares (19.4%) during this same time period, as shown 
in Table 1-3.  This may indicate that parkers are at a lower risk of adverse impacts from the 
discontinuance of the sales of Blue mag-stripe tickets than regular BART riders. 


Table 1-3 


Parking Validations 
(Daily Fee)*  


% Ticket 
Media 


Regular Fare 
Payments  


% Ticket 
Media 


Cash  298,583 28.6%    


Mag-Stripe  96,071 9.3% Blue Mag-Stripe  16,139,566 19.4% 
Clipper 647,018 62.1% Clipper Adult 67,013,435 80.6% 
Total Validations** 1,042,672 100.0% Total Regular 83,153,001 100.0% 


*BART Daily Fee Parking Validations (September 11, 2018-October 21, 2018) 
**Note: this number does not include parking payments through BART’s permit systems: monthly, one-day 
reserved, and long-term airport. 
 


More recent data shows that the proportion of parking validations being made with a mag-
stripe ticket has decreased since 2018 and that it has remained constant during COVID-19. 


Table 1-4 


2020 Pre COVID-19 
Daily Fee Parking 
Validations* 


 
% Ticket 
Media 


2020 COVID-19 
Daily Fee Parking 
Validations** 


 % Ticket 
Media 


Cash 444,714 29.2% Cash 66,174 35.4%*** 


Mag-Stripe  83,633 5.5% Mag-Stripe 10,250 5.5% 
Clipper  993,987 65.3% Clipper 109,753 58.7% 
Total Validations****  1,522,893 100.0% Total Validations 186,879 100.0%***** 


*BART Parking Validations (January 1, 2020-March 17, 2020) 
**BART Parking Validations (March 17, 2020-May 31, 2020); does not include parking app validations in May. 
*** Increase in cash payments may be attributed to an increase in riders who do not traditionally park at BART, but have 
begun to during the Shelter-in-Place order due to lack of alternatives/safety concerns. 
****Note: this number does not include parking payments through BART’s permit systems: monthly, one-day reserved, 
and long-term airport. 
*****Note: may not add to 100% due to rounding. 
 


1.3.5 Cumulative Impacts Analysis on Mag-Stripe Tickets for Parking Payments 


Since BART’s last FTA triennial review (January 2020), there have been no similar changes 
to fare media for mag-stripe tickets used for parking payments.  Therefore, there are no 
cumulative impacts to analyze associated with eliminating the sales of these tickets. 







 
Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis: Proposed Discontinuance of the Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets       6|P a g e  


    
 
 


1.4 Public Participation 


Pursuant to FTA Circular 4702.1B (October 2012), BART conducted outreach to provide the 
public with information about the proposed discontinuance of the sales of mag-stripe tickets 
and to solicit rider feedback inclusive of minority, low-income, and limited English proficient 
(LEP) populations.  Staff designed and administered a Title VI survey (the 2019 Clipper-Only 
Survey) as part of the original report in 2019 to evaluate the level of support for the 
discontinuance of the sales of mag-stripe tickets, as well as potential mitigation options.  The 
survey included questions specific to parking and to potential parking mitigation options. 
The survey period ran from Monday, October 7, 2019 to Friday, October 25, 2019.   


The District received 789 survey responses, with 55% of respondents identifying as minority 
and 19% identifying as low-income.  Consistent with our public participation process, in 
order to ensure there was a high participation rate from protected populations, distribution 
of the survey was not done using a random sampling methodology and, therefore, the results 
cannot be said to be representative of the overall population. 


1.4.1 2019 Clipper-Only Survey Responses: Blue Mag-Stripe Parkers 


The following sections will discuss customers’ responses to parking questions in the 2019 
Clipper-Only Survey. 


Question 7 asked customers: 


Do you use BART tickets to pay for parking at BART stations? 


85 of the 789 survey respondents answered ‘yes’, that they pay for BART parking with a 
paper ticket.  A significant majority of these 85 respondents (78.8%), however, also indicated 
that they ride BART with a Clipper card.  This may indicate that, though they generally use 
their Clipper card to pay their fare, when they park, they opt to purchase a separate Blue 
mag-stripe ticket to pay for parking and to ride, despite the fact that they incur the additional 
$0.50 surcharge on their one-way fare.  This may be due to the lack of alternative credit/debit 
card parking options for daily parkers available at the station, or the administrative barriers 
of the parking alternatives, such as pre-registering for EZ Rider or maintaining the required 
$60 EZ Rider purse value. 


As mentioned, those riders who use the Blue mag-stripe ticket to pay for parking must use 
that same ticket to pay for their ride, which means they are incurring the additional $0.50 
surcharge on each trip.  They could avoid that surcharge if they were to use cash at the 
addfare machines or the other parking payment options described previously, such as EZ 
Rider.  Section 1.4.2 below describes survey respondents’ parking mitigation preferences if 
the sales of Blue mag-stripe tickets were discontinued. 







 
Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis: Proposed Discontinuance of the Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets       7|P a g e  


    
 
 


1.4.2 2019 Clipper-Only-Survey Responses: Mitigation Options for Parking 


The 2019 Clipper-Only Survey asked for customers’ input on what other options they would 
use to pay for parking in Question 8: 


If BART paper tickets are no longer sold in stations, how would you prefer to 
pay daily parking fees at BART stations? 


o Cash (inside the station) 
o Smartphone app (will be available on BART official app next year and accept 


credit/debit card, PayPal, and Venmo) 
o EZ Rider program (requires setting up a BART Parking account linked to 


your credit/debit card and tagging your Clipper card inside the station) 
o Not applicable-I don’t pay for daily parking at BART Stations 
o Other: ___________________ 


29 respondents did not answer this question; 332 responded that it was not applicable and 
52 responded with some other option.  Of the 672 who did indicate a preference, 116 
preferred cash, 286 preferred the mobile app, and 225 preferred the EZ Rider program.  Of 
the 286 who expressed interest in a mobile app, 162 were minority and 32 identified as low-
income.  225 respondents indicated an interest in the EZ Rider option, which requires use of 
a Clipper card.  118 of these respondents were minority (90 non-minority and 7 unknown) 
and 23 were low-income (178 not low-income and 14 unknown).  Of respondents who 
indicated ‘Other’, 25 respondents clarified that they would like to use their Clipper card 
without the creation of an EZ Rider account. 


At the time of the 2019 Clipper-Only Survey, all other parking payment options besides cash 
required advanced registration.  In order to improve the customer’s parking experience, 
BART has rolled out the daily fee parking feature on its official app.   


The District initially released the mobile application daily fee parking payment feature 
(app/feature) at five stations in February 2020.  Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the District 
has opted to release the feature at all other parking stations in the District in order to reduce 
the need for riders to come into contact with BART equipment.  The app provides a modern 
and convenient alternative that allows on-location parking payment using credit/debit card, 
Venmo, and PayPal.  No hangtag or paper permit is needed, though the customer will have to 
download and register the app before paying.  Additionally, the app allows users to make a 
single parking payment rather than requiring them to auto-load a larger dollar value in order 
to pay, as is the case with EZ Rider.   







 
Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis: Proposed Discontinuance of the Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets       8|P a g e  


    
 
 


Those who do not wish to use the BART mobile application, or do not have access to a 
working smartphone, will need to use cash to pay at the station or use one of the other 
methods described above.  Title VI/Environmental Justice and Limited English Proficiency 
Advisory Committee members noted at the December 10, 2019 meeting that their clients, 
especially low-income riders and youths, mostly have smartphones and are adept at using 
them.   They did not express any concerns about eliminating the Blue mag-stripe tickets for 
parking.     


1.4.3 Post-COVID-19 Public Input 


Even though outreach was previously conducted on the elimination of mag-stripe tickets, 
which included parking questions, staff presented the item again to the Title 
VI/Environmental Justice and Limited English Proficiency Advisory Committees at a joint 
meeting on June 22, 2020.  Similar to previous outreach meetings, members did not express 
any concerns with the elimination of the Blue mag-stripe tickets as it related to parking or 
with the mitigation options provided.  


1.5 Equity Finding and Proposed Mitigations 


1.5.1 Equity Finding 


The goal of an assessment of changes to a fare media is to determine whether protected 
riders are disproportionately more likely to use the affected fare media.  The 2018 Customer 
Satisfaction Survey did not provide the relevant rider survey data needed to complete a 
DI/DB analysis to determine if these disproportionate impacts exist for protected riders 
using Blue mag-stripe tickets to pay for parking. As a result, this report assumes the 
discontinuance of Blue mag-stripe tickets to pay for parking may disproportionately impact 
minority and low-income riders using this fare type.   


2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey results did, however, provide enough information to 
show that Blue mag-stripe ticket riders were slightly more minority and disproportionately 
more low-income than the overall BART ridership demographics, while BART parkers are 
equally minority as, yet less low-income than, regular BART riders.  This data may indicate 
that minority parkers are as likely to be impacted as non-minority parkers and that low-
income parkers are less likely to be impacted by the discontinuance of sales of mag-stripe 
tickets to pay for parking. 


Fare media alternatives could mitigate these adverse effects, particularly when accounting 
for the fact that BART parkers who use Blue mag-stripe tickets to validate their parking are 
incurring a $0.50 surcharge on each leg of their BART fare.  BART parkers can avoid this 
surcharge by using any one of the below parking payment alternatives. 







 
Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis: Proposed Discontinuance of the Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets       9|P a g e  


    
 
 


1.5.2 Ongoing Mitigation: Cash Payment Option 


Minority and low-income BART riders who currently pay for parking with a Blue mag-stripe 
ticket will continue to have the option to pay for their parking with cash at the addfare 
machines inside the BART station. Cash payments accounted for 28.6% of parking 
validations during the 2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey period (September 11, 2018-
October 21, 2018).  In 2020, that number increased slightly to 29.2% before the COVID-19 
Shelter-in-Place order and has increased further to 35.4% during the order. 


1.5.3 Ongoing Mitigation: EZ Rider Program 


BART parkers currently have the option to pay their parking fee through the EZ Rider 
Program, which accepts credit and debit cards.  In order to participate in the EZ Rider 
Program, parkers pre-register for an EZ Rider account at https://ezrider.bart.gov/ezrider/. 
The EZ Rider Program requires a Clipper card and a separate $60 auto-load deposit into an 
EZ Rider parking account.  Parkers must use the associated Clipper card to pay for their BART 
fare and parking.  EZ Rider payments accounted for 62.1% of parking validations during the 
Customer Satisfaction Survey period and 65.3% of parking validations in 2020 before the 
COVID-19 Shelter-in-Place order.  EZ Rider validations still represent 58.7% of current 
parking validations. 


If the official app parking payment features are well-received by customers, the District may 
consider elimination of the EZ Rider program.  Parkers could download and register with the 
mobile app instantaneously at the station and would not be required to upload the $60 EZ 
Rider purse, making it both an administratively and financially less burdensome option.  This 
elimination would require a separate Title VI analysis and BART Board approval.  


1.5.4 Ongoing Mitigation: BART Official Mobile App Daily Parking Payment Feature 


The District began rollout of the daily parking feature on the official BART mobile app in 
February 2020 at five stations.   Due to COVID-19, on June 29, 2020, the District has expanded 
the mobile app pilot to all stations with BART parking in order to provide riders with a 
contactless form of parking payment.  While app usage data is not reliable at this time, due 
to impacted BART ridership, the mobile app has represented 1.9% of parking payment 
transactions during COVID-19 at the five stations where it was originally piloted. 


The feature requires parkers to connect the app to their Clipper card and allows parkers to 
pay with a credit or debit card, PayPal, or Venmo by connecting their preferred form of 
payment directly to the app.  Parkers can opt to upload $25 into a wallet available on the app.  
The wallet will autoload an additional $25 when its value drops below $5.  



https://ezrider.bart.gov/ezrider/





 
Parking Addendum to Title VI Fare Equity Analysis: Proposed Discontinuance of the Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets       10|P a g e  


    
 
 


For riders who are unable to upload money into the wallet, they may pay for their parking 
using the one-time payment feature in the app.  While there is currently no convenience fee 
to use the one-time payment feature, the District is considering adding a convenience fee on 
these payments in the future, which would require a separate Title VI analysis and BART 
Board approval. 


1.6 Conclusion 


While there was a lack of relevant demographic data for a DI/DB analysis, 2018 Customer 
Satisfaction Survey data showed that parkers were 64.5% minority, which is consistent with 
overall ridership levels.  The data also showed that parkers were 10.2% low-income, which 
is less than the overall BART low-income ridership of 20.1%.  Additionally, available data 
shows that a small percentage of BART parkers are currently using mag-stripe tickets to pay 
for parking at only 5.5% of daily parking fee validations.   


Public input from the 2019 Clipper-Only Survey showed that some people were continuing 
to use their mag-stripe tickets in order to pay for parking, but that they would be willing to 
shift to paying their fare with a Clipper card if there were a mobile app for parking.  Advisory 
Committee members did not express any concerns with the discontinuance of the sales of 
Blue mag-stripe tickets as it related to parking or with the mitigation options.   


Based on the lack of reliable demographic data, the equity finding assumes that there are 
disproportionate impacts on the protected populations, but there are mitigation options 
currently in place for parkers, including cash, the EZ Rider program, and the new BART 
parking feature of the official mobile app.  The discontinuance of the sales of Blue mag-stripe 
tickets to pay for parking helps move the District towards contactless payment systems, 
which is important during the COVID-19 pandemic. 





		1.1 Executive Summary

		1.2 Introduction

		1.2.1 Parking Payment Options

		1.3 Minority Disparate Impact and Low-Income Disproportionate Burden Analysis

		As outlined in the original report, for fare type changes, BART assesses whether protected riders2F  are disproportionately more likely to use the affected fare type or media, and if such affects are adverse.  In accordance with the DI/DB policy, impa...

		1.3.1 Minority Disparate Impact/Low-Income Disproportionate Burden Analysis (2018 BART Customer Satisfaction Survey Data)

		1.3.2 Alternative Data Analysis: Overall BART Rider Demographics

		1.3.3 Alternative Data Analysis: Overall BART Parker Demographics

		1.3.4 Alternative Data Analysis: Parking Validation Data

		1.3.5 Cumulative Impacts Analysis on Mag-Stripe Tickets for Parking Payments

		1.4 Public Participation

		Pursuant to FTA Circular 4702.1B (October 2012), BART conducted outreach to provide the public with information about the proposed discontinuance of the sales of mag-stripe tickets and to solicit rider feedback inclusive of minority, low-income, and l...

		The District received 789 survey responses, with 55% of respondents identifying as minority and 19% identifying as low-income.  Consistent with our public participation process, in order to ensure there was a high participation rate from protected pop...

		1.4.1 2019 Clipper-Only Survey Responses: Blue Mag-Stripe Parkers

		1.5 Equity Finding and Proposed Mitigations

		1.6 Conclusion






Title VI Fare Equity Analysis
Discontinuance of Sales of 
Magnetic-Stripe Tickets:
Parking Addendum


July 23, 2020
Office of Civil Rights


Board of Directors







1


Background


• Board approved the Title VI Analysis for the Discontinuance 
of Sales of Magnetic-Stripe Tickets (Jan. 23, 2020)


• Deferred analysis on parkers due to a lack of demographic data


• Due to COVID-19, parking study has not been conducted
• Need to reduce contact between riders and BART 


equipment
• Remove ticket vending machines 
• Rollout BART mobile app daily fee parking feature 


• $0.50 surcharge on paper ticket fare payments
• BART Parkers who use a mag-stripe ticket to pay for parking incur 


that surcharge on their fare







2


Title VI Process


• Analysis of protected riders to determine if potential 
disproportionate impact from change:
 Fare Type or Media:  10% difference between protected ridership 


shares of affected fare type/media and overall system 


• Performed public outreach and administered the Clipper-
Only survey in October 2019, including questions about 
parking


• Title VI/EJ and LEP Advisory Committees in June 2020







3


2018 Customer Satisfaction Survey
• Lack of demographics of mag-stripe ticket parkers so a DI/DB analysis could not be conducted
• BART parkers are 64.5% minority, consistent with overall minority ridership (64.5%)
• BART parkers are 10.2% low-income , which is ~10% less than overall ridership (20.1%)


Parking Validation Data


Discontinuance of Blue Mag-Stripe 
Tickets to Pay for Parking


Customer 
Satisfaction Survey 


Period (Sept. 11, 
2018- Oct. 21, 2018)


% Ticket 
Media


Pre COVID-19 
(January-March 


17, 2020)
% Ticket 
Media


COVID-19 
(March 18-May 


31, 2020)
% Ticket 
Media


Cash Validations 298,583 28.6% 444,714 29.2% 66,174 35.4%


Ticket Validations 96,071 9.3% 83,633 5.5% 10,250 5.5%


EZ-Rider 
Validations


647,018 62.1% 993,987 65.3% 109753 58.7%


Total Parking 
Validations


1,042,672 100.0% 1,522,893 100.0% 186,879 100.0%







4


Equity Findings


• Equity finding cannot be determined due to lack of ridership 
data


• Assume discontinuance of Blue mag-stripe tickets may 
disproportionately impact protected BART parkers


• Although BART parkers are equally minority and less low-income 
than overall BART ridership


• Existing fare media alternatives could mitigate these adverse 
effects


• Ongoing: Cash Payment Option
• Ongoing: EZ-Rider Program
• Ongoing: BART Official Mobile App Daily Parking Payment Feature







5


Motion


Board of Directors approves the Parking 
Addendum to the Title VI Fare Equity Analysis 
for the Proposed Discontinuance of Sales of 
Magnetic-Stripe Tickets





		Title VI Fare Equity Analysis

		Background

		Title VI Process

		Slide Number 4

		Equity Findings

		Motion






 
 


AB 2850 (Low) Analysis and Recommendation 


 


TITLE: Public transit employer-employee relations: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District  


AUTHOR: Low (D - Campbell)     


SPONSOR: California State Council of Service Employees International Union (SEIU) 


RECOMMENDATION: No Staff Recommendation  


 


BACKGROUND: At its June 25 meeting, the BART Board of Directors voted on a “no position” for AB 


2850 and directed staff to work with the author and bill sponsor on pending and future amendments.  Over 


the past month, BART staff have provided comments to and collaborated with the author’s office and bill 


sponsor on multiple draft amendments.  These amendments seek to address areas of concerns for the District 


as well as technical and clarifying changes.   


 


PURPOSE: AB 2850 was recently amended on July 8. Compared to language from May 4, the bill 


is significantly narrower in scope and provides that only unfair practice charges be referred to the California 


Public Employment Relations Board (PERB).  BART bargaining units would not be governed by the 


Meyers-Milias-Brown Act or granted the right to request a factfinding panel.   


 


New language within AB 2850 prescribes the rights of “employee organizations” and “exclusive 


representatives,” as defined, and seeks to recast the definition of the “District” to include “projects and 


extensions.”  The bill would also deem certain acts of the District and employee organizations in the context 


of employer-employee relations to be unlawful with recourse being unfair practice complaints filed with 


PERB, and authorizes the parties aggrieved by PERB’s decision or order to petition for extraordinary relief 


within the courts, similar to other employer-employee relations statutes governed by PERB.    


 


DISTRICT IMPACT:  Conversations are ongoing with Assembly Member Low’s office and the sponsor 


regarding future amendments to AB 2850.  At the District’s request, proposed language regarding “scope of 


representation” was removed from the July 8 amendments.  More recently, staff have expressed concern to 


the author regarding language that would change the definition of the “District” and are jointly working with 


the sponsor on new language to ensure changes to the District Act will be limited to only the Labor Provisions 


Chapter.  Technical amendments were also submitted to the author to clarify how new sections added to the 


District Act by AB 2850 shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with PERB’s interpretation of parallel 


provisions in other statues it enforces.  Staff are awaiting the new amendments to be in print. 


 


OTHER COMMENTS:  None. 


 


KNOWN SUPPORT/OPPOSITION: 


Support: State Council of the Service Employees International Union (Sponsors) 


 


Opposition: None on file. 


 


STATUS: Referred to the Senate Labor, Public Employment and Retirement Committee; Hearing date 


pending.  


 


Analysis completed on 7/16/20. 







AMENDED IN SENATE JULY 8, 2020 


AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY MAY 4, 2020 


california legislature—2019–20 regular session 


ASSEMBLY BILL  No. 2850 


Introduced by Assembly Member Low 


February 21, 2020 


An act to amend Section 28850 of, to add Section 28856 to, and to 
repeal Section 28851 of, the Public Utilities Code, relating to public 
transit. An act to amend Sections 28503, 28850, and 28851 of, and to 
add Sections 28510, 28511, 28849, 28856, 28857, 28858, 28859, 28860, 
28861, and 28862 to, the Public Utilities Code, relating to public transit.


legislative counsel’s digest 


AB 2850, as amended, Low. Public transit employer-employee 
relations: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District. 


The Meyers-Milias-Brown Act generally governs employer-employee 
relations between local public agencies and their employees, and 
delegates jurisdiction to the Public Employment Relations Board to 
resolve disputes and enforce the statutory duties and rights of those 
agencies and their employees. Under the act, these employees have the 
right to form, join, and participate in the activities of employee 
organizations for the purpose of representation on all matters of 
employer-employee relations, and recognized employee organizations 
have the right to represent their members on all matters of 
employer-employee relations, including disputes. 


Existing law creates the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District 
with various powers and duties and establishes a board of directors as 
the legislative body of the district. Existing law requires the board, upon 


  


 97   







a majority of district employees in a unit appropriate for collective 
bargaining indicating a desire to be represented by a labor organization, 
to bargain with the accredited representative of those employees. 
Existing law requires the board and employees to bargain in good faith 
and make all reasonable efforts to reach agreement on the terms of a 
written contract governing wages, salaries, hours, working conditions, 
and grievance procedures. 


This bill would instead require that the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act 
govern the district’s employer-employee relations, as specified, and 
that these relations be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of, and be 
administered by, the Public Employment Relations Board. 


This bill would specify that the Public Employment Relations Board, 
and the powers and duties of the Public Employment Relations Board, 
has jurisdiction, as appropriate, to enforce these statutory provisions 
governing employer-employee relations within the district. The bill 
would prescribe the rights of employee organizations, as defined, and 
exclusive representatives, as defined. The bill, among other things, 
would deem certain acts of the district and employee organizations to 
be unlawful, would require employers and employees of the district to 
adjudicate complaints of specified labor violations before the Public 
Employment Relations Board as an unfair practice, and would authorize 
specified parties aggrieved by the Public Employment Relations Board’s 
decision or order to petition for relief from that decision or order, as 
provided. 


This bill would make legislative findings and declarations as to the 
necessity of a special statute for the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid 
Transit District. 


By increasing To the extent that this bill would increase the duties of 
the district, the bill would create a state-mandated local program. 


The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local 
agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. 
Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement. 


This bill would provide that, if the Commission on State Mandates 
determines that the bill contains costs mandated by the state, 
reimbursement for those costs shall be made pursuant to the statutory 
provisions noted above. 


Vote:   majority.   Appropriation:   no.  Fiscal committee:   yes.


State-mandated local program:   yes.


97 


— 2 — AB 2850 


  







The people of the State of California do enact as follows: 


 line 1 SECTION 1. Section 28503 of the Public Utilities Code is 
 line 2 amended to read:
 line 3 28503. “District” as used in this part, means the San Francisco 
 line 4 Bay Area Rapid Transit District. District, and includes projects 
 line 5 and extensions of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit 
 line 6 District.
 line 7 SEC. 2. Section 28510 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 8 to read:
 line 9 28510. “Employee organization” as used in this part, means 


 line 10 an organization that includes employees of the district that has as 
 line 11 one of its primary purposes representing those employees in their 
 line 12 relations with the district. “Employee organization” shall also 
 line 13 include any person of the organization authorized to act on its 
 line 14 behalf. 
 line 15 SEC. 3. Section 28511 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 16 to read:
 line 17 28511. “Exclusive representative” as used in this part, means 
 line 18 an accredited employee organization recognized or certified as 
 line 19 the exclusive negotiating representative of employees in an 
 line 20 appropriate unit within the district. 
 line 21 SEC. 4. Section 28849 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 22 immediately preceding Section 28850, to read:
 line 23 28849. (a)  It is a primary purpose of this chapter to promote 
 line 24 the improvement of personnel management and employer-employee 
 line 25 relations within the district by providing a uniform basis for 
 line 26 recognizing the right of employees to join employee organizations 
 line 27 of their own choice, to be represented, to select one employee 
 line 28 organization as the exclusive representative of the employees in 
 line 29 an appropriate unit, and to afford employees a voice at work. 
 line 30 (b)  The Public Employment Relations Board established 
 line 31 pursuant to Section 3541 of the Government Code, and the powers 
 line 32 and duties of that board, as described in Section 3541.3 of the 
 line 33 Government Code, shall have jurisdiction, as appropriate, to 
 line 34 enforce this chapter. 
 line 35 SEC. 5. Section 28850 of the Public Utilities Code is amended 
 line 36 to read:
 line 37 28850. (a)  If a majority of the employees employed by a 
 line 38 district in a unit appropriate for collective bargaining indicate a 


97 


AB 2850 — 3 — 


  







 line 1 desire to be represented by a labor organization, an employee 
 line 2 organization, then the board, after determining pursuant to Section 
 line 3 28851 that the labor employee organization represents the 
 line 4 employees in the appropriate unit, shall bargain with the accredited
 line 5 exclusive representative of those employees. Both parties shall 
 line 6 bargain in good faith and make all reasonable efforts to reach 
 line 7 agreement on the terms of a written contract governing wages, 
 line 8 salaries, hours, working conditions, and grievance procedures. 
 line 9 (1)  If a dispute arises over the terms of a written contract 


 line 10 governing wages, salaries, hours, or working conditions that is not 
 line 11 resolved by negotiations conducted in good faith between the board 
 line 12 and the representatives of the employees, exclusive representative,
 line 13 then upon the agreement of both parties, the board and the
 line 14 representatives of the employees exclusive representative may 
 line 15 submit the dispute to an arbitration board. The decision of a 
 line 16 majority of the arbitration board shall be final. 
 line 17 (2)  (A)  The arbitration board shall be composed of two 
 line 18 representatives of the district, two representatives of the labor 
 line 19 organization, exclusive representative, and a fifth member to be 
 line 20 agreed upon by the representatives of the district and the labor 
 line 21 organization. exclusive representative.
 line 22 (B)  If the representatives of the district and the labor 
 line 23 organization exclusive representative are unable to agree on the 
 line 24 fifth member, then the names of five persons experienced in labor 
 line 25 arbitration shall be obtained from the California State Mediation 
 line 26 and Conciliation Service. The organization exclusive representative
 line 27 and the district shall, alternately, strike a name from the list 
 line 28 supplied by the California State Mediation and Conciliation 
 line 29 Service. The labor organization exclusive representative and the 
 line 30 district shall determine by lot who shall first strike a name from 
 line 31 the list. After the labor organization exclusive representative and 
 line 32 the district have stricken four names, the name remaining shall be 
 line 33 designated as the arbitrator. 
 line 34 (C)  The transit board district and the labor organization exclusive 
 line 35 representative shall each pay one-half of the cost of the impartial 
 line 36 arbitrator. 
 line 37 (b)  A contract or agreement shall not be made with any labor 
 line 38 organization, exclusive representative, employee organization,
 line 39 association, group, or individual that denies membership on any 
 line 40 basis listed in subdivision (a) of Section 12940 of the Government 


97 


— 4 — AB 2850 


  







 line 1 Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926 and 12926.1 
 line 2 of the Government Code. However, the organization may preclude 
 line 3 from membership any individual who advocates the overthrow of 
 line 4 the government by force or violence. 
 line 5 (c)  The district shall not discriminate with regard to employment 
 line 6 against any person on any basis listed in subdivision (a) of Section 
 line 7 12940 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in 
 line 8 Sections 12926 and 12926.1 of the Government Code, except as 
 line 9 otherwise provided in Section 12940 of the Government Code. 


 line 10 SEC. 6. Section 28851 of the Public Utilities Code is amended 
 line 11 to read:
 line 12 28851. If there is a question whether a labor an employee
 line 13 organization represents a majority of employees or whether the 
 line 14 proposed unit is or is not appropriate, such matters shall be 
 line 15 submitted to the State Conciliation Service California State 
 line 16 Mediation and Conciliation Service for disposition. The State 
 line 17 Conciliation Service California State Mediation and Conciliation 
 line 18 Service shall promptly hold a public hearing and may, by decision, 
 line 19 establish the boundaries of any collective bargaining unit and 
 line 20 provide for an election to determine the question of representation. 
 line 21 Provided, however, any certification of a labor an employee
 line 22 organization to represent or act for the employees in any collective 
 line 23 bargaining unit shall not be subject to challenge on the grounds 
 line 24 that a new substantial question of representation within such 
 line 25 collective bargaining unit exists until the lapse of one year from 
 line 26 the date of certification or the expiration of any collective 
 line 27 bargaining agreement, whichever is later. 
 line 28 SEC. 7. Section 28856 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 29 to read:
 line 30 28856. (a)  Exclusive representatives shall have the right to 
 line 31 represent their members in employer-employee relations with the 
 line 32 district. 
 line 33 (b)  Exclusive representatives shall have the right of access at 
 line 34 reasonable times to areas in which employees work, the right to 
 line 35 use institutional bulletin boards, mailboxes, and other means of 
 line 36 communication, including electronic communication, subject to 
 line 37 reasonable regulation, and the right to use institutional facilities 
 line 38 at reasonable times for the purpose of meetings concerned with 
 line 39 the exercise of the rights guaranteed by this chapter. 


97 


AB 2850 — 5 — 


  







 line 1 (c)  A reasonable number of representatives of an exclusive 
 line 2 representative shall have the right to receive reasonable periods 
 line 3 of released time without loss of compensation when meeting and 
 line 4 negotiating and for the processing of grievances. 
 line 5 (d)  An employee organization shall have the right to have an 
 line 6 employee’s membership dues deducted from the employee’s wages, 
 line 7 as authorized by the employee, and remitted by the district. 
 line 8 SEC. 8. Section 28857 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 9 to read:


 line 10 28857. The district shall give reasonable written notice to an 
 line 11 exclusive representative of its intent to make any change to matters 
 line 12 within the scope of representation of the employees represented 
 line 13 by the exclusive representative for purposes of providing the 
 line 14 exclusive representative a reasonable amount of time to negotiate 
 line 15 with the district regarding the proposed changes. 
 line 16 SEC. 9. Section 28858 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 17 to read:
 line 18 28858. It is unlawful for the district to do any of the following: 
 line 19 (a)  Impose or threaten to impose reprisals on employees, to 
 line 20 discriminate or threaten to discriminate against employees, or 
 line 21 otherwise to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees because 
 line 22 of their exercise of rights guaranteed to them by this chapter. As 
 line 23 used in this subdivision, “employee” includes an applicant for 
 line 24 employment or reemployment with the district. 
 line 25 (b)  Deny employee organizations rights guaranteed to them by 
 line 26 this chapter. 
 line 27 (c)  Refuse or fail to meet and negotiate in good faith with an 
 line 28 exclusive representative. Knowingly providing an exclusive 
 line 29 representative with inaccurate information, whether or not it is in 
 line 30 response to a request for information, constitutes a refusal or 
 line 31 failure of the district to meet and negotiate in good faith with the 
 line 32 exclusive representative. 
 line 33 (d)  Dominate or interfere with the formation or administration 
 line 34 of any employee organization, or contribute financial or other 
 line 35 support to it, or in any way encourage employees to join any 
 line 36 employee organization in preference to another. 
 line 37 (e)  Refuse to participate in good faith in mutually agreed upon 
 line 38 impasse procedures. 
 line 39 SEC. 10. Section 28859 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 40 to read:


97 


— 6 — AB 2850 


  







 line 1 28859. It is unlawful for an employee organization to do any 
 line 2 of the following: 
 line 3 (a)  Impose or threaten to impose reprisals on employees, 
 line 4 discriminate or threaten to discriminate against employees, or 
 line 5 otherwise interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees because 
 line 6 of their exercise of rights guaranteed to them by this chapter. 
 line 7 (b)  Refuse or fail to meet and negotiate in good faith with the 
 line 8 district concerning any of the employees of which it is the exclusive 
 line 9 representative. 


 line 10 (c)  Refuse to participate in good faith in mutually agreed upon 
 line 11 impasse procedures. 
 line 12 SEC. 11. Section 28860 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 13 to read:
 line 14 28860. (a)  This chapter shall not displace, or supplant, the 
 line 15 requirements of Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 3610) of 
 line 16 Division 4.5 of Title 1 of the Government Code, and the impasse 
 line 17 resolution and injunctive relief procedures provided for pursuant 
 line 18 to Sections 3612 to 3614, inclusive, of the Government Code shall 
 line 19 remain exclusive. 
 line 20 (b)  The initial determination as to whether the charge of unfair 
 line 21 practice is justified and, if so, the appropriate remedy necessary 
 line 22 to effectuate the purposes of this chapter, is a matter within the 
 line 23 exclusive jurisdiction of the Public Employment Relations Board, 
 line 24 except that in an action to recover damages due to an unlawful 
 line 25 strike, the Public Employment Relations Board shall have no 
 line 26 authority to award strike-preparation expenses as damages, and 
 line 27 shall have no authority to award damages for costs, expenses, or 
 line 28 revenue losses incurred during, or as a consequence of, an 
 line 29 unlawful strike. 
 line 30 SEC. 12. Section 28861 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 31 to read:
 line 32 28861. (a)  Any charging party, respondent, or intervenor 
 line 33 aggrieved by a final decision or order of the Public Employment 
 line 34 Relations Board in an unfair practice case, except a decision of 
 line 35 that board not to issue a complaint in such a case, may petition 
 line 36 for a writ of extraordinary relief from that decision or order. 
 line 37 (b)  A petition for a writ of extraordinary relief shall be filed in 
 line 38 the district court of appeal having jurisdiction over any county in 
 line 39 which the district operates. The petition shall be filed within 30 
 line 40 days from the date of the issuance of the Public Employment 


97 


AB 2850 — 7 — 


  







 line 1 Relations Board’s final decision or order, or order denying 
 line 2 reconsideration, as applicable. Upon the filing of the petition, the 
 line 3 court shall cause notice to be served upon the Public Employment 
 line 4 Relations Board and thereafter shall have jurisdiction of the 
 line 5 proceeding. The Public Employment Relations Board shall file in 
 line 6 the court the record of the proceeding, certified by that board, 
 line 7 within 10 days after the clerk’s notice unless that time is extended 
 line 8 by the court for good cause shown. The court shall have 
 line 9 jurisdiction to grant any temporary relief or restraining order it 


 line 10 deems just and proper, and in like manner to make and enter a 
 line 11 decree enforcing, modifying, and enforcing as modified, or setting 
 line 12 aside in whole or in part the decision or order of the Public 
 line 13 Employment Relations Board. The findings of the Public 
 line 14 Employment Relations Board with respect to questions of fact, 
 line 15 including ultimate facts, if supported by substantial evidence on 
 line 16 the record considered as a whole, shall be conclusive. Title 1 
 line 17 (commencing with Section 1067) of Part 3 of the Code of Civil 
 line 18 Procedure relating to writs shall, except where specifically 
 line 19 superseded by this section, apply to proceedings pursuant to this 
 line 20 section. 
 line 21 (c)  If the time to petition for extraordinary relief from a Public 
 line 22 Employment Relations Board decision or order has expired, the 
 line 23 Public Employment Relations Board may seek enforcement of any 
 line 24 final decision or order in a district court of appeal or superior 
 line 25 court having jurisdiction over the county where the events giving 
 line 26 rise to the decision or order occurred. The Public Employment 
 line 27 Relations Board shall respond within 10 days to any inquiry from 
 line 28 a party to the action as to why the Public Employment Relations 
 line 29 Board has not sought court enforcement of the final decision or 
 line 30 order. If the response does not indicate that there has been 
 line 31 compliance with the Public Employment Relations Board’s final 
 line 32 decision or order, the Public Employment Relations Board shall 
 line 33 seek enforcement of the final decision or order upon the request 
 line 34 of the party. The Public Employment Relations Board shall file in 
 line 35 the court the record of the proceeding, certified by that board, and 
 line 36 appropriate evidence disclosing the failure to comply with the 
 line 37 decision or order. If, after hearing, the court determines that the 
 line 38 order was issued pursuant to the procedures established by the 
 line 39 Public Employment Relations Board and that the person or entity 
 line 40 refuses to comply with the order, the court shall enforce the order 


97 


— 8 — AB 2850 


  







 line 1 by writ of mandamus or other proper process. The court may not 
 line 2 review the merits of the order. 
 line 3 SEC. 13. Section 28862 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 4 to read:
 line 5 28862. This chapter, as amended by the act adding this section, 
 line 6 shall not be interpreted as if it were in conflict with any collective 
 line 7 bargaining agreement and shall not be implemented to abrogate 
 line 8 an agreement entered into before January 1, 2021, between the 
 line 9 district and an employee organization. Sections 28858 to 28861, 


 line 10 inclusive, shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with the 
 line 11 Public Employment Relations Board’s interpretation of parallel 
 line 12 provisions in other statutes it enforces. 
 line 13 SEC. 14. Section 28863 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 
 line 14 to read:
 line 15 28863. Chapter 11.5 (commencing with Section 3555) of 
 line 16 Division 4 of Title 1 of the Government Code applies to the district 
 line 17 and its employees. Notwithstanding subparagraph (B) of paragraph 
 line 18 (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 3558.8 of the Government Code, 
 line 19 the district is a public employer for purposes of Chapter 11.5 
 line 20 (commencing with Section 3555) of Division 4 of Title 1 of the 
 line 21 Government Code. 
 line 22 SEC. 15. The Legislature finds and declares that a special 
 line 23 statute is necessary and that a general statute cannot be made 
 line 24 applicable within the meaning of Section 16 of Article IV of the 
 line 25 California Constitution because of the unique need of the San 
 line 26 Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District to efficiently and 
 line 27 cost-effectively adjudicate unfair labor practice complaints. 
 line 28 SEC. 16. If the Commission on State Mandates determines that 
 line 29 this act contains costs mandated by the state, reimbursement to 
 line 30 local agencies and school districts for those costs shall be made 
 line 31 pursuant to Part 7 (commencing with Section 17500) of Division 
 line 32 4 of Title 2 of the Government Code. 
 line 33 SECTION 1. Section 28850 of the Public Utilities Code is 
 line 34 amended to read: 
 line 35 28850. (a)  A contract or agreement shall not be made with 
 line 36 any labor organization, association, group, or individual that denies 
 line 37 membership on any basis listed in subdivision (a) of Section 12940 
 line 38 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 
 line 39 12926 and 12926.1 of the Government Code. However, the 


97 


AB 2850 — 9 — 


  







 line 1 organization may preclude from membership any individual who 
 line 2 advocates the overthrow of the government by force or violence. 
 line 3 (b)  The district shall not discriminate with regard to employment 
 line 4 against any person on any basis listed in subdivision (a) of Section 
 line 5 12940 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in 
 line 6 Sections 12926 and 12926.1 of the Government Code, except as 
 line 7 otherwise provided in Section 12940 of the Government Code. 
 line 8 SEC. 2. Section 28851 of the Public Utilities Code is repealed. 
 line 9 SEC. 3. Section 28856 is added to the Public Utilities Code, 


 line 10 to read: 
 line 11 28856. (a)  For employees, including, without limitation, 
 line 12 supervisory, professional, and technical employees, of the district 
 line 13 covered under this chapter, employer-employee relations shall be 
 line 14 governed under the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (Chapter 10 
 line 15 (commencing with Section 3500) of Division 4 of Title 1 of the 
 line 16 Government Code). 
 line 17 (b)  Employer-employee relations governed under the 
 line 18 Meyers-Milias-Brown Act pursuant to this section shall be subject 
 line 19 to the exclusive jurisdiction of, and shall be administered by, the 
 line 20 Public Employment Relations Board, established pursuant to 
 line 21 Section 3541 of the Government Code. 
 line 22 SEC. 4. If the Commission on State Mandates determines that 
 line 23 this act contains costs mandated by the state, reimbursement to 
 line 24 local agencies and school districts for those costs shall be made 
 line 25 pursuant to Part 7 (commencing with Section 17500) of Division 
 line 26 4 of Title 2 of the Government Code. 


O 


97 


— 10 — AB 2850 


  







 
 


Proposition 16 (ACA 5) Analysis and Recommendation 


 


TITLE: Proposition 16 (ACA 5) – Legislatively referred constitutional amendment, government preferences 


RECOMMENDATION: Support  


 


BACKGROUND: Proposition 209, the 1996 voter initiative, amended the California Constitution to add 


Section 31 of Article I, which prohibits the state from discriminating against, or granting preferential 


treatment to any individual or group on the basis of race, sex, color, ethnicity, or national origin in the 


operation of public employment, public education, or public contracting. For these purposes, the California 


Constitution defines the “state” to include the state itself, any city, county, public university system, 


community college district, school district, special district, or any other political subdivision or governmental 


instrumentality of, or within, the state.  


 


ACA 5, introduced by Assembly Member Shirley Weber, would amend the California Constitution by 


repealing Section 31 of Article I (Proposition 209) relating to the prohibition against discrimination or 


preferential treatment. ACA 5 passed each house of the Legislature by a two-thirds majority and qualified 


for the November 3, 2020 ballot as a legislatively referred constitutional amendment.   


 


PURPOSE: ACA 5 was designated as Proposition 16 by the Secretary of State on July 1 and requires a 


simple majority vote for passage.  The measure would repeal Proposition 209 (1996), which prohibits the 


state from discriminating against or granting preferential treatment to persons on the basis of race, sex, color, 


ethnicity, or national origin in public employment, public education, and public contracting.   


 


DISTRICT IMPACT: Currently, BART’s Small Business Program (SB Program) and Non-Discrimination 


Program for Subcontracting (ND Program) apply to all non-federally funded contracting activity at the 


District. The ND Program is intended to prevent discrimination in the selection of subcontractors by prime 


contractors but does not have race or gender-conscious contract goals as a result of Proposition 209. 


Similarly, although the SB Program does provide for contract goals, such goals are required to be race and 


gender neutral due to Proposition 209.  Proposition 16, itself, will not impact BART’s federally funded 


equity programs.  If passed by voters, it would impact the District’s non-federally funded equity programs 


as it would allow BART to utilize race and gender-conscious contract goals to ensure contracting equity.  


 


OTHER COMMENTS:  On June 25, the BART Board voted to support ACA 5, the legislation that 


authorized Proposition 16, and adopted a resolution in support of the repeal of Proposition 209 and the 


resumption of affirmative action in California.  


 


KNOWN SUPPORT/OPPOSITION: ACA 5 was supported by several federal, state, and local 


government leaders and over 500 organizations including civil rights groups, labor organizations, business 


leaders, educational institutions, and community advocates.  The Opportunity for All Coalition has been 


organized as a political action committee to support Proposition 16.  While under consideration by the 


Legislature, ACA 5 was opposed by the Asian American Coalition for Education, Organization for Justice 


and Equality, Silicon Valley Chinese Association Foundation, Silicon Valley Community United, and San 


Diego Asian Americans for Equality.  A political action committee opposed to Proposition 16 has yet to be 


identified.  


 


STATUS: N/A 


 


Analysis completed on 7/16/20. 







Assembly Constitutional Amendment No. 5 


RESOLUTION CHAPTER 23 


Assembly Constitutional Amendment No. 5—A resolution to propose to 
the people of the State of California an amendment to the Constitution of 
the State, by repealing Section 31 of Article I thereof, relating to government 
preferences. 


[Filed with Secretary of State June 25, 2020.] 


legislative counsel’s digest 


ACA 5, Weber. Government preferences. 
The California Constitution, pursuant to provisions enacted by the 


initiative Proposition 209 in 1996, prohibits the state from discriminating 
against, or granting preferential treatment to, any individual or group on the 
basis of race, sex, color, ethnicity, or national origin in the operation of 
public employment, public education, or public contracting. The California 
Constitution defines the state for these purposes to include the state, any 
city, county, public university system, community college district, school 
district, special district, or any other political subdivision or governmental 
instrumentality of, or within, the state. 


This measure would repeal these provisions. The measure would also 
make a statement of legislative findings in this regard. 


WHEREAS, Equal opportunity is deeply rooted in the American ideals 
of fairness, justice, and equality. Programs to meet the goals of equal 
opportunity seek to realize these basic values. Equal opportunity not only 
helps individuals, but also helps communities in need and benefits our larger 
society. California’s equal opportunity program was upended by the passage 
of Proposition 209 in 1996; and 


WHEREAS, Proposition 209, entitled the California Civil Rights 
Initiative, amended Article I of the California Constitution to prohibit race- 
and gender-conscious remedies to rectify the underutilization of women 
and people of color in public employment, as well as public contracting and 
education; and 


WHEREAS, Proposition 209 invalidated a series of laws that had been 
enacted by the California Legislature over the 20 years prior to it that 
required state agencies to eliminate traditional patterns of segregation and 
exclusion in the workforce, to increase the representation of women and 
minorities in the state service by identifying jobs for which their employment 
was underrepresented due to discrimination, and to develop action plans to 
remedy such underrepresentation without effectuating quota systems; and 


WHEREAS, Proposition 209 also overshadowed other landmark civil 
rights and antidiscrimination laws. In 1959, after a 37-year campaign by 


  


 95   







labor and civil rights groups, the Unruh Civil Rights Act was passed, which 
was the forerunner of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; and 


WHEREAS, As a result of the passage of Proposition 209, women and 
people of color continue to face discrimination and disparity in opportunities 
to participate in numerous forms of association and work that are crucial to 
the development of talents and capabilities that enable people to contribute 
meaningfully to, and benefit from, the collective possibilities of national 
life; and 


WHEREAS, The State of California has provided employment 
opportunities for people of color and women of all races. However, lingering, 
and even increasing, disparity still exists, particularly for Asian Americans, 
Pacific Islanders, Black Americans, Latino Americans, Native Americans, 
and women, and should be rectified; and 


WHEREAS, Proposition 209 has impeded California’s continuing interest 
in supporting the equal participation of women in the workforce and in 
public works projects, in addressing the historical and present manifestations 
of gender bias, and in promulgating policies to enforce antidiscrimination 
in the workplace and on public projects; and 


WHEREAS, In the wake of Proposition 209, California saw stark 
workforce diversity reductions for people of color and women in public 
contracting and in public education. Studies show that more diverse 
workforces perform better financially and are significantly more productive 
and focused; and 


WHEREAS, Since the passage of Proposition 209, the state’s 
minority-owned and women-owned business enterprise programs have been 
decimated. A 2016 study conservatively estimates that the implementation 
of Proposition 209 cost women and people of color over $1,000,000,000 
annually in lost contract awards. Most procurement and subcontracting 
processes remain effectively closed to these groups due to the changes 
brought on by Proposition 209; and 


WHEREAS, Women are vastly underrepresented among firms receiving 
public contracts and the dollars awarded to certified women-owned business 
enterprises fell by roughly 40 percent, compared to levels before Proposition 
209. In addition, only one-third of certified minority business enterprises 
in California’s transportation construction industry are still in operation 
today, compared to 20 years ago; and 


WHEREAS, Women, particularly women of color, continue to face 
unequal pay for equal work. White women are paid 80 cents to every dollar 
paid to white men doing the same work. Black women are paid 60 cents for 
every dollar paid to white men doing the same work and would theoretically 
have to work an extra seven months every year to overcome that differential. 
This persistent gender wage gap continues to harm women, their families, 
and communities; and 


WHEREAS, Despite a booming economy with almost full employment, 
a persistent racial wealth gap remains rooted in income inequality. Improving 
minority access to educational and labor market opportunity reduces the 
wealth gap and strengthens the economy; and 


95 


— 2 — Res. Ch. 23 


  







WHEREAS, Proposition 209 has had a devastating impact on minority 
equal opportunity and access to California’s publicly funded institutions of 
higher education. This violates the spirit of the California Master Plan for 
Higher Education by making it more difficult for many students to obtain 
an affordable and accessible high quality public education. While federal 
law allows schools to use race as a factor when making admissions decisions, 
California universities are prohibited by Proposition 209 from engaging in 
targeted outreach and extra efforts to matriculate high-performing minority 
students. This reduces the graduation rates of students of color and, in turn, 
contributes to the diminution of the “pipeline” of candidates of color for 
faculty positions; and 


WHEREAS, Since the passage of Proposition 209, diversity within public 
educational institutions has been stymied. Proposition 209 instigated a 
dramatic change in admissions policy at the University of California, with 
underrepresented group enrollment at the Berkeley and Los Angeles 
campuses of the University of California immediately falling by more than 
60 percent and systemwide underrepresented group enrollment falling by 
at least 12 percent. Underrepresented group high school graduates faced 
substantial long-term declines in educational and employment outcomes as 
a result of these changes; and 


WHEREAS, Among California high school graduates who apply to the 
University of California, passage of Proposition 209 has led to a decreased 
likelihood of earning a college degree within six years, a decreased likelihood 
of ever earning a graduate degree, and long-run declines in average wages 
and the likelihood of earning high wages measured by California standards. 
The University of California has never recovered the same level of diversity 
that it had before the loss of affirmative action nearly 20 years ago, a level 
that, at the time, was widely considered to be inadequate to meet the needs 
of the state and its young people because it did not achieve parity with the 
state’s ethnic demographics; and 


WHEREAS, The importance of diversity in educational settings cannot 
be overstated. The Supreme Court of the United States outlined the benefits 
that arise from diversity, as follows, “the destruction of stereotypes, the 
promotion of cross-racial understanding, the preparation of a student body 
for an increasingly diverse workforce and society, and the cultivation of a 
set of leaders with legitimacy in the eyes of the citizenry”; and 


WHEREAS, Federal courts continue to reaffirm the value of diversity in 
favor of race conscious admissions, as exemplified by United States District 
Judge Allison D. Burroughs who stated, “race conscious admissions 
programs that survive strict scrutiny have an important place in society and 
help ensure that colleges and universities can offer a diverse atmosphere 
that fosters learning, improves scholarship, and encourages mutual respect 
and understanding. Further, Judge Burroughs recognized that there are no 
race-neutral alternatives that would allow a university to achieve an 
adequately diverse student body while still perpetuating its standards for 
academic and other forms of excellence; and 


95 


Res. Ch. 23 — 3 — 


  







WHEREAS, It is the intent of the Legislature that California remedy 
discrimination against, and underrepresentation of, certain disadvantaged 
groups in a manner consistent with the United States Constitution and allow 
gender, racial, and ethnic diversity to be considered among the factors used 
to decide college admissions and hiring and contracting by government 
institutions; and 


WHEREAS, It is further the intent of the Legislature that California 
transcend a legacy of unequal treatment of marginalized groups and promote 
fairness and equal citizenship by affording the members of marginalized 
groups a fair and full opportunity to be integrated into state public institutions 
that advance upward mobility, pay equity, and racial wealth gap reduction; 
now, therefore, be it 


Resolved by the Assembly, the Senate concurring, That the Legislature 
of the State of California at its 2019–20 Regular Session commencing on 
the third day of December 2018, two-thirds of the membership of each house 
concurring, hereby proposes to the people of the State of California, that 
the Constitution of the State be amended as follows: 


That Section 31 of Article I thereof is repealed. 


O 


95 


— 4 — Res. Ch. 23 


  





				2020-06-25T21:21:46-0700

		SACRAMENTO

		The Legislative Counsel attests that this document has not been altered since the document was released by the Legislative Counsel Bureau to this public web site.












 


AB2923 Development Principles  


A. Prioritize TOD projects that cost effectively implement BART’s Transit-Oriented Development 
(TOD) related policies.  


A1. BART will prioritize projects that best meet BART’s adopted policies and performance 
standards  


BART will favor projects that cost-effectively deliver on its six TOD policy goals and associated 
performance targets. BART will not prioritize projects with major infrastructure costs, such as major 
structural work to protect the BART system, high levels of on-site parking replacement, or station 
modernization.  Exceptions will only be made if the benefits to the District and region are significant, 
and if outside investment is available to address these additional costs.  


A2. BART’s TOD projects will address the regional jobs-housing imbalance  


Creating more jobs in the East Bay will alleviate regional congestion and create a more balanced, 
sustainable ridership pattern for BART. BART will strategically reserve TOD sites that demonstrate long 
term economic competitiveness for job-generating uses, with adequate land reserved to meet its 2040 
goal of building 4.5 million square feet of commercial space, at a minimum. Staff will develop a proactive 
strategy to encourage job creation on these properties.  


B. Work in partnership with local jurisdictions and communities to deliver regionally impactful 
TOD projects. 


B1. BART will focus on TOD projects in jurisdictions demonstrating support for development  


BART will only initiate TOD projects in jurisdictions supporting BART’s Transit-Oriented Development 
goals. That BART’s TOD projects will conform to locally adopted goals and objectives for TOD identified 
in local specific plans or other efforts, so long as zoning of BART property allows for densities and 
heights that are the highest possible under local economic and funding conditions, and are consistent 
with Plan Bay Area and the Regional Housing Needs Allocation. BART staff will work with jurisdictions to 
ensure BART-owned property is only included in local housing elements if the jurisdiction has expressed 
intent to support BART in its development during the term of that housing element.  


B2. BART’s TOD projects will involve meaningful engagement with local communities  


BART is committed to meaningful and sustained engagement with all local communities in planning and 
delivering its TOD projects – especially low-income communities of color. BART will build income-
diverse, transit-rich neighborhoods that protect and serve vulnerable low income neighbors, and reflect 
the diverse cultural fabric of the Bay Area.   


C. BART will work with jurisdictions to incorporate local design standards in order to create  
vibrant, safe, well-designed TOD Projects  


C1. BART’s TOD projects will honor local design requirements and local context  







 


AB 2923 may in some cases diminish the requirement for developers to adhere to certain local design 
requirements. If a jurisdiction shares BART’s commitment to regional climate, housing, and equity goals, 
as evidenced by zoning for the highest feasible density, use and height, BART commits to requiring 
consistency with that jurisdiction’s objective design standards in its development agreements, to deliver 
high quality, context-appropriate design.  


C2. BART will foster safe, engaging and vibrant public spaces on and beyond BART property 


BART will strive to anchor its TOD projects with inviting, vibrant civic spaces that provide flexible areas 
for a range of activities, and instill a sense of pride and belonging for diverse communities. These spaces 
will be activated by locally owned businesses and community-based anchors. Safe, universally accessible 
streets that prioritize walking and biking will seamlessly connect people at and around BART stations.  


D. Encourage sustainable mobility for residents, workers, visitors and BART customers  


D1. Developers will adhere to BART’s transportation demand management (TDM) requirements  
BART’s transportation demand management (TDM) requirements will  encourage reduction of drive-
alone trips from TOD projects, in favor of walking, bicycling, transit, and/or carpooling/vanpooling. 
Developers will regularly monitor compliance with BART’s TDM requirements and participate in travel 
behavior reporting.  


D2. BART patron parking replacement will be guided by BART’s Board-adopted transit-oriented 
development and station access policies and the station access typology.  


Decisions about parking replacement levels will be made through a robust station access study, as 
required by AB 2923, and will be informed by the station access typology and investment framework.   


 








Update on Assembly Bill 2923:
Transit-Oriented Development
BART Board of Directors
July 23, 2020







1


Presentation Overview


• Transit-Oriented 
Development (TOD) 
Program Updates


• AB 2923 Overview
• Critical Milestones & 


Public Documents
• Upcoming Board Actions







TOD Program Update







3


Transit-Oriented Development Grants in June 2020


• CA Affordable Housing & Sustainable 
Communities (AHSC) – Cap & Trade


• All BART-involved applications (8) 
awarded


• $39M to BART for rail cars, station and 
access projects


• Supporting 913 affordable housing units


• Federal Transit Administration TOD 
Planning Pilot Grant


• $2M for TOD planning along the 
Richmond corridor


• Caltrans Sustainable Transportation 
Planning Grant


• $700K awarded for a TOD corridor-level 
station access study from El Cerrito del 
Norte to Ashby stations 


Locations of AHSC Awards







4


Regional Housing Needs 
Allocation (RHNA)
• Embedded in Plan Bay Area
• MTC drafting RHNA allocations 


for 2023 to 2031
• BART-served jurisdictions 


expecting large regional 
housing allocation 


• Some jurisdictions considering 
BART land for housing in their 
updated Housing Elements


• September 2021 adoption


SB 2 Local Planning Funds
• Formula allocation to local 


jurisdictions to plan for housing


Bay Area Housing Finance 
Authority (BAHFA)
• Financially supports production 


and preservation of affordable 
housing and tenant protections


• Not pursuing 2020 bond 
measure


Regional Context Affecting TOD Implementation







AB 2923 Overview







6


• Background
• Signed into law on September 30, 2018
• Requires TOD zoning on BART-owned land in counties 


that elect BART Board representation
• Local zoning conformance to baseline standards by July 1, 


2022
• AB 2923 relationship to BART’s TOD Program


• Greater regional and statewide focus on BART’s efforts
• Potentially accelerates TOD project opportunities
• Requires BART to be more transparent about 


development priorities


Assembly Bill (AB) 2923







7


AB 2923 Timeline


7


‘18 CY2019 2020 2021 2022


Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4


BART Planning Process


July 1, 2020 – 2017 TOD Guideline 
Place Types became TOD zoning 
standards


Local Zoning Conformance by July 1, 2022 


Board Update
Board Action
State Milestone


Sept 30, 2018 – AB 2923 became law


Stakeholder Engagement


Stakeholder Meeting
Public  Webinars
1-on-1 meetings (jurisdictions, 
communities of concern)


Possible Board action 
for conformance







8


AB 2923 Board Meetings


Dec 2018: Reviewed legislative requirements
Jan 2019: Discussed preliminary 
implementation approaches
Jun 2019: Summarized local jurisdiction 
outreach; discussed intention not to adopt 
new zoning standards
Feb 2020: Reviewed outlines of Technical 
Guide and TOD Work Plan
Jul 2020 (current): Review Technical Guide 
draft; consider upcoming Board actions
Aug 2020 (future): Review TOD Work Plan 
draft, act on AB 2923 Development Principles


AB 2923 Stakeholder Workshop February 22, 2020







AB 2923
Critical Milestones & Public Documents







10


Critical Milestones & Public Documents


* Discussed at Feb 2020 Board Workshop


Milestone Required 
by Law Timeframe


AB 2923 Technical Guide* June 2020


Online mapping and database of affected properties 
(AB 2923 and TOD Work Plan) June 2020


TOD Work Plan* August 2020


Travel demand management (TDM) requirements X August 2020


Model zoning and conformance checklist Fall 2020


Parking replacement framework X Fall 2020


Future stakeholder & community engagement X Summer/Fall 2020


Anti-displacement strategy X Fall 2020


Bi-annual report to State’s Department of Housing 
and Community Development X Fall 2020







11


A. AB 2923 Technical Guide


Purpose
• Guide local jurisdictions on reviewing and 


amending local zoning ordinances


Target Audience
• Staff at local jurisdictions, many of whom 


actively participated in its development 


Zoning Envelope
• Allowable residential density, building height, 


and floor area ratio
• Requirements for vehicle and bicycle parking


All materials available at 
www.bart.gov/AB2923


Public draft released June 24
Comments due August 7



http://www.bart.gov/AB2923





12


A. AB 2923 Technical Guide: General Approach


1 Clarifications about the authority that state law provides to BART


Defer to local definitions when there is interpretation
• Building height: conversion of stories to feet
• Residential density: definition of units per acre
• Floor area ratio: definition


2


3 BART conformance process 
• Local jurisdictions demonstrate AB 2923 conformance by 


July 1, 2022
• BART makes conformance determinations
• Cross-check if/when a developer makes a proposal







13


A. AB 2923 Technical Guide: Supporting Materials


• Station Area Fact Sheets 
(Appendix II)


• Online GIS mapping of AB 2923-
eligible property and the 
universe of parcels BART owns 
that could support TOD


• Glossary and Acronyms   
(Appendix I)


• Found at www.bart.gov/ab2923


North Berkeley


Ashby


Legend



http://www.bart.gov/ab2923





14


B. Online Mapping: AB 2923 and TOD
Objective: provide full transparency on affected BART properties
Audience: All interested stakeholders, especially local jurisdictions
Highlight: The “crosswalk” between what is affected by AB 2923, and what BART 
might consider for development


Click here to access GIS Database



amazonhq2bidhttps://raimi.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=0aff8b357cd4425ba282a5b0ee9a1749%20





15


B. Online Mapping: AB2923 and TOD
BART properties not affected by 
AB 2923:


• Do not meet basic statutory 
requirements (1/4 acre, within 
½ mile of existing stations, 3 
counties only)


• Critical BART facilities such as 
trackway, substations, etc.


• Development would structurally 
compromise the BART system 


• Limited by physical constraints 
such as terrain/sloping issues or 
seismic faults


BART properties not in BART’s long 
range TOD Work Plan:


• Critical BART facilities such as 
trackway, substations, etc.


• Development would compromise 
the BART system 


• Physical constraints such as 
terrain/sloping or seismic issues


• Improvements exist that are 
expected to remain for at least 50 
years (e.g. existing TOD projects)


Includes any property that could 
potentially be developed – if only in 
very long term


Consistent methodology for determining what is included and excluded 







16


C. Transit-Oriented Development Work Plan 
Distinguish Zoning from Development


Jurisdictions may want to know whether BART would actually consider 
developing properties before they decide to place resources towards rezoning







17


C. TOD Work Plan 


Objective: A “business plan” for 
BART’s TOD work. Describes 
how BART advances projects, 
barriers and opportunities, 
development priorities, needs


Audience: Local jurisdictions, 
developers, advocates, 
community groups


Draft for release in early August
More info to be provided at 
August Board meeting







18


D. Travel Demand Management Requirements


Objective: Grow BART ridership and reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) and 
greenhouse gases (GHGs) from residents and employees of BART TOD projects


Highlights:
• Inspired by SF SHIFT – TDM program grounded 


in data on reducing vehicle travel
• Aim to reduce VMT by 20% via:


• Project parking reductions / unbundling
• Developers choose from toolkit of options 


to reduce VMT by ~20%
• Examples: Free/discounted Clipper 


cash; bike parking; bike share; car 
share; on-site food market; on-site 
childcare.


• Requires compliance reporting and 
performance monitoring







19


Existing Station Access Policy and 
TOD Policy establish many goals for 
parking replacement:


- One size does not fit all
- Access needs of stations vary, and so 


will access investments


- Parking replacement approach 
determined site-by-site


- Full station access study funded by 
developer, managed by BART


- Net gain in revenue and ridership
- Study looks at access investments 


comprehensively, not parking alone


F. Parking Replacement Policy


Section 29010.6(d)
The district shall establish, 
and amend as necessary, 


a parking replacement 
policy, consistent with the 
district’s practice at auto-
dependent stations and 


the district’s station 
access policy







20


BART’s station access practice and policy are consistent with AB 2923 requirements


F. Parking Replacement Policy







Upcoming Board Actions







22


AB 2923: Zoning Standards will not be adopted at 
this time


As noted June 2019: Board will not
adopt new zoning standards at this 
point, per earlier cost-benefit 
analysis:
• BART could only increase zoning 


intensity, and law’s baseline 
standards already align with 
achievable development types


• Infeasible to create and adopt 
zoning standards within limited time 
and resources provided by the State







23


AB 2923: Areas Needing Further Board Direction


A. TOD Prioritization: Factors to prioritize sites for 
development


B. Local & Regional: Balancing regional goals with local context 
and interests


C. Design of Buildings and Public Space: BART’s approach to 
design, in light of potential reduction of local design 
requirements


D. AB 2923 Required Actions: Addressing requirements of the 
law on transportation demand management, parking 
replacement







24


Recommended AB 2923 Development Principles


A. Prioritization
Prioritize TOD projects that cost effectively implement BART’s 
TOD related policies


A1. Prioritize projects that best meet BART’s adopted policies 
and performance standards without major infrastructure costs


A2. Address the regional jobs-housing imbalance







25


B. Local & Regional
Meet regional goals while respecting local planning


B1. Focus on TOD projects in jurisdictions demonstrating support 
for development


B2. Meaningful engagement with local communities, especially 
low-income communities of color


Recommended AB 2923 Development Principles







26


C. Design of Buildings & Public Space
Work with jurisdictions to incorporate local design standards in order to 
create vibrant, safe, well-designed TOD Projects


C1. Honor local design requirements and local context


C2. Foster safe, engaging, and vibrant public spaces on and beyond 
BART property


Recommended AB 2923 Development Principles







27


D. AB 2923 Required Policies
Encourage sustainable mobility for residents, workers, visitors and 
BART customers


D1. Developers will adhere to BART’s TDM requirements


D2. BART parking replacement will be guided by Board-
adopted TOD & station access policies and the station access 
typology


Recommended AB 2923 Development Principles







www.bart.gov/AB2923





		Update on Assembly Bill 2923:�Transit-Oriented Development

		Presentation Overview

		TOD Program Update

		Transit-Oriented Development Grants in June 2020

		Regional Context Affecting TOD Implementation

		AB 2923 Overview

		Assembly Bill (AB) 2923

		AB 2923 Timeline

		AB 2923 Board Meetings

		AB 2923�Critical Milestones & Public Documents

		Critical Milestones & Public Documents

		A. AB 2923 Technical Guide

		A. AB 2923 Technical Guide: General Approach

		A. AB 2923 Technical Guide: Supporting Materials

		B. Online Mapping: AB 2923 and TOD

		B. Online Mapping: AB2923 and TOD

		C. Transit-Oriented Development Work Plan �Distinguish Zoning from Development

		C. TOD Work Plan 

		D. Travel Demand Management Requirements

		F. Parking Replacement Policy

		F. Parking Replacement Policy

		Upcoming Board Actions

		AB 2923: Zoning Standards will not be adopted at this time

		AB 2923: Areas Needing Further Board Direction

		Recommended AB 2923 Development Principles

		Recommended AB 2923 Development Principles

		Recommended AB 2923 Development Principles

		Recommended AB 2923 Development Principles

		www.bart.gov/AB2923






BART Board of Directors Update
JULY 23, 2020


NEW TRANSBAY
RAIL CROSSING


PROGRAM UPDATE







Agenda


1. Review Key Milestones
• Public Opinion Research


• Program Vision, Goals and Objectives 
Equity Vision


2. Highlight Upcoming Activities
• Solicit public input


• Upcoming Procurement







Good News!   


79% 18% 3%


Even during the Pandemic, residents prefer to move forward 
with long-term transportation plans


Even as we deal with the impact of the coronavirus, we still need to 
develop plans to help fix our region’s long-term challenges with traffic 
and transportation


Now is the wrong time to spend time and money on planning long-
range improvements to our transportation system; we need to focus 
primarily on the impacts of the coronavirus


Don’t know







The Public Supports NTRC


45%


35%


6%


9%


6%


Strongly support


Somewhat support


Somewhat oppose


Strongly oppose


Don't know


80% of 
Megaregion 
residents and 84% 
of Bay Area 
residents polled 
support the New 
Transbay Rail 
Crossing Program


Total 
Oppose
15%


Description (abbreviated): This project will develop an integrated rail system that 
will make many direct trips throughout northern California possible by rail 
(including the greater Bay Area, the Monterey Bay area, the Sacramento area, 
and parts of the Central Valley) , in part by providing another transbay rail 
crossing in order to increase rail service. 







Program Vision
The New Transbay Rail Crossing Program 
will transform the passenger rail network in 
the Northern California Megaregion into a 
faster, more integrated system that provides 
a safe, efficient, equitable, and affordable
means of travel for all types of trips.


This Program, including a new rail 
connection between Oakland and San 
Francisco, will make rail and transit the mode 
of choice for trips throughout the 
megaregion.


Right: 2040 Northern California Passenger Rail Network, based on the California State Rail Plan, 2018







Timeline*


* Subject to available funding







Business Case Evaluation Framework


FINANCIAL 
CASE


STRATEGIC 
CASE 


ECONOMIC 
CASE


DELIVERABILITY 
& OPERATIONS 


CASE
What are the 
Megaregion benefits?
• Passenger Experience
• Community, Livability 


and Equity
• Economic Growth and 


Competitiveness
• Environmental 


Stewardship


What are the 
economic costs 
and benefits?
• Benefit/Cost 


Analysis
• Business and 


Employment
• Jobs and Housing 


What is the 
financial viability?
• Revenue 


Generation
• Cost Effectiveness
• Funding 


Opportunities
• Financing Options


What is required to 
deliver and operate 
the project?
• Governance
• Project Risks
• Construction and 


Operations
• Network Functionality







Goals and Objectives


TRANSFORM THE 
PASSENGER EXPERIENCE
• Provide better service
• Improve reliability and system 


performance
• Build ridership and mode share


ENHANCE COMMUNITY AND LIVABILITY
• Connect people and places
• Improve safety, health and air quality
• Advance equity


SUPPORT ECONOMIC GROWTH AND GLOBAL 
COMPETITIVENESS
• Improve access to opportunity and employment
• Connect major economic, research and education centers
• Enable transit-supportive land use


ADVANCE ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP 
AND PROTECTION
• Increase climate change resilience
• Reduce greenhouse gas emissions
• Conserve resources







Equity Vision Statement


The NTRC Program commits to:
• Develop and implement a process that advances 


equity through all aspects of the Program.


• Build respectful and interactive community 
partnerships through accessible community 
engagement.


• Value the lived experience and input of individuals 
from priority populations.


• Ensure that disadvantaged and small businesses are 
integrated throughout the Program’s lifecycle.







9


MTC’s - Plan Bay Area 2050







• NTRC is currently in the 2nd 
phase (2035+) of PBA 2050


• NTRC is necessary to meet 
the region’s climate and VMT 
reduction targets


• Seeking support to ensure that 
NTRC stays in PBA


NTRC in Plan Bay Area


“NTRC is the most 
cost-effective transit 
expansion megaproject”







Plan Bay Area 2050 – Transportation Element


BART Investments
• BART to Silicon Valley 


Phase 2


• BART Core Capacity


• Irvington BART Station


• NTRC is currently in the 2nd


phase (2035+) of PBA 2050







Program Identification and Project Selection Procurement


• Upcoming procurement to bring 
NTRC through the 
environmental clearance 
process


• RFP Release in August 2020 


• One RFP with four service 
categories and two phases 


⁃ This format limits conflicts of 
interest and allows for beneficial 
continuity through the Program


⁃ Each Service Category may 
have its own specific DBE 
and/or SBE goal, if applicable, 
based on independent goal 
analysis


Service Category


Program 
Identification / 


Phase 1


Project 
Selection / 


Phase 2 Total


Engagement/Outreach $30M $105M $135M


Travel Demand/Land Use $10M $20M $30M


Planning/Engineering $55M $210M $265M


Environmental $30M $140M $170M


TOTAL $125M $475M $600M


SCHEDULE ≤ 6yrs ≤ 10yrs ≤ 16yrs







NTRC Upcoming Milestones


• Market Analysis 


• Public Engagement and Outreach


• Upcoming procurement for Program Identification 
& Project Selection 
• RFP, August 2020, 


• Contract award,  Winter 2020





		New Transbay rail Crossing�Program Update

		Agenda 

		Slide Number 3

		The Public Supports NTRC

		Slide Number 5

		Timeline*

		Business Case Evaluation Framework

		Goals and Objectives

		Equity Vision Statement

		Slide Number 10

		NTRC in Plan Bay Area

		Plan Bay Area 2050 – Transportation Element

		Program Identification and Project Selection Procurement

		NTRC Upcoming Milestones





